
  

 
 

 
1 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

CABINET 
 

TUESDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 12.00 PM 
 

VIRTUAL REMOTE MEETING - REMOTE 
 
Telephone enquiries to Joanne Wildsmith & Anna Martyn, Democratic Services Tel 9283 4057 
Email: joanne.wildsmith@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
 
If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please 
notify the contact named above. 

 

Membership 
 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson CBE (Chair) 
Councillor Steve Pitt (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Dave Ashmore 
Councillor Suzy Horton 
Councillor Lee Hunt 
Councillor Darren Sanders 
 

Councillor Lynne Stagg 
Councillor Matthew Winnington 
Councillor Tom Wood 
Councillor Hugh Mason 
 

 

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.) 
 
Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 
Written deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision 
is going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) 
by 12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted. 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 1   Apologies for Absence  

 2   Declarations of Interests  

 3   Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 14 July 2020 (Pages 7 - 18) 

  A copy of the record of the previous decisions taken at Cabinet on 14 July 2020 
are attached.  
 
RECOMMENDED that the record of decisions taken by Cabinet on 14 July 
2020 be approved as a correct record. 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 4   Hampshire Community Bank - Treasury Loan (Pages 19 - 66) 

  The purpose of the report by the Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 
(Deputy Section 151 Officer) is to: 
 

 update Cabinet on progress for the Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) 
project, and approve a £10 million lending facility, subject to certain 
conditions, in accordance with the Council's approved Treasury 
Management Policy 2020/21.  Previous reports and updates from HCB 
are listed in Appendix 1. 

 

 provide the Council with a vehicle to stimulate the local economy and 
support the recovery from Covid-19.  It will enable some of the 
strongest SMEs to sustain and grow their business, supporting 
employment and prosperity in the area.  
 

 To help facilitate HCB through the final stages of the Bank 
Authorisation process, which, upon approval, will: 
 
- Enable the Bank to pursue its objectives to support and grow SMEs 

(the "backbone" of the UK economy), thus protecting and creating 
new local jobs for residents and, via the HCB Foundation, 
distributing grants to local charities   

 
- Protect the Council's £5m investment and as a consequence of 

authorisation, increasing the value of the Bank to circa £5m to £7m. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED 
 

(1) That Cabinet note the progress of Hampshire Community Bank 
(HCB) towards Bank Authorisation contained within this report. 
 

(2) That Cabinet approves a £10m lending facility between 
Portsmouth City Council (PCC) and Hampshire Community Bank 
(HCB) to enable Small and Medium Size Enterprises (SMEs) with 
the highest credit quality that operate within the greater 
Portsmouth and Hampshire area to access loans to support and 
grow their business   
 

(3) That the £10m lending facility is subject to:  
 
i) A first tranche of £5m to be provided subject to satisfactory 

legal documentation being put in place that meets the 
requirements of the Council's approved Treasury 
Management Policy 2020/21.  
 

ii) A second tranche of up to £5m to be provided after a 6 
month period and subject to the Deputy Director of Finance 
(Deputy Section 151 Officer) being satisfied that the 
performance of the HCB Loan Book is strong and within the 
delinquency limits set out in the authorised HCB Regulatory 



 
3 

Business Plan. 
 

(4) That delegated authority be given to the City Solicitor and Deputy 
Director of Finance (Deputy Section 151 Officer) to conclude all 
the necessary legal documentation for the lending facility. 

 5   Seafront Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Pages 67 
- 458) 

  The purpose of report by the Assistant Director, Planning and Economic 
Growth, is to: 
 

 Report to Members the results of the February-March 2019 public 

consultation; 

 Advise Members of the content of the draft Seafront Masterplan SPD; 

 Advise Members on the engagement strategy on the draft Seafront 

Masterplan SPD and associated documents 

 To seek Members' endorsement of the approach. 

  

RECOMMENDED that: 

 

(1) Members note the summary of representations received during 

the February-March 2019 public consultation on the options for 

the Seafront Masterplan and the issues raised; 

 

(2) Members note the content of the revised draft Seafront 

Masterplan SPD; and approve the document and other associated 

documents for a period of 6 weeks of public consultation; and 

 
(3) The Assistant Director, Planning and Economic Growth be 

authorised to, if necessary, make editorial amendments to the 

wording of the Seafront Masterplan SPD and any associated 

documents prior to publication, in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Planning, Policy and City Development.  These 

amendments shall be restricted to correcting errors and 

formatting text and shall not alter the meaning of the document(s). 

 6   Exclusion of Press and Public  

  “That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government 
Act, 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act, 1985, the press and public be excluded for the consideration of the 
following item on the grounds that the report(s) contain information 
defined as exempt in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act, 1972”. 
 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption must outweigh the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 



 
4 

Access to Information) England Regulations 2012, regulation 5, the 
reasons for exemption of the listed item is shown below. 
 
Members of the public may make representation as to why the item 
should be held in open session.  A statement of the Council’s response 
to representations received will be given at the meeting so that this can 
be taken into account when members decide whether or not to deal with 
the item under exempt business. 
 
(NB The exempt/confidential committee papers on the agenda will 
contain information which is commercially, legally or personally 
sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.   
 

Item Paragraph 
 

   
7 - Leamington House and Horatia House Update and Next Steps  3* 
(appendix 1 only - Ridge & Partners report)      
            
 
*Exempt Paragraph Number  
3 - Information relating to financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) 

 7   Leamington House and Horatia House Update and Next Steps (Pages 459 
- 576) 

  Purpose: The joint report by the Director of Regeneration & Director of 
Housing, Neighbourhood and Building Services provides Cabinet with a 
progress update report including: 

* Deconstruction Options Appraisal & Soft Market Testing 
* Design Team Appointment 
* Telecommunication re-siting  
* Peregrine Falcons  

 
Also to note the continued commitment to engage the wider community to 
explore the 'wider area improvements' and the incorporation into the design 
brief of all the feedback from the community engagement work undertaken in 
2019 including the seven key themes that emerged from all the feedback. 
 
1. Build appropriate homes 
2. Make better use of green space and space for children 
3. No more student accommodation 
4. Consider wider area improvements 
5. Better parking options 
6. No tower blocks 
7. Re-provide the social housing lost when the tower blocks go 
  
To report back the initial financial viability assessment of a development on 
the 'foot prints' of the two tower blocks based on an overall development of 
440 units and including 272 social housing units to be held within the Housing 
Revenue Account  
 



 
5 

To seek permission from Cabinet to tender and appoint a contractor to 
undertake the deconstruction of the two tower blocks 
 
To seek permission from Full Council to proceed with the wider development 
(described in paragraph 1.3 above) at an estimated total cost of £120m 
subject to:  
 
* the development remaining viable through the design stages and remaining 
within certain other financial parameters 
* the development remaining sustainably within the administrations agreed 
principles (section 5) 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

a) That the Cabinet: 
 
(1) Notes the progress since the October 2019 Cabinet report. 

 

(2) Notes the output of the soft market testing for the 

deconstruction of the tower blocks.  

 

(3) Notes that the outline financial appraisal for an initial phase 

consisting of the two footprints is positive with the caveats noted 

in the financial implications.   

 

(4) Approves a change to the Capital Programme for the use of 

the Housing Revenue Account's (HRA) Major Repairs Reserve 

(MRR) to fund the deconstruction and site preparation of the two 

towers up to a value of £10m. 

 

(5) Delegates authority to the Director of Regeneration in 

consultation with the Director of Housing, Neighbourhood and 

Building Services and the Section 151 Officer to tender and enter 

into contract with the preferred bidder for the deconstruction work 

following full evaluation of the tender. 

 

b) That City Council approves the following: 

 

(1) That the full deconstruction and redevelopment scheme for the 

two tower blocks is added to the capital programme in the sum of 

£120m. 

 

(2) That the scheme is funded by a suitable mix of HRA and 

General Fund Prudential Borrowing as determined by the S.151 

Officer. 

 

(3) That the scheme can only proceed, including through its 



 
6 

procurement gateways, if a satisfactory financial appraisal which 

demonstrates viability is approved by the Section151 Officer. 

 

(4) That, given the early stage of design, delegated authority be 

given to the Section151 Officer to vary the overall scheme cost 

and borrow as required but subject to the Section 151 Officer 

being satisfied that the associated financial appraisal 

demonstrates continued viability and acceptable risk and that the 

gross cost of the scheme does not exceed £145m.  

 
(5) In the event that the scheme varies significantly from the 

design parameters (described in section 5) and/or the gross cost 

exceeds £145m, even if viability can still be demonstrated, the 

scheme will not proceed without further approval from the City 

Council 

 
 

 
This meeting is webcast (videoed), viewable via the Council's livestream account at 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785   

 
 

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785


 
 

 
1 

 

CABINET 
 
RECORD OF DECISIONS of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Tuesday, 14 
July 2020 at 12.00 pm at the Guildhall, Portsmouth 
 

Present 
 

 Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson CBE (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors Steve Pitt 
Dave Ashmore 
Suzy Horton 
Lee Hunt 
Darren Sanders 
Lynne Stagg 
Matthew Winnington 
Tom Wood 
Hugh Mason 
 

Also present during the virtual meeting were Cllrs Simon Bosher, Cal Corkery, 
Scott Payter-Harris and George Fielding. 
 

30. Apologies for Absence (AI 1) 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

31. Declarations of Interests (AI 2) 
 
There were no declarations of members' interests. 
 

32. Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 10 March 2020 and Leader's 
Statement (AI 3) 
 
The record of decisions of the previous Cabinet meeting held on 10 
March 2020 were approved as a correct record. 
 
Black Lives Matter - Leader's Statement 
As this was the first Cabinet meeting of the municipal year Councillor Gerald 
Vernon-Jackson as Leader wished to make a statement, following the killing 
of George Floyd in America and the global protests, to show solidarity against 
racism the Council had lit up the Spinnaker Tower for a week in purple.  All 
staff had been written to regarding the intention to eradicate racism and give 
support to BAME groups.  This would also be raised by members of the 
Council at their meeting the following week. 
 

33. Decision taken by the Chief Executive under Standing Order 58 - HIVE 
Portsmouth (information item) (AI 4) 
 
The urgent decision taken on 27 March by the Chief Executive to approve the 
Strategic Partnership Agreement between the HIVE and Portsmouth City 
Council was noted. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

 
34. Modern Slavery Statement (AI 5) 

 
Lisa Wills, Strategy and Partnership Manager, introduced the report which set 
out the council's second published Modern Slavery Transparency Statement 
and explained the local context and involvement in the Hampshire & Isle of 
Wight Modern Slavery Partnership, which provided valuable data.  The 
importance of this work had been seen recently with the uncovering of 
potential victims in a Leicester textile factory due to a Covid-19 outbreak; the 
new Anti-Slavery Commissioner had commented on the need to have supply 
chains free from modern slavery.  The City Council was working with the 
training sub-group to develop consistent Hampshire wide training to staff. 
 
Councillor Lee Hunt, Cabinet Member for Community Safety, was grateful for 
the comprehensive report and spoke about the local situation and serious 
effect on those subject to modern slavery practices. He therefore welcomed 
all the partnership work already underway and the rolling out of 
communications and training on the subject. 
 
Councillor Hugh Mason commented on the need to raise awareness in the 
local communities to ensure that signs are spotted and acted upon. 
 
DECISIONS - The Cabinet approved: 
i)  The Modern Slavery Transparency Statement for publication on 
the council's website (see appendix 1)  
ii) The programme of work set out in section 5 of the report.  
iii) That Full Council be asked to note the recommendations for 
information only.  
 

35. LGBT+ Champion appointment - for Children and Young People (AI 6) 
 
Councillor Suzy Horton, Cabinet Member for Children Families and Education, 
explained the background to this item, with a previous Notice of Motion 
regarding the teaching of relationships, and she had attended the hustings 
organised by the young people who had wanted all the councillor nominees 
involved. The young people had chosen Councillor Udy who had already 
campaigned on their behalf.  Councillor Udy was present at the Cabinet 
meeting and confirmed that she wished to take on this role and was keen to 
be involved in this work. 
 
DECISION: The Cabinet appointed Cllr Claire Udy as Portsmouth's 
LBGT+ Children and Young People's Champion and asked Cllr Udy to 
undertake this role with support and input from Cllrs Suzy Horton, Chris 
Attwell and George Fielding. 
 

36. Appointments to Outside Bodies and Champion Appointments (AI 7) 
Due to the Coronavirus cancellation of local elections the political groups 
made few changes in their nominations to outside bodies, content for the 
current appointees from 2019/20 municipal year to carry on where a new 
nomination was not specified. 
 

Page 8



 
3 

 

a) Appointments to outside bodies 
The following appointments were made: 
Motiv8 - Councillor Hugh Mason 
Elementary Education Act Trust - Cllr Gerald Vernon-Jackson to 
replace Cllr Rob Wood; the trust accepted 5 appointments the previous 
year so the other appointments did not need to be changed. 
Kings Theatre - Cllr Luke Stubbs to be asked to continue, rather than 
appointing Cllr Linda Symes at this time. 
Mary Rose Trust - Cllr Gerald Vernon-Jackson to replace Cllr Rob 
Wood (who had a place as Lord Mayor) 
Portchester Crematorium Joint Committee - Cllrs Lee Hunt and 
Dave Ashmore 
The following 3 changes reflected the change in portfolios, with Cllr 
Hugh Mason the new Cabinet Member for Planning Policy and City 
Development:  
Building Control Partnership - Cllr Hugh Mason (Member Rep) 
Minerals and Waste Development Framework Members' Steering 
Group - Cllr Hugh Mason 
Solent Forum - Cllr Hugh Mason 
 
Portsmouth Fostering Panel - all groups would be asked to make 
nominations to fill the vacancy 
 

b) Champion Roles 
 
The following appointments were made: 
Armed Forces Champion - Cllr Gerald Vernon-Jackson to continue as 
the official champion, to ensure compliance with the Gold Employer 
Award this should be a cabinet member, with Cllr Frank Jonas and Cllr 
Tom Coles giving their support. 
Mental Health Champion - Cllr Matthew Winnington 
Homelessness Champion - Cllr Darren Sanders - whose portfolio 
would be renamed "Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness" 
to reflect this 
Heritage Champion - Councillor Lee Hunt 
 
The Leader requested that a report be brought to a future Cabinet 
meeting regarding the roles of Champions.  There would then be 
further consideration of the vacant roles of Third Sector and City of 
Service Champions. 

 
37. Discharge to Assess Unit at Harry Sotnick House (AI 8) 

 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson, as Leader, wished to record the Cabinet's 
gratitude to all city council workers in the care sector and those working in 
health and those in the NHS who cared for residents during the Covid-19 
crisis in the most challenging of circumstances and he and Cllr Winnington as 
the Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and Social Care had written to all 
the city's care homes and domiciliary care providers to thank all their staff. 
 

Page 9



 
4 

 

Andy Biddle, Assistant Director Adult Social Care presented the report which 
detailed the local response at each stage of national guidance, as well as 
setting out the plans for responding to a potential second peak of the 
Coronavirus. Discharge beds would be made available in Harry Sotnick 
House to be an isolation assessment unit, with further detailed financial 
analysis needing to come back to Cabinet. 
 
Councillor Winnington stressed the importance of these plans in the wake of 
government policy and a future inquiry into how discharge arrangements had 
been handled.  The discharge unit represented a statement of intent for 
preparedness by the council. 
 
DECISIONS - The Cabinet: 

(1) Endorsed the continued operation of the 20 bedded 14 Day 
isolation unit in the HSH Gun Wharf Unit, recognising that this is 
dependent on continued funding from the temporary NHS Hospital 
Discharge Scheme. 

(2) Endorsed the expansion of the unit by a further 26 beds for D2A 
should there be a need as a consequence of a second COVID-19 
peak, recognising that this will be dependent on additional 
funding from the temporary NHS Hospital Discharge Scheme. 

(3) Endorsed continued work to develop plans to transition the 20 
Gun Wharf COVID beds to a mainstream Discharge to Assess unit, 
recognising that this would be part of a wider system change. It 
should also be acknowledged that this will require a more detailed 
financial appraisal, together with a retargeting of existing funding 
sources and potentially financial contributions from the wider 
health and care system partners; to ensure it is financially 
sustainable in the longer term. A further report will be presented 
to Cabinet once the final costings and funding sources have been 
identified in order to seek formal agreement to establish the unit. 

 
38. Transport Recovery Plan (AI 9) 

 
Hayley Trower, Air Quality Lead for Transport, presented the report which 
linked with the Local Transport Plan 4 (subject of next item) and the 
government's wish for the local authority to provide more space for residents 
to move around the city. 
 
Councillor Lynne Stagg, Cabinet Member for Traffic & Transportation, paid 
tribute to the hard work of officers in making the submission to the 
Department for Transport, which had attracted extra funding due to the high 
quality of the bid. She commended the report which showed a wide range of 
connectivity schemes, with this only being the first part of the scheme and an 
award of an extra £900k had been announced the day before. 
 
DECISIONS - Cabinet:  
 

(1) Approved the strategic direction to PCC's Covid-19 transport 
response as set out in the draft Transport Recovery Plan; 

 

Page 10



 
5 

 

(2) Approved the delivery of the proposed temporary measures, and 
process for prioritising further measures as set out in the draft 
Transport Recovery Plan; 

 
(3) Noted that the measures proposed within the draft Transport 

Recovery Plan are intended as temporary measures to be 
implemented quickly in response to public health concerns and to 
support the city's economic recovery. Therefore proposals will 
not be subject to the usual public consultation process prior to 
implementation; 
 

(4) Noted that proposals in the draft Transport Recovery Plan are 
conditional upon sufficient funding being provided secured 
through government's Emergency Active Travel Fund; 
 

(5) Gave delegated authority to the Assistant Director for Transport to 
amend the draft Transport Recovery Plan in line with the 
recommendations of Cabinet and in relation to the agenda item on 
LTP4 for this decision meeting. 

 
39. Local Transport Plan LTP4 (AI 10) 

 
Felicity Tidbury, Assistant Director Transport, presented the report and 
updated on the work that had taken place at workshops to shape the revised 
draft vision and development of the 20 policies (listed in section 5 of the 
report). A user-friendly version of the document would be launched for a 
public consultation exercise to take place from September. 
 
Councillor Lynne Stagg, Cabinet Member for Traffic & Transportation, paid 
credit to all the hard work by officers in Transport and Communications, with 
the forthcoming launch of 'Travel Portsmouth' on the Council's website and 
the links to the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  The interactive 
map heralded a better connected city. 
 
Councillor Winnington, as Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and Social 
Care, cited the importance of the links to public health and encouraged 
everyone to get involved in the consultation exercise. 
 
DECISION: Cabinet approved the content of the draft Portsmouth Local 
Transport Plan 4 strategy for statutory consultation. 
 

40. Waste Collections and Disposal Infrastructure (information report) (AI 
11) 
 
Colette Hill, Assistant Director of Neighbourhoods, presented this update 
report on all the work taking pace to help improve recycling rates, reporting 
back on the food waste trial, plans to include food waste collections making 
the collection fleet greener and investigating an anaerobic digestion plant. 
 

Page 11



 
6 

 

Councillor Dave Ashmore, as Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate 
Change, thanked the officers for their hard work which showed continued 
improvement in bringing forward green initiatives throughout the city. 
 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson also welcomed the report and the ambition 
to collect food waste from all properties, as well as the regional work on the 
anaerobic digestion plant.   
 
The Cabinet noted the information report. 
 

41. Supporting rough sleepers and the hidden homeless: options for the 
way forward (AI 12) 
 

The Leader reordered the agenda to allow this item to be taken earlier for 
Councillor Corkery's attendance. 
 
Paul Fielding, Assistant Director of Housing, introduced the report, 
explaining the measures that had been taken during the pandemic and the 
interim plan for the way forward and the necessity of another report to 
Cabinet on the financial commitment.  He wished to thank the hard work of 
all involved, including the Ibis hotels, Two Saints and the volunteers. 
 
Councillor Cal Corkery, Labour Spokesperson for Housing, made a 
deputation - this is not minuted in full; the meeting was livestreamed and 
can be viewed here: 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785/full-cabinet-14jul2020 
 
Cllr Corkery also wished to thank all involved in the provision of homeless 
services to the vulnerable across the Council, external providers and 
volunteers, who had aided approximately 200 people find accommodation 
during Lockdown. Going forward there was the need to focus on the 
multiple and complex needs of these individuals, referencing the "Housing 
First" approach, and looking at long term accommodation. 
 
Councillor Vernon-Jackson, as Leader, reported that the anticipated 
government funding had not all been forthcoming, putting pressure on the 
Council's budget. 
 
Paul Fielding then read out the written deputation from Martin Silman, 
Chair of the Portsmouth & District Private Landlords Association which 
commended the work to house rough sleepers over the last few months, 
but raised some concerns regarding placement of tenants in the private 
rented sector Houses in Multiple Occupation rather than shared smaller 
units, and sought further clarification on government funding. 
 
Councillor Sanders, as Cabinet Member for Housing (encompassing 
homelessness) stressed the need to look at all sectors, but thanked the 
deputations for the points they raised.  He felt this was an opportunity to 
secure the future of people off the streets and the government wants to co-
produce these plans going forward. Cllr Sanders was very proud of the 
collaborative hard work undertaken by council staff, the volunteers, hostels 

Page 12

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785/full-cabinet-14jul2020


 
7 

 

and police. The Housing First approach had been considered but it was 
most important to treat rough sleepers as individuals. An ambitious 
approach was being taken to tackle homelessness and request that the 
government change benefit rules and help local authorities in dealing with 
the on-going reasons for homelessness. 
 
Councillor Winnington, as Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and 
Social Care, had been pleased by the screening and healthcare support 
offered to those using the hotels, some of whom had not accessed these 
services for years.  He commended the positive services provided which 
had been shared with the Health & Wellbeing Board, GPs and schools. 
 
 
DECISIONS:  
(1) Cabinet noted the provision in place prior to the COVID-19 

crisis  
 

(2) Cabinet commended the remarkable efforts of the local 
authority and partners to meet the call from government to 
provide safe and secure accommodation for rough sleepers and 
thank the wide range of public services, the voluntary sector, the 
local communities, members, officers and the Accor Hotel group 
& the local hotel management team in continuing to support the 
emergency provision in place  
 

(3) Cabinet noted the learning to be used to underpin the 
solutions moving forward 
 

(4) Cabinet noted the emergent MHCLG funding announcements 
for the interim and long term plan and the work with the MHCLG to 
co-produce the interim and long-term plan. 
 
 

(5) Cabinet approved the interim plan subject to funding being 
made available, to last up to 12 months from the end of August 
2020 and which includes these elements:  
 

i. Use Private Rented Accommodation and 
purchased/sub-leased property at Local Housing 
Allowance rents for those who need only financial 
support  

ii. Use HMOs through the HMO housing organisation for 
suitable for a private rental tenancy provided floating 
support is available. 

iii. Use a hotel or accommodation block for those who 
need intensive onsite support that can best be 
provided in such a setting alongside security. 

iv. Use no more than 18 spaces between Kingston Point 
and Hope House as the final accommodation option 
for those not in the above categories. This will be 

Page 13



 
8 

 

accompanied by intensive support, boundaries and 
ways to deal with antisocial behaviour. 

 
(6) Cabinet noted the resourcing commitment to implement the 

interim plan and endorse that the Assistant Director of Housing is 
asked temporarily to focus on the delivery of the plans, alongside 
the cross-party and multi-agency Portsmouth City Rough 
Sleeping Partnership Group ("The Partnership Group") to 
implement the plans. 
 

(7) Cabinet recognised that the potential cost of the interim plan is 
circa. £2.5m and that the Council are working with MHCLG to 
prepare a bid to the national fund made available for this purpose 
amounting to £105m, in the event that there remains a shortfall 
between estimated costs and funding identified, a further report 
will be prepared for Cabinet to consider prior to entering into any 
additional financial commitment  . 
 

(8) Cabinet therefore delegated authority to the Assistant Director 
of Housing, working with the S151 Officer, to submit a bid for the 
funding to support emergency, interim and long-term 
accommodation through the mechanism identified in the letter 
from MHCLG on 24th June 2020 (Appendix 3). 
 

(9) Cabinet agreed the following as principles for the long-term 
plan: 
 

i. All those in the interim accommodation to be 
supported to find move on accommodation and given 
the opportunity not to return to rough sleeping. 

ii. Accommodation first, not accommodation only 
approach, with support levels tailored to individuals. 

iii. Developing the accommodation and support model to 
provide learning and work opportunities. 

iv. A range of accommodation and support ideally 
located in Portsmouth, based on Government's 
desire to build, buy and rent homes. 

v. A financially sustainable model. 
vi. An approach that provides accommodation and 

support into sustainable housing but also supports 
the prevention of homelessness and those who 
remain on the streets. 

vii. Evidenced based using all the learning and data 
available to create solutions. 

 
(10) Cabinet agreed to ask Government to help it overcome key 

barriers that may impact on the long term plan, including: 
 

i. Automatically paying Universal Credit to landlords 
taking part 

Page 14



 
9 

 

ii. Making sure payments cover the full cost of rent or 
Local Housing Allowance, whichever is higher 

iii. Suspend the rule that means under-35s claim at a 
single room rate 

iv. Work with the City Council to devise plans to help 
future rough sleepers and to prevent homelessness 

v. Assist in helping the city house those on the waiting 
list and the homeless the City Council has statutory 
duties towards. 

 
(11) Cabinet requesed the Portsmouth City Rough Sleeping 

Partnership Group to develop the long term plan, based on these 
principles, as outlined in the report. 
 

(12) Cabinet approved that this report forms the basis of the 
jointly produced plan with MHCLG for exiting the current 
approach both in the interim and long-term. 

 
42. Covid-19 - road to recovery and plans for the future (AI 13) 

 

David Williams, Chief Executive, presented his report which set out the 

impacts had been most severe in these traumatic times and how the Council 

was responding. The Coronavirus infection rate was currently relatively low in 

the city and work was continuing to try to ensure there were clear messages 

on the way forward.  The clear investment in partnership working had helped 

to ensure that most services were now back up and running, with others 

needing to be redesigned.  The engagement work across the community had 

been very positive. 

Councillor Steve Pitt, as Deputy Leader, wished to thank all the officers who 

had done so much extra work to respond to the unprecedented challenges 

brought about by the pandemic. He also acknowledged the lost lives and the 

support needed by the bereaved.   

As the Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure & Economic Development, Cllr 

Pitt also gave credit to the Economic Development team headed by Ian 

Maguire and Mark Pembleton, working with the skills team and supporting 

local businesses and charities with advice on the government's business 

grants, which had received outstanding feedback and was seen as best 

practice by the Local Enterprise Partnership.  He also thanked Matt Willis and 

the Revenue and Benefits team for their involvement.  This had enabled the 

opening of the high streets and in turn the hospitality sector and development 

of the arts trail. Shaping Portsmouth had also been instrumental in supporting 

those business who did not meet the government grant criteria. The "Go 

Shop, Go Eat, Go Safe, Go Local" campaign was also being used by other 

local authorities. There was also work taking place with the Education 

Page 15



 
10 

 

department to ensure access to devices by pupils.  The voluntary and 

community sector work harnessed at the HIVE had been outstanding, to 

ensure that no one who needed food had gone without, as well as arranging 

prescription deliveries, dog walking and gardening for shielded residents. Cllr 

Pitt also welcomed the cross-party work on the HIVE committee and the well-

being work with Solent NHS and partnership work with the University of 

Portsmouth and HM Naval Base.  The emerging Vision for the City would 

reflect the impact of Covid-19. Whilst the £12m emergency funding had been 

welcome campaigning for additional government funding to fill the gap of 

£20m needed to be maintained. 

DECISIONS - Cabinet: 

(1) Expressed its condolences to those that have lost loved ones, and 

its huge appreciation to the many agencies and individuals that 

have responded so selflessly and effectively to the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

(2) Agreed the process for developing the Vision for the City and 
alignment with its own priorities, outlined in Section 5 of the report.   

 
43. Financial Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic (AI 14) 

 
Chris Ward, Director of Finance & Resources (Section 151 Officer) presented 
his report and highlighted the need to adopt a financial strategy to deal with 
the £20m shortfall.  £5m contingency had been used and £5m earmarked for 
spend to save as some capital schemes would need to be put on hold in the 
meantime. He was expecting to hear more from the government in the next 
few days to provide greater clarity on the extent of the shortfall. 

Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson, as Leader, and Councillor Pitt as Deputy 
Leader, spoke of their concern of the severe impact of the shortfall if further 
funding was not forthcoming from the government and there would be the 
need to be responsible in budgeting but their priority was to protect services. 

DECISIONS: 

1) The financial strategy described in Section 8 of the report was 
approved  

2) A further report be brought to a future meeting of the Cabinet to 
propose a detailed plan for placing certain Capital Spending plans "on 
hold" which will remain "on hold" until the overall financial impact on 
the Council is known with reasonable certainty  

3) Cabinet noted that the plan to place Capital Spending "on hold" is a 
plan only, and any cancellation of Capital Schemes would only be 
invoked in the event that the Council needs to respond to a forecast 
financial impact of the magnitude set out in this report.  
 

44. UK Municipal Bonds Agency Framework Agreement (AI 15) 

Page 16



 
11 

 

 
Chris Ward, Director of Finance & Resources (Section 151 Officer), presented 
his report, which set out another source of borrowing for the Council.   
 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson, as Leader, commented that this would be 
a sensible approach with lower interest rates for Council borrowing.  
Councillor Hugh Mason was also supportive of this a way to challenge public 
loans rates with the liability limited to the local authority's proportion of loan. 
 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
(a) That the Council enter into a framework agreement with the UK 

Municipal Bonds Agency; 
 
(b) That the City Solicitor (Monitoring Officer) and the Director of 

Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer) be given 
delegated authority to sign the Framework Agreement and the 
Certificate of Approval confirming that: 

(1) the Council has the power to enter into the Framework 
Agreement and to perform its obligations under it; 

(2) the Council has approved the entering into of the Framework 
Agreement and the proportional guarantee; 

(3) all the necessary authorisations have been obtained and 
decision making procedures followed and completed to enable 
the Council to enter into the Framework Agreement and the 
proportional guarantee. 

 
45. Exclusion of Press and Public (AI 16) 

 
 
DECISION: That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act, 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act, 1985, the press and public be excluded for the 
consideration of the following item on the grounds that the report(s) 
contain information defined as exempt in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act, 1972 - Appendix A, Board of Composition of PCC 
Companies. 
 
The confidentiality of Appendix A only of the report was upheld, and members 
agreed to discuss the item in public but not make reference to the confidential 
information during the meeting. 
 

46. Board Composition of Portsmouth City Council Companies (AI 17) 
 
Peter Baulf, City Solicitor, presented this report which set out clear advice on 
company structures.  Councillor Winnington endorsed the report which had 
been due to be considered in March and he felt this would make Council 
owned companies stronger.  Councillor Pitt thanked Sophie Mallon and the 
Legal team for their work on this report. 
 
DECISIONS - The Cabinet agreed that: 

Page 17



 
12 

 

(1) The City Solicitor prepares and drafts a protocol (drawn from best 
practice and expert advice - referred to at Appendix A and Appendix D) 
approved  by the Governance and Audit Committee as a reference and 
guide for the overall corporate governance structure (i.e. company 
structure and board composition) relating to PCC owned companies and 
incorporated within the PCC's constitution. 
 
(2) In accordance with the protocol at Appendix A, that the following 
be approved in respect of the Ravelin Group companies: 
 
(i) A shareholder committee is established and is responsible for the 
oversight of the Ravelin Group companies and all other future company 
subsidiaries (where relevant). 
 
(ii) The Ravelin Group Shareholder Committee and draft terms of 
reference set out in detail in Appendix B are approved. 
 
(iii) Following the approval of the establishment of the Ravelin Group 
shareholder committee the previous delegations as contained within the 
cabinet decision meeting dated 26 February 2019 shall cease and the 
shareholder committee shall become the sole body exercising the 
shareholder functions of Ravelin Group companies.  
 
(iv) Any amendments to finalise  the corporate structure of the 
Ravelin Group and all relevant subsidiaries required to maximise the tax 
efficiency of the Ravelin Group and any other PCC companies is 
delegated to the City Solicitor in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and the S.151 Officer. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 2.15 pm. 
 
 
 
 

  

Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson CBE 
Leader of the Council 

 

 

Page 18



 
 

1 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

   
Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 September 2020 

Subject: 
 

Hampshire Community Bank - Treasury Loan 

Report by: 
 

Deputy Director of Finance and Resources (Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on progress for the Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) project, 

and approve a £10 million lending facility, subject to certain conditions, in accordance 
with the Council's approved Treasury Management Policy 2020/21.  Previous reports 
and updates from HCB are listed in Appendix 1. 

 
1.2 To provide the Council with a vehicle to stimulate the local economy and support the 

recovery from Covid-19.  It will enable some of the strongest SMEs to sustain and 
grow their business, supporting employment and prosperity in the area.  
 

1.3 To help facilitate HCB through the final stages of the Bank Authorisation process, 
which, upon approval, will: 
 

• Enable the Bank to pursue its objectives to support and grow SMEs (the 
"backbone" of the UK economy), thus protecting and creating new local jobs 
for residents and, via the HCB Foundation, distributing grants to local 
charities   
 

• Protect the Council's £5m investment and as a consequence of 
authorisation, increasing the value of the Bank to circa £5m to £7m. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Cabinet note the progress of Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) towards Bank 

Authorisation contained within this report. 
 

2.2 That Cabinet approves a £10m lending facility between Portsmouth City Council 
(PCC) and Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) to enable Small and Medium Size 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 
 

2 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Enterprises (SMEs) with the highest credit quality that operate within the greater 
Portsmouth and Hampshire area to access loans to support and grow their business   
 

2.3 That the £10m lending facility is subject to:  
 
i) A first tranche of £5m to be provided subject to satisfactory legal 

documentation being put in place that meets the requirements of the Council's 
approved Treasury Management Policy 2020/21.  
 

ii) A second tranche of up to £5m to be provided after a 6 month period and 
subject to the Deputy Director of Finance (Deputy Section 151 Officer) being 
satisfied that the performance of the HCB Loan Book is strong and within the 
delinquency limits set out in the authorised HCB Regulatory Business Plan. 

 
2.4 That delegated authority be given to the City Solicitor and Deputy Director of Finance 

(Deputy Section 151 Officer) to conclude all the necessary legal documentation for 
the lending facility. 

 
 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The primary objective of Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) is to regenerate the 

region through supporting Hampshire based SMEs to grow the local economy and 
thus protect and stimulate job creation which fits well with the Council's priority to 
"Encourage businesses to invest in the city, supporting sustainable growth" 

 
3.2 The Bank is committed to being a genuine Community Bank, run by local 

professionals for local people and small firms, retaining wealth and prosperity in the 
area.  It has the potential to be a powerful force in supporting both the business and 
the voluntary sectors, creating the conditions for a strong, balanced and sustainable 
economy.  

 
3.3 The current UK banking market is highly concentrated with 85% of business current 

accounts and almost 90% of business loans being provided by 4 providers, meaning 
that there are a limited number of places for SMEs to go to access SME loans and 
banking services.  Added to this, low levels of customer satisfaction is experienced 
amongst SMEs and few SMEs trust their bank to act in their best interests or to 
support their business.  HCB intends to provide a more tailored and personal service 
to SMEs, developing strong customer relationships. 

 
3.4 Detailed research exists on the success of the German Community Banking model, 

where today still 70% of deposits are with around 1,500 Community Banks, 80% of 
all banks are not-for-profit Community Banks and SMEs account for over half of 
German record-beating exports. 

 
3.5 Some of the benefits of Community Banks in general include: 
 

Page 20



 
 

3 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

• They are far more likely to lend to SMEs. Whilst the big banks are very 
centralised making lending decisions based typically on computerised credit 
scoring, community banks focus on developing very strong customer 
relations with individuals 
 

• These banks have high levels of decision-making autonomy at a local level 
and have on the ground knowledge of the region they are servicing enabling 
them to be highly responsive to local and customer needs, offering swift 
decision making and lending; 
 

• These banks focus on long term sustainable outcomes rather than short 
term profit; 
 

• These banks only lend to businesses in their region; 
 

• Surpluses are re-invested to maximise benefits to the local community 
 

3.6 HCB is nearing the final stages of authorisation but needs to establish that it has 
funding available to establish a suitably sized loan book as part of the formal 
application procedure.   
 

3.7 A report on HCB was approved by Cabinet on 10 July and City Council on 14 July 
2014 (minute 72/2014). The report included the following recommendation: 

 
Authority to approve a Capital Investment of up to £5 million in the creation of 
Hampshire Community Bank and incur any necessary costs relating to the Due 
Diligence process is delegated to the Head of Financial Services and Section 
151 Officer in consultation with the Strategic Director Regeneration. 

 
3.8 Full Council approved the Treasury Management Policy for 2020/21 on 17 March 

2020 which included provision for £10m of lending to HCB on the following terms: 
 
i) That lending to Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) will be secured on loans 

made by HCB to small and medium sized enterprises (SME's) of the highest 
credit quality which may not in turn be secured on tangible fixed assets; 

ii) That loan advances to HCB in accordance with (i) above will be subject to 
individual approval by Cabinet 

iii) That the maximum duration of loans to HCB be is 5 years 
 

3.9 For clarification purposes, the proposed £10m lending facility referred to in this report 
is a loan, repayable on commercial terms, to enable HCB to establish a significant 
loan portfolio.  It is not related to the initial £5m equity investment which confers voting 
rights and was approved to fund the establishment of the bank to progress through 
the regulatory bank authorisation procedure. 

 
 
 

Page 21



 
 

4 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4. Corporate Structure 
 
4.1 Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) has a three level corporate structure, 

summarised as follows (See Appendix 2 for further details): 
 
HCB Foundation: 
 
• Company Limited by Guarantee registered as a Charity with the Charity 

Commission and governed by Trustees. 
 

• Charitable Objects include "To promote any charitable purposes (according to the 
law of England and Wales) that benefit the public primarily in Hampshire" and "To 
promote any purposes that benefit the public primarily in Hampshire; to promote 
any charitable purpose (according to the law of England and Wales) in the United 
Kingdom, if the public in Hampshire will also benefit indirectly". 
 

• A corporate governance design has been put in place to mitigate against the risk 
of takeover, which historical records indicate is the biggest problem when setting 
up a new local bank. Under UK legal framework, the strongest form of prevention 
of takeover and ensuring longevity is ownership by a charity for the benefit of the 
local people. 
 

• The Foundation has as its central purpose to own and never dispose of the 
Community Bank, via its ownership of 50% of HCB Holding Ltd. B Class Common 
Shares. These are issued whenever the investors’ A class shares are issued, 
such that HCB Foundation will always have 50% of the vote in an AGM of HCB 
Holding Ltd. In addition to charitable donations from the public, the Foundation is 
to receive a steady income from dividends paid by the Community Bank. 

 
• Investors in A Class Common Shares of HCB Holding Ltd obtain the benefit of 

100% of the vote on the Grants Board of HCB Foundation. This body (described 
later in this section) which HCB Foundation will be responsible for establishing, 
will advise on "allocating for charitable grants, donations and disbursements half 
of the funds contributed to the Charity by both the Community Bank and HCB 
Holding".  
 

• HCB Foundation holds 50% voting rights in HCB Holding Ltd. (see below), the 
remaining 50% of the voting rights are held by the investors. 
 

• Trustees currently are Anne Harrison (formerly of Hampshire County Council, now 
retired), Sarah King (Eastleigh BC Chief Financial Officer), Shamsher Dandha 
(entrepreneur), Andrew Walsh (Finance Director) and Dr Richard Werner 
(Professor of Banking and Finance, previously Senior Managing Director, Bear 
Stearns Asset Management now JP Morgan).  Biographies of the trustees are 
attached at Appendix 3 

 
 
 

Page 22

http://apps.charitycommission.gov.uk/Showcharity/RegisterOfCharities/CharityFramework.aspx?RegisteredCharityNumber=1179088&SubsidiaryNumber=0
https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/09121426/officers


 
 

5 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

HCB Holding Ltd. 
 
• Private Company Limited by Shares.  This is the company in which PCC and other 

public sector investors have purchased shares.  The shareholders have signed 
up to purchase 8,000 shares at £1,000 per share as set out below.  To date 
shareholders have released three quarters of these funds and payment of the 
remaining quarter is conditional on a further Due Diligence report from banking 
experts, BDO LLP.  PCC have therefore paid £3.75 million of the total £5 million 
due: 

 
o 5,000 - Portsmouth City Council 
o 500 - Eastleigh Borough Council 
o 250 - Winchester City Council 
o 500 - Test Valley Borough Council 
o 200 - The University of Portsmouth 
o 100 - The University of Winchester 
o 400 - The University of Southampton 
o 100 - Southampton Solent University 
o 950 - Local First Community Interest Company 

 
• HCB Holding Ltd. is jointly and equally owned by the founding shareholders who 

provide the bulk of the regulatory capital, and HCB Foundation, the charity 
described above (protecting the bank from takeover).  Shareholders have 50% of 
the voting rights in HCB Holding Ltd. (see below), the other 50% being held by 
HCB Foundation. 
 

• HCB Holding Ltd. owns 100% of the common shares issued by Hampshire 
Community Bnk Ltd.  All directors require approval of the regulator and hence it 
is expected that the majority either has financial sector or financial law 
experience, or experience of finance and accounting in senior positions. 
 

• HCB Holding Ltd. effectively controls Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. (see below) 
as it holds all the share capital for and can appoint and remove Directors of 
Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. 
 
Note: Within HCB's proposed original group structure (as shown in the 10 July 2014 Cabinet 
report), investors in HCB Holding Ltd were to be issued with preference shares (which do not give 
any voting rights, but instead guarantee a fixed dividend, which has priority over any dividend paid 
to other shareholders). However, changes to bank regulation and in particular to capital adequacy 
(“Basel”) rules (CRD IV, CRR) effective from 2014, meant that the original structure with 
preference shares could not be implemented. The current group structure was developed, with 
significant input from the legal advisors Blake Morgan (then Blake Lapthorn) and external 
consultants BDO LLP. 

 
• Directors currently are Chris Ward (Chair of the HCB Holding Ltd. Board of 

Directors and PCC Section 151 Officer), Johannes Haas (General Manager, DZ 
Bank AG London Branch), and Dr Richard Werner (Professor of Banking and 
Finance, previously Senior Managing Director, Bear Stearns Asset Management 
now JP Morgan). 

Page 23

https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/08288027/officers
https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/09121398/officers


 
 

6 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. (HCB) 
 
• This is the company which is seeking authorisation from the Bank of England to 

operate as a bank.  The name includes the word "Bnk" because a company name 
cannot include the word "Bank" until it is authorised to operate as a bank by the 
Bank of England. 

 
• As described above HCB Holding Ltd. Board has the power to appoint or remove 

Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. directors. Any dividends are distributed to HCB 
Holding Ltd., which fully owns the Community Bank. 

 
• Directors currently are Johannes Haas (General Manager, DZ Bank AG London 

Branch), Andreas Neukirch (Director of Operations, Hampshire Community BNK 
Ltd), Bernd Grund (Director of Sales, Hampshire Community BNK Ltd) and Dr 
Richard Werner (Professor of Banking and Finance, previously Senior Managing 
Director, Bear Stearns Asset Management now JP Morgan).  The Articles of the 
company place no limit to the number of Directors, but there must be a minimum 
of two. 

 
4.2 Biographies of the Trustees and Directors within the HCB structure are provided at 

Appendix 3 
 
 Grants Board 
 

The "Grants Board" which will advise on "allocating for charitable grants, donations 
and disbursements half of the funds contributed to the Charity by HCB Holding Ltd." 
 
Oversight will be provided by the Charity Commission which require the trustees of 
HCB Foundation to be held accountable for all charity activity. As such, the Grants 
Board will be appointed as an advisory board to HCB Foundation, and may be 
formalised in the articles of association if approved by the Commission. 
 
At present the Grants Board has not been established by HCB Foundation. However 
this will take place prior to any funds being contributed to HCB Foundation by HCB 
Holding Ltd. 
 
The current proposal for composition of the Grants Board (originally drafted as part 
of the HCB Foundation Articles of Association): "All current investors in A Class 
Common Shares of HCB Holding Ltd. amounting to £50,000 or more are eligible and 
invited to serve as members of the Grants Board or delegate this task by nominating 
a member to the Grants Board. Current owners of A Class Common Shares of HCB 
Holding Ltd. in excess of £1 million, may appoint a member to the Grants Board for 
every £1 million of holdings in A Class Common Shares, or alternatively appoint one 
member with multiple votes, whereby one vote for every £1 million of holdings in A 
Class Common Shares can be exercised up to a maximum of 50% of the total votes". 
 
Membership and voting rights of the Grants Board could therefore be comprised of 
the below, based on current HCB Holding investors: 

Page 24

https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/08997051/officers
http://www.gbf.com/johannes-haas-general-manager-dz-bank-ag-london/
https://professorwerner.org/
https://professorwerner.org/


 
 

7 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Investor in HCB Holdings Ltd Value of A Class 

Common Shares in 
HCB Holdings Ltd 

Members/Votes 
on Grants Board 

Portsmouth City Council £5,000,000 5* 
Eastleigh Borough Council £500,000 1 
Winchester City Council £250,000 1 
Test Valley Borough Council £500,000 1 
The University of Portsmouth £200,000 1 
The University of Winchester £100,000 1 
The University of Southampton £400,000 1 
Southampton Solent University £100,000 1 
Local First Community Interest Group £950,000 1 
*could be represented by 1 member with 5 votes 

Table 1: Shareholdings in HCB Holding Ltd. 
 

The extent of funds on which recommendations will be advised on by the Grants 
Board is limited to half of the funds contributed to HCB Foundation by HCB Holding 
Ltd. 

 
 
5. Contractual Position and Due Diligence 
 
5.1 The eight public sector shareholders have signed up to an Application to Subscribe 

for shares in HCB Holding Ltd. and a Subscription Agreement.  PCC has committed 
to purchase £5 million of shares with payments being made in four instalments linked 
to key parts of the bank authorisation process.  Release of each instalment is 
conditional on a Due Diligence report from banking experts BDO LLP which assesses 
whether, in BDO's expert opinion, HCB are capable of achieving authorisation.  To 
date BDO's reports have satisfactorily concluded that the bank is capable of 
achieving authorisation and therefore all eight investors have paid the first three 
instalments.  
 

5.2 Release of the fourth and final £1.25 million instalment from PCC to HCB is 
conditional on the bank achieving "Authorisation With Restriction", once this stage in 
the bank authorisation process is achieved the instalment represents a contractual 
commitment. 

 
5.3 The latest BDO report was prepared for investors in March 2019 on progress to date 

showing a review of the key documents required for the Challenge Sessions which 
is the final stage of the regulatory process prior to submission of an Application for 
Assessment (a summary of the regulatory process is shown in Section 6.1).  BDO 
LLP's review of the updated Regulatory Business Plan (RBP) and an assessment of 
HCB Ltd.'s ability to obtain authorisation to operate as a bank concluded: 
 

 "Overall, based on our assessment of the Firm’s preparation for the “Challenge” 
session (including document review), we conclude that HCB is adequately 
prepared for the “Challenge Session”.  We understand that HCB has incorporated 

Page 25



 
 

8 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

the key recommendations ahead of the challenge sessions.  Furthermore, in our 
opinion, we believe that authorisation can be achieved subject to the successful 
completion of the PRA1 challenge session." 

 
5.4 An updated opinion from BDO re: HCB's ability to obtain authorisation to operate as 

a bank was requested in July 2020, BDO's response is as follows: 
 
 "At the time of writing, we are aware that HCB recently attended a liquidity and 

capital challenge session with the PRA following successfully addressing queries 
from the PRA relating to the business model and senior management resourcing. 
This represents good progress towards authorisation (particularly in the current 
COVID environment), although additional steps to address any PRA feedback on 
the capital and liquidity models remain. We believe that HCB have the capabilities 
to address these challenges. Subject to the challenge session feedback and any 
other matters raised by the regulator during the authorisation process being 
satisfactorily addressed, our view, based on our experience, is that HCB is on 
track for achieving authorisation." 

 
 
6. Regulatory Process and Timetable 
 
6.1 The Banking Authorisation process is a very rigorous process administered by the 

Bank of England via the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA).  The process requires the preparation of a Regulatory 
Business Plan (RBP), which is the key document describing the business plan, what 
the Bank plans to do, why, and how the bank will be set up and make money. It also 
explains the risks to the business and how they will be mitigated. 
 

6.2 The process involves the scrutiny of the RBP with a focus on the viability of the 
business model, capital adequacy, liquidity and resolvability and aims to re-assure 
investors that the proposals meet the minimum regulatory standards.  In addition, the 
process will vet the key executives / directors together with details of associated 
parties and commercial relationships as well as reviewing documentation and 
conducting on site visits. 
 

6.3 The key stages include: 
 

• Legal structure set-up 
• Funding secured 
• Pre-application meeting 
• Feedback meeting(s)  
• "Challenge Session" 
• Submission of Application for authorisation - (HCB is currently at this stage of 

the process) 
• Assessment and Authorisation process (led by PRA/FCA) 
• "Authorisation With Restriction" achieved 

                                            
1 Prudential Regulation Authority 

Page 26



 
 

9 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

• Mobilisation phase (led by PRA/FCA) 
• Restrictions are lifted and Full Authorisation achieved 

 
6.4 The technical "Challenge Session" with the PRA/FCA took place on 09 June 2020. 

This stage requires the RBP to be fully developed and involves an in-depth technical 
discussion with the regulators on any element of the proposition. 
 

6.5 The "Challenge Session" concluded positively and HCB were advised that there 
would be no further challenge sessions and that they should look towards preparing 
their formal application as the next step.  As is normal with this process, the bank will 
receive a written list from the regulators in which they will advise of areas that they 
would like HCB to make some amendments to their reports (i.e. the RBP and 
associated policies and procedures) to accompany the formal application to become 
an authorised bank. 
 

6.6 Authorisation With Restriction (AWR) is expected to be granted within six months of 
submission of the complete authorisation documentation (the latter likely in 
December 2020).  Full authorisation is expected within 12 months of obtaining AWR. 
HCB's current liquidity budget projections forecast that it will operate as a fully 
licenced bank in Quarter 3 of 2021. 
 

 
7. Operational Readiness 

 
7.1 Planning to provide the key resources and facilities needed for HCB to satisfy the 

regulator and start operations is well advanced.  Set out below are details of progress 
on some of the key items 
 

7.2 IT Core Banking System 
 
Contracts for the iFinancial (iFS) and core banking system (CBS) were signed in 
March 2020 following a rigorous procurement process during 2018/19 where all the 
recognised CBS’ were reviewed against a set of requirements laid down by the 
Community Bank Executive Committee to support the overall RBP for HCB. The 
decision process was supported by expert IT consultants from Goodacre.  
 
The use of this technology to implement HCB's business model is of critical 
importance to the effective operation of the Bank.  Financial terms agreed are 
beneficial for HCB, whereby the upfront expenditure is limited with full licence fees 
only payable if AWR is achieved.  
 
Phase 1 testing was completed successfully and is being run in parallel with existing 
manual systems. The new system was used to send out HCB statements to all 
customers on 01 July 2020.  
 
The general ledger has also been created with accurate opening balance position for 
the new business year. 
 

Page 27



 
 

10 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

In addition, draft procedure manuals for all processes relating to Know Your Client 
(KYC), Anti Money Laundering (AML), Collateral Recording, Loan Processing 
(including rate changes and all other identified amendments), New Loan set up (for 
new products within Loan services), administration rights to ensure a minimum of 
four-eyes principles, and the KYC and AML risk matrix is fully functional. 
 
HCB is now in a position to manage large numbers of new loan applications using 
the iFS system, and is in the process of employing staff to be able to expand the loan 
book once funding is sourced to provide loans. 
 
HCB are now in the process of testing the remaining functionality as part of Phase 2. 
The project is on target to have all services that will be required in the first 3 years of 
operation to be tested and operational from 30 September 2020, ahead of the 
expected granting of AWR. 

 
7.3 Accessing Payments Systems 

 
During the past financial year, HCB has chosen NatWest, the wholesale division of 
RBS, the UK’s largest payments services provider, as its correspondent bank and 
payments services partner. This is the most practical and feasible option for HCB to 
obtain indirect access to the interbank payment systems (i.e. BACS, CHAPS and 
Faster Payments). 
 
HCB has been accepted as a client, deposited the modest collateral sum required 
(£25k) with NatWest to underpin the daily operations of the correspondent banking 
relationship, and is now processing all the necessary forms to obtain access to the 
NatWest banking systems to enable all required daily banking operations.  iFinancial 
is interfacing well with Natwest to install the direct debit facilities, and to be able to 
provide faster payments under EU electronic payment services regulations once 
current accounts are offered to HCB clients. 
 

7.4 Premises 
 
Eastgate House (80 Eastgate Street, Winchester) was purchased in 2018 to 
accommodate HCB. 
 
Based on the requirements for the launch of the bank branch operation to the public 
(initially only SMEs), a small number of minor modifications to the premises were 
required and have been designed.  The planning permission has been granted and 
work has started on the refurbishment. 
 
Due to Covid-19, the refurbishing works have been progressing slower than originally 
planned, but are not likely to cause delay of the roll-out of services.  
 

7.5 HR 
 

The planned recruitment of key personnel is in line with plans and budgets.  Staff are 
being recruited in line with cash flows and loan funding delivery.  

Page 28



 
 

11 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

7.6 Website Development 
 
HCB have a domain provider for its website that enables it to have the necessary 
feeds in relation to automated email traffic to existing and future customers and other 
associated functionality that is in-built within the core banking system to support the 
future online banking offerings.  Work is about to commence on the development of 
the website. 
 
 

8. The Rationale and Economic Benefits of Supporting SMEs (Small and Medium 
Sized Enterprises) 

 
8.1 The rationale for the establishment of a Community Bank arises from a lack of 

competition and a banking industry dominated by large players that lack interest in 
lending to small firms. The concentration of larger corporate banks creates an 
environment susceptible to a "credit crunch" and its associated affects. It is well 
known that following the 2008 banking crisis, lending from large corporate banks in 
the UK to SMEs declined dramatically leading to otherwise sound businesses going 
out of business. In Germany, the approach through the Community Banks was to 
keep lending to SMEs resulting in a high rate of business survival throughout a severe 
economic recession.  

 
Large banks prefer to lend large amounts to large companies creating barriers for 
SMEs' access to finance and therefore growth arising from a more formulaic non-
local approach. The lack of available finance for SMEs is an inhibitor to investment 
and economic growth. Since SMEs are the main employer in the UK and account for 
most newly created jobs, the lack of bank funding for SMEs has been a persistent 
problem for the UK economy. The same holds true for the 70,000 SMEs in 
Hampshire. 
 
The German community banks, in their co-operative (Raiffeisen, Volksbank) and 
savings bank (Sparkassen) versions of local, legally independent, not-for-profit but 
profitable banks have been a continuing success story over the last 200 years.  It 
demonstrates that this business model is both beneficial and commercially viable.  In 
Germany, such local community banks account for 70% of all retail bank deposits, 
80% of all banks and over 90% of lending to SMEs. It is their virtual absence in the 
UK that accounts for many of the funding problems SMEs are facing. 

 
As mentioned, the primary objective of HCB is to regenerate the region through 
supporting Hampshire-based SMEs to grow the local economy: 
 

• SMEs create the most jobs (the Green Growth Loans, operated by HBC, of  
£950k funding has, despite its small size, already created 115 new jobs and 
protected 156 more jobs - see Section 9 below) 
 

• SMEs drive the regeneration and development of the economy 
 

• SMEs in Hampshire are underserved: 

Page 29



 
 

12 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

o According to the British Bankers' Association postcode lending data, bank 
lending to SMEs in Hampshire has declined by 24% over the 2013-2019 
period (PO post codes show a similar trend). See Figure 1 below. 
 

o A number of failed Bank of England and Treasury SME focused schemes 
(i.e. Project Merlin, Funding for Lending) have indicated that high street 
banks have little desire to lend to this section of the economy due to issues 
of administration and an inability to support the customers on an individual 
basis. 
 

o The Competition and Markets Authority Report 2016, and SME Growth 
Watch Report from the British Bankers' Association, indicate that a lack of 
competition from high barriers to entry means, that there is limited number 
of places for SMEs to go to access SME loans and banking services. 
Hence, the large banks are insulated from having to offer improved 
services and prefer to lend to larger customers, which is more profitable in 
terms of cost to benefit. 

 
o The Gov.uk Small Business Survey 2018 indicated that SMEs seeking to 

get more credit, are often turned away and hence, do not apply for further 
loans given they feel the process is too time consuming and restrictive. 

 

 
Figure 1a: Bank Lending to SMEs in Hampshire (£) 2013-2019 

*Figures above source the information from the BBA Postcode Lending Data 
 

SME lending in Hampshire and greater Portsmouth in recent years declined by more 
than in the UK as a whole, as shown below in Figure 1b. In Hampshire, on average 
the stock of SME loans has shrunk by 25.3 percent in 6 years. Lending in 72.3 percent 
of postcodes has not recovered to pre-2014 levels, and 60 percent of Hampshire 
postcodes still register negative yearly growth rates in SME lending.  
 

2,200,000,000

2,400,000,000

2,600,000,000

2,800,000,000

3,000,000,000

3,200,000,000

3,400,000,000

Q
2 

20
13

Q
3 

20
13

Q
4 

20
13

Q
1 

20
14

Q
2 

20
14

Q
3 

20
14

Q
4 

20
14

Q
1 

20
15

Q
2 

20
15

Q
3 

20
15

Q
4 

20
15

Q
1 

20
16

Q
2 

20
16

Q
3 

20
16

Q
4 

20
16

Q
1 

20
17

Q
2 

20
17

Q
3 

20
17

Q
4 

20
17

Q
1 

20
18

Q
2 

20
18

Q
3 

20
18

Q
4 

20
18

Q
1 

20
19

Q
2 

20
19

Q
3 

20
19

Q
4 

20
19

Hampshire

Page 30



 
 

13 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Many, even strong, SMEs are being credit rationed either due to their application 
having been turned down, or, more likely due to deciding not to make an application, 
due to the long and burdensome process of applying to a remote bank decision-
making centre, often automated, with no genuine connection to the locality and the 
many layers of bureaucracy before it can reach a decision maker if it is not a loan 
which fits into the standard "tick box" form. Such a credit crunch on SMEs has major 
consequences. The long term impact is to reduce a firm’s ability to self-finance for 
growth and they can either stagnate or sell up or close down.  
 
SMEs are by far the most important employer in the UK as well as in Hampshire. By 
providing credit for business investment by SMEs, job creation and economic growth 
are enhanced, while at the same time such productive credit is more resilient against 
property boom-bust cycles that have been due to large banks’ propensity to lend 
mainly for property purchases. Local SME finance can enable the firms to be self-
sustainable and finance growth. Social value is generated from the finance provided 
to local entrepreneurs to grow and hire in their local area. 
 

 
Figure 1b: Decline in Bank Lending to SMEs comparison betwun UK/GB agianst Hampshire 2014-2020 

 
The failure of the existing high street bank network to support SMEs in Hampshire 
and the UK generally is not on the grounds of capital restrictions. In fact, the capital 
advantages and potential profits for banks' lending to small and micro SMEs who 
require loans of less than £1 million are very clear. The European Banking Authority 
(EBA) and UK Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA) require banks to set aside less 
capital for lending to SMEs (based on a 23.8% lower risk rating) where the aggregate 
loan to a single customer is less than £1 million. 
 
The total number of Hampshire-based SMEs is approximately 70,000 according to 
ONS and Credit Safe data, 2019. 
 

Page 31



 
 

14 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The Community Bank can support a broad range of firms within the SME sector but 
in particular can offer support to the information and communication services sector, 
green technology firms, local manufacturing, transportation and maritime firms, the 
health and social care sector as well as the local hospitality sector. Here funds may 
crucially support the business through a period of transitioning and development with 
the renewal of growth opportunities. 
 

• Economic Value of supporting SMEs based on research by Oxford Economics, 
indicates that every £1 million in lending: 
 

o Contributes at least £2 million to Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
 

o Generates around £635,000 in local and national tax contributions 
 

• Hence the £10 million loan portfolio should: 
 

o Contribute at least £20 million directly to GDP  
 

o £6.35 million in local and national taxes 
 

o A further indirect impact due to likelihood of purchasing from local 
supply chains, generating a greater induced impact to local Gross 
National Product (GNP) 

 
• Social value of supporting local SMEs: 

 
o Self-sustainability and self-reliance of the local community 

 
o Local SMEs more likely to purchase from local supply chains 

 
o Wider support for existing jobs and the creation of new jobs in a range 

of sectors 
 

o Wage funded expenditure of the employees of these firms within the 
local economy 

 
o Supporting the ability to develop and retain skills locally and improve 

prospects for future generations. 
 

 
9. Commercial Loans 

 
9.1 Operating history with Green Growth Loans 

 
In the UK, lending to businesses does not require authorisation as a bank. HCB has 
already lent over £1m to small and medium sized entities.  The loan portfolio was 
established in 2016, entitled "Green Growth Loans" (GGLs) and originally funded by 

Page 32



 
 

15 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

a Regional Growth Fund (RGF) grant of £950,000 and administered by Local First 
Community Interest Company with Eastleigh Borough Council as Accountable Body.   
 
At the end of March 2017 loans ranging from £20,000 to £250,000 and totalling 
£1,145,000 had been given to 13 different companies largely in the Winchester and 
Eastleigh areas. Loan terms have been complied with by all but one debtor who 
unfortunately went into administration resulting in a loss for Local First CIC of 
£46,000. 
 
HCB and Eastleigh Borough Council successfully transferred the entire Green 
Growth Loan book onto the balance sheet Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. in 
February 2019. Since this time under Community Bank direct management, no 
defaults have occurred on new lending. 
 
The loan portfolio has created around 115 jobs and secured the retention of around 
156 jobs overall. 

 
      Figure 2: Green Growth Loans - Spread by Sector 

 
 

9.2 Requirement for additional loan funding 
 
Demonstration of the ability to grow loans is a key element of the Banking 
Authorisation process and during mobilisation to obtain full authorisation. 
 
As part of HCB's business plan, a minimum of £10m needs to be available for lending, 
as soon as possible, to demonstrate to regulators that HCB is in a position to build, 
manage and administer a significant loan book. Additionally the provision of loans is 
critical to enable HCB to start making returns and thus dividends to its founding 
investors, including PCC (its major shareholder) 
 
Once full authorisation is granted at the end of mobilisation, HCB will be able to 
rapidly expand its deposit-taking services. These funds will be the source of loan 

MARINE
10%

TRANSPORT
10%

PROFESSIONALS
20%

ENGINEERING
5%

PROPERTY 
15%

RECYCLING 
5%

ENVIRONMENTAL
5%

TECHNOLOGY
15%

INNOVATION
5%

WATER
5%

SOCIAL
5%

LOAN SPREAD BY SECTOR

Page 33



 
 

16 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

funding going forwards. However, prior to AWR, HCB is not allowed to take deposits, 
and post AWR, during the mobilisation period, HCB can only take in a total gross 
amount of £50k in total in deposits. Thus, without another source of funding or an 
injection of capital, new lending cannot commence. 
 
Additionally, HCB applied to the British Business Bank to become an accredited 
lender under the Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme programme 
(CBILS).  HCB received positive feedback but needs to demonstrate its capability 
further through a larger lending programme before being re-considered - see para 
9.5 below 
 

9.3 New PCC Commercial Loans initiative 
 

Advancing a loan to HCB provides the Council with a vehicle to stimulate the local 
economy and support the recovery from Covid-19.  It will enable some of the 
strongest SMEs to sustain and grow their business, supporting employment and 
prosperity in the area.  
 
Historically, the Council's Treasury Management Policy, approved annually by Full 
Council has allowed for a sum of £10m to be advanced to HCB.  Accordingly, PCC 
and HCB have been preparing the necessary legal documentation for such a loan 
facility (no loans will be made until that documentation is satisfactorily completed).  
Once the legal documentation is executed and a loan advanced, HCB will be able to 
provide further commercial loans to SMEs secured on a variety of forms of collateral.  
 

9.4 Unlike the City Council's existing £5 million equity investment in  HCB Holding Ltd. 
shares (£3.75 million invested so far, remaining £1.25 million conditional on the bank 
achieving AWR as described in Section 5 above) the proposed £10m loan facility is 
not an equity investment for the purposes of setting up and capitalising the bank.  
Rather, it is a loan facility approved by the City Council on a commercial basis 
provided under its Treasury Management powers, repayable within 5 years and 
specifically for commercial loans to SMEs secured on a variety of forms of collateral 
and at interest rates in excess of those that can be obtained through our normal 
treasury management investments.  
 
HCB intend to select the most secure and stable SMEs for the SME loan portfolio: 
 

• Within Hampshire (according to ONS and Credit Safe data, 2019), there 
around 70,000 SMEs, of which Creditsafe data shows 46,000 as having 
credit weightings. 23,000 of these are of the highest credit standard. HCB's 
primary market segment is to focus on these 23,000 high credit standard 
SMEs providing a suitably sized very low risk client base to meet loan 
targets.  
 

Hampshire has one of the largest number of firms, compared to other regions in 
England, within the very low risk category/band of credit risk (score of 71-100) and 
each would have a very low probability of default of less than 1% well below the 2%-

Page 34



 
 

17 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3% HCB have modelled and provisioned in their Regulatory Business Plan under 
which viability is demonstrated. 
 

9.5 The primary risk to the Council is the business failure of HCB, this would put at risk 
both the Council's equity investment of £5m plus the proposed £10m loan facility to 
the extent that it had been advanced. Defaults on individual loans advanced by HCB 
from the £10m loan funding proposed are not the immediate risk of the Council and 
are borne across the whole loan portfolio of HCB.  Individual defaults of loans to 
SMEs are carried by HCB itself and the repayment of the proposed £10m loan plus 
interest would still be payable by HCB.  The key risk of failure by HCB relates to 
defaults considerably in excess of 2%-3%.  These risks are mitigated by: 

 
i) The strength of the Business Plan - This has been rigorously scrutinised by 

the regulators through the authorisation process which involves evaluation of 
the Regulatory Business Plan (including its credit policy i.e. lending policy risk 
and vetting of senior executives 
 

ii) The complimentary advice from Banking experts BDO LLP 
 

iii) The underlying security that in the event of HCB failure, all loans to SMEs will 
transfer to the Council 

 
iv) The underlying credit quality (company strength) of the loans advance to the 

SMEs 
 

v) The diversification strategy of the SME loan portfolio, including emphasis on 
lending for productive business investment, as opposed to property lending.  

 
9.6 Security for the £10m PCC Loan & Draft Loan Drawdown Summary  

 
Security for the £10m loan is provided in a number of tangible and intangible forms.  
Tangible security includes: 
 

• The £1m Green Growth loans book of HCB 
 

• £1.6m of property assets owned by HCB 
 

• Any cash balances of HCB (up to circa £2.3m) 
 

• The underlying loans with SMEs (up to £10m) 
 

Intangible security arises from: 
  

• The financial strength (high credit quality) of the SMEs in receipt of the loans 
 
• The loan portfolio diversification (sectoral and geographic) 

 
• The bank’s credit policy 

Page 35



 
 

18 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
• The rise in the underlying value of the bank by circa £5m to £7m upon bank 

authorisation  
 
The £10m loan facility is proposed to be divided into two tranches of £5m as 
follows: 
 
i) A first tranche of £5m to be provided subject to satisfactory legal 

documentation being put in place that meets the requirements of the 
approved Treasury Management Policy 2020/21 
 

ii) A second tranche of up to £5m to be provided after a 6 month period and 
subject to the Deputy Director of Finance being satisfied that the 
performance of the HCB Loan Book is strong and within the default limits set 
out in the authorised HCB Regulatory Business Plan. 
 

Figure 3 below sets out HCB's draft loan drawdown summary along with details on 
loan collateral. 

 
 
Drawdown Funding 

amount 
Period 
required 

Portfolio loan collateral 
terms 

Additional 
collateral (HCB) 

2Q 2020 £5 million 24 months 
(loan facility 
will allow for 
60 months) 

• £1m fully secured with tangible 
assets 

• £3m secured with debenture 
and tangible company assets 

• Maximum of £1m secured in 
general (for example with a 
personal guarantee)  

• £1m in GGL 
assets / cash 

• £500k+ in cash  
• £1.6m property 

assets  

3Q 2020 £5 million 18 months 
(loan facility 
will allow for 
60 months) 

• £1m fully secured with tangible 
assets 

• £3m secured with debenture 
and tangible company assets 

• Maximum of £1m secured in 
general (for example with a 
personal guarantee) 

In addition to above 
• £1.7m additional 

equity as cash 
• Value of AWR 

approval (ca. £5m-
£7m) 

Table 2: Draft loan drawdown summary - source HCB 
 
9.7 Risk Management Approach 

 
The SME loans extended by HCB will form a deliberately designed SME loan portfolio 
that diversifies credit risk across industries, geographic location, size of borrower, 
service sector by avoiding concentration in these dimensions.  Key to credit risk 
management is the diversification of portfolios by reference to geography, industry, 
individual borrower etc. as this provides greater strength overall.  If one geographic 
region, one business sector or a large client experiences difficulties, the remainder of 
the portfolio is likely not to be affected. 
 

Page 36



 
 

19 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

The overall credit risk management policies in relation to concentration limits for the 
spread of credit risks, single names, industry, geographic split and levels of 
unsecured lending are strictly adhered to throughout the portfolio expansion process.   
There are restrictions with respect to both the business sectors HCB will lend to, the 
concentrations in respect to the business sectors it will lend to and the concentration 
of the overall portfolio. 
 
Further mitigation is provided by the diversity of the Hampshire economy with a broad 
range of industries and economic sectors represented.  Hampshire itself is of a similar 
size to some small countries and has a range of resources including ports and air 
links as well as resilience to specific downturns with the range of sectors including 
agriculture, advanced manufacturing, diverse services, technology and 
transportation. 
 
Examples of a HCB loan portfolio structure and customer diversification/industry 
spread are shown in para's 9.7.2 and 9.7.3 below. 
 
Lending by HCB under this portfolio will be subject to the following criteria: 
 

• The most secure and stable SMEs will be identified based on a Credit Safe 
score of 70+ (very low risk as identified by Credit Safe) for which a probability 
of default of less than 0.2% is the Credit Safe prescribed default percentage. 
 

• Average loan size is expected to be approximately £125k-250k for this 
portfolio. Maximum loans will be linked to credit rating. There will be a 
maximum £350k for term loans, which is in line with PCC Treasury 
Management guidelines. Note: any loan in excess of £350k would require 
additional PCC approval (within a three working day turnaround). 

 
• Average loan term 3 years with maximum loan term of 5 years. This will align 

with PCC's lending facility to HCB, thus minimising probability of loan default. 
 

• Geographic spread of loans is estimated to be 50% within Greater 
Portsmouth boundaries (PO postcodes in Hampshire) and 50% Wider 
Hampshire.  
 

HCB have stated that loans from PCC can be repaid from SME customer principal 
loan repayments. However, upon authorisation, the loan is likely to be repaid earlier 
than that from retail term deposits that will then be available to HCB. The proposed 
loan facility will therefore allow for early repayment by HCB. 
 
Liquidity risk is a primary concern for the management of HCB. HCB’s risk appetite 
for liquidity risk is very low. As a result, HCB's business model and performance 
targets in relation to the size of the liquid asset buffer (85% free cash on deposit with 
the Bank of England, 15% gilts); liquidity coverage ratio (LCR); and net stable funding 
ratio (NSFR) are equivalent compared to the statutory minimum requirements set by 
regulators.  

 

Page 37



 
 

20 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

9.7.1 The Community Bank's Credit Policy 
 

The Hampshire Community Bank's Credit Policy describes the criteria for evaluating 
loan applications.  The Credit Policy has been approved by the Senior Management 
and Executive Team of the Community Bank, which comprise individuals with over 
90 years of banking experience combined. 
 
The regulators, Prudential Regulation Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority 
have thoroughly reviewed the RBP and accompanying Credit Policy and as result of 
the documentation, the Bank Application has now been through the Challenge 
Session phase to the last part of the process prior to Mobilisation. 
 
The Credit Policy has also been vetted by NatWest/RBS as part of the approval 
process for the Agency Banking access to UK payments infrastructure and as result 
of solid Credit Risk Policies and procedures the Community Bank has to only lodge 
a nominal deposit for the services. 
 

9.7.2 Example HCB loan portfolio structure based on key target industries and scale in 
Hampshire (as referenced in 9.7): 

 
SECTOR NO. OF 

BUSINESSES  
 GVA (£BN) EMPLOYMENT PORTFOLIO % 

ADVANCED ENGINEERING 3,400 1.8 31,300 10% 
AEROSPACE 200 1 10,600 5% 

DEFENCE 50 0.4 7,200 5% 
DIGITAL MEDIA 1,800 1.9 18,400 5% 

ENERGY 200 1.2 6,700 5% 
ENVIRONMENT 700 0.6 8,400 10% 

MARINE 1,300 2.1 27,000 5% 
HEALTHCARE 3,600 1.9 79,100 10% 

HIGHER EDUCATION 4 0.8 17,600 5% 
HOSPITATLITY N/A 2.0 60,500 5% 

ICT 4,500 2.2 30,500 10% 
PHARMACEUTICALS 200 0.6 7,500 10% 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 7,700 2 28,800 10% 
PUBLISHING 300 0.3 4,800 5% 

Table 3: Sample Loan Portfolio based on diverse sectors in Hampshire    
Source: Hampshire County Council  

 
9.7.3 Example tranche one HCB loan portfolio customer diversification/industry spread 

based on target customer base and experience with Green Growth lending (as 
referenced in 9.7): 

 
 

  SIC/BUSINESS AMOUNT 

1 11050 - Micro Brewery £100,000 
2 26702 - Manufacturing Photographic £130,000 
3 72110 - Research and Development  £155,000 
4 26511 - Manufacture Sensor Equipment £175,000 
5 46450 - Care and Hygiene Products £195,000 
6 43390 - Construction services £135,000 

Page 38



 
 

21 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

7 58290 - Software Publishing £95,000 
8 52102 - Distribution £100,000 
9 88990 - Social Work Activities £40,000 

10 26511 - Manufacture Electricals £105,000 
11 47610 - Publishing £95,000 
12 28990 - Manufacture Machinery £50,000 
13 41100 - Construction £195,000 
14 43290 - Installation Technology £375,000 
15 71111 - Design Services £100,000 
16 28990 - Manufacture Materials Machinery £150,000 
17 68209 - Land Development £150,000 
18 47610 - Children's Books £30,000 
19 27110 - Manufacture Electricals £295,000 
20 46450 - Cosmetics £175,000 
21 72110 - Biotech Research £100,000 
22 41100 - Building Developments £175,000 
23 45200 - Commercial Vehicles £55,000 
24 43390 - Maintenance Building £74,000 
25 43390 - Other Building £135,000 
26 11050 - Beverages £150,000 
27 68209 - Real Estate Development £50,000 
28 68310 - Estate Agency £35,000 
29 45200 - Transportation £100,000 
30 68310 - Lettings Agents £65,000 
31 27110 - Manufacture Electricals £250,000 
32 52102 - Warehousing Services £175,000 
33 71111 - Architectural Services £100,000 
34 43390 - Repairs and Property Maintenance £11,000 
35 26702 - Manufacturing Imagery Products £170,000 
36 58290 - Information software £110,000 
37 43290 - Technology £275,000 
38 88990 - Care activity £125,000 
      
    £5,000,000 

                   Table 4: Tranche One SME Lending Portfolio Example 
 

 
9.8 Other Funding Opportunities - The British Business Bank proposal 

 
The Community Bank has applied to the British Business Bank (BBB) to become one 
of the accredited lenders under the Government’s Coronavirus Business Interruption 
Loan Scheme (CBILS) and the Bounce Bank Lending Scheme (BBLS) loan 
guarantee programs. 
 

Page 39



 
 

22 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Under the latter program the Government, through the British Business Bank, will 
provide guarantees up to a level of 100% of the unsecured portion of a loan facility 
made to qualifying companies. The Community Bank’s target market mostly meets 
the conditions for qualification. 
 
If successful, the BBLS guarantee programme will significantly reduce the risk that 
lenders (including local authorities as well as wholesale market lenders) to the 
Community Bank face and should enable any financing provided to the Community 
Bank to be given at interest rates that enable the Community Bank to be competitive 
in its chosen focussed SME lending markets within Hampshire. This would help the 
Community Bank to support SMEs in Hampshire at this critical moment. 
 
The applications were submitted in May 2020, HCB received positive feedback on 
their CBILS application, but were ultimately turned down for accreditation due to their 
loan book not increasing in size in recent years and presently being too small. HCB 
therefore need to demonstrate its capability further through a lending programme 
before being re-considered for approval. 
 
Discussions are ongoing with representatives of the BBB in respect of the BBLS 
application. 
 
 

10.  Reasons for recommendations 
 
The recommendations contained within this report: 
 
i) Have been approved in principle by full Council on 17 March 2020 

 
ii) To provide the Council with a vehicle to stimulate the local economy and support 

the recovery from Covid-19.  It will enable some of the strongest SMEs to sustain 
and grow their business, supporting employment and prosperity in the area.  
 

iii) Enable HCB to demonstrate its capability managing a loan book, which is an 
essential requirement of obtaining Authorisation With Restriction and Full 
Authorisation.  Once fully authorised, HCB will be able to make distributions to 
its founding investors and make charitable grants and donations to community 
causes within the Hampshire region 

 
iv) Achieving authorisation provides protect to the £5m equity investment made by 

the Council in the establishment of HCB 
 

v) The loans offered will be of high credit quality and within a diversified portfolio 
and therefore provide a low risk of default 

 
vi) Provide the potential for HCB to participate in Government backed schemes 

(e.g. relating to COVID 19 Support) that provide loans for SMEs within 
Hampshire 

 

Page 40



 
 

23 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

vii) Provide a higher investment return on the Council's temporary surplus cash than 
could be obtained if it was invested with other institutions within the council's 
approved Treasury Management Strategy  

 
viii) Assurance related to the prospects of obtaining bank authorisation and the 

strength of the banks business plan an operating policies is provided by banking 
experts BDO LLP and the rigor exercised by the regulators through the bank 
authorisation process.   

 
 
11. Integrated impact assessment (IIA) 
 
 A preliminary IIA has been completed and is attached at Appendix 4 
 
 
12. Legal implications 
 
12.1  This report follows on from the resolutions of Full Council on 17 March 2020 relating 

to the Treasury Management Policy 2020/21 which requires the Section 151 Officer 
inter alia to:  
(i)  that lending to Hampshire Community Bank (HCB) will be secured on loans 

made by HCB to small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) of the highest 
credit quality which may not in turn be secured on tangible fixed assets; 

 
(ii)  That loan advances to HCB in accordance with (g) (i) above will be subject to 

individual approval by Cabinet. 
 
(iii)  That the maximum duration of loans to HCB be reduced from 10 years to 5 

years. 
 

As such, the legal advice provided to Full Council relating to the approved Treasury 
Management Policy 2020/21 is now repeated as follows.  The Section 151 Officer is 
required by the Local Government Act 1972 and by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2011 to ensure that the Council’s budgeting, financial management, and 
accounting practices meet the relevant statutory and professional requirements. 
Members must have regard to and be aware of the wider duties placed on the Council 
by various statutes governing the conduct of its financial affairs. 

 
 
13. Director of Finance's comments 
 
13.1 HCB Limited, subject to actual financial performance, aims to pay the City Council a 

return equivalent to an Internal Rate of Return over 10 years of 6% on the Council's 
£5 million investment. HCB's ability to make these returns will be enhanced and 
accelerated once it has achieved full authorisation and can then take retail deposits 
from customers. 
 

Page 41



 
 

24 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

13.2 The benefits the bank will bring to the local Solent economy and the distribution of 
50% of the Bank's profits for charitable purposes, mainly in Hampshire, both have the 
potential to improve economic growth and prosperity in the region as well as reducing 
the level of demand on City Council (and other Government) services, though it is not 
possible to quantify that potential benefit. 
 

13.3 The proposed loan facility of £10m to HBC to be used for SME lending (see Section 
9 above) is compliant with the City Council's Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy which considers risk of any loan default as its primary consideration.   
 
 

 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Previous HCB Reports and Communications 
Appendix 2 - Current HCB Group Structure 
Appendix 3 - Biographies Trustees and Directors 
Appendix 4 - Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 
  
  

 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  

Page 42



 
 

25 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
1. Previous HCB reports 
 

 
1.1 10 July 2014 - Cabinet - Hampshire Community Bank (minute 67/2014). Additional 

appendix. 
 
1.2 15 July 2014 - Full Council - Hampshire Community Bank (minute 72/2014) - Cabinet 

Recommendation from its meeting on 10 July 2014. Additional appendix. 
 
1.3 3 March 2017 - Governance and Audit and Standards Committee - Treasury 

Management Policy 2017/18 (item 6). Treasury Management Policy Statement 
2017/18 (12.2) 

 
1.4 9 March 2017 - Cabinet - Treasury Management Policy 2017/18 (item 5). Treasury 

Management Policy Statement 2017/18 (12.2) 
 
1.5 21 March 2017 - Full Council - Treasury Management Policy 2017/18 (item 8) - 

Recommendations from the Cabinet Meeting held on 9 March 2017. Treasury 
Management Policy Statement 2017/18 (12.2) 

 
1.6 9 March 2018 - Governance and Audit and Standards Committee - Treasury 

Management Policy 2018/19 (item 6). Treasury Management Policy Statement 
2018/19 (12.2) 

 
1.7 16 March 2018 - Cabinet - Treasury Management Policy 2018/19 (item 7). Treasury 

Management Policy Statement 2018/19 (12.2) 
 
1.8 20 March 2018 - Full Council - Treasury Management Policy 2018/19 (item 9. Minute 

14). Treasury Management Policy Statement 2018/19 (12.2) 
 
1.9 14 September 2018 - Governance and Audit and Standards Committee - Report on 

Hampshire Community Bank (item 7). 
 
1.10 8 March 2019 - Governance and Audit and Standards Committee - Treasury 

Management Policy 2019/20 (item 6). Treasury Management Policy Statement 
2019/20 (12.2) 

 
1.11 12 March 2019 - Cabinet - Treasury Management Policy 2019/20 (item 11). Treasury 

Management Policy Statement 2019/20 (12.2) 
 
1.12 19 March 2019 - Full Council - Treasury Management Policy 2019/20 (item 9) - 

Recommendations from the Cabinet Meeting held on 12 March 2019. Treasury 
Management Policy Statement 2019/20 (12.2) 

 

Page 43

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=2860&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s4077/Hampshire%20Community%20Bank.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s4078/Hampshire%20Community%20Bank%20Appendix.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s4078/Hampshire%20Community%20Bank%20Appendix.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=2410&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s4077/Hampshire%20Community%20Bank.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s4113/Hampshire%20Community%20Banks%20App%202.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=3615&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14474/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14466/TREASURY%20POLICY%202017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3536&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14474/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14466/TREASURY%20POLICY%202017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=3276&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14474/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s14466/TREASURY%20POLICY%202017-18.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=3845&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18339/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18213/TREASURY%20POLICY%202018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=3940&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18339/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18213/TREASURY%20POLICY%202018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=3448&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18339/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18339/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s18213/TREASURY%20POLICY%202018-19.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=4116&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s19949/HCB%20update%20report%20to%20GAS%20-.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=4118&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22114/Treasury%20Managemet%20Report%2019-20.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22115/TREASURY%20POLICY%202019-20.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4069&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22114/Treasury%20Managemet%20Report%2019-20.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22115/TREASURY%20POLICY%202019-20.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=3739&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22114/Treasury%20Managemet%20Report%2019-20.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s22115/TREASURY%20POLICY%202019-20.pdf


 
 

26 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

1.13 3 March 2020 - Governance and Audit and Standards Committee - Treasury 
Management Policy 2020/21 (item 5). Treasury Management Policy Statement 
2020/21 (Appendix 5.2) 

 
1.14 10 March 2020 - Cabinet - Treasury Management Policy 2020/21 (item 11). Treasury 

Management Policy Statement 2020/21 (Appendix 5.2) 
 
1.15 17 March 2020 - Full Council - Treasury Management Policy 2020/21 (item 11) - 

Recommendations from Governance and Audit and Standards Committee held on 3 
March 2020. Treasury Management Policy Statement 2020/21 (Appendix 5.2) 

 
 
2.  Communications between HCB and Investors 
 
2.1 The below table details a selection of communications between HCB Holding Ltd and 

its investors. A pack, containing these documents is available on request: 
  

Ref. Date 
Issued 

Related to Document Title/Description 

1 22/09/16 Update Report 
to Investors 

Hampshire Community Bank Update Short 
Public 22 Sept 2016 

2 10/10/16 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/12/16) 

Shareholder AGM 01.12.16, includes: 
- Agenda 
- Progress update (11/10/16), both 

summary and detailed 
- HCB Holding Ltd signed financial 

statements for period 01/08/15 to 30/04/16 
- Community Bank Business Plan Summary 

3 10/10/16 Update Report 
to Investors 

Letter to Shareholders 11 October 2016 
(includes update report) 

4 10/11/16 Update Report 
to Investors 

HCB Investor Update 10 Nov 2016 

5 16/10/17 HCB Holding 
AGM (30/10/17) 

Invitation letter AMG 30Oct 2017 

6 16/10/17 HCB Holding 
AGM (30/10/17) 

HCB - Annual Update Summary May 2017 

7 16/10/17 HCB Holding 
AGM (30/10/17) 

Community Bank 2year Business Plan AGM 
2017 

8 16/10/17 HCB Holding 
AGM (30/10/17) 

HCB Holding audited accounts & statements Oct 
2017 

9 31/07/18 Update Report 
to Investors 

Community Bank Progress Report 31 July 2018 

Page 44

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=4397&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26279/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2020-21%20Final%20Version.doc.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26280/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%2020-21%20-%20Final%20Version.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4390&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26279/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2020-21%20Final%20Version.doc.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26280/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%2020-21%20-%20Final%20Version.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=3981&Ver=4
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26279/Treasury%20Management%20Report%2020-21%20Final%20Version.doc.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s26280/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%2020-21%20-%20Final%20Version.pdf


 
 

27 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

10 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

Agenda HCB Holding Ltd Board Meeting 
05.11.18 

11 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

Consulting Agreement Local First 

12 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

Formal Legal Opinion Paris Smith - re: extension 
of longstop date 

13 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

HCB Foundation Articles Item 1 

14 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

HCB Foundation Item 2 Resolution 2 Oct 2018 

15 15/02/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

HCB AGM Minutes 28.11.18 

16 05/11/18 HCB Holding 
AGM (28/11/18) 

Minutes HCB Holding BOD July 2018 

17 08/04/19 Update Report 
to Investors 

Apr 2019 Report from the Executive Board of 
Hampshire Community Bnk final 

18 10/06/19 Update Report 
to Investors 

Jun 2019 Report Fr Executive Board Hampshire 
Community Bnk_100619 final 

19 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Invitation Letter AGM 18 October 2019 

20 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

HCB Holding Annual Update August 2019 

21 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

2018-19 Annual Report Board of Directors of 
Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd 8Oct19 

22 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

HCB Bnk Business Plan 2 years 8 Oct 2019 

23 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Two Year Budget incl. Liquidity status 

24 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Strategic Business Plan Excerpts from RBP 8 
Oct 2019 

25 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

HCB Holding Financial Statements year to 30 
April 2019 

26 09/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Hampshire Community Bnk Financial Statements 
year to 30 April 2019 

27 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Updated Agenda AGM 1 Nov 2019 

28 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Signed minutes of AGM 28 Nov 2018 

29 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Signed minutes of ESM & Investor Meeting 7 
January 2019 

30 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

HCB Holding Ltd - Signed Accounts (year ended 
30 April 2019) 

Page 45



 
 

28 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

31 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Hampshire Community BNK - Signed Accounts 
(year ended 30 April 2019) 

32 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Liquidity Budget Projections with commentary 
October 2019 FINAL 

33 31/10/19 HCB Holding 
AGM (01/11/19) 

Community Bank Heatmap_v3_301019 mitigants 

34 20/12/19 Update Report 
to Investors 

Shareholder Statement Final 

35 20/12/19 Update Report 
to Investors 

Liquidity Budget Projections with commentary 
December 2019 

36 06/03/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

March 2020 Report for Shareholders Fr 
Executive Board 

37 06/03/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

March 2020 Liquidity Budget Projections 

38 30/04/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

April 2020 Report for Shareholders 

39 30/04/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

Liquidity Budget Projections April 2020 

40 19/06/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

June 2020 Report for Shareholders Final 

41 19/06/20 Update Report 
to Investors 

Liquidity Budget Projections June 2020 

 
  

Page 46



 
 

29 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

APPENDIX 2 
 

 
Current HCB Group Structure 
 
Hampshire Community Bank has a three level corporate structure as follows: 

 
 

 
 

Figure A1: The Community Bank Group Structure 
 
 

  

Page 47



 
 

30 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

HCB Foundation: 
 
• HCB Foundation is a company limited by guarantee, registered as a Charity with 

the Charity Commission on 5 July 2018, Charity No. 1179088 and governed by 
Trustees.   

 
• A corporate governance design has been put in place to mitigate against the risk 

of takeover, which historical records indicate is the biggest problem when setting 
up a new local bank. Under UK legal framework, the strongest form of prevention 
of takeover and ensuring longevity is ownership by a charity for the benefit of the 
local people. 

 
• Charitable Objects of the Foundation include "To promote any charitable 

purposes (according to the law of England and Wales) that benefit the public 
primarily in Hampshire" and "To promote any purposes that benefit the public 
primarily in Hampshire; to promote any charitable purpose (according to the law 
of England and Wales) in the United Kingdom, if the public in Hampshire will also 
benefit indirectly". 

 
• The Foundation has as its central purpose to own and never dispose of the 

Community Bank, via its ownership of 50% of HCB Holding Ltd. B Class Common 
Shares. These are issued whenever the investors’ A class shares are issued, 
such that HCB Foundation will always have 50% of the vote in an AGM of HCB 
Holding Ltd. In addition to charitable donations from the public, the Foundation is 
to receive a steady income from dividends paid by the Community Bank. 

 
• Investors in A Class Common Shares of HCB Holding Ltd obtain the benefit of 

100% of the vote on the Grants Board of HCB Foundation. This body (described 
in section 3) which HCB Foundation will be responsible for establishing, will advise 
on "allocating for charitable grants, donations and disbursements half of the funds 
contributed to the Charity by both the Community Bank and HCB Holding".  

 
• The remainder will, for the first two decades at least, be mainly used to accumulate 

reserves allowing the Foundation to purchase parts of the A Class Common 
Shares back from the investors and/or accumulating a permanent endowment that 
ensures the long-term future of the Foundation and the Community Bank. 

 
• The Foundation considers ownership in shares of HCB Holding and Hampshire 

Community Bnk an inalienable property and source of future permanent revenue 
streams to fund its charitable activities, and hence the Foundation is tasked to 
secure this ownership in perpetuity. HCB Foundation is able to make contributions 
to the capital of the Community Bank, but otherwise is to spend its funds only on 
charitable purposes for the benefit of the people in Hampshire. 

 
• Trustees currently are Anne Harrison (formerly of Hampshire County Council, now 

retired), Sarah King (Eastleigh BC Chief Financial Officer), Shamsher Dandha 
(entrepreneur), Andrew Walsh (Finance Director) and Dr Richard Werner 

Page 48

http://apps.charitycommission.gov.uk/Showcharity/RegisterOfCharities/CharityFramework.aspx?RegisteredCharityNumber=1179088&SubsidiaryNumber=0
https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/09121426/officers


 
 

31 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

(Professor of International Banking at the University of Southampton, previously 
Senior Managing Director, Bear Stearns Asset Management now JP Morgan). 

HCB Holding Limited 
 
• HCB Holding Ltd. is a company limited by shares, incorporated with Companies 

House on 8 July 2014, Company No. 9121398. 
 

• HCB Holding Ltd. owns 100% of the common shares issued by Hampshire 
Community Bnk Ltd. All directors require approval of the regulator and hence it 
is expected that the majority either has financial sector or financial law 
experience, or experience of finance and accounting in senior positions. 

 
• HCB Holding Limited effectively controls Hampshire Community Bnk Limited 

(see below) as it holds all the share capital for and can appoint and remove 
Directors of Hampshire Community Bnk Limited. 

 
• This is the company in which PCC and other public sector investors have 

purchased shares.  The shareholders have signed up to purchase 8,000 ordinary 
class A shares at £1,000 per share as set out below.  To date shareholders have 
released three quarters of these funds and payment of the remaining quarter is 
conditional on a further Due Diligence report from banking experts, BDO LLP.  
PCC have therefore paid £3.75 million of the total £5 million due: 

 
o 5,000 - Portsmouth City Council 
o 500 - Eastleigh Borough Council 
o 250 - Winchester City Council 
o 500 - Test Valley Borough Council 
o 200 - The University of Portsmouth 
o 100 - The University of Winchester 
o 400 - The University of Southampton 
o 100 - Southampton Solent University 
o 950 - Local First Community Interest Company 

 
• HCB Holding Ltd. is jointly and equally owned by the founding shareholders who 

provide the bulk of the regulatory capital, and HCB Foundation, the charity 
described above. 
 

• More specifically, 50% of HCB Holding Ltd. shares are being allocated among the 
investors who subscribe to A Class Common Shares, yielding a dividend. These 
shares constitute Core Tier 1 Equity. The voting rights is divided equally among 
investors on the basis of one vote per investor. 
 

• HCB Foundation owns B Class Common Shares, accounting for the other 50% of 
the total vote at HCB Holding Ltd. shareholders’ meetings. Only a nominal value 
of capital is being introduced through these shares, which are classified as 
Additional Tier 1 Equity. 

 

Page 49

https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/08288027/officers


 
 

32 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

• Blake Morgan (then Blake Lapthorn) law firm drafted the articles and subscription 
agreement and advised on the holding company structure. This is common in 
banking and favoured by regulators who prefer bank shares to be held by one 
entity in a holding structure. 

 
• Directors currently are Chris Ward (Chair of the HCB Holding Limited Board of 

Directors and PCC Section 151 Officer), Johannes Haas (General Manager, DZ 
Bank AG London Branch), and Dr Richard Werner (Professor of International 
Banking at the University of Southampton, previously Senior Managing Director, 
Bear Stearns Asset Management now JP Morgan). 

 
• A minimum of one more independent non-executive director will be appointed to 

the board of directors in the coming year. 
 
• Note: Within HCB's proposed original group structure (as shown in the 10 July 

2014 Cabinet report), investors in HCB Holding Ltd were to be issued with 
preference shares (which do not give any voting rights, but instead guarantee a 
fixed dividend, which has priority over any dividend paid to other shareholders). 
However, changes to bank regulation and in particular to capital adequacy 
(“Basel”) rules (CRD IV, CRR) effective from 2014, meant that the original 
structure with preference shares could not be implemented. Hence, the current 
group structure was developed, with significant input from the legal advisors Blake 
Morgan (then Blake Lapthorn) and external consultants BDO. 

 
 
Hampshire Community Bnk Limited (HCB) 
 
• Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. is a company limited by shares with standard 

articles of association, incorporated with Companies House on 15 April 2014, 
Company No. 8997051. 
 

• This company is 100% owned by HCB Holding Ltd. It will, upon authorisation by 
the Prudential Regulatory Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority, provide 
a range of community banking services. 
 

• This is the company which is seeking authorisation from the Bank of England to 
operate as a bank.  The name includes the word "Bnk" because a company name 
cannot include the word "Bank" until it is authorised to operate as a bank by the 
Bank of England. 

 
• As described above HCB Holding Ltd Board has the power to appoint or remove 

Hampshire Community Bnk Limited directors. 
 

• Directors currently are Johannes Haas (General Manager, DZ Bank AG London 
Branch), Andreas Neukirch (Director of Operations, Hampshire Community BNK 
Ltd), Bernd Grund (Director of Sales, Hampshire Community BNK Ltd) and Dr 
Richard Werner (Professor of International Banking at the University of 

Page 50

https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/09121398/officers
https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/08997051/officers
http://www.gbf.com/johannes-haas-general-manager-dz-bank-ag-london/
https://professorwerner.org/
https://professorwerner.org/


 
 

33 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Southampton, previously Senior Managing Director, Bear Stearns Asset 
Management now JP Morgan).  

 
• The Articles of the company place no limit to the number of Directors, but there 

must be a minimum of two. A minimum of one more independent non-executive 
director will be appointed to the board of directors in the coming year. 

Page 51



 
 

34 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

APPENDIX 3 
 

HCB Foundation 

 

• Registered charity 
• A charity for the benefit of the people of Hampshire 
• Charitable disbursals in accordance with the rules of the Charity Commission 
• 50% shareholder in HCB Holding 
• A Grants Board consisting of delegates from the shareholders of HCB Holding will 

advise the trustees on the disbursal of 50% of the charitable disbursals 
 

DIRECTORS 

Trustee 

Shamsher Dhanda 

• Graduate banking researcher at the University of 
Southampton 

• More than 10 years financial modelling and research analyst 
experience 

• Analyst and Performance Reporting Lead, Secure Trust Bank 
• Data modelling and research analyst, Taxlite Financial 

Consulting 
 

Trustee  

Anne Harrison 

• Now retired, a volunteer in local community engagement with a 
passion for Hampshire. 

• Previously, Village Agents Coordinator for Age Concern 
Hampshire, covering the whole of the county  

• As Market Towns Project Manager for Hampshire County 
Council, managed £1.25m rural grant programme for SEEDA 
over 10 years via the Economic Development Office (EDO) 

• Continued as Rural Regeneration Officer, Hampshire County 
Council, facilitating a programme of grants and support for 
rural shops via the EDO 

 

Page 52



 
 

35 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Trustee 

Sarah King 

• Eastleigh Borough Council Corporate Director of Support 
Services and Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

Trustee 

Andrew Walsh 

• Chartered Accountant with extensive CFO experience in 
private and public companies 

• Associate of Balkan Financial Sector Equity Fund and Chair 
of various microfinance businesses in Eastern Europe 

• Leadership consultant and coach, having established a 
Winchester-based consultancy 

• Pro bono adviser to small businesses 

 

Trustee 

Richard A Werner 

• Professor of Banking and Finance 
• Director, Centre for Research on Accountability, 

Governance and Sustainability, De Montfort University, 
Leicester  

• Proponent of the original ‘Quantitative Easing’, Japan 1995 
• Researcher on the benefits of decentralised banking 

systems consisting of small local banks 
 

 

  

Page 53



36 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

HCB Holding Ltd. 

• Holding company, owning 100% of the shares in Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd.
• Issuer of the shares held by the stakeholders

DIRECTORS 

Chairman 

Chris Ward 

• More than 25 years' experience in Local Government
• Current Roles:

o Director of Finance & Resources, Portsmouth City
Council

o Director of Finance, Isle of Wight Council
o Borough Treasurer, Gosport Borough Council
o Chief Financial Officer, Solent Local Enterprise Partnership
o Chairman, Portico Shipping Limited
o Director, Victory Energy Supply Limited

• Head of Finance, Portsmouth City Council
• Chief Accountant, Portsmouth City Council

Senior Independent Director 

Johannes Haas 

• More than 20 years senior level banking experience in the
major international financial centres

• Director DZ Bank AG, London
• Sous-Directeur, Private Banking DZ Privatbank SA.

Luxembourg
• Managing Director, Private Banking DZ Privatbank,

Singapore.
• Chief Operating Officer (General Manager; Senior VP) DZ Bank AG, New York.
• Head of Business Development, DZ Bank AG, Frankfurt.

Page 54



 
 

37 
 

 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Director 

Richard A Werner 

• More than 30 years financial sector experience 
• Senior Managing Director, Bear Stearns Asset 

Management (now JP Morgan Asset Management) 
• Senior Portfolio Manager, Bear Stearns Global Alpha 

Fund 
• Chief Economist, Jardine Fleming Securities (Asia) Ltd. 

(now JP Morgan Asia Securities). 
• Senior Manager, VR Bank Landau, Germany: deputy 

head corporate client department 
• Intern/Trainee, Deutsche Bank in Munich, New York & Tokyo. 

 

 

Hampshire Community Bnk Ltd. 

 

• The Community Bank, presently in the process of obtaining regulatory authorisation 
as a bank 

• 100% owned by HCB Holding Ltd. 
 

DIRECTORS 

Chairman 

Richard A Werner 

as above 

 

Managing Director and Director of Operations 

Andreas Neukirch 

• More than 30 years banking experience 
• 14 years CFO, CRO at GLS Bank, Germany (Total assets 

E4.5bn, 500 employees) 
• Division Manager Services, Volksbank Lippstadt eG, Lippstadt 

(Total Assets €800m, 180 employees)  
• Branch manager/corporate client consultant, Volksbank Brühl 

eG (Total Assets €140m, 200 employees) 
• Training DZ Bank, Düsseldorf (Total Assets €40bn, 800 staff). 

 

Page 55



38 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Director 

Bernd Grund 

• More than 30 years banking experience
• 16 years of bank director experience at two co-operative

banks in Germany (Harzer Volksbank and Ostharzer
Volksbank)

• 10 years Director and Chief of Sales and Marketing, focusing
on SME loans

• 6 years Director and CFO in charge of back-office, Harzer
Volksbank

• Also experience at Volksbank Halberstadt
• Training: Commerzbank AG.

Senior Independent Director 

Johannes Haas 

• More than 20 years senior level banking experience in the
major international financial centres

• Director DZ Bank AG, London
• Sous-Directeur, Private Banking DZ Privatbank SA.

Luxembourg
• Managing Director, Private Banking DZ Privatbank,

Singapore.
• Chief Operating Officer (General Manager; Senior VP) DZ Bank AG, New York.
• Head of Business Development, DZ Bank AG, Frankfurt.

Head of Risk & Compliance 

Jonathan Birrell-Gray 

• More than 30 years banking and risk experience
• Interim Director of Operational Risk for Global Markets,

Bank of America Merrill Lynch, London
• Executive Director, CFO and Operational Risk Manager,

Portigon AG [formerly WestLB AG]
• Executive Director Financial Processes and Systems,

Global Project Management for Finance, Portigon AG
• Financial Controller / CFO, Statutory and Regulatory

Reporting, Taxation, Banque National de Paris plc and London Branch.

Page 56



Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)

The integrated impact assessment is a quick and easy screening process. It should: 

identify those policies, projects, services, functions or strategies that could impact positively or 
negatively on the following areas:

Communities and safety

Integrated impact assessment (IIA) form December 2019 

Equality & - DiversityThis can be found in Section A5

Environment and public  space

Regeneration and culture

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Directorate: Finance and Resources

Service, function: Financing SMEs in Hampshire

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy (new or old) : 

Hampshire Community BNK Ltd.  
Community Bank founding project

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: 

Existing★

New / proposed

Changed

What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy? 

The overall aim of the project is to provide financial services in particular loans to SMEs within the 
region of Hampshire. This will support local business and scale up their employment opportunities. 

APPENDIX 4

Page 57



Has any consultation been undertaken for this proposal? What were the outcomes of the consultations? Has 
anything changed because of the consultation? Did this inform your proposal?

No local formal consultation, however, the project is based on large and long scale economic and social research in Hampshire. The 
Bank of England has always confirmed that increased SME financing will always be required. 

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A1-Crime - Will it make our city safer? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it reduce crime, disorder, ASB and the fear of crime?
• How will it prevent the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances?
• How will it protect and support young people at risk of harm?
• How will it discourage re-offending?

If you want more information contact Lisa.Wills@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-spp-plan-2018-20.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?
With the higher level of local employment options that the project will create, it is believed that this will contribute to discourage 
potential re-offending and reduce crime levels.

How will you measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Surveys on re-offenders going into work in the future could be undertaken.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A2-Housing - Will it provide good quality homes? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it increase good quality affordable housing, including social housing?
• How will it reduce the number of poor quality homes and accommodation?
• How will it produce well-insulated and sustainable buildings?
• How will it provide a mix of housing for different groups and needs?

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/psh-providing-affordable-housing-in-portsmouth-april-19.
pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

Page 58



How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A3-Health - Will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it improve physical and mental health?
• How will it improve quality of life?
• How will it encourage healthy lifestyle choices?
• How will it create healthy places? (Including workplaces)

If you want more information contact Dominique.Letouze@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cons-114.86-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-proof-2.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

The Community Bank are currently already lending to green and healthy SMEs such as Bike Shops and Healthy 'vegan' cafes etc. 
under their Green Growth Loan programme. Lending to these types of businesses will only expand under the proposed loan 
agreements. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Monitoring of numbers of these types of organisations within the Community Banks loan portfolio.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A4-Income deprivation and poverty-Will it consider income 
deprivation and reduce poverty? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it support those vulnerable to falling into poverty; e.g., single working age adults and lone parent
households?

• How will it consider low-income communities, households and individuals?
• How will it support those unable to work?
• How will it support those with no educational qualifications?

Page 59



If you want more information contact Mark.Sage@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/health-and-care/health/joint-strategic-needs-assessment 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The Community Bank's SME customers will be funded to create more jobs, a criteria of HCB's lending policy is that the customer will 
create and maintain current jobs in the area. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
HCB monitor and ask customers before and during the loan, what jobs will be created and/or maintained.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A5-Equality & diversity - Will it have any positive/negative impacts on 
the protected characteristics? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it impact on the protected characteristics-Positive or negative impact (Protected characteristics
under the Equality Act 2010, Age, disability, race/ethnicity, Sexual orientation, gender reassignment, sex,
religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership,socio-economic)

• What mitigation has been put in place to lessen any impacts or barriers removed?
• How will it help promote equality for a specific protected characteristic?

If you want more information contact gina.perryman@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-equality-strategy-2019-22-final.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

HCB's conduct policy and the guideline of all its activities is based on all the options to make sure that diversity will be created and 
discrimination is eradicated. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Page 60



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B1-Carbon emissions - Will it reduce carbon emissions? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it reduce greenhouse gas emissions?
• How will it provide renewable sources of energy?
• How will it reduce the need for motorised vehicle travel?
• How will it encourage and support residents to reduce carbon emissions?

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-sustainability-strategy.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

The Community Banks lending portfolio will include green projects throughout Hampshire. They are also part of the Future South 
Board, supported by PCC already. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
These types of businesses will be present in HCB's loan portfolio, and therefore will be monitored. 

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B2-Energy use - Will it reduce energy use? ★
In thinking about this question: 

• How will it reduce water consumption?
• How will it reduce electricity consumption?
• How will it reduce gas consumption?
• How will it reduce the production of waste?

If you want more information contact Triston.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to:  

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s24685/Home%20Energy%20Appendix%201%20-%20Energy%
20and%20water%20at%20home%20-%20Strategy%202019-25.pdf 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The Community Banks lending portfolio will include green projects throughout Hampshire. They are also part of the Future South 
Board, supported by PCC already. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
These types of businesses will be present in HCB's loan portfolio, and therefore will be monitored. 

Page 61



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B3 - Climate change mitigation and flooding-Will it proactively 
mitigate against a changing climate and flooding? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it minimise flood risk from both coastal and surface flooding in the future? 
 • How will it protect properties and buildings from flooding? 
 • How will it make local people aware of the risk from flooding?  
 • How will it mitigate for future changes in temperature and extreme weather events?  

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-surface-water-management-plan-2019.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-flood-risk-management-plan.pdf 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The Community Banks lending portfolio will include green projects throughout Hampshire. They are also part of the Future South 
Board, supported by PCC already.  Therefore it is hoped through this it will help fight climate change. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
These types of businesses will be present in HCB's loan portfolio, and therefore will be monitored. 

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B4-Natural environment-Will it ensure public spaces are greener, more 
sustainable and well-maintained? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it encourage biodiversity and protect habitats?  
 • How will it preserve natural sites?  
 • How will it conserve and enhance natural species? 

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy-dec-17.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Page 62



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B5-Air quality - Will it improve air quality? 
 ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it reduce motor vehicle traffic congestion? 
 • How will it reduce emissions of key pollutants? 
 • How will it discourage the idling of motor vehicles? 
 • How will it reduce reliance on private car use? 

If you want more information contact Hayley.Trower@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-aq-air-quality-plan-outline-business-case.pdf 
   
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B6-Transport - Will it improve road safety and transport for the 
whole community? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users over users of private vehicles? 
 • How will it allocate street space to ensure children and older people can walk and cycle safely in the area? 
 • How will it increase the proportion of journeys made using sustainable and active transport? 
 • How will it reduce the risk of traffic collisions, and near misses, with pedestrians and cyclists?   
 
If you want more information contact Pam.Turton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/travel/local-transport-plan-3 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

The Community Bank are currently already lending to Bike Shops under their Green Growth Loan programme. Lending to these types 
of businesses will only expand under the proposed loan agreements as well as other transport oriented companies. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
These types of businesses will be present in HCB's loan portfolio, and therefore will be monitored. 

Page 63



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B7-Waste management - Will it increase recycling and reduce 
the production of waste? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it reduce household waste and consumption? 
 • How will it increase recycling? 
 • How will it reduce industrial and construction waste? 
    
If you want more information contact Steven.Russell@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?
The Community Bank are already lending to a specialist recycling SME who aims to help increase recycling under their Green Growth 
Loan programme. Lending to these types of businesses will only expand under the proposed loan agreements.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
These types of businesses will be present in HCB's loan portfolio, and therefore will be monitored. 

Page 64



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C1-Culture and heritage - Will it promote, protect and 
enhance our culture and heritage? ★ ★

In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it protect areas of cultural value? 
 • How will it protect listed buildings? 
 • How will it encourage events and attractions? 
 • How will it make Portsmouth a city people want to live in?  

If you want more information contact Claire.Looney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 
 

N/A

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A

C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C2-Employment and opportunities - Will it promote the 
development of a skilled workforce? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it improve qualifications and skills for local people? 
 • How will it reduce unemployment? 
 • How will it create high quality jobs? 
 • How will it improve earnings? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The Hampshire Community Bank's purpose is to support micro and small SMEs with funding to enable existing businesses to grow 
and new business start ups to start trading.  
There is considerable empirical evidence that the high street banks have reduced lending to SMEs in the region. Equally, the failure to 
lend to SMEs results in a negative impact on GDP. However, in those countries and areas of the UK where SMEs are supported there is 
significant economic growth.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
HCB will maintain statistics on the number of new jobs created and the number of jobs safeguarded as a result of the loans that the 

Page 65



Community Bank advances.

C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

 Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C3 - Economy - Will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, 
support sustainable growth and regeneration? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it encourage the development of key industries? 
 • How will it improve the local economy? 
 • How will it create valuable employment opportunities for local people?  
 • How will it promote employment and growth in the city?  

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The Hampshire Community Bank's purpose is to support micro and small SMEs with funding to enable existing businesses to grow 
and new business start ups to start trading.  
There is considerable empirical evidence that the high street banks have reduced lending to SMEs in the region. Equally, the failure to 
lend to SMEs results in a negative impact on GDP. However, in those countries and areas of the UK where SMEs are supported there is 
significant economic growth. 
Also, the Community Bank will, as part of its credit risk management, be looking to have a diversified portfolio of industries, support 
new industries, support community interest companies, but will not lend to those industries that are deemed unethical or have a 
negative impact on climate change. 
Therefore, support will be able to be provided by loans that will be tailored for the needs of each SME and be subject to strict 
maximum lending criteria dependent upon the credit weighting and considerations of the Community Bank's loan officers.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
HCB will maintain statistics on the number of new jobs created and the number of jobs safeguarded as a result of the loans that the 
Community Bank advances.

Q8 - Who was involved in the Integrated impact assessment?
William Taylor (PCC - Senior Finance and Commercial Analyst). The Executive Committee of the 
Hampshire Community Bank

This IIA has been approved by: Chris Ward

Contact number: 02392 834423

Date: 07/09/20

Page 66



 

1 
 

 

Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting: 
 

15 September 2020 

Subject: 
 

Seafront Masterplan SPD 

Report by: 
 

Ian Maguire - Assistant Director, Planning and Economic 
Growth 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
  
  

 

1. Purpose of report 

 

1.1. The purpose of the report is to: 

 

1.1.1. Report to Members the results of the February-March 2019 public consultation; 

 

1.1.2. Advise Members of the content of the draft Seafront Masterplan SPD; 

 

1.1.3. Advise Members on the engagement strategy on the draft Seafront Masterplan 

SPD and associated documents; and 

 

1.1.4. To seek Members' endorsement of the approach. 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1. It is recommended: 

 

2.1.1. Members note the summary of representations received during the 

February-March 2019 public consultation on the options for the Seafront 

Masterplan and the issues raised; 

 

2.1.2. Members note the content of the revised draft Seafront Masterplan SPD; 

and approve the document and other associated documents for a period 

of 6 weeks of public consultation; and 

 

2.1.3. The Assistant Director, Planning and Economic Growth be authorised to, 

if necessary, make editorial amendments to the wording of the Seafront 

Masterplan SPD and any associated documents prior to publication, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Policy and City 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

Development.  These amendments shall be restricted to correcting errors 

and formatting text and shall not alter the meaning of the document(s). 

3. Background 

 

3.1. The revised Seafront Masterplan SPD (SM SPD) is an update to the version adopted in 

2013. The revised SM SPD sets out a vision for the seafront area, provides strategic 

and detailed planning guidance, identifies further enhancement and development 

opportunities, and highlights elements of the seafront that should be conserved.  Once 

adopted, the revised SM SPD will be a material consideration in planning decisions. 

 

3.2. Public consultation took place on the review of the Seafront Masterplan over 

July/August 2018, and again in February/March 2019.  The first consultation sought to 

identify issues relating to the seafront, and the second consultation sought feedback on 

a range of 'challenges and opportunities' for the seafront. Analysis of this second round 

of public consultation is now complete and has informed the development of the draft 

SM SPD. 

 

Project timetable 

Key stage Description Indicative 

timescale 

Stage 1:  

Initiation 

 

Initial analysis of issues Complete 

Public consultation Jul-Aug 2018 Complete 

Stage 2: 

Challenges & 

opportunities 

Identifying challenges and presenting 

opportunities 

Complete 

Public consultation Feb-Mar 2019 Complete 

Stage 3: 

Draft publication 

Production of draft Seafront Masterplan SPD Complete 

Public consultation Sep-Oct 2020 

Stage 4: 

Final publication 

Making modifications and production of final 

publication for adoption 

Oct/Nov 2020 

Stage 5: 

Adoption 

Decision meeting to approve final publication 

for adoption 

Nov 2020 

 

Relationship between SM SPD and Southsea Coastal Scheme 

 

3.3. The current Seafront Masterplan adopted in 2013 contains guidance on a range of 

projects to improve the seafront, including high level reference to the replacement of the 

Southsea sea defences. Since then, the Southsea Coastal Scheme (SCS) project being 

delivered by the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership (ESCP) has made significant 

progress, gaining planning permission on 05 December 2019 (LPA ref. 19/01097/FUL) 

and associated funding.  Construction of the initial phase is due to begin soon.   

 

3.4. Notwithstanding the main outcome of delivering better flood protection, the SCS 

presents significant opportunities to deliver various improvements to the seafront, 

especially public realm and space enhancements.  Updating the Seafront Masterplan 

Page 68



 

3 
 

will help to provide the strategic planning framework in order to capture and promote 

such additional opportunities going forward, and to ultimately facilitate their delivery.   

 

3.5. The ESCP are currently progressing into the detailed design phases of the various 

frontages, and are working with consultants to further identify and detail public realm 

and space enhancement opportunities and development projects which could either be 

delivered through the SCS or could be earmarked for delivery by the council or other 

parties in the future. 

 

3.6. Consequently, a Collaborative Enhancement Plan (CEP) has been produced (attached 

to this report in Appendix 7).  This document demonstrates through a series of projects 

and ideas how the ambition of the SM SPD could be realised.  It is acknowledged that 

each proposal will need to be subject to viability and delivery considerations (such as 

funding, revenue generation, buildability, legal constraints, etc.), though the aim of the 

CEP is to demonstrate the 'art of the possible' and one scenario for how the SM SPD 

could be delivered in the future and as part of the SCS.  The CEP will be published 

alongside the draft SM SPD for public consultation. 

4. Public & stakeholder engagement Feb-Mar 2019 

 

4.1. A full report on the public and stakeholder engagement conducted in Feb-Mar 2019 for 

the SM SPD is included in Appendix 1. Headlines from the report are as follows: 

 

 Younger age groups were more successfully targeted, with 20% of respondents aged 

25-34 and 22% 35-44. A strong social media campaign, which reached over 33,000 

people is likely to have helped. However, children and young adults (under 24) 

remain hard to reach.  

 

 The main issues raised related to parking and cycling. Regarding parking, there was 

much concern over any parking loss, mainly from residents living near the seafront. 

Regarding cycling, the issue was complex, although the desire for safe cycling 

infrastructure was clear, with a well-designed physically segregated cycle route a key 

principle to achieving this. 

 

 There was general support for public realm and redevelopment opportunities across 

the seafront, as well as to incorporate health and wellbeing into the protection and 

enhancement of the seafront. 

 

5. Draft Seafront Masterplan SPD content 

 

5.1. The draft revised SM SPD (included in Appendix 2) sets out a vision for the seafront 

area, provides strategic and detailed planning guidance, identifies further enhancement 

and development opportunities, and highlights elements of the seafront that should be 

conserved.  Once adopted, the revised SM SPD will be a material consideration in 

planning decisions. 

 

Page 69



 

4 
 

5.2. The SM SPD elaborates on existing Local Plan Core Strategy Policy PCS9, which sets 

the overarching policy direction for the Seafront Masterplan, namely that new 

development will contribute to the revitalisation of the seafront by:  

 Encouraging and supporting redevelopment of existing buildings for leisure and 

tourism 

 Encouraging and supporting small-scale restaurants, cafes and other uses that 

would diversify the offer 

 Protection and enhancement of the character of the seafront 

 Protection of nature conservation value at Eastney Beach 

 Public realm improvements to promenade 

 Improving links between the seafront & Southsea town centre and Castle Road 

 

5.3. Therefore, within this policy framework, the following thematic areas inform the key 

guidance contained in the draft SM SPD:  

 Climate change 

 Health & wellbeing 

 Heritage 

 Natural environment 

 Public realm 

 Transport and access 

 Economy and attractions; and 

 Supporting development/redevelopment opportunities of various sites within the 

seafront. 

 

5.4. Furthermore, the draft SM SPD provides key guidance and proposals within 'area 

based' chapters.  These areas are presented in the document as the following: 

 Old Portsmouth 

 Clarence Pier 

 Southsea Common: 

o Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road 

o Southsea Skatepark 

o The Pyramids Centre 

o Speakers' Corner, South Parade Gardens & Rock Gardens 

o South Parade Pier & St Helen's Parade 

o Canoe Lake Park to St George's Road 

 St George's Road to Henderson Road 

 Henderson Road to Eastney Point 

 

5.5. In developing the draft SM SPD, due consideration has been given to the current 

direction of national and local policies/strategies and ambition towards prioritising and 

addressing cycling/walking infrastructure and modal shift, both at a national scale and 

within Portsmouth.  These have been an influential factor in formulating the Transport 

and Access guidance and relevant proposals within the draft SM SPD. 

 

5.6. Overall seafront parking provision has been considered throughout the development of 

this draft, and this is being looked at further in collaboration with the ESCP and PCC 

Transport teams as part of the work on the Southsea Coastal Scheme, and Transport's 

Page 70



 

5 
 

Parking Strategy.  For now, the SM SPD considers the issue of parking where it can, 

including recommending that the Clarence Pier and Clarence Esplanade car parks could 

be re-provisioned with an increase in capacity to mitigate potential losses in parking 

elsewhere (e.g. on-street provision at parts of Clarence Esplanade or Avenue de Caen) 

arising from relevant proposals. 

 

5.7. The draft SM SPD is supported and informed by technical reports (namely a 

Sustainability Appraisal, a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA), and an Integrated 

Impact Assessment), and these are included in the appendices to this report.  An 

addendum to the HRA to reconcile the assessment version of the SPD to the draft SPD 

for consultation has also been produced for reference.  These technical and supporting 

reports will also be published for public consultation. 

 

5.8. A covering sheet will accompany the draft SM SPD to provide background to the 

document and present the public consultation context. 

6. Engagement on the draft Seafront Masterplan SPD 

 

6.1. Much engagement with stakeholders has been conducted already through various 

previous public engagement and consultation activities, and it is considered the draft 

SPD balances competing interests, seeking compromises, while taking the seafront 

firmly in the direction of health & wellbeing, climate change, and sustainability, as well 

as seeking to conserve the seafront's special assets and characteristics.  

 

6.2. Public consultation on the draft SPD is pursuant to Regulation 12 and 13 of The Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  The public 

consultation period is proposed to last for 6 weeks, and is proposed to start from w/e 18 

September 2020. 

 

6.3. The current COVID-19 pandemic and resulting social distancing requirements have had 

immediate implications for local authorities and the preparation of Local Plans and 

SPDs, including the ability of local authorities to comply with the objectives in their 

Statements of Community Involvement (SCIs), such as holding face-to-face community 

consultation events or providing physical documents for inspection. 

 

6.4. To enable plan making to continue, the government updated the National Planning 

Policy Guidance1 and brought into force new amendment regulations2 to make the 

provision to temporarily allow community engagement to take place by 'any means that 

are reasonably practicable'. These new provisions will be reflected in the council's 

consultation strategies in due course, which will include using online engagement 

measures to their full potential as well as appropriate methods to engage 'digitally 

excluded' residents. The council's SCI will be reviewed in due course to reflect these 

changes (as well as those affecting Development Management procedures). 

                                                 
1 MHCLG (updated May and July 2020) National Planning Policy Guidance on Plan-making, paras. 
76-80. 
2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2020 

Page 71



 

6 
 

 

6.5. Therefore, taking the above into consideration, for the purpose of this Seafront 

Masterplan SPD consultation it is envisaged that public engagement and consultation 

activities will be limited for now in their scope (e.g. there will be no face-to-face 

community consultation events; no physical documents made available in libraries, 

community centres, or council offices).  However, to promote the public consultation, a 

range of reasonable and appropriate methods will still be used, including:  

 Social media 

 Council website 

 Posters at various seafront locations 

 Press notice 

 Email notifications (e.g. statutory consultees and those on the Planning Policy 

mailing list). 

 

6.6. Reponses will be collected through online questionnaires and emails. Telephone 

responses to the consultation will also be supported by the council's research and 

engagement team through the City Helpdesk, where members of the public can call in 

on a dedicated line to be taken through the survey over the phone. 

 

6.7. The results of this consultation will be the subject of a report to Members at a later date, 

along with recommendations for finalising the SPD for adoption. 

7. Reasons for recommendations 

 

7.1. SPDs build upon and provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in an 

adopted local plan, and are material considerations in decision-making.  The Seafront 

Masterplan SPD updates and will supersede the current adopted Seafront Masterplan 

2013, and will provide more detailed advice and guidance on Local Plan Policy PCS9 - 

The seafront. 

 

7.2. Consultation with stakeholders and the wider public is a statutory requirement of SPDs 

before it can be adopted.  The proposed duration of the consultation period covers the 

statutory minimum of 4 weeks. 

 

8. Integrated impact assessment 

 

8.1. An Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been carried out and is attached.  

9. Legal implications 

 

9.1. Preparation of the Council’s supplementary planning documents, including the process 
of public consultation, is regulated in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. Publication, consultation with appropriate 
stakeholders, and receiving and considering relevant representations are necessary 
steps towards adoption, and the report and recommendation support compliance with 
the Council’s statutory obligations as Local Planning Authority. 

 

Page 72



 

7 
 

9.2. The Local Planning Authority must prepare the SPD in accordance with the Statement 
of Community Involvement (s19(3) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
9.3. The Council must comply with national and international legal obligations for the 

protection of species and habitats. Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is a 
requirement of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The HRA 
assesses the likely significant effects of the Seafront Masterplan on the nature 
conservation interests of European protected nature conservation sites in and around 
Portsmouth and seeks to establish whether or not there will be any adverse effects on 
the ecological integrity of these European sites as a result of the proposals. 

10. Director of Finance's comments 

 

10.1. There are no direct financial implications as a result of approving the 

recommendations within this report.  

 

10.2. The cost of drafting the plan has been met from cash limited budgets. 

 

 

 

 

 

………………………………………………  

Signed by  

Ian Maguire 

Assistant Director, Planning and Economic Growth 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Seafront Masterplan Engagement Report Feb-Mar 2019 

Appendix 2 - Draft Seafront Masterplan SPD July 2020 

Appendix 3 - SM SPD Sustainability Appraisal 

Appendix 4 - SM SPD Habitats Regulation Assessment (AECOM, July 2019) 

Appendix 5 - Addendum to HRA 

Appendix 6 - SM SPD Integrated Impact Assessment 

Appendix 7 - SCS Collaborative Enhancement Plan 

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 

1972 

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 

material extent by the author in preparing this report: 

Title of document Location 

Page 73



 

8 
 

Seafront Masterplan SPD (adopted April 

2013)  

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/docum

ents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-

final.pdf  

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review 

consultation document (July 2018) 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/docum

ents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-

spd-review-consultation-doc.pdf  

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review 

consultation document (February 2019) 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/docum

ents-external/sea-sm-consult1-booklet-a4-

print-for-web.pdf 

 

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 

rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 

 

 

 

 

……………………………………………… 

Page 74

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-final.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-final.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-final.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-spd-review-consultation-doc.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-spd-review-consultation-doc.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/dev-seafront-masterplan-spd-review-consultation-doc.pdf


Feb-Mar 2019
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Seafront Masterplan Engagement Report

P
age 75



2

P
age 76



3

Contents

4 Introduction

4 How we have engaged

5 Consultation responses

5 Survey responses: multiple-choice

26 Open-ended responses

30 Organisation responses

36 Alterations to proposals

P
age 77



4

Introduction
The subject of this engagement report is the February-March 2019 
public consultation on the review of the Seafront Masterplan. Previous 
engaement took place in summer 2018 and was reported separately. 
This report details how we have engaged and the results and also 
informs further work on the review of the Seafront Masterplan.

A total of 375 responses were received during this round of consulta-
tion.  These comprised of the following:

• 351 online and hardcopy survey responses

• 13 responses from individuals (not via survey)

• 11 reponses from organisations

How we have engaged
A number of methods of engagement were used, as set out below. 

Exhibitions
A series of exhibitions were held at the locations below. At all of these, 
information on the Seafront Masterplan and its review was available. 
This was in the form of large banners with images and text, a consulta-
tion document, which set out issues for consideration and other mate-
rials to help summarise issues. Attendees were able to complete paper 
surveys at the exhibitions, or take these away for subsequent delivery 
to the council, but mainly, attendees were encouraged to complete an 
online survey. Representations were also accepted via email and post. 
In addition, notes were made of matter of discussion. Planning offi  cers 
from the council were present at all of these events, which were 
attended by over 100 people. The location of the events and number of 
attendees is shown below. 

• St Jude’s 18/02/2019
• Eastney Community Centre 20/02/2019  
• Portsmouth High School 21/02/19 
• Pyramids (Sat 9th March, Thu 14th March)

In addition to the above events, planning offi  cers held two informal 
events at the D-Day Story and on the Promenade itself. This consisted 
of an offi  cer presence within the D-Day Story, and on the Promenade. 
Flyers were used to raise awareness of the review of the Seafront 
Masterplan and discuss issues with members of the public. These took 
place on the dates below (one weekday, one Saturday).

• Postcards & seafront presence, D-Day Story
• 09/02/2019
• 13/02/2019

P
age 78



5

Social media
The review of the Seafront Masterplan was promoted through social 
media platforms, as shown below. This consisted of a series of posts 
on each of the platforms. These posts were seen by at least  33,000 
people, and there were over 3,500 ‘interactions’ (‘likes’, ‘shares’ etc). 

• Facebook
• Twitter
• Linked In
• Instagram

Targeted stakeholders
The Local Plan mailing list was used to consult stakeholders who 
expressed a desire to be kept informed about planning matters, as well 
as statutory consultees. In addition, council planning offi  cers engaged 
with internal departments to compile a list of key stakeholders for 
the seafront to ensure they were aware of the review and to off er to 
discuss issues with offi  cers. Details of those who took up the off er of a 
meeting are listed below. 

Meetings with external stakeholders

• Portsmouth Cycle Forum
• Historic England
• Blue Reef Aquarium
• Southsea Tennis Club
• Canoe Lake Leisure
• Southsea Seafront Campaign
• Vail Williams/Clarence Pier
• Hovertravel
• Coff ee Cup

Consultation responses
Responses were collected through multiple choice and open-ended 
questions in a survey, emails and verbally at exhibitions

Survey responses: 
multiple-choice
A survey was designed around the consultation document. The survey 
was available through a Survey Monkey website, linked to the Seafront 
Masterplan page on the council’s website. It was also available as a 
direct link in some of the social media posts. In addition, the survey 
was available as a paper version and a pdf. Anyone could complete 
the survey, though the vast majority of respondents were the general 
public. The survey consisted of 40 multiple choice questions (strongly 
disagree to strongly agree), in addition to personal characteristic, plus 
a facility to enter free text. The results of the 40 multiple choice ques-
tions and personal characteristics are presented next, accompanied by 
offi  cer analysis of each group of questions.

P
age 79



6

Respondent characteristics

What is your sex? Which of the following ethnic groups do you belong to?

Do you consider you have a disability under the Equality Act 2010 defi nition? If you have a disability, please specify.

Male Female

Prefer not 
to say

51%
46%

No

90%

Yes 
(5%)

Prefer 
not to 
say  
(6%)

Physical
26%

Mobility
37%

Hearing impairment
21% Visual impairment

16%

Asian or 
Asian 
British

Prefer 
not to 
say

7.8%0.3%4.6%85%0.3%0.9%

White - 
other

Mixed/
multiple 
ethnic 
groups

Black/
African/

Caribbean 
or Black 
British

White 
British

P
age 80



7

Offi  cer commentary

The breakdown of respondents by sex and race is similar to that 
reported for Portsmouth in the 2011 census. The vast majority (90%) 
reported no disability, and of those who did report a disability (19 
respondents), 7 reported a physical disability, 5, mobility, 4 hearing 
impairment and 3 reported a visual impairment. The age characteristics 
show that a low proportion of respondents were under 24 or over 75. 
All the other age categories were well-represented. 

The above can be considered a success for this consultation. Planning 
consultations often struggle to reach younger people, and, while the 
very young, (under 24) remain under-represented, the category 25-34 
was the second most represented category (20% of the total), after the 
35-44 category (22% of the total). Both of these groups could broadly 
be categories as ‘young’. The three remaining categories, 45-54, 55-64 
and 65-74, were also well represented (15%, 17% and 14% of the 
total respectively). The consultation was promoted quite successfully 
on social media (seen by at least 33,000 people), which could help 
explain why this consultation was successful in reaching the younger 
age categories. However, some work remains to be done on engaging 
with children. 

What is your age group? 

Prefer not 
to say

Under 
18

18-24

25-34
35-44

45-54
55-64

65-74

75+

P
age 81



8

Public realm

The use of memorial street furniture should be approached in a strategic way 
to avoid a cluttered and untidy appearance.

Lighting should be designed to complement and enhance the listed (heritage) 
lampposts.

Lighting should be used to design out crime and make the seafront feel safe.

Festoon lighting (the coloured string lighting between the lamp posts) should 
be improved and updated.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 82



9

Offi  cer commentary

There was clear support for proposals in relation to lighting and 
memorial street furniture. Specifi cally, lighting to help design-out crime, 
and to complement and enhance the listed lamp columns received 
strong support, with almost 90% of respondents in agreement or 
strong agreement with these proposals. Proposals to improve and 
update festoon lighting were supported by 74% of respondents, with 
17% neither agreeing nor disagreeing, and 8% in disagreement. 75% 
agreed that street furniture should be approached in a strategic way, 
to avoid clutter and untidiness. A clear majority (54%) felt car parking 
and vehicular roads should not dominate the seafront, although a 
signifi cant minority (33%) disagreed with this proposal. The closure of 
non-essential roads to create better public spaces showed polarised 
results. 46% of responded agreed or strongly agreed with this propos-
al, whereas 42% disagreed or strongly disagreed. The complete break-
down was: strongly disagree (23%), disagree (19%), neither agree nor 
disagree (12%), agree (19%), strongly agree (28%). 

Car parking and vehicular roads should not dominate the character of the 
seafront.

Non-essential roads should be closed where possible to create better public 
spaces.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 83



10

Getting around

Spaces, including junctions and crossings, should be designed to prioritise 
the movement of pedestrians and cyclists over cars by providing high quality, 
safe and desirable routes.

There should be a good quality segregated cycle route across the whole 
seafront area, separated from areas for walking and vehicles.The Park & Ride service should be extended to the seafront.

There should be a shuttle bus route along the length of the seafront.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 84



11

There should be a number of multi-modal transport hubs (a location where 
a number of diff erent types of transport can be found in one place) along the 
seafront.

There should be fully accessible routes along the entire length of the seafront 
and onto the beach.

Offi  cer commentary

All the proposals in this section received clear support. 59% of 
respondents supported the proposal that spaces, including junctions 
and crossings, should be designed to prioritise the movement of 
pedestrians and cyclists over cars by providing high quality, safe and 
desirable routes, whereas 27% disagreed with this. A good quality 
segregated cycle route across the whole seafront area, separated from 
areas for walking and vehicles, received very strong support, with 43% 
in strong agreement and 33% in agreement (76% total). Only 12% of 
respondents disagreed or strongly disagreed. Extension of the park & 
ride to the seafront also received very strong support, with 83% either 
in agreement or strong agreement. Only 8% took the opposite view. 
A lower proportion, but still a clear majority (63%) were in favour of a 
shuttle bus, and only 17% were against this proposal. 63% also liked 
the idea of multi-modal transport hubs, with only 13% against this. 
Fully accessible routes along the entire length of the seafront received 
very strong support, with 78% in agreement or strong agreement, and 
only 6% against this proposal. 

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 85



12

There should be a free to access adventure playground on the seafront, 
suitable for all children no matter their level of mobility.

There should be more facilities to encourage people to take more exercise on 
the seafront such as an exercise trail, and distance markers.

Activity & attractions

There should be more family friendly visitor attractions (paid admission) on 
the seafront.

More beach huts should provided with some being made available for short 
term hire (days or weeks only as opposed to just long leases).

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor dis-
agree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 86



13

There should be more commercial spaces that encourage the use of the 
seafront all day, including in the evening (for example restaurants, cafes and 
bars).

Offi  cer commentary

An accessible adventure playground and facilities to encourage exer-
cise received 73% and 67% of support respectively, with little disagree-
ment about this - only 9% disagreed or strongly disagreed with either 
proposal. Family friendly visitor attractions with paid entrance produced 
no clear indication: 35% agreed or strongly agreed, 30% disagreed or 
strongly disagreed, and 35% neither agreed nor disagreed. Proposals 
of more beach huts was also fairly mixed. While 50% agreed, or 
strongly agreed, 27% neither agreed not disagreed and the remainder, 
a further 24%, were against the idea. More commercial spaces that 
encourage the use of the seafront in the day and evening received 
clear support, with 66% in agreement or strong agreement and 20% 
against this. 

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 87



14

The fi sh market site and public convenience block should be identifi ed as a 
long-term opportunity for redevelopment, while retaining the existing use.

Areas such as Broad Street, Bath Square and Grand Parade should provide 
a safer and more attractive environment for pedestrians.

Old Portsmouth

More use should be made of historic assets such as Round Tower, Square 
Tower, and Long Curtain Moat for example by introducing commercial activity 
where appropriate.

The area near Pembroke Gardens (see maps) are opportunities for public 
space and landscape enhancement.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 88



15

Offi  cer commentary

All of the proposals in Old Portsmouth received broad support. This 
included public realm enhancements in Broad Street, Bath Square and 
Grand Parade, (55% in favour, 14% against), and Pembroke Gardens 
(67% in favour, 10% against). It also included considering the future 
of the fi sh market and public conveniences for the long term (66% in 
favour, 11% against), and whether more use could be made of historic 
assets such as the Round and Square Towers and Long Curtain Moat 
(60% in favour, 21% against). 

P
age 89



16

Clarence Pier

Clarence Pier should include leisure uses that are attractive all year round 
and in all weathers.

The hovercraft terminal building should be updated and increased in size.

It is currently diffi  cult to cross the road from Clarence Pier/the hovercraft 
terminal to Southsea Common due to the wide road layout.

This area provides a good opportunity for a multi-modal transport interchange 
including facilities for Isle of Wight commuters as well as visitors to the 
seafront.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 90



17

Offi  cer commentary

There was very strong support for including leisure uses at Clarence 
Pier that are attractive all-year-round and in all weathers (80% in 
favour, 5% against). Similarly, a multi-modal transport interchange 
including facilities for commuters and visitors received 77% support, 
and only 7% against. Proposals relating to updating and enlarging 
the hovercraft terminal building received 44% support, whereas 40% 
were undecided. 16% were against the idea. Crossing the road was 
identifi ed as problematic for pedestrians going from Clarence Pier to 
Southsea Common - 55% agreed with this and 31% disagreed, with 
13% undecided. 

P
age 91



18

Avenue de Caen to Southsea Castle

Avenue de Caen should be closed to motor vehicles and turned into a new 
public space.

Avenue de Caen should remain open to motor vehicles but reduced in width 
with additional crossing points for pedestrians and cyclists introduced.

Blue Reef aquarium and Rock N Sole should be redeveloped to make better 
use of the seafront location and the relationship with Southsea Castle’s west 
battery.

Southsea Castle and its batteries should be more accessible for those with 
limited mobility.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 92



19

Offi  cer commentary

The closure of Avenue de Caen to create a new public space was 
not supported by 51% of respondents, whereas 38% agreed with this 
proposition. The linked proposal of keeping Avenue de Caen open to 
motor vehicles but reduced in width with additional crossing points for 
pedestrians and cyclists introduced was not supported by the majority 
- 57% were against the idea, with 27% in support. On the other hand, 
64% supported the idea of redeveloping Blue Reef and Rock n Sole to 
make better use of the seafront location and improve the relationship 
with Southsea Castle’s west battery. 23% neither agreed nor disagreed 
and 13% were against. 52% of respondents supported improving 
accessibility to Southsea Castle and its batteries, but 38% were unsure 
about this, with 10% in disagreement with the proposal. P

age 93



20

Skatepark to Speakers’ Corner

The Pyramids site should be redeveloped, to include, for example a hotel/spa 
with food and beverage off er (in the medium to long term).

Clarence Esplanade, south of Parade Gardens should be pedestrianised to 
create more public space, including for walking and cycling routes.

The Rock Gardens should be better integrated into the area around it and 
made safer after dark.

Speakers’ Corner should be improved as a public space with pop-up style 
concessions and cafes, or additional permanent buildings.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

P
age 94



21

Offi  cer commentary

55% of respondents supported the redevelopment of the Pyramids 
in the medium to long-term, to include, for example a hotel/spa with 
food and beverage off er. 26% disagreed with this idea, and 19% were 
undecided. Clear support (78%) was given to the proposal that the 
Rock Gardens should be better integrated into the area around it and 
made safer after dark. 8% were against and 14% neither disagreed 
nor agreed. The pedestrianisation of a short section of road between 
the Rock Gardens and South Parade Gardens was supported by 45%, 
with 40% against and 15% undecided. Improvement of Speakers’ 
Corner as a public space with pop-up style concessions and cafes, 
or additional permanent buildings received 60% support, with 23% 
undecided. 17% were against this proposal. P

age 95



22

The Japanese Garden is underwhelming and should be redesigned so that it 
becomes an attraction in its own right.

The setting of the D-Day Stone Memorial should be improved through the 
creation of a new public space between the Promenade and St Helen’s 
Parade.

The beach huts at St Georges Road should be moved to the other side of the 
Promenade to provide direct beach access.

Canoe Lake & Eastney Beach

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 96



23

Offi  cer commentary

Improved design of the Japanese garden was supported by 71% 
of respondents, with 21% undecided and 8% against. Moving the 
beach huts at St Georges Road to the other side of the Promenade 
to provide direct beach access received fairly mixed results: 39% 
support, 32% against and 29% neither agreeing nor disagreeing. 
The proposal to improve the setting of the D-Day Stone by the 
creating a new public space between the Promenade and St Helen’s 
Parade received majority support by a small margin (51%). 33% 
were undecided and 16% were against the idea. 

P
age 97



24

Fort Cumberland & Ferry Road

There should be an improved bus interchange point on Ferry Road to provide 
better connections to Hayling Ferry.

Fort Cumberland should include new uses, such as: an activity centre, to 
provide activities such as bouldering, archery and trampolining; a start-up hub 
for new businesses; spaces for entertainment, events or food and beverage 
concessions.

Southsea Marina should include some holiday accommodation.

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Strongly 
disagree

Strongly 
agree

AgreeDisa-
gree

Neither 
agree 

nor 
disagree

P
age 98



25

Offi  cer commentary

Very strong support was given to the idea of introducing new uses to 
Fort Cumberland, potentially including an activity centre, a start-up 
hub, or an events space. 81% were in favour, 13% were undecided 
and 6% were against. Almost as much support was given to an im-
proved bus interchange point on Ferry Road to provide better connec-
tions to Hayling Ferry - 76% were in favour, 18% undecided and 6% 
against. Holiday accommodation at Southsea Marina received a more 
mixed reaction, with 42% in favour. 39% neither agreed nor disagreed 
and 19% were against.

P
age 99



26

Open-ended responses

Survey, emails from individuals & comments made 
verbally at exhibitions 
The survey gave respondents the opportunity to enter an unlimited 
amount of text for any other comments, questions, or concerns. 216 
respondents took up the opportunity to write something here, and 135 
left it blank. This section provides details of the analysis that has been 
undertaken on these comments. Representation received by email 
are dealt with in the section that follows. Comments made verbally at 
exhibitions have also been included here. 

The 216 responses were analysed as follows. Each response was 
read and disaggregated into single points of discussion. These were 
then summarised, where possible, while ensuring the point that was 
being made was not lost. The purpose of this was to reduce the volume 
of text produced, so it could be analysed more eff ectively. Following 
this process, the 216 responses generated 644 points of discussion. 
Each point of discussion has been given a category, as set out below. 
Each category is analysed and discussed. Two categories stand out 
by number of times mentioned: parking (124 mentions) and cycling (78 
mentions, with a further 19 walking & cycling). 

Themes
Responses have been grouped into themes due to the number of 
responses received. 

Parking
Analysis showed there were 124 points of discussion made relating to 
parking. Of these, 30 points were objections to loss of parking or loss 
of parking and roads closures and there were 50 comments made rais-
ing concern about loss of parking or loss of parking and road closures. 

The number of other points of discussion raised were relatively limited 
in this category: 7 for increasing parking; 11 supporting parking reduc-
tions or parking reductions and road closures, 7 advocated changes 
to the road & parking system such as introducing a one-way system 
on Clarence parade with chevron parking either side, free parking or 
underground parking. 6 comments related to increasing or prioritising 
resident parking. One representor advocated a city-wide approach 
to car parking required - “the new zone has just move the problem 
around” and another commented that “new developments should have 
suffi  cient underground parking”.

Roads
The response to proposals to close some roads to improve public 
spaces and the attractiveness of walking or cycling between the sea-
front and Southsea town centre received a mixed response. A number 
of responses specifi cally raised objections or concerns about any 
closure of Avenue de Caen. The main thrust of these objections was 
that objectors lived in adjacent residential areas and used Avenue de 
Caen and residential parking. 19 respondents were concerned about, 
or objected to, any road closure, including Avenue de Caen. On the 
other hand, there was also signifi cant support for road closures: 17 
respondents supported this idea, with reasons given as improving air 
quality (9 mentions) or for improving the experience & safety of people 
using non-car modes of transport. A small number of respondents 
also advocated enlarging the 20mph zones, introducing a congestion 
charge and closing the southern end of Avenue de Caen. Another 
person stated that if Avenue de Caen is closed, access for emergency 
services shoudl be considered. 

Walking & cycling
Analysis showed walking & cycling as a point of discussion 97 times. 
Walking & cycling responses included support for prioritising walking 
& cycling over cars (mentioned 15 times), but the vast majority of 
responses were cycling-specifi c. Responses regarding cycling included 

P
age 100



27

a number of common themes, but also a range of issue. Prioritising 
walking and cycling over cars was advocated by 15 respondents. Al-
lowing cycling on the promenade was advocated 8 times and a further 
6 stated that diff erent types of cyclist should be catered for in diff erent 
ways, such as for families, for slow/medium speed cyclists and for fast 
cyclists. Danger/lack of safety of the existing route, including in relation 
to chevron parking, was mentioned 36 times, with a segregated cycle 
route seen by 21 of these respondents, as the best way of improving 
cycling safety on the seafront. The creation of a continuous cycle route 
along the whole seafront was supported 6 times. A cycle hire scheme 
was given support by 2 respondents. 4 respondents specifi cally ad-
vocated the cycle lane being on the southern side of the carriageway. 
General improvements to cycle infrastructure were supported by 5 re-
spondents. A walking/cycling only route along Fawcett Road, Lawrence 
Road & down Waverley Road, Burgoyne Road was also suggested. 

Economy
Analysis showed economy was mentioned as a point of discussion 36 
times. The category 'economy' included commercial activity, including 
cafes, kiosks and other businesses, avoiding too much commercialisa-
tion/negative impact on character or needing more commercial outlets, 
specifi c areas such as South Parade Pier, Southsea Skatepark and 
Speakers' Corner, compatibility of residential and commercial uses, 
markets for commerce, such as families, and quality, and the evening 
economy. Concern about over commercialisation was raised 12 times, 
and was often related to the concern that too much commercialisation 
would have a negative impact on the seafront's character. 19 com-
ments supported more commerce & activity, with repeated support for 
the evening economy, restaurants, bars, pop-ups & start-ups, fami-
ly-orientated outlets and good quality. There was also some concern 
that there are too many charity shops at Southsea town centre, and 
high streets in general and that the quality of a place heavily connected 
to the quality of outlets/shops/concessions themselves. 

Beach huts
There were 12 responses specifi c to beach huts. In general, none of 
the proposals were supported. Respondents stated that moving any 
of the huts onto the beach would be worse than the existing situation, 
for the following reasons. At St George's Road, the grassed area 
surrounding the beach huts was considered benefi cial to users, par-
ticularly those without private gardens at home. This was also true for 
the Lumps Fort huts. At Lumps Fort, the sheltered nature of the existing 
huts was also something appreciated by beach hut users. Moving huts 
to the beach was considered to have an adverse impact on views in 
any location. However, there were some calls for more beach huts, in 
order to meet demand. 

Design
Design, including lighting was mentioned 25 times. In general, people 
want better quality design, with a comprehensive approach taking, 
across the whole seafront. Specifi c requests included decluttering, box 
park-style interventions and better lighting. Lighting should promote 
safety, be low maintenance and low energy, reduce light spill and be 
switched off  between midnight and 4am, and be of appropriate char-
acter. Festoon lighting was mentioned by one representation, saying it 
should be removed. 

Public transport
Most of these comments advocated better public transport for the 
city in general. Extending the park & ride received support from 10 
representations, but 2 thought it wouldn't work. Some respondents also 
argued that changes to other elements of the public realm, such as 
pedestrianisation or reduction in parking, could not occur until public 
transport was improved. The Hard should be included in the red line of 
the Seafront Masterplan was another suggestion. Further representa-
tions regarding The Hard said:

P
age 101



28

• Needs to be better signposting for the bus station from the Gosport 
Ferry/train station side. 

• Could open a gate from the train station to directly access Gun-
wharf.

• Buildings opposite the Hard bus station look scruff y

Some representors stated that the city's bus service needed improve-
ment, complaining that it is disconnected, with routes not appearing 
logical and the frequency of some routes being too low. One represen-
tor questioned whether recent changes to bus routes is to make people 
use two bus services so they/the Council is charged twice. Another 
complained that bus passes cannot be used on the park & ride, result-
ing in a disjointed bus network. The same person also said that the 
diff erent bus ticket types should be better publicised, for example group 
tickets. 

The identifi cation of desirable bus routes in the Seafront Masterplan 
was supported by several people, as was the idea of multi-modal 
transport hubs co-located with other facilities such as toilets and other 
outlets such as shops and food & beverage.

Accessibility
5 comments raised accessibility, with 2 stating that a fully accessible 
promenade would be impractical, or that it was already in place, 3 
advocating better access or facilities for disabled people and 1 stating 
that reduced parking would worsen accessibility. 

Air quality
Air quality was mentioned 9 times, mainly to highlight the poor state of 
Portsmouth's air quality and that the council should do more to address 
it. The link between vehicles and air quality was made by 8 of these 
representations. 

Strategy
3 people asserted that to the aim of attracting more visitors to the 
seafront confl icts with the wider Local Plan aims of increasing housing 
stock, in a city that suff ers from traffi  c congestion and air quality 
problems, with an inadequate public transport system. These com-
mentators suggest that the Seafront Masterplan should not attempt to 
attract visitors from outside the city. Rather, the seafront area should 
be an area that mitigates some of Portsmouth's problems, for example 
through providing space for people to improve their health and wellbe-
ing, or providing a sanctuary for wildlife. 

Areas

Old Portsmouth
5 comments were received in relation to Old Portsmouth. 2 stated that 
improvements or access restrictions were not required around Grand 
Parade, Bath Square and The Point, although one thought the surface 
should be improved around Bath Square. There was also support 
for the redevelopment of the former Wightlink site and relocating the 
Wightlink terminal to the international port in the long term. 1 commen-
tator also advocated considering residents, not just visitors. 

Clarence Pier
Clarence Pier was mentioned 11 times. These comments related to 
various aspects of if and how Clarence Pier should be redeveloped. 
Suggestions included general improvements to design quality, and 
complaints of the poor quality of existing buildings. 2 commentators 
wanted the blue & yellow tower to be retained as part of any redevel-
opment. There was also some support for the redevelopment of the 
hovercraft terminal and to keep attractions and a family-friendly off er. 

P
age 102



29

Blue Reef
One commentator stated that Blue Reef Aquarium is an embarrass-
ment and should be demolished and rebuilt as a family-orientated 
hotel.

Pyramids
A mixture of comments were received in relation to the Pyramids:

• Pyramids off er is underwhelming, and doesn't draw people in. 
• Romsey Rapids twice cited as a good example of a fun swimming 

pool and the Pyramids should be redeveloped as something that is 
better than Romsey Rapids. 

• Another advocated the sensitive redevelopment of the Pyramids at 
new sports facility. 

• Object to Pyramids as hotel. 
• Retain as leisure, not hotel. 
• Redevelop as sporting (skating) venue  
• Loss of informal swimming facilities would have a knock on eff ect 

for health and wellbeing for the next generation. 
• The Pyramids could be improved to make it more economical, such 

as through the introduction of a café on the seaward terraces.  
• 2 representors objected to the demolition of the Pyramids. 
• Keep existing uses (music venue, events space) in any redevelop-

ment Close the Pyramids and turn it into a hotel and conference 
centre that doubles as a live music venue. 

• Redevelopment of Pyramids makes planned refurbishment a waste 
of money

Eastney
Eastney Beach, Fraser Range, Fort Cumberland and Ferry Road 
were mentioned 30 times. Themes included keeping the quieter, 

undeveloped character of this part of the seafront and considering 
non-residential uses for Fraser Range. Other requests included improv-
ing connections to the area, especially to maintain and improve the bus 
connection. The potential of Fort Cumberland to accommodate a range 
of uses was mentioned several times.

Other comments
There were a number of other comments that received one or two  
mentions. These included:

• Install showers on the beach between South Parade Pier and the 
Pyramids - these could be done on a sponsorship basis

• Additional basketball courts, as they are particularly popular with 
foreign students,. Suggested in next to the tennis club.

• 11 comments gave general support for the Seafront Masterplan 
overall. P

age 103



30

Organisation responses
Responses were received from statutory bodies such as Historic Eng-
land and Natural England, as well as local groups and businesses such 
as Portsmouth Cycle Forum, Hovertravel and Clarence Pier Esplande 
Company. These are set out below. 

Southern Gas Network (SGN) SME19ORG001
Gas supply

Clarence Pier: Large additional demand e.g. hotel may require new 
infrastructure. 

Speakers’ Corner: Gas network quite resilient - reinforcement would 
only be required if large load needed.

Fort Cumberland & Ferry Road: There is gas infrastructure in the area 
to supply any developments. Dependant on the total demand, there 
may be some reinforcement required.

Langstone Harbour Board SME19ORG002

• Support “Ferry to ferry” route for walking & cycling
• Support architecturally distinctive ferry pier, subject to appropriate 

design
• Informs sewerage not present to service beach lodges at Eastney 

Point, food and beverage outlets” and “public facilities”
• Licences of house boats prohibits overnight staying - beach hut/

lodges should be aligned
• Support generally improved amenity value at Eastney Point
• Support nature and ecology information centre and viewing plat-

form, subject to avoidance of disturbance to birds

• Consider and prevent disturbance impacts on Langstone Harbour 
SPA/SAC/SSSI/Ramsar site, from any changes to RNLI building, 
Southsea Marina, Fort Cumberland or Fraser Range

• Consider and prevent disturbance impacts of a new footpath from 
Eastney beach to the ferry pontoon

• Consider and prevent disturbance to wildlife from increased water 
sports if a new water sports centre is created. 

Gosport Borough Council SME19ORG003

• Support ferry to ferry cycle route, which should include high-quality 
signposting and branding, bike hire scheme

• The Millennium Promenade should be retained in the promenade is 
redeveloped

• New interpretation panels should be located at The Point, Old 
Portsmouth, with reference to sights and attractions that are visible 
in Gosport

• Hover services could run to Gosport or Lee-on-the-Solent.
• Promote the Hovercraft Museum at Lee-on-the-Solent.

Portsmouth Cycle Forum SME19ORG004

• Support vision behind the Seafront Masterplan/cycling
• Ensure there is a joined-up, safe, segregated, two-way route along 

the entire seafront. It should be adjacent to the promenade, with 
suffi  cient space for people to get out of nearby parked cars without 
blocking it. It should run continuously alongside the esplanade 
roads, including between the Pyramids and Blue Reef centre, and 
in front of South Parade Pier.

• Support ferry to ferry cycle route. Where necessary, this should 
follow quieter roads, but must also be segregated where it follows 

P
age 104



31

busier roads. The whole cycle route must be safe and enjoyable for 
the youngest and oldest cyclists, including those with disabilities.

• Allow cycling on the Promenade. This would allow families and 
groups of less confi dent, slower riders to enjoy the views, especially 
around Southsea Castle. However, it should be made clear that 
priority must always be given to pedestrians.

• Under the Equalities Act any cycle scheme should consider the 
needs of disabled cyclists. They might be using wider and longer 
equipment like trikes and recumbent bikes, and so need more 
space, especially for turning and parking.

• Cycle Parking and way-marking. Thought needs to be given to 
make parked bikes look well-ordered, to discourage carelessly 
parked bikes. In addition, there need to be regularly spaced smaller 
groups of bike stands. The existing way-marking is intended for 
pedestrians. Direction and distance signs for cyclists would be 
welcome; as with the quiet cycle routes, showing distances in time.

• Links from other parts of the city need to be improved to encourage 
more people to visit by bike.

• Echelon parking along Pembroke Road should be removed to 
provide a protected cycle lane

• Pier road: As the main western entrance to the seafront, this needs 
to be made far more appealing to cyclists and pedestrians. There 
is suffi  cient space to remove the street car parking – with a large 
car park on this corner of the Common – and transfer it to protected 
cycling. In addition, the road space in front of Clarence Pier needs 
to be considerably reduced, making it safer for pedestrians to cross, 
and cyclists to negotiate.

• Clarence Esplanade: The Coastal Defence plans show a one-way 
traffi  c lane, with parallel parking. This is totally unacceptable. Does 
not allow for two-way cycling, and the single road lane will mean 
vulnerable cyclists being passed at close range by vehicles.

• Blue Reef centre – Pyramids/cycling: We thoroughly endorse the 
Masterplan vision of moving space away from vehicles to people. 
Currently there is vast amount of space given over to parking, as 

well as wide open roads. There is plenty of space to provide open, 
shared public space, as well as a continuous dedicated cycleway.

• South Parade Pier: Continuous cycle lane - required: redesign 
coastal defence plans. To ensure any cycle route is successful, it 
needs to be continuous. There is a pinch point in the road network 
in front of the pier, but we consider there is space to continue the 
cycle route along the south side. It may require redesign of the 
coastal defence plans, with the ramps from the promenade being 
made a shared space with pedestrians, connected to the protected 
cycleway either side. Currently the coastal defence plans show 
west-east cyclists needing to cross to the north side of the road, 
then to the south, back onto the existing cycleway. It is not just the 
crossing of this road which is hazardous, but the fact there is a wide 
left turn into St Helens Parade – which drivers often take at speed.

• Canoe Lake – St Georges Road: Continuous segregated cycleway 
needed on south side of carriageway needed. Apart from this 
moving the route away from the sea and making it less enjoyable, 
it means further hazards where vehicles turn left into St Georges 
Road.

• Henderson Road: The protected cycleway needs to be extended 
the short distance along Henderson Road to connect the seafront 
and Melville Road.

• Fraser Range: Beyond the Esplanade, the roads are much quieter 
and slower, but we are concerned that any development at the 
Fraser Range does not make cycling more hazardous.

Historic England SME19ORG005
“Heritage” should be a specifi c theme. 

• Given that the seafront contains a number of nationally-signifi cant 
heritage assets and a large number of other heritage assets, 
particularly an assemblage of defence structures from various eras 
with the common purpose of defending Portsmouth Harbour from 
seaward attack. There is a very real story in this.

P
age 105



32

Promotion of heritage

• Seafront Masterplan should be positive and proactive and highlight 
the need to respect heritage assets and their settings and encour-
age schemes which have a better relationship to the various assets 
and their inter-visibility. Important to recognise the contribution of 
the setting of these assets

Heritage understanding underlining masterplan

• Understanding of the signifi cance of these structures and the 
desirability of conserving, enhancing and better revealing that 
signifi cance should underpin the Seafront Masterplan

Revealing heritage assets

• Seafront Masterplan proposals should focus on improving access, 
interpretation, understanding and celebration of heritage assets, 
rather than any physical works.

Physical works aff ecting assets

• If any physical works are proposed, we emphasise the need to have 
a full understanding of the signifi cance

Masterplan & sea defences

• Clarify relationship between the two
• Old Portsmouth: scale very important consideration for any devel-

opment in this area
• Round Tower & Square Tower: May be scope for other uses in 

the Square Tower but the range of uses at the Round Tower was 
considered limited due to the fact that currently the building is not 
completely water-tight

• Long Curtain Moat/King’s Bastion: Works to improve the public 
realm and clutter on the King’s Bastion could be positive, as could 
the idea of making more of the viewpoint at King’s Bastion, e,g with 
better interpretation boards. This could aid better appreciation of 

Spur Redoubt, especially in the context of the design solution for 
the sea defences.

• Clarence Pier tall building: Likely to detract from the signifi cance of 
the designated assets of King’s Bastion and Spur Redoubt and from 
the appreciation of that signifi cance

• Southsea Common: The openness of the Common is a key char-
acteristic and is integral to its signifi cance. Public realm works to 
improve footpaths and lighting would therefore need to consider 
and respect this.

• Blue Reef Aquarium: Consideration will need to be given to the 
relationship of this site to Southsea Castle’s west battery and the 
existing memorial adjacent to the Aquarium.

• Eastney Batteries: Eastney Battery East is an example of how the 
signifi cance and appreciation of the signifi cance of heritage assets 
can be maintained through use of open space.

• Fort Cumberland: The vision for this should be developed with 
English Heritage and Historic England. This could be identifi ed in 
the Seafront Masterplan but does not need to go into detail.

Premier Marinas SME19ORG006

• Premier Marinas owns Southsea Marina and has a long-term 
interest in ensuring its future sustainability and economic success. 
As such, we would welcome the opportunity to engage further with 
PCC on the seafront strategy to develop key principles for future 
development of the site, which could include leisure, tourism, food 
and beverage and residential/visitor accommodation.

Sport England 10612111543

• Sport England notes that Portsmouth CC have an up to date and 
robust Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) for its area. Any proposals for 
new sports facilities and ancillary facilities should take account of 

P
age 106



33

and respond to the fi ndings of the PPS. The PPS identifi es key 
priorities and actions for Portsmouth in order to meet their current 
and future needs for sport.

Coff ee Cup 10602189531

• We would like to propose to extend our Coff ee House at Eastney 
Esplanade within our current footprint, but to also ensure we still 
have a children’s play area available to the public (as we currently 
do).  We would also increase the amount of public toilets we have 
on site (we do not limit any of our facilities to customers only, all are 
available to the general public).  We are aware of the ecological 
impact any developments have in this area, and will ensure that any 
further improvements / extensions we make take this into account 
and are sympathetic to the area.  We object to further concessions / 
restaurants, etc. near St Georges Road as we feel additional devel-
opments will cause more harm than good in this sensitive location.

Natural England SME19ORG007
Health & wellbeing, environmental quality & green infrastructure

• Natural England welcomes and supports the proposals to improve 
health and wellbeing of the local population. We recognise the 
importance of open space and green infrastructure (GI) in achieving 
this aim. Environmental quality is also an important factor and we 
support the proposal for the multi-functional nature of GI, to main-
tain and enhance the biodiversity across the City. We recommend 
that these opportunities are fully explored and the benefi ts of GI for 
both people and wildlife are maximised.

Sustainable travel

• Natural England welcomes and supports the proposals to prioritise 
sustainable modes of travel along the seafront. We support an 
improved network for pedestrians and cyclists due to the associated 

benefi ts to the health and wellbeing of the local population and the 
environmental benefi ts of reducing car usage.

Biodiversity

• We strongly encourage that all opportunities to enhance biodiversity 
are incorporated into the masterplan, for example by using native 
species in the landscape design and native tree planting etc.

Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy

• As you are aware, there are a number of sites that are identifi ed in 
the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy along the seafront 
that require detailed consideration as the masterplan evolves. The 
terrestrial wader and brent goose sites are located on land that falls 
outside of the Solent SPAs boundaries. However, as this land is 
frequently used by SPA species (including qualifying features and 
assemblage species), it supports the functionality and integrity of 
the designated sites for these features. This land will contribute to 
the achievement of the SPAs’ conservation objectives and is there-
fore protected in this context. The Solent Waders and Brent Goose 
Strategy Steering Group has prepared mitigation and off setting 
guidance and this has now been fi nalised. This guidance covers 
both direct eff ects such as land take and indirect eff ects, such as 
increased recreational pressure and access to sensitive sites and 
overshadowing and lighting from new buildings. Natural England 
recommends that detailed consideration is given to this guidance 
as the Seafront Masterplan evolves. Natural England welcomes 
the opportunity to further discuss the Seafront Masterplan and the 
associated pressures on supporting habitat and wider designated 
sites in due course.

Eastney Beach & Fort Cumberland

• Natural England strongly recommends that the valuable habitats 
and species at Eastney beach and in the Fort Cumberland area 
are protected and enhanced within the Seafront Masterplan. We 
advise that a comprehensive strategy for protecting, managing and 
enhancing this area is progressed that benefi ts both people and 

P
age 107



34

wildlife. We strongly recommend that the opportunities for enhanc-
ing this area are fully explored within the masterplan design and 
we would welcome the opportunity to discuss this in further detail in 
due course.

Vail Williams on behalf of Clarence Esplanade Pier 
Company SMEORG008
Development Opportunity

• My client is supportive of Clarence Pier being promoted as a Devel-
opment Opportunity within theme 7 of the Seafront Masterplan SPD 
Review Consultation.

Challenges: sea defences

• The Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership’s decisions on coastal 
defences should be included within the ‘challenges in this area’ 
section of the Clarence Pier (page 40 of Seafront Masterplan SPD) 
as fl ood risk and defence will present a challenge in terms of princi-
ple of development, coastal safety and economic viability.

Challenges: viability

• Economic viability is a key factor in the deliverability of this 
development opportunity. This includes the costs of sea defences 
which infl uences the form and the timetable of deliverability of the 
development opportunity. Clarence Pier, in its present form, is a 
fi nancially successful going concern and therefore the timescales 
of delivery should be extended to longer term, particularly when 
combined with the background work required to deliver a successful 
development protected from the sea.

Opportunities: mix of uses, avoidance of prescription in masterplan

• The ‘opportunities in this area’ section (page 40 of Seafront Mas-
terplan SPD) includes a mix of uses which are supported by my 
client as options for the comprehensive redevelopment provided 

a viable mix of uses can be agreed. We are uncertain as to the 
delivery of certain uses, particularly the transport interchange, given 
they would need signifi cant buy in by third parties to be viable uses. 
Additional uses could be included, as well as those in the draft 
SPD, subject to demand and viability. These additional uses could 
include retail, care accommodation and offi  ces to name a few. It is 
important that the SPD is not too prescriptive in the uses that the 
redevelopment could accommodate in order to not stifl e develop-
ment. Phraseology such as ‘this list is not exhaustive and other 
uses may be acceptable subject to agreement with the Council…’ 
should be included.

Tall building inclusion

• The ‘opportunities in this area’ section should also include the 
opportunity of this site to deliver a tall building. It is considered that 
there would be scope for a tall building development at Clarence 
Pier due to the size of the site and the need for the development 
to be economically viable. The site is iconic in Southsea and 
wider Portsmouth and therefore is a suitable site for the creation 
of a landmark building. This is subject to site constraints and a 
change in planning policy to support tall buildings in this location. 
Policy PCS24 of the Portsmouth Plan does not currently identify 
this location as an area suitable for tall buildings. A tall building in 
this location, whilst benefi cial for promoting the city as a landmark 
structure, will be essential for viability and to facilitate a develop-
ment safe from the sea.

Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership Southsea Coastal Scheme Consul-
tation

• There is still a clear confl ict, with respect to Clarence Pier, between 
the Seafront Masterplan and the Eastern Solent Coastal Part-
nership (ESCP) Scheme. The Seafront Masterplan SPD Review 
consultation promotes the site for redevelopment but the ESCP’s 
Southsea Coastal Scheme consultation document has excluded the 
site from the area to be defended from the sea. Following our meet-
ing on 26th March 2019, it was agreed that the ESCP would provide 

P
age 108



35

further information on the proposed sea defences and were agree-
able to providing technical support on delivery, when a scheme is 
proposed. It is noted that the Clarence Pier element of the fl ood 
defences are not due to be constructed until 2026, however the 
impact of the works will run for the duration of the build as the car 
park, upon which the Pier relies to attract and park visitors, will be 
used as a construction compound. Clearly this should be discussed 
with the owners and a strategy agreed to minimise impact of the 
Pier and surrounding uses. One key consideration is to ensure that 
Clarence Pier has access to the level of car parking that currently 
supports their operations. If this is not provided there could be a 
detrimental impact to the business at Clarence Pier.

Land Ownership: joint discussions/approach required

• The ownership of Clarence Pier is split between my client and 
Portsmouth City Council. To deliver the development here the 
Council will need to adopt a visionary approach to the development 
and have joint discussions with my client to discuss mechanisms for 
land assembly to achieve a viable, iconic, gateway development.

Hovertravel SMEORG009
Transport hub

• Development of an inclusive transport hub, with the primary function 
of serving as a Hover Port but with Bus, train, ferry & taxi facilities/
interchange included. It could also include:

• Seafront public facilities included – changing rooms, toilets, cycle 
storage / hire, Wi-Fi, charging facilities.

• Tourist Info – integrate the facility of tourist info, hotels, support of 
council / public attractions.

• Inclusive design – changing places toilets and seafront services for 
those with accessibly needs.

• Seafront Viewing (Retail space) – facility for café, bar with viewing 
over Solent

• Learning & Historical – develop a learning facility / museum of the 
hovercraft.  

• Terminal facilities to cater for potential growth and passenger expe-
rience.

• Landing (Pad) facilities enlarged where possible for future growth.
• Maximising the seafront panorama and location.

P
age 109



36

Alterations to proposals
In response to the above results and analysis of the engagement that 
took place in February to March 2019, the following issues should 
be considered when proposals are drafted, including some potential 
changes to proposals. These could be refl ected in the Draft Revised 
Seafront Masterplan.  

Public realm
Both the surveys and open ended questions showed general support 
for better design quality in the seafront, including better public spaces 
and good quality lighting. No signifi cant changes to proposals are 
considered necessary based on engagement results. 

Getting around
In the survey, there was clear support for:

• Prioritising pedestrian and cyclists over cars
• A good quality segregated cycle route across the whole seafront, 

and other safe and desirable cycle routes around the seafront
• Park & ride extension to seafront
• A shuttle bus along the seafront
• Transport hubs
• Fully accessible routes along the entire seafront

In the open-ended questions, parking was a very contentious issue, 
with strong views both for and against parking reductions. The majority 
were concerned about loss of parking, mostly at Avenue de Caen. 
Road closures, where these resulted in signifi cant loss of parking, such 
as at Avenue de Caen met with signifi cant resistance. However, there 
was also signifi cant support for road closures, in order to improve the 
safety and attractiveness of public spaces and to improve local air 
quality. 

A number of detailed suggestions in relation to cycling were also 
received from Portsmouth Cycle Forum.

In response to the engagement results, the following is recommended: 

• Change proposals at Avenue de Caen to keep the aim of altering 
the character of the route so that it provides a more attractive, safer 
link between Southsea town centre and the seafront, but to change 
the suggested method of acheiving this to the closure of Avenue 
de Caen between Ladies’ Mile and Clarence Parade only. In that 
way, the vast majority of the car parking could be retained, Ladies’ 
Mile would be signifi cantly improved as a walking and cycling route, 
and Avenue de Caen would also be improved as a link between the 
seafront and Southsea town centre. 

• In addition to the above, it is recommeded that tighter corner radii at 
the southern end of Avenue de Caen is introduced, and enhanced 
crossing facilities across Avenue de Caen

• The width of Clarence Parade immediately south of Avenue de 
Caen should also be reduced to help create a more attractive, safer 
place, that complements recent works to the D-Day Story

• Introduce a new crossing south of Avenue de Caen, opposite D-Day 
Story

• Many other suggestions raised in relation to cycling could also 
be incorporated into the Seafront Masterplan, with the exception 
of cycling on the promenade. It is considered that the principle of 
allowing cycling on the promenade could be acceptable, but further 
analysis of this suggestion is required. This could result in negative 
eff ects for pedestrians, particularly those with limited sight or 
hearing and this would need to be fully understood. There are also 
several options as to how this could be achieved, such as allowing 
children only, or restricting cycling to certain times of day. However, 
it is also considered that if appropriate segregated cycle infrastruc-
ture is installed, the need to allow cycling on the promenade will no 
longer apply. 

P
age 110



37

Activity & attractions
There was clear support for an accessible adventure playground and 
facilities to encourage exercise, whereas there appeared limited appe-
tite for family friendly paid attractions.  Changes to beach huts yielded 
mixed results in the survey, and open ended responses highlighted 
problems with the suggested ideas. More commercial spaces that 
encourage the use of the seafront in the day and evening received 
clear support. 

In response to the engagement results, the following is recommended: 

• Take forward policies on an accessible adventure playground, 
facilities to encourage exercise and more commercial space that 
encourage use of the seafront in the day and evening. 

• Drop policies on beach huts and paid family attractions.

Old Portsmouth
• All of the proposals in Old Portsmouth received broad support. It is 

therefore recommended these are taken forward.

Clarence Pier
Survey results indicated very strong support for 

• Leisure uses that are attractive all-year-round and in all weathers
• A multi-modal transport interchange including facilities for commut-

ers and visitors. 
• Making it easier to cross from to Southsea Common

Proposals relating to updating and enlarging the hovercraft terminal 
building also received support, but it was not as strong as the above 
three. 

In response to the engagement results, it is recommended that all the 
proposals are taken forward. 

Avenue de Caen to Southsea Castle
Some of the proposals were also discussed in the 'Getting Around' 
section. They are repeated here for completeness. 

The majority were against both the proposal to close Avenue de 
Caen, and to keep it open to motor vehicles but reduced in width, with 
additional crossing points. However, there was a signifi cant minority 
who favoured both options. By contrast, there was also strong support 
for walking and cycling prioritisation and safe cycle routes. The 
consultation response indicates the opposition to the Avenue de Caen 
proposals was mainly due to concern over loss of car parking. While 
walking and cycling should be prioritised, in this case, it is considered 
some signifi cant improvements to walking and cycling routes could 
be achieved while maintained the vast majority of parking spaces on 
Avenue de Caen. This could be achieved by closing Avenue de Caen 
immediately north and south of Ladies mile, which would result in the 
loss of a limited number of parking spaces. It would also achieve the 
following benefi ts. Ladies' Mile would become a continuous route, 
which prioritises walking and cycling. Through traffi  c would be eliminat-
ed from Avenue de Caen, which would make the route safer, cleaner 
and quieter to the benefi t of pedestrians and cyclists.   

Redevelopment of Blue Reef and Rock n Sole to make better use of 
the seafront location and improve the relationship with Southsea Cas-
tle's west battery was supported, as was improved accessibility around 
Southsea Castle.

In response to the engagement results, it is recommended that the 
outlined changes are made to proposals in relation to Avenue de Caen 
and those regarding Blue Reef and Southsea Castle are pursued. 

P
age 111



38

Skatepark to Speakers' Corner
There was majority support for the redevelopment of the Pyramids in 
the medium to long-term, to include, for example a hotel/spa with food 
and beverage off er. Clear support was given to the proposal that the 
Rock Gardens should be better integrated into the area around it and 
made safer after dark. Improvement of Speakers' Corner as a public 
space with pop-up style concessions and cafes, or additional perma-
nent buildings also received clear support. 

The pedestrianisation of a short section of road between the Rock 
Gardens and South Parade Gardens was supported by a slim ma-
jority. While there was only a slim majority, this proposal would have 
signifi cant benefi ts for walking and cycling, as well as improving green 
spaces such as the Rock Gardens and South Parade Gardens. This 
proposal would result in a loss of parking in the area. It is therefore 
recommended that this proposal is taken forward, with the condition 
that further work to understand the eff ect of the loss of parking is done 
at the implementation stage.  

Canoe Lake & Eastney Beach
Improvements to the Japanese garden received very strong support. 
Moving the beach huts at St Georges Road to the other side of the 
Promenade to provide direct beach access received mixed results. 
Closing a short section of Eastney Esplanade to the south of the D-Day 
Stone received the support of a slim majority.

In response to the engagement results, it is recommended that the 
Seafront Masterplan continues to support improvements to the Japa-
nese Garden, but that changes to beach huts are dropped. It is recom-
mended that the road closure south of the D-Day Stone, is retained, 
as although this received the support of only a slim majority, this would 
result in improved accessibility to the D-Day Stone, better public space, 
and signifi cantly improved a cycling route. 

Fort Cumberland & Ferry Road
Very strong support was given to the idea of introducing new uses to 
Fort Cumberland, potentially including an activity centre, a stat up hub, 
or an events space. Almost as much support was given to an improved 
bus interchange point on Ferry Road to provide better connections to 
Hayling Island. Holiday accommodation at Southsea Marina received a 
more mixed response. 

Several open-ended responses also highlighted the benefi ts of keeping 
this part of the seafront as it is. Some advocated Fraser Range being 
protected as a nature reserve. Some responses stated that Fraser 
Range should be explicitly considered by the Seafront Masterplan. 

Some concern about beach lodges at Eastney Point was raised by 
SME19ORG002 (Langstone Harbourmaster), due potential disturbance 
to protected habitats, but also lack of sewerage. 

It is recommended that the Seafront Masterplan recognises the existing 
character of this area more explicitly, and seeks to ensure this charac-
ter is not adversely aff ected. This should include explicit consideration 
of Fraser Range. Some respondents advocated protection of Fraser 
Range as a nature reserve. It is considered that the Seafront Mas-
terplan should recognise that there is both a need for housing and a 
need to protect the character of positive areas and natural habitats. It is 
therefore recommended that the draft version explicitly recognises the 
relevant characteristics and issues regarding Fraser Range. It is also 
recommended that the Seafront Masterplan should support the intro-
duction of new uses into Fort Cumberland, subject to compatibility with 
the signifi cance of the heritage asset. Southsea Marina is considered 
to be an important site for the area. Its primary function is as a marina, 
but it is considered that is could support complimentary uses in the 
future. 

P
age 112



39

Other issues

Policy context/wider narrative
Air quality was raised as an issue by many representors. Others also 
identifi ed what they asserted was a disconnect between the wider 
Local Plan objective to build more housing in the city, while also seek-
ing to make the seafront more attractive as a destination for tourism. 
The local plan policy for the seafront, in policy PCS9, is relevant to 
issues of strategy, such as these. PCS9 states that new development 
will contribute to the revitalisation of the seafront, tourism and the wider 
regeneration strategy for Portsmouth, to be achieved through a range 
of measures. These include the redevelopment of existing buildings, 
and the provision of outlets such as restaurants and cafes, but also the 
protection of areas such as Southsea Common and Eastney Beach. 
PCS9 does not seek signifi cant levels of new development for the 
seafront. The context analysis section of the Seafront Masterplan will 
identify the important characteristics of the seafront, such as those 
areas that need to be protected, and this will shape guidance for devel-
opment in the Seafront Masterplan. 

It is recommended that the seafront's characteristics are identifi ed in 
the Seafront Masterplan through an analysis of context. This should 
help shape guidance sections of the Seafront Masterplan. The strategic 
function of the seafront is set by policy PCS9, which includes promoting 
the seafront as a visitor attraction. However, the Seafront Masterplan 
could recognise more explicitly, the link between its role in the health 
and wellbeing of the wider city, and the growth that is planned for the 
city. There should also be specifi c reference to air quality. 

Historic environment
The Options consultation document did not have a section on the 
context of the seafront. This was intended to keep the consultation 
document short. A context section had always been planned to be in-

cluded in the Draft document. Historic England stressed the importance 
of a robust understanding of the seafront's heritage context and how 
this should shape the rest of the document. A context section, which 
includes specifi c attention to the seafront's heritage should be added. 

P
age 113



Planning Services
Regeneration
Portsmouth City Council
PO1 2AU

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

P
age 114



SEAFRONT
MASTERPLAN
BACKGROUND

The Seafront Masterplan sets out a vision for 
Southsea seafront, providing planning guidance, 
identifying development opportunities and 
highlighting elements that should be enhanced and 
conserved.  

In planning terms, it’s a supplementary planning 
document or SPD. It is a refresh to the version 
adopted in 2013. 

Once adopted, the revised masterplan or SPD will 
guide our decisions on development proposals in 
the seafront area.  Any projects or proposals brought 
forward would be considered on a case-by-case basis 
and decided on their planning merits.

The Southsea Coastal Scheme (SCS), the major 
sea-defence project being delivered by the Eastern 
Solent Coastal Partnership, presents signifi cant 
opportunities for improvements to the seafront, 
especially to public spaces.  Updating the masterplan 
will help the planning process to guide such 
proposals.

A Collaborative Enhancement Plan (CEP) has also 
been produced. This contains ideas and suggestions 
for how the ambitions of the masterplan could be 
realised.  The aim of the CEP is to demonstrate the 
‘art of the possible’ and one scenario for how the 
masterplan could be delivered in the future and as 
part of the SCS.  The CEP is being published alongside 
the draft masterplan for public consultation.

The council will seek to achieve the overall goals of 
the masterplan through close collaboration with 
other landowners and stakeholders.   It will also 
follow its own local transport plan, parking strategy 
and local cycling and walking infrastructure plan, in 
order to continuously review transport and highway 
implications for the seafront and the wider city.  

SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Southsea seafront stretches for almost 6km, from 
the entrance to Portsmouth Harbour to the entrance 
of Langstone Harbour. It’s a unique and valuable 
asset of the city, with a large number of nationally 
important heritage assets and international, 
European, and nationally designated habitats, all 
within a unique townscape and landscape. The 
seafront is also an important contributor to people’s 
health and wellbeing and the city’s economy.

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT DRAFT VERSION: SEPTEMBER 2020

Page 115



The challenge of climate change is also an important 
issue for the seafront. New sea defences are being 
constructed to help protect the area from the eff ects of 
rising sea levels. We also need to consider the council’s 
wider ambition for increasing the use of active travel, 
such as walking and cycling.

The Seafront Masterplan is a supplementary planning 
document (SPD), providing an overall vision, and 
more detailed objectives, to guide development and 
investment, ensuring the area is enjoyed for many 
more generations by residents and visitors alike.

The overall vision is:

“The seafront’s natural and historic 
assets will be protected, conserved, and 
enhanced.  The seafront will be a beautiful, 
functional, sustainable, and resilient 
place that is healthy, safe, enjoyable, and 
accessible to all.”

The Seafront Masterplan SPD covers themes including: 
• climate change
• health and wellbeing
• heritage
• natural environment
• public spaces
• transport and access
• economy and attractions
• development opportunities

The masterplan makes recommendations on the 
possible things that could happen in various areas of 
the seafront in order to achieve the overall vision.  

For example, these include recommendations 
for Avenue de Caen to alter the use of a 
section of the road to prioritise cyclists and 
pedestrians, and in the area around the D-Day 
Stone, there are suggestions for altering the 
surroundings to improve people’s experience 
and make access easier.

CONSULTATION

This consultation follows the ones previously held over 
July-August 2018 and February-March 2019, which 
sought to identify issues and opportunities for the 
seafront.  We considered the feedback and responses 
to these consultations along with national and local 
policies and strategies when developing the draft 
masterplan.  This consultation is a necessary step 
before the council can consider the masterplan for 
formal adoption.

A Collaborative Enhancement Plan (CEP) has also been 
produced. This contains ideas and suggestions for how 
the ambition of the masterplan could be realised.  

We are inviting all interested parties and residents to 
review the draft masterplan and the CEP as a whole.  

In particular, we’d like people to give their views on 
the proposed recommendations for various areas of 
the seafront, such as for Avenue de Caen to alter the 
use of a section of the road to priorities cyclists and 
pedestrians, or in the area around the D-Day Stone to 
alter the surroundings to improve people’s experience 
and make access easier.

To get involved in this consultation, you can respond 
through the survey on the council website, by email, 
or by post  if you so wish.  If you are not able to get 
online, you can also respond by telephone through our 
resident survey line on 023 9261 6708 .  

The consultation is open from 18 September to 30 
October 2020.

www.portsmouth.gov.uk/seafrontmasterplan

seafrontmasterplan@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

023 9261 6708

Planning and Economic Growth, Portsmouth City 
Council, Civic Offi  ces, Guildhall Square, PO1 2AL

Page 116



SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT DRAFT VERSION: SEPTEMBER 2020

SEAFRONT 
MASTERPLAN

P
age 117



SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 2CONTENTS

CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION  ............................... 3
1.1 Purpose of the Seafront Masterplan ............................4

2 CONTEXT ANALYSIS  ....................... 5
2.1 Introduction to Portsmouth and the seafront..............6
2.2 Policy context ................................................................8

Sustainability appraisal ........................................................ 10
Habitats regulations assessment ....................................... 10
Integrated  impact assessment .......................................... 10

2.3 Climate change  ..........................................................11
Mitigation ................................................................................. 11
Adaptation ............................................................................... 11

2.4 Replacement sea defences  ........................................12
2.5 Health and wellbeing ..................................................13

Health in Portsmouth.............................................................13
Air quality in Portsmouth......................................................13
The role of the seafront for health and wellbeing...........13
Health and wellbeing context..............................................14

2.6 Heritage context .........................................................15
Heritage context map............................................................16

2.7 Natural environment  ..................................................17
2.8 Landscape and townscape .........................................19

The seafront’s spatial qualities ........................................... 19
2.9 Transport and access  .................................................23

Transport & access profile ................................................... 23
Getting to the seafront from the local area ...................... 24
Getting around the seafront ................................................ 26

2.10  Economy and visitor attractions.................................30

3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES  ............ 32
Background ............................................................................. 33
Vision ......................................................................................... 33
Objectives ................................................................................ 33

4 THEMATIC GUIDANCE  .................. 34
4.1 Introduction ................................................................35
4.2 Climate change ...........................................................36

Mitigation ................................................................................. 36
Adaptation ............................................................................... 36
Replacement sea defences ................................................. 36

4.3 Health & wellbeing ......................................................38
Policy context .......................................................................... 38
Principles ................................................................................. 38

4.4 Heritage  ......................................................................39
Policy context .......................................................................... 39
Principles ................................................................................. 39

4.5 Natural environment  ..................................................40
Policy context .......................................................................... 40
Principles ................................................................................. 40

4.6 Public realm ................................................................41
Policy context .......................................................................... 41
Principles ................................................................................. 41
Public spaces .......................................................................... 42
Lighting .................................................................................... 43

4.7 Transport and access  .................................................44
Policy context .......................................................................... 44
Principles ................................................................................. 45

4.8 Economy and attractions............................................47
Policy context .......................................................................... 47
Principles ................................................................................. 47

4.9 Development opportunities .......................................49
Context ..................................................................................... 49
Principles ................................................................................. 49

5 AREA GUIDANCE  ........................... 51
5.1 Introduction ................................................................52
5.2 Old Portsmouth ...........................................................53

Context ..................................................................................... 53
Guidance .................................................................................. 53

5.3 Clarence Pier ...............................................................55
Context ..................................................................................... 55
Guidance .................................................................................. 55

5.4 Southsea Common ......................................................58
Context ..................................................................................... 59
Guidance .................................................................................. 59

5.4.1 Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road  ........................60
Context ..................................................................................... 60
Guidance .................................................................................. 60

5.4.2 Southsea Skate Park ...................................................64
Context ..................................................................................... 64
Guidance .................................................................................. 64

5.4.3 The Pyramids Centre ...................................................65
Context ..................................................................................... 65
Guidance .................................................................................. 65

5.4.4 Speakers’ Corner, South Parade Gardens & Rock 
Gardens .......................................................................66
Context ..................................................................................... 66
Guidance .................................................................................. 66

5.4.5 South Parade Pier and St Helen’s Parade ..................68
5.4.6 Canoe Lake Park to St George’s Road ........................70

Context ..................................................................................... 70
Guidance .................................................................................. 70

5.5 St George’s Road to Henderson Road ........................72
Context ..................................................................................... 72
Guidance .................................................................................. 72
Royal Marines Museum......................................................... 72
Eastney Swimming Pool ....................................................... 73
New wheelchair access route  ............................................. 73

5.6 Henderson Road to Eastney Point ..............................74
Context ..................................................................................... 74
Guidance .................................................................................. 75

6 DELIVERY ........................................ 76
6.1 Delivery .......................................................................77

P
age 118



1 INTRODUCTION 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 3

P
age 119



SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 4

The Seafront Masterplan has been 
developed by Portsmouth City Council in 
consultation with residents, businesses, 
and other stakeholders. The masterplan 
is a supplementary planning document 
that, when adopted by the Council, will 
be a material consideration for planning 
applications and decision-making. 

This Seafront Masterplan is an update to the version adopted 
in 2013. This revised Seafront Masterplan sets out a vision 
for the seafront area, provides planning guidance, identifies 
further enhancement and development opportunities, and 
highlights elements of the seafront that should be conserved.

1.1 PURPOSE OF THE 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

South Parade Pier at Sunset

P
age 120



2 CONTEXT ANALYSIS 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 5

P
age 121



6SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

2.1 INTRODUCTION TO 
PORTSMOUTH AND THE 
SEAFRONT

Portsmouth is a largely flat, compact 
city of 40 sq km, with a population of 
approximately 214,000 inhabitants in 20191. 

It is located on the south coast of England and 
is the UK’s only island city, with most of the 
city located on Portsea Island, which has 49km 
of coastline. The city also includes significant 
land on the mainland, including Cosham, 
Paulsgrove, Wymering, Drayton and Farlington. 
The land rises up steeply to Portsdown Hill, 
which commands views both north and south, 
over the city of Portsmouth itself, and nearby 
areas such as Gosport and Hayling Island, the 
Isle of Wight, and the South Downs.

1 Office of National Statistics, 2018-based population forecasts 

P
age 122



7SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

M275

M27

A27

SOUTHSEA

COPNOR

BAFFINS

TIPNER

HILSEA

DRAYTON & 
FARLINGTON

OLD P’MOUTH

SOMERSTOWN
MILTON

EASTNEY

FRATTON

LANDPORT

PORTSEA

BUCKLAND

STAMSHAW

PAULSGROVE

COSHAM

HIGHBURY

ANCHORAGE 
PARK

NORTH
END

Gosport passenger ferry

Portsmouth
International
Port

Hayling Island
passenger ferry

Isle of Wight (Ryde) passenger catamaran

Isl
e o

f W
ig

ht
 

(F
ish

bo
ur

ne
) 

ve
hi

cle
 fe

rry

Isle of W
ight (R

yde) 

passenger hovercraft

Southsea seafront is located along the 
southern edge of Portsea Island. The seafront 
stretches for almost 6km from the entrance 
to Portsmouth Harbour in the west, to the 
Langstone Harbour entrance in the east. Much 
of the seafront area is open space, unlike 
many other seaside settlements, which usually 
has built development up to the coastline. 
The seafront has a large number of nationally 
important heritage assets (see context section 
on heritage), and international, European, and 
nationally designated habitats (see context 
section on natural environment), all within a 
unique townscape and landscape context.

  

50
m

25
0m

©
 C

ro
w

n 
Co

py
rig

ht
. O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 li

ce
nc

e 
no

.  1
00

01
96

71

Seafront Masterplan area

P
age 123



8SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

2.2 POLICY CONTEXT

The Seafront Masterplan is a 
supplementary planning document. It 
supplements the Local Plan, providing 
more detailed policy guidance for the 
seafront area. 

The Local Plan is one of three main documents 
that make up the development plan for 
Portsmouth. 
The other two are known as area action plans: 
the Somerstown and North Southsea Area 
Action Plan (2012) and the Southsea Town 
Centre Area Action Plan (2007). The Southsea 
Town Centre Area Action Plan is of relevance 
to the Seafront Masterplan, largely due to 
the proximity of Southsea town centre to the 
seafront. 
Relevant parts of the Local Plan and the 
Southsea Town Centre Area Action Plan are 
referred to below. A new Local Plan is currently 
being developed.
Local Plan policy PCS9 concerns the seafront, 
and is reproduced in full on the following page, 
but there are also other parts of the Local Plan 
that directly refer to the seafront.
In relation to the seafront, the existing Local 
Plan seeks to:

 » Improve public realm 
Part of Objective 1: To make Portsmouth an 
attractive and sustainable city

 » Improve visitor experience 
Part of Objective 3: To develop Portsmouth 
as a city of innovation and enterprise, 
with a strong economy and employment 
opportunities for all

 » Improve access to the seafront 
Part of Objective 6: To encourage and 
enable healthy choices for all and provide 
appropriate access to health care and support

 » Enhance the seafront to encourage 
exercise and relaxation 
Part of Objective 6: To encourage and 
enable healthy choices for all and provide 
appropriate access to health care and support

» Upgrade and improve the seafront and 
its facilities while maintaining its open 
and traditional character 
Part of Objective 7: to enhance Portsmouth’s 
reputation as a city of culture, energy and 
passion offering access for all to arts, sport 
and leisure

» Make the seafront a vital, vibrant space 
where people can experience the natural 
environment, enjoy the views of the 
Solent and take part in leisure and 
cultural activities throughout the year 
PCS9 supporting text

 » Improve the leisure and entertainment 
offer at the seafront and provide a year-
round destination for the benefit of local 
residents and visitors to the city 
PCS9 supporting text

» Preserve the open nature of the seafront, 
which defines the character of the area 
and provides a different seafront 
experience to many comparable seaside 
towns and cities and is important to 
Portsmouth’s sense of place 
PCS9 supporting text

 » Direct appropriate investment to the 
seafront 
PCS9 supporting text

 » To refuse any development that would 
detract from the character or enjoyment 
of Southsea Common, because the 

P
age 124



9SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

seafront has a recreational function 
which helps to direct recreational 
activity from European designated sites 
PCS9 supporting text

 » Support development at key opportunity 
sites  
PCS9 supporting text

 » Support improvements to sustainable 
transport along the seafront including 
the second phase of the cycle link 
PCS9 supporting text

 » Encourage existing and new sporting, 
music, dance and performance events, 
as these are considered important 
contributors to the vibrancy of the 
seafront and the city 
PCS9 supporting text

 » Ensure that new coastal defences, 
which are vital for the protection of 
the wider city from the sea and the 
predicted impacts of climate change, 
are sensitively integrated with the local 
environment and take the opportunity to 
enhance the public realm  
PCS9 supporting text

Policy PCS9 is reproduced in full below In relation to the seafront, Policy STC14 
Southsea Town Centre Area Action Plan 
states:New development will contribute to the revitalisation of the 

seafront, tourism and the wider regeneration strategy for 
Portsmouth. This will be achieved by: 

 » Encouraging and supporting redevelopment of existing 
buildings for leisure and tourism uses, especially where 
outlined in the Seafront Strategy, at South Parade Pier, 
Clarence Pier, Southsea Castle area and Canoe Lake 

 » Encouraging and supporting proposals for small scale 
restaurants, cafés and other uses and activities that will 
diversify the leisure and cultural offer without detracting 
from the open character of the seafront 

 » Protecting the open nature of the area around the 
Common and other undeveloped areas, and improving 
the quality of the open spaces

 » Protecting the nature conservation value at Eastney Beach
» Improving the quality of the promenade including enhanced 

maintenance, reducing clutter and physical barriers where 
appropriate and ensuring that any new or enhanced sea 
defences integrate sensitively with the local environment

 » Using CIL to part fund environmental improvements
 » Making clearer links between the seafront and the 

nearby centres of Southsea and Castle Road

 » The Council will promote improved links 
from the town centre to the seafront, 
Southsea Common, Albert Road, the 
City Centre, Gunwharf Quays and other 
places of interest.

In addition to the above local planning policy, 
the Seafront Masterplan must also be in 
general conformity with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
The Seafront Masterplan has been subject to 
a sustainability appraisal, a habitats regulations 
assessment, and an equalities impact 
assessment. All of these assessments, as well 
as local and national policy, have influenced 
the content of the Seafront Masterplan.  

P
age 125



10SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL

Sustainability appraisal is a tool to ensure 
sustainability is fully considered in the 
development of plans or projects, such as the 
Seafront Masterplan. 
14 sustainability objectives have been 
identified, against which the Seafront 
Masterplan has been assessed. These 
concern: 

 » transport
 » water quality
 » energy
 » noise and vibration
 » air quality
 » waste and resource management
 » sustainable construction and buildings
 » biodiversity and nature conservation 
 » historic environment and cultural heritage
 » landscape and townscape
 » human population, safety and health and 

wellbeing
 » communities, amenities and social value
 » climate change and resilience 
 » economy, employment and material assets

HABITATS REGULATIONS 
ASSESSMENT

Habitats regulations assessment (HRA) is a 
requirement of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010 (‘the Habitats 
Regulations’). The HRA focuses on whether 
the Seafront Masterplan would have likely 
significant effects on the nature conservation 
interests of European protected nature 
conservation sites in and around the seafront 
and seeks to establish whether or not there 
will be any adverse effects on the ecological 
integrity of these European sites as a result of 
the proposals.

INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The Equality Act requires local authorities 
to consider the needs of all individuals in 
exercising public functions. In order to ensure 
this is done, the Seafront Masterplan has been 
subject to an equalities impact assessment.

Soldier beetle on 
bindweed, Eastney

P
age 126



11SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

2.3 CLIMATE CHANGE 

“The planning system should 
support the transition to a low 
carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of 
flood risk and coastal change. 
It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute 
to radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and 
improve resilience; encourage 
the reuse of existing resources, 
including the conversion 
of existing buildings; and 
support renewable and low 
carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure.”2 
2 National Planning Policy Framework (Feb 2019)

Climate change is expected to have a range of 
impacts on the UK in the future with the south 
of England expected to experience hotter, 
drier summers bringing higher incidences of 
heatwaves; milder, wetter winters with higher 
incidences of flooding; increased storminess; 
and sea level rise associated with a higher risk 
of tidal inundation. 

Portsmouth is particularly vulnerable to the 
effects of climate change, because much of the 
city is low-lying and surrounded or adjacent to 
the sea.
Climate change needs to be tackled both 
through mitigating climate change and 
adapting to its effects. 

MITIGATION

Mitigating climate change is primarily 
accomplished through reductions of 
greenhouse gas emissions such as carbon 
dioxide. There are a number of ways in which 
this can be achieved, and the Seafront 
Masterplan, along with the Local Plan, seeks to 
promote and achieve appropriate reductions 
through mitigation interventions within the 
scope of the plan.

ADAPTATION

Adapting to climate change means making the 
seafront more resilient to the effects of climate 
change. Anticipated effects, such as more 
extreme weather events, higher temperatures 
and declining quality of habitats, all need to 
be taken into consideration. The Seafront 
Masterplan identifies adaptation measures 
that could be implemented to address some 
of these challenges. However, it will also be for 
the Local Plan and other projects to set out 
how to respond to climate change in this way. 

P
age 127



12SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Current sea defences 
near Blue Reef 

2.4 REPLACEMENT SEA 
DEFENCES 
 

In the context of climate change, the existing 
sea defences are coming to the end of their 
serviceable life. Replacement sea defences 
along much of the seafront frontage are being 
developed and delivered by the Eastern Solent 
Coastal Partnership. 
The new sea defences present both challenges 
and opportunities. They are to be designed to 
respond to rising sea levels and changing 
climate for at least the next 100 years, and will 
therefore need to be built to higher levels than 
the existing sea defences in some places. 
One of the considerations for the new sea 
defences will be to retain and enhance the 
seafront’s special qualities, such as views 
across the Solent, and to successfully 
integrate the defences sensitively with the 
special historic and natural assets contained 
within the seafront.  
Nevertheless, this significant infrastructure 
project also presents many opportunities to 
regenerate and revitalise the seafront. It 
presents the chance to renew large areas of 
public realm, such as the promenade, and to 
develop or improve various facilities. The 
Seafront Masterplan provides guidance on 
how various elements of the sea defences 
could be implemented to meet these 
opportunities and the vision of this masterplan.

P
age 128



13SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

 HEALTH IN PORTSMOUTH 

Portsmouth City Council’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2018–2021 shows that 
life expectancy in the city is lower than the 
national averages for both men and women. 
Main areas of concern are educational 
achievement at 16, high levels of recorded 
violence against the person, premature 
mortality from cancer, high levels of death 
from drug misuse and deaths from suicide. In 
addition, smoking prevalence and smoking-
related deaths, and premature mortality from 
heart disease and stroke, are areas where 
Portsmouth may be making improvements but 
is still in a poor position relative to other areas 
of the country.

AIR QUALITY IN PORTSMOUTH

Like many cities across the country, 
Portsmouth is facing a serious problem with 
air quality. Newly available monitoring data 
from 2018 shows that there are persistent 
air quality exceedance issues in the city.  
Portsmouth City Council is therefore working 
on a citywide plan to tackle air pollution as 
quickly as possible, with a focus on addressing 
air pollution caused by road vehicles.

THE ROLE OF THE SEAFRONT FOR 
HEALTH & WELLBEING

While it is outside the scope of the Seafront 
Masterplan to solve all the root causes of 
health and wellbeing issues, the seafront area 
can still help to contribute towards addressing 
them, such as physical inactivity and 
loneliness, as well as mitigating some of the 
negative health impacts of poor air quality. This 
is because the seafront provides a significant 
amount of open space, which can be used for 
leisure, recreation, sport and active travel, all of 
which have proven health benefits. The natural 
areas and open spaces of the seafront are also 
likely to have a positive effect on people’s 
mental health, as well as their physical health. 
As Portsmouth grows in population, the 
seafront area will provide existing and new 
residents with a place they can go to access a 
range of health and wellbeing benefits.  

2.5 HEALTH & WELLBEING

Above left: walkers by Southsea Castle.  
Above: Hotwalls with Round Tower

Sunbathers,  
Southsea beach

P
age 129



14SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

HEALTH & WELLBEING CONTEXT

50m 250m

Southsea Common

Bandstand
Outdoor Gym

Fountains Parkrun start and finish

Tennis

Beach volleyball

Southsea Skatepark

Splash pool

Beach

Pembroke Gardens

Amusements 
and leisure

Canoe Lake Park

Play area

Splash pad

Outdoor gym

Tennis Mini golf

Basketball

Football
Cricket ground

Pitch & Putt

Fort Cumberland 
Heath

Open space
Beach

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of health and wellbeing context

The seafront is a significant resource that contributes to 
people’s health and wellbeing. Public spaces, such as the 
beaches, the Common, and the promenade, offer people 
the opportunity to do a range of leisure activities, including 
walking, cycling, rowing, tennis, or simply watching the 
world go by. Other attractions and businesses, such as 
museums, cafes and restaurants also offer opportunities 
for social interaction. All of these activities can be hugely 
beneficial for an individual’s health and wellbeing.

The Solent and Langstone Harbour 
also offer opportunities to do a 
range of water sports. These can 
also contribute to people’s health & 
wellbeing.

Millennium Walk

Beach

P
age 130



15SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

The seafront is a unique and special 
component of Portsmouth’s historic built 
environment. The scale and range of 
historic sites and structures within the 
masterplan area is extensive, both across 
time and geographically. 

Heritage conservation is an important factor in 
planning, both at a strategic and local level, and 
on an asset-by-asset basis. Understanding 
the contribution made by the seafront’s 
various heritage assets towards its character 
rests on understanding and articulating their 
‘significance’ in all aspects of the term.
This masterplan recognises the critical 
importance of heritage and conservation to 
the ongoing appeal and quality of the city’s 
seafront. 
The range of heritage assets within the area 
includes: 7 scheduled ancient monuments 
(SAMs), 120 listed buildings/structures, 1 
listed park/garden, 6 conservation areas, and a 
number of locally listed assets. 
This includes (but is not limited to): the complex 
of 17th Century fortifications demarcating the 
entrance to Portsmouth Harbour, including 
the Point Battery, Square and Round Towers, 
Long Curtain, Spur Redoubt and King’s 
Bastion (structures of national historical 
and archaeological importance); Southsea 

Common, an extensive Victorian ‘pleasure’ 
ground, whose appeal endures to this day; 
and the profusion of historic lamp columns, 
shelters, monuments, and other smaller scale 
features along the seafront. 
These assets are distributed across almost the 
whole length of the seafront; they are crucial 
features of the area and its environment. 
They define and shape its character and are 
essential to the seafront’s appeal as a place to 
live, work, and visit.
The development of the seafront as a 
destination in its own right is historically linked 
with the gradual withdrawal of the military’s 
presence from the area, changing tastes, and 
the growth of ‘leisure’ time. It is also closely 
associated with the emergence of Southsea 
as a picturesque and fashionable satellite 
settlement in the 19th Century. 
Southsea Common, in combination with the 
seafront’s several miles of promenade,  
creates a waterfront environment unusually 
free of built development. This sense of 
openness is perhaps unrivalled by any city of 
comparable size in the country and has 
created a waterfront environment of 
exceptional value.
The area’s historic legacy of leisure 
infrastructure also helps to illuminate the city’s 
social and cultural past, contributing in turn 

to its modern identity. It provides a continuity 
that is appealing to residents and visitors alike 
and continues to serve the city in terms of its 
economic vitality and attractiveness.

2.6 HERITAGE CONTEXT

Portsmouth Point as 
seen from Emirates 
Spinnaker Tower

P
age 131



16SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

HERITAGE CONTEXT MAP

50m 250m

KEY

 Grade I listed buildings

 Grade II* listed buildings

 Grade II listed buildings

●● Grade II listed lamps

■■ Scheduled ancient 
monuments

■■ Listed park and garden

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of key heritage  assets

Map of conservation areas

The seafront has a wealth of 
heritage assets, stretching 
from west to east and across 
various periods

P
age 132



17SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

2.7 NATURAL 
ENVIRONMENT

Portsmouth is renowned for supporting 
a rich and diverse range of wildlife and 
habitats, with 30% of its area covered by 
various nature conservation designations 
in recognition of its value to international, 
national, and local biodiversity. 

SPECIAL PROTECTION AREA
RAMSAR
SITE OF SPECIAL SCIENTIFIC INTEREST

SPECIAL AREA 
OF CONSERVATION

SPECIAL 
PROTECTION AREA

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

KEY

■■ Core areas

■■ Primary support areas

■■ Secondary support areas

■■ Low use

■■ Candidate

Sea Kale pods, Eastney beach (left) and brent goose (above)

Map of Solent wader & brent goose strategy areas

P
age 133



18SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

The intertidal areas around Portsea Island, 
particularly the mudflats, shingle, and saltmarsh, 
provide ideal feeding and roosting grounds for 
overwintering bird species, which are 
especially adapted to feeding in such habitats.
Within or adjacent to parts of the seafront 
area, there are designated sites of statutory 
and non-statutory importance for nature 
conservation and biodiversity. At the Eastney 
end, Langstone Harbour is designated as a 
Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), and Ramsar site, which are 
international designations. Furthermore, the 
harbour is nationally designated as a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).
In January 2020, the Solent was formally 
designated as part of the Solent and Dorset 
Coast SPA, which stretches from Worbarrow 
Bay, Dorset to Middleton-on-Sea, West 
Sussex, and encompassing much of the 
Solent marine waters, including Portsmouth 
Harbour, and the north, west, and south 
coastal edges of Portsea Island.

Within the seafront area are several sites of 
local importance for biodiversity, which are 
designated as Sites of Interest for Nature 
Conservation (SINC), which recognises these 
sites as those that help to conserve important 
and distinctive habitats and species. 
SINCs can also

 » Act as stepping stones for species to move 
across landscapes;

 » Offer protection for species from 
surrounding land uses;

 » Provide sanctuaries for people to 
experience nature locally.

Additionally within the seafront area, there 
are sites which provide alternative roosting 
and foraging locations for SPA species and 

contribute to SPA conservation objectives 
by supporting SPA functionality and integrity. 
The draft Solent Waders and Brent Goose 
Strategy sets out a hierarchy of sites classified 
by their importance to maintaining the overall 
ecological network for these species in the 
wider region, with the aim to ensure the current 
geographical spread of sites across the 
network is maintained and enhanced.

Small skipper 
butterfly,  
Eastney beach

Field bindweed, 
Eastney beach

Bee on sea holly, 
Eastney beach

P
age 134



19SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

THE SEAFRONT’S SPATIAL 
QUALITIES

The seafront’s spatial environment is 
predominantly characterised by the yellow 
and blue of the coast, and the green of its 
parks and open spaces. The built 
environment which exists today is reflective 
of Portsmouth’s story, from its deeply rooted 
maritime history to its post-war revival.
The spatial qualities of a particular area can 
be analysed in terms of five elements:

 » Paths (e.g. streets, routes)
 » Edges (e.g. boundaries, buildings, 

ramparts)
 » Areas (areas or districts with common 

characteristics and identity)
 » Nodes (focal points, converging routes)
 » Landmarks (key points of interests; well-

known buildings and structures)

By analysing the area through this way, it can 
give a current picture of the seafront’s spatial 
qualities in terms of its physical character 
and identity, and can give an indication of the 
user-experience and how movement through 
the area is arranged.

2.8 LANDSCAPE & 
TOWNSCAPE 

Paths
In the context of the seafront area, paths 
are the roads and paths that connect the 
area internally and also to other parts of the 
city, and largely defines how movement by 
various modes of travel is arranged within the 
area.  Paths can also give an indication of how 
spaces or areas are divided up.
Examples of paths within the seafront:

 » Vehicular paths

 » Pier Road to Clarence Pier
 » Duisburg Way/Western Parade to South 

Parade
 » Clarence Esplanade (Clarence Pier to 

South Parade Pier)
 » Avenue De Caen
 » Eastern Parade to St George’s Road
 » Eastney Esplanade (South Parade Pier to 

Eastney Swimming Pool)
 » Ferry Road

 » Pedestrian and wheelchair accessible paths

 » The Promenade
 » Ladies’ Mile, pier Road to Penny Street, 

Melville Road to Fort Cumberland Road 
(shared pedestrian/cycle paths)

 » Footpaths crossing the Common, 
including Canoe Lake, or from Eastney 
Esplanade to Eastern Parade

 » Pavements adjacent to roads

 » Cycle paths

 » Eastney Esplanade
 » Ladies’ Mile, pier Road to Penny Street, 

Melville Road to Fort Cumberland Road 
(shared pedestrian/cycle paths)

 » On road routes

Southsea Common

Hotwalls with Round Tower

P
age 135



20SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Edges
Edges are real or perceived boundaries 
between, for example, areas or spaces.  
These can be built elements, such as walls or 
ramparts, or could be perceived edges such 
as a long row of buildings.  Like paths, edges 
can also give an indication of how spaces or 
areas are divided up, but can give more of a 
sense of whether the permeability between 
such spaces or areas is low and possibly 
needs improving.
Examples of edges within the seafront:

 » Building line of Pembroke Road-Western 
Parade-Clarence Parade-South Parade-
Eastern Parade-Eastney Esplanade, north 
to Southsea Common

 » Eastney Barracks and batteries
 » Coastal edge
 » Promenade
 » Ramparts
 » Sea defence wall

Areas
Areas (or districts) are spaces within a 
geographical area grouped together by their 
common identifying characteristic(s).  

Area characteristics are usually defined 
according to their identity, land uses, and 
appearance. Areas do not have to be 
delineated according to physical or perceived 
edges (i.e. boundaries) or paths, but these 
elements could be features within an area.
Examples of areas within the seafront and their 
characteristics:

 » Old Portsmouth – historic settlement; 
military defences; residential uses; maritime 
uses

 » Clarence Pier and Southsea Common – 
leisure and recreation uses; green open 
space; coastal beach

 » Central seafront – historic military defences; 
leisure and recreation uses; green space; 
coastal path

Canoe Lake » South Parade Pier and Canoe Lake – historic 
pier; leisure and recreation uses; green 
space; historic military defences; coastal 
beach

 » Eastney Barracks – historic military 
defences/barracks; residential uses; green 
space

 » Eastney Beach – coastal beach; natural 
environment

 » Ferry Road – leisure and recreation uses; 
maritime; green space; coastal beach

 » Fort Cumberland and Fraser Range – historic 
military defences; green space

P
age 136



21SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

●  Nodes
Nodes are spaces which can serve as focal 
points of a particular area.  Although not 
exclusively, nodes are usually the result of 
various paths converging to form a focal point.
Examples of nodes within the seafront:

 » The Point, Old Portsmouth
 » Clarence Pier interchange
 » Ave de Caen junctions at both ends
 » South Parade/St Helens Parade/Eastney 

Esplanade junction
 » St Georges Road junction
 » Area at Eastney Toilet Block
 » Hayling Ferry

  Landmarks
Landmarks usually refer to points of reference 
(e.g. buildings, structures, memorials, signs) 
which a person can use to help orientate 
and navigate within a geographical area.  
Landmarks could be defined as such because 
they are unique or memorable to an individual, 
or they could be landmarks because they are 
prominent features within an area (e.g. a tall 
building) that are readily visible from afar.

Southsea seafront Southsea Castle

Examples of landmarks within the seafront:

 » Royal Garrison Church
 » Clarence Pier
 » Royal Naval Memorial
 » Southsea Castle
 » The Pyramids
 » South Parade Pier
 » Lumps Fort
 » Royal Marines Yomper statue
 » Fort Cumberland

P
age 137



22SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

The various heritage and nature designations 
which cover the area contribute towards the 
predominantly open feel of the seafront.  The 
historical development of the seafront over 
the years has led to buildings being relatively 
limited and spread apart, albeit areas such as 
Old Portsmouth and Ferry Road are denser 
in character since they are mostly residential 
areas but from contrasting eras.

The designation of Southsea Common as a 
registered park and garden and the historic 
covenant (which stipulates that the Common 
be kept as open space to be reserved for 
military operations as part of the condition 
of its transfer to the council) has meant that 
the openness of the Common has largely 
remained intact throughout the years.  Other 
reasons that have limited development which 
stem from the area’s military past include 

Eastney West and East Batteries, where firing 
lines that have a clear line of sight towards the 
sea were required, as well as preserving space 
around the batteries for troops to move freely.
Additionally, the seafront’s nature designations 
mean that development is relatively 
constrained and has been somewhat 
restrained from encroaching into these 
designated areas, thereby preserving the open 
feel and character of the coastal area.

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of spatial qualities

Naval War Memorial

Southsea Castle Pyramids South Parade Pier

Royal Garrison Church

Clarence Pier

The Point

Clarence Pier Interchange

Clarence Pier area

Southsea Common area

Pier Road

Old Portsmouth area

Central seafront area

The Point

Avenue De Caen
St George’s Road

South Parade 
St Helen’s Parade 
Eastney Esplanade

Eastney toiletsEastney Barracks area

Lumps Fort

South Parade and 
Canoe Lake area

Eastney beach area

Fort Cumberland and 
Fraser Range area

Ferry Road area

Fort Cumberland

Royal Marines 
Yomper statue

KEY

 Landmark

● Node

Paths and edges not shown

P
age 138



23SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

USER PROFILE

Transport and access needs to be considered 
with regard to the people who use it because 
different modes are accessible to different 
people. 
In the 2011 census, 15,068 (7.3%) people in 
Portsmouth reported that long-term disability 
reduced their day-to-day activities a lot and 
17,791 (8.7%) a little (15.9% combined total). 
68% of households in Portsmouth reported 
that they had access to a car or van (and 
therefore 32% of households did not have 
access to a car or van). In 2011, there were 
11.6 million disabled people in the UK, out of a 
total of 63.2 million, a proportion of 18%. Types 
of disability included: mobility 6.5m (10% of 
UK); 360,000 blind or partially sighted (0.5% 
of UK), or 2.0m with sight loss (3% of UK); and 
30,000 out of 209,000 with hearing loss of at 
least 25 dBHL (14% of Portsmouth).
The above data suggests that, while some of 
the figures are national (rather than only for 
Portsmouth), 10% of Portsmouth residents 
are likely to have an impairment that limits their 
mobility, 14% a hearing impairment (the wide 
range is likely to relate to severity), and a small 
proportion are blind or partially sighted. 32% of 
Portsmouth households do not have access 
to a car. 

Children and elderly people also have specific 
needs, which need to be taking into account. 
For example, elderly people may need longer 
to cross roads and spaces can be designed to 
incorporate play and interaction for children.
In terms of modes of transport, mobility 
impairments are more likely to reduce or exclude 
walking and cycling as a potential modes of 
transport. Although, conversely, adapted 
cycles represent a type of transport that is 
available to some people who have a physical 
disability. People with visual impairments need 
to be given particular consideration in how 
spaces are designed, so that they are safe to 
navigate and move through. This often means 
ensuring there is a kerb with sufficient surface 
treatment or level change, or some other 
physical separation such as a wall or barrier 
between pedestrian spaces and the 
carriageway. People with hearing impairments 
may be unable to hear vehicles or other road 
users approaching, which means that shared 
spaces are likely to cause people with hearing 
problems difficulties.3 Therefore, areas with a 
high volume of pedestrian movement should 
ideally be free from vehicles.

3  Action on Hearing Loss, Transport Policy Statement, retrieved 26/04/19, 
from https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/how-we-help/information-
and-resources/publications/policy-statements/transport/

TRANSPORT & ACCESS PROFILE

Wider context
Portsmouth is a ferry hub, with services to 
France, Spain, the Channel Islands, and the 
Isle of Wight, and serves international cruise 
ships, and commercial shipping through the 
International Port. Portsea Island (where most 
of Portsmouth is located) has three road links 
to the mainland, the M275, A2030 and A3. 
Portsmouth has five rail stations and direct rail 
connections with London Waterloo (1h40m), 
Victoria (1h55m), Bristol (2h23m) and Cardiff 
(3h14m). Portsmouth also has a bus network 
and coach services. The nearest airport is 
Southampton (30m by road), but Gatwick and 
Heathrow are also within reach (1h30m by 
road). 

2.9 TRANSPORT & ACCESS

Seafront cycle route and parking

P
age 139



24SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Cycling
By cycle, the seafront can be reached from 
almost anywhere on Portsea Island within 20 
minutes. The area is also largely flat. Cosham, 
Drayton and Farlington are a 30–40 minute ride 
from the seafront. There are ten quieter cycle 
routes across the city. The city has aspirations 
to improve the infrastructure provision for 
cyclists and a Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan is being developed by the 
council, which will include suggestions for 
improvements to routes accessing the 
seafront. 

Bus and coach
The city has a comprehensive bus network, 
which serves the seafront at multiple points 
including Clarence Pier, where coaches also 
terminate (in addition to The Hard), South 
Parade Pier and St Georges Road. However, 
accessing the seafront from a number of areas 
within the city requires taking two, or even 
three buses. There is also a park & ride service 
from Tipner to the city centre and Gunwharf, 
but it does not currently serve the seafront. 

GETTING TO THE SEAFRONT 
FROM THE LOCAL AREA

WINSTON CHURCHILL AVE

Portsmouth

South Parade Pier

Southsea   Common

Harbour

Harbour

to Fareham

to Clanfield, Cowplain
and Waterlooville

to Havant,
Chichester

and Bognor

to Havant, Chichester
and London

to Weacockto Havant

to Havant & West Leigh

to Havant

to Fareham and
Southampton

to Fareham,
Southampton,
Winchester and
London

 

To Isle of Wight (Ryde)To Isle of Wight (Fishbourne)

Isle of Wight
(Fishbourne)

Isle of Wight
(Ryde)

Gosport
Ferry

To Isle of Wight (Ryde)

To Bilbao, Caen (Ouistreham), Cherbourg,
Guernsey, Jersey (St Helier), Le Havre,
Santander and St Malo

Mayles RoadIsle of Wight
(Ryde)

COSHAM INTERCHANGE

LONDON ROAD

PORTSMOUTH
INTERNATIONAL PORT

THE HARD INTERCHANGE

2

18

22

22

18

13

13

13
17 1

2

14

17

HV

3

8

700

700

720

23

23

21

X4

15

1515

15

86 16� 20
21 70023 HV

21 3 X4

18 20 22
8

23
72 3

7002318
73

14

14

15 20 21
21

23
700 HV

7
21 3 X4

13

13

8

Hayling Ferry

Clarence
Pier

17

1

17 2318
1 3 16�

16�

16
�

16�

6

6

16

23

X4
8

8

3

HV

6
3

23

18

X4�

12

3

12

1
2

X4�

16

Fort
Purbrook

Portsmouth
Golf Course

Portchester
Castle

The Pyramids
Leisure Centre

Southsea
Castle and
Museum

Blue Reef
Aquarium

Southsea Skate Park

Kings Theatre

St James’
Hospital

The Mary Rose
Museum

HMS Victory

HMS Warrior

Portsmouth
Historic
Dockyard

Isle of Wight
Car Ferry Terminal

Gosport
Ferry

Terminal

Hovercraft
Terminal

Fratton Park
Portsmouth

FC

Fort
Widley

Portsmouth International Port

Eastney
Point Hayling

Island

Gunwharf Quays

Fort
Southwick

Queen Alexandra
Hospital

Mountbatten
Leisure Centre

Park & Ride

M275

Isle of Wight
Catamaran

St Mary’s 
Hospital

Charles Dickens
Birthplace Museum

Highbury College

UTC
Portsmouth

Cumberland House
Natural History
Museum

Canoe Lake

GOLDSMITH AVENUE

ST MARYS ROAD

FR
A

T
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

ARUNDEL STREET

ST GEORGES RD

BROAD STREET

ALBERT ROAD

HIGHLAND ROAD

FE
S

T
IN

G
 R

O
A

D

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

D-Day
Story

Fort
Cumberland

Bus route numbers
Bus route and stop

Sunday service only

Direction of travel
Place of interest
Train Station and rail line
Gosport/Hayling Island ferry routes
Isle of Wight ferry routes
Channel Islands and
International ferry routes
See hub map for more information

23

Digital Cartography by Pindar Creative
www.pindarcreative.co.uk

16�

Bus routes

16�

17

1

6

X4

2

3

8

7

12

13

14

15

18

20

21

23

700

HV

22

London Road
Chalkridge Road

London Road
Cliffdale Gardens

The George

The Brow

The Hampshire Rose

Portsdown Hill
The George

Portsdown Hill
Farlington Avenue

Crookhorn Lane
Fort Purbrook

Crookhorn Lane
Portsmouth Golf Course

Grove
Road
Lower

Drayton Way

Kinross
Crescent

Grove
Road

Station
Road

Central Road
Station Road

St Colmans
Church 

Court
Lane

Carshalton Ave/
Penarth Ave Drayton

Shops
South Road

W
aterworks Road

Fitzherbert Road/
 Grove Road

Sunshine Inn
St Andrews

Church
Rectory
Avenue

Forty
Acres

Sainsbury’s

Allaway Avenue
Shops

Almondsbury
Road

Queen Alexandra
Hospital

Southampton Road
First Avenue

Northern Road
QA StepsSouthampton Road

Allaway Avenue

Allaway Avenue
Credenhill Road 

Allaway Avenue
Clacton Road

Elkstone Road
Collington Crescent

Nailsworth
Road

Portsview
Gardens

Mountview
Avenue

Rowland
Road

Truro
Road

Pendennis
Road

Winterbourne
Road

Beverston Road

Ludlow
 Road

W
alford Road

Ludlow
 Road

Beehive Terrace

Ludlow
 Road

Blakem
ere Crescent

Harleston Rd/Lowestoft Rd/

W
ashbrook Rd

M
ablethorpe Rd/Peterborough Rd/

W
ym

ering Lane

Deerhurst
Crescent

Elkstone Road
Winchombe Road

Wayte
Street

First
Avenue

Sixth
Avenue

Lonsdale
Avenue

The Salisbury

Tregaron
Avenue

Parr
Road

Fourth
Avenue

Winterhill
Road

Knowsley
Road
High

Street

Pitrevie
Road

Dover
Court

Wembley Grove

Chatsworth
Avenue

Court
Lane

Spur Road
Red Lion

Cosham
High Street

Cosham Health
Centre

Hawthorn Crescent

Walton Road

Woofferton
Road

Bodmin
Road

QUEEN ALEXANDRA
HOSPITAL

Portchester Station

Portchester
Station

Precinct

White Hart

Racecourse LaneWatersedgeShorehavenEast Street
(E-bound only)

Mother Kellys

Mountbatten Centre

Hilsea Crescent

Oakwood Road

Doyle Avenue

Magdalen Road

Gladys Avenue

Anchorage
Road

Williams Road

Anchorage Road
Robinson Way

Sywell
Crescent

Morrisons 

London Road
Hilsea Lido

Donaldson Road
(S-bound only)

London
Road
North End
Junction

London Road
   Trafalgar School (N-bound only)

Copnor Road Coach & Horses

Copnor Road
Copnor Road

Norway
Road

Norway
Road

The News Centre (N-bound only)

Old London Road
(S-bound only)

Beechwood Road

Ophir Road

Merrivale Road

Mayfield Road

Stamshaw

Gladys Avenue
North End 
Avenue

Tipner
Range Green

Road
London
Avenue

Stamshaw
Road
Angerstein
Road

Stamshaw
Road
Seagrove
Road

Twyford
Avenue

Knox Road

Twyford
Avenue

Stanley Road

Twyford
Avenue

Mother Shipton

King George
Playing Fields

Green Lane

College Park

Amberley Road

Hilsea Park

Green Farm Gardens
(S-bound only)

Ocean Retail Park

Copythorn Road

Chichester Road
Beresford

Road
Lord

Chichester
Kensington

Road

Hilsea
Station

Norway
Road

Copnor
Road

London Road

Kingston Road
Kingston Crescent

Portsmouth
College

Milton Road

Fratton Way

Rodney
Road

St Mary’s Hospital

The Good Companion

Hayling Avenue

Stride Avenue

Eastern Avenue

New
 R

oad

La
ngley

 R
oad

Car
nar

vo
n R

oad

Copnor B
rid

ge

Hayling
Avenue

Langstone Road

Folkestone
Road

Highgrove
Road

Stanley
Avenue

Eastney
Road

Ferry Road
Henderson

Road

Ferry Road
Gibraltar Road

Fort
Cumberland

Road
Fort

Cumberland

Fort
Cumberland

Road
Gibraltar Rd

Ferry Road
Lumsden Road

Hayling
Ferry

Southsea 
Marina

Fort 
Cumberland

Minstead
Rd

Bransbury
Park

Ea
stn

ey
 Fa

rm
 R

oad

Hen
der

so
n R

oad

Hall
id

ay
 C

re
sce

nt

Eastney Road
Bransbury

Park

Milton Road
Velder Avenue

Haselmere Road

Eastney Road
Essex Road

Meryl RoadHollam Road Waterlock Gardens

Schooner WayGodwit WayWarren Avenue

Furze Lane
Broom Square

Furze Lane
Sanderling Road

Milton Road
Locksway Road/
Priory Crescent

Prince
Albert Rd

Bransbury
Park

Devonshire
Square

Francis Avenue

Shepherds Crook

Prince Albert Rd

Frensham
 Road

Festing
Road

Campbell Road
Lorne Road

Campbell Rd
Campbell
Road

Napier Road
(W-bound only)

Talbot
Road

Jessie
Road

Winter Road

Talbot Road

Fratton Bridge

Eastney
Health
Centre

Kimberley
Road

Bristol Road

Cromwell Road
Eastney Street

St George’s Road
Eastern Parade

Elm
Grove

Kings
Theatre

Albert Rd
Lights

Cumberland House

Festing Hotel

Fawcett
Road
Priory

School

Outram
Road

Fawcett Road
Fawcett Inn

Clarendon Road
The Strand

Clarendon Road
The Circle

Southsea
Esplanade

South Parade Pier

Eastney
Esplanade
Canoe Lake

Osborne Road
Southsea Shops

Grove Road South
Friendship House

Kent Road
St Judes Church

Kings Road
Green Road

Osborne Road
Queens Hotel

Duisburg
Way

Pier Road

Craneswater Park

Clarendon Road
Clarendon Road

D-Day Museum

Blue Reef

War Memorial

Pyramids The Rock Gardens

Bellevue
Terrace

Kings Road
Kings Rd Junction

Hampshire
Terrace Isa

m
bar

d B
ru

nel 
Road

So
m

er
s R

oad
Winston Churchill Ave

Highbury Centre/
Middle Street

Kingston Road
Queen’s Road

Carnegie Library/
St Marys Church

Adames Rd/
Shearer Rd

Kingston Rd
Hanway Road

Canberra
House

Clifton
Street

Kingston Cemetery
(E-bound only)

Fratton Bridge

Arundel Street

Queen Street
Curzon Howe Road

Bra
dfo

rd
 Ju

ncti
on

St Agatha’s
(S-bound only)

Lake Road
City Centre North/

Cornmill Street
(N-bound only) Lake Road

Fratton Road

Lake Road
Clarendon

Street

Mile End Road
Prospect Road/

Charles Dickens Birthplace

Commercial Road
All Saints Church

Mile End Road
International Port/

Estella Road

Mile End Road
Rudmore Roundabout

(S-bound only)

White Hart Road

Grand Parade

Broad
Street

Clarence
Pier

Square Tower

Round
Tower

Pembroke
Road

High St
St Thomas
Cathedral
(NE-bound)

High Street
St Thomas Cathedral  High St

Portsmouth
Grammar

Cambridge Junction

St Georges Square

Gunwharf Quays

Cambridge Rd
University

Cambridge Rd
Cambridge

Junction

Queen Street
HMS Nelson

Isambard Brunel Rd
Civic Offices

Isambard Brunel Rd
St Lukes Church

(SW-bound 16�)   

Portsmouth
Harbour
Station

The Hard
Interchange

Fratton
Station

Portsmouth
& Southsea

Station

City Centre South CITY CENTRE
SOUTH

Southampton Road
Wymering Lane

Highbury
Buildings

Station
Cosham

Copnor
Bridge

Cosham
Interchange

EASTERN R
OAD

C
O

P
N

O
R

 R
O

A
D

C
O

P
N

O
R

 R
O

A
D

NEW ROAD

CHICHESTER ROAD

TANGIER ROAD

MOORINGS WAY

FE
R

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

LOCKSWAY ROAD

BRANSBURY PARKDEVONSHIRE AVENUE

NORTHERN P
ARADE

LO
NDON R

OAD

LO
N

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

ALLAWAY AVENUE

SOUTHAMPTON ROAD

HAVANT ROAD
HAVANT ROAD

MEDINA ROAD

OLD MANOR WAY

LO
N

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

To Bilbao, Caen (Ouistreham), Cherbourg,
Guernsey, Jersey (St Helier), Le Havre,
Santander and St Malo

HORSEA 
ISLAND

HIGHBURY

HILSEA

COPNOR

STAMSHAW

LANDPORTHM NAVAL 
BASE

NORTH END

KINGSTON BAFFINS

FRATTON

MILTON

EASTNEY

SOUTHSEA

GOSPORT

PORTSEA

ANCHORAGE 
PARK

Map of Portsmouth bus network

P
age 140



25SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Walking
Clarence Pier is 20–25 minutes from the city 
centre and Southsea Castle is a 10 minute 
walk from Southsea town centre. Further west, 
South Parade Pier is a 15 minute walk from 
Albert Road and Milton Market is a 10 to 15 
minute walk from the Coffee Cup. 

Rail
None of Portsmouth’s five rail stations directly 
serve the seafront, though Portsmouth Harbour 
is only a 15 minute walk from Old Portsmouth, 
at the western end of the seafront. Portsmouth 
& Southsea is around 25 minutes from the 
seafront on foot and Fratton is about 30 minutes. 
There are also bus connections to the seafront 
from Portsmouth and Southsea station and 
The Hard.

Waterways
Gosport is served by a four-minute passenger 
ferry, which runs every 7.5-15 minutes (from 
The Hard). Hovercraft (10 minutes), passenger 
catamaran (22 minutes), and passenger/car 
ferries (40-45 minutes) serve the Isle of Wight, 
and Hayling Island is served by passenger ferry 
from Eastney Point (5 minutes).

Car/vehicles
The main road access to the seafront is via the 
west of Portsea Island, along M275/A3/A288, to 
Clarence Pier. It can also be accessed to the 
east of the city, taking the A2030 and A288. The 
A288 provides a west-east route through the 
seafront area, as well as Clarence and Eastney 
Esplanades. Car parking at the seafront 
consists of just over 1,000 off-street parking 
spaces and in excess of 700 on-street spaces, 
though streets further back from the seafront 
also allow parking to access the seafront.  

Disabled parking 
Disabled car parking spaces are provided at 
Eastney Esplanade (several locations), Clarence 
Esplanade (several locations), Pyramids car park, 
D-Day car park and the Esplanade car park. 
 

P
age 141



26SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Walking
There are a number of formal walking routes 
around the seafront, such as the promenade, 
pavements adjacent to the carriageway, shared 
walking and cycling routes and pedestrian-only 
routes. The promenade runs continuously from 
the Round Tower in the west to Henderson 
Road in the east. From Henderson Road to 
Eastney Point, there is no formal continuous 
route.
North-south links include routes through 
Canoe Lake Park (pedestrian-only), along 
Avenue de Caen (pavement) and Pier Road 
(pavement). Ladies Mile provides an additional 
transverse route for pedestrians and cyclists 
only. However, many pedestrian desire lines are 
hindered by roads that are either very wide or 
heavily trafficked, or both.

Cycling
Cyclists travelling east-west through the 
seafront would generally follow the 2.1km 
two-way segregated cycle route along Eastney 
Esplanade, 2.4km of on road unsegregated 
routing between Canoe Lake and Pier Road, 
and a 500m shared pedestrian and cycle route 
between Pier Road and Penny Street. There is 
also the 700m Ladies’ Mile, a shared 
pedestrian and cycle route through part of 
Southsea Common. North-south routes 
around the seafront and beyond are all on road 
and unsegregated. 
Public consultation has indicated that the 
existing cycle infrastructure and road and 
parking layout is perceived to have some 
problems, which can discourage some people 
from using it. Examples of issues raised in 

public consultation include the following: cycle 
routes crossing the vehicular carriageway; sharp 
turns in routes; conflict between pedestrians and 
cyclists on the segregated cycle lane on Eastney 
Esplanade; narrow shared use pavements and 
roads without any dedicated cycle lanes at all. 
Cycling on the promenade is also a divisive issue. 
The lack of consistent, segregated cycle 
infrastructure of sufficient width means that 
users of adapted cycles such as tricycles, hand 
cycles, recumbent cycles and wheelchair cycles 
are likely to find using this form of transport to 
move around the seafront difficult. 

GETTING AROUND 
THE SEAFRONT

Left: Ladies’ Mile. Below: Cyclist on the beach near hovercraft terminal

P
age 142



27SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of cycling context

No segregated cycle route 
to ferries and The Hard

Short missing link

Cyclists have to share the 
road with vehicles here

Eastney Esplanade benefits from a segregated 
2-way cycle lane. However, this is perceived to 
have some problems

Cycle route crosses the 
carriageway twice here

No cycle access south 
of Southsea Castle

Cycling is currently prohibited along 
the entire length of the promenade. 

No cycle access here

KEY

 Off-road cycle route

 On-road cycle route

 No cycle route

Public transport
While there are a number of bus routes and 
stops in the seafront area, there is not a 
simple route along the seafront from The Hard 
to Eastney Point, and the main parts of the 
network are north of the seafront, with the 
exception of a Sunday-only service. 
Travel from significant places within the 
seafront would require walking or a bus 

transfer. Consultation responses have 
indicated a desire for a service that runs west-
east across the seafront. 
All buses operating in Portsmouth are 
wheelchair accessible and all bus stops have 
raised kerbs.
Rail stations are located outside the seafront 
area and there are no water taxis. 

P
age 143



28SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Car/vehicles
The existing seafront movement network 
predominantly lends itself to serve road 
vehicles. The road network allows access to all 
parts of the seafront but routes are often 
duplicated. There are over 1,700 car parking 
spaces in car parks and roads immediately 
adjacent to the sea (discounting any roads/car 
parks further north). Leisure driving and 
parking is a common activity. 
Nevertheless, parking provision has been one 
of the most commonly raised issues at 
consultation events. Resident parking is a 
contentious issue across the city, but at the 
seafront the issue is exacerbated by visitor 
parking demand during peak times, which 
impacts on residents’ parking provision. 
Parking at the seafront is highly seasonal, with 
swathes of empty parking spaces for much of 
the low peak season. However, at periods of 
high demand, such as summer weekends and 
bank holidays, demand for parking usually 
surpasses supply, hence at times overflow 
parking is provided on Southsea Common 
itself. 
Additionally, high volumes of traffic during high 
peak season often congest the road network 
at the seafront (which also has a knock-on 
effect on the wider city), causing a negative 
impact on local air quality and user-experience 
for residents and visitors.

Wheelchair
The promenade provides a wide, flat, 
uninterrupted route along much of the 
seafront. However, the existing surface 
materials of the promenade consists of both 
tarmac and slabs which cross the promenade 
back-and-forth. This creates a minor level 
change where surface materials meet, which 
can be problematic for wheelchair users. 
There are access points to the beach at 
Eastney Beach (three ramps, though one of 
these has dropped, leaving a 5–10cm level 

change between the promenade and the 
ramp), and a purpose-built access near the 
Coffee Cup (includes matting onto the beach). 
While other areas of the promenade are 
largely flush with the beach, there are no other 
wheelchair access points to the beach itself.
Portsmouth City Council has recently 
launched an inclusive mobility app called 
Route4U allowing wheelchair and pram users 

The Hard Interchange, Portsmouth Harbour station, Gosport Ferry and Isle of Wight Fastcat terminal

P
age 144



29SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

KEY

●● Wheelchair ramp with matting

● Ramp

● Slipway

▬ Pedestrian only path

▬ Shared pedestrian and cycle path

▬ Pavement

▬ Promenade

to identify safer and more accessible routes 
across the city. It provides route planning and 
turn-by-turn navigation, indicating pavement 
obstacles, surface quality, kerb heights, widths, 
inclines and travel distances (www.route4u.
org).

The main issues with getting around the 
seafront and its connectivity with the rest of 
the city can be broadly summarised as follows:

 » At peak times, car/vehicle parking capacity 
is often stretched and the local and city-
wide road network often congested

 » The flat and compact nature of the seafront 
and city encourages cycling, but some 
people perceive the existing cycling 
infrastructure as unsuitable and unsafe

Map of pedestrian and wheelchair access

 » Much of the seafront is walkable and 
cyclable in terms of distance but, since 
many areas/routes predominantly cater for 
vehicular traffic, pedestrian and cycle routes 
are not prioritised which causes conflicts in 
some areas

» The main mode of public transport for the 
city is the bus, but overall bus usage is 
significantly lower than comparable cities

Roads and traffic can negatively 
affect local air quality and the 
pedestrian experience at the seafront

Promenade from Henderson Road to Old Portsmouth provides 
excellent pedestrian access along the seafront. There are 
some pedestrian only footpaths and shared pedestrian and 
cycling paths. Much of the pedestrian access to the seafront is 
standard pavements, adjacent to vehicular roads. 

This wheelchair access point 
includes matting to allow 
wheelchair access across beach

Eastney Beach: only part of the seafront with 
wheelchair access points, although this does 
not generally include access across the beach

No segregated  
footpath

P
age 145



30SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Tourism is an important component 
of Portsmouth’s economy. The latest 
economic impact report showed 
Portsmouth welcomed around 9.4 million 
visitors in 2015 (8,700,000 day visitors 
and 737,000 staying visitors), contributing 
£610.3 million to the local economy. The 
latest employment figures show 12,777 
jobs are now supported by tourism. This 
represents 12.1% of all jobs in the city.

City waterfronts can often generate a huge 
amount of economic activity, jobs, and wealth. 
Our seafront underperforms in this regard. The 
Economic Development and Regeneration 
Strategy forecasts huge job potential growth in 
the visitor economy. 
There have been major improvements to the 
city’s tourism offer in recent years, including 
the re-opening of the Mary Rose Museum in 
the Historic Dockyard, the opening of the new 
Hotwalls Studios in Old Portsmouth and, in 
early 2018, the transformed D-Day Story with 
exterior landscaping and interactive water 
feature in front of Southsea Castle.
Major sporting, cultural, and music events 
have also made a great impact on the city and 
the seafront, raising its profile both nationally 
and internationally, with events such as the 
Victorious Festival continuing to grow in 
stature and popularity.

However, challenges still remain that inhibit the 
seafront from becoming a truly world-class 
visitor destination:

 » Some visitor attractions within the seafront 
are tired and dated, whether from an 
aesthetic perspective or the quality and 
relevance of its offer, and this limits the 
positive impact the seafront can have 
towards the city’s economy. This includes 
both the attractions themselves and the 
public spaces around them.

 » The seafront has a limited range of high 
quality hotel accommodation (i.e. 4* and 
above)

 » The seafront lacks a strategy for 
managing the arrival and movement of 
visitors, e.g. encouraging visitors to use 
sustainable modes of transport, and 
having attractive arrival points for public 
transport. Additionally the public spaces 

lack wayfinding and clear gateways into the 
area, which discourages visitors to stay and 
explore further within the seafront once 
they have completed their initial visit to a 
particular attraction.

 » The relatively poor quality of public spaces, 
and the lack of choice of quality food & 
beverage and concession outlets within 
walking distance of one another limits the 
economic activity of the seafront, especially 
at night-time.

 » The seafront is a key venue for major public 
events. However, the management of these 
events is made more difficult than it needs 
to be because of the layout of roads and 
spaces.

 » There is a lack of events that take place 
during the winter, compared to the rest of 
the year.

2.10 ECONOMY AND 
VISITOR ATTRACTIONS 

Fireworks in 
Portsmouth Harbour, 
showing Portsmouth 
Point on the left, with 
Gunwharf Quays and 
Emirates Spinnaker 
Tower on the right

P
age 146



31SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Eastney swimming pool

Fort Cumberland

Southsea Marina

Hayling Ferry

Eastney beach

Tenth hole and pitch and putt

Japanese garden

Rose gardens

South Parade PierSouthsea Castle

D-Day Story

Southsea Tennis Courts
and play facility

Blue Reef

Naval War Memorial

Hovercraft terminal

Clarence Pier

Square Tower

Hotwalls

Spur Redoubt and
Long Curtain Moat

Pyramids

Rock garden

Canoe Lake

Southsea
Model Village

Skate park
Canoe Lake TennisCumberland House

natural history museum

Round Tower

Portsmouth Point

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of visitor attractions

P
age 147



3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 32

P
age 148



33SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

BACKGROUND

The vision for the Seafront Masterplan is a 
statement of how the Council believes the 
seafront should be. 

The vision for the Seafront Masterplan should 
complement the vision of the Local Plan, but 
be specific to the seafront area (the vision in 
the Local Plan is “To make Portsmouth the 
premier waterfront city, with an unrivalled 
maritime heritage – a great place to live, 
work and visit.”). The Seafront Masterplan 
vision is informed by local and national policy, 
stakeholder engagement, and officer analysis 
& recommendations. 
The objectives of the Seafront Masterplan are 
more specific than the vision. The objectives 
help the vision to be realised.

VISION

“The seafront’s natural 
and historic assets will be 
protected, conserved, and 
enhanced. The seafront will 
be a beautiful, functional, 
sustainable and resilient place 
that is healthy, safe, enjoyable, 
and accessible to all.”

OBJECTIVES

The below objectives will help to realise the vision of the 
Seafront Masterplan: 

1 Protect and enhance the seafront’s natural assets and 
achieve a net gain in biodiversity

2 Conserve and enhance the seafront’s heritage assets
3 Ensure that new development at the seafront is of excellent 

design and enhances the seafront overall
4 Ensure that new development is functional and compatible 

with the overall functionality of the seafront 
5 Ensure that new development is sustainable, mitigates 

climate change and is resilient to the effects of climate 
change

6 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to 
improve people’s health, wellbeing, and safety

7 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to 
improve people’s enjoyment of the seafront

8 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to 
improve accessibility to all 

9 Ensure that new development promotes active and 
sustainable travel

10 Ensure that new development, including alterations to 
roads, seek to minimise space allocated to motor vehicles, 
in order to better accommodate other users

Development at the seafront is expected to contribute toward 
meeting these objectives in a proportionate and appropriate 
way.  Larger or more significant developments are likely to have 
more scope to help to realise these objectives, whereas small-
scale developments may have more of a limited contribution.

P
age 149



4 THEMATIC GUIDANCE 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 34

P
age 150



35SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

This chapter provides guidance for 
development in relation to the themes of:

 » Climate change
 » Health & wellbeing
 » Heritage
 » Natural environment
 » Public realm
 » Transport & access
 » Economy & attractions 
 » Development opportunities

These have been shaped around the 
masterplan’s vision and objectives, and 
informed by the national and local planning 
policy context, and the context analysis 
section of this document.  

4.1 INTRODUCTION

P
age 151



36SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

4.2 CLIMATE CHANGE 
 

This section provides guidance on how 
the seafront area can contribute towards 
climate change mitgation and adaptation. 

MITIGATION

Mitigating climate change is primarily 
accomplished through reductions of 
greenhouse gas emissions such as carbon 
dioxide. The Seafront Masterplan seeks to 
address this through identifying a number of 
possible interventions that would contribute 
towards this objective. Given the scope and 
context of the seafront, many of these relate 
to encouraging people to use zero or low 
carbon forms of transport, such as walking, 
cycling and public transport. In addition, 
all development at the seafront should be 
designed to minimise carbon emissions, and 
to be as energy efficient as is reasonably 
practicable. Another way in which carbon 
emissions can be limited is through the use of 
renewable and low-carbon energy generating 
technology. Sites for larger scale renewables 
are limited in the city, but there may be scope 
for the integration and use of smaller scale 
renewable technologies, such as micro wind-
turbines, solar thermal, or solar photovoltaics. 
The use of such technologies would need to 
be carefully considered however, and should 
not negatively impact upon biodiversity, the 
natural environment, or the seafront’s heritage 
assets.  

ADAPTATION

Adapting to climate change means making the 
seafront more resilient to the effects of climate 
change. Adaptation measures include replacing 
Southsea’s existing sea defences, which the 
2013 Seafront Masterplan also supported. 
Aside from rising sea levels, climate change is 
predicted to result in higher temperatures, 
more extreme weather events, and declining 
quality of habitats that result in a reduction in 
biodiversity. Development at the seafront 
should be designed to be resilient to the 
predicted effects of climate change. This 
means considering: 

» Development use and location in relation to 
flood risk and vulnerability to coastal change;

» Layout and massing on the site;
» Orientation of buildings with respect to 

solar gain (maximising in the winter but 
minimising in the summer);

» How shading, cooling, and natural 
ventilation can be achieved in the design of 
buildings, other structures, and landscaping;

» Connecting up and strengthening the city’s 
green infrastructure and sustainable travel 
networks;

» Resistance and resilience to extreme 
weather events of buildings and 
construction materials;

» Water efficiency measures to reduce water 
use, but also by providing public water 
fountains where appropriate;

» Capacity of drainage systems and 
incorporation of Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) where appropriate.

REPLACEMENT SEA DEFENCES

Replacement sea defences are one way the 
seafront can be adapted to the effects of 
climate change. 
Policy PCS9 states that new development will 
contribute to the revitalisation of the seafront 
and one of the ways this will be achieved is 
through ensuring that the sea defences are 
sensitively integrated with the local environment. 
The sea defences is a large-scale 
infrastructure project whose primary function 
is to protect the city from flooding and climate 
change for the next 100 years. 
However, there will be a number of other 
effects and opportunities that will arise from 
the project in relation to, for example, public 
realm, health & wellbeing, heritage and the 
natural environment, or transport. The sea 
defences should identify likely effects and 
seek to avoid or minimise negative impacts, 
while taking the opportunities to enable or 
deliver enhancements as outlined in this 
Seafront Masterplan. 

P
age 152



37SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

Opportunities to implement such 
enhancements at a later date are likely to take 
longer, be more expensive, and involve more 
disruption, than if they are implemented as part 
of plans to replace the sea defences. 

The map identifies the extent of the proposed 
sea defences, anticipated phasing, and key 
challenges and opportunities arising from the 
project.

Map of sea defence improvements

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Sea defences for Clarence Pier 
would need to be implemented 
as part of any proposed 
redevelopment of Clarence 
Pier 

New sea defences are an 
opportunity to reconfigure the 
road layout for this frontage

Setting of Southsea Common and the 
Naval Memorial should be carefully 
considered

New sea defences will straighten 
alignment of sea wall in this area 
and create more public space and 
development opportunities

New sea defences offer the 
opportunity to make significant 
improvements to walking and 
cycling infrastructure 

New sea defences can be tied 
in with enhancements to Canoe 
Lake Park entrances and 
creation of new public spaces

New sea defences will not extend 
further east than St George’s Road, 
which will still leave a significant 
section of promenade  requiring 
enhancement

New sea defences will 
create an enhanced 
route here

KEY

■ Sub frontage 1 – Long Curtain Moat

■ Sub frontage 2 – Clarence Pier

■ Sub frontage 3 – Southsea Common

■ Sub frontage 4 – Southsea Castle

■ Sub frontage 5 – The Pyramids Centre 
and South Parade Pier

■ Sub frontage 6 – Canoe Lake Park

P
age 153



38SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

POLICY CONTEXT

Local Plan policy PCS14 seeks to create a 
healthy city. Of relevance to the Seafront 
Masterplan are the following elements of the 
policy:

 » Reducing health inequality
» Reducing obesity and improving physical and 

mental health by increasing opportunities 
for formal and informal exercise through 
providing open space, play, recreation, sport 
and leisure facilities and making it easier to 
walk and cycle

 » Working with partners to promote healthy 
lifestyle choices

 » Improving air quality in the city
 » Requesting Health Impact Assessments 

from major new development proposals.

Portsmouth City Council is currently working 
with other authorities to deliver the South East 
Hampshire Rapid Transit. 
National planning policy4 on healthy and safe 
communities states that planning policies 
should: aim to achieve healthy, inclusive, and 
safe places which promote social interaction; 
are safe and accessible; and enable and 
support healthy lifestyles. They should also 

4 MHCLG, National Planning Policy Framework, 2019

take into account and support the delivery 
of local strategies to improve health, social, 
and cultural well-being for all sections of the 
community - and to promote public safety, 
taking into account wider security and defence 
considerations.
The Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2018–20215 
has ten priorities. Of these, reducing the harms 
from physical inactivity is of direct relevance 
to the Seafront Masterplan. The Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy advocates the creation 
of active environments as a key principle to 
reducing the harms from physical inactivity. 

This means “engineering activity back into 
daily life through infrastructure, transport, 
housing, workplaces and open space. 
Influence how people live their lives and 
choose being active”. 

PRINCIPLES

The seafront already has good opportunities 
for formal and informal exercise through its 
open space, play space, recreation space, and 
sport and leisure facilities. These should be 
maintained and, where possible, enhanced with 
consideration of the local and wider green 
infrastructure networks. 

5  Portsmouth City Council, Health & Wellbeing Strategy, 2018-2021

Development should take all reasonable 
opportunities to incorporate design elements that 
encourage people to be active and which create 
active environments to improve both mental and 
physical health. ‘Active’ should be interpreted in its 
wider sense - it includes simple activities, such as 
walking, as much as more vigorous activities like 
playing sport.
Opportunities for social interactions should be 
promoted and encouraged, which includes simply 
being around other people to opportunities for 
team games and socialising.
Public conveniences should be maintained and 
suitably located wherever possible, as these can 
be critical in accommodating the various needs 
of people that visit the seafront. Opportunities to 
install public showers and changing facilities near 
the beaches and other well-used areas should also 
be taken into consideration.
In addition to considering health and wellbeing 
issues, development at the seafront also needs to 
consider public safety, as set out in national policy. 
For the seafront, this means recognising that the 
seafront is a place where people congregate and 
large number of people go to the seafront on 
warmer days and for small and large-scale events. 
Developments should therefore assess the need 
for - and design in where necessary - measures to 
promote public safety, while being sensitive to the 
immediate and wider environment and context.

4.3 HEALTH & WELLBEING

P
age 154



39SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

4.4 HERITAGE 

POLICY CONTEXT

The NPPF sets out government policy on 
conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment. Policy PCS23 of the Local 
Plan sets out requirements for design and 
conservation for the whole of Portsmouth. 
The seafront is a part of the city that requires 
special attention regarding heritage assets, 
due to the concentration of assets in the 
seafront area. The context section maps out 
the heritage assets in the area. In summary, the 
seafront area contains:

 » Six scheduled monuments
 » Three grade I listed buildings and one grade 

II* listed building
 » 126 grade II listed buildings
 » One registered park & garden
 » Five conservation areas
 » Numerous locally listed assets

PRINCIPLES 

Given that any development in the seafront 
area has the potential to affect a heritage 
asset, a ‘heritage-centric’ approach to 
development in the seafront area should be 
taken. This should include an assessment 
of significance of the asset(s), based on 
archaeological, architectural, artistic, and 
historic value. This assessment should be 
proportionate to the asset’s importance and 
should state how the design has responded to 
the heritage asset(s). This should result in an 
appropriate and sympathetic design response.

Inside the Round Tower (above) and Square Tower (below) Royal Garrison Church

P
age 155



40SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

4.5 NATURAL 
ENVIRONMENT 

POLICY CONTEXT

Policy PCS13 of the Local Plan seeks to protect 
and enhance the city’s green infrastructure 
and designated habitat and wildlife sites, 
requiring that development retains and 
protects the biodiversity value and produces a 
net gain in biodiversity where possible.
Policy PCS9 of the Local Plan seeks to protect 
the open nature of the area around the 
Common and other underdeveloped areas, 
and improve the quality of the open spaces, 
as well as to protect the nature conservation 
value at Eastney Beach.
National planning policy on conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment seeks to 
protect and enhance sites of biodiversity value 
in a manner commensurate with their statutory 
status of identified quality in the development 
plan. An important tenet of national planning 
policy is to secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity.

construction works should be permitted 
within 200m. If construction work within 
such precautionary zones cannot be 
avoided, it is recommended that screening 
is provided to reduce visual and noise 
disturbance. In addition, within 5.6km 
of any SPA or Ramsar site, residential 
development and other development 
likely to have a similar impact, is required 
to mitigate the impact. This is currently 
achieved through financial contributions as 
set out in the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Strategy. Other existing measures designed 
to protect European and international 
nature conservation sites, such as code 
of conduct rules, dog-on-lead policies 
and ecological information boards, should 
continue to be maintained, or replaced with 
a suitable alternative. Project-level EIAs and/
or HRAs will be required as necessary.

 »

PRINCIPLES

Development proposals should seek 
to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment of the seafront area by:

 » Protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes and sites of biodiversity value

 » Minimising impacts on and providing net 
gains for biodiversity

 » In order to protect qualifying species in 
European sites, major construction work 
must avoid the November to February 
period and at any time, construction work 
should not be permitted within 100m 
from known roost sites or feeding areas 
of SPA / Ramsar birds to avoid negative 
impacts of visual and noise disturbance. 
For designated sites or functionally linked 
land parcels that contain particularly 
sensitive species such as redshank, no 

P
age 156



41SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

4.6 PUBLIC REALM

PRINCIPLES

Development should adhere to the principles 
set out within policies PCS23 and PCS9 of 
the Local Plan, and Section 12 of the NPPF. 
In addition, development within the seafront 
should contribute towards achieving the 
following:

 » Creating a distinctive and attractive 
environment with a strong sense of place 
where high quality public spaces become 
defining features within the seafront.

 » Creating a healthy, active, and playful 
environment for all ages to enjoy 
throughout the year as a focal area for 
health and wellbeing for all residents and 
visitors of the city.

 » Creating an environment where walking, 
cycling and public transport use are 
encouraged and prioritised, to better 
connect key locations within the seafront 
as well as to enhance connections between 
the seafront area and the wider city.

 » Ensuring that a development’s design 
and use of materials are appropriate 
for the environment they are located 
within – durable, beautiful and functional 
– whilst ensuring design is sensitive to 

the seafront’s special features, such as 
its landscapes, flora, fauna and heritage 
assets.

 » Making the seafront more welcoming to 
visit and enjoy, whilst ensuring it is easy to 
navigate around and understand.

 » Utilising attractive street furniture (e.g. 
seating, shelters, waste bins, lighting) that is 
complementary to the historic environment

 » Utilising immersive and responsive art and 
technology in the design of public spaces, 
lighting, and street furniture.

 » Creating an environment that encourages 
longer stays and visitor spend.

 » Creating an environment that is resilient yet 
not costly to maintain.

 » Creating opportunities for public art which 
is both beautiful and wherever possible, 
functional and part of an overall way-finding 
strategy.

The map overleaf identifies opportunities for 
public realm enhancements within the seafront 
area, including ‘gateway spaces’. Gateway 
spaces are key points of entry to the seafront 
which could be enhanced to improve the 
visitor experience and consolidate a brand 
identity for the seafront. 

POLICY CONTEXT

Policy PCS23 seeks to guide the design of 
development within the city, including within 
conservation areas and development relating 
to heritage assets.
Policy PCS9 seeks to protect the open nature 
of the area around the Common and other 
undeveloped areas; improve the quality 
of open space; improve the quality of the 
promenade, including enhanced maintenance 
and reducing clutter and physical barriers 
where appropriate; make clearer links between 
the seafront and nearby centres of Southsea 
and Castle Road; and ensure that any new or 
enhanced sea defences integrate sensitively 
with the local environment.
National planning policy on design is set 
out in Section 12 of the NPPF, where ‘the 
creation of high quality buildings and places 
is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development….’

P
age 157



42SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

PUBLIC SPACES

KEY

■■ Public realm enhancements

● Gateway spaces

▬ Primary routes requiring public realm enhancements

 Public Realm Improvement opportunities

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of public spaces and opportunities for enhancement

P
age 158



43SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

LIGHTING

Lighting guidance is provided below and in the 
above map. The approach to lighting should 
ensure that:

 » Lighting should be: of excellent quality to 
create a distinctive, vibrant, and cohesive 
identity for the seafront with a strong 
sense of place; and sensitively designed, 
especially when located within or near areas 
of historical and ecological importance. 

 » Evening movement and activity is promoted 
and made safe by enhanced lighting and 
light installations. Statement and focal 
lighting, and interactive, immersive lighting 
experiences can form a visitor attraction 
with potential to draw people to the seafront 
all year round. Features and spaces such as 
Clarence Pier, and Southsea Castle/Avenue 
de Caen could be particularly successful, 
leading to an increase in footfall in these 
areas.

 » Lighting enhances wayfinding and safety, 
while also allowing some areas to be dark 
where necessary (e.g. for wildlife, dark skies, 
and energy usage).

 » Lighting used in the seafront area should be 
low energy, low maintenance, and durable.

 » If the festoon lighting is to be replaced, 
it is replaced with a design which is less 
costly to maintain, and offers an attractive, 
contemporary design and palette of colours 
to provide a backdrop to other features within 
the seafront. 

KEY

▬ Primary lighting route 

▬ Highway lighting 

▬ Pedestrian lighting 

●● LB light columns retained

 Focal lighting (buildings, monuments, POI, public spaces)

 Gateway lighting

 Local lighting – junction spaces

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of proposed lighting improvements

P
age 159



44SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

POLICY CONTEXT

Local Plan policy PCS17 seeks to reduce the 
need to travel and to provide a sustainable 
and integrated transport network. Relevant 
elements are identified as: 

 » Promotion of walking and cycling and 
improved integration with other modes;

 » Creation of Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) routes

Portsmouth City Council is currently working 
with other authorities to deliver South East 
Hampshire Rapid Transit. The supporting text 
to the policy also recognises the importance 
of active travel to improving health, but also 
the potentially damaging effects of transport 
through road traffic injuries and pollution. 
National planning policy in relation to transport 
also seeks to achieve a sustainable transport 
network, and an approach to development that 
minimises the need to travel. 
The context section of this document has 
identified a number of issues in relation to 
transport and access in the seafront, which the 
Seafront Masterplan seeks to help address. 

4.7 TRANSPORT AND 
ACCESS  

Above: Passenger 
transport to Gosport 
by ferry

Right: Passenger 
transport to the Isle of 
Wight by hovercraft

Left: The Hard 
Interchange

Below: Park & Ride 
from Tipner

P
age 160



45SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

PRINCIPLES
Most of the roads, pavements, crossings, 
parking and other public spaces in the seafront 
area were designed based on the principle 
that everywhere should be accessible by car 
and that the car is to be prioritised. We now 
know that this approach results in significant 
impacts on health and wellbeing caused by 
air pollution and lack of exercise, as well as 
a congested road system with high demand 
for parking, taking up valuable public space. 
Active travel can have a positive effect on our 
physical and mental health and sustainable 
modes of transport can free up space on our 
congested roads, reduce pollution and reduce 
energy consumption and costs to society.6 

6  Stefan Gössling, Andy S.Choi, Transport transitions in Copenhagen: 
Comparing the cost of cars and bicycles

To help encourage people to use 
sustainable modes of transport, we need 
to take opportunities to redesign our roads, 
pavements, crossings, parking and other 
public spaces, so that space is balanced more 
fairly between users and to encourage modal 
shift and leisure. Measures should also be 
taken to improve public transport or the use of 
innovative solutions like water taxis or automated 
shuttle buses to move west-east along the 
seafront.
In accordance with national planning policy, all 
development should seek to prioritise users in 
the following order:

1 Pedestrians and cyclists 
2 Public transport users 
3 Private vehicle users
While the above principles apply across the 
whole seafront area, the needs of particular 
road users will need to be considered in 
relation to specific locations, as appropriate. 
Development proposals should take into account 
the wider walking and cycling networks across 
the seafront and to other parts of the city, in 
particular, the aspiration for a safe and convenient 
cycle route from Gosport Ferry to Haying Ferry. 
All reasonable opportunities to support and 
enhance these networks should be taken. 

Car/vehicle infrastructure
The car/vehicle road network and parking 
within the seafront area should be designed so 
as to avoid or, if unavoidable, minimise any 
detrimental impact on walking and cycling 
networks.
Development involving alteration to roads in 
the seafront area should take into account 
the character and use of the seafront as an 
area for people to enjoy. This means taking 
opportunities to redesign roads to reduce 
vehicle speeds to an appropriate minimum and 
maximising the safety of vulnerable users such 
as pedestrians and cyclists and, in particular, 
people with disabilities or reduced mobility. 
Opportunities should be taken to reallocate 
road space to other users, such as pedestrians 
and cyclists, where appropriate.

P
age 161



46SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

When considering the use of shared spaces, which 
includes any space without physical separation between 
the carriageway or cycleway and the footway (such as 
a raised kerb), special attention should be given to the 
requirements of vulnerable users, such as disabled people 
and pedestrians. The speed and frequency of vehicles 
using the proposed shared space should also be analysed 
and, where it is anticipated that vehicle speed or frequency 
is likely to negatively affect the safety of vulnerable users, 
shared spaces should not be used. Where shared spaces 
are proposed, justification should be provided that their use 
is appropriate and safe for all users. 
As far as reasonably practicable, the seafront should be 
accessible to those with limited mobility, including ensuring 
adequate vehicular access and parking for people with 
limited mobility or disability at points along the seafront. 
Cars should continue to be catered for but they should not 
be prioritised over other users. 
When roads and parking areas are redesigned, these 
should include appropriate infrastructure to support 
and encourage the take-up of electric vehicles, such as 
designated parking bays and both active and passive 
charging infrastructure.

Cycle infrastructure
The seafront is an area of strategic importance for cycling, 
as it contains the main west-east link across the south of 
Portsea Island, creating a connection between Gosport 
and Hayling Island via the seafront. There are also a number 
of secondary cycle routes around the seafront, such as 

along Pembroke Road, Duisberg Road and 
Avenue de Caen. Cycling is considered to be 
an important element in helping to address 
climate change, air quality, physical health as 
well as supporting the visitor economy. 
Cycling infrastructure should be safe, 
convenient and enjoyable for cyclists and safe 
for pedestrians and other road users. Wherever 
possible, the design of cycle infrastructure 
should not be diminished in order to 
accommodate motor vehicles, should be 
consistent across the seafront, and should be 
designed to avoid unnecessary crossing of the 
carriageway. 
Chevron parking can create danger for cyclists, 
because drivers have poor visibility when 
reversing from chevron spaces. Therefore, 
routes should be designed to avoid this 
potential conflict. 
When designing cycle infrastructure, the range 
of types of cyclist should be considered, 
especially those types of cyclist who could be 
encouraged to cycle more, though the provision 
of high quality cycle infrastructure. This includes 
children and cyclists who lack confidence, 
families and leisure cyclists, commuters, road 
cyclists, and disabled or reduced-mobility 
cyclists. 
For the primary cycle route across the seafront, 
the preferred design is a two-way segregated 

cycle route preferably of 1.5-2m width each 
way. This is a standard width that allows 
disabled users with adapted bikes, and cyclists 
of differing speeds to use the route together. 
Locating this route adjacent to the promenade 
itself would accommodate the vast majority of 
cyclists and should reduce or eliminate the 
issue of cycling on the promenade. Other 
approaches could also be acceptable, as long 
as the relevant policy principles and objectives 
are met. In designing the primary cycle route, 
great attention must be given to how it 
interfaces with other elements of the highway 
and the promenade, where applicable.
Where space is limited and for secondary 
routes around the seafront, other design 
options could also be considered, such as 
shared paths.
Cycle infrastructure should seek to link the 
seafront with other parts of the city. Missing 
links should be addressed, such as between 
Melville Road and the promenade. 
Secure and attractive cycle parking should be 
provided at convenient and regular locations.
The council’s highways engineers and active 
travel team should be consulted, and other 
relevant guidance such as Manual for Streets 2 
(or other relevant up-to-date guidance) should 
also be referred to.

P
age 162



47SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

4.8 ECONOMY AND 
ATTRACTIONS 
 
POLICY CONTEXT

Policy PCS9 of the Local Plan seeks to 
encourage and support the redevelopment of 
existing buildings for leisure and tourism uses 
at South Parade Pier, Clarence Pier, Southsea 
Castle area, and Canoe Lake. Additionally, 
the policy seeks to encourage and support 
proposals for small-scale restaurants, cafes, 
and other uses and activities that will diversify 
the leisure and cultural offer, without detracting 
from the open character of the seafront.

PRINCIPLES

Development within the seafront should 
contribute towards achieving the following:

» Supporting development within the identified 
‘clusters’, which have sites suitable for 
enhancement, and could accommodate a 
range of uses that could have a positive 
impact for the seafront as a destination. 

» These ‘clusters’ are as follows:

A. Old Portsmouth – for enjoying the maritime 
environment and arts and culture hub, 
supported by high-quality food and 
beverage.

B. Clarence Pier – for all-year round family 
and visitor economy-related leisure and 
ancillary uses, and transport activity linked 
with the wider city and the Isle of Wight.

C. Southsea Castle (including The 
Pyramids) – the cultural and recreational 
hub, with museums/culture/arts buildings 
and facilities; public spaces with a focus 
on lighting and landscape as a visitor 
attraction; plus supporting public and 
sports facilities.

D. South Parade Pier (including Speakers’ 
Corner, South Parade Pier, a new public 
space around the D-Day Stone) – focus 
on enhanced public spaces supported 
by food & beverage uses (with public 
facilities) that also contribute to the 
night-time economy.

E. Canoe Lake Park & St George’s Road 
– focus on leisure and sports provision, 
visitor attractions, small-scale food & 
beverage, and public facilities, which is 
attractive and accessible to all.

F. Eastney Swimming Pool – this area 
could orientate towards watersport 
activities and provision, supported 
by small-scale food and beverage, 
and visitor information.  The natural 
environment is an attraction in itself for 
visitors.

G. Eastney Point (including Fort 
Cumberland, Fraser Range, Southsea 
Marina, and Eastney ferry) – a focus on 
providing leisure and employment uses, 
food & beverage, and public facilities. 
A nature & ecology information centre 
could also cater for visitors to know and 
appreciate more about the surrounding 
natural environment and ecology.

P
age 163



48SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

KEY

■■ Clusters
Map of economic development clusters

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Old Portsmouth

Clarence Pier

Southsea Castle South Parade Pier

Canoe Lake Park and 
St George’s Road

Eastney Swimming Pool

Eastney Point, Southsea Marina, 
Fort Cumberland and Fraser Range

P
age 164



49SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

CONTEXT

The section on Economy and Attractions 
identifies a series of clusters which are 
considered suitable focal areas for a range 
of uses. Some of these areas also present 
some opportunities for redevelopment. The 
map overleaf provides a spatial overview 
of development opportunities across the 
seafront with a broad indication of timescales 
for delivery. The Area Guidance section 
provides more guidance for each of these 
areas.  

PRINCIPLES

Development at the seafront should be mainly 
located within the identified clusters. 
Outside these areas, development should 
normally be limited in order to conserve 
and enhance the character of the seafront. 
However, proposals will be assessed on their 
individual merits.

4.9 DEVELOPMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES

P
age 165



50SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

KEY

■■ Short-term 
development 
opportunities

■■ Medium-term 
development 
opportunities

■■ Long-term 
development 
opportunities

Map of development opportunities

50m 250m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Hovertravel terminal 
and interchange

Former 
Wightlink 

site

Blue Reef Aquarium

Pyramids Centre
Speakers’ Corner/
South Parade Gardens

Royal Marines Museum

Eastney Esplanade West

Canoe Lake Park

Fort Cumberland

Fraser Range

Southsea Leisure Park

Southsea Marina

Eastney Point 
ferry terminal

RNLI site

Eastney Swimming Pool

St Helens Parade

Southsea Tennis Club etc.Clarence Pier

Fish market/public 
convenience block site

P
age 166



5 AREA GUIDANCE 
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 51

P
age 167



52SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this chapter is to provide 
more guidance for the following areas of 
the seafront: 

 » Old Portsmouth
 » Clarence Pier
 » Southsea Common:

 » Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road
 » Southsea Skatepark
 » The Pyramids Centre
 » Speakers’ Corner, South Parade Gardens 

& Rock Gardens
 » South Parade Pier & St Helen’s Parade
 » Canoe Lake Park to St George’s Road

 » St George’s Road to Henderson Road
 » Henderson Road to Eastney Point

Below: Southsea beach 
west of South Parade Pier. 

Right, from top: Canoe Lake 
swan pedalo, the bandstand, 

Japanese garden.

P
age 168



53SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

CONTEXT

Dating back to around 1180, Old Portsmouth 
was the original settlement from which the 
city of Portsmouth grew. Its historical built 
environment, strong maritime character, 
and wonderful view across the entrance 
to Portsmouth Harbour make it a popular 
destination for visitors and locals.

GUIDANCE

In Old Portsmouth, there is the opportunity to 
build upon the successes of the Hot Walls 
artist studios and the Round and Square 
Towers to establish the area’s identity as an 
arts and cultural hub.
The development opportunities of Old Portsmouth 
include the former Wightlink workshop site at 
Broad Street. Planning permission had previously 
been granted for residential and restaurant and 
café uses on this site. A similar scheme, 
perhaps also incorporating a small art gallery 
and serviced offices, would be an opportunity 
to provide a new vibrant destination of high 
architectural quality, which would contribute to 
creating an identity for the area as an arts and 
cultural hub. The adjacent Council-owned car 
park and building could also be incorporated 
as part of the redevelopment.
Near to this site, the existing public space 
known as ‘The Point’ could also be enhanced 

through upgrading the surface materials, more 
landscape planting, and the provision of public 
art. The space could have an arts ‘plinth’ as a 
focal point, which could be used for temporary 
art installations and sculptures, similar to the 
‘Fourth Plinth’ project at Trafalgar Square in 
London. The ‘plinth’ could be used by local 
artists of the Hot Walls studios, for example, to 
publicly exhibit their artwork. A similar ‘plinth’ 
could also be installed in the public plaza at the 
Hot Walls to make it a more vibrant space.
There are also opportunities to improve the 
road space to prioritise pedestrian movement. 
Parts of Broad Street/Bath Square could either 
be wholly pedestrianised or access-only. A new 
pedestrian crossing could be installed across 
Broad Street to connect with the Feltham Row 
public right of way, which is part of the 
Millennium Promenade, to improve pedestrian 
movement and safety along this route.
The fish market and nearby public 
conveniences are valuable assets which 
should be retained and supported. This 
could be done through the introduction  of 
complementary uses food and beverage, 
artisans’ studios/workshops or even some 
residential. Place-making and creating an 
identity which relates to the historical story 
of Camber Docks should be central to any 
development proposals for the site.

5.2 OLD PORTSMOUTH

P
age 169



54SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

AVEN
UE DE CAEN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

PIE
R R

D

LONG CURTAIN ROAD

CLARENCE ESPLANADE
D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

HOVERCRAFT

WC

CLARENCE PIER

ARCADE

LONG 
CURTAIN 

MOAT
KING’S

BASTION

BOWLS
CLUB

ROYAL GARRISON CHURCH

SQUARE
TOWER

ROUND
TOWER

BEN AINSLIE
RACING

BROAD STREET

BROAD STREET

ARCADE

HOTEL
PUBLIC 
HOUSE

ARCADE

ARCADE

CAFE

ADVENTURE
GOLF

PLAY
AREA

SOUTHSEA COMMON

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

NAVAL WAR MEMORIAL

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Portsmouth Point

Long-term vision needed 
for Fish Market/public 
convenience site

Broad Street/Bath 
Square could 
be enhanced to 
create pedestrian 
access 

Pedestrian-priority 
crossing could be created 
across Broad Street to 
enhance the Millennium 
Promenade route

Former Wightlink site

KEY

■■ Public space enhancement areas

■■ Development opportunity areas

 Public art plinths

■■ Highways improvements

▬ Millennium promenade route

P
age 170



55SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

CONTEXT

Clarence Pier has long been a popular 
destination of the seafront for leisure and 
recreation. However, the area is somewhat let 
down by its aesthetics and public space 
design, and the vitality and vibrancy of the area 
is highly dependant on the seasons.  To realise 
the full potential of Clarence Pier, it needs to be 
a destination attractive in all weathers, and 
during both the day and the evening. 
Public spaces and buildings in and around 
Clarence Pier make the area feel unattractive. 
The existing Hovertravel terminal is also in 
need of enhancement. A large amount of space 
is taken up by road and travel infrastructure, 
like the bus/coach stop islands, diminishing the 
visitor experience of the area and making 
crossing of roads to the public conveniences 
and to Southsea Common inconvenient. The 
existing links between Clarence Pier with 
Southsea town centre, Gunwharf Quays, and 
the city centre does not encourage people to 
walk between these parts of the city. 

GUIDANCE

To consolidate Clarence Pier as a premier 
leisure and recreation destination, the area 
could include a wider mix of uses, such as 
restaurants, bars, leisure uses, and residential 
uses.   

5.3 CLARENCE PIER

AVEN
UE DE CAEN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

PIE
R R

D

LONG CURTAIN ROAD

CLARENCE ESPLANADE
D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

HOVERCRAFT

WC

CLARENCE PIER

ARCADE

LONG 
CURTAIN 

MOAT
KING’S

BASTION

BOWLS
CLUB

ROYAL GARRISON CHURCH

ARCADE

HOTEL
PUBLIC 
HOUSE

ARCADE

ARCADE

CAFE

ADVENTURE
GOLF

PLAY
AREA

SOUTHSEA COMMON

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

NAVAL WAR MEMORIAL

SQUARE
TOWER

ROUND
TOWER

BEN AINSLIE
RACING

BROAD STREET

BROAD STREET

20m 100m

Hovercraft terminal is underwhelming 
and offers limited facilities. It does not 
make the most of its position.

Cyclists must share the 
road with all vehicles, 
regardless of ability.

Crossing from the 
promenade to the toilet 
block and the common is 
difficult here, due to the 
wide road. A significant 
amount of public space is 
given over to road space.

Views across the Solent are 
blocked from this area.

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of Clarence Pier context

P
age 171



56SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

AVEN
UE DE CAEN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

PIE
R R

D

LONG CURTAIN ROAD

CLARENCE ESPLANADE
D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

HOVERCRAFT

WC

NEW PUBLIC
SPACE

CLARENCE PIER

LONG 
CURTAIN 

MOAT
KING’S

BASTION

BOWLS
CLUB

ROYAL GARRISON CHURCH

PLAY
AREA

SOUTHSEA COMMON

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

NAVAL WAR MEMORIAL

SQUARE
TOWER

ROUND
TOWER

BEN AINSLIE
RACING

BROAD STREET

BROAD STREET

P

P

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Clarence Pier is also considered to be a strong 
location to have a flagship 4-star hotel 
development including conference, spa, and 
leisure facilities.
The distinctive blue and yellow googie 
architecture of the existing main building could 
be retained in part or in whole, or provide 
design cues to any future development, 
though any design should be high-quality and 
contemporary.  If a tall building is proposed, 
key design considerations would include the 
settings of heritage assets, but also bird strike, 
both in general and in the context of the 
Special Protection Area. The settings of Long 
Curtain, King’s Bastion & Spur Redoubt, as well 
as Southsea Common, are likely to have a 
significant influence on the nature of 
development possible at Clarence Pier. 
Development in the area should also promote 
walking and cycling and be designed around 
people. Therefore space allocated to 
pedestrians should be maximised and 
carriageway areas removed or minimised and 
any roads should be designed to minimise 
vehicular speed.  

Map of Clarence Pier vision

Revised cycle route

Strengthen pedestrian 
crossing and links to 
Castle Road and  
Southsea town centre. 

Preference for 
segregated two-
way cycle route 
on southern 
side of Clarence 
Esplanade

Opportunity for 
comprehensive 
mixed use 
redevelopment

New, larger hovercraft building to incorporate 
a wider range uses including accessible public 
toilets and changing rooms and café/bar with 
views over the Solent

KEY

■ Development 
opportunity area

P
age 172



57SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

The hovercraft terminal could be redesigned 
to provide a multi-use hub, with the primary 
function of serving as a hovercraft terminal 
but with facilities that would also support its 
function as a transport interchange, as well as 
other facilities and uses that would support 
the visitor economy. Such a facility should 
consider future growth plans for hovercraft 
and other transport, such as bus rapid transit. 
Provision should also be made for electric 
vehicles, such as charging points. 
Facilities at the hub could include: 

» Changing rooms and toilets (including 
accessible), cycle storage / hire, Wi-Fi, 
charging facilities.

» Café/bar with views over Solent
» Learning & historical – develop a learning 

facility / museum of the hovercraft.

Subject to further assessment of capacity 
and need relating to city-wide parking 
provision, and to address the potential loss of 
parking elsewhere within the seafront, the car 
park provision adjacent to Clarence Pier could 
be retained and its capacity increased, but 
there is also opportunity to integrate it with any 
redevelopment proposals for Clarence Pier.  
Similarly, the Clarence Esplanade car park 
provision could be retained and capacity 
increased, but there is opportunity to integrate 

it better with Southsea Common, for example, 
by ‘burying’ it within the landscape and having 
a green roof covering.  However, any proposed 
solution for these car parks should place in 
high importance the need to be sensitively 
designed to appropriately integrate with the 
heritage assets of Long Curtain Moat/King’s 
Bastion or Southsea Common respectively.

P
age 173



58SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.1 5.4.3
5.4.4

5.4.5

5.4.6

5.5

5.6

5.4.2

5.4 SOUTHSEA COMMON

KEY

■■ Public green open space (including 
grass verges and ornamental borders)

■ Buildings and hard surfaces

■ Historic park and garden

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

50m 250m

P
age 174



59SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

CONTEXT

Southsea Common is a Grade II listed 
Registered Park and Garden, of which the 
vast majority is located within The Seafront 
Conservation Area and the remainder in Old 
Portsmouth Conservation Area. The bounds 
of Southsea Common comprises of two areas 
roughly 82 ha in size, stretching from Pier Road 
in the west to Portsmouth Cricket Club in the 
east. The two parts are linked by South Parade. 
To the south of the Common lies the 
promenade, beach, and the Solent with the 
built environment of Southsea to the north. 
The western part of the Common (from Pier 
Road to Speakers Corner) is predominantly 
characterised by green open space, with 
various buildings, car parks, sports/play 
facilities, and hard surfacing dispersed 
throughout. The eastern part of the Common 
includes Canoe Lake Park with its various 
buildings, sports/play facilities, and Lumps 
Fort. 
The overriding special character of Southsea 
Common is of a mostly undeveloped area with 
significant areas of open green space between 
the urban edge and the sea. Southsea 
Common is also an important part of the 
city’s network of ‘green infrastructure’.  It is 
also utilised to host many special events and 
is highly valued as a recreational and leisure 
space. 

GUIDANCE

As Southsea Common is designated as a 
Grade II listed Registered Park and Garden, 
any development proposals that affect the 
Common (or its setting) will need to take a 
‘heritage-centric’ approach. The significance 
of Southsea Common can be broadly 
categorised into three elements: the open 
space (including how this relates to the 
Common’s military past); surviving military 
heritage (such as Southsea Castle); and 
surviving historic built form which documents 
the shift in the use of the area from military to 
recreation.

Southsea Castle

Naval War Memorial

P
age 175



60SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.1 SOUTHSEA CASTLE TO 
PALMERSTON ROAD 

CONTEXT

This area is centred on the route between 
Southsea Castle and Palmerston Road via 
Avenue de Caen, and also includes the nearby 
areas to the west, such as the sports facilities/
courts and other activities around Southsea 
Tennis Club, the D-Day Story and LCT7074, 
and Blue Reef.

GUIDANCE

The collection of buildings and facilities in 
this area make up a broad cluster categorised 
as culture and recreational (sport/museum/
attractions).   

AVEN
UE DE CAENCLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE
D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

NAVAL WAR MEMORIAL

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

20m 100m

Avenue de Caen is one of the principal 
routes between the seafront and 
Southsea town centre.Retain leisure and 

sport function of 
this area.

Avenue de Caen should 
be a safe route for 
pedestrians and cyclists.

Most of this area lies within Southsea Common, a grade II listed park 
and garden and protected open space. Any new/redevelopment in 
this area must respect the characteristics of the common that give it 
significance – openness being a key characteristic in this respect.

Buildings here negatively 
affect the setting of Southsea 
Castle’s west battery. More 
could be made to make the 
most of this location, with 
views across the Solent and 
Southsea Common.

Ladies’ Mile should be 
a continuous route, 
not severed by a road.

LCT7074 landing craft 
is likely to attract more 
visitors to the area.

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671D-Day Story

Map of Southsea Castle area context

P
age 176



61SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

AVEN
UE DE CAENCLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE PARADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE PARADE

D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

NAVAL WAR MEMORIAL

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

P

P

20m 100m

Redesign the junction of Avenue de Caen and Clarence 
Esplanade, and in front of the D-Day Story, to complement 
recent improvements to the public space around the D-Day 
Story and to improve crossing safety for pedestrians and 
cyclists and reduce traffic speed. This could be done by 
reducing carriageway widths, tightening corner radii, 
introducing a second zebra crossing and alterations to the 
surface treatment of the carriageway.

This site is considered 
capable of accommodating 
a high quality building 
or buildings with a larger 
footprint

Development should 
address the Common 
and the Solent and 
maximise views

Create space around 
the west battery to 
improve the setting 
of the scheduled 
monument

Provision should be made for electric 
vehicles, such as charging points.

Close Avenue de Caen between Ladies’ Mile and 
Clarence Parade, to improve Ladies’ Mile as a 
walking and cycling route and making Avenue 
de Caen safer and quieter, while retaining most 
of the car parking. This is also considered more 
appropriate in a Registered Park and Garden. The 
design would need to allow Avenue de Caen to be 
opened at times, to allow access to Southsea Castle 
and the D-Day Story, when Clarence Esplanade is 
closed for events.

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Map of Southsea Castle area vision
KEY

■■ Development 
opportunity area

P
age 177



62SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

This type of use is well-established here and 
should be retained and enhanced upon. All 
of this area is part of Southsea Common, and 
therefore any development proposals would 
need to be guided by this heritage designation. 
The main other heritage asset here is the 
scheduled monument of Southsea Castle. 
Development in this area would need to have 
due regard to this asset and its setting. 
Certain buildings in the area are of low 
architectural value, some of which also have 
a negative effect on the setting of Southsea 

Castle’s west battery.  Any proposals to 
redevelop these buildings or introduce 
further proliferation of buildings in this area 
should take into consideration the special 
characteristics of this historical environment, 
but should also be of high architectural quality.
The area also provides an important link 
between the seafront and Southsea town centre. 
Both the seafront and Southsea town centre 
would benefit from Avenue de Caen being 
strengthened as a pedestrian and cycle route, 
as recognised in the Local Plan policy. 

Left: Southsea Castle 
looking across to the 
west.

Above: Kite Festival 
on Southsea Common

P
age 178



63SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

In addition, the historic Ladies’ Mile (a walking 
and cycling route) is currently severed by the 
highway of Avenue de Caen. The on-street car 
spaces on Avenue de Caen is heavily used at 
peak times (such as weekends over the 
summer).
The objectives of strengthening Avenue de 
Caen and Ladies’ Mile and walking and cycling 
routes could be realised through closing Avenue 
de Caen between Ladies’ Mile and Clarence 
Parade, and introducing traffic calming measures 
and improved crossings at the southern end of 
Avenue de Caen, as shown on the map. 
Avenue de Caen is not considered to be a 
critical part of the road network, since there is a 
nearby alternative route via Clarence Esplanade 
and Clarence Parade.  However, the design 
would need to allow Avenue de Caen to be 
open to traffic when Clarence Esplanade is 
closed for events, to allow access to Southsea 
Castle and the D-Day story. This would 
maintain most of the parking on Avenue de 
Caen while creating a route of a character that 
is more appropriate to the Registered Park and 
Garden designation. 

P
age 179



64SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.2 SOUTHSEA SKATE PARK

CONTEXT

The Skate Park has been a feature of the 
seafront since the late 1970s, with parts of it 
having origins from the early 1950s. The iconic 
bandstand within the Skatepark was built in 
1928 as a traditional bandstand surrounded by 
grass.
Currently, the Skatepark is surrounded by 
a perimeter fence and boundary hedge. 
There is a footpath which wraps a portion of 
the Skatepark’s perimeter and connects to 
Clarence Esplanade, but not to other walking 
routes like Avenue de Caen and Ladies’ Mile.

GUIDANCE

Around the skate park a landscaped public 
space with seating could be created with a 
new adventure play park next to it and new 
pedestrian routes to better connect the facility 
to the wider area, especially Avenue De Caen 
and Ladies’ Mile. If more comprehensive 
proposals to enhance or improve the skate 
park come forward, the primary use should 
remain as a skate park but there could be 
scope for uses that complement the skate 
park and the wider leisure focus of this part 
of the Common. This should also consider 

AVEN
UE DE CAEN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE
D-DAY STORY

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

SPLASH
PARK

VOLLEYBALL

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

20m 100m

New play 
equipment 
area

New landscaped 
seating area New route 

connections

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Southsea skatepark

KEY

■ Green space

■ Pedestrian route

aspirations for a stronger evening economy 
at the seafront. Proposals should consider 
potential impacts on the historic Common 
and its setting, and therefore proposals 
should respond and be designed in a sensitive 
manner. There are also opportunities to 
improve how the Stakepark integrates with 
this part of the Common, including creating 
better links with Ladies’ Mile, Avenue de Caen, 
and Clarence Esplanade, as well as better 
landscape integration and views through the 
skate park.

P
age 180



65SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.3 THE PYRAMIDS CENTRE

CONTEXT

The Pyramids Centre is located between Castle 
Fields and the Rock Gardens. It was opened in 
July 1988 on the site of the former Rock Gardens 
Pavilion. The complex currently consists of a 
leisure centre and swimming pool, a live arena for 
events, and various function rooms. The building 
is unique in design, with a mostly concrete base 
incorporating external stairs and ramps, and 
glazed roof structures which appear as pyramids.

GUIDANCE

The location of the Pyramids Centre is 
arguably, its best asset, adjacent to the 
waterfront and Southsea Castle. There is great 
opportunity  
to make more of the location.
The existing building’s appearance and aesthetic 
is regarded by some to be tired and dated, whilst 
the public spaces around the building are 
unattractive and unwelcoming. The maintenance 
of the building is expensive and significant 
investment would be needed to bring the 
standard of the building up to a higher level, 
especially for leisure uses.
Whether through adaptation or through 
comprehensive redevelopment, there is the 

opportunity to have a building or collection of 
buildings which could accommodate a mix of 
uses, for example a high-quality hotel with spa 
and swimming facilities, concert and events 
venue, art gallery space, and food and 
beverage. There may also be scope for an 
element of residential development, if this was 
required as an enabling use.  The building, or 
buildings, should have strong frontages onto 
the promenade and Clarence Esplanade. 
The public space around the Pyramids site 
should be enhanced as part of any development 
so that there is an attractive and harmonious 
transition between the site and the surrounding 
Common and seafront. Due consideration 
should be given towards how the new sea 
defences would integrate with any 
development proposals both for the building 
and the public space around it.

The creation of a green link between the Rock 
Gardens and Castle Fields, physically and/or 
visually, should also be incorporated if 
practicable. The Rock Gardens themselves 
should also be incorporated into any development 
scheme so that routes through the gardens 
and passive surveillance can be improved. 
Improvements to the Rock Gardens could also 
help to successfully integrate new buildings 
into the surrounding area.
Overall building height, mass, volume, scale, and 
layout should be guided by how these design 
elements would have an impact on the setting 
of Southsea Castle and the conservation area, 
and the wider townscape and landscape. 
Impact on the SPA and on the brent geese/
solent waders population must also be given 
specific attention.

AVEN
UE DE CAEN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

SOUTHSEA
CASTLE

PYRAMIDS
ROCK GARDENS

CASTLE FIELD

SKATE PARK

SOUTHSEA TENNIS CLUB

SPLASH
PARK

BANDSTAND

BLUE
REEF

P

Green space

Scheduled ancient monument

Green space

Green space Link

Potential development areaPublic space enhancement

Public space enhancement

KEY

■■ Public space 
enhancement areas

■ Development 
opportunity areas

■■ Scheduled monuments

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

P
age 181



66SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.4 SPEAKERS’ CORNER, 
SOUTH PARADE GARDENS & 
ROCK GARDENS

CONTEXT

Speakers’ Corner (named for its historic 
association as a place for public speaking) is 
a large expanse of hard surface that does not 
immediately serve a particular use. However, 
it is used regularly as an informal meeting 
place for social activity, such as ParkRun 
and other running or sport activities. To the 
north and west are the South Parade Gardens 
and Rock Gardens, which are ornamental 
gardens created in the 1920s as part of the 
improvements made by the Council when it 
purchased the land from the War Department.  
Speakers’ Corner offers great views over the 
Solent; however it is under-utilised as a space.

GUIDANCE

There is an opportunity to enhance this 
part of Southsea Common through the 
pedestrianisation of the section of Clarence 
Esplanade that lies south of South Parade 
Gardens (see map). This would consolidate this 
area of public space, linking the Rock Gardens 
and South Parade Gardens and create a new, 
safer and more attractive route  for walking 
and cycling.  This intervention, in connection 
with the future redevelopment of the Pyramids 
and Speakers Corner, would create a new 

focal point featuring an enhanced high-
quality public space and a series of linked 
green spaces. The public space could be 
used for a variety of activities such as public 
performance space, social activity meet-ups, 
and public seating with sea-views.
In conjunction, there is an opportunity to 
enhance Speakers’ Corner as a new leisure 
cluster with a focus on food and beverage 
through accommodating more permanent 
buildings that take advantage of the Solent 
views. Redevelopment could also incorporate 
a cycle hub and changing/shower facilities.

P
age 182



67SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

SOUTH PARADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

BU
RG

OY
NE

 R
OA

D

TH
E 

DE
LL

PYRAMIDS

ROCK GARDEN

CASTLE FIELD

20m 100m

KEY

■ Public space enhancements

■ Green space

■ Development opportunity

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

A pedestrian route through to Burgoyne 
Road should be designed into any 
redevelopment of Speakers’ Corner. 

P
age 183



68SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

ST HELENS PARADE

EASTNEY ESPLANADE

EASTNEY ESPLANADE

THE OCEAN AT THE 

END OF THE LANE

5.4.5 SOUTH PARADE PIER AND 
ST HELEN’S PARADE
This area offers the opportunity to enhance the 
public realm, centred on the D-Day Stone that 
is located in a memorial garden which is 
currently bounded by roads on all sides. 
This could be achieved through a number of 
different approaches, such as those illustrated 
in the following examples. Example A illustrates 
the opportunity to pedestrianise a short 
section of road between the D-Day Stone and 
the Promenade. This could allow better 
integration of the space with the promenade 
and the new sea defences. It could allow the 
D-Day Stone public space to be more 
accessible directly from the promenade, and 
could also create space for a cluster of food 
and beverage outlets at this location. 
Alternatively, Example B would involve 
pedestrianising the ‘Ocean At The End Of The 
Lane’ highway in order to better integrate this 
public space with Canoe Lake Park, which 
would also improve its accessibility.
This area also presents an opportunity to 
better integrate with the cycle route along 
Eastney Esplanade.  The preferred solution 
would be to relocate the cycle lane to the 
south. This would need to be a fully segregated 
cycle lane, in order to be safe and practical. 

10m 50m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

2 way road

Promenade

Vehicular access to Eastney 
Esplanade re-routed via Ocean 
at the End of the Lane. 

Improved setting and 
access to D-Day Stone

Example A:

P
age 184



69SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

ST HELENS PARADE

EASTNEY ESPLANADE

EASTNEY ESPLANADE
THE OCEAN AT THE 

END OF THE LANE

10m 50m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

2 way road

Promenade

Ocean at the End of the Lane 
closed to vehicles and space 
integrated with Canoe Lake Park

Improved setting and 
access to D-Day Stone

Example B:

P
age 185



70SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.4.6 CANOE LAKE PARK TO  
ST GEORGE’S ROAD

CONTEXT

Canoe Lake was originally created in 1886 and, 
over the years, the park around it developed to 
what it is today. As well as the main boating 
lake, there is a large children’s play area, several 
food and beverage units, tennis courts and 
social pavilion space (run by Canoe Lake 
Leisure) along with various sports courts, and a 
community-run garden called Southsea Green. 
Cumberland House (a Grade II listed building) 
currently houses Portsmouth’s Natural History 
Museum. Lumps Fort, a locally-listed former 
military installation dating from the 19th 
century, is currently home to the Rose 
Gardens, the Japanese Garden, and the Model 
Village, which is a visitor attraction housing 
1/12th scale models.
Canoe Lake Park is within the Southsea 
Common designation as a listed park.

GUIDANCE

Canoe Lake Park should continue to be 
consolidated as a leisure and recreation 
destination for individuals, families, and sports 
enthusiasts alike.
Proposals that seek to increase the quantity 
of food and beverage floorspace within Canoe 
Lake Park should consider the overall food and 
beverage offer within Canoe Lake Park and 
avoid over-provision.
The quality of play spaces and equipment 
within Canoe Lake Park should be enhanced 
and cater for mobility-impaired users.
There are opportunities for enhancements to 
Lumps Fort, including the entrance from Eastney 
Esplanade which could utilise better surfacing 

ROSE GARDEN

BEACH HUTS

BEACH HUTS

WCs

D-DAY
STONE

PLAY
AREA

SPLASH PARK

CANOE 
LAKE 
CAFE

TENNIS COURTS

TENNIS COURTS

CO
M

M
UN

IT
Y 

G
AR

DE
NS

GREENS
CAFE

MODEL
VILLAGE

TENNIS
CLUB

NURSERY

GOLF TENNIS
COURTS

JAPANESE GARDEN

TENTH HOLE

PITCH AND PUTT

CRICKET GROUND

CANOE LAKE

materials, public furniture, and public art as a 
focal point to enliven and enhance the 
attractiveness of this entrance. Within Lumps 
Fort, the existing Japanese Garden could be 
improved in aesthetic and appearance with 
higher-quality materials and finishing.  There is 
the opportunity to re-utilise the former barrack 
building at the northern side of the Fort and to 
bring it into active use, for example as an 
event/exhibition space.
Any proposals should consider its impact 
on the heritage significance of the park and 
opportunities for enhancement, including on 
listed and locally-listed heritage assets, in 
accordance with heritage principles.

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Play spaces and equipment should 
be updated and also cater for 
mobility-impaired users

Enhanced entrance to Lumps Fort

Former barrack building 
could be brought back 
into active use

Cumberland House Natural 
History Museum – Grade II listed

KEY

■ Green space

■■ Enhancement 
opportunities

■ Existing concessions

 Public art plinth

P
age 186



71SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

P
age 187



72SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.5 ST GEORGE’S ROAD TO 
HENDERSON ROAD

CONTEXT

This part of the seafront is more natural and 
quiet in character than other areas of the 
seafront to the west. Much of Eastney Beach is 
vegetated shingle, which is considered to be a 
special habitat where conditions are stable 
enough for specially adapted plans to grow. It 
is a priority habitat in the UK Biodiversity Action 
Plan and is designated as a Site of Importance 
for Nature Conservation. Eastney Beach also 
provides part of the setting for a number of 
heritage assets, including Eastney Barracks, 
Eastney Batteries, and the WWII defences near 
Eastney Swimming Pool. 

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

Anti-tank blocks

Eastney Swimming Pool

Southsea Leisure Park

Eastney Battery East

Eastney Battery West Opportunity to create an 
enhanced wheelchair route

Coffee Cup Former Eastney House

Former Clock Tower etc

Main gate

Bamford House etc

Eastney Barracks, Lumsden Memorial

Royal Marines Museum could be 
converted to hotel or similar use, 
with complementary ancillary uses 
such as offices and residential.

KEY

 Grade II listed buildings

●● Listed lamp columns

■■ Scheduled monuments

■■ SINC

■ Area of importance to the 
setting of heritage assets

■■ Development opportunity

GUIDANCE

Because of the particular heritage and natural 
environment constraints of this area, 
development opportunities in this area are 
considered to be limited, but all proposals will 
be considered on their merits. The map 
indicates an area whose openness (i.e. state of 
being undeveloped) is considered to be 
important to the setting of heritage assets or 
the integrity of the SINC/SPA located within 
this part of the seafront, and therefore these 
will be important considerations for any 
proposed schemes within this area. Any 
development that would have a negative 
impact on the special historic or natural 
environment characteristics of this area will not 
normally be granted planning permission. 

FORMER ROYAL MARINES MUSEUM

The former Royal Marines Museum that was 
housed within Eastney Barracks is described in 
its historic listing as “among the most 
architecturally distinguished officers’ barracks 
in England”.  Lying within Eastney Barracks 
conservation area, the building is bounded to 
the east and west by a perimeter defence wall, 
which is a scheduled monument. To the south 
lies Eastney Fort East, also a scheduled 
monument.  The immediate area is residential 
and quiet and the wider area of the seafront is 
quiet and natural in character. 
The building which housed the former museum 
features a piano nobile, reception (vestibule), 
grand staircase (colours hall), picture gallery, 
and dining hall (Mountbatten Room).  This 
could be converted to hotel use with 

P
age 188



73SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

complementary ancillary uses such as offices 
and residential. However, fundamentally, any 
proposal would need to respect the historic 
significance of the building and the character 
of the wider area, and ensure that its special 
historic architectural features are retained.

EASTNEY SWIMMING POOL
The Eastney Swimming Pool site is located on 
the corner of Henderson Road and Melville 
Road, with Southsea Leisure Park to the east, 
and Eastney beach and the Solent to the 
south.  As well the swimming pool building, the 
site also comprises a car park, toilet block, and 
the listed WWII pillbox and tank traps. 
The swimming pool building is well over 100 
years old, and the condition and quality of the 
facility is considered inadequate for modern 

needs - requiring significant investment to 
bring it to standard and ensure future 
maintenance. 
There is an opportunity to redevelop the whole 
site. This could accommodate a range of 
leisure-type uses, such as a new swimming 
pool (subject to assessment of wider need for 
the city) and/or space to accommodate 
watersports, such as stand-up paddle 
boarding, and kite-surfing - though further 
feasibility work would be needed to ascertain 
whether the site is suitable given the site’s 
distance to the sea.
Complementary to this or standalone, a 
building with a café with views over the Solent 
could also be possible, which could also house 
a visitor information point linked with the local 
ecology and the WWII historic assets.  Public 
exhibition space, and/or a cycle hub could also 
be part of this new facility.
Given the prominent location of the site, any 
scheme would need to exhibit a high degree of 
innovative, excellent, and sustainable design. 
Proposals would also need to significantly 
improve the setting of the listed WWII pillbox 
and tank traps. The site is close to an 
important winter roosting site for the protected 
dunlin and ringed plover, and therefore 
construction work would need to take place 

Eastney Swimming 
Pool

between March and October to avoid the 
roosting period. 
To the east of Eastney Swimming Pool is 
Southsea Leisure Park, which currently 
accommodates both touring and static 
caravans, and a bar/restaurant. Subject to 
further assessment of flood risk and other 
planning considerations, this site may be 
suitable for redevelopment in the future. 

NEW WHEELCHAIR ACCESS ROUTE 
There is an existing wheelchair access path to 
the east of the Coffee Cup, but the path is fairly 
limited and much if it consists only of rubber 
matting. Linking this route up with another 
existing access ramp further east with upgraded 
surfacing, such as a board walk, would provide 
beach access to wheelchair users.
There is also an aspiration to enable 
wheelchair users to access the sea itself. 
However, it is also recognised that both of 
these aspirations entail technical challenges 
that need to be further assessed.

P
age 189



74SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

5.6 HENDERSON ROAD TO 
EASTNEY POINT

CONTEXT

This part of the seafront has a mixed character, 
and feels detached from the rest of the 
seafront.  There are residential properties 
located to the north of Ferry Road.  To the 
south of Ferry Road lies Fort Cumberland - 
which is a historic 18th century military 
fortification designated as a scheduled ancient 
monument and a grade II* listed building - 
currently occupied by Historic England offices.  
Further south is the Fraser Range site, a former 
military gunnery range and research centre, 
which has been derelict since 2006 when the 
site was closed permanently.
Further along Ferry Road, the area takes on a 
more prominent maritime character, with the 
presence of Southsea Marina, Eastney Cruising 
Association boat yard, and the informal 
moorings along the shore.  The University of 
Portsmouth’s Institute of Marine Science and 
the RNLI are also present in this area.  At 
Eastney Point, the Eastney-Hayling Island ferry 
service currently operates from a pontoon 
connected by a linkspan to a fixed approach.
The area is often less visited compared to 
other areas of the seafront.  Whilst there is 
adequate vehicle access, it lacks decent 
infrastructure and connectivity by foot/cycle.

FORT
CUMBERLAND

HEATH

FORT
CUMBERLAND

SOUTHSEA
MARINA

HAYLING
FERRY

RNLI
LIFEBOAT
STATION

FRASER RANGE

SOUTHSEA LEISURE PARK

EASTNEY
SWIMMING

POOL

20m 100m

© Crown Copyright. Ordnance Survey licence no.  100019671

KEY

■ Green space

■■ Public space 
enhancement areas

■■ Development 
opportunities

▬ Coastal path

▬ Fort Cumberland 
Heath connections

▬ Continuous pedestrian 
and cycle route along 
Ferry Road

P
age 190



75SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

GUIDANCE

Subject to heritage considerations, there is an 
opportunity to diversify Fort Cumberland by 
opening it up to compatible uses, such as 
co-working offices and studios, a start-up hub 
for new businesses, an activity centre, or an 
entertainment/event space.  Fort Cumberland 
includes a number of casemates that could be 
converted for such uses. 
Such proposed uses should take into 
consideration how these would contribute to 
the conservation and enhancement of this 
important heritage asset and viably secure its 
long-term condition and future.
Should the Fraser Range site come forward for 
redevelopment, consideration should be given 
to how a scheme could be sensitively 
designed in relation to its proximity and 
relationship with  Fort Cumberland and its 
setting, in terms of building heights, style, 
materials, and opportunities to improve 
physical connections to Fort Cumberland and 
other routes, such as the coastal path.  The 
England Coast Path, a project by Natural 
England to create a footpath all around the 
coast of England, has aspirations to create a 
new route along this area, and therefore 

reasonable measures to accommodate this 
route would be expected.  
Further important considerations for the 
Fraser Range site are the opportunities to 
enhance the natural environment in terms of 
providing for net-gain in biodiversity, and the 
enhancement of flood defences (subject to 
assessment).
At Southsea Marina, there is opportunity to 
increase the provision of leisure-type uses and 
facilities, such as food and beverage, 
watersports equipment hire, cycle hire, and 
holiday-let accommodation.
Further along Ferry Road, should the RNLI 
facility be relocated elsewhere, the site could 
be redeveloped for other uses, such as a café 
with public toilets facilities, integrated with a 
local nature and ecology information and 
visitor centre.  The bus stop nearby could also 
be enhanced to tie-in with the redevelopment 
to provide for an architecturally distinctive 
integrated bus stop and nature viewing 
platform.
At Eastney Point, the ferry terminal could be 
replaced with an architecturally distinctive pier 

to add a point of interest to this gateway in and 
out of the city.
Vital to this area is the improvements needed 
to the existing pedestrian and cycle access 
provision, to better connect and make more 
attractive the route from Eastney Point to the 
rest of the seafront area and the wider city. 
Subject to more detailed technical highway 
assesment, there is need for a pedestrian 
pavement that runs continuously along Ferry 
Road up to Eastney Point, as well as an 
enhanced cycle route. A more aspirational 
provision (either as part of the England Coast 
Path or otherwise) would be to also have a 
coastal path that runs south of Fraser Range 
and Fort Cumberland, which would also 
connect with Fort Cumberland Heath.
Due to the proximity upon the nearby SPA/
Ramsar, any proposals within this area of the 
seafront should be informed by a project-level 
HRA. In order to avoid adverse effects on 
waterfowl through increased recreational 
pressure on the Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA/Ramsar, any holiday lets should 
not be permitted to operate between October 
and March to avoid recreational disturbance of 
overwintering waterfowl.

Eastney beach, 
looking across 
Langstone harbour  
to Hayling Island

P
age 191



6 DELIVERY
SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN 76

P
age 192



77SEAFRONT MASTERPLAN

6.1 DELIVERY AND 
IMPLEMENTATION

The Seafront Masterplan is a supplementary 
planning document, providing a vision, 
objectives, and guidance to enable development 
and investment to happen in order to shape 
the seafront and ensure this area is enjoyed 
for many more generations by residents and 
visitors alike.

As one of the main landowners in the seafront, and 
as the Local Planning Authority, Portsmouth City 
Council has a major role in shaping the seafront.  
The council cannot, however, deliver all the 
proposals outlined this masterplan on its own, 

and therefore the council will work closely 
in collaboration with other landowners and 
stakeholders to realise the vision of this masterplan.
The replacement sea defences are likely to be the 
most significant infrastructure development project 
that the seafront will see, and it represents the best 
opportunity to implement much of the content of 
the Seafront Masterplan.
Some proposals involving improvements to 
transport and highways may be incorporated and 
implemented through the City Council’s other 
projects, such as the Local Transport Plan.

Where appropriate, mixed-use development could 
be proposed to better support place-making 
objectives and enable the viability of individual sites.  
Such proposals would be considered on a case-by-
case basis and determined on its planning merits.
Other proposals contained in the masterplan could 
be funded through the Community Infrastructure 
Levy, grant funding, or sponsorship.  Since 
the masterplan has a horizon of 15 years, it is 
anticipated that projects will be delivered as and 
when funding opportunities allow.

P
age 193



Produced by: design@portsmouthcc.gov.uk • Published: September 2020 • Ref: 173.128 

You can get this information in large 
print, Braille, audio or in another 
language by calling 023 9243 7871ä à

å ã

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

P
age 194



 

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review 

Sustainability Appraisal Report  

Consultation Version 
July 2020 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Page 195



2 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 196



3 
 

 
Contents 

 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
General introduction and context to Portsmouth and the Seafront 
           
PART 1 
 
Review of Plans, Policies, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives (PPPSIs), and 
Baseline Data     

PART 2 
 
The Key Sustainability Issues        

PART 3 
 
The Sustainability Appraisal Framework  
 
PART 4 
 
Sustainability Appraisal 
        
Consultation and Next Steps 
 
Appendix 1 - List of Plans, Policies, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives 
(PPPSIs) 
 
Appendix 2 - Summary Table of Baseline Data 
 
Appendix 3 - SA Scoring Criteria 
 
Appendix 4 - SA of 2013 Seafront Masterplan SPD 
 
Appendix 5 - Extract from Portsmouth Plan 2012 SA 
 
Appendix 6 - SA Scoring of interim 'Options Consultation' Feb 2019 document 
 
Appendix 7 - SA Scoring of revised Seafront Masterplan SPD June 2020 document 
  

Page 197



4 
 

1. Introduction and Background 
 

1.1. The purpose of this Sustainability Appraisal report (SA) is to promote 
sustainable development in the preparation of the revised Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document (SM SPD) through the consideration and 
integration of social, environmental, and economic effects. 
 

1.2. The revised SM SPD seeks to replace the current 'Seafront Masterplan SPD' 
adopted in April 2013.  As an SPD, the document supplements the adopted 
Local Plan1, in particular Policy PCS9, and provides more detailed policy and 
guidance for the seafront area. 

 
1.3. Policy PCS9 of the Local Plan is reproduced in full below: 

 
PCS9 - The Seafront 
New development will contribute to the revitalisation of the seafront, tourism 
and the wider regeneration strategy for Portsmouth. This will be achieved 
by: 

 
• Encouraging and supporting redevelopment of existing buildings for 

leisure and tourism uses, especially where outlined in the Seafront 
Strategy, at South Parade Pier, Clarence Pier, Southsea Castle area 
and Canoe Lake 

• Encouraging and supporting proposals for small scale restaurants, 
cafés and other uses and activities that will diversify the leisure and 
cultural offer without detracting from the open character of the 
seafront 

• Protecting the open nature of the area around the Common and other 
undeveloped areas, and improving the quality of the open spaces 

• Protecting the nature conservation value at Eastney Beach 
• Improving the quality of the promenade including enhanced 

maintenance, reducing clutter and physical barriers where 
appropriate and ensuring that any new or enhanced sea defences 
integrate sensitively with the local environment 

• Using CIL to part fund environmental improvements 
• Making clearer links between the seafront and the nearby centres of 

Southsea and Castle Road 
 
1.4. The revised SM SPD will set out a framework for future regeneration of the 

seafront, following the principles of the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government in February 2019. 

 
1.5. The National Planning Policy Framework ("the Framework") published in 2019 

states in Paragraph 32: 
 

                                                            
1 The Portsmouth Plan (adopted January 2012) by Portsmouth City Council 

Page 198



5 
 

'Local plans and spatial development strategies should be 
informed throughout their preparation by a sustainability appraisal 
that meets the relevant legal requirements.  This should 
demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant economic, 
social and environmental objectives (including opportunities for net 
gains).  Significant adverse impacts on these objectives should be 
avoided and, wherever possible, alternative options which reduce 
or eliminate such impacts should be pursued. Where significant 
adverse impacts are unavoidable, suitable mitigation measures 
should be proposed (or, where this is not possible, compensatory 
measures should be considered).' 

 
1.6. The SM SPD therefore needs to be assessed during its preparation and before 

its adoption (which is also a requirement set out in The Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004; the "SEA 
Regulations") to the extent to which the emerging plan, when judged against 
reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve relevant environmental, economic 
and social objectives. The SEA Regulations implement the requirements of the 
EU Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive ("SEA Directive")2. 
 

1.7. The three overarching objectives set out in the Framework to achieving 
sustainable development cover a range of issues: 

 
• Social objective - the SPD will need to address the issue of supporting 

'strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient 
number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present 
and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe built 
environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current 
and future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-
being'; 

 
• Environmental objective - the SPD will need to 'contribute to protecting and 

enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; including making 
effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources 
prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to 
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy'; 

 
• Economic objective - the SPD will need to 'help build a strong, responsive 

and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types 
is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity, and by identifying and coordinating the 
provision of infrastructure'. 

 
1.8. Of key importance for the Framework and relevant to the city of Portsmouth are 

the impacts of climate change, which includes considerable areas of the city 
being increasingly vulnerable to damage by flooding from the sea. There are 

                                                            
2 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 June 2001 on the assessment of 
the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment 

Page 199



6 
 

also the effects of coastal change as sea levels rise and habitats are lost, 
affecting protected environments and the species that depend on them. 
 

1.9. Water is also an important issue, from flooding as the water table rises to 
contamination by leachate from existing areas of the city or poorly constructed 
landfill from many decades ago. These can also pollute watercourses and the 
marine environment.  All this means water quality and water supply are 
increasingly threatened as the area grows. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 
1.10. The SEA Directive is a European Union requirement that seeks to provide high 

level protection of the environment by integrating environmental considerations 
into the process of preparing certain plans and programmes.  
 

1.11. In the case of SPDs, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is unlikely to be required where a 
SPD deals only with a small area at a local level, unless it is considered that 
there are likely to be significant environmental effects.  This is also stated in the 
SEA Regulations3. 

 
1.12. The PPG also states that SPDs do not require a Sustainability Appraisal (SA).  

However, the Council has considered it prudent to undertake the SA process in 
the preparation and production of the revised SM SPD in order to fully appraise 
all relevant sustainability issues.  This is consistent with the approach taken 
with the adopted SM SPD from 2013. 

 
1.13. However, it is worth noting that the current adopted Portsmouth Local Plan and 

any future revision(s) also include the seafront area in the strategic and spatial 
plan-making process, which has been and will be subject to the SA process 
and assessment. 
 

1.14. The SEA will be integrated with the SA at each stage of production. It is an 
opportunity to consider ways in which the SM SPD can contribute to 
improvements in the environmental, social and economic conditions of the area 
and the wider city. 

 
1.15. This approach satisfies the provision of the SEA Regulations which requires 

assessment of plans which are likely to have significant impacts on the 
environment. It also allows the Council to identify and mitigate against any 
adverse effects the SM SPD might have. 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment 

 
1.16. An Equalities Impact Assessment will also be undertaken to appraise the SM 

SPD in terms of its impact on equality, diversity, and inclusivity. This process is 

                                                            
3 Regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations (2004) 

Page 200



7 
 

related to the Council’s duties under the Equalities Act 2010 and the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. 
 
Health Impact Assessment 
 

1.17. A Health Impact Assessment is not a statutory requirement but is generally 
recognised as good practice, to promote health gains for the local population, 
reduce health inequalities and ensure new policies do not actively damage 
health. This follows on from the Health and Social Care Act of 2012. 
 
The stages of a Sustainability Appraisal 
 

1.18. There are five key steps in production of a Sustainability Appraisal (see below 
table and Figure 1 on the following page). This SA report is the third step 
(Stage C) which presents the framework for the Sustainability Appraisal and the 
evidence base to inform it, and the assessment of policies and proposals of the 
revised SM SPD. 
 

 
  

Stage A Identifying other relevant plans and programmes 
Collection of baseline data 
Identification of sustainability issues and problems 
Development of the Sustainability Framework 
Consulting externally on the scope of the SA 

Stage B Appraise the Seafront Masterplan SPD 
Stage C Prepare the final Sustainability Appraisal Report 
Stage D Consult on the final SA report 

Appraise any significant changes to the Seafront Masterplan SPD 
(if any) following consultation 

Stage E Post-adoption implementation and monitoring 

Page 201



8 
 

Figure 1 - The SA Process (based on the Planning Advisory Service diagram) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Develop an 
evidence 
base to 

inform the 
plan 

Develop a 
framework for the 

SA and an 
evidence base to 
inform it. Produce 
a Scoping Report 

Consider 
options for 

the plan and 
prepare a 

draft 

Finalise the 
Draft Plan 

Consult on the 
Draft Plan 

Submit the 
Final Plan for 
Examination 

Adopt the Plan 
& monitor 

implementation 

Stage A 
Identifying other relevant policies, plans, 
programmes & sustainability objectives 

Collecting baseline information 

Identifying sustainability issues and problems 

Developing the SA Framework 

Consulting on the scope of the SA 

Appraise the Plan 
options and the 

Preferred Option 

Stage B 
Testing the Plan objectives against the SA 
Framework 

Developing the Plan options 

Predicting the effects of the Draft Plan 

Evaluating the effects of the Draft Plan 

Considering ways of mitigating adverse effects 
and maximising beneficial effects, and; 

Proposing measures to monitor the significant 
effects of implementing the Plan 

Stage C 
Preparing the final SA Report 

Prepare the SA 
Report 

documenting the 
appraisal process 

and: 

Consult on the SA 
Report 

Appraise any 
significant changes 

to the Plan 
following 

consultation 

Stage D 
Consulting on the preferred Options/policies and 
SA Report, including; 

Public participation on the SA Report and the 
preferred options/policies 

Assessing significant changes, making 
decisions and providing information 

Stage E 
Monitoring implementation of the Plan, including 
finalising the aims and methods for monitoring 
and responding to adverse effects 

Plan Making SA Process 

Page 202



9 
 

What the Sustainability Appraisal will encompass 
 
1.19. The revised Seafront Masterplan SPD boundary predominantly covers the 

southern coastal frontage of Portsea Island, from Old Portsmouth to Eastney, 
and goes inland as far as Western Parade/Clarence Parade and South 
Parade/Eastern Parade, with the boundary extending north around the former 
Eastney Barracks and incorporating Fort Cumberland and the Ferry Road area. 

 
 

1.20. The SM SPD will contain a framework for the development and conservation of 
land, and identify opportunities for new development or the redevelopment of 
existing buildings, together with a strategy to improve and enhance the historic 
and natural environment, public spaces, active travel provision, public transport, 
visitor economy, and health and wellbeing. 
 
Seafront Masterplan SPD Review - Project Timescales 
 

1.21. The below timetable presents the project timescales for the SM SPD review, 
including previously completed stages and estimated timescales for future 
stages. 

 
Stage 1 - Initiation 
 

Initial analysis of issues Apr - Jun 2018 
Public consultation Jul - Aug 2018 

Stage 2 - Options Identifying options Sep 18 - Jan 2019 
Public consultation Feb - Mar 2019 

Stage 3 - Draft Production of draft SM SPD Mar 19 - Jul 2020 
Public consultation Est. Aug - Sep 2020 

Stage 4 - Final Making modifications and 
production of final publication for 
adoption 

Est. Sep - Oct 2020 

Stage 5 - Adoption Final publication adopted Est. Oct/Nov 2020 
 

 

Figure 2 - revised SM SPD boundary 

Page 203



10 
 

2. General introduction and context to Portsmouth and the seafront 
 

2.1. Portsmouth (along with Southampton) are the two key cities in the polycentric 
area of urban south Hampshire, running along the south coast. Strategic 
planning and levels of growth are agreed by the Partnership for South 
Hampshire (PfSH), a partnership of local authorities in the Hampshire sub-
region. 
 

2.2. Portsmouth itself is the only island city in the UK, and Portsea Island itself is 
mainly flat and low lying. It began life as a small town around 1180, and grew in 
importance as a port. In 1494 Henry VII strengthened the town's fortifications 
and built a dockyard in 1495 where royal warships could be built or repaired. In 
1663 a new wharf was built for the exclusive use of the navy. At the end of the 
17th century the town began to expand to house dockyard workers and sailors' 
families. 

 
2.3. By 1871 the population of Portsmouth had grown to 100,000, and as it 

continued growing the surrounding villages were swallowed up. Today the 
island part of Portsmouth is the most densely populated area outside of 
London, with people living and working on 40 square kilometres of land.  

 
2.4. The city's population at the 2011 census was approximately 205,100 people, an 

increase of 9.9% compared to the 2001 census. Current Nomis4 projections for 
2019 put the population at 216,812, of which 110,533 are male and 106,279 
are female.  

 
2.5. The surrounding county of Hampshire is the third most populous county in 

England and is home to one in seven of people in the South East region 
(excluding London). The population of the PfSH sub-region in 2014 was 
1,217,500 and 17.2% of this population live in Portsmouth. 

 
2.6. Approximately 87.8% of the Portsmouth population at the 2011 Census were 

born in the UK, a reduction from 92.5% in 2001. The next biggest region of 
origin is Europe at 4.8%; then Middle East & Asia at 4.5%; Africa at 2.0%; the 
Americas and Caribbean at 0.6%; and Oceania at 0.2%. 

 
2.7. 52.2% of the population stated they are Christian (a large drop since 2001 

when it was 68.1%). The next largest group is Muslim at 3.5%; then Buddhist 
and Hindu at 0.6%; Sikh at 0.2%; Jewish at 0.1%; Other at 0.5%; and No 
Religion at 35% and Not Stated at 7.3% respectively. 

 
2.8. Portsmouth International Port opened in 1976 and is one of Britain's most 

successful municipal port. It is owned by the City Council which is also the 
Competent Harbour Authority for the whole of Portsmouth Harbour and the 
approaches (excluding the Ministry of Defence facilities).  

 

                                                            
4 A statistics database service provided by the Office for National Statistics 

Page 204



11 
 

2.9. Over 58% of total employment in the UK is concentrated in cities and 72% of 
knowledge-intensive employment. Portsmouth City is a key employer in the 
sub-region providing c. 101,900 jobs, with marine manufacturing related to 
defence, other marine and aerospace and information and communications 
technology.  

 
2.10. Portsmouth Naval Base is the home of the Royal Navy and has almost two-

thirds of the Royal Navy's surface ships based there. It is home to two new 
aircraft carriers.  

 
2.11. The University of Portsmouth is ranked 25th of the UK's universities in the 

Guardian University Guide 2019 and 51st in the Times Higher Education World 
University Rankings 2019. They have around 24,000 students, 4,000 of whom 
are international students from over 150 different countries. 

 
2.12. Gunwharf Quays retail and leisure outlet is a popular draw from outside the city, 

and is the location for the iconic Spinnaker Tower, the defining image of the 
new Portsmouth while looking back to its maritime history.  

 
2.13. The nearby Historic Dockyard attracts visitors from across the region and 

beyond with a variety of attractions including HMS Victory, which was Nelson's 
flagship at the Battle of Trafalgar in 1805.  

 
2.14. In the south of the city is Southsea with its shingle beach and a promenade 

overlooking the sea and the Isle of Wight. The wide open space of Southsea 
Common is a popular area and Southsea itself was first recorded as a place 
name in a royal plan in 1577. Local houses were built for the skilled workers to 
serve the castle and the street names still reflect those trades such as Stone 
Street, Copper Street, Flint Street and Silver Street as well as Castle Road. 
Henry VIII attended the castle in 1545 and witnessed the sinking of the warship 
Mary Rose in the Solent. 

 
2.15. In the Victorian age with the advent of the railways Southsea developed as a 

seaside resort. The area is still a popular tourist destination with two piers, 
amusement arcades, the D-Day Museum, the Royal Marines Museum plus a 
number of traditional seaside facilities and cafes. 

 
2.16. Portsmouth has a rich natural environment with internationally protected 

harbours and other nationally and locally protected sites: 4 Special Protection 
Areas; 4 Special Areas of Conservation; 3 Ramsar sites; and 3 Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest.  There are also 28 identified Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation within the city's administrative boundaries. 

 
2.17. There are also a number of sites within Portsmouth that provide alternative 

roosting and foraging locations for SPA species, especially Solent Waders and 
Brent Geese.  The interim Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy (SWBGS) 
by the SWBGS Steering Group sets out a hierarchy of non-designated sites 
classified by their importance to maintaining the overall ecological network for 

Page 205

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mary_Rose
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Solent


12 
 

these species in the region, and aims to ensure that the current geographical 
spread of sites across the network is maintained and enhanced. 

 
2.18. Additionally, with its extensive maritime heritage, the city boasts 18 Scheduled 

Ancient Monuments, 445 entries in the statutory list of buildings of architectural 
or historic interest, 25 Conservation Areas and 3 areas listed in the Register of 
Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest in England. In addition there is a 
growing Local List identifying buildings of local interest. 

  

Page 206



13 
 

PART 1 
 
Review of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies and 
Initiatives (PPPSIs), and Baseline Data 
 
A review of all the documents that affect the parameters of the SM SPD has been 
carried out. A summary is available in Appendix 1. 
 
The key areas covered in Appendix 1 are: 
 

• International and European Union Legislation 
 

• UK Legislation, Government guidance and strategies as well as best practice 
on a number of topic areas 

 
• Regional Guidance, strategies and research as well as the Partnership for 

Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) 
 

• County Council strategies and research 
 

• Portsmouth City and other local strategies and research 
 
Collection of baseline data 
 
Baseline data gives a context for assessing all the matters covered by a 
Sustainability Appraisal. It covers a broad range of issues, including important ones 
related to health and equalities. 
 
Baseline information needs to cover national as well as local data for purposes of 
comparison, and give a picture of the underlying state of Portsmouth. 
 
A summary table of collected baseline data is available in Appendix 2. 
 
Limitations 
 
It is required that the SA fully assesses 'the likely current and future state of the 
environment'.  However, the collection of baseline data, in some circumstances, 
highlights that there are data gaps (e.g. most recent available data source is not 
current and out-of-date).  Nevertheless, should more recent and up-to-date become 
available then the baseline data should be updated as appropriate. 
 
Monitoring  
 
The SA process is an iterative process, so its success and effectiveness will be 
monitored by the collection of baseline data according to the identified indicators. 
Indicators may change or require a new focus throughout the assessment stage. It 
may be necessary to adjust indicators to reflect this. 
  

Page 207



14 
 

PART 2 
 
The Key Sustainability Issues 
 

2.19. This Report sets out the topic areas the Sustainability Appraisal will cover.  This 
is informed and guided by the statutory requirements contained in Schedule 2 
of the SEA Regulations to have due consideration on issues such as: 
biodiversity; population; human health; fauna; flora; soil; water; air; climatic 
factors; material assets; cultural heritage (including architectural and 
archaeological heritage); and landscape, as well as the inter-relationship 
between these issues. 

 
2.20. The Council previously produced a Sustainability Appraisal report for the SM 

SPD adopted in April 2013, which used the below sustainability topic areas as 
the basis for appraisal: 

 
i. Natural resources & climate change; 
ii. Flood risk; 
iii. Biodiversity; 
iv. Landscape & townscape quality; 
v. Heritage; 
vi. Homes for everyone; 
vii. Education, employment & economy; 
viii. Health & wellbeing; 
ix. Culture, leisure & recreation; and 
x. Social inclusion & quality of life. 

 
2.21. The above previous sustainability themes have been revisited and it is 

considered appropriate that the list be updated to the below in order to capture 
all relevant sustainability topic areas which the SM SPD may have implications 
upon: 
 

 Sustainability Topic Area Key Sustainability Objectives of Topic Area 
A Travel and transport • To promote a transport system that provides 

choice, minimises environmental harm by reducing 
road congestion and traffic pollution, and promotes 
the use of public transport and active forms of 
transport 

B Water (resources and 
quality) 

• Reduce total water consumption and maximise 
efficient use 

• To safeguard the health and productivity of sea 
water by minimising the risk of water pollution 

• To promote flood resilient buildings and 
infrastructure 

C Energy • Minimise total energy consumption and support 
the use of renewable energy rather than fossil 
fuel/non-renewable sources 

Page 208



15 
 

D Noise and vibration • Minimise disturbance and annoyance to people 
and wildlife and stresses to historic assets caused 
by uncontrolled noise and vibration 

E Air quality • Minimise greenhouse gases and other pollutants 
F Waste and resource 

management (soil, 
contaminated land, & 
waste) 

• Reduce waste production and promote reuse, 
recycling and recovery 

• Minimise risk to human health and the 
environment from contaminated land 

• To protect ground stability and features of 
geological importance 

• To minimise soil loss and enhance soil quality 
G Sustainable construction 

and buildings 
• Ensure that development provides optimum 

economic, environmental, and social benefits, 
whilst integrating sustainable construction 
principles 

H Biodiversity and nature 
conservation 

• Seek to protect habitats and species and promote 
opportunities to enhance and conserve wildlife 

I Historic environment and 
cultural heritage 

• To protect, conserve, and, where possible, 
enhance the historic environment in recognition 
that it is an integral part of the city's cultural 
heritage 

J Landscape and 
townscape 

• To protect, and where possible, enhance the 
character of landscapes and townscapes, 
particularly areas of historic and cultural interest 

K Human population, 
safety, and health and 
wellbeing 

• Maximise opportunities to promote healthy, safe 
and secure environments in which to live, play, 
and work, regardless of ethnicity, race, gender, 
age, or disabilities, and other equality factors 

L Communities, amenities, 
and social value 

• To support the welfare, cultural, recreational, and 
infrastructure needs of communities 

• Provide opportunities for partnership-working and 
public involvement 

M Climate change 
resilience 

• Improve resilience to current and future climate 
change by avoiding, reducing, and managing 
existing and future vulnerabilities and climatic risks 
affecting or arising from existing and new 
development 

• Integrating climate change resilience within other 
management areas, e.g. water resources, coastal 
defences, waste. 

N Economy, employment, 
and material assets 

• Help maintain and encourage a strong, diverse, 
and stable economy of the seafront and wider city 

 

Page 209



16 
 

PART 3 
 
The SA Framework 
 
The framework consists of the SA topics and objectives with the assessment criteria which will provide the methodology to check 
whether a particular strategy or proposal achieves the social, economic, and environmental aims of sustainability, and whether it is 
the most suitable and appropriate strategy or proposal for the SM SPD to include. 
 
 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 

"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

A Travel and Transport 
 
• To promote a transport system that 

provides choice, minimises 
environmental harm by reducing 
road congestion and traffic 
pollution, and promotes the use of 
public transport and active forms of 
transport 

1. Minimise and discourage the need to 
travel by private car/vehicle? 

 
2. Encourage walking and cycling to 

create a healthier city? 
 

3. Encourage use of public transport? 
 

4. Improve air quality? 
 

• % of journeys to the Seafront area 
by public transport, walking, and 
cycling 
 

• % of journeys to the Seafront area 
by private vehicles 
 

• No. of bus routes serving the 
Seafront area 
 

• % reduction in pollutants and carbon 
emissions 

B Water (resources and quality) 
 
• Reduce total water consumption 

and maximise efficient use 
• To safeguard the health and 

productivity of sea water by 
minimising the risk of water 
pollution 

1. Maintain or improve water quality? 
 

2. Include surface water drainage 
management and/or water 
consumption and efficiency measures? 
 

3. Avoid, where possible, or reduce the 
risk of flooding to manage and mitigate 

• Compliance with Water Framework 
Directive monitoring requirements 
 

• No. of surface water flooding issues 
 

• No. of dwellings and buildings at risk 
from flooding 

P
age 210



17 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

• To promote flood resilient buildings 
and infrastructure 

flood risk? 

C Energy 
 
• Minimise total energy consumption 

and support the use of renewable 
energy rather than fossil fuel/non-
renewable sources 

1. Reduce the reliance on, and the 
consumption of, finite fossil fuels for 
energy? 

 
2. An increased proportion of energy 

needs being met from renewable 
resources? 

 

• % reduction in pollutants and carbon 
emissions 
 

• No. of developments that 
include/integrate renewable energy 
generation solutions 

D Noise and vibration 
 
• Minimise disturbance and 

annoyance to people and wildlife 
and stresses to historic assets 
caused by uncontrolled noise and 
vibration 

1. Minimise disturbance and annoyance 
to people cause by uncontrolled noise 
and vibration? 
 

2. Minimise disturbance to wildlife, 
especially protected species, caused 
by uncontrolled noise and vibration? 
 

3. Minimise stresses to historic assets 
caused by uncontrolled noise and 
vibration? 
 

 

• No. of incidents/reports of 
disturbance and annoyance due to 
uncontrolled noise and vibration 
sources 
 

• No. of incidents/reports of damage 
to historic assets due to 
uncontrolled noise and vibration 
sources 

E Air Quality 
 
• Minimise greenhouse gases and 

other pollutants 

1. Improve air quality? 
 

2. Minimise greenhouse gases, carbon 
emissions, and other pollutants? 

 

• No. of days where air pollution is 
moderate or high 
 

• No. of air pollution incidents 

P
age 211



18 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

F Waste and resource management 
(soil, contaminated land, & waste) 
 
• Reduce waste production and 

promote reuse, recycling and 
recovery 

• Minimise risk to human health and 
the environment from 
contaminated land 

• To protect ground stability and 
features of geological importance 

• To minimise soil loss and enhance 
soil quality 
 

1. Avoid or minimise waste and increase 
the re-use, recycling, or recovery of 
waste? 
 

2. Contribute to the reduction of minerals 
extraction and increase the reuse/ 
recycling of aggregate resources? 
 

3. Minimise the risk to human health and 
the environment from contaminated 
land? 
 

4. Minimise soil loss and, where possible, 
enhance soil quality? 

 

• No. of general and recycle waste 
bins in Seafront area 
 

• % of recycled material being 
disposed in recycle waste bins in 
Seafront area 
 

• No. of developments achieving 
BREEAM Very Good or higher 
 

• No. of incidents arising from 
contaminated land issues 

G Sustainable construction and 
buildings 
 
• Ensure that development provides 

optimum economic, 
environmental, and social benefits, 
whilst integrating sustainable 
construction principles  

 

1. Ensure the highest sustainable design 
standards are met and sustainable 
construction principles are integrated? 

 
2. Create economic opportunities to 

increase the learning, training, and 
skills of the city's population? 

• No. of developments achieving 
BREEAM Very Good or higher 
 

• No. of residential developments 
achieving at least Level 3 of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes 
 

• No. of training or apprenticeship 
programs or schemes created 
through development 

 
H Biodiversity and nature 

conservation 
 

1. Maintain and/or improve the condition 
and integrity of internationally, 
nationally, and locally designated 

• Integrity and condition of European 
sites, SSSIs, SINCs, and locally 
designated sites should not worsen 

P
age 212



19 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

• Seek to protect habitats and 
species and promote opportunities 
to enhance and conserve wildlife 

nature conservation and habitat sites? 
 

2. Safeguard and enhance the role of 
non-designated sites in supporting 
wildlife and habitats? 
 

3. Minimise impacts on and provide net 
gains for biodiversity? 
 

4. Provide for increased understanding, 
appreciation, and enjoyment of the 
natural environment? 

 
I Historic environment and cultural 

heritage 
 
• To protect, conserve, and, where 

possible, enhance the historic 
environment in recognition that it is 
an integral part of the city's cultural 
heritage 

1. Conserve or enhance the significance 
of conservation areas? 
 

2. Conserve or enhance the significance 
of listed buildings/structures, 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments, and 
registered parks and gardens? 
 

3. Conserve or enhance the significance 
of sites of potential archaeological 
importance? 
 

4. Conserve or enhance historic 
character and key views? 
 

5. Provide for increased understanding, 

• No. of Conservation Areas (this 
should not decrease) 
 

• No. of heritage assets on the 
Heritage at Risk register (this should 
not increase and ideally decrease) 

P
age 213



20 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

appreciation, and enjoyment of the 
historic environment? 

J Landscape and townscape 
 
• To protect, and where possible, 

enhance the character of 
landscapes and townscapes, 
particularly areas of historic and 
cultural interest 

1. Protect, and where possible, enhance 
the positive design and aesthetic 
qualities of the seafront's built 
environment? 
 

2. Protect, and where possible, enhance 
the positive characteristics of the 
seafront's landscape? 
 

3. Foster positive perceptions of the 
seafront and wider city through high-
quality design? 

• No. of planning applications granted 
where design is considered to 
enhance positively to the wider 
environment 
 

• No. of planning applications refused 
on design grounds relating to, for 
example, impact on streetscene 
and/or impact on assets of 
architectural significance 

K Human population, safety, and 
health and wellbeing 
 
• Maximise opportunities to promote 

healthy, safe and secure 
environments in which to live, play, 
and work, regardless of ethnicity, 
race, gender, age, or disabilities, 
and other equality factors 
 

1. Improve the health and wellbeing of 
the city's population and users of the 
seafront? 
 

2. Ensure that all users are treated fairly 
and equally, regardless of ethnicity, 
race, gender, age, or disabilities, and 
other equality factors? 
 

3. Reduce the fear of crime and levels of 
crime? 

 

• Levels of obesity in all age groups 
should decrease 
 

• No. of incidents reported relating to 
equality 
 

• Fear of crime should decrease and 
no. of crime incidents should 
decrease 

L Communities, amenities, and 
social value 
 

1. Benefit deprived communities within 
the city? 
 

• Surveys/data relating to attendees 
attending or engaging in cultural, 
leisure, and recreation activities and 

P
age 214



21 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

• To support the welfare, cultural, 
recreational, and infrastructure 
needs of communities 

• Provide opportunities for 
partnership-working and public 
involvement 
 

2. Improve access to culture, leisure, 
recreation, and social infrastructure for 
communities? 
 

3. Promote and improve partnerships and 
relations between the council and 
stakeholders? 

 

events held within the Seafront area 
(to capture socio-demographic 
statistics) 
 

• No. of proposals backed or jointly-
ventured by the council with 
stakeholders 

M Climate change resilience 
 
• Improve resilience to current and 

future climate change by avoiding, 
reducing, and managing existing 
and future vulnerabilities and 
climatic risks affecting or arising 
from existing and new 
development 

• Integrating climate change 
resilience within other 
management areas, e.g. water 
resources, coastal defences, 
waste. 
 

1. Improve resilience to current and 
future climate change impacts? 
 

2. Integrate climate change resilience 
within resource management, e.g. 
water, waste, minerals? 
 

3. Avoid, where possible, or reduce the 
risk of flooding to manage and mitigate 
flood risk? 

• No. of dwellings and buildings at risk 
of flooding (this should not increase) 
 

• No. of incidents relating to damage 
of property and material assets from 
flooding/bad weather events should 
be low and not increase 

P
age 215



22 
 

 SA Topic/Objectives Assessment Criteria: 
"What contribution does the strategy or 
proposal make to…" 

Potential Indicators 

N Economy, employment, and 
material assets 
 
• Help maintain and encourage a 

strong, diverse, and stable 
economy of the seafront and wider 
city 

1. Maintain and encourage a strong, 
diverse, and stable economy of the 
seafront and wider city? 
 

2. Grow the cultural, visitor, and tourism 
sector? 
 

3. Support existing and new businesses 
to establish and thrive? 

 

• Overall position / rank of Portsmouth 
in the UK Competitive Index should 
be maintained and ideally increase 
 

• No. of visitors annually 
 

• Figures of vacant floorspace should 
be low 

 

P
age 216



23 
 

PART 4 

Sustainability Appraisal 
The table below sets out the SA process conducted in this report. 

 Sustainability Appraisal steps 
A Likely evolution without the revised SM SPD 
B Developing the SM SPD proposals and policies (including reasonable alternatives) 

i Testing the SM SPD objectives against the SA Framework 
ii Predicting and evaluating the effects of the SM SPD 

C Appropriate Assessment 
i Considering ways of mitigating adverse effects and maximising beneficial effects 
Ii Proposing measures to monitor the significant effects of implementing the Plan 

 
The SA Framework will be used to assess the vision and objectives, and proposals 
or policies of the SM SPD for their compatibility with the SA objectives. 

SA objectives are a recognised way in which the likely environmental, economic and 
social effects of the SM SPD can be described, analysed and compared in the SA 
process. SA objectives are distinct from the SM SPD objectives, although there can 
be considerable overlap between the two. The SA objectives take account of 
relevant international and national policy, the key sustainability issues facing the 
seafront area, and the environmental effects which the SEA Directive requires 
consideration of (biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, 
water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural 
and archaeological heritage, landscape, and the interrelationships between them). 
 
Scoring Methodology 
 
To undertake the assessment, a criteria-based scoring method will be used to 
determine the likely effects of a proposal or policy against each SA objective.  The 
scoring criteria is set out in Appendix 3. 
 

 
 
The scoring ranges from 'significant positive impact' to 'significant negative impact'.  
Where there is an 'uncertain' effect, this means that there is not enough information 
to make a judgement, or implementation requirements will remain unclear until 
development stage.  This does not mean that there will be any absence of impacts, 

Page 217



24 
 

rather impacts are anticipated but, without any detailed information, it is entirely 
uncertain whether impacts would be positive or negative. 

Where there is 'no effect' attributed to a proposal or policy, this means that the 
proposal or policy has no direct relationship with the specific SA objective or that 
there is anticipated to be no or negligible impact on the SA objective. 

When attributing a score to a proposal or policy to best represent its sustainability 
credentials and to assess its likely impact, the 'precautionary principle'5 will be used.  
This adopts a 'worst-case scenario' approach.  Practically, this involves attributing to 
a proposal or policy an overall negative score within an individual SA objective if at 
least one criterion within the SA objective is scored negatively, even if it has scored 
positively in another criterion within the same SA objective.  Equally, if at least one 
criterion within the SA objective is scored 'Uncertain' then the overall score will 
remain 'Uncertain' and then further discussed, unless it also has a negative score in 
which case the overall negative score applies. 

Similarly, the 'precautionary principle' is applied to positive scores, so that in the 
scenario where a proposal or policy scores both 'positive' and 'significant positive' 
within a specific SA objective then an overall 'positive impact' will be scored. 

Limitations of predicting effects 

SA is a tool for predicting potential likely significant effects and operates at a 
strategic level.  Predicting effects relies on an evidence-based approach and 
incorporates professional judgement. It is often not possible to state with absolute 
certainty whether effects will occur, as many impacts are influenced by a range of 
factors such as the specific design of a proposal and the design and success of 
mitigation measures. 

The assessments in this report are based on the best available information, including 
that available to the Council and information that is publicly available. The 
assessment of reasonable alternatives is somewhat limited in terms of available data 
resources.  For example, up to date ecological surveys and/or landscape and visual 
impact assessments have not been undertaken, which are resource-heavy 
undertakings that are not entirely practical for a geographically large area.  Every 
attempt has, however, been made to predict effects as accurately as possible. 

 

 

                                                            
5 The European Commission describes the precautionary principle as follows: “If a preliminary scientific 
evaluation shows that there are reasonable grounds for concern that a particular activity might lead to 
damaging effects on the environment, or on human, animal or plant health, which would be inconsistent with 
protection normally afforded to these within the European Community, the Precautionary Principle is 
triggered.” 

Page 218



25 
 

A. Likely evolution without the revised SM SPD 

The SEA Regulations6 requires information on ‘… the relevant aspects of the current 
state of the environment and the likely evolution thereof without implementation of 
the plan or programme’ and ‘any existing environmental problems which are relevant 
to the plan….’  Therefore, to satisfy the SEA Regulations, this section of the report 
considers the likely evolution of the seafront area in the absence of the revised SM 
SPD. 

In the absence of the revised SM SPD, planning and development of the seafront 
area would be guided by the current adopted Local Plan and 'Seafront Masterplan 
SPD (2013)'7.  It is considered that any future development would need to be in 
accordance to the strategy, proposals, and guidance contained in these documents.  
Therefore, in assessing the likely evolution of the seafront area in this scenario, 
reference should be made to the SA produced for the 2013 version of the SM SPD 
(included in Appendix 4). 

B. Developing the SM SPD proposals and policies (including reasonable 
alternatives) 

In developing the proposals and policies for the SM SPD, consideration has been 
made to reasonable alternatives, which are "the different realistic options considered 
by the plan-maker in developing the policies in its plan."8  The SEA Directive 
requires that reasonable alternatives are identified, described, and evaluated for their 
likely impacts.  Additionally, the SEA Regulations require an "outline of the reasons 
for selecting the alternatives dealt with". 

The following are considered to be reasonable alternative options for the SM SPD: 

Option A Do nothing - with current adopted SM SPD 2013 in place 
Option B Do nothing - with revocation of current adopted SM SPD 2013 
Option C Implementation of 'Options Consultation' proposals and guidance 
Option D Implementation of Draft SM SPD 
 
Option A: Do nothing - with current adopted SM SPD 2013 in place 

As stated previously, in this scenario any future development would need to be in 
accordance to the strategy, proposals, and guidance contained in the current 
adopted SM SPD 2013.  Therefore, in assessing the likely evolution of the seafront 
area in this scenario, reference should be made to the SA produced for the 2013 
version of the SM SPD (included in Appendix 4). 

                                                            
6 Regulation 12(3) and Schedule 2 of the 'Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004' 
7 'The Portsmouth Plan' (adopted January 2012) and the 'Seafront Masterplan SPD' (adopted April 2013), both 
produced by Portsmouth City Council 
8 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 11-018-20140306 

Page 219



26 
 

Option B: Do nothing - with revocation of current adopted SM SPD 2013 

In this scenario, planning policy would default to Local Plan Policy PCS9 (The 
Seafront), and development proposals would need to accord with this policy, as well 
as the Local Plan as a whole.  Therefore, in assessing the likely evolution of the 
seafront area in this scenario, reference should be made to the SA conducted on 
Policy PCS9 (extract included in Appendix 5). 

Option C: Implementation of 'Options Consultation' proposals and guidance 

An interim stage document was produced in February 2019, which identified both 
challenges and opportunities for the seafront, and sought to identify overarching 
strategies and key project opportunities. 

The strategies and key project opportunities from the interim stage document have 
been scored against the SA Framework, and the results tables are included in 
Appendix 6. 

It should be noted that these strategies and key project opportunities were 
formulated at an interim stage of the overall SM SPD review project, whereby it was 
considered at that particular point in time pertinent to consult and gather the views 
and opinions of various internal and external stakeholders.  Therefore, whilst the 
scoring result demonstrates that some strategies and key project opportunities are 
considered to have negative impacts, the overall aim of the interim stage 
consultation was to 'acid test' a broad range of ideas and options against a wider 
agenda extending outside of the SA process. 

Nevertheless, in deciding in which options should be taken forward, the results of the 
SA scoring for this option have been taken into account together with external factors 
(e.g. corporate-level decisions; feasibility; etc.) which have informed these particular 
decisions that then have fed into the draft version of the SM SPD. 

Option D: Implementation of revised SM SPD 

A revised version of the SM SPD has been produced which has taken into account 
the feedback received on the 'Options' consultation, internal stakeholder meetings, 
and further work conducted by PCC Officers.  This version of the SM SPD is 
intended to be the document for adoption by the Council. 

This section of the report considers the sustainability credentials of the final draft SM 
SPD through the following steps: 

i. Testing the SM SPD vision and objectives against the SA Framework 
ii. Predicting and evaluating the effects of the SM SPD 
iii. Considering the ways of mitigating adverse effects and maximising beneficial 

effects 
iv. Proposing measures to monitor the effects of implementing the SM SPD 

Page 220



27 
 

 
i. Testing the SM SPD vision and objectives against the SA Framework 

The vision for the SM SPD should complement the vision of Portsmouth's local plan, 
but be specific to the seafront area.  The vision in the local plan is “To make 
Portsmouth the premier waterfront city, with an unrivalled maritime heritage – a great 
place to live, work and visit.”  The SM SPD vision and objectives are informed by 
local and national planning policy, community and stakeholder engagement, and 
officer analysis & recommendations.  The objectives of the SM SPD are more 
specific than the vision since the objectives help the vision to be realised. 
 
The table below contains the vision and objectives of the SM SPD: 
 

Vision 
"The seafront's natural and historic assets will be protected, conserved, and 
enhanced. The seafront will be a beautiful, functional, sustainable, and resilient 
place that is healthy, safe, enjoyable,  and accessible to all" 

Objectives   

1 Protect and enhance the seafront's natural assets and achieve a net gain in 
biodiversity 

2 Conserve and enhance the seafront's heritage assets 

3 Ensure that new development at the seafront is of excellent design and enhances 
the seafront overall 

4 Ensure that new development is functional and compatible with the overall 
functionality of the seafront  

5 Ensure that new development is sustainable, mitigates climate change and is 
resilient to the effects of climate change 

6 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to improve people's 
health, wellbeing, and safety 

7 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to improve people's 
enjoyment of the seafront 

8 Ensure that new development maximises opportunities to improve accessibility to 
all 

9 Ensure that new development promotes active and sustainable travel 

10 Ensure that new development, including alterations to roads, seek to minimise 
space allocated to motor vehicles, in order to better accommodate other users 

 

The table below presents the scoring outcome of the SM SPD vision and objectives 
against the SA Framework, in accordance to the scoring methodology outlined 
previously.  Since the SM SPD objectives help the vision to be realised, the overall 
score of the SM SPD objectives are taken into account for the scoring of the vision. 

Page 221



28 
 

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review - 
Vision and Objectives 

 
Overall scoring 

SA OBJECTIVES 

Tr
av

el
 a

nd
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 

W
at

er
 (r

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 q
ua

lit
y)

 

En
er

gy
 

N
oi

se
 a

nd
 V

ib
ra

tio
n 

Ai
r q

ua
lit

y 

W
as

te
 a

nd
 re

so
ur

ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (

so
il,

 c
on

ta
m

in
at

ed
 

la
nd

, &
 w

as
te

) 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

an
d 

bu
ild

in
gs

 

Bi
od

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 n
at

ur
e 

co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

Hi
st

or
ic

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to

w
ns

ca
pe

 
Hu

m
an

 p
op

ul
at

io
n,

 sa
fe

ty
, a

nd
 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

Co
m

m
un

iti
es

, a
m

en
iti

es
, a

nd
 

so
ci

al
 v

al
ue

 

Cl
im

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie

nc
e 

Ec
on

om
y,

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
an

d 
m

at
er

ia
l a

ss
et

s 

    A B C D E F G H I J K L M N 

Vision 

The seafront's natural 
and historic assets 
will be protected, 
conserved, and 
enhanced. The 
seafront will be a 
beautiful, functional, 
sustainable, and 
resilient place that is 
healthy, safe, 
enjoyable,  and 
accessible to all 

? + + + ? + ? ? ? + ? ? ? + 

Objectives   
                            

1 

Protect and enhance 
the seafront's natural 
assets and achieve a 
net gain in 
biodiversity 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ 0 0 0 + 0 0 

2 

Conserve and 
enhance the 
seafront's heritage 
assets 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 + 0 + 

3 

Ensure that new 
development at the 
seafront is of 
excellent design and 
enhances the 
seafront overall 

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ 0 + 0 + 

4 

Ensure that new 
development is 
functional and 
compatible with the 
overall functionality 
of the seafront  

+ 0 0 0 ? 0 ? + + + + + + + 

5 

Ensure that new 
development is 
sustainable, mitigates 
climate change, and is 
resilient to the effects 
of climate change 

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + 

Page 222



29 
 

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review - 
Vision and Objectives 

 
Overall scoring 

SA OBJECTIVES 

Tr
av

el
 a

nd
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 

W
at

er
 (r

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 q
ua

lit
y)

 

En
er

gy
 

N
oi

se
 a

nd
 V

ib
ra

tio
n 

Ai
r q

ua
lit

y 

W
as

te
 a

nd
 re

so
ur

ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (

so
il,

 c
on

ta
m

in
at

ed
 

la
nd

, &
 w

as
te

) 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

an
d 

bu
ild

in
gs

 

Bi
od

iv
er

si
ty

 a
nd

 n
at

ur
e 

co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

Hi
st

or
ic

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to

w
ns

ca
pe

 
Hu

m
an

 p
op

ul
at

io
n,

 sa
fe

ty
, a

nd
 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

Co
m

m
un

iti
es

, a
m

en
iti

es
, a

nd
 

so
ci

al
 v

al
ue

 

Cl
im

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie

nc
e 

Ec
on

om
y,

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
an

d 
m

at
er

ia
l a

ss
et

s 

6 

Ensure that new 
development 
maximises 
opportunities to 
improve people's 
health, wellbeing, and 
safety 

+ 0 0 + + + 0 + + + + + + 0 

7 

Ensure that new 
development 
maximises 
opportunities to 
improve people's 
enjoyment of the 
seafront 

? 0 0 + + + 0 + + + ++ + + + 

8 

Ensure that new 
development 
maximises 
opportunities to 
improve accessibility 
to all 

? 0 0 0 ? 0 0 ? ? + ? + 0 + 

9 

Ensure that new 
development 
promotes active and 
sustainable travel 

+ 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? ? + ? 0 0 + 

10 

Ensure that new 
development, 
including alterations 
to roads, seek to 
minimise space 
allocated to motor 
vehicles, in order to 
better accommodate 
other users 

+ 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 ? ++ ? ? ? + 

 
  

Page 223



30 
 

Discussion 
 

Vision 
 

This scored positively against 6 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
The vision scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

• Travel and Transport;  
• Air quality;  
• Waste and Resource;  
• Sustainable Construction and Buildings;  
• Biodiversity and Nature Conservation;  
• Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage;  
• Human Population, Safety, and Health and Wellbeing;  
• Communities, Amenities, and Social Value; and  
• Climate Change Resilience. 

Objective 1 
 

This scored positively against 2 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to protect and enhance the seafront's natural assets 
and achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  In doing this, there is opportunity 
for improved partnerships with various stakeholders to achieve this. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 2 This scored positively against 4 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to conserve and enhance the seafront's heritage 
assets, including Fort Cumberland which is on the 'at risk' register.  This 
objective will ensure the special historic quality of the seafront is kept and 
will enhance perceptions of the seafront.  This will also create 
opportunities for improved partnerships with various stakeholders, and 
improve access to the appreciation of heritage and culture for 
communities.  Also, by ensuring heritage assets are conserved and 
enhanced, this will contribute towards bringing about more economic and 
tourism activity. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 3 This scored positively against 4 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objectives seeks to ensure that new development at the seafront is 
of excellent design and enhances the seafront overall.  This will lead to 
enhanced aesthetic and sustainability qualities of the seafront's built 
environment, which enhances overall perception.  With an enhanced 
seafront in terms of design and aesthetic, there may be various 
partnership opportunities available, for example event operators who may 
benefit from an increased attractiveness to the seafront.  An enhanced 
seafront can also contribute towards bringing about more economic and 
tourism activity. 
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

Page 224



31 
 

• Biodiversity and Nature Conservation; and 
• Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage; 

 
The successfulness of this objective against these SA objectives will be 
largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and schemes 
to ensure compatibility with various heritage and nature designations and 
assets. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 4 This scored positively against 8 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to ensure that new development is functional and 
compatible with the overall functionality of the seafront (meaning the 
various functions the seafront fulfils or contribute towards, e.g. 
biodiversity, heritage, cultural, leisure, tourism, health and wellbeing, etc.). 
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

• Air quality; and 
• Sustainable Construction and Buildings;  

 
The successfulness of this objective against these SA objectives (which 
are inter-related to some extent) will be largely dependent on the detail of 
particular developments and schemes to ensure compatibility. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 5 This scored positively against 14 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
Objective 6 This scored positively against 10 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 

 
This objective seeks to ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve people's safety and health, which includes (but 
not limited to) travel and movement, amenity, air quality, risk to exposure 
of contamination, and flood risk.  The objective also seeks to have 
positive influence towards people's health and wellbeing. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 7 This scored positively against 10 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to ensure new development maximises opportunities 
to improve people's enjoyment of the seafront. 
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objective-  

• Travel and Transport. 
 
The successfulness of this objective against this SA objective will be 
largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and schemes 
to ensure compatibility.  Since developments or schemes could lead to 
either an increase or decrease in vehicle traffic, this has unknown 

Page 225



32 
 

implications on how enjoyment of the seafront is experienced by all user-
groups. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 8 This scored positively against 3 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to ensure new development maximises opportunities 
to improve accessibility to all.  This objective seeks to have a positive 
impact to all users and social groups, engendering positive perceptions of 
the seafront.  This could lead to the area to be more attractive and 
accessible to more visitors, which contributes towards economic and 
tourism activity.  
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

• Travel and Transport;  
• Air quality;  
• Biodiversity and Nature Conservation;  
• Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage; and 
• Human Population, Safety, and Health and Wellbeing;  

 
The successfulness of this objective against these SA objectives will be 
largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and schemes 
to ensure compatibility.  Since developments or schemes could lead to 
either an increase or decrease in vehicle traffic, this has unknown 
implications on how the accessibility of the seafront is experienced by all 
user-groups, especially those with mobility impairments.  Whilst there is 
the aim to improve accessibility to the seafront overall, there is need to 
consider which specific areas of the seafront need to be controlled or 
restricted in terms of ease of access, since the various protected and/or 
designated heritage and nature assets and areas would necessitate 
different approaches and consideration.  Accessibility also needs to be 
considered in the context of ensuring people's safety and safeguarding 
from crime. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 9 This scored positively against 4 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to ensure development promotes active travel, which 
could lead to a higher proportion of travel movements coming from active 
modes of travel (i.e. walking and cycling) and public transport, instead of 
private motor vehicles.  This could lead to an improvement in local air 
quality and thus overall perceptions of the area would be improved. 
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

• Biodiversity and Nature Conservation;  
• Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage; and 
• Human Population, Safety, and Health and Wellbeing;  

Page 226



33 
 

 
The successfulness of this objective against these SA objectives will be 
largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and schemes 
to ensure compatibility.  Specific details on new/enhanced cycle routes, 
for example, and their potential impact on heritage and nature assets 
would need to be assessed at implementation stage. 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

Objective 
10 

This scored positively against 4 out of 14 of the SA objectives. 
 
This objective seeks to ensure that new development (including 
alterations to roads) seeks to minimise space allocated to motor vehicles, 
in order to better accommodate other users, which could lead to a higher 
proportion of travel movements coming from active modes of travel (i.e. 
walking and cycling) and public transport, instead of private motor 
vehicles.  This could lead to an improvement in local air quality and thus 
overall perceptions of the area would be improved. 
 
The objective scored 'Uncertain' in the following SA objectives-  

• Historic Environment and Cultural Heritage; and 
• Human Population, Safety, and Health and Wellbeing; 
• Communities, Amenities, and Social Value; and  
• Climate Change Resilience. 

 
The successfulness of this objective against these SA objectives will be 
largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and schemes 
to ensure compatibility.  Specific details on new/enhanced cycle routes, 
for example, and their potential impact on heritage and nature assets 
would need to be assessed at implementation stage. 
 
 
It is considered the other SA objectives are unaffected by the SM SPD 
objective. 

 
 
Overall, the SM SPD vision and objectives perform favourably against the SA 
objectives.  However, the successfulness of certain objectives against the SA 
objectives will be largely dependent on the detail of particular developments and 
schemes to ensure compatibility.  Nevertheless, the exercise has highlighted there 
are not likely to be any outright negative impacts. 

ii. Predicting and evaluating the effects of the SM SPD 

The draft SM SPD contains a number of strategies, guidance, and key project 
opportunities which have been formulated from the objectives to help achieve the 
vision.  These have also been informed through consultation and engagement with 
key stakeholders. 

Page 227



34 
 

The strategies, guidance, and key project opportunities of the SM SPD have been 
scored against the SA Framework, and the results tables are included in Appendix 7. 

Screening of Likely Significant Effects 

The SA has identified a number of strategies, guidance, or key projects which may 
have adverse effects, including those with mixed effects and negative effects (slight 
or significant). 

The below table presents such strategies, guidance, or key projects and summarises 
their potential impacts.  These all have been screened in for Appropriate 
Assessment. 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

Theme 5 - Public realm  

 Public Spaces - Gateway 
spaces (various) 

Historic 
environment and 
cultural heritage 

Mixed impact 

Gateway enhancement 
interventions at the identified 
locations could take various 
forms and design styles, which 
would provide public benefits in 
the form of public enjoyment and 
stimulating tourism activity.  
However, it is considered that 
the historic character of the 
seafront could be adversely 
impacted as a result of any 
intervention. 

 
Lighting - Gateway lighting at 
Eastney Esplanade/Eastney 
toilet block 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

Theme 7 - Economy and 
Attractions  

 Cluster at Old Portsmouth 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Cluster at Clarence Pier 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Cluster at Southsea Castle 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 
Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 

Page 228



35 
 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Cluster at South Parade Pier 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Cluster at Eastney swimming 
pool 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Cluster at Eastney Point 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

Theme 8 - Development 
Opportunities  

 Wightlink site 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Hovertravel terminal and 
interchange 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall and visual disturbance 
for protected species 

 Blue Reef aquarium 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 The Pyramids 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall and visual disturbance 
for protected species 

 Speakers' Corner/South 
Parade Gardens 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 

Page 229



36 
 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

increasing recreational footfall 

 Eastney Esplanade West 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Royal Marines Museum 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Southsea Leisure Park 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall 

 Fraser Range 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Fort Cumberland 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall and visual disturbance 
for protected species 

 Clarence Pier 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall and visual disturbance 
for protected species 

 St Helens Parade 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall and visual disturbance 
for protected species 

 Eastney Swimming Pool 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

Page 230



37 
 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

 Southsea Marina 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 RNLI site 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Eastney Point ferry terminal 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Fish market/public toilets 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

Area 1 - Old Portsmouth  

 Wightlink site 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 Fish market and public toilets 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

Area 2 - Clarence Pier  

 Clarence Pier 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as such as increasing 
recreational footfall or bird strike 

 Hovertravel terminal and 
interchange 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall 

Page 231



38 
 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

 Increase capacity to car parks Travel and 
transport 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to potential increase in 
vehicle traffic to the area 

Area 3 - Southsea Common  

 Blue Reef aquarium 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 The Pyramids and car park 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Speakers Corner 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

 St Helens Parade gardens 
(D-Day Stone memorial) 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 

Area 4 - St Georges Road to 
Henderson Road  

 Guidance text 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Eastney swimming pool and 
toilet block and beach 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

Area 5 - Henderson Road to 
Eastney Point  

 Guidance text 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 

Page 232



39 
 

Strategy/guidance/key project 
for which potential mixed or 
negative effects have been 
identified 

SA objective 
affected Potential impact Summary of issue 

and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Southsea Leisure Park 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall 

 Southsea Marina 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Fort Cumberland 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Slight negative 
impact 

Has potentially adverse impacts 
due to close proximity of this 
location to designated nature 
conservation and habitat sites, 
such as increasing recreational 
footfall 

 RNLI building 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Walking routes 
Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 Landscape enhancement to 
Fort Cumberland Heath 

Biodiversity and 
nature 
conservation 

Mixed impact 

Has potentially mix of positive 
and adverse impacts due to 
close proximity of this location to 
designated nature conservation 
and habitat sites, such as 
increasing recreational footfall 
and visual disturbance for 
protected species 

 

  

Page 233



40 
 

C. Appropriate Assessment - including considering the ways of mitigating 
adverse effects and maximising beneficial effects and proposing measures to 
monitor the effects of implementing the SM SPD 

Requirement for Appropriate Assessment 

The need for an assessment of impacts on European sites is set out within Article 6 
of the Habitats Directive, and transposed into UK law by the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The ultimate aim of the Habitats Directive is 
to “maintain or restore, at favourable conservation status, natural habitats and 
species of wild fauna and flora of Community interest” (Article 2(2)). This aim relates 
to habitats and species, not the European Sites themselves, although the European 
Sites have a significant role in delivering favourable conservation status. 

The Habitats Directive applies the precautionary principle1 to European Sites. 
Consent should only be granted for plans and projects once the relevant competent 
authority has ascertained that there will either be no likelihood of significant effects, 
or no adverse effect on the integrity of the European Site(s) in question. 

Where an Appropriate Assessment has been carried out and results in a negative 
impact, or if uncertainty remains over the significant effect, consent will only be 
granted if there are no alternative solutions and there are Imperative Reasons of 
Over-riding Public Interest (IROPI) for the development and compensatory measures 
have been secured. 

To ascertain whether or not site integrity will be affected, an Appropriate Assessment 
should be undertaken of the plan or project in question. 

Following evidence gathering, the first stage of any Assessment is a Likely 
Significant Effect (LSE) test - essentially a risk assessment to decide whether the full 
subsequent stage known as Appropriate Assessment is required. The essential 
question is: 

”Is the project, either alone or in combination with other relevant projects and plans, 
likely to result in a significant effect upon European sites?” 

Where it is determined that a conclusion of ‘no likely significant effect’ cannot be 
drawn, the analysis has proceeded to the next stage of HRA known as Appropriate 
Assessment. Case law has clarified that ‘appropriate assessment’ is not a technical 
term. In other words, there are no particular technical analyses, or level of technical 
analysis, that are classified by law as belonging to appropriate assessment rather 
than determination of likely significant effects. 

By virtue of the fact that it follows Screening, there is a clear implication that the 
analysis will be more detailed than undertaken at the Screening stage and one of the 
key considerations during appropriate assessment is whether there is available 
mitigation that would entirely address the potential effect. In practice, the appropriate 

Page 234



41 
 

assessment would take any policies or allocations that could not be dismissed 
following the high-level Screening analysis and analyse the potential for an effect in 
more detail, with a view to concluding whether there would actually be an adverse 
effect on integrity (in other words, disruption of the coherent structure and function of 
the European site(s)). 

A decision by the European Court of Justice9 concluded that measures intended to 
avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a proposed project on a European site may no 
longer be taken into account by competent authorities at the Likely Significant Effects 
or ‘screening’ stage of HRA. That ruling has been considered in producing this HRA. 

Also in 2018 the Holohan ruling10 was handed down by the European Court of 
Justice. Among other provisions paragraph 39 of the ruling states that ‘As regards 
other habitat types or species, which are present on the site, but for which that site 
has not been listed, and with respect to habitat types and species located outside 
that site, … typical habitats or species must be included in the appropriate 
assessment, if they are necessary to the conservation of the habitat types and 
species listed for the protected area’ 

Appropriate Assessment of LSEs 

Identified LSEs arising from the plan screened in for appropriate assessment fall 
under two SA objectives: historic environment and cultural heritage; and biodiversity 
and nature conservation.  These will be considered in turn. 

Historic environment and cultural heritage 

It has been identified that the proposed strategy in the plan to create public spaces 
at gateway spaces could have a mixed impact on the historic environment and 
cultural heritage.  The seafront area is covered by various Conservation Areas and is 
the location for numerous Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings, and 
locally-listed buildings.  The proposed strategy identifies locations for gateway 
enhancements which could adversely affect one or more of these heritage assets. 

Gateway enhancement interventions at the identified locations could take various 
forms and design styles, which would provide public benefits in the form of public 
enjoyment and stimulating tourism activity.  However, whilst the plan does not 
stipulate any detailed design or plan for this, it is considered that, in principle, the 
historic character of the seafront could be adversely impacted as a result of any 
intervention due to the change from its baseline condition.  

Whilst this would be the effect of the proposed strategy in isolation, the plan overall 
advocates for a 'heritage-centric' approach and seeks to ensure that development is 
sensitively and positively integrated with the historic environment to ensure 

                                                            
9 People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (C-323/17) 
10 Case C-461/17 

Page 235



42 
 

conservation and enhancement.  A project-level heritage assessment to accompany 
any development proposal would be a necessary requirement as part of the planning 
consent process, which would ensure that these considerations are fully taken into 
account.  It is therefore considered that, with this measure in place, there is no 
residual LSE arising from this particular strategy. 

Travel and transport 

The proposal to increase vehicle parking space capacity at Clarence Pier and 
Clarence Esplanade has the potential adverse impact of increasing the amount of 
vehicle traffic within this particular area.   

However, this also has to be considered in combination with the other proposed 
strategies within the plan which advocate for removal of parking spaces in certain 
areas, and the promotion of active and sustainable modes of transport.  Therefore, 
whilst it is considered that local adverse impact may arise, taking the plan area as a 
whole and the effective delivery and implementation of the plan, overall vehicle 
movements should reduce from the present baseline. 

Mitigation options to support this overall strategy include: providing residents and 
visitors information on public transport and active modes of travel to encourage their 
use; providing real-time parking spaces information elsewhere in the city; setting 
local parking prices at a level which discourages users to need to drive to the area. 

Biodiversity and nature conservation 

Several development proposals were found to potentially result in mixed or slight 
adverse effects on European Sites, particularly the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA / 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar, as well as the SWBG strategy areas. 

Impact pathway of increasing recreational footfall 

In terms of the impact pathway of increasing recreational footfall immediately 
adjacent to the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA, and/or Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and/or Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar; and putting at 
risk the integrity of the SWBG strategy areas, this would arise from proposals for 
development/redevelopment at the following: 

• Old Portsmouth 
o Wightlink site 
o Fish market and public toilets 

• Clarence Pier 
o Clarence Pier 
o Hovertravel terminal and interchange 

• Southsea Common 
o Blue Reef 

Page 236



43 
 

o The Pyramids and car park 
o Speakers Corner 
o St Helens Parade gardens 

• St Georges to Henderson Road 
o Eastney Swimming Pool 

• Henderson Road to Eastney Point 
o Southsea Leisure Park 
o Southsea Marina 
o Fort Cumberland 
o RNLI building 
o Walking routes 
o Fort Cumberland Heath 
o Fraser Range 
o Eastney Point ferry terminal 

Bird Aware Solent investigated the effects of recreation on Solent birdlife. Quoting 
results of this fieldwork, the HRA of a previous version of the Portsmouth Seafront 
Masterplan concluded that this section of the coast received over 3 million visits per 
year, yet brent geese were continuing to forage successfully. Of the 5 species 
investigated (brent goose, redshank, grey plover, little egret and dunlin), brent geese 
were least susceptible to disturbance when measured as major flight. 

Additional surveys were undertaken for the Solent Waders and Brent Goose 
Strategy. As for Bird Aware Solent, the results showed that a recreational presence 
does not influence how supporting habitat is used by the geese. For example, on 13 
survey occasions where disturbance events were noted, geese were also observed 
feeding. While, the response of brent geese to disturbance is variable, most active 
disturbance responses are triggered at distances of below 100m. Visitors of 
Southsea Common are free to walk anywhere on the common, which might often 
bring them within flight distances of the geese. 

Due to the by-laws on commons it is not feasible to restrict public access during the 
wintering months, but a possible mitigation measure would be to introduce a dog-on-
lead policy, which would reduce the number of disturbance events related to free-
roaming dogs. Furthermore, the recommendations from a previous HRA regarding 
recreational pressure on Eastney Beach, specifically Code of Conduct rules, dog-on-
lead policies and ecological information boards, should continue to be implemented.  

Where proposals are immediately adjacent to SPA/Ramsar sites, development 
should incorporate ecological information signs and boards to help mitigate the 
impacts of recreational pressure. Furthermore, the proposals would need to be 
accompanied by its own project-level HRA to ensure that there are no adverse 
effects on the integrity of European Sites. 

  

Page 237



44 
 

Impact pathway of increasing net residential population 

Several development proposals, namely the proposed hotel/holiday-let uses at the 
Clarence Pier, the Pyramids site, the vacant Royal Marines Museum, and Southsea 
Marina; and possible residential development of the Wightlink site, Fish Market, 
Southsea Leisure Park, and Fraser Range, would result in the net growth of the 
residential populations within 5.6km of the coastal SPAs / Ramsars, and as such 
could lead to adverse effects on site integrity through the impact pathway 
recreational pressure. In accordance with the Bird Aware Solent strategy, it is 
therefore recommended that all development (including hotels) resulting in the 
growth of the residential population within 5.6km of the Solent & Dorset Coast SPA, 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar, is to provide a financial contribution to the Bird Aware Solent project 
at the rate of between £346 and £902 (dependent on the number of bedrooms to be 
delivered) per net additional dwelling, and charges for hotel development calculated 
on a case-by-case basis.  

Further mitigation could also be imposed by placing seasonal restrictions on the 
rental of holiday-let accommodation to avoid adverse effects on waterfowl. Rental 
should therefore not be permitted between October and March to avoid recreational 
disturbance of overwintering waterfowl. 

Impact pathway of tall buildings on flight lines and sight lines 

While more detail on the construction details of individual buildings are needed, 
proposals could lead to potentially tall buildings to be delivered as part of the 
Seafront Masterplan impacting on bird flight lines and sight lines.  

While ultimately it is concluded that the provision of such buildings in most 
opportunity areas would not result in adverse effects on site and species integrity, 
guidance for the hotel / spa proposed at Clarence Pier and the Pyramids site should 
implement wording for tall building proposals to consider bird strike in the context of 
the SPA and in general.  If it is found through a project-level HRA that there would be 
an adverse impact due to a tall building being proposed, it is recommended to limit 
the height of this building to minimise its impact. 

Blue Reef redevelopment is considered not to result in adverse impacts on flightlines 
of SPA birds since other areas to the east of the site are more likely to provide 
refuge for birds. 

Impact pathway of noise and visual disturbance from construction 

All construction work is inevitably accompanied by the presence of workers, 
machinery and the noise emitted by such works, and for several proposals works 
would be undertaken close to European Sites and / or functionally linked land. It is 
generally recommended that any construction work is carried out outside the core 
season for overwintering waterfowl, avoiding the November-February period. Where 

Page 238



45 
 

this is not possible, it is recommended that major construction work is not to be 
carried out within 100m of known roost sides or feeding areas of SPA / Ramsar 
birds. If particularly sensitive species are present (e.g. redshank) it is recommended 
that a precautionary distance of 200m is used. Construction works that need to be 
carried out within these distances should ensure that appropriate screening is in 
place to minimise visual and / or noise disturbance. 

Impact pathway of atmospheric and water quality 

Atmospheric impact in the context of the Seafront Masterplan includes 
considerations around the potential for car/vehicle journeys in the area to increase 
due to overall increase in recreational and tourism visits, which in turn may lead to 
an increase in air pollution and degradation of local air quality that may also impact 
on the integrity of protected habitats, as well as human health.   

The 2011 Portsmouth Local Plan HRA undertook air quality modelling that 
considered housing, employment, and retail allocations in the authorities of 
Portsmouth, Fareham, Gosport and Havant. The modelling also accounted for 
development in the North of Fareham Strategic Development Area (SDA), the 
Whitely major development, the West of Waterlooville major development area and 
the North Hedge End SDA. 

The HRA concluded that the Core Strategy policies would not have adverse effects 
on the integrity of the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, the Solent 
and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar, the Solent Maritime SAC, and the Solent 
and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC. However, it determined that measures were 
necessary to avoid / mitigate adverse effects on the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar. 

In the Seafront Masterplan this mitigation is reflected in its vision and objectives, and 
translated through to its guidance and proposals. For example, the measure 
‘Improving walking and cycling opportunities’ is incorporated into the development 
proposal in the Avenue de Caen to Southsea Castle area. The proposal aims at 
creating an attractive environment for pedestrians to build a stronger link between 
Southsea town centre and the seafront. Furthermore, the plan promotes a modal 
shift towards active and sustainable transport within the seafront. 

The air quality modelling work undertaken for the adopted Core Strategy is being 
revised for the emerging Portsmouth Local Plan and its HRA, as this is an issue 
associated with growth across Portsmouth and the Solent rather than specifically 
with redevelopment of Southsea seafront. That work is at an early stage of 
development. However, Havant Council have commissioned air quality and ecology 
analytical work (alone and in combination with growth in Portsmouth and further 
afield). That work confirms that most features for which Solent Maritime SAC is 
designated have low susceptibility to atmospheric nitrogen deposition. The most 
widespread interest feature that has some air quality vulnerability is saltmarsh. 

Page 239



46 
 

For saltmarsh, the UK Air Pollution Information System provides a Critical Load 
range of 20-30 kg/N/ha/yr and nitrogen inputs have been experimentally 
demonstrated to have an effect on overall species composition of saltmarsh. 
However, the Critical Loads on APIS are relatively generic for each habitat type and 
cover a wide deposition rate range. They do not (and are not intended to) take into 
consideration other influences to which the habitat on a specific given site may be 
exposed. Moreover, it is important to note that the experimental studies which 
underlie conclusions regarding the sensitivity of saltmarsh to nitrogen deposition 
have ‘… neither used very realistic N doses nor input methods i.e. they have relied 
on a single large application more representative of agricultural discharge’, which is 
far in excess of anything that would be deposited from atmosphere. This is why APIS 
indicates that determining which part of the critical load range to use for saltmarsh 
requires expert judgment; there is good reason to believe the upper part of the 
critical load range (30 kgN/ha/yr) may be more appropriate than the lower part (20 
kgN/ha/yr). 

Moreover, AECOM has had cause to consider atmospheric nitrogen inputs to 
intertidal/estuarine habitats on the south coast of England in discussion with Natural 
England officers in that area and together we have concluded that for these 
particular sites, nitrogen inputs from air are not as important as nitrogen effects from 
other sources because the effect of any deposition of nitrogen from atmosphere is 
likely to be dominated by much greater inputs from marine or agricultural sources. 
This is reflected on APIS itself, which states regarding saltmarsh that ‘Overall, N 
deposition [from atmosphere] is likely to be of low importance for these systems as 
the inputs are probably significantly below the large nutrient loadings from river and 
tidal inputs’. Moreover, the nature of intertidal saltmarsh in the Solent estuaries 
means that there is flushing from tidal incursion on a daily basis. This is likely to 
further reduce the role of nitrogen from atmosphere in controlling botanical 
composition. 

The work undertaken by Havant Council identifies that the most nitrogen-sensitive 
habitat for which the Solent Maritime SAC is designated are small patches of 
‘perennial vegetation of stony banks’ in the northern parts of Langstone Harbour. 
Due to their location, roads within 200m of these areas are unlikely to be key journey 
to work routes for Portsmouth residents and are likely to be little affected by traffic 
growth in Portsmouth City and particularly the Seafront. 

Linked to the issue of nitrogen is the eutrophication effect that high levels of nitrogen 
and phosphorus nutrients cause within designated coastal waters, which arise from 
either agricultural sources or from wastewater from existing residential and other 
development.  This causes dense mats of green algae which impacts on the Solent's 
protected habitats and bird species. 

 

Page 240



47 
 

Whilst there is currently uncertainty as to the extent in which new growth can 
deteriorate designated sites, in the interim Solent LPAs are working with Natural 
England, Environment Agency, and water companies to strategically assess and 
analyse the issue and to work towards a long-term solution.  Portsmouth City Council 
approved an Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy for New Dwellings for the 
2019-2023/24 period (adopted 29 November 2019), which provides a robust 
framework through which planning applications can achieve 'nutrient neutrality' by 
addressing what types of development require mitigation, mitigation options, and 
developer contributions.  All applications and the associated 'nitrate neutrality' 
mitigation proposals are determined on a case-by-case basis in consultation with 
Natural England and other key consultees. 

Proposing measures to monitor the effects of implementing the SM SPD 

The method for monitoring the effects of implementing the plan will follow the 
previous approach as the 2013 Seafront Masterplan. 
 
The city council already operates an annual monitoring system (Annual Monitoring 
Report) of its planning documents. It is proposed that monitoring of the sustainability 
impacts will be part and parcel of the general monitoring of the progress of the plan. 
 
The city council is a key landowner at the Seafront and also the Local Planning 
Authority.  As such it will be able to guard against potential negative impacts of new 
development and to promote positive ones. In sustainability terms it will be 
particularly important to monitor and seek to avoid any negative effects highlighted 
in the SA as the areas most likely to be adversely affected. 
 
Monitoring indicators for these and other matters will include: 
 

• Percentage of the Seafront coastline protected to a 1 in 200 year flood event; 
• Number of properties at risk from flooding; 
• Change in areas and populations of biodiversity importance; 
• Visitor numbers to Portsmouth (and the Seafront in particular); 
• Percentage of residents that think their health is good; 
• Participation in active recreation; 
• Participation in cultural activities; 
• Percentage of people satisfied with their local area as a place to live. 

 

  

Page 241



48 
 

 

Consultation and Next Steps 
Previous consultation on the SA Scoping Report was carried out in Feb-Mar 2019.  
The SA Final Report on the revised Seafront Masterplan SPD will be subject to 
further consultation with the statutory bodies of Natural England, the Environment 
Agency, and Historic England. 

Subject to the consultation, it may be necessary to further amend this SA Final 
Report before the adoption of the revised Seafront Masterplan SPD.

Page 242



 

 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies and Initiatives 
(PPPSIs)

Page 243



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

International 

The Convention on Wetland Habitats of 
International Importance especially as Waterfowl 
Habitat (the Ramsar Convention) 1971

The definition of wetlands are areas of marsh, fen, peatland or water, whether natural 
or artificial, permanent or temporary, with water that is static or flowing, fresh, brackish 
or salt, including areas of marine water the depth of which at low tide does not exceed 
six metres. Many birds are ecologically dependent on wetland.

Portsmouth is surrounded by coastal 
habitats with protection as SPAs and 
Ramsar sites

Convention on the Conservation of Migratory 
Species of Wild Animals (or Bonn Convention) 
1979

The Convention on Migratory Species, also known as the Bonn Convention aims to 
conserve terrestrial, aquatic and migratory species throughout their range

Large numbers of birds use the area 
around Portsmouth for winter feeding 
grounds

Convention on the Conservation of European 
Wildlife and Natural Habitats (Bern Convention) 
1979 

This protects over 500 wild plant species and more than 1,000 wild animal species.
Of particular importance because of 
migratory species as well as marine 
ecosystems.

Convention on biological Diversity 1992 The main objectives are the conservation of biological diversity. Biodiversity in the UK 
is in decline and it is important to preserves and even enhance it.

The SM SPD needs to try and enhance 
biodiversity.

Agenda 21 1992
A plan of action adopted by more than 178 governments.  It underlines the growing 
awareness of the need to adopt a balanced and integrated approach to sustainability 
and environment and development issues

The SM SPD needs to try and improve 
the seafront's sustainability

The Kyoto Protocol under the United Nations 
Framework Convention on Climate Change 1997

This commits participating nations to reduce greenhouse gas emissions with the 
objective of stabilising concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent 
dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system

The SM SPD needs to promote reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions

Paris Agreement under the United Nations 
Framework Convention on Climate Change 2015

This commits participating nations to determine, plan, and regularly report on the 
contribution that they undertake to mitigate global warming

The SM SPD needs to promote and 
contribute towards mitigating global 
warming

Habitat III - The New Urban Agenda under the 
United Nations Conference on Housing and 
Sustainable Urban Development - October 2016

The New Urban Agenda represents a shared vision for a better and more sustainable 
future

The SM SPD needs to try and improve 
the seafront's sustainability

European Union 

The Birds Directive - Directive 79/409/EEC in April 
1979. Amended in 2009, it became the Directive 
2009/147/EC

The oldest piece of EU work on the environment. Europe is home to more than 500 
wild bird species but at least 32% of the EU's bird species are currently not in a good 
conservation status. The Birds Directive aims to protect all of the 500 wild bird species

This links up with the Habitats Directive 
below

The Habitats Directives (92/43/EEC)
This forms the cornerstone of Europe's nature conservation policy with the Birds 
Directive and establishes the EU wide Natura 2000 ecological network of protected 
areas, safeguarded against potentially damaging developments

SM SPD growth choices need to be 
aware of the SPAs and potential impacts

P
age 244



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

The Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
The directive which commits European Union member states to achieve good 
qualitative and quantitative status of all water bodies (including marine waters up to 
one nautical mile from shore) by 2015

The SM SPD will need to ensure growth 
does not affect local watercourses

The Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive 
(2001/42/EC)

The SEA Directive applies to a wide range of public plans and programmes (e.g. on 
land use, transport, energy, waste, agriculture, etc). The SEA Directive does not refer 
to policies

Key feature of the SM SPD evidence 
base

EU Renewable Energy Directive 2009/28/EC

The Directive sets out a common framework for the promotion of energy from 
renewable sources, which include wind, solar, aerothermal, geothermal, hydrothermal 
and ocean energy, hydropower, biomass, landfill gas, sewage treatment plant gas and 
biogases

The SM SPD must support any 
renewable energy proposals

The EU Energy Efficiency Directive The 2012 Energy Efficiency Directive establishes a set of binding measures to help 
the EU reach its 20% energy efficiency target by 2020

The SM SPD must promote more energy 
efficient buildings

The Convention for the Protection of the 
Architectural Heritage of Europe (Granada 
Convention)

The aim is to recognise that the architectural heritage constitutes an irreplaceable 
expression of the richness and diversity of Europe's cultural heritage, bears 
inestimable witness to our past and is a common heritage of all Europeans

The architectural heritage of the city 
needs protecting

The European Convention on the Protection of 
Archaeological Heritage (Valetta Convention)

The Valletta Treaty (formally the European Convention on the Protection of the 
Archaeological Heritage (Revised), also known as the Malta Convention) is a 
multilateral treaty of the Council of Europe. The 1992 treaty aims to protect the 
European archaeological heritage 'as a source of European collective memory and as 
an instrument for historical and scientific study'.

The architectural heritage of the city 
needs protecting

The Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC)

Sets out the basic concepts and definitions related to waste management, such as 
definitions of waste, recycling, recovery. It explains when waste ceases to be waste 
and becomes a secondary raw material (so called end-of-waste criteria), and how to 
distinguish between waste and by-products. The Directive requires that Member 
States adopt waste management plans and waste prevention programmes.

Waste is a key issue to tackle in the 
consumer society

National Legislation and Strategies

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 & 
National Planning Practice Guidance by MHCLG Key planning policy document and guidance for England The key planning guidance from 

Government

Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking 
by DfT July 2020 National plan for the vision to make England a great walking and cycling nation A key issue for the SM SPD

Cycle Infrastructure Design - LTN 1/20 by DfT July 
2020 Provides guidance and good practice for the design of cycle insfrastructure A key issue for the SM SPD

Waste Management Plan for England By Defra 
December 2013

Provides an analysis of the current waste management situation in England and fulfils 
the mandatory requirements of article 28 of the revised Waste Framework Directive 
(rWFD)

Develop planning strategies in line with 
waste management hierarchy

National Planning Policy for Waste by DCLG 
October 2014 & National Planning Practice 
Guidance on Waste by DCLG updated 14 October 
2015

Detailed waste planning policies in line with the strategy of the National Waste 
Management Plan for England

Ensure the Plan considers waste 
management alongside other spatial 
planning concerns

P
age 245



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas 
Act 1979

The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 or AMAAA seeks to 
protect the archaeological heritage of Great Britain

The archaeological heritage of the city 
goes back into prehistoric times and the 
SM SPD will need to protect it

Housing our ageing Population: Panel for 
Innovation (HAPPI) By CLG December 2009

Local authorities must take the lead in bringing together local housing providers, 
PCTs, Adult Social Care Services and the voluntary sector to ensure sufficient, well-
designed homes, having regard to the ethos of Lifetime Neighbourhoods

The SM SPD must support any new 
homes for the ageing population

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
The Act consolidates and amends existing national legislation to implement EU 
Directives. The Act sets out protection for birds, other wildlife, certain rare plants. 
Protection for SSSIs is also set out

A key issue for the SM SPD

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 Contains the legislation on listing of buildings of special architectural or historic interest A key issue for the SM SPD

Warm homes and Energy Conservation Act 2000
An Act to requiring the Secretary of State to publish and implement a strategy for 
reducing fuel poverty; to require the setting of targets for the implementation of that 
strategy

Fuel poverty is a key problem and must 
be addressed through design and 
energy efficiency

Evidence Gathering - Housing in Multiple 
Occupation and possible planning responses Final 
Report 2008 By DCLG

Concerned that the concentration of HMOs and certain social groups can result in 
unintended consequences that can create friction with the local community and can 
also lead to both positive and negative effects upon a local housing market area, 

Portsmouth City Council has its own 
SPD Houses in Multiple Occupation 
Ensuring mixed and balanced 

The National Infrastructure Plan March 2016 
Updates the October 2010 version

Brings together the government’s plans for economic infrastructure over the next 5 
years with those to support delivery of housing and social infrastructure

The lack of certainty over flood risk 
funding may have implications

Climate Change and Sustainable Energy Act 2006

Discusses greenhouse gas emissions, microgeneration, energy efficiency, building 
regulations for fuel and power, carbon emissions reduction target, dynamic demand 
technologies, community energy and renewable heat, and electricity from renewable 
sources

The SM SPD must support any 
renewable energy proposals 

The Climate Change Act 2008 To set a target for the year 2050 for the reduction of targeted greenhouse gas 
emissions

The SM SPD must support any 
proposals to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions

The Planning and Energy Act 2008 An Act to enable SM SPDning authorities to set requirements for energy use and 
energy efficiency in SM SPDs

The SM SPD must support any 
renewable energy and energy efficiency 
schemes

The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan - National 
Strategy for Low Carbon Energy Amended 20th 
July 2009

The Government set out a five point plan; Protecting the public from immediate risk, 
prepare for the future, limiting the severity of future climate, building a low carbon UK 
and supporting individuals, communities and businesses to play their part

The SM SPD must support low carbon 
development and infrastructure

Flood and Water Management Act 2010

Covers flood and coastal erosion mix management, that the Environment Agency 
must develop, maintain, apply and monitor a strategy for flood and coastal erosion risk 
management in England, and the lead local flood authorities for areas in England must 
develop a local flood risk management strategy

The SM SPD must support all proposals 
to deal with Flood Risk

The Air Quality (Standards) Regulations 2010
Action to manage and improve air quality is largely driven by European (EU) 
legislation. The UK Government and the devolved administrations are required under 
the Environment Act 1995 to produce a national air quality strategy

A key issue for the SM SPD

P
age 246



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland 2007 By Defra

Sets out air quality objectives and policy options to improve air quality in the UK from 
now into the long term. Over the past ten years the quality of air has improved and the 
UK is meeting current objectives for all air pollutants in over 99% cent of the UK

The SM SPD must support any 
proposals to reduce emissions and 
improve air quality

National Policy Statement for Ports January 2012 
By the Department of Transport

The Planning Act 2008 sets out the thresholds for nationally significant infrastructure 
projects in the ports sector

The SM SPD must support any 
proposals for new ports infrastructure 
providing it does not conflict with SPAs

The Natural Choice – securing the value of nature 
By Defra 2011

The Government wants this to be the first generation to leave the natural environment 
of England in a better state than it inherited. 

The SM SPD must support 
improvements to the natural 

UK National Ecosystem Assessment - Synthesis of 
Key Findings (several documents) 2011 By 
UKNEA

The natural world, its biodiversity and its constituent ecosystems are critically 
important to our well-being and economic prosperity, but are consistently undervalued 
in conventional economic analyses and decision making

The SM SPD must balance economic 
needs with preserving and enhancing 
biodiversity 

Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England's Wildlife 
and Ecosystems Services 2011 By Defra

In the UK over 40% of priority habitats and 30% of priority species were declining in 
the most recent analysis. Ecosystems have changed markedly in the last 60 years

The SM SPD must strive to increase 
biodiversity

The UK Post 2010 Biodiversity framework 2012 The Four Countries’ Biodiversity Group is the lead governance body for the UK 
Biodiversity Framework. 

The SM SPD must strive to increase 
biodiversity

Coastal Squeeze Implications for Flood 
Management The Requirements of The European 
Birds and Habitats Directives Defra Policy 
Guidance

In the light of the assessment, and having had regard to the advice of the relevant 
nature conservation body, the plan or project may be authorised if the competent 
authority is certain that it will not adversely affect the site (meaning there is no 
reasonable scientific doubt as to the absence of such effects).

Portsmouth needs more flood defences 
but it needs to avoid coastal squeeze

Monitor of Engagement with the Natural 
Environment: A pilot to develop and indicator of 
visits to the natural environment by children

There are clear social inequalities in how children are accessing natural environments, 
showing a clear link between the frequency at which children visit the natural 
environment and both their ethnicity and socio-economic status

There are inequality issues here as well 
as concern about not valuing the natural 
environment

Fair Society, Healthy Lives (the Marmot Review) - 
Strategic review of Health Inequalities in England 
2010

People with higher socioeconomic position in society have a greater array of life 
chances and more opportunities to lead a flourishing life. 

The SM SPD needs to do its part in 
raising living standards via regeneration 
and employment opportunities

National Renewable Energy Action Plan for the 
United Kingdom Article 4 of the Renewable Energy 
Directive 2009/28/EC

The document states the UK needs to radically increase its use of renewable energy The SM SPD must support any 
renewable energy proposals 

Designing out Crime - a Designers Guide By The 
Design and Technology Alliance against Crime, 
the Design Council and Home Office - Mar 2015

Changing behaviour is of course one aspect of crime reduction, but design also has 
an important role to play in preventing crime and reducing criminal activity without 
compromising the enjoyment and usability of products, places and services by 
legitimate users. 

A key issue for all new developments 
and any redevelopment initiatives

Natural England; Green Infrastructure Guidance 
2009 A good overview of green Infrastructure Portsmouth has a limited supply that is 

very important

Door to Door A strategy for improving sustainable 
transport integration By the Department for 
Transport March 2013

When people travel the Government wants a smaller environmental footprint - using 
sustainable means whenever possible. This would lead to greener travel, reducing 
carbon emissions, ease congestion on our roads, support economic growth, and lead 
to a healthier nation.

The need for a Modal Shift is a key one 
for the City

P
age 247



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

House of Commons Library Briefing Paper, 
Business statistics 7 December 2015 Update on national statistics Useful review of UK situation

The Councillors Guide to Urban Design by CABE A good document outlining the key principles for developments Urban design is a key issue

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Historic England 
Advice Note 8 - Dec 2016

Sets out the key Historic England issues
The surviving historic environment after 
damage during the war in Portsmouth is 
important

Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England's wildlife 
and ecosystem services and making space for 
nature by DEFRA - Aug 2011

A biodiversity strategy for England that builds on the Natural Environment White Paper 
to provide a comprehensive picture of how the Government are implementing 
international and EU commitments

A key issue for the SM SPD 

A Green Future: Our 25 year Plan to Improve the 
Environment' by DEFRA  - Jan 2018

Sets out Government action to deliver cleaner air and waiter in cities and rural areas, 
protect threatened species, and provide richer wildlife habitats A key issue for the SM SPD 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006

Makes provision about bodies concerned with the natural environment and in 
connection with wildlife and SSSIs A key issue for the SM SPD 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017

Regulation designed to transpose Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of 
natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora A key issue for the SM SPD 

County Council

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan October 
2013

Hampshire’s total estimated waste arisings are about 4.8 Million tonnes per annum. 
Over half of this is recycled, with over 82% diverted from landfill. The County Council 
aim to meet the Governments goal of a ‘zero waste’ economy, which for the purposes 
of their Plan will mean zero waste to landfill

The main issue for the SM SPD is the 
waste recycling facilities and material 
recovery facilities and supporting the 
‘zero waste’ economy idea

Minerals and Waste Safeguarding in Hampshire 
SPD - Feb 2016 The document safeguards mineral resources, as well as waste recycling centres The SM SPD must ensure development 

does not sterilise mineral resources 

Hampshire Ageing Profile by Hampshire County 
Council Spring 2015 Give details of ageing trends in the County Important issue to plan for

PUSH and economy related
Socio-Economic Impact Assessment of 
Portsmouth Naval Base By University of 
Portsmouth Centre for Economic Analysis and 
Policy, Solent Local Enterprise Partnership, PUSH -
Jun 2012

It looks at geographic area of impact assessment. Estimated to produce more than 
£1.68 billion economic output in the area. It shows too much public sector employers 
and the need to widen the areas economic base

The SM SPD must support a more 
diverse economy

PUSH Spatial Position Statement Report 
Objectively Assessed Housing Need Update Final 
report April 2016 by GL Hearn

Updates previous work, suggesting the OAN housing needs of the sub-region Housing need is a key consideration

PUSH Modelling Approach (Economic 
Development) By Oxford Economics - Dec 2011

Overall, the PUSH labour market was estimated to have experienced a deeper and 
longer contraction in employment terms than the South East

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

PUSH Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Update 
2016 The primary source of flood risk to Portsmouth is from the sea The SM SPD must support sea defences

P
age 248



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

PUSH Integrated Water Management Study 2018 A report to assess any implications from the planned growth in the region for the water 
resource and water quality environment The SM SPD must support this strategy

PUSH Air Quality Impact Assessment 2018 Gives a comprehensive picture of the impact of development on air quality in the 
PUSH region A key issue for the SM SPD 

Transforming Solent Marine & Maritime 
Supplement By Rear Admiral Rob Stevens March 
2014

The Marine and Maritime sector is one of the largest and most productive in the Solent The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

South Hampshire: Integrated Water Management 
Strategy Partnership for Urban South Hampshire 
by PUSH and Atkins - Mar 2009

Only one of the 13 treatment plants (Peel Common) will exceed its consented flow in 
the period to 2026

The SM SPD must support any improved 
facilities

Biomass Supply Chains in South Hampshire 
PUSH and CEN - Jul 2009

The report provides an analysis of how biomass supply chains could be developed 
within the area. Previous studies have identified that the region is resource rich

The SM SPD must support any biomass 
power

The South Hampshire Housing Market 
Assessment 2014 By PUSH and GL Hearn - Jan 
2014

The SHMA identifies that 4,160 homes per year would be needed to meet past 
demographic trends in full. This analysis takes no account of land supply or any 
development constraints

Housing need is a key consideration

PUSH Green Infrastructure Strategy By UE 
Associates, PUSH - Jun 2010

Drawing on the GI Framework, the Strategy has identified extant green infrastructure 
features and prepared a spatial interpretation, known as the GI Architecture GI is a key issue for Portsmouth

Towards a Green Infrastructure Strategy for South 
Hampshire: Advice to PUSH By TEP Consultants 
July 2008

Contains advice and recommendations on protecting, enhancing and expanding green 
infrastructure in the South Hampshire sub-region GI is a key issue for Portsmouth

South Hampshire Strategy - A framework to guide 
sustainable development and change to 2026 By 
PUSH October 2012

Their vision is that by 2026, South Hampshire will enhance its status as an area 
offering prosperity and a high quality of life for residents and is a location of choice for 
growing businesses

Improving homes and employment is a 
key issue

South Hampshire Strategy Background Paper: 
Employment floorspace and housebuilding 
provision figures By PUSH October 2012

The Strategy forecasts were prepared in 2009 - 2010 and were based on an economic 
outlook that is now regarded as over optimistic

The targets are ambitious, however the 
SM SPD should support them 

South Hampshire Hotel Futures Final Report by 
Hotel Solutions - Executive Summary Prepared for 
(PUSH) Tourism South East Jul 2010

Hotel Solutions’ analysis suggests that the Sub-region could see the development of 
up to 38 new hotels.

The SM SPD should support new hotels, 
however there has been little progress in 
acting on permissions granted

Anchoring Growth; an Economic Assessment of 
the Solent Area By PUSH/Centre for Cities May 
2013

The area is more dependent on large employers and the public sector than the wider 
South East, making it vulnerable to business failure and public sector cuts

The SM SPD must support a more 
diverse economy

Transforming Solent Growth Strategy by Solent 
LEP - Oct 2014

Aims for transformational change in employment provision, innovation, improving skills 
and supporting growth and strategic sectors

The SM SPD must support a more 
diverse economy

Transforming Solent - Solent Strategic Economic 
Plan 2014-20 By Solent LEP

Their new Growth Plan wants to create 15,500 new jobs, start-up of 1000 new 
businesses, building 24,000 homes in the Solent by 2020

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

P
age 249



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Solent LEP EU Structural & Investment Fund 
Strategy 2014 – 2020

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has been given strategic responsibility for 
the delivery of £36.9m (€43.1 m) of European Social Fund (ESF) and European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) funding over the 2014 – 2020 period. The 
proposals build on the strengths of the Solent area

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

Solent Strategic transport Investment Plan - May 
2016

Follows on from the Productivity and Growth Supplement, which highlights the need 
for significant investment to modernise our transport system, recognising that transport 
has a vital role to play by bringing businesses and people closer together and fostering 
the agglomeration economies that make cities work

The SM SPD has a role to play in 
supporting better transport links. While 
working towards a modal shift

Portsmouth City Council plans and related strategies

The Portsmouth Plan - Jan 2012 The Portsmouth Plan is the principal planning policy document and sets out the 
housing, employment, and retail development needs of the City to 2027

The SM SPD should expand in more 
detail, as necessary, the adopted 
strategic policies

Local Plan Review - Portsmouth City Local Plan 
Consultation Document - Feb 2019 This document summarises the work which has been produced for the new Local Plan The SM SPD should support the 

emerging policies of the new Local Plan

Local Plan Review - Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment - Feb 2019

The HELAA sets out the housing and economic land supply position of the city to 
provide a context for the position in regard to sites in the city and for emerging Local 
Plan policies

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth and consider the need for 
housing in the city

Local Plan Review background paper - Biodiversity 
and Portsmouth - Feb 2019

The paper considers the available evidence to develop an approach to biodiversity for 
the new Portsmouth Local Plan 2016-2036 A key issue for the SM SPD 

Local Plan Review background paper - Approach 
to Employment Land Study - Feb 2019

The paper was commissioned to provide a review of the existing economic evidence 
base to provide sound employment land forecasts for the plan period and 
consideration of the relationship to the city's housing needs

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

Local Plan Review background paper - Green 
Infrastructure - Feb 2019

The paper pulls together all the available evidence relating to the various aspects of 
the GI network across Portsmouth A key issue for the SM SPD 

Local Plan Review background paper - Health and 
Wellbeing - Feb 2019

The paper focuses on the needs of Portsmouth's residents with regards to public 
health A key issue for the SM SPD 

Local Plan Review background paper - Housing 
Needs & Housing Targets Update - Dec 2018

The paper provides an update to the position published in 2017 and brings together 
the available evidence relating to the city's housing need

The SM SPD must consider the need for 
housing in the city

Local Plan Review background paper - Open 
Space Needs and Opportunities Assessment - 
Nov 2018

The report provides a critical assessment of the city's open space provision in terms of 
quality, quantity, and accessibility A key issue for the SM SPD 

Local Plan Review background paper - Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment - Nov 2018

The report provides a robust assessment of current and future need of Gypsy and 
Traveller sites in the city The SM SPD must support this strategy

Local Plan Review background paper - Portsmouth 
Retail and Town Centres - Feb 2019

The paper reviews Portsmouth's existing retail policies to inform a review of the retail 
and town centre strategy for the new Local Plan

The SM SPD must support economic 
growth

P
age 250



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Local Plan Review background paper - Support for 
the Local Plan: Transport Modelling and Transport 
Assessment - Oct 2018

The assessment's key purpose is to evaluate the impact of emerging proposed 
development sites on the surrounding transport network The SM SPD must support this strategy

Local Plan Review background paper - An 
Assessment of Tree Cover in Portsmouth - Feb 
2018

Provides a detailed review of the current state of tree cover in Portsmouth The SM SPD must support the strategies 
to improve the GI network

North Solent Shoreline Management Plan 
Document by New Forest District Council - Dec 
2010

The Shoreline Management Plan has been developed on behalf of the Coastal Local 
Authorities and the Environment Agency. It provides broad scale assessment of the 
coastal flooding and erosion risks and advice to operating authorities and private 
landowners on the management of their defences.

The SM SPD must support this strategy

Bird Aware Solent/SRMS Definitive - Interim Solent 
Recreation Mitigation Strategy

An interim framework to mitigate the impact on the Solent Special Protection Areas of 
increased visitor pressure arising from housebuilding by the Solent ForumSome birds 
in the Solent area will be able to compensate for increased disturbance by altering 
their feeding habits. But they believe a number of species will suffer increased 
mortality due to additional visits generated by new housing.

A key issue as a consequence of growth 
is managing visitors

The South East River Basin District Management 
Plans Published in 2009

By 2015, 18% of surface waters (rivers, lakes, estuaries and coastal waters) are going 
to improve for at least one biological, chemical or physical element

It is important that new development 
does not reverse this process. The data 
is quite old now

A City to Share, a cycling strategy for Portsmouth 
by Portsmouth Cycle Forum

Their vision is that Portsmouth becomes the pre-eminent cycling city of the UK. There 
are however a high rate of cycle accidents in Portsmouth, above the level of places of 
similar density in London

There is considerable scope for cycling 
as part of a modal shift

Travel Active Portsmouth - A walking and cycling 
strategy for 2013 to 2023 By Portsmouth City 
Council

The document discusses the walking and cycling issues The SM SPD must promote walking and 
cycling in the City

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan by 
Portsmouth City Council

Plan highlighting opportunities and routes to improve and transform existing cycling 
and walking networks within the city

A key issue for the SM SPD is promoting 
a modal shift

Portsmouth Local Transport Plan 4 by Portsmouth 
City Council

Draft strategic document setting out the context and challenges/opportunities for 
transportation and modal shift in Portsmouth

The SM SPD proposals and the LTP 
need to work closely together

Portsmouth Local Transport Plan 3 Context By 
Portsmouth City Council

Sets out the context for challenges & transport improvements in Portsmouth, reviewing 
what others are also doing including PUSH and the Highways Agency.

The SM SPD proposals and the LTP 
need to work closely together

Portsmouth Local Transport Plan 3 Implementation 
Plan 2015-2016 By Portsmouth City Council One year implementation Plan (due to funding uncertainties). There are difficulties with the one year 

implementation strategy

Parking Standards and Transport Assessments 
Supplementary Planning Document By Portsmouth 
City Council - Jul 2014

The Supplementary Planning Document sets out standards and design principles for 
car parking in residential and non-residential developments.

The SM SPD needs to ensure 
development is compliant with these 
standards

Local Transport Plan 3 - Joint Strategy for South 
Hampshire

The Joint Strategy seeks to achieve reduced dependence on the private car through 
an increased number of people choosing public transport and the ‘active travel’ modes 
of walking and cycling

A key issue for the SM SPD is promoting 
a modal shift

P
age 251



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Hampshire Local Transport Plan Part B: 
Implementation Plan 2014 - 2017 By Portsmouth 
City Council

A joint project led by the three Local Transport Authorities of Hampshire County 
Council, Portsmouth and Southampton City Councils

There seems to be no major implications 
for the SM SPD

Air Quality Action Plan Appendix to the Local 
Transport Plan (LTP3) By Portsmouth City Council

The Council designated 13 AQMAs covering various parts of the city on the 5th April 
2005. On the 23rd March 2010 PCC revoked 8 AQMAs, retaining 4 Air Quality is a key issue for the SM SPD 

Air Quality Local Plan 2019 by Portsmouth City 
Council AQLP sets out the context and business case for a Clean Air Zone in Portsmouth Air Quality is a key issue for the SM SPD 

Local Development Framework Air Quality and Air 
Pollution Supplementary Planning Document 
Adopted – March 2006 

This Section deals with the planning issues associated with the quality of ambient air. 
Consideration is given only to those pollutants identified in the National Strategy for Air 
Quality, prescribed processes and other air pollution issues.

A key issue for the SM SPD 

Revitalising Local High Streets and Secondary 
Shopping areas in the city By Economic 
Development, Culture & Leisure Scrutiny Panel - 
Mar 2015

This review was to consider how to support a large array of retail offers in the city and 
how to make an attractive environment to encourage visitor loyalty and footfall

Of key importance for the SM SPD is the 
regeneration of the town centre and 
provision of enhanced facilities

Urban Characterisation Study By Portsmouth City 
Council

Identifies areas of the city that have broadly similar characteristics and the key 
elements that contribute positively and negatively to the overall character of the city

A key document for the SM SPD and any 
urban design issues and Policies

Healthy Weight Strategy for Portsmouth 2014 - 
2024 By Portsmouth City Council

The increasing challenges associated with obesity for the individual, their family, our 
communities, society and economy are increasing

The SM SPD must create an 
environment that allows people to be 
active

Healthy Weight, Healthy Lives, a toolkit for 
developing strategies By the NHS

Overweight and obesity have a substantial human cost by contributing to the onset of 
disease and premature death

The SM SPD must create an 
environment that allows people to be 
active

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Working 
better together to improve health and wellbeing in 
Portsmouth 2014 - 2017 By Portsmouth City 
Council and the NHS

The document covers a range of issues including mental health, emotional wellbeing 
in children, sustainable and healthy environments, smoking, alcohol and substance 
abuse, lifestyle hubs, Clinical Commissioning Group priorities, dementia care, tackling 
poverties and accessing and sustaining employment

The SM SPD must do its part in 
supporting these issues, in particular the 
creation of 'Lifestyle Hubs'

Portsmouth’s Tackling Poverty Strategy 2015 – 
2020 By Portsmouth City Council

Poverty is one of the key determinants of life expectancy and health outcomes more 
generally. This strategy has been developed under the umbrella of Portsmouth’s Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17

Key issues for The SM SPD are 
affordable housing and creating 
employment opportunities

Fuel Poverty & Affordable Energy Guide for 
frontline staff (How to help people struggling with 
their fuel bills) By Portsmouth’s Fuel Poverty and 
Affordable Energy Partnership

Under the new measure, 12.3% of households in Portsmouth across all tenures are 
deemed to be in fuel poverty (DECC 2013) and is above the English average. Each 
winter in Portsmouth can result in between 150 and 300 preventable deaths which are 
known as Excess Winter Deaths

In some cases the housing stock is 
substandard and there may in the long 
term need to be redevelopment to 
achieve good quality homes for residents

Tall Buildings SPD By Portsmouth City Council - 
Jun 2012

The SPD is intended to direct the development of tall buildings towards specified parts 
of the city – the areas of opportunity

Further detail of massing and tall 
buildings may be needed

P
age 252



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Houses in Multiple Occupation Ensuring mixed 
and balanced communities SPD October 2012 By 
Portsmouth City Council

Policy PCS20 seeks to avoid concentrations of HMOs within the city. A community will 
be considered to be ‘imbalanced’ where more than 10% of residential properties within 
the area are already in HMO use

A key issue is to maintain balanced 
communities

Portsmouth's Ageing Population Strategy 2010 - 
2020 By Portsmouth City Council

In the next decade, demographic trends suggest that there will be a larger number of 
people aged 65+ living in the city of Portsmouth, particularly those aged over 85, but 
the growing needs of this age group are currently not fully recognised.

The SM SPD needs to tackle these 
issues

Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 2012 - 2022 By 
Portsmouth City Council

Implements a large amount of the ‘Greener Portsmouth’ section of the Portsmouth 
Plan regarding the management and improvement of the city’s parks and open 
spaces. 

Key issue for the SM SPD is protection 
and enhancement, creation of new 
spaces and improving links and access 
for people

Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment By Halcrow 
with Southern Water/The Environment Agency For 
Portsmouth City Council - Jun 2011

The PFRA is a high level screening exercise that compiled information on significant 
local flood risk (any flood risk that does not originate from main rivers, the sea or large 
reservoirs)

A key issue for the SM SPD

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
Portsmouth City Council Coastal and Drainage 
Scheme - Runs up to 2018 and reviewed annually

As a unitary authority the Council is designated as a Lead Local Flood Authority under 
the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. It places a statutory duty on LLFA’s to 
develop, maintain, implement and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

A key issue for the SM SPD

Surface Water Management Plan Final Report By 
Southern Water, Environment Agency, Portsmouth 
City Council  - Feb 2012

This outlines a surface water management strategy and long term action plan for the 
management of local surface water flood risk

The SM SPD must support any 
infrastructure needed

Southsea and North Portsea Island Coastal Flood 
and Erosion Risk Management Schemes Scoping 
Stage Report 4 By Eastern Solent Coastal 
Partnership Nov 2012

The vision for this and subsequent phases of the Management Schemes is to ensure 
the sustainable future of the City of Portsmouth by managing coastal flood and erosion 
risk

The SM SPD must support any 
infrastructure needed, but be aware of 
coastal squeeze

Portsea Island Coastal Strategy Study By 
Portsmouth City Council and Environment Agency -
Apr 2010

This is the key document which sets out the flood defence issues and describes the 
proposals for a 100 year flood and coastal erosion risk management strategy for 
Portsea Island. The whole life cost of the scheme (excluding inflation) is £372 million, 
including £131 million contingency

The SM SPD must support this strategy

Landscape Character Assessment - Portsea 
Island Coastal Defence Flood Risk Areas By 
Portsmouth City Council and Halcrow in 2012

The document will become integrated in to the Scoping Stage as a technical report 
which will be used to support any Environmental Statement required for the coastal 
defence scheme proposals

The SM SPD needs to be aligned with 
this

Southsea Seafront Strategy 2010 - 2026 By 
Portsmouth City Council

Numerous studies, and engagement have highlighted that the city does not make 
enough of its seafront

The SM SPD needs to be aligned with 
this

Shaping the Future of Portsmouth, a Strategy for 
Growth and Prosperity in Portsmouth By 
Portsmouth City Council

The vision is that Portsmouth will become a great waterfront city with a globally 
competitive knowledge economy. In order to do this, the strategy supports economic 
growth, innovation and enterprise, and enhancing the competitiveness of the city

The SM SPD must support the vision

City of Portsmouth Local List of Buildings of 
Special Architectural and Historic Interest Buildings and features not statutorily listed but of importance to the city A key consideration for the SM SPD

P
age 253



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Wider Portsmouth City Council initiatives
Portsmouth Equality and Diversity Strategy 2014-
2017 By Portsmouth City Council

This document sets out Portsmouth City Council’s approach to equality and diversity 
issues over the years (2014–2017). The document also outlines what the Council has 

The SM SPD must ensure its Policies do 
not conflict with this strategy

Safer Portsmouth Partnership Plan (2013–18) - 
Reducing crime and substance abuse By the Safer 
Portsmouth Partnership

Crime is down over 20% in Portsmouth since 2006. Over the next five years the Safer 
Portsmouth Partnership aims to reduce overall crime by a further 20%

The main issue for the SM SPD is 
designing safer environments

The big picture of health and wellbeing Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment Portsmouth, October 
2014

Gives details of all the health issues affecting the city, including physical and mental, 
addictions as well as educational attainment, poverty, lifestyle hubs

Where the SM SPD can make a 
difference this needs to be taken on 
board

The Children’s Trust Plan (2011–14) By 
Portsmouth Children's Trust May 2011

To improve the well-being of all children and young people age with issues such as 
immunisation, obesity, alcohol, substance abuse, good education and quality of 
services

The SM SPD will try to create safer 
environments

Improving Mental Health and Wellbeing in 
Portsmouth 2016 to 2021 By Portsmouth City 
Council

This five-year strategy covers all aspects of mental health and wellbeing. It is on 
purpose aspirational

Place shaping initiatives may help with 
creating communities

Implementing the national dementia strategy - an 
action plan for Portsmouth 2014/15

Four priority areas are good quality early diagnosis, improved quality of care, living 
well with dementia in care homes, reduced use of anti-psychotic medication

The Plan would support any facilities, but 
training staff is the most important 
aspect

Providing affordable housing in Portsmouth, a 
Summary of Affordable Housing Policies for 
developers by Portsmouth City Council January 
2012

The amount of affordable housing required is on a sliding scale where site capacities 
are between eight and 15 dwellings. For larger sites with a capacity exceeding 15 
dwellings a minimum of 30% affordable housing will be required

A4 leaflet, key issue

Developing watersport in Portsmouth 2016 - 2020 A strategy to promote the watersports industry within the city A key consideration for the SM SPD

Other Related Strategies

Building the foundations: Tackling obesity through 
planning and development by LGA/TCPA/Public 
Health England By February 2016

England has one of the highest rates of unhealthy weight of other western countries. If 
we go on as we are, the amount of obese people is expected to double in the next 40 
years

The SM SPD must create places where 
people can lead healthier lifestyles

Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy - Oct 
2018

The Strategy relates to internationally important Brent Goose and wading bird 
populations within and around the Special Protection Areas and Ramsar wetlands of 
the Solent Coast. It also maps playing fields and open space where these geese 
graze, which are not protected areas.

The SM SPD needs to align its policies 
with this strategy

The North Solent Management Plan 
The document provides a large-scale assessment of the risks associated with 
shoreline evolution, coastal flooding and erosion and presents a framework to address 
the risks

The SM SPD needs to align itself with 
this plan

P
age 254



List of Policies, Plans, Programmes, Strategies, and Initiatives

Document Summary Relevance / Implications for the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD

Promoting and creating built or natural 
environments that encourage and support physical 
activity by the National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence - Jan 2008

Directly related to the built environment and encouraging pedestrian/cycling 
movements and use of open spaces

Relatively old document but still valid for 
the SM SPD

Fat Chance? Exploring the evidence on who 
becomes obese By 2020 Health and AB Sugar - 
Nov 2015

Structural characteristics such as good pavements, plenty of greenspace, proximity to 
necessary destinations, and safety from crime are all positively linked to lower BMI.

The SM SPD must support initiatives to 
tackle this

Inequalities in life expectancy; changes over time 
and implications for policy By The Kings Fund 
August 2015

Health is influenced and determined by more than genetics or access to health care. 
More important influences are our lifestyle behaviours

The SM SPD must do what it can to 
improve the urban and green 
environment and encourage activity

Tipping the scales - why preventing obesity makes 
economic sense by UK Health prevention forum Obesity is a major cause of illness and death The SM SPD must support initiatives to 

tackle this

Coastal access: An audit of coastal paths in 
England 2008-09 - Natural England

Natural England has undertaken, with the 53 English access authorities with a 
coastline, a desk based audit of the extent to which legally secure paths currently exist 
around the English coast

The SM SPD needs to be aware there is 
an inherent conflict with this and 
preventing bird disturbance

Great Outdoors: How Our Natural Health Service 
Uses Green Space To Improve Wellbeing Briefing 
Statement by Natural England 2010

There is mounting evidence demonstrating the contribution green spaces can make to 
mental and physical health and wellbeing

The SM SPD must promote and facilitate 
access to open spaces and green 
spaces

Water. People. Places. A guide for master 
planning sustainable drainage into developments 
By the Lead Local Flood Authorities of the South 
East of England

Sets out best practice for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) The SM SPD must support SUDS as 
part of new development

Monitor of Engagement with the Natural 
Environment: a pilot to develop an indicator of 
visits to the natural environment by children By 
Natural England March 2013 to February 2015

A 2 year pilot to develop a national indicator for children’s access to the natural 
environment

The SM SPD will seek to encourage 
access to the natural environment of 
Portsmouth

The Great Outdoors: How Our Natural Health 
Service Uses Green Space To Improve Wellbeing' 
by Natural England in 2010

There is mounting evidence demonstrating the contribution green spaces can make to 
mental and physical health and wellbeing

Protection and enhancement of 
greenspace is a key issue

Shaping Neighbourhoods - A guide for health, 
sustainability and vitality by Hugh Barton, Marcus 
Grant and Richard Guise - 2003

The importance of good design and a range of other factors is well understood, but 
rarely applied Design is a key issue for place making

Select Committee on Regenerating Seaside 
Towns and Communities - House of Lords - Apr 
2019

Report by a House of Lords Select Committee to consider and make 
recommendations on the regeneration of seaside towns and communities

The SM SPD should consider various 
strategies for regeneration

Healthy High Streets - Good place-making in an 
urban setting by Public Health England 2018 Considers how the design of streets promotes and improves the health of residents Design of public spaces is important 

towards improving health

P
age 255



 

 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 
 

Summary Table of Baseline Data 
  

Page 256



SUSTAINABILITY TOPIC AREA BASELINE ENVIRONMENT

A Travel and transport

• To promote a transport system that 

provides choice, minimises environmental 

harm by reducing road congestion and traffic 

pollution, and promotes the use of a public 

transport and active forms of transport

• Travel to work in Portsmouth at the 2011 census showed:

- There has been a small decrease in those driving a car (50.5% in 2001 down to 49.6% in 2011) - lower than the UK average of 54.5%, 

and a lower figure than surrounding areas

- There has been an decrease in passengers in a car from 6.5% in 2001 to 5.8% in 2011 - higher than the England and Wales average of 

5.0%

- There has been a decrease in use of a motorcycle/scooter/moped from 1.3% to 1.1% - higher than the England and Wales average of 

0.8%

- There has been an increase in those walking (14.8% in 2001 up to 16.1% in 2011) - higher than the England and Wales average of 10.7%

- There has been an increase in cycling (7.1% in 2001 up to 7.3% in 2011) - higher than the England and Wales average of 2.8% 

- There has been an increase in train use (2.4% in 2001 up to 3.5% in 2011) -  lower than the UK average of 5.2%

- There has been an increase in those working at home; (6.7% in 2001 up to 7.3% in 2011) - lower than the UK average of 10.3%

- There has been a decrease in those using the bus (8.6% in 2001 down to 7.3% in 2011) - close to the England and Wales average of 

7.2%

- 34% of the population in the city do not have access to a car (this is the same level as in 2001 despite population increase) and is higher 

than the UK average of 25%. The highest rate of non-car ownership in Charles Dickens, Nelson and St Thomas Wards

• There is also a commuting service from and to the Isle of Wight using the only commercial hovercraft in the world, as well as ferries 

and catamarans. 4,802 people commute out of the Isle of Wight to other local authorities, and 736 of these commute to Portsmouth. 

2,109 people commute from other local authorities to the Isle of Wight, and 176 of them are from the city (Nomis). 

• There is also a pedestrian ferry service from and to Gosport, and 453 residents commute on foot to Portsmouth and 1,096 use bicycles. 

The total amount of cyclists commuting into Portsmouth is 1,884, and a large amount of this is from Gosport so it is assumed nearly all of 

these are using the ferry. 

• The Hayling Island Ferry service has been privately operated by Baker Trayte Marine Ltd since its reopening in August 2016, who run a 

summer and winter timetable to and from Hayling Island and Eastney.  Passenger numbers collected from August 2017 to July 2018 

show that a total of 45,315 passenger trips were made.

B Water (resources and quality)

• Reduce total water consumption and 

maximise efficient use

• To safeguard the health and productivity of 

sea water by minimising the risk of water 

pollution

• To promote flood resilient buildings and 

infrastructure

• Groundwater levels can fluctuate by as much as 20 metres. At the end of December 2015 groundwater levels were close to the long 

term average as a result of average Autumnal rainfall. The high rainfall of January saw groundwater levels rise approximately 6 metres 

above the long term average and be considered 'high’ in comparison to the average levels. 

• Water levels in summer 2016 began to fall as usual for that time of year, remaining approximately 2.7 metres above the long term 

average.

• The South Hampshire Integrated Water Management Strategy from 2008 suggested the area had sufficient licensed resources to meet 

future demands for water. However there was concern expressed and companies began the process of installing water meters in all 

households. Forecasts suggest that this may reduce demand by between 5 - 15%. Southern Water and Portsmouth Water have told 

PUSH they have sufficient supply for more homes than those being proposed.

• Portsmouth Water has no reservoirs and relies almost entirely upon groundwater reserves in the chalk aquifers of the South Downs 

and abstracts its water from wells, boreholes and springs. It has one river abstraction licence for Gaters Mill on the River Itchen, and if 

extraction is excessive it can affect the flow of the river. However if an excessive amount of water is taken out of the boreholes it can 

also affect the flow of the River Hamble, Meon, Wallington, Ems and Lavant.

• Portsmouth is within the South East River Basin Management Plan area, and although no river flows through the city nearby 

watercourses affect the quality of the marine environment. There are four watercourses flowing into Portsmouth Harbour and 

Langstone Harbour that are monitored by the Environment Agency twelve times a year and tested for chemistry, biology and nutrient 

levels;

- Boarhunt Mill at Fareham - Good

- Hoeford Lake stream at Fareham - High

- Warblington Stream at Emsworth - Moderate

- Hermitage Stream at Havant - Good

- Ems at Emsworth - Good

C Energy

• Minimise total energy consumption and 

support the use of renewable energy rather 

than fossil fuel/non-renewable sources

• Heating and hot water for UK buildings make up 40% of our energy consumption and 20% of our greenhouse gas emissions. The issue 

of fuel poverty is also discussed later in this report. It will be necessary to largely eliminate these greenhouse emissions by around 2050 

to meet the targets in the Climate Change Act and to maintain the UK contribution to action under the Paris Agreement of 2015.

• There are many ways to create 'greener' buildings, including better design and insulation, alignment to improve solar gain and so on. 

Whole volumes have been written on this, and BREEAM is the world's leading sustainability assessment method for masterplanning 

projects, infrastructure and buildings. It addresses a number of lifecycle stages such as New Construction, Refurbishment and In-Use. 

They were involved with the LandRover Ben Ainslie Racing building in Old Portsmouth which achieved BREEAM Excellent building on a 

brownfield site.  However, there is a need in the city to promote BREEAM Excellent on all commercial and residential buildings.

• Many of these ideas are over quarter of a century old; the issue is pushing the development industry to embrace them. Many of these 

improvements in design will reduce emissions and also contribute towards modern, affordable, comfortable homes and workplaces. 

Considering the scale of new development needed in the city there is an opportunity here to create a greener Portsmouth.

Page 257



D Noise and vibration

• Minimise disturbance and annoyance to 

people and wildlife and stresses to historic 

assets caused by uncontrolled noise and 

vibration

• In a busy city like Portsmouth, environmental noise is ever-present, meaning the Council's environment and public protection service 

cannot ensure peace and quiet or prevent occasional disturbance from noise.

• Environment and public protection works with partners such as the anti-social behaviour unit and the police to prevent or mitigate 

serious or persistently unacceptable levels of environmental noise, by investigating and resolving complaints of noise nuisance.

• The seven most common causes of noise complaint are: Noise from domestic properties; amplified music from pubs and clubs; animal 

noise; commercial noise, such as from deliveries and equipment; construction and demolition site noise; industrial noise; alarms from 

premises and vehicles

• Around 2,500 noise complaints are received each year, with the majority coming from residents who are suffering noise problems 

from their neighbours.

E Air quality

• Minimise greenhouse gases and other 

pollutants

• Portsmouth has only three road entrances onto Portsea Island (the M275, A3 and A2030). These roads are locations where most of the 

Air Quality Management Areas have been designated (discussed next) and they get congested at peak times. The A2047 and the A288 

can also be congested. Any incidents affecting traffic on one road can cause disruption to the entire network. 

• In Portsmouth domestic road transport makes up to 24% of the total emissions, and in the UK accounts for around a quarter of UK 

greenhouse gas emissions and affects air quality at the roadside. Industrial and domestic pollution together with their impact on air 

quality, tend to be steady or improving over time. In the UK the major threat to clean air is now posed by traffic emissions (Defra). HGVs 

remained the highest polluter comparatively when considering the number of each type of vehicle. 

• Local authorities have a statutory obligation to review and assess local air quality from time to time to determine whether it is likely to 

meet National Air Quality Objectives set out in the Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended). The key indicators monitored 

by the roadside are;

- Particulate matter (PM2.5)

- Nitrogen dioxide (NO2)

- Ozone (O3)

- Particulate matter (PM10)

• A WHO Report in May 2016 highlighted problems with air pollution in over 40 UK cities. There are 11 urban areas across the UK and 

Ireland breaching the safe limit set for PM10, and more than 40 towns and cities across Britain and Ireland breaching the safe levels for 

another measure known as PM2.5. Top of the air pollution list was Glasgow, while Southampton was 7th on the list, and Portsmouth is 

13th. It is of interest that Oxford is 15th on that list, even though 17% of the population cycle to work.

F Waste and resource management 

(soil, contaminated land, & waste)

• Reduce waste production and promote 

reuse, recycling and recovery

• Minimise risk to human health and the 

environment from contaminated land

• To protect ground stability and features of 

geological importance

• To minimise soil loss and enhance soil 

quality

• Portsmouth City Council, as a minerals and waste planning authority, works in partnership with Hampshire County Council, 

Southampton City Council, New Forest National Park Authority and the South Downs National Park Authority ('the Hampshire 

Authorities') on minerals and waste matters in the County. Together the Hampshire Authorities produced the Hampshire Minerals and 

Waste Plan (2013) that aims to enable the delivery of sustainable minerals and waste development up to 2030.

• The Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) commits to meeting the Waste Management Plan's goal of working towards a ‘zero 

waste’ economy (100% of waste diverted from landfill) and shifting the management of wastes up the waste hierarchy; the 'hierarchy’ 

gives order and priority to waste management options, from prevention through to disposal (e.g. landfill). The HMWP acknowledges that 

the best way to reduce the need for waste disposal is to avoid its creation in the first place, by recognising waste as a resource. 

• The HMWP estimates Hampshire’s total estimated waste arisings to be around 4.8 million tonnes per annum (in 2010); almost half of 

which was generated by Construction, Demolition and Excavation (CDE) wastes (49%), followed by lesser amounts of Commercial and 

Industrial (C&I) (34%) and Municipal (Household) Wastes (17%). 

• HMWP Policy 25: Sustainable Waste Management commits the Hampshire Authorities to contribute to achieving 60% recycling rates 

and 95% diversion from landfill of non-hazardous waste arisings by at least 2020. In order to contribute to reaching these targets, the 

reduction, beneficial reuse or recycling of non-hazardous wastes is therefore a key issue for Portsmouth.

• The HMWP considers that the projected increases in population and housing in the County can be managed by the existing WWTWs, 

without the need for further capacity in the plan period (up to the end of March 2030). However, it is important that the capacity of 

WWTWs facilities in areas of planned development should be kept under review. 

• The Portsmouth City Council area also contains relatively minor safeguarded reserves of Brick Clay, Superficial Sand and Gravel and 

Soft Sand (HWMP Policy 15). Although deposits are largely focused in constrained areas where future development would be very 

unlikely, such as land adjacent to Langstone Harbour, Southsea Common and the onshore area off Portsea, there are Brickclay reserves 

around Tipner that will need consideration as part of any development proposals.

G Sustainable construction and 

buildings
• Ensure that development provides 

optimum economic, environmental, and 

social benefits, whilst integrating sustainable 

construction principles

• There are many ways to create 'greener' buildings, including better design and insulation, alignment to improve solar gain and so on. 

Whole volumes have been written on this, and BREEAM is the world's leading sustainability assessment method for masterplanning 

projects, infrastructure and buildings. It addresses a number of lifecycle stages such as New Construction, Refurbishment and In-Use. 

They were involved with the LandRover Ben Ainslie Racing building in Old Portsmouth which achieved BREEAM Excellent building on a 

brownfield site.  Nonetheless, there is a continuing need to promote BREEAM Excellent on all commercial and residential buildings.

• Many of these ideas are over quarter of a century old; the issue is pushing the development industry to embrace them. Many of these 

improvements in design will reduce emissions and also contribute towards modern, affordable, comfortable homes and workplaces. 

Considering the scale of new development needed in the city there is an opportunity here to create a greener Portsmouth.

Page 258



H Biodiversity and nature conservation

• Seek to protect habitats and species and 

promote opportunities to enhance and 

conserve wildlife

• There are three SPAs/Ramsar Sites in Portsmouth:

- Portsmouth Harbour SPA/Ramsar Sites - 1,248.77 ha in size

- Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA/Ramsar Sites - 5,810.03 ha in size

- Solent and Southampton Water SPA/Ramsar Sites - 5,505.86 ha in size

• The intertidal area, particularly the mudflats, shingle and saltmarsh provide ideal feeding and roosting grounds for these species which 

are especially adapted to feeding in such a habitat. 

• Site Improvement Plans have been developed for each Natura 2000 site in England as part of the Improvement Programme for 

England's Natura 2000 sites. This Site Improvement Plan covers the following Natura 2000 sites;

- Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA

- Portsmouth Harbour SPA

- Solent & Southampton Water SPA, and

- Solent Maritime SAC

I Historic environment and cultural 

heritage
• To protect and, where possible, enhance 

the historic environment in recognition that 

it is an integral part of the city's cultural 

heritage

• Portsmouth's Listed Buildings are:

- Almost all buildings built before 1700

- Most Georgian period buildings (1714 to 1837)

- Buildings of quality from the Victorian and Edwardian periods (1840 to 1914)

- Twentieth century buildings of exceptional quality

• The city has list entries for 13 Grade I listed buildings, 33 Grade II* listed buildings and 408 Grade II listed buildings. There are also 17 

scheduled monuments.

• Every year Historic England updates its Heritage at Risk register, a process that has been carried on for twenty years since the Buildings 

at Risk surveys began. However heritage assets can be removed and added more frequently. Fort Cumberland, Eastney is currently on 

the 'Heritage at Risk' register

• Portsmouth has twenty five Conservation Areas. These Conservation Areas include Old Portsmouth, the older part of the Royal Navy 

Base and Thomas Ellis Owen's Southsea (the architect and developer responsible for many notable buildings in Southsea and Gosport).

• There are many buildings and structures of visual interest in Portsmouth, which are not afforded statutory protection because they do 

not meet national criteria but which add interest to the character and variety of the city. To help highlight and protect these buildings of 

local interest, the council has its own local list of historic buildings and structures, with 267 entries relating to approximately 500 

addresses.

• More recently the historic fortifications flanking the entrance to the harbour have been given a new lease of life. The building dates 

back to the 15th century and was previously an artillery barracks. This site was part of a £1.75 million development jointly by the 

government’s coastal communities fund, the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire and Portsmouth City Council. It was completed in 

July 2016 and opened as the Hot Walls Studios and has 13 artist studios, as well as an eatery for visitors.

• Southsea Common is a registered Historic Park and Garden.  In 1540 the land on which the common sits was surrendered to Henry VIII 

who wished to strengthen the fortifications on the coast. The ground used to be a common but in the 1780s boundaries were put 

around it to prevent development and also ensure a clear field of fire for cannons. 

J Landscape and townscape

• To protect, and where possible, enhance 

the character of landscapes and townscapes, 

particularly areas of historic and cultural 

interest

• Portsea Island has a high proportion of terraced housing which lacks the areas of open space common in housing built after World War 

Two. Approximately 87% of Portsmouth’s administrative area is covered by development.  The area is therefore very urban; there is no 

open countryside with habitats such as wildflower meadows or areas of woodland. There is the nearby South Downs National Park, but 

access is difficult for the 33.4% of the population lacking a car, and public transport is limited. 

• Therefore, the green and open spaces in the city have a very important role in providing 'green lungs' - areas within a town or city that 

provide a healthier environment and places to walk and take part in informal recreation and be more active. Within Portsmouth there 

are 67 areas of parks, gardens, cemeteries and open spaces that provide areas for informal recreation and also enhance local 

biodiversity.  Some of the key ones are:

- Portsdown Hill - a chalk ridge north of Portsea Island and designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest

- Farlington Marshes - a large area of Langstone Harbour reclaimed from the sea in 1770 by the Lord Mayor of Farlington

- Victoria Park - it is quite small compared to other towns and cities, however it is well used

- Southsea Common - the largest area of open space in the city that was purchased by the Council from the War Department in 1922

- Milton Common - 40 ha of reclaimed semi-natural land composed of grass, brambles and lakes hosting over 200 species

- Fort Cumberland Open Space - natural coastal heathland used by the military as a rifle range before being bought by Portsmouth City 

Council in 1979

- Great Salterns - where salt was once harvested from Langstone Harbour this large open space has changed considerably over the years, 

but there still remains a significant natural area that is of wildlife interest

- Hilsea Lines - a green corridor separating Portsea Island from the mainland, within its 80 hectares it has woodland, hedgerows, 

meadows, both fresh and brackish water areas, marshland and coastal habitats

Page 259



K Human population, safety, and 

health and wellbeing
• Maximise opportunities to promote 

healthy, safe and secure environments in 

which to live, play, and work, regardless of 

ethnicity, race, gender, age, or disabilities, 

and other equality factors

• A number of issues are noted with regard to Portsmouth:

- Poor health is linked to poverty, and within Portsmouth 23.8% of the population are categorised as suffering deprivation. It is higher 

than the UK average of 20.4%

- 23.5% of children are living in poverty, higher than the UK average of 19.2%

- The amount of obese children in Year 6 is 20.3%, higher than the UK average of 19.1%

- The amount of obese adults is 25.1%, higher than the English average of 23.0%

- The percentage of physically active adults is 51.1%, lower than the English average of 56%

- 22.5% of Portsmouth residents smoke (set against the South East level of 17.2%). Compared to England, Portsmouth also has 

significantly higher rates of deaths from lung cancer. Smoking also causes emphysema and chronic bronchitis.

- In 2010 - 2012, Portsmouth’s alcohol-specific mortality rate for males and females was higher than the rates for England.

- In 2012 - 2013, Portsmouth had a significantly higher rate of alcohol-attributable recorded crimes (9 per 1,000 population) and violent 

crimes (8 per 1,000 population) compared to England and the South East region

- In 2012 - 2013, there were 3,908 patients on the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (1.8% of registered patients of all ages 

compared with 1.7% in England).

- In 2012 - 2013, there were 13,907 patients on the asthma register (6.4% of registered patients of all ages compared with 6.0% in 

England)

- In 2012 - 2013, 9,255 people aged 17+ years had either Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes. (5.3% of people aged 17+ years compared with 6% in 

England)

• In Portsmouth an estimated 57.9% of the population are above normal weight, and 25.1% of the population were classified as obese. 

The document 'Portsmouth Health Profile 2015' also shows the percentage of physically active adults is 'significantly worse than England' 

average. 

• In 2008 Portsmouth joined the UK Healthy Cities network, one of 11 UK cities out of a global network of 100. It is a movement for 

urban health that is led and supported by the World Health Organisation. Currently the Council is looking at issues relating to air 

pollution, congestion, accidents and reviewing the possibility of active travel strategies to address these as well as reducing the decline 

in physical activity that is a national and local issue around health and wellbeing.

L Communities, amenities, and social 

value
• To support the welfare, cultural, 

recreational, and infrastructure needs of 

communities

• Provide opportunities for partnership-

working and public involvement

• Within Hampshire and the Isle of Wight there are 44 areas in the 10% most deprived areas in England, and 16 of these are in 

Portsmouth. Seven Districts in Hampshire have a 0 score.

• Nationally Portsmouth is ranked 84th in the deprived area list out of 324 local authorities (excluding counties). This puts it just outside 

the most deprived quartile within the UK.

• The most deprived ward in Portsmouth is Charles Dickens Ward with unemployment at 9% (2011 Census). 7.2% are long term sick or 

disabled, 16% are retired and 15.3% are students. Also educational attainment is poor with 31.5% of the population having no 

qualifications. 67.0% of Charles Dickens households socially rent, significantly higher than either Portsmouth as a whole (18.3%) or the 

national level. The residents also report a higher proportion of poor health and disability than Portsmouth as a whole. 

• The most commonly used threshold for income poverty is below 60% of median income. It 2013 it was estimated that approximately 

27,700 households (excluding student households) in Portsmouth have a net annual income below 60% of the median income. 

• 'Portsmouth’s Tackling Poverty Strategy 2015 - 2020' states poverty is one of the key determinants of life expectancy and health 

outcomes more generally. In one ward of the City over 40% of the children are living in poverty. The Public Health Profile for Portsmouth 

categorises the children in poverty as being 'Significantly worse than England average.' Homelessness is also 'Significantly worse than the 

England average.'

• ONS figures for some reason go across ward boundaries, and they show that parts of three wards (Charles Dickens, Fratton and 

Nelson) have 47.1% of households living in poverty. This is close to half the population in this part of the city. The adjacent area has 

46.2% of the population living in poverty. The remainder in these areas are unlikely to be much better off. This compares to Cosham 

Ward with only 12% of the households being in poverty.

Page 260



M Climate change resilience

• Improve resilience to current and future 

climate change by avoiding, reducing, and 

managing existing and future vulnerabilities 

and climatic risks affecting or arising from 

existing and new development

• Integrating climate change resilience within 

other management areas, e.g. water 

resources, coastal defences, waste.

• As a consequence of climate change the city faces more flooding from both surface water and also rising sea levels, as well as an 

increase of extreme weather events. Surface water is rainfall before it enters the underground drainage systems, plus groundwater 

flooding where the water table is saturated and ordinary watercourses get overloaded.

• As a Unitary Authority Portsmouth City Council is designated as a Lead Local Flood Authority under the Flood and Water Management 

Act of 2010. It places a statutory duty on the Council to develop, maintain, implement and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 

Strategy. At present, approximately 47% of the city’s land area is designated as within Flood Zones 2 and 3 (the areas of highest risk).

• Portsmouth has a shoreline with a total length of 43.5 km, 32 km around Portsea Island and 11.5 km on the mainland. It also has 3 km 

of drainage channels. The Council is directly responsible for 23 km of Portsmouth’s coastline with the remaining 21 km in private 

ownership, predominantly the Ministry of Defence. 

• The coastal frontages of Portsmouth are almost entirely defended from either wave overtopping or tidal flooding by some form of 

coastal defence. 

• Regionally important transport links at risk from coastal flooding and erosion protected by current defences include the mainline 

railway links from Portsmouth and the M27 and the M275. Within Portsmouth city there are large areas of land currently at risk of 

coastal flooding, with 4,211 residential, 364 commercial and 48 Ministry of Defence properties identified as well as current and former 

landfill sites. These all have a present value of over £1.25 billion. 

• However by the year 2109 the areas of properties at risk increases to 9,355 residential, 950 commercial and 117 MoD properties, HM 

Naval Base, Historic Dockyards including the HMS Victory and Mary Rose, Continental Ferry Port, 15 areas of landfill, main road and rail 

arteries on and off Portsea Island, Eastney pumping station, hospitals, schools, colleges, emergency services and power supplies, 40 

scheduled monuments and more than 450 listed buildings and 70 sites of archaeological interest. £654m worth of assets in Southsea are 

at risk of flooding from the sea over the next 100 years and the Southsea scheme is reviewing 4.5 km of coastal defences from the 

Garrison Church to the Royal Marines Museum. Current defences are reaching the end of their existing life; some of them were put in 

place in World War II.

• Tourism is of vital importance to the economy in Portsmouth and Southsea, and it is important that the sea defences do not have a 

detrimental impact on that and the appeal of the entire area. The southern coast of Portsea Island has fine views to the Isle of Wight, 

the Palmerston Forts and shipping in general including Royal Naval vessels. The entire esplanade facing the sea is a feature for visitors, 

walkers and joggers and the two sections where cars can park next to the beach is over 3 kms long. 

N Economy, employment, and material 

assets
• Help maintain and encourage a strong, 

diverse, and stable economy of the seafront 

and wider city

• Portsmouth and Southampton are the centres of employment in the PUSH sub-region; Portsmouth provides 101,900 jobs, 15.5% of the 

total (2015 figure). Southampton provides 16.5% of the total and the other nine authorities contribute to the total of 451,300 jobs. 

These range from Winchester providing 11.6% of jobs to Gosport providing the lowest at 3.1%.

• Between 2010 and 2017, the Portsmouth economy grew by just 0.5% a year.  That was well below the averages for the South East and 

the UK, which were 1.9% and 2.0% respectively.  It was also below the growth of Solent, and of several cities that Portsmouth can 

reasonably be compared with (Brighton, Newcastle, Plymouth, Salford and Southampton).

• Updated baseline forecasts suggest a similar story applies going forward, although the variations are less extreme, with a forecasted 

1.4% a year growth for Portsmouth over the 2017-36 period, with the Solent area achieving 1.6% and the UK 1.7%. Going forward we 

expect productivity growth to broadly match growth elsewhere, but unfortunately since the Portsmouth starting point is lower, that just 

means that the gap between Portsmouth and its comparators is set to widen.This productivity shortfall is a major challenge for the city.

• However, as with all cities, a lot hinges on the sectors that Portsmouth specialises in. Compared with the South East, the city has a 

heavy reliance on the Public administration and defence sector, reflecting the importance of the Naval Base. Portsmouth has a strong 

Marine and Maritime sector, which is also one of the largest and most productive business sectors in the wider Solent area. It 

contributes 20.5% of the PUSH area GVA and 5% of private sector jobs.

• Portsmouth sees 40,425 people commuting into the city to work, and 22,480 commuting out to work. Of the total amount of people 

working here 63.9% are residents within the city, so there is a good degree of self-containment compared to neighbouring Southampton 

which has 56.67% of the total amount of people working there who are residents, and Test Valley has 40.25%.

• A survey conducted by Tourism South East over July and August 2018 found that the visitor profile consisted of a higher proportion of 

day visitors from 'home' than day visitors and staying visitors from outside Portsmouth.  In terms of visitor destinations, the survey 

found that the majority of people surveyed had visited or were intending to visit destinations within the seafront area, indicating the 

strong draw of the seafront as a visitor destination.

Page 261



 

 
 

APPENDIX 3 

 
 

SA Scoring Criteria 
  

Page 262



Assessment Criteria: Significant positive impact Positive impact Mixed Negative impact Significant negative impact Uncertain No effect

"What contribution does the strategy or proposal make to…" ++ + +/‐ ‐ ‐‐ ? 0

Travel and Transport

      To promote a transport system that provides 
choice, minimises environmental harm by reducing 
road congestion and traffic pollution, and promotes 
the use of public transport and active forms of 
transport

Water (resources and quality)

· Reduce total water consumption and maximise 
efficient use

     To promote flood resilient buildings and 
infrastructure

3.         Avoid, where possible, or reduce the risk of flooding to manage 
and mitigate flood risk?

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant decrease in flood 
risk

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight decrease in 
flood risk

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to zero net increase or 
decrease in flood risk

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight increase in 
flood risk

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant increase in flood risk

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

∙         No. of dwellings and buildings at risk from flooding

Energy

      Minimise total energy consumption and support the 
use of renewable energy rather than fossil fuel/non-
renewable sources

Noise and vibration

      Minimise disturbance and annoyance to people 
and wildlife and stresses to historic assets caused by 
uncontrolled noise and vibration

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise and 
vibration to cause no 
disturbance and annoyance to 
people

Strategy/proposal would 
enable  disturbance and 
annoyance to people 
caused by uncontrolled 
noise and vibration to be 
minimised

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise 
and vibration to cause 
minimal disturbance to 
wildlife

Strategy/proposal would enable 
uncontrolled noise and vibration 
to cause significant disturbance 
to wildlife

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise and 
vibration to cause no 
disturbance to wildlife

Strategy/proposal would 
enable  disturbance to 
wildlife caused by 
uncontrolled noise and 
vibration to be minimised

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant net decrease in 
harmful air pollutants emitted 
within the area than existing

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight net decrease 
in harmful air pollutants 
emitted within the area 
than existing

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant net increase in 
water quality

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight net increase 
in water quality

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to zero net increase or 
decrease in water quality

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight net decrease 
in water quality

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant net decrease in water 
quality

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant decrease in 
reliance on and consumption 
of fossil fuels

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight decrease in 
reliance on and 
consumption of fossil fuels

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to zero net increase or 
decrease in reliance on and 
consumption of fossil fuels

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight increase in 
reliance on and 
consumption of fossil fuels

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant increase in reliance 
on and consumption of fossil 
fuels

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
no walking/cycling 
journeys/movements within the 
area

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Strategy/proposal would enable 
uncontrolled noise and vibration 
to cause significant disturbance 
and annoyance to people

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant net increase in 
harmful air pollutants emitted 
within the area than existing

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
all journeys/movements made 
by vehicles

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
no journeys to the area made 
through public transport

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise 
and vibration to cause 
minimal disturbance and 
annoyance to people

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant increase in 
proportion of energy needs 
being met from renewable 
resources

Potential Indicators

A

B

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant improvements in 
surface water drainage 
management and/or 
significant improvements in 
water consumption and 
efficiency measures

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to 
slightimprovements in 
surface water drainage 
management and/or slight 
improvements in water 
consumption and 
efficiency measures

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight adverse effects 
in surface water drainage 
management and/or slight 
worsening in water 
consumption and efficiency 
measures

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant adverse effects in 
surface water drainage 
management and/or significant 
worsening in water 
consumption and efficiency 
measures

2.         Include surface water drainage management and/or water 
consumption and efficiency measures?

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to minimal vehicle 
movements within the 
area

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to majority of 
journeys/movements 
within the area will be 
made by walking/cycling

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to equal proportion of 
vehicle movements to other 
modes

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to equal proportion of 
walking/cycling movements 
to other modes

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to majority of 
journeys to the area made 
through public transport

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to equal proportion of 
public transport journeys to 
private vehicles made to the 
area

2.    Minimise disturbance to wildlife, especially protected species, caused 
by uncontrolled noise and vibration?

SA Topic/Objectives

C

3.         Encourage use of public transport?

4.         Improve air quality?

1.         Maintain or improve water quality?

1.         Reduce the reliance on, and the consumption of, finite fossil fuels 
for energy?

2.         An increased proportion of energy needs being met from 
renewable resources?

1.         Minimise disturbance and annoyance to people caused by 
uncontrolled noise and vibration?

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to minority of 
journeys/movements within 
the area will be made by 
walking/cycling

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to minority of journeys 
to the area made through 
public transport

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to zero net harmful air 
pollutants emitted within 
the area than existing

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight net increase in 
harmful air pollutants 
emitted within the area 
than existing

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to majority proportion 
of vehicle movements to 
other modes

1.        Minimise and discourage the need to travel by private car/vehicle?

2.         Encourage walking and cycling to create a healthier city?

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to zero net increase or 
decrease in proportion of 
energy needs being met 
from renewable resources

D

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to no motorised vehicle 
movements within the area

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to all journeys/movements 
within the area will be made 
by walking/cycling

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to all journeys to the area 
made through public transport

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight increase in 
proportion of energy 
needs being met from 
renewable resources

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight decrease in 
proportion of energy needs 
being met from renewable 
resources

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant decrease in 
proportion of energy needs 
being met from renewable 
resources

∙         % of journeys to the Seafront area by public transport, walking, 
and cycling

∙         % of journeys to the Seafront area by private vehicles

∙         No. of bus routes serving the Seafront area

∙         % reduction in pollutants and carbon emissions

∙         Compliance with Water Framework Directive monitoring 
requirements

∙         No. of surface water flooding issues

∙         % reduction in pollutants and carbon emissions

∙         No. of developments that include/integrate renewable energy 
generation solutions

∙         No. of incidents/reports of disturbance and annoyance due to 
uncontrolled noise and vibration sources

     To safeguard the health and productivity of sea water 
by minimising the risk of water pollution

∙         No. of incidents/reports of damage to historic assets due to 
uncontrolled noise and vibration sources

P
age 263



Assessment Criteria: Significant positive impact Positive impact Mixed Negative impact Significant negative impact Uncertain No effect

"What contribution does the strategy or proposal make to…" ++ + +/‐ ‐ ‐‐ ? 0
Potential IndicatorsSA Topic/Objectives

Air Quality

      Minimise greenhouse gases and other pollutants

Waste and resource management (soil, contaminated 
land, & waste)

       Reduce waste production and promote reuse, 
recycling and recovery

       Minimise risk to human health and the 
environment from contaminated land

       To protect ground stability and features of 
geological importance

       To minimise soil loss and enhance soil quality

Sustainable construction and buildings

      Ensure that development provides optimum 
economic, environmental, and social benefits, whilst 
integrating sustainable construction principles 

Biodiversity and nature conservation

       Seek to protect habitats and species and promote 
opportunities to enhance and conserve wildlife

Slight net decrease in 
harmful gases and 
pollutants emitted within 
the area than existing

Zero net improvement in air 
quality in the area than 
existing

Zero net harmful gases and 
pollutants emitted within 
the area than existing

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise 
and vibration to cause 
minimal stresses to historic 
assets

Strategy/proposal would enable 
uncontrolled noise and vibration 
to cause significant stresses to 
historic assets

Significant net improvement in 
air quality in the area than 
existing

Slight net deterioration in 
air quality in the area than 
existing

Strategy/proposal would 
enable uncontrolled noise and 
vibration to cause no stresses 
to historic assets

Strategy/proposal would 
enable stresses to historic 
assets caused by 
uncontrolled noise and 
vibration to be minimised

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Moderate opportunities 
for learning, training, and 
skills

Opportunities created for 
either learning, training, or 
skills

No opportunities for 
learning, training, and skills

Reduced opportunities for 
learning, training, and skills

Proposal/strategy would 
harm designated nature 
conservation and/or habitat 
sites, but appears to be 
capable to be mitigated on‐
site

Proposal/strategy would 
harm designated nature 
conservation and/or habitat 
sites, but appears to be 
capable to either be 
mitigated off‐site, 
compensated, or 
outweighed by other 
benefits

Proposal/strategy would 
significantly harm designated 
nature conservation and/or 
habitat sites, and does not 
appear capable of mitigation

Proposal/strategy 
conserves or enhances non‐
designated nature 
conservation and/or 
habitat sites

Proposal/strategy would 
harm non‐designated nature 
conservation and/or habitat 
sites, but appears to be 
capable to be mitigated on‐
site

Proposal/strategy would 
harm non‐designated 
nature conservation and/or 
habitat sites, but appears to 
be capable to either be 
mitigated off‐site, 
compensated, or 
outweighed by other 
benefits

Proposal/strategy 
conserves or enhances 
designated nature 
conservation and/or 
habitat sites

Proposal/strategy would 
significantly harm non‐
designated nature conservation 
and/or habitat sites, and does 
not appear capable of 
mitigation

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

2.     Safeguard and enhance the role of non-designated sites in 
supporting wildlife and habitats?

Moderate level of 
sustainable design 
standards met and 
sustainable construction 
principles partially 
integrated

Either sustainable design 
standards met or 
sustainable construction 
principles integrated

No sustainable design 
standards met and no 
sustainable construction 
principles are integrated

∙         Integrity and condition of European sites, SSSIs, SINCs, and 
locally designated sites should not worsen

3.      Minimise stresses to historic assets caused by uncontrolled noise 
and vibration?

1.     Improve air quality?

2.  Minimise greenhouse gases, carbon emissions, and other pollutants?

1..      Avoid or minimise waste and increase the re-use, recycling, or 
recovery of waste?

2.  Contribute to the reduction of minerals extraction and increase the 
reuse/ recycling of aggregate resources?

3.         Minimise the risk to human health and the environment from 
contaminated land?

4.         Minimise soil loss and, where possible, enhance soil quality?

1.   Ensure the highest sustainable design standards are met and 
sustainable construction principles are integrated?

2.         Create economic opportunities to increase the learning, training, 
and skills of the city's population?

1.     Maintain and/or improve the condition and integrity of internationally, 
nationally, and locally designated nature conservation and habitat sites?

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Significant net decrease in 
harmful gases and pollutants 
emitted within the area than 
existing

E

F

G

H

Proposal/strategy conserves or 
enhances non‐designated 
nature conservation and/or 
habitat sites, and secures net 
gains for biodiversity

Highest level of sustainable 
design standards met and 
sustainable construction 
principles fully integrated

Significant opportunities for 
learning, training, and skills

Significant increase in both 
waste avoidance and waste re‐
use, recycling, or recovery

Significant reduction in 
minerals extraction and 
significant increase in 
reuse/recycling of aggregate 
resources

Significant reduction in risk to 
human health and 
environment from 
contaminated land

Significant reduction in soil loss 
and significant enhancement 
of soil quality

Slight reduction in 
minerals extraction and 
slight increase in 
reuse/recycling of 
aggregate resources

Slight reduction in risk to 
human health and 
environment from 
contaminated land

Slight reduction in soil loss 
and slight enhancement of 
soil quality

Either increase in levels of 
waste avoidance or increase 
in waste re‐use, recycling, or 
recovery

Either reduction in minerals 
extraction or increase in 
reuse/recycling of aggregate 
resources

Either reduction in risk to 
human health or reduction 
in risk to environment from 
contaminated land

Slight reduction in soil loss 
or slight enhancement of 
soil quality

Slight decrease in both 
waste avoidance and waste 
re‐use, recycling, or 
recovery

Significant decrease of both 
waste avoidance and waste re‐
use, recycling, or recovery

Slight increase in minerals 
extraction and slight 
decrease in reuse/recycling 
of aggregate resources

Significant increase in minerals 
extraction and significant 
decrease in reuse/recycling of 
aggregate resources

Slight increase in risk to 
human health and 
environment from 
contaminated land

Significant increase in risk to 
human health and environment 
from contaminated land

Slight increase in soil loss 
and slight deterioration of 
soil quality

Significant increase in soil loss 
and significant deterioration of 
soil quality

Slight net increase in 
harmful gases and 
pollutants emitted within 
the area than existing

Significant net deterioration in 
air quality in the area than 
existing

Significant net increase in 
harmful gases and pollutants 
emitted within the area than 
existing

Slight increase in both 
waste avoidance and 
waste re‐use, recycling, or 
recovery

Slight net improvement in 
air quality in the area than 
existing

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

∙         No. of incidents arising from contaminated land issues

∙         No. of developments achieving BREEAM Very Good or higher

∙         No. of residential developments achieving at least Level 3 of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes

∙         No. of training or apprenticeship programs or schemes created 
through development

Proposal/development leads to 
unsustainability

Proposal/strategy conserves or 
enhances designated nature 
conservation and/or habitat 
sites, and secures net gains for 
biodiversity

∙         No. of days where air pollution is moderate or high

∙         No. of air pollution incidents

∙         No. of general and recycle waste bins in Seafront area

∙         % of recycled material being disposed in recycle waste bins in 
Seafront area

∙         No. of developments achieving BREEAM Very Good or higher

P
age 264



Assessment Criteria: Significant positive impact Positive impact Mixed Negative impact Significant negative impact Uncertain No effect

"What contribution does the strategy or proposal make to…" ++ + +/‐ ‐ ‐‐ ? 0
Potential IndicatorsSA Topic/Objectives

Historic environment and cultural heritage

       To protect, conserve, and, where possible, 
enhance the historic environment in recognition that it 
is an integral part of the city's cultural heritage

5.        Provide for increased understanding, appreciation, and enjoyment 
of the historic environment?

Proposal/strategy will lead to 
significant increase in 
understanding, appreciation, 
and enjoyment of the historic 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to slight increase in 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the historic 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to mixed impact on 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the historic 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to slight decrease in 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the historic 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead to 
significant decrease in 
understanding, appreciation, 
and enjoyment of the historic 
environment

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Landscape and townscape

      To protect, and where possible, enhance the 
character of landscapes and townscapes, particularly 
areas of historic and cultural interest

3.     Foster positive perceptions of the seafront and wider city through 
high-quality design?

Proposal/strategy will lead to a 
significant increase in positive 
perceptions of the seafront 
and wider city

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a slight increase in 
positive perceptions of the 
seafront and wider city

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a mix of positive and 
negative perceptions of the 
seafront and wider city

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a slight decrease in 
positive perceptions of the 
seafront and wider city

Proposal/strategy will lead to a 
significant decrease in positive 
perceptions of the seafront and 
wider city

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Human population, safety, and health and wellbeing

      Maximise opportunities to promote healthy, safe 
and secure environments in which to live, play, and 
work, regardless of ethnicity, race, gender, age, or 
disabilities, and other equality factors

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy makes 
slight net gains for 
biodiversity

Proposal/strategy makes net 
gains and losses for 
biodiversity

Proposal/strategy makes 
slight net losses for 
biodiversity

Proposal/strategy makes 
significant net losses for 
biodiversity

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to slight increase in 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the natural 
environment

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

3.         Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity?

4.       Provide for increased understanding, appreciation, and enjoyment 
of the natural environment?

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

I

J

K

Conserves and enhances a 
designated Conservation Area 
identified to be at risk

Conserves and enhances a 
designated heritage asset 
identified to be at risk

Conserves and enhances a 
potential site of archaeological 
importance identified to be at 
risk

Significantly conserves and 
enhances historic character 
and key views

Proposal/strategy will protect 
and enhance the positive 
characteristics of the seafront's 
landscape

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to all users being treated fairly 
and equally

Proposal/strategy makes 
significant net gains for 
biodiversity

Proposal/strategy will lead to 
significant increase in 
understanding, appreciation, 
and enjoyment of the natural 
environment

1.         Conserve or enhance the significance of conservation areas?

2.         Conserve or enhance the significance of listed 
buildings/structures, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, and registered parks 
and gardens?

3.         Conserve or enhance the significance of sites of potential 
archaeological importance?

4.         Conserve or enhance historic character and key views?

1.       Protect, and where possible, enhance the positive design and 
aesthetic qualities of the seafront's built environment?

2.         Protect, and where possible, enhance the positive characteristics 
of the seafront's landscape?

1.       Improve the health and wellbeing of the city's population and users 
of the seafront?

2.         Ensure that all users are treated fairly and equally, regardless of 
ethnicity, race, gender, age, or disabilities, and other equality factors?

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to mixed impact on 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the natural 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to slight decrease in 
understanding, 
appreciation, and 
enjoyment of the natural 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead to 
significant decrease in 
understanding, appreciation, 
and enjoyment of the natural 
environment

Conserves and enhances a 
designated Conservation 
Area and/or better reveals 
the significance of the CA

Has a less than substantial 
harm to the Conservation 
Area but provides public 
benefit

Has a less than substantial 
harm but does not provide 
public benefit

Substantial harm to or loss of a 
positive heritage asset within 
the CA and does not provide 
substantial public benefit

Conserves and enhances a 
designated heritage asset 
and/or better reveals the 
significance of the heritage 
asset

Has a less than substantial 
harm to the heritage asset 
but provides public benefit

Has a less than substantial 
harm but does not provide 
public benefit

Substantial harm to or loss of a 
designated heritage asset and 
does not provide substantial 
public benefit

Conserves and enhances a 
potential site of 
archaeological importance 
and/or better reveals its 
significance

Has a less than substantial 
harm to the archaeological 
asset but provides public 
benefit

Has a less than substantial 
harm but does not provide 
public benefit

Substantial harm to or loss of a 
potential site of archaeological 
importance and does not 
provide substantial public 
benefit

Slightly conserves and 
enhances historic 
character and key views

Has a less than substantial 
harm to historic character 
and key views but provides 
public benefit

Has a less than substantial 
harm to historic character 
and key views but does not 
provide public benefit

Substantial harm to or loss of 
historic character and key views 
and does not provide 
substantial public benefit

Proposal/strategy will protect 
and enhance the positive 
design and aesthetic qualities 
of the seafront's built 
environment

Proposal/strategy will 
protect the positive design 
and aesthetic qualities of 
the seafront's built 
environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a mixed impact on the 
positive design and 
aesthetic qualities of the 
seafront's built environment

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a loss of the positive 
design and aesthetic 
qualities of the seafront's 
built environment

Proposal/strategy will lead to a 
loss of and worsen the design 
and aesthetic qualities of the 
seafront's built environment

Proposal/strategy will 
protect the positive 
characteristics of the 
seafront's landscape

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a mixed impact on the 
positive characteristics of 
the seafront's landscape

Proposal/strategy will lead 
to a loss of the positive 
characteristics of the 
seafront's landscape

Proposal/strategy will lead to a 
loss of and worsen the 
characteristics of the seafront's 
landscape

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to significant improvement in 
health and wellbeing of the 
city's population and users of 
the seafront

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight improvement 
in health and wellbeing of 
the city's population and 
users of the seafront

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to mixed effects in the 
health and wellbeing of the 
city's population and users 
of the seafront

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to slight deterioration 
in health and wellbeing of 
the city's population and 
users of the seafront

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
significant deterioration in 
health and wellbeing of the 
city's population and users of 
the seafront

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to most users being 
treated fairly and equally

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to minority of users 
being treated fairly and 
equally

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
no users being treated fairly and 
equally

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

• No. of heritage assets on the Heritage at Risk register (this should 
not increase and ideally decrease)

∙         No. of planning applications refused on design grounds relating 
to, for example, impact on streetscene and/or impact on assets of 
architectural significance

∙         Levels of obesity in all age groups should decrease

∙         No. of incidents reported relating to equality

• No. of Conservation Areas (this should not decrease)

∙         No. of planning applications granted where design is considered 
to enhance positively to the wider environment

P
age 265



Assessment Criteria: Significant positive impact Positive impact Mixed Negative impact Significant negative impact Uncertain No effect

"What contribution does the strategy or proposal make to…" ++ + +/‐ ‐ ‐‐ ? 0
Potential IndicatorsSA Topic/Objectives

Communities, amenities, and social value

      To support the welfare, cultural, recreational, and 
infrastructure needs of communities

      Provide opportunities for partnership-working and 
public involvement

Climate change resilience

      Improve resilience to current and future climate 
change by avoiding, reducing, and managing existing 
and future vulnerabilities and climatic risks affecting or 
arising from existing and new development

3.         Avoid, where possible, or reduce the risk of flooding to manage 
and mitigate flood risk?

Strategy/proposal would 
completely remove the risk of 
flooding through avoidance 
and/or active mitigation

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly reduce the 
risk of flooding through 
avoidance and/or active 
mitigation

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
direct development or 
increase vunerability within 
a flood risk area with no 
mitigation proposed

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly increase 
vunerability within a flood risk 
area and/or worsen flood risk 
with no mitigation proposed

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Economy, employment, and material assets

      Help maintain and encourage a strong, diverse, 
and stable economy of the seafront and wider city

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

N

L

M

Strategy/proposal would lead 
to complete elimination of the 
fear of crime and levels of 
crime

1.        Benefit deprived communities within the city?

2.         Improve access to culture, leisure, recreation, and social 
infrastructure for communities?

3.         Promote and improve partnerships and relations between the 
council and stakeholders?

1.         Improve resilience to current and future climate change impacts?

2.        Integrate climate change resilience within resource management, 
e.g. water, waste, minerals?

1.         Maintain and encourage a strong, diverse, and stable economy of 
the seafront and wider city?

2.         Grow the cultural, visitor, and tourism sector?

3.      Support existing and new businesses to establish and thrive?

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly improve access to 
culture, leisure, recreation, 
and social infrastructure for 
communities

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly improve resilience 
to current and future climate 
change impacts

3.       Reduce the fear of crime and levels of crime?

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly worsen access to 
culture, leisure, recreation, and 
social infrastructure for 
communities

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly promote and 
improve partnerships and 
relations between the council 
and stakeholders

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly promote and 
improve partnerships and 
relations between the 
council and stakeholders

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly worsen partnerships 
and relations between the 
council and stakeholders

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly worsen 
partnerships and relations 
between the council and 
stakeholders

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to a reduction in the 
fear of crime and levels of 
crime

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
lead to a slight increase in 
the fear of crime and levels 
of crime

Strategy/proposal would lead to 
a significant increase in the fear 
of crime and levels of crime

Strategy/proposal would bring 
significant benefits to deprived 
communities within the city

Strategy/proposal would 
bring slight benefits to 
deprived communities 
within the city

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
bring slight drawbacks to 
deprived communities 
within the city

Strategy/proposal would bring 
significant drawbacks to 
deprived communities within 
the city

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly contribute to 
maintaining and encouraging a 
strong, diverse, and stable 
economy of the seafront and 
wider city

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly contribute to 
maintaining and 
encouraging a strong, 
diverse, and stable 
economy of the seafront 
and wider city

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly worsen the economy 
of the seafront and wider 
city

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly worsen the 
economy of the seafront and 
wider city

Strategy/proposal would 
not integrate climate 
change resilience within 
resource management at all

Strategy/proposal would not 
integrate climate change 
resilience within resource 
management at all but would 
lead to climate change fragility

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly improve access to 
culture, leisure, recreation, 
and social infrastructure 
for communities

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly worsen access to 
culture, leisure, recreation, 
and social infrastructure for 
communities

Not enough information to 
make a judgement or 
implementation requirements 
will remain unclear until 
development stage

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Proposal/strategy has no 
effect on the objective

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly contribute 
towards supporting existing 
and/or new businesses

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly contribute towards 
supporting existing and/or 
new businesses

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly adversely affect 
existing businesses and/or 
the establishment of new 
businesses

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly adversely affect 
existing businesses and/or the 
establishment of new 
businesses

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly contribute to 
growing the cultural, visitor, 
and tourism sector

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly contribute to 
growing the cultural, 
visitor, and tourism sector

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly contract the cultural, 
visitor, and tourism sector

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly contract the 
cultural, visitor, and tourism 
sector

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly improve resilience 
to current and future 
climate change impacts

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

Strategy/proposal would 
slightly worsen resilience to 
current and future climate 
change impacts

Strategy/proposal would 
significantly worsen resilience to 
current and future climate 
change impacts

Strategy/proposal would 
wholly integrate climate 
change resilience within 
resource management

Strategy/proposal would 
partially integrate climate 
change resilience within 
resource management

Strategy/proposal would 
have mixed effects on this 
issue

∙         No. of visitors annually

∙         Figures of vacant floorspace should be low

∙         No. of proposals backed or jointly‐ventured by the council with 
stakeholders

∙         No. of incidents relating to damage of property and material 
assets from flooding/bad weather events should be low and not 
increase

      Integrating climate change resilience within other 
management areas, e.g. water resources, coastal 
defences, waste.

∙         Fear of crime should decrease and no. of crime incidents should 
decrease

∙         Surveys/data relating to attendees attending or engaging in 
cultural, leisure, and recreation activities and events held within the 
Seafront area (to capture socio‐demographic statistics)

∙         No. of dwellings and buildings at risk of flooding (this should not 
increase)

∙         Overall position / rank of Portsmouth in the UK Competitive 
Index should be maintained and ideally increase

P
age 266



 

 
 

APPENDIX 4 

 
 

SA of 2013 Seafront Masterplan SPD 
 

  

Page 267



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Portsmouth Plan 
 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Report: 
Seafront Masterplan (Supplementary Planning Document) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Services  
April 2013 

 

Page 268



 

You can get this information in large print, 
Braille, audio or in another language by 
calling 9268 8633. 

Page 269



 

Contents 
 
 
1. Introduction           1 
 
2. Appraisal Methodology         3 
 
3. Assessment of the Sustainability Impacts of the Seafront Masterplan  5  
 
4. Monitoring           7 
 
 
Appendix 1:  Compliance with the requirements for the environmental report 

under the SEA Directive 
 
Appendix 2: Sustainability Objectives and Assessment Criteria 
 
Appendix 3:    Determinants of Health 
 
Appendix 4:   Compatibility of Plan Objectives with SA Objectives 
 
Appendix 5:   Sustainability Appraisal of Seafront Masterplan 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 270



 1

1. Introduction 
 
Purpose of the Sustainability Appraisal and this report 
 

1.1.1 The purpose of sustainability appraisal is to promote sustainable development 
through the better integration of sustainability considerations into the preparation and 
adoption of plans.  It is an iterative process that identifies and reports on the likely 
significant effects of a plan, and the extent to which its implementation will achieve 
the social, environmental and economic objectives by which sustainable 
development can be defined.  In particular, it focuses on reviewing alternatives to 
inform decisions on the best way forward. 

 
1.1.2 European Union Directive 2001/42/EC requires a ‘Strategic Environmental 

Assessment’ (SEA) of plans and programmes, including development plans. In 
England, the process of undertaking sustainability appraisal (SA) is mandatory under 
the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  In addition, paragraph 165 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) states that ‘a sustainability 
appraisal which meets the requirements of the European Directive on strategic 
environmental assessment should be an integral part of the plan preparation 
process, and should consider all the likely significant effects on the environment, 
economic and social factors'.  In this report all references to SA should be 
understood to mean SA incorporating SEA. This SA has been prepared in 
accordance with the guidance set out in the CLG Plan Making Manual (2009).  In 
following the guidance, it is deemed that this appraisal meets the requirements of the 
SEA Directive (referred to above).  The table in Appendix 1 sets out how the 
requirements for the environmental report in that SEA Directive have been met in this 
SA report.  

 
1.1.3 This document is the sustainability appraisal report that sits alongside the final 

Seafront masterplan, Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The masterplan is 
intended to guide improvements to the Seafront.  It seeks to articulate a clear identity 
and role for each of the Seafront’s six unique character areas and to highlight 
opportunities for development and public realm improvements.  While the ‘parent 
policy’ to this SPD, policy PCS9 of the Portsmouth Plan, has already been subject to 
a sustainability appraisal (see http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/7923.html), it was 
considered prudent to appraise the masterplan itself, as it contains more detailed 
proposals with their own sustainability implications. 

 
1.1.4 The sustainability appraisal process investigated the likely social, economic and 

environmental effects of the masterplan as it was developed, so that changes could 
be made to improve its sustainability impacts before it is finally adopted. This report 
sets out how SA of the masterplan has been undertaken and what the results of this 
process were.  This document is the final SA report which sits alongside the final 
version of the Seafront masterplan, SPD. 

 
1.1.5 Readers may also wish to refer back to the Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 

(available at http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/4221.html) to gain a fuller 
understanding of the approach to SA that the city council is taking for all of its local 
planning policy documents. The framework contains much of the background work 
that has informed the appraisal of the Seafront masterplan. 

 

Page 271



 2

1.1.6 If you have any questions regarding the Seafront masterplan or this report, please 
call the planning policy team on 023 9268 8633.  
 

Other related assessments 
 

1.2.1 A number of other linked, but distinct assessments were also undertaken to consider 
the various impacts of the Seafront masterplan.  

 
Health Impact Assessment 

1.2.2 Although the Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 (referred to in 1.1.5) includes 
a specific objective for health and well-being, the city council considered it important 
to consider a separate Health Impact Assessment (HIA).  A HIA looks at the impact 
of a plan on the determinants of health, which can be grouped under the six headings 
of lifestyle, personal circumstances, access to services, facilities and amenities, 
social factors, economic factors and environmental factors. The full list of 
determinants of health is shown at Appendix 3, with the ones deemed to be most 
relevant to planning highlighted in bold. In order to determine the overall health 
impact, each of these determinants was considered in turn. However, as many of 
them overlap with the criteria in the sustainability appraisal, not all have been 
discussed in detail in the ‘health and wellbeing’ row of the assessment tables. 
Rather, it should be assumed that impacts identified on sustainability criteria that are 
also determinants of health should be taken to have the same impact on health. 
Impacts specific to health have then been set out in the health row of the table set 
out in Appendix 5. 

  
Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 

1.2.3  A Full EIA was completed. It found that most equalities groups would not be affected 
differently by the Seafront masterplan.  Potential impacts were, however, noted for 
the age and disability groups. 

 
1.2.4    The EIA found that the masterplan does identify opportunities at the Seafront that 

may appeal to a range of different interests and age groups. More places to eat and 
drink, new sports facilities, improvements to the promenade surfacing, more seating 
and better access to the waterfront for those with mobility problems may all appeal to 
older people. 

 
1.2.5  A number of recent improvements in the area, such as the Splash Pool and additions 

to the Canoe Lake play area, are aimed at young people.  The masterplan also sets 
out other opportunities that may appeal to this age group, such as the new Sports 
Hub and further enhancements to sports and play facilities at Canoe Lake. 

 
1.2.6  One of the objectives of the masterplan is to ensure that the Seafront is accessible 

for all users and that it is easy to move around.  The proposals in the SPD will clearly 
impact upon some disability groups, particularly those with mobility problems.   

 
1.2.7 Following comments received during the consultation, the SPD was amended to note 

that care should be taken to ensure that signs and street furniture do not cause an 
obstruction to people using the Promenade / footpaths, and to remove reference to 
using 'raised tables' as a method of traffic calming.  Further guidance relating to 
signage has also been added to note that signs should contain clear font and, where 

Page 272



 3

possible, include images / pictures to aid understanding.  They should also be at a 
height which is accessible for different Seafront visitors e.g. young people / those in 
wheelchairs.  

 
1.2.8 The full EIA can be viewed at http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/yourcouncil/10787.html. 

 
Habitats Regulations Assessment  

1.2.9  Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is a requirement of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. The HRA reviews the likely significant 
effects of the Seafront masterplan on European protected nature conservation sites 
in and around Portsmouth, and seeks to establish whether or not there will be any 
adverse effects on the ecological integrity of these European sites as a result of the 
proposals. 

 
1.2.10 A 'screening statement', the earliest stage of HRA, was completed on the draft 

Seafront masterplan and consulted on alongside the draft SPD. The results of that 
consultation have informed the revised assessment. 

 
1.2.11 Each of the proposals in the Seafront masterplan has been assessed to determine 

whether there could be an adverse effect on a European site if it went ahead. The 
proposals for Clarence Pier, gateways to Southsea Common, the Avenue de Caen 
lighting schemes, the Watersports Hub and the beach huts at Eastney could 
potentially lead to such an impact as a result of disturbance from recreation and / or 
indirect habitat loss. To deal with these potential impacts, possible avoidance and 
mitigation measures were explored and incorporated into the Seafront masterplan.  
The plan has also been amended to stress the importance of early discussions with 
the city council's ecologist and Natural England as detailed schemes come forward. It 
is considered that if these measures are implemented, they would remove the 
potential for adverse effects on the European sites. 

 
1.2.12  The revised HRA can be viewed at http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/25964.html.  

 
2. Appraisal Methodology - When and how the assessment was carried out 

 
2.1.1 The appraisal process was devised and led by planning officers, as it was considered 

important for those responsible for drafting policy documents to be actively involved 
in the appraisal rather than reviewing the results at the end of the process. It is the 
purpose of the sustainability appraisal to challenge and improve the quality of the 
final plan, and it is therefore essential that the authors of the plan should be actively 
involved in the appraisal process. 

 
2.1.2 The now established methodology has been tested a number of times in 

sustainability appraisals of local planning policy documents, most notably the 
Portsmouth Plan (our core strategy / local plan), which was adopted in January 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 273



 4

The SA framework, including objectives, targets and indicators 
 

2.2.1 The city council has devised a generic sustainability appraisal framework for all of its 
local planning policy documents (Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010, as 
referred to in 1.1.5). The framework document sets out the baseline data in tabular 
form, along with associated targets grouped together in ten sustainability objectives, 
assessment criteria and indicators.  

 
Links to other strategies, plans and programmes and sustainability objectives 
 

2.3.1  The Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 also contains a comprehensive review 
of all plans, strategies, guidance and legislation which relate to sustainability and 
which will influence the preparation of any local development documents in general 
terms. The documents reviewed in the framework range from international guidance 
and legislation, through to UK government policies and guidance, and corporate 
policies and strategies at the local level. They also include targets and objectives of 
regulatory and advisory organisations (for example the Environment Agency and 
Natural England). The main sustainability objectives from these documents have 
been recorded in a database. This database is updated as and when documents are 
superseded and / or new documents are published.  For further details, see Part 2 
and Appendix 1 of the Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 
(http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/4221.html).              

 
The social, environmental and economic baseline  
 

2.4.1  As part of the preparation of the Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010, a wide 
variety of information relating to a number of different sustainability issues was 
collected. Most of this was presented at city-wide or ward level so that it would 
provide a broad overview of the key sustainability issues affecting the city as a whole, 
and this therefore relevant to any local planning policy document.  For further details, 
see Part 2 and Appendix 3 of the Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 
(http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/4221.html).             

 
Sustainability Appraisal of the Seafront Masterplan SPD 

 
2.5.1 A sustainability appraisal (SA) was undertaken as part of the development of the 

draft Seafront masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and, together 
with the SPD, the SA report was subject to consultation in the summer of 2012. 

 
2.5.2 Comments on the SA were received from Natural England.  They were concerned 

about the lack of clarity in the masterplan regarding the use of local plant species, the 
protection of Brent geese and the impact of the proposals for the Watersports Hub 
and the beach huts on the vegetated shingle on Eastney Beach. The city council 
worked with Natural England to overcome these concerns, and changes were made 
to the masterplan, as described in the following section and in Appendix 5.  

  
2.5.3 This updated report shows what changes were made following the consultations and 

describes the anticipated sustainability impacts and, where relevant any mitigation 
measures, and suggested monitoring indicators for the final SPD. The full details of 
the assessment findings for the Seafront masterplan are described in the following 
section and in Appendix 5.             

Page 274



 5

3. Sustainability Impacts of the Seafront masterplan 
 
Seafront masterplan - Vision and objectives and their compatibility with 
sustainability objectives  
 

3.1.1 Five objectives were initially set for the Seafront masterplan. A sixth objective 
regarding the historic environment was added to the final masterplan as a result of a 
consultation response from English Heritage. These objectives have been checked 
for their compatibility with the ten sustainability objectives set out in the Sustainability 
Appraisal Framework 2010.  Appendix 4 shows the full results of this assessment.  
No particular incompatibilities were highlighted through this process.  

 
3.1.2 The masterplan objectives were shown to have positive or possible positive effects 

on the sustainability criteria.  Only one was shown to be uncertain – the effect on the 
biodiversity objective.  This was addressed by a clearer recognition of the role of 
some proposals in enhancing biodiversity (e.g. additional planting) and a need to 
take biodiversity into account, particularly in sensitive areas such as Eastney Beach.  
In addition, the final masterplan specifically sets out mitigation measures that will be 
needed to make the proposals around Eastney Beach acceptable. 

 
Options considered and why rejected 

 
3.2.1 A possible location for the Promenade café / restaurant was rejected in favour of a 

location further away from residential properties that would be less likely to have 
negative impacts on the health and wellbeing objective in terms of noise and 
disturbance.  

 
3.2.2 The draft masterplan contained three options for the redevelopment of Clarence Pier.  

It was always the intention to reduce the number of options for Clarence Pier 
following the initial consultation.  The two remaining options in the final masterplan 
allow for comprehensive redevelopment or redevelopment of smaller parcels of land 
reflecting ownership boundaries.  No uses suggested in the initial three options have 
been discounted.  The masterplan has, however, been amended to strengthen the 
text to highlight the challenges of delivering any residential uses in this area.  This 
includes the need for noise mitigation measures to protect any new residential uses 
from noise from the hovercraft and nearby leisure uses, the need for development to 
be designed and located appropriately in order to adapt to future coastal change, and 
the need to consider any environmental issues associated with flood defence works.  
These measures will avoid potential negative impacts on the health & wellbeing and 
flood risk SA criteria.  Also, and as already mentioned, the masterplan has been 
amended to highlight the importance of earlier discussions with the city council's 
ecologist and Natural England as detailed proposals are drawn up so as to ensure 
that, if necessary, effective design solutions can be found which will enable 
development to go ahead, whilst not impacting on the Brent Geese (an internationally 
protected species) and their feeding sites (the Common).  These measures will help 
to avoid potential negative impacts on the biodiversity SA criteria 

 
3.2.3 The option for the Watersports Hub located at St George's Road was rejected 

following the consultation and the final masterplan suggests a revised location at 
Eastney Beach, where the facility can be combined with the proposed 'Eco Café'.  
This will enable the facilities to share servicing.  

Page 275



 6

 
3.2.4     Finally, the option of moving the bandstand to the Rose Gardens was rejected after 

the consultation.  Many objections were received to this proposal, mainly related 
concerns that it would disrupt the quiet and tranquil nature of the Rose Gardens.  As 
such, the proposal to move the bandstand could have had a negative impact on the 
sustainability objectives of health & wellbeing, culture, leisure & recreation and 
heritage.     

 
Significant social, environmental and economic effects of the Seafront masterplan 

 
3.3.1 The proposals in the 'Area Framework' section and the individual character area 

sections of the masterplan were assessed against the sustainability objectives. 
 
3.3.2 The majority of the scores were positive.  The aim of the masterplan is to improve the 

Seafront and to make it more attractive to residents and visitors.  Particularly worth 
highlighting, therefore, are the positive scores for the landscape & townscape and the 
heritage objectives, as well as for the economy, leisure and health objectives.  

 
3.3.3 The SA indicated that the masterplan has no direct relationship to some of the SA 

objectives, which is largely due to the limited scope of the Seafront masterplan and 
its focus primarily on environmental improvements, rather than on large scale 
development. 

 
3.3.4 A number of uncertain and negative impacts were highlighted through the 

sustainability appraisal.  Many of these were addressed by making amendments to 
the document, such as the need for clearer recognition of biodiversity assets. 
Changes were also made to clarify the need for permeable (flood risk objective) and 
wheelchair and ambulant friendly surfaces (social inclusion & quality of life objective).  

 
3.3.5 For other parts of the masterplan that showed uncertain or negative effects on 

individual sustainability objectives, no changes were made to the plan as there were 
other reasons for retaining these proposals in their existing form.  For example, while 
the locations of the two proposed hotels are not very well served by public transport 
and therefore scored poorly against the natural resources objective, the need for a 
vibrant mix of uses at the Clarence Pier site and for an alternative use for the listed 
Royal Marines Museum, meant that these proposals remained in the plan for further 
consideration.  Other matters that are possibly negative or are uncertain have been 
addressed by including proposed mitigation measures in the masterplan, most 
notable for biodiversity issues linked to the Eastney Beach proposals, and noise and 
flood risk issues for any redevelopment at Clarence Pier.   

 
3.3.6     Finally, while in many sections of the masterplan the proposals have no sustainability 

impact (and therefore score as neutral) over and above the impact of sea defences, 
which are planned through a different project, the issue of flood risk will be relevant to 
many of the proposals as the details are drawn up.   

 
3.3.7 For the full results of the SA process please see Appendix 5. 
 
 
 
 

Page 276



 7

 
4. Monitoring 

 
4.1.1 The city council already operates an annual monitoring system (Annual Monitoring 

Report) of its planning documents. It is proposed that monitoring of the sustainability 
impacts will be part and parcel of the general monitoring of the progress of the plan.  

 
4.1.2 The city council is a key landowner at the Seafront and also the Local Planning 

Authority.  As such it will be able to guard against potential negative impacts of new 
development and to promote positive ones. In sustainability terms it will be 
particularly important to monitor and seek to avoid any negative effects in relation to 
flood risk and biodiversity, which have both been highlighted in the SA as the areas 
most likely to be adversely affected or be uncertain.  

 
4.1.3 Monitoring indicators for these and other matters will include: 

 Percentage of the Seafront coastline protected to a 1 in 200 year flood event; 

 Number of properties at risk from flooding; 

 Change in areas and populations of biodiversity importance; 

 Visitor numbers to Portsmouth (and the Seafront in particular); 

 Percentage of residents that think their health is good; 

 Participation in active recreation; 

 Participation in cultural activities; 

 Percentage of people satisfied with their local area as a place to live.  
 
4.1.4 For further information about the Annual Monitoring Report, please see 

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/6109.html.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 277



 

 

 
Appendix 1:  Compliance with the requirements for the environmental report under the 
SEA Directive (European Union Directive 2001/42/EC) 
 

 
The Sustainability Appraisal Framework 2010 can be found at 
http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/4221.html 
 

Information referred to in Article 5(1) Where has this requirement 
been addressed 

a)  an outline of the contents, main objectives of the 
plan or programme and relationship with other relevant 
plans and programmes 

 

Sections 1.1.3, 3.1 and 
Appendix 4 of this report 

b) the relevant aspects of the current state of the 
environment and the likely evolution thereof without 
implementation of the plan or programme 

Sustainability Appraisal 
Framework 2010 

c) the environmental characteristics of areas likely to be 
significantly affected 

Sustainability Appraisal 
Framework 2010 and 
Appendix 5 of this report 

d) any existing environmental problems which are 
relevant to the plan or programme, including, in 
particular, those relating to any areas of a particular 
environmental importance, such as areas designated 
pursuant to Directives 79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC 

Sustainability Appraisal 
Framework 2010 

e) the environmental protection objectives, established 
at international, Community or Member State level, 
which are relevant to the plan or programme and the 
way in those objectives and any environmental 
considerations have been taken into account during its 
preparation 

Sustainability Appraisal 
Framework 2010 

f) the likely significant effects on the environment, 
including on issues such as biodiversity, population, 
human health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic 
factors, material assets, cultural heritage including 
architectural and archaeological heritage, landscape 
and the interrelationship between the above 

Section 3 and Appendix 5 of 
this report 

g) the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as 
fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects on 
the environment of implementing the plan or programme

Section 3 and the final 
column of the table in 
Appendix 5 of this report 

h) an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives 
dealt with, and a description of how the assessment 
was undertaken including any difficulties (such as 
technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered 
in compiling the required information 

Section 3 of this report 

i) a description of the measures envisaged concerning 
monitoring in accordance with Article 10 

Section 4 of this report 

j) a non-technical summary of the information provided 
under the above headings 

Not necessary as the whole 
report is short and non-
technical 

Page 278



 

 

Appendix 2: Sustainability Appraisal – Objectives and Assessment Criteria 
 

Sustainability Appraisal Framework (2010) – Summary of SA Objectives & Assessment Criteria 

ISSUE & SUSTAINABILITY 
OBJECTIVE 

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA: 
“What contribution does the policy make to…” 

1 Natural Resources & Climate 
Change 
To protect the quality and minimise the 
consumption of natural resources, and 
minimise emissions to address the 
causes of climate change 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Minimising the need to travel? 
Reducing the reliance on, and the consumption of, finite fossil fuels in 
transport and reducing emissions? 
Reducing the reliance on, and the consumption of, finite fossil fuels 
through energy efficiency in development?  
Improving air quality? 
Reducing final disposal of waste, including avoiding waste, re-using 
and recycling? 
Reducing the extraction of minerals and increasing the use of recycled 
aggregate? 
Maintaining and enhancing water quality? 
Conserving water resources? 
Re-using brownfield land, vacant sites and buildings? 
The density of development? 

2 Flood Risk 
To reduce flood risk from all sources of 
flooding 

Avoiding development in flood risk areas? 
Managing flood risk on sites at risk of flooding? 
Minimising the impact of development on the city’s sewer system? 

3 Biodiversity 
To make sure that the city’s most 
important wildlife species and habitats 
are protected and enhanced 

Maintaining and / or improving the condition of internationally, 
nationally and locally designated nature conservation sites?  
Safeguarding the role of non-designated sites in supporting wildlife in 
the city? 

4  Landscape & Townscape Quality 
To preserve and enhance the character 
and appearance of the city and its 
surroundings, including its built-up areas 
and its open spaces 

The quality / appearance of the built environment? 
Fostering positive perceptions of the city’s attractiveness? 
To protecting and enhancing the greenness of the city, by improving 
the quality and quantity of open spaces and trees? 

5 Heritage 
To protect and conserve Portsmouth’s 
historic, cultural and maritime heritage 

Maintaining and protecting conservation areas? 
Maintaining and protecting listed buildings and scheduled ancient 
monuments and their settings? 

6 Homes for Everyone 
To ensure that good quality housing is 
readily available and attainable to all 
those who need it  
 

Delivering sufficient housing numbers to satisfy overall housing need 
within the city? 
Delivering sufficient affordable housing units to satisfy the needs of 
those on lower incomes? 
Ensuring an appropriate mix and balance of housing types and 
tenures across the city and at neighbourhood level? 
Promoting good quality homes that will stand the test of time? 

7 Education, Employment & Economy 
To  ensure that the city’s economy is 
buoyant and diverse, and to develop and 
maintain a skilled workforce to support 
long-term competitiveness 

Employment levels? 
Supporting new and existing businesses? 
Economic growth? 
Maintaining and enhancing the appeal of Portsmouth’s visitor 
attractions? 
The provision of adequate education & training facilities? 
Creating opportunities to increase the skills level of the local 
population? 

8 Health & Wellbeing 
To promote standards of health within 
the city’s population and to make 
Portsmouth a city where everyone feels 
safe and is safe 
 

Improving people’s perception of their own health? 
Improving the health of the city’s population? 
Increasing opportunities for healthy pursuits?  
Ensuring access to adequate healthcare facilities? 
Reducing Health inequalities? 
Reducing danger to all road users and the potential for accidents? 
Reducing the fear of crime and levels of crime, in particular violent 
crime and anti-social behaviour? 

Page 279



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 Culture, Leisure & Recreation 
To ensure that there are opportunities for 
everyone to participate in fulfilling 
healthy and rewarding leisure activities 
to suit a full range of needs and interests 

Ensuring that everyone has easy access to pleasant, multi-functional 
green spaces across the city? (NB sports facilities are covered in 
‘health’ objective) 
Ensuring that all the city’s children have easy access to a high quality 
play area? 
Ensuring that the city maintains adequate cultural and entertainment 
facilities to satisfy residents’ expectations 

10 Social Inclusion & Quality of Life 
To minimise unfair disadvantage or 
discrimination, so that all people in the 
city have equal access to facilities & 
services, feel part of a community and 
have a sense of pride in Portsmouth 

Maintaining the role of the city’s town and local centres and ensuring 
their continued vitality and viability? 
Ensuring that as many people as possible have good access to shops 
and services? 
Reducing concentrations of social disadvantage in certain areas of the 
city? 

Page 280



 

Appendix 3: Determinants of health (Bold denotes those most relevant to local planning policy documents); Ison, E. (2002) Rapid appraisal tool for 
Health Impact Assessment  
 

Lifestyle Personal circumstances Access to services, facilities and amenities 
 Diet 

 Exercise and physical activity 

 Smoking habit 

 Exposure to passive smoking 

 Alcohol intake 

 Dependency on prescription drugs 

 Illicit drug and substance use 

 Sexual behaviour 

 Other health-related behaviours, such as 
tooth-brushing, bathing, and food 
preparation 

 Travel choices 

 Where you work in relation to where you 
live 

 Structure and cohesion of family unit 

 Parenting 

 Childhood development 

 Life skills 

 Personal safety 

 Employment status 

 Working conditions 

 Level of income, including benefits 

 Level of disposable income 

 Housing tenure 

 Housing conditions 

 Educational attainment 

 Skills levels including literacy and 
numeracy 

 to Employment Opportunities and Workplaces 

 to Housing 

 to Shops (to supply basic needs) 

 to Amenities (e.g. bank, Post Office) 

 to Community facilities 

 to Public transport 

 to education, training and skills development 

 to Healthcare 

 to Social Services 

 to Childcare 

 to Respite Care 

 to Leisure and recreation services and facilities, 
including open space 

Social Factors Economic Factors Environmental Factors 
 Social contact

 Social support 

 Social cohesion 

 Neighbourliness 

 Participation in the community 

 Membership of community groups 

 Reputation of community/area 

 Participation in public affairs 

 Level of crime and disorder 

 Fear of crime and disorder 

 Level of antisocial behaviour 

 Fear of antisocial behaviour 

 Discrimination 

 Fear of discrimination 

 Public safety measures 

 Road safety measures 

 Creation of wealth

 Distribution of wealth 

 Retention of wealth in local 
area/economy 

 Distribution of income 

 Business activity 

 Job creation 

 Availability of employment 
opportunities 

 Quality of employment opportunities 

 Availability of education opportunities 

 Quality of education opportunities 

 Availability of training and skills 
development opportunities 

 Quality of training and skills development 
opportunities 

 Technological development 

 Amount of traffic congestion 

 Air quality

 Water quality 

 Soil quality/Level of contamination 

 Noise, odour, vibration levels 

 Hazards 

 Land use 

 Natural habitats and Biodiversity 

 Landscape, including green and open spaces 

 Townscape, including civic areas and public realm 

 Use/consumption of natural resources 

 Energy use: CO2/other greenhouse gas emissions 

 Solid waste management 

 Public transport infrastructure 

 Active travel infrastructure 

 Flood Risk 

P
age 281



 

Appendix 4:  Sustainability Appraisal of the Seafront masterplan objectives  
 

Masterplan Objectives 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 The objective to strengthen routes from one end to the Seafront to another is likely 
to encourage walking and cycling as leisure pursuits as well as modes of 
transport.  The objective to integrate the sea defences with improvements to the 
Seafront has the potential to save resources. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  One of the masterplan objectives is ‘ensuring the new sea defences integrate 
sensitively with the local environment and provide opportunities to improve the 
Seafront’. There is not an objective to reduce flood risk as such.  This is largely 
due to the fact that the main focus of the masterplan is on environmental 
improvements. Nevertheless, the mention of sea defences is relevant to this 
objective, as it shows recognition of their importance on the seafront. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity ? One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes between Old 
Portsmouth and Eastney Beach, and to other parts of the city.’  Eastney Beach is 
of local nature conservation value.  It is currently a very quiet stretch of beach – 
this objective could lead to an increase in use.  However, the nature conservation 
value of this area is recognised in another masterplan objective: ‘protecting the 
open nature of Southsea Common and other public spaces, and the valuable 
wildlife habitat at Eastney Beach’. 

Biodiversity issues and additional mitigation 
measures (particularly relevant to Eastney 
Beach) have been made clearer in the 
masterplan. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 Landscape and Townscape quality are very much the focus of the masterplan. 
Some of the masterplan objectives include ‘protecting the open nature of 
Southsea Common and other public spaces’, ‘ensuring that the design of new 
attractions and public spaces is distinctive and of a high quality, and that it is 
sensitive to, and enhances the historic character of the area', and ‘ensuring the 
new sea defences integrate sensitively with the local environment and provide 
opportunities to improve the Seafront’. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘ensuring that the design of new 
attractions and public spaces is distinctive and of a high quality, and that it is 
sensitive to, and enhances the historic character of the area'.  Following the 
consultation on the draft masterplan, an additional specific heritage objective was 
added: 'conserving and enhancing the Seafront’s historic environment and 
heritage assets'. 

A specific heritage objective was added to the 
masterplan. 

P
age 282



 

 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø There are no masterplan objectives relevant to this SA objective.  
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant mix of leisure and 
tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and restaurants that will 
attract people to the Seafront all year round’. This will have a positive effect on the 
local economy.  Another objective of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes 
between Old Portsmouth and Eastney Beach and to other parts of the city’, which 
could benefit nearby town centres.  

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes between Old 
Portsmouth and Eastney Beach, and to other parts of the city.’  This will make it 
easier or more pleasant to walk from one end of the Seafront to the other, with 
obvious health benefits. 

No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 The masterplan seeks to increase the attractiveness and usability of this key 
leisure resource in the city, which provides free opportunities for leisure activities 
all year round.  One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant 
mix of leisure and tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and 
restaurants that will attract people to the seafront all year round’. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant mix of leisure and 
tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and restaurants that will 
attract people to the seafront all year round’. The aim is to make the seafront a 
place that everyone can enjoy. 

No change. 

 

 Positive effect Where the document / policy / option is certain to have a positive impact on the sustainability objectives  

  Possible positive 
effect

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a positive impact, but where there is some uncertainty  

?  Uncertain overall effect Where the effect of the  document / policy / option  on the sustainability criterion is uncertain, or where there are both positive and negative effects, thereby making 
the overall effect uncertain 

Possible negative 
effect

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a negative impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

Negative effect Where the  document / policy / option  is certain to have a negative impact on the sustainability criterion 

Ø  No direct relationship 
or no impact 

Where there is no direct relationship between the  document / policy / option  and the criterion or the  document / policy / option  has only a very minor impact on the 
criterion  

P
age 283



 

Appendix 5: SA of the Seafront masterplan  

 

 
Area Framework, Design Principles and Access 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution 
to SA 

objective 
Reason for Score 

Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 
measures included 

1 Natural Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This section includes a number of provisions with positive sustainability impacts, 
such as recycling facilities in public bins, the encouragement of recycled 
materials and access to the Seafront by non-car modes. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The links between coastal defence development and improvements to the 
Seafront are well recognised in this section.  These are mainly on the level of 
making sea defences multifunctional, for example by integrating seating or 
using them as landscape features.  The section on materials also refers to all 
surfaces should be made of permeable / porous materials. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity ? The section highlights biodiversity designations, the need to consider impacts 
on them and suggests using native species in planting schemes.     

The initial SA highlighted that changes needed 
to be made to the document to highlight 
biodiversity issues more clearly. The final 
masterplan was amended further to include 
references to the need to seek ecological 
advice on the best species to use in planting 
and lighting schemes to reduce any ecological 
impact. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the 
Seafront and public art is encouraged. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  The heritage designations are set out in this section. Design principles 
recognise the sensitivity of historic assets to the proposals and guard against 
their loss.  Interpretation boards are encouraged that will help visitors and 
residents understand the value of these assets.     

No change. 

6 Homes for Everyone Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and 
improve its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy.  There 
are provisions for more concessions and other businesses in the area.  

No change. 

P
age 284



 

 

 

8 Health & Wellbeing  The improvements to the Seafront will make it a more attractive place to visit, to 
walk and to take in the sea air.  The design principles recognise to need to 
design out crime. 

No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure & 
Recreation 

 The masterplan seeks to increase the attractiveness and usability of this key 
leisure resource in the city, which provides free opportunities for leisure 
activities all year round.  Additional beach huts, concession and kiosks will add 
to the offer, and the importance of events is recognised. 
 

No change. 

10 Social Inclusion & 
Quality of Life 

 The plan seeks to provide a broader range of attractions on the Seafront and 
better ease of movement for all.   
 
 
 
 

The masterplan was amended to note that 
care should be taken to ensure that signs and 
street furniture do not cause an obstruction to 
people using the Promenade / footpaths, and 
to remove reference to using 'raised tables' as 
a method of traffic calming.  Further guidance 
relating to signage has also been added to 
note that signs should contain clear font and, 
where possible, include images / pictures to 
aid understanding.  They should also be at a 
height which is accessible for different 
Seafront visitors e.g. young people / those in 
wheelchairs.   

P
age 285



 

 

Opportunity Area 4.1 Old Portsmouth 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 Reuse of brownfield land, in the form of the use of the Arches in the historic 
defence walls contributes to this objective, as does the suggested cycle hire 
scheme. 
 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and public art is encouraged in this section of the Seafront in particular.  Reuse of 
the currently vacant Arches will add visual interest to the area which is currently 
underused.  

No change. 

5 Heritage  The proposals reuse of the Arches.  The effect on this on the heritage objective 
will depend on the details of the scheme, but this part of the document recognises 
the historic sensitivity of the Arches and suggests bringing them into use.     

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. 
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and improve 
its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy. Improvements to 
this part of the Seafront set out in the masterplan form part of this. In addition, the 
proposed use of the Arches for small art & crafts units will provide opportunities for 
small businesses.  

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 

No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 The proposed use of the Arches will provide additional leisure or culture uses (e.g. 
art exhibitions), although it should be noted that the end users of any converted 
Arches are not yet determined. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 
 

No change. 

P
age 286



 

 

 

Opportunity Area 4.2 Long Curtain Moat to Clarence Pier 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 Better bus / hovercraft interchange facilities are proposed. However, additional 
parking is also proposed in the area, which may encourage people to drive.  A 
hotel forms part of the redevelopment proposals, but is not very accessible by 
public transport.  The residential element does not have easy access to shops and 
services, which could encourage residents to drive. 
 
 

No change – these potential impacts are 
recognised, but there are other sustainability 
reasons, such as the need to revitalise this 
area, that are also relevant to these proposals.  
However, the masterplan does highlight the 
difficulty of achieving residential development 
on this site. 

2 Flood Risk  Sea defences are considered in this section. However, more intensive use of an 
area at risk of flooding, in the form of a hotel and / or residential use is proposed, 
which has a negative impact on this SA objective. 
 
 
 

The potential impacts are recognised, but 
there are other sustainability reasons, such as 
the need to revitalise this area, that are also 
relevant to these proposals.  The masterplan 
includes text highlighting the need for new 
development to provide sea defences.   

3 Biodiversity 
 

? During the consultation, Natural England raised concerns about the potential 
impact of any new buildings on Brent geese accessing the parks along the 
Seafront, including overshadowing and impacts on sight lines.  Therefore the 
height and design of any new buildings will have to be carefully considered at the 
detailed development stage.  
 

The masterplan has been amended to 
highlight this issue and to stress to developers 
the importance of early discussions with the 
city council’s ecologist and Natural England, to 
ensure that, if necessary, effective design 
solutions can be found which will enable 
development to go ahead, whilst not impacting 
on this internationally protected species. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

? The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront.  
This section includes a new promenade, visually attractive and well integrated sea 
defences, planting schemes and the design of key buildings.  However, this 
section also includes a proposal for a landmark building outside of the areas 
identified in the council’s tall buildings policy.  The height and design of this 
building will therefore have to be carefully considered at the development stage. 
 

No change - the height and design of any 
building will have to be carefully considered at 
the detailed design / planning application 
stage. 

P
age 287



 

 

5 Heritage  The masterplan proposes the improvement of the route along this stretch of 
historic town defences. The detailed proposals will have to be very sensitive to the 
historic environment. 

No change is needed to this section of the 
masterplan as the importance of heritage 
assets and issues are already addressed at 
the beginning of the document (including the 
new heritage objective - see above). 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

? This section includes proposals for residential development at the pier, which will 
contribute to housing delivery in the city.  It is uncertain at this stage, however, 
what types of accommodation this would include, and the masterplan does 
recognise that residential uses may be difficult to achieve here. 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and improve 
its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy. Improvements to 
this part of the Seafront set out in the masterplan form part of this, in particular 
rejuvenating Clarence Pier as a visitor destination. The possible hotel and 
conference centre would also add to the local economy. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 This section of the masterplan includes provisions for safer interchange facilities 
and safe and easy access, which will reduce danger to road users. 
 
 

The masterplan includes text highlighting the 
need for noise mitigation measures to protect 
any residential uses from noise from the 
hovercraft and nearby leisure uses. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

? The masterplan encourages the redevelopment of an existing leisure attraction. 
Whether this has a positive or negative impact on this SA objective is very much a 
matter of subjective judgement depending on whether individuals like the existing 
funfair and arcades, or whether they prefer a different mix of uses including cafes, 
restaurants and a hotel. 

No change to range of uses proposed at 
Clarence Pier. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

? Car parking capacity is retained in the proposals, allowing easy access for those 
dependent on their cars. Residents of any residential element would not have 
easy access to shops and services. Residential and hotel uses on the site could 
exclude people from areas that are currently publicly accessible, but the document 
does recognise the need for a public route through the site.  In addition, 
depending on the nature of the proposed uses, they could exclude those on low 
incomes. 
  
 
 
 

No change. 

P
age 288



 

 

Opportunity Area 4.3 Southsea Common 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This part of the masterplan promotes improved walking routes. 
 
 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The links between coastal defence development and improvements to the 
Seafront are well recognised in this section.  These are mainly on the level of 
making sea defences multifunctional, for example by integrating seating or using 
them as landscape features. This section does not however make any direct 
contribution (positive or negative) to avoiding flood risk, although as mentioned 
above, the area framework section does refer to use of permeable / porous 
materials to reduce flood risk. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Whilst there are no specific references in this section of the masterplan.  The 
masterplan does recognise the importance of Southsea Common as an asset and 
highlights the need to protect it as it is a Brent goose feeding site. 
 
 

Additional text has been added to strengthen 
protection in both the 'Area Framework' 
section and to highlight the potential impact 
from any development at Clarence Pier (see 
table above). 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and this section includes design guidelines for buildings, improvements to routes 
through the common and practical and well integrated sea defences. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document specifically highlights the need to protect a historic 
shelter and improves the setting of the Royal Naval War Memorial, as well as 
improving Southsea Common, which is protected through English Heritage’s 
register of parks and gardens. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. 
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the expansion of existing 
businesses and for the location of new concessions / kiosks on the Seafront. 
 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 There are provisions for better routes through the area which is likely to promote 
healthy walks and proposals for improved crossing facilities, which will reduce 
danger to road users. 

No change. 

P
age 289



 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 This part of the Seafront already provides opportunities for enjoying views of the 
sea and fresh air, but proposals will improve this experience.  
 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 
 

No change. 

Opportunity Area 4.4 Southsea Castle and Surrounds 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This section does not have a significant impact on this objective, but there is a 
proposal to reuse buildings in this area. 
 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The masterplan recognises that proposals for the Castle amphitheatre would form 
part of the sea defences for this area. 
 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 Proposals include the significant remodelling of the area around Speakers Corner 
& Roxby’s.  This is currently an area of little townscape interest, and the proposals 
are likely to improve the area, though much will depend on the detailed design. 
 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document seeks to improve the setting of the historic Southsea 
Castle. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. 
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the expansion of existing 
businesses and for the location of new concessions / kiosks on the Seafront.  The 
proposed Sports Hub does affect an existing business, but the need for 
reprovision is recognised in the masterplan. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 There are provisions for improved crossing facilities, which will reduce danger to 
road users.  The proposed Sports Hub also contributes to this objective. 

No change. 

P
age 290



 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include a new Sports Hub and will improve Southsea Castle as a visitor 
attraction and make the most of this important cultural asset. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 
 

No change. 

Opportunity Area 4.5 South Parade Pier to Canoe Lake 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

Ø This section does not have a significant impact on this objective, but there is a 
proposal to reuse buildings in this area. 
 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Whilst the draft masterplan showed proposals for a wildlife garden, the final 
version has been amended to reflect planning permission which has been granted 
for a community garden for the cultivation of fruit, vegetables and other plants, and 
for a small structure to provide storage / a shop to sell produce grown on the site. 
 

Changes have been made to reflect the 
planning permission which has been granted 
but this does not alter the overall score as the 
new community garden will still have a positive 
impact on biodiversity. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and this section includes proposals for the improvement of the open spaces in this 
area. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document seeks to improve this conservation area, and more 
specifically the historic structures of South Parade Pier, Lumps Fort, and 
Cumberland House. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. 
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the location of new businesses 
/ cafes on the Seafront.  Improving the pier will enhance its potential to attract 
visitors and generate wealth in the local economy. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 This section seeks to improve opportunities for informal sport and play on the 
Seafront. 

No change. 

P
age 291



 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include the improvement of the pier as an events venue and the area 
around Canoe Lake for informal leisure activities. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 
 

No change. 

Opportunity Area 4.6 Eastney Beach 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution to 
SA objective 

Reason for Score 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

? The proposal for a hotel in the Royal Marines Museum would make good use of 
an existing building, but the location is poorly accessible by public transport. 
 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Eastney Beach is a local wildlife site, designated for its plant species.  The 
proposed beach huts and Watersports Hub are likely to result in the loss of some 
of this vegetation through the building footprint and possible disturbance through 
increased use of the area. 

The final masterplan specifically sets out 
mitigation measures that will be needed to 
make the proposals in this area acceptable. 
 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

? The proposals will significantly alter the nature of the Eastney end of the beach.  
This end of the Seafront is currently characterised by natural planted shingle and 
an absence of formal leisure activities.  More beach huts, a Watersports Hub and 
a café will visually change the area and are likely to increase activity here.  

No change. 

5 Heritage  Proposals in this section of the document will improve the setting of Fort 
Cumberland and make it more accessible.  Reuse of the Royal Marines Museum 
would keep it in active use. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. 
 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section does not include any significant provisions that contribute to this 
objective, but there is a suggestion of an additional café which will make a small 
contribution, and more beach huts could encourage their owners to stay on the 
Seafront for longer and use the facilities. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 
 

Proposals include a Watersports Hub and informal play areas at the proposed 
café, and more beach huts will encourage their users to stay enjoy the outdoors 
for longer. 

No change. 

P
age 292



 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include a Watersports Hub and informal play areas at the proposed 
café. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. 
 
 

No change. 

 

 

 Positive effect Where the document / policy / option is certain to have a positive impact on the sustainability objectives  

  Possible positive 
effect 

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a positive impact, but where there is some uncertainty  

?  Uncertain overall 
effect 

Where the effect of the  document / policy / option  on the sustainability criterion is uncertain, or where there are both positive and negative effects, thereby making 
the overall effect uncertain 

Possible negative 
effect 

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a negative impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

Negative effect Where the  document / policy / option  is certain to have a negative impact on the sustainability criterion 

Ø  No direct relationship 
or no impact 

Where there is no direct relationship between the  document / policy / option  and the criterion or the  document / policy / option  has only a very minor impact on the 
criterion  

P
age 293



 

 

Appendix 4:  Sustainability Appraisal of the Seafront masterplan objectives 
 

 

Masterplan Objectives 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 The objective to strengthen routes from one end to the Seafront to another is likely 
to encourage walking and cycling as leisure pursuits as well as modes of 
transport. The objective to integrate the sea defences with improvements to the 
Seafront has the potential to save resources. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  One of the masterplan objectives is ‘ensuring the new sea defences integrate 
sensitively with the local environment and provide opportunities to improve the 
Seafront’. There is not an objective to reduce flood risk as such. This is largely 
due to the fact that the main focus of the masterplan is on environmental 
improvements. Nevertheless, the mention of sea defences is relevant to this 
objective, as it shows recognition of their importance on the seafront. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity ? One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes between Old 
Portsmouth and Eastney Beach, and to other parts of the city.’ Eastney Beach is 
of local nature conservation value. It is currently a very quiet stretch of beach – 
this objective could lead to an increase in use. However, the nature conservation 
value of this area is recognised in another masterplan objective: ‘protecting the 
open nature of Southsea Common and other public spaces, and the valuable 
wildlife habitat at Eastney Beach’. 

Biodiversity issues and additional mitigation 
measures (particularly relevant to Eastney 
Beach) have been made clearer in the 
masterplan. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 Landscape and Townscape quality are very much the focus of the masterplan. 
Some of the masterplan objectives include ‘protecting the open nature of 
Southsea Common and other public spaces’, ‘ensuring that the design of new 
attractions and public spaces is distinctive and of a high quality, and that it is 
sensitive to, and enhances the historic character of the area', and ‘ensuring the 
new sea defences integrate sensitively with the local environment and provide 
opportunities to improve the Seafront’. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘ensuring that the design of new 
attractions and public spaces is distinctive and of a high quality, and that it is 
sensitive to, and enhances the historic character of the area'. Following the 
consultation on the draft masterplan, an additional specific heritage objective was 
added: 'conserving and enhancing the Seafront’s historic environment and 
heritage assets'. 

A specific heritage objective was added to the 
masterplan. 

P
age 294



 

 

 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø There are no masterplan objectives relevant to this SA objective. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant mix of leisure and 
tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and restaurants that will 
attract people to the Seafront all year round’. This will have a positive effect on the 
local economy. Another objective of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes 
between Old Portsmouth and Eastney Beach and to other parts of the city’, which 
could benefit nearby town centres. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘strengthening routes between Old 
Portsmouth and Eastney Beach, and to other parts of the city.’ This will make it 
easier or more pleasant to walk from one end of the Seafront to the other, with 
obvious health benefits. 

No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 The masterplan seeks to increase the attractiveness and usability of this key 
leisure resource in the city, which provides free opportunities for leisure activities 
all year round. One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant 
mix of leisure and tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and 
restaurants that will attract people to the seafront all year round’. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

 One of the objectives of the masterplan is ‘introducing a vibrant mix of leisure and 
tourism uses into the area, including small scale cafes and restaurants that will 
attract people to the seafront all year round’. The aim is to make the seafront a 
place that everyone can enjoy. 

No change. 

 
 

 Positive effect  Where the document / policy / option is certain to have a positive impact on the sustainability objectives 
  Possible positive 

effect  
Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a positive impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

?  Uncertain overall effect Where the effect of the  document / policy / option  on the sustainability criterion is uncertain, or where there are both positive and negative effects, thereby making 
the overall effect uncertain 

 Possible negative 
effect  

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a negative impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

 Negative effect  Where the  document / policy / option  is certain to have a negative impact on the sustainability criterion 

Ø  No direct relationship 
or no impact 

Where there is no direct relationship between the  document / policy / option  and the criterion or the  document / policy / option  has only a very minor impact on the 
criterion 

P
age 295



 

 

Appendix 5: SA of the Seafront masterplan 
 

 
 

Area Framework, Design Principles and Access 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution 
to SA 

objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This section includes a number of provisions with positive sustainability impacts, 
such as recycling facilities in public bins, the encouragement of recycled 
materials and access to the Seafront by non-car modes. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The links between coastal defence development and improvements to the 
Seafront are well recognised in this section. These are mainly on the level of 
making sea defences multifunctional, for example by integrating seating or 
using them as landscape features. The section on materials also refers to all 
surfaces should be made of permeable / porous materials. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity ? The section highlights biodiversity designations, the need to consider impacts 
on them and suggests using native species in planting schemes. 

The initial SA highlighted that changes needed 
to be made to the document to highlight 
biodiversity issues more clearly. The final 
masterplan was amended further to include 
references to the need to seek ecological 
advice on the best species to use in planting 
and lighting schemes to reduce any ecological 
impact. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the 
Seafront and public art is encouraged. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  The heritage designations are set out in this section. Design principles 
recognise the sensitivity of historic assets to the proposals and guard against 
their loss. Interpretation boards are encouraged that will help visitors and 
residents understand the value of these assets. 

No change. 

6 Homes for Everyone Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and 
improve its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy. There 
are provisions for more concessions and other businesses in the area. 

No change. 

P
age 296



 

 

 

8 Health & Wellbeing  The improvements to the Seafront will make it a more attractive place to visit, to 
walk and to take in the sea air. The design principles recognise to need to 
design out crime. 

No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure & 
Recreation 

 The masterplan seeks to increase the attractiveness and usability of this key 
leisure resource in the city, which provides free opportunities for leisure 
activities all year round. Additional beach huts, concession and kiosks will add 
to the offer, and the importance of events is recognised. 

No change. 

10 Social Inclusion & 
Quality of Life 

  The plan seeks to provide a broader range of attractions on the Seafront and 
better ease of movement for all. 

The masterplan was amended to note that 
care should be taken to ensure that signs and 
street furniture do not cause an obstruction to 
people using the Promenade / footpaths, and 
to remove reference to using 'raised tables' as 
a method of traffic calming. Further guidance 
relating to signage has also been added to 
note that signs should contain clear font and, 
where possible, include images / pictures to 
aid understanding. They should also be at a 
height which is accessible for different 
Seafront visitors e.g. young people / those in 
wheelchairs. 

P
age 297



 

 

 
 

Opportunity Area 4.1 Old Portsmouth 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 Reuse of brownfield land, in the form of the use of the Arches in the historic 
defence walls contributes to this objective, as does the suggested cycle hire 
scheme. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and public art is encouraged in this section of the Seafront in particular. Reuse of 
the currently vacant Arches will add visual interest to the area which is currently 
underused. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  The proposals reuse of the Arches. The effect on this on the heritage objective 
will depend on the details of the scheme, but this part of the document recognises 
the historic sensitivity of the Arches and suggests bringing them into use. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and improve 
its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy. Improvements to 
this part of the Seafront set out in the masterplan form part of this. In addition, the 
proposed use of the Arches for small art & crafts units will provide opportunities for 
small businesses. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 The proposed use of the Arches will provide additional leisure or culture uses (e.g. 
art exhibitions), although it should be noted that the end users of any converted 
Arches are not yet determined. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

P
age 298



 

 

 
 

Opportunity Area 4.2 Long Curtain Moat to Clarence Pier 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 Better bus / hovercraft interchange facilities are proposed. However, additional 
parking is also proposed in the area, which may encourage people to drive. A 
hotel forms part of the redevelopment proposals, but is not very accessible by 
public transport. The residential element does not have easy access to shops and 
services, which could encourage residents to drive. 

No change – these potential impacts are 
recognised, but there are other sustainability 
reasons, such as the need to revitalise this 
area, that are also relevant to these proposals. 
However, the masterplan does highlight the 
difficulty of achieving residential development 
on this site. 

2 Flood Risk  Sea defences are considered in this section. However, more intensive use of an 
area at risk of flooding, in the form of a hotel and / or residential use is proposed, 
which has a negative impact on this SA objective. 

The potential impacts are recognised, but 
there are other sustainability reasons, such as 
the need to revitalise this area, that are also 
relevant to these proposals. The masterplan 
includes text highlighting the need for new 
development to provide sea defences. 

3 Biodiversity ? During the consultation, Natural England raised concerns about the potential 
impact of any new buildings on Brent geese accessing the parks along the 
Seafront, including overshadowing and impacts on sight lines. Therefore the 
height and design of any new buildings will have to be carefully considered at the 
detailed development stage. 

The masterplan has been amended to highlight 
this issue and to stress to developers the 
importance of early discussions with the city 
council’s ecologist and Natural England, to 
ensure that, if necessary, effective design 
solutions can be found which will enable 
development to go ahead, whilst not impacting 
on this internationally protected species. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

? The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront. 
This section includes a new promenade, visually attractive and well integrated sea 
defences, planting schemes and the design of key buildings. However, this 
section also includes a proposal for a landmark building outside of the areas 
identified in the council’s tall buildings policy. The height and design of this 
building will therefore have to be carefully considered at the development stage. 

No change - the height and design of any 
building will have to be carefully considered at 
the detailed design / planning application 
stage. 

P
age 299



 

 

 

5 Heritage  The masterplan proposes the improvement of the route along this stretch of 
historic town defences. The detailed proposals will have to be very sensitive to the 
historic environment. 

No change is needed to this section of the 
masterplan as the importance of heritage 
assets and issues are already addressed at 
the beginning of the document (including the 
new heritage objective - see above). 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

? This section includes proposals for residential development at the pier, which will 
contribute to housing delivery in the city.  It is uncertain at this stage, however, 
what types of accommodation this would include, and the masterplan does 
recognise that residential uses may be difficult to achieve here. 

No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The purpose of the document is to increase the draw of the Seafront and improve 
its attractiveness to visitors, which will help the local economy. Improvements to 
this part of the Seafront set out in the masterplan form part of this, in particular 
rejuvenating Clarence Pier as a visitor destination. The possible hotel and 
conference centre would also add to the local economy. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 This section of the masterplan includes provisions for safer interchange facilities 
and safe and easy access, which will reduce danger to road users. 

The masterplan includes text highlighting the 
need for noise mitigation measures to protect 
any residential uses from noise from the 
hovercraft and nearby leisure uses. 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

? The masterplan encourages the redevelopment of an existing leisure attraction. 
Whether this has a positive or negative impact on this SA objective is very much a 
matter of subjective judgement depending on whether individuals like the existing 
funfair and arcades, or whether they prefer a different mix of uses including cafes, 
restaurants and a hotel. 

No change to range of uses proposed at 
Clarence Pier. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

? Car parking capacity is retained in the proposals, allowing easy access for those 
dependent on their cars. Residents of any residential element would not have 
easy access to shops and services. Residential and hotel uses on the site could 
exclude people from areas that are currently publicly accessible, but the document 
does recognise the need for a public route through the site. In addition, 
depending on the nature of the proposed uses, they could exclude those on low 
incomes. 

No change. 

P
age 300



 

 

 

Opportunity Area 4.3 Southsea Common 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This part of the masterplan promotes improved walking routes. No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The links between coastal defence development and improvements to the 
Seafront are well recognised in this section. These are mainly on the level of 
making sea defences multifunctional, for example by integrating seating or using 
them as landscape features. This section does not however make any direct 
contribution (positive or negative) to avoiding flood risk, although as mentioned 
above, the area framework section does refer to use of permeable / porous 
materials to reduce flood risk. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Whilst there are no specific references in this section of the masterplan. The 
masterplan does recognise the importance of Southsea Common as an asset and 
highlights the need to protect it as it is a Brent goose feeding site. 

Additional text has been added to strengthen 
protection in both the 'Area Framework' 
section and to highlight the potential impact 
from any development at Clarence Pier (see 
table above). 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and this section includes design guidelines for buildings, improvements to routes 
through the common and practical and well integrated sea defences. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document specifically highlights the need to protect a historic 
shelter and improves the setting of the Royal Naval War Memorial, as well as 
improving Southsea Common, which is protected through English Heritage’s 
register of parks and gardens. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the expansion of existing 
businesses and for the location of new concessions / kiosks on the Seafront. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 There are provisions for better routes through the area which is likely to promote 
healthy walks and proposals for improved crossing facilities, which will reduce 
danger to road users. 

No change. 

P
age 301



 

 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 This part of the Seafront already provides opportunities for enjoying views of the 
sea and fresh air, but proposals will improve this experience. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

 

Opportunity Area 4.4 Southsea Castle and Surrounds 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

 This section does not have a significant impact on this objective, but there is a 
proposal to reuse buildings in this area. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk  The masterplan recognises that proposals for the Castle amphitheatre would form 
part of the sea defences for this area. 

No change. 

3 Biodiversity Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 Proposals include the significant remodelling of the area around Speakers Corner 
& Roxby’s. This is currently an area of little townscape interest, and the proposals 
are likely to improve the area, though much will depend on the detailed design. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document seeks to improve the setting of the historic Southsea 
Castle. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the expansion of existing 
businesses and for the location of new concessions / kiosks on the Seafront. The 
proposed Sports Hub does affect an existing business, but the need for 
reprovision is recognised in the masterplan. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 There are provisions for improved crossing facilities, which will reduce danger to 
road users. The proposed Sports Hub also contributes to this objective. 

No change. 

P
age 302



 

 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include a new Sports Hub and will improve Southsea Castle as a visitor 
attraction and make the most of this important cultural asset. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

 

Opportunity Area 4.5 South Parade Pier to Canoe Lake 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

Ø This section does not have a significant impact on this objective, but there is a 
proposal to reuse buildings in this area. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Whilst the draft masterplan showed proposals for a wildlife garden, the final version 
has been amended to reflect planning permission which has been granted for a 
community garden for the cultivation of fruit, vegetables and other plants, and for a 
small structure to provide storage / a shop to sell produce grown on the site. 

Changes have been made to reflect the 
planning permission which has been granted 
but this does not alter the overall score as the 
new community garden will still have a positive 
impact on biodiversity. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 The focus of the masterplan is the landscape & townscape quality at the Seafront 
and this section includes proposals for the improvement of the open spaces in this 
area. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  This section of the document seeks to improve this conservation area, and more 
specifically the historic structures of South Parade Pier, Lumps Fort, and 
Cumberland House. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section includes a number of opportunities for the location of new businesses 
/ cafes on the Seafront. Improving the pier will enhance its potential to attract 
visitors and generate wealth in the local economy. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 This section seeks to improve opportunities for informal sport and play on the 
Seafront. 

No change. 

P
age 303



 

 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include the improvement of the pier as an events venue and the area 
around Canoe Lake for informal leisure activities. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

 

Opportunity Area 4.6 Eastney Beach 
 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

 
Contribution to 

SA objective 

 
 

Reason for Score 

 
Changes made to masterplan / mitigation 

measures included 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate Change 

? The proposal for a hotel in the Royal Marines Museum would make good use of 
an existing building, but the location is poorly accessible by public transport. 

No change. 

2 Flood Risk Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

3 Biodiversity  Eastney Beach is a local wildlife site, designated for its plant species. The 
proposed beach huts and Watersports Hub are likely to result in the loss of some 
of this vegetation through the building footprint and possible disturbance through 
increased use of the area. 

The final masterplan specifically sets out 
mitigation measures that will be needed to 
make the proposals in this area acceptable. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

? The proposals will significantly alter the nature of the Eastney end of the beach. 
This end of the Seafront is currently characterised by natural planted shingle and 
an absence of formal leisure activities.  More beach huts, a Watersports Hub and 
a café will visually change the area and are likely to increase activity here. 

No change. 

5 Heritage  Proposals in this section of the document will improve the setting of Fort 
Cumberland and make it more accessible. Reuse of the Royal Marines Museum 
would keep it in active use. 

No change. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø This section of the document has no relevant provision. No change. 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 This section does not include any significant provisions that contribute to this 
objective, but there is a suggestion of an additional café which will make a small 
contribution, and more beach huts could encourage their owners to stay on the 
Seafront for longer and use the facilities. 

No change. 

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 Proposals include a Watersports Hub and informal play areas at the proposed 
café, and more beach huts will encourage their users to stay enjoy the outdoors 
for longer. 

No change. 

P
age 304



 

 

 

9 Culture, Leisure 
& Recreation 

 Proposals include a Watersports Hub and informal play areas at the proposed 
café. 

No change. 

10 Social 
Inclusion & Quality 
of Life 

Ø This section of the masterplan has no provisions relevant to this objective. No change. 

 
 
 

 Positive effect Where the document / policy / option is certain to have a positive impact on the sustainability objectives 
  Possible positive 

effect 
Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a positive impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

?  Uncertain overall 
effect 

Where the effect of the  document / policy / option  on the sustainability criterion is uncertain, or where there are both positive and negative effects, thereby making 
the overall effect uncertain 

 Possible negative 
effect 

Where the  document / policy / option  is likely to have a negative impact, but where there is some uncertainty 

 Negative effect Where the  document / policy / option  is certain to have a negative impact on the sustainability criterion 

Ø  No direct relationship 
or no impact 

Where there is no direct relationship between the  document / policy / option  and the criterion or the  document / policy / option  has only a very minor impact on the 
criterion 

 

P
age 305



 

 
 

APPENDIX 5 

 
 

Extract from Portsmouth Plan 2012 SA 
  

Page 306



 

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The policy supports the existing businesses within the district centres whilst 
encouraging new businesses to locate to these areas. This will contribute to 
growth in the city’s economy. Furthermore, some of the district centres are 
located in close proximity to the city’s visitor attractions. Enhancing these 
areas will therefore also help to improve the image of tourism in the city.  
 

No change is needed.   

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 
( ) 

 

The policy may contribute to limiting anti-social behaviour and the fear of 
crime given it promotes residential dwellings in appropriate places with the 
centre. This will help to maintain the vibrancy of an area after the shops have 
shut and increase the overlooking of an area. Furthermore, limits on the 
number of food and drink uses may also reduce anti-social behaviour in these 
areas.   

No change is needed.   

9 Culture, 
Leisure & 
Recreation 

 
 

Some of the district centres are located in close proximity to the city’s visitor 
attractions. Enhancing these areas will therefore also help to improve the 
image of tourism in the city. Cultural and entertainment facilities located 
within the district centres are also protected by the policy which will help to 
meet resident’s leisure expectations. 
 

No change is needed.   

10 Social 
Inclusion & 
Quality of Life  

Maintaining town and local centres will help to ensure their vitality and 
viability. Improving the facilities for shops and services in the district centres 
will also ensure that as many people as possible have access to them, and 
may help reduce concentrations of social disadvantage in certain areas of the 
city.   

No change is needed.   

PCS8  Seafront 

Sustainability 
Objectives 

Contribution 
to SA 

objective 
Reason for Score Change needed? 

1 Natural 
Resources & 
Climate 
Change 

 
 

? 
 

The policy seeks to improve the seafront, encouraging people to linger, walk 
and cycle. This may, however, attract greater numbers of visitors, who may 
travel by car. Encouraging small scale uses such as cafés and restaurants on 
the seafront could also mean that people make specific trips to the area to 
visit these uses. However, people already at the seafront may combine their 
trip with a visit to a café or restaurant, rather than driving to a different area of 
the city.  

No change is needed. It is important to diversify the offer 
of the seafront area and make it easily accessible by all 
modes of transport. The type and nature of development 
that comes forward will largely dictate how people wish to 
travel to it.   

2 Flood Risk The policy acknowledges the need for sea defences and requires them to 
integrate sensitively with the surrounding environment.  
 

No change is needed.   

P
age 307



 

 
3 Biodiversity  

( ) 
 

The open spaces on the seafront are not particularly noted for their 
contribution to biodiversity, due to their very open and/or formal nature.  
Eastney Beach, which is covered by the policy, does have some significant 
local nature conservation value however which would be protected by the 
policy. The policy recognises the need for sea defences, which may have 
some adverse biodiversity impacts. 

There is no need to alter the policy in relation to sea 
defences, as the policy merely recognises the need for a 
proposal made in other policies and proposals.  The 
seafront policy seeks to make a positive contribution by 
requiring defences to integrate sensitively with the 
environment in which they are proposed. 

4 Landscape & 
Townscape 
Quality 

 
 

The aim of the policy is specifically to enhance the area visually, both in 
terms of the buildings in the area and the public areas of the promenade and 
the open spaces whilst maintaining the open nature of the area, specifically 
around Southsea Common.  

No change is needed - the design and conservation policy 
in the core strategy will further contribute towards this SA 
objective.  

5 Heritage  

 

The seafront, particularly its western end, is part of the city’s maritime 
heritage. The inclusion of this seafront policy exemplifies the city council’s 
desire to protect and enhance this area. 

No change needed - the design and conservation policy in 
the core strategy will further contribute towards this SA 
objective. 

6 Homes for 
Everyone 

Ø 
 

This policy does not have a significant direct impact on this objective. 
 

No change is needed.   

7 Education, 
Employment & 
Economy 

 The seafront is a key part of the city’s attraction to visitors who make a 
significant contribution to the city economy.  The policy also seeks to make 
stronger links between the seafront and the nearby centres, which again 
could benefit the local economy. 

No change is needed.   

8 Health & 
Wellbeing 

 
 

Improving the seafront so that residents have an excellent outdoor area on 
their doorstep where they can walk, breathe fresh air or enjoy informal sports 
and games, will contribute to the aim of improving people’s health and their 
perception of it. 

No change is needed.   

9 Culture, 
Leisure & 
Recreation 

 
 

The seafront already is a great leisure destination for the city’s population.  
Improving this area, diversifying the range of services and events and 
protecting the open spaces will make it an even more valuable resource. 

No change is needed.   

10 Social 
Inclusion & 
Quality of Life  

Improving the seafront will contribute to making Portsmouth a safe, 
comfortable and friendly place where people want to live, work and visit. 
Furthermore, improving the area of the city that most residents are already 
proud of, as well as promoting events (particularly where they are free to all) 
will help give people a sense of belonging in the city. 

No change is needed.   

PCS9  Housing Delivery 

P
age 308



 

 
 

APPENDIX 6 

 
 

SA Scoring of interim 'Options Consultation' Feb 2019 document 
  

Page 309



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Theme 1a ‐ Public spaces
A ‐ Gateway spaces

PS‐A1 Pier Road/Duisburg Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
PS‐A2 Duisburg Way/Western Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
PS‐A3 Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
PS‐A4 St Helen's Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
PS‐A5 St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
PS‐A6 Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?

B ‐ Large scale public space creation or 
improvement

PS‐B1 Clarence Pier interchange + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐B2 Ave de Caen ++ ++ 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

PS‐B3
Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade 
Gardens/Clarence Esplanade/Speakers Corner

++ ++ 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

PS‐B4 St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake Park ++ ++ + ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +
C ‐ Areas requiring a specific public realm 
intervention

PS‐C1 The Point, Spice Island + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C2 Area outside Blue Reef aquarium + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C3 Skate park + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C4 Area outside The Pyramids + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C5 Speakers Corner + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C6 Area adj. Southsea Marina + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C7 Bus stop/RNLI + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
PS‐C8 Ferry pier + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +

D ‐ Primary routes requiring public realm 
enhancements

PS‐D1 Old Portsmouth to Hayling Ferry ? + + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +
PS‐D2 Clarence Pier ‐ Pier Road ? + ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +
PS‐D3 Ave de Caen ? + ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +

Theme 1b ‐ Lighting
A ‐ Gateway lighting

L‐A1 Pier Road/Duisburg Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐A2 Duisburg Way/Western Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐A3 Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐A4 St Helen's Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐A5 St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐A6 Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

B ‐ Focal lighting
L‐B1 The Point, Spice Island 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B2 Round Tower 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B3 Square Tower 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B4 Royal Garrison Church 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B5 Spur Redoubt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B6 Clarence Pier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B7 Royal Naval Memorial 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B8 Area outside Blue Reef 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

P
age 310



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

L‐B9 D‐Day Story 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B10 Southsea Castle 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B11 Pyramids 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B12 Speakers Corner 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B13 South Parade Pier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B14 Rose Garden entrance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B15 East Battery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐B16 West Battery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

C ‐ Improved key junction lighting feature
L‐C1 Clarence pier interchange 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐C2 Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

D ‐ Infill listed light columns
L‐D1 2no. adj Hovercraft terminal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 + + ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
L‐D2 1no. nr Rocksbys 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 + + ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

E ‐ Improved highway lighting
L‐E1 Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

F ‐ Improved key route lighting
L‐F1 Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

G ‐ Improved pedestrian lighting
L‐G1 Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

Theme 2 ‐ Street Design and Parking
A ‐ Access only roads

SP‐A1 Broad St + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐A2 Victoria Ave + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐A3 Clarence Pier interchange + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

B ‐ Pedestrianised roads to create new public 
space

SP‐B1 Pembroke Road ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐B2 Cul‐de‐sac adjoining Victoria Ave ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐B3 Ave de Caen ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

SP‐B4 Clarence Esplanade nr. South Parade Gardens ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

SP‐B5 St Helens Parade interchange ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
C ‐ Spaces made whole

SP‐C1 Victoria Ave ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐C2 Pembroke Gardens ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐C3 Ave de Caen ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐C4 South Parade Gardens/Clarence Esplanade ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
SP‐C5 St Helens Parade ++ ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

D ‐ Clarence Esplanade ‐ one way west‐east with 
parking on north

SP‐D1 Various +/‐ +/‐ ? +/‐ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +/‐ +/‐ 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

E ‐ Parking to north of road at Eastney Esplanade

SP‐E1 Various +/‐ +/‐ ? +/‐ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 +/‐ +/‐ 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +
Theme 3 ‐ Walking and Cycling

P
age 311



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

A ‐ Improved pedestrian routes from Gunwharf 
Quays to Clarence Pier via Old Portsmouth

WC‐A1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
B ‐ Guaranteed accessibility route for mobility 
impaired

WC‐B1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
C ‐ Segregated dual direction cycle route

WC‐C1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
D ‐ New/improved shared pedestrian and cycle 
routes

WC‐D1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
E ‐ New/improved cycle routes

WC‐E1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
F ‐ Junction improvements

WC‐F1 Grand Parade/Penny St + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F2 Pier Road roundabout + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F3 Kent Road/Western Parade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F4 Western Parade/Duisburg Way + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F5 Clarence Parade/Ave de Caen + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F6 Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F7 Burgoyne Rd/ South Parade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F8 Granada Road/ St Helens Parade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F9 Festing Road/ St Helens Parade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
WC‐F10 St Georges Road/ Eastern Esplanade + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

Theme 4 ‐ Public Transport
A ‐ Extension to existing P&R route(s) to serve 
Clarence Pier, with a focus on weekends, school 
holidays, and events

PT‐A1 Various + + ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
B ‐ Linear 'hop on, hop off' seafront bus service 
at peak times

PT‐B1 Various + + ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
C ‐ Bus route from east of the city into the 
seafront area

PT‐C1 Various + + ++ + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
D ‐ Multi‐modal transport hubs:

PT‐D1 Clarence Pier + + + + 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
PT‐D2 Southsea Castle + + + + 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
PT‐D3 St Helens Parade + + + + 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
PT‐D4 Eastney swimming pool + + + + 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
PT‐D5 Ferry Road + + + + 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +

Theme 5 ‐ Health and Wellbeing

A ‐ 3km cycle loop around Southsea Common
HW‐A1 Various + ++ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + ? 0 ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + +

B ‐ Provision of new or improved children's play 
facilities

P
age 312



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

HW‐B1 Nr. Clarence car park 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
HW‐B2 Adj. skate park 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
HW‐B3 Canoe Lake 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
HW‐B4 Adj. East Battery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
HW‐B5 Fort Cumberland 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

C ‐ Provision of new/improved sports facilities

HW‐C1 MOD field nr. Pembroke Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

HW‐C2 Southsea manager's compound/Tennis courts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

HW‐C3 Existing cricket ground/ Tenth Hole pitch and putt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

HW‐C4 Eastney Swimming Pool 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +
HW‐C5 Fort Cumberland 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

D ‐ 'Access for All' route and potential future 
extensions (Guaranteed access for the mobility 
impaired)

HW‐D1 Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 + + + 0 0 0 + + +
Theme 6 ‐ Visitor Economy
A ‐ 'Ferry 2 Ferry' 8km route

VE‐A1 Various + ++ + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 + + + 0 0 0 + ++ +
B ‐ Large‐scale public space enhancement 
opportunities

VE‐B1 Clarence Pier interchange + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +
VE‐B2 Ave de Caen ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

VE‐B3 Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade Gardens ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

VE‐B4 St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

C ‐ Cluster areas where activity will be focused

VE‐C1 Old Portsmouth Broad St area 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C2 Clarence Pier and car park 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C3 Central seafront 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C4 Speakers Corner to St Helens Parade 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C5 St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C6 Eastney swimming pool area 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
VE‐C7 RNLI and ferry pier area 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +

Theme 7 ‐ Development Opportunities
A ‐ Short‐term

DO‐A1 Wightlink site ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A2 Round Tower ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A3 Square Tower ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A4 Speakers' Corner + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A5 Canoe Lake ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A6 St Georges Road (1) + + ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A7 Fraser Range ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A8 Fort Cumberland ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐A9 Southsea Marina ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

P
age 313



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

B ‐ Medium‐term
DO‐B1 Clarence Pier and interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B2 Clarence Pier extension ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B3 Blue Reef aquarium ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B4 PCC depot / Tennis club etc ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B5 The Pyramids ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B6 St Helens Parade 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B7 St Georges Road (2) ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B8 East Eastney ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B9 Eastney Swimming Pool ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐B10 RNLI site ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

C ‐ Long‐term
DO‐C1 Fish market/public toilets ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
DO‐C2 Long Curtain Moat ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? +/‐ +/‐ ? +/‐ + ? +/‐ ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Key Area 1 ‐ Old Portsmouth
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

OP‐A1 Former Wightlink site/PCC car park and buildings ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

OP‐A2 Fish market and public toilets ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
OP‐A3 LCM/King's Bastion ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? +/‐ +/‐ ? +/‐ + ? +/‐ ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
OP‐A4 Round Tower ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
OP‐A5 Square Tower ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

B ‐ Public space enhancements
OP‐B1 The Point, Spice Island 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
OP‐B2 Grand Parade ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
OP‐B3 King's Bastion 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

C ‐ Highway enhancements
OP‐C1 Broad Street ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

OP‐C2 Broad St pedestrian crossing to Feltham Row ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

D ‐ Cycle routes
OP‐D1 White Hart Rd to Pier Road + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
OP‐E1 Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Landscape enhancements

OP‐F1 Pembroke Gardens (former site of Nelson Statue) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Key Area 2 ‐ Clarence Pier
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

CP‐A1 Clarence Pier ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

CP‐A2 Clarence Pier interchange (inc public toilets) + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

CP‐A3 Clarence Pier carpark + ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐A4 Clarence Pier extension ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐A5 Hovertravel terminal ? ? + ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐A6 LCM car park + ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐A7 Brewers Fayre pub ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐A8 Premier Inn hotel ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

P
age 314



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

B ‐ Public space enhancements
CP‐B1 Clarence pier interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

C ‐ Highway enhancements
CP‐C1 Clarence pier interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐C2 Pier Road ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐C3 Duisburg Way ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐C4 Pembroke Road ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CP‐C5 Victoria Ave ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

CP‐C6 Ped route ‐ Clarence Pier to Clarence Parade ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

D ‐ Cycle routes
CP‐D1 Clarence Esplanade + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

CP‐D2
Royal Garrison Church to Clarence Parade via 
Duisburg Way

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
CP‐E1 Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
CP‐F1 Northern edge of Clarence Pier carpark 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Key Area 3 ‐ Ave de Caen to Southsea Castle
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

AC‐A1 Former pitch&putt/minigolf ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A2 Garden centre ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A3 Tennis courts ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A4 Watkins & Faux cafe ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A5 Splash pool ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A6 Beach volleyball court ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A7 Former Seafront Manager compound ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
AC‐A8 Blue Reef aquarium and adj. space ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

B ‐ Public space enhancements
AC‐B1 N/A

C ‐ Highway enhancements
AC‐C1 Ave de Caen ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + + + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

D ‐ Cycle routes
AC‐D1 SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
AC‐E1 Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 4 ‐ Skatepark to Speakers' Corner
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

SC‐A1 South Parade Gardens + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
SC‐A2 Pyramids and carpark ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
SC‐A3 Rock Gardens 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + +
SC‐A4 Speakers Corner + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

B ‐ Public space enhancements
SC‐B1 Around Skatepark 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
SC‐B2 Adj. Skatepark 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

C ‐ Highway enhancements

P
age 315



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

SC‐C1 Clarence Esplanade/Jack Cockerill Way ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + + + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
D ‐ Cycle routes

SC‐D1 SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +
E ‐ Walking routes

SC‐E1 Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +
F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 5 ‐ Canoe Lake & Eastney Beach
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

CL‐A1 St Helens Parade gardens (D‐Day stone memorial) + + ? + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

CL‐A2 Beach adj. SPP 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CL‐A3 Canoe Lake ‐ various ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CL‐A4 St Georges Road beach huts and toilet block ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
CL‐A5 Beach ad St Georges Rd junction + + ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

CL‐A6
Eastney Swimming pool and toilet block and 
beach

? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

B ‐ Public space enhancements
N/A
C ‐ Highway enhancements
N/A
D ‐ Cycle routes

CL‐D1
SPP to Eastney via Eastney Esplanade and St 
Helens Parade/St Georges Rd

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
CL‐E1 Eastney Esplanade + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 6 ‐ Fort Cumberland & Ferry Road
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

FC‐A1 Southsea Marina ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
FC‐A2 Fort Cumberland ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
FC‐A3 Fraser Range (Qinetiq) ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
FC‐A4 RNLI building ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
FC‐A5 Hayling Ferry pier (Eastney side) ? ? + ? ? 0 + ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + +

B ‐ Public space enhancements
FC‐B1 Bus stop nr. RNLI 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 ? 0 0 + + ++ ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + +
FC‐B2 Land adj. Southsea Marina 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + 0 +/‐ ? 0 +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + +

C ‐ Highway enhancements
N/A
D ‐ Cycle routes

FC‐D1
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes

FC‐E1
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC; 
FC heath park

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

P
age 316



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project ID Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
FC‐F1 Fort Cumberland Heath 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

P
age 317



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project
Theme 1a ‐ Public spaces
A ‐ Gateway spaces

PS‐A1 Pier Road/Duisburg Way
PS‐A2 Duisburg Way/Western Parade
PS‐A3 Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen
PS‐A4 St Helen's Parade
PS‐A5 St Georges Road
PS‐A6 Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block

B ‐ Large scale public space creation or 
improvement

PS‐B1 Clarence Pier interchange
PS‐B2 Ave de Caen

PS‐B3
Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade 
Gardens/Clarence Esplanade/Speakers Corner

PS‐B4 St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake Park
C ‐ Areas requiring a specific public realm 
intervention

PS‐C1 The Point, Spice Island
PS‐C2 Area outside Blue Reef aquarium
PS‐C3 Skate park
PS‐C4 Area outside The Pyramids
PS‐C5 Speakers Corner
PS‐C6 Area adj. Southsea Marina
PS‐C7 Bus stop/RNLI
PS‐C8 Ferry pier

D ‐ Primary routes requiring public realm 
enhancements

PS‐D1 Old Portsmouth to Hayling Ferry
PS‐D2 Clarence Pier ‐ Pier Road
PS‐D3 Ave de Caen

Theme 1b ‐ Lighting
A ‐ Gateway lighting

L‐A1 Pier Road/Duisburg Way
L‐A2 Duisburg Way/Western Parade
L‐A3 Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen
L‐A4 St Helen's Parade
L‐A5 St Georges Road
L‐A6 Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block

B ‐ Focal lighting
L‐B1 The Point, Spice Island
L‐B2 Round Tower
L‐B3 Square Tower
L‐B4 Royal Garrison Church
L‐B5 Spur Redoubt
L‐B6 Clarence Pier
L‐B7 Royal Naval Memorial
L‐B8 Area outside Blue Reef
L‐B9 D‐Day Story

0
0
0
0

+
+
+
+
+
+

?
?

0
0
0
0
0
0
+
+

?
?
?
?
?
?

+
+
+

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

+
+

+

+

??++

?
?

?

?

?
?

?

?

0
0

0

0

?

0
0
0

?
?

?

?

?
?
?

+
+

?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?

?
?

?

?

?
?

0

0

0

++
++
++
++
++

++
++

++

++

++
++

?
?
?
?
?

?
?

?

?

?
?

?
+

+

+

+
+

0

+
++

++

+

0
0

0

0

?

?

0
0

0

0

0

?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?
?

?
?

?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?

+/‐
+/‐

++
++
++
++
++

+/‐
+/‐

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

?
?
?
?
?
?

0 0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0 ++

+/‐
+/‐

?
?
?
?
?

+
+
+
+
+?

?
+
+

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

+
+
+

+

? +++
+

0

0
0
0

G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

?
?
?
?
?
?

0
0
0

0
0

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

+

?
?
?

?
?

?
?
?

?
?
?

0
0
0

+
+
+

++

?
?
?
?
?

0
0
0

?
?
?

0
0
0

?
?
?

0
0
0

0
0
0

++
++
++
++
++

+
+

?

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

++

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0 ++

?
?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?
+/‐

?
?
?
?
?
?

+
+
+
+

+
+
+

?
?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?
?

0 ? 0 0 0 ?

0

+
+
+
+
+
+

? ?
?

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

? ? ++ ?

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ?
?

?

? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?

? ? ? ++ ? ? ?0 ? 0 0 0

?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

? ? ?0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

P
age 318



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

L‐B10 Southsea Castle
L‐B11 Pyramids
L‐B12 Speakers Corner
L‐B13 South Parade Pier
L‐B14 Rose Garden entrance
L‐B15 East Battery
L‐B16 West Battery

C ‐ Improved key junction lighting feature
L‐C1 Clarence pier interchange
L‐C2 Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade

D ‐ Infill listed light columns
L‐D1 2no. adj Hovercraft terminal
L‐D2 1no. nr Rocksbys

E ‐ Improved highway lighting
L‐E1 Various

F ‐ Improved key route lighting
L‐F1 Various

G ‐ Improved pedestrian lighting
L‐G1 Various

Theme 2 ‐ Street Design and Parking
A ‐ Access only roads

SP‐A1 Broad St
SP‐A2 Victoria Ave
SP‐A3 Clarence Pier interchange

B ‐ Pedestrianised roads to create new public 
space

SP‐B1 Pembroke Road
SP‐B2 Cul‐de‐sac adjoining Victoria Ave
SP‐B3 Ave de Caen

SP‐B4 Clarence Esplanade nr. South Parade Gardens

SP‐B5 St Helens Parade interchange
C ‐ Spaces made whole

SP‐C1 Victoria Ave
SP‐C2 Pembroke Gardens
SP‐C3 Ave de Caen
SP‐C4 South Parade Gardens/Clarence Esplanade
SP‐C5 St Helens Parade

D ‐ Clarence Esplanade ‐ one way west‐east with 
parking on north

SP‐D1 Various

E ‐ Parking to north of road at Eastney Esplanade

SP‐E1 Various
Theme 3 ‐ Walking and Cycling

A ‐ Improved pedestrian routes from Gunwharf 
Quays to Clarence Pier via Old Portsmouth

WC‐A1 Various

+

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ?

+ 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +

+
+
+
+

+
+

+
+

+

+
+
+

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
? ? ?

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

++ ? ? ?

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

? ? +

?

?
?
?

0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +
0 0 0

? ? 0 +

0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +

0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++

++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? ? 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

? 0 ?

++ ? ? 0 +

+/‐ 0 0 0 +/‐ 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? ? 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? ? 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +

+/‐ 0 0 0 +/‐ 0

P
age 319



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

B ‐ Guaranteed accessibility route for mobility 
impaired

WC‐B1 Various
C ‐ Segregated dual direction cycle route

WC‐C1 Various
D ‐ New/improved shared pedestrian and cycle 
routes

WC‐D1 Various
E ‐ New/improved cycle routes

WC‐E1 Various
F ‐ Junction improvements

WC‐F1 Grand Parade/Penny St
WC‐F2 Pier Road roundabout
WC‐F3 Kent Road/Western Parade
WC‐F4 Western Parade/Duisburg Way
WC‐F5 Clarence Parade/Ave de Caen
WC‐F6 Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade
WC‐F7 Burgoyne Rd/ South Parade
WC‐F8 Granada Road/ St Helens Parade
WC‐F9 Festing Road/ St Helens Parade
WC‐F10 St Georges Road/ Eastern Esplanade

Theme 4 ‐ Public Transport
A ‐ Extension to existing P&R route(s) to serve 
Clarence Pier, with a focus on weekends, school 
holidays, and events

PT‐A1 Various
B ‐ Linear 'hop on, hop off' seafront bus service 
at peak times

PT‐B1 Various
C ‐ Bus route from east of the city into the 
seafront area

PT‐C1 Various
D ‐ Multi‐modal transport hubs:

PT‐D1 Clarence Pier
PT‐D2 Southsea Castle
PT‐D3 St Helens Parade
PT‐D4 Eastney swimming pool
PT‐D5 Ferry Road

Theme 5 ‐ Health and Wellbeing

A ‐ 3km cycle loop around Southsea Common
HW‐A1 Various

B ‐ Provision of new or improved children's play 
facilities

HW‐B1 Nr. Clarence car park
HW‐B2 Adj. skate park
HW‐B3 Canoe Lake
HW‐B4 Adj. East Battery
HW‐B5 Fort Cumberland

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +
0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + 0 +

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +
0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +

? 0 00 + 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 +

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +

+ 0 ? 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 + 0 +
+ 0 ? 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 + 0 +

+ 0 ? 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 + 0 +
+ 0 ? 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 + 0 +

+ 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 ? 0 0 + 0 +

?+ 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 + 0 +

? 0 0 + 0 +

+ 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 ? 0 0 + 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? +

+ 0 0 0 + 0 0 0

0

0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? + 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +

? 0

+
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +

++ ? + 0 +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? +

++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ++ ? + 0 +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? 0 ?

P
age 320



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

C ‐ Provision of new/improved sports facilities

HW‐C1 MOD field nr. Pembroke Road

HW‐C2 Southsea manager's compound/Tennis courts

HW‐C3 Existing cricket ground/ Tenth Hole pitch and putt

HW‐C4 Eastney Swimming Pool
HW‐C5 Fort Cumberland

D ‐ 'Access for All' route and potential future 
extensions (Guaranteed access for the mobility 
impaired)

HW‐D1 Various
Theme 6 ‐ Visitor Economy
A ‐ 'Ferry 2 Ferry' 8km route

VE‐A1 Various
B ‐ Large‐scale public space enhancement 
opportunities

VE‐B1 Clarence Pier interchange
VE‐B2 Ave de Caen

VE‐B3 Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade Gardens

VE‐B4 St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake

C ‐ Cluster areas where activity will be focused

VE‐C1 Old Portsmouth Broad St area
VE‐C2 Clarence Pier and car park
VE‐C3 Central seafront
VE‐C4 Speakers Corner to St Helens Parade
VE‐C5 St Georges Road
VE‐C6 Eastney swimming pool area
VE‐C7 RNLI and ferry pier area

Theme 7 ‐ Development Opportunities
A ‐ Short‐term

DO‐A1 Wightlink site
DO‐A2 Round Tower
DO‐A3 Square Tower
DO‐A4 Speakers' Corner
DO‐A5 Canoe Lake
DO‐A6 St Georges Road (1)
DO‐A7 Fraser Range
DO‐A8 Fort Cumberland
DO‐A9 Southsea Marina

B ‐ Medium‐term
DO‐B1 Clarence Pier and interchange
DO‐B2 Clarence Pier extension
DO‐B3 Blue Reef aquarium
DO‐B4 PCC depot / Tennis club etc
DO‐B5 The Pyramids ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

‐ ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

? 0 ? ? ?
? ? ? 0 ? ? ?

+ ? ? 0 + ? ?

? ?

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + 0 +

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ?

?

0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + 0 +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? + 0 +
0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + 0 +

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? + + 0 +

+0++????0+000+

+ 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +
? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

? 0 0 0 +

? 0 0 0 +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +

+/‐
+/‐

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

? +

+
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
+ + ?? ? 0 ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
?

? ? ? +

+
+
?
?
?

?
?
?
0

0
‐

‐
+/‐

?

? ? ? +?
? ? ? +
? ? ? +
?

? ? 0 ? ? ?
+ ? ? 0 0 ? ?
? ? ? 0 0 ? ?

P
age 321



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

DO‐B6 St Helens Parade
DO‐B7 St Georges Road (2)
DO‐B8 East Eastney
DO‐B9 Eastney Swimming Pool
DO‐B10 RNLI site

C ‐ Long‐term
DO‐C1 Fish market/public toilets
DO‐C2 Long Curtain Moat

Key Area 1 ‐ Old Portsmouth
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

OP‐A1 Former Wightlink site/PCC car park and buildings

OP‐A2 Fish market and public toilets
OP‐A3 LCM/King's Bastion
OP‐A4 Round Tower
OP‐A5 Square Tower

B ‐ Public space enhancements
OP‐B1 The Point, Spice Island
OP‐B2 Grand Parade
OP‐B3 King's Bastion

C ‐ Highway enhancements
OP‐C1 Broad Street

OP‐C2 Broad St pedestrian crossing to Feltham Row

D ‐ Cycle routes
OP‐D1 White Hart Rd to Pier Road

E ‐ Walking routes
OP‐E1 Various

F ‐ Landscape enhancements

OP‐F1 Pembroke Gardens (former site of Nelson Statue)

Key Area 2 ‐ Clarence Pier
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

CP‐A1 Clarence Pier

CP‐A2 Clarence Pier interchange (inc public toilets)

CP‐A3 Clarence Pier carpark
CP‐A4 Clarence Pier extension
CP‐A5 Hovertravel terminal
CP‐A6 LCM car park
CP‐A7 Brewers Fayre pub
CP‐A8 Premier Inn hotel

B ‐ Public space enhancements
CP‐B1 Clarence pier interchange

C ‐ Highway enhancements
CP‐C1 Clarence pier interchange
CP‐C2 Pier Road
CP‐C3 Duisburg Way
CP‐C4 Pembroke Road

?
? ?
? ?

+
+
+

?
?
?

??
?
?

0
0
0

0
0
0

?
?
?

?
?
?
?

+
+
+
+

+ 0 ? 0 + ? ? ? ? + ?

0
0
0

?
?
?

+
+
+
+

?
?
?
?

? ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ? ? ?

? 0 ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? 0 ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? +

? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

0 0 00 0 ? ? + ? + ? ? ? +

?

?

0

0

0

0

0

0

+

+

0

0

?

? 0

?

?

0 +

+

? ? ++

? + ? +

?
?

?

?

?
?

?

?

+
+

+

+

?
?

+

+

?

?

?
?

?

?

0
+

0

0

?
?

?

?

+
+

+

+

?
?

?

?

?

?

?

0
0
0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0
0

0

0

+
0

?

?
?
?
?

+

+
+
+
+

0 0 0 0 0 ? ? + ? + ? ? ? +

?

?

?
?

+/‐

?

?
+/‐
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

? ? ? ?

? ? ? ?
? ? ? ?
? ? ? ?
? ? ? ?

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +
? ?

?
?

0
0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ‐ ? + ? ? ? +

P
age 322



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

CP‐C5 Victoria Ave

CP‐C6 Ped route ‐ Clarence Pier to Clarence Parade

D ‐ Cycle routes
CP‐D1 Clarence Esplanade

CP‐D2
Royal Garrison Church to Clarence Parade via 
Duisburg Way
E ‐ Walking routes

CP‐E1 Various
F ‐ Landscape enhancements

CP‐F1 Northern edge of Clarence Pier carpark
Key Area 3 ‐ Ave de Caen to Southsea Castle
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

AC‐A1 Former pitch&putt/minigolf
AC‐A2 Garden centre
AC‐A3 Tennis courts
AC‐A4 Watkins & Faux cafe
AC‐A5 Splash pool
AC‐A6 Beach volleyball court
AC‐A7 Former Seafront Manager compound
AC‐A8 Blue Reef aquarium and adj. space

B ‐ Public space enhancements
AC‐B1 N/A

C ‐ Highway enhancements
AC‐C1 Ave de Caen

D ‐ Cycle routes
AC‐D1 SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile

E ‐ Walking routes
AC‐E1 Various

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 4 ‐ Skatepark to Speakers' Corner
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

SC‐A1 South Parade Gardens
SC‐A2 Pyramids and carpark
SC‐A3 Rock Gardens
SC‐A4 Speakers Corner

B ‐ Public space enhancements
SC‐B1 Around Skatepark
SC‐B2 Adj. Skatepark

C ‐ Highway enhancements
SC‐C1 Clarence Esplanade/Jack Cockerill Way

D ‐ Cycle routes
SC‐D1 SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile

E ‐ Walking routes
SC‐E1 Various

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 5 ‐ Canoe Lake & Eastney Beach

+

+

?

?

+

+? 0 0 0 + 0

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? ?

? ?

? ? ?

? ? ?

+

?

+

+

?

?

+

+

?

?

? 0 0 0 + 0

?

?

0

0 0

?

?

?

?

+

+

0

0

?

?

0

+

?

0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +

+

? ? ? 0 ?

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ?

? ? ? ? ? ?

+

+

+

?

0

0

? +

?

?

+

+

? ? +

?

?

?

?

+

+

?

?

?

+

+

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

? ? +
0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 + ? ? ‐ ? + ?

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

?

?

?

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

+

+

+

?

0

0

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

?

+

+

+

?

?

?

?

+

+

?

?

?

+

+

+

P
age 323



SM SPD Options Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project G H I J K LA B C D E F M N

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Options

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

A ‐ Opportunity Areas

CL‐A1 St Helens Parade gardens (D‐Day stone memorial)

CL‐A2 Beach adj. SPP
CL‐A3 Canoe Lake ‐ various
CL‐A4 St Georges Road beach huts and toilet block
CL‐A5 Beach ad St Georges Rd junction

CL‐A6
Eastney Swimming pool and toilet block and 
beach
B ‐ Public space enhancements
N/A
C ‐ Highway enhancements
N/A
D ‐ Cycle routes

CL‐D1
SPP to Eastney via Eastney Esplanade and St 
Helens Parade/St Georges Rd
E ‐ Walking routes

CL‐E1 Eastney Esplanade
F ‐ Landscape enhancements
N/A
Key Area 6 ‐ Fort Cumberland & Ferry Road
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

FC‐A1 Southsea Marina
FC‐A2 Fort Cumberland
FC‐A3 Fraser Range (Qinetiq)
FC‐A4 RNLI building
FC‐A5 Hayling Ferry pier (Eastney side)

B ‐ Public space enhancements
FC‐B1 Bus stop nr. RNLI
FC‐B2 Land adj. Southsea Marina

C ‐ Highway enhancements
N/A
D ‐ Cycle routes

FC‐D1
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC

E ‐ Walking routes

FC‐E1
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC; 
FC heath park
F ‐ Landscape enhancements

FC‐F1 Fort Cumberland Heath

?

0
?
?
?

?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?

?
?
?
?

?

0

0
0
0
0

0

+

0
?
?

?

0

?

?
?
?
?

?

?

?
?
?
?

?

0

0
0

0

‐

+/‐

?

?
?
?
?

?

+

+
+
+
+

+

?

?
?
?
?

?

?

?
?
?
?

?

?

?
?
?
?

?

+

+
+
+
+

+

?

?

0

0

0

0

0

0

+

+

0

0

?

?

?

?

?

?

+

+

?

?

+

+

?

?

+

+

?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?

0
0
0
0
0

?
?

?
0

?
?
?

?
?
?
?
0

?
?
?
?
?

+/‐
‐
?
+/‐
+/‐

+
+

0
0

0
0

0
0

0 0
0 0

?
?

?
?

?
+/‐

?
?
?
?
+

+
+
+
+
+

+
+/‐

?
?

0

0

?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?

?
?
?
?
0

?
?
?

+

+

?

?

?

+

+

?

?

?

?

?

?

+/‐

+/‐

? ?

?

?

+

+

+

0
0

0
0

+
+

?

?

+

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

+

+

0

0

0

? ?

+

P
age 324



 

 
 

APPENDIX 7 

 
 

SA Scoring of revised Seafront Masterplan SPD June 2020 
document 

 
 
 
 

Page 325



SM SPD Vision and Objectives Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Vision

The seafront's natural and historic assets will be 
protected, conserved, and enhanced. The 
seafront will be a beautiful, functional, 
sustainable , and resilient place that is healthy, 
safe, enjoyable,  and accessible to all

? + + ? + + + + + + + + ? ? + 0 + 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? ? + + + + ? + + +

Objectives

1
Protect and enhance the seafront's natural assets 
and achieve a net gain in biodiversity

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ ++ ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0

2
Conserve and enhance the seafront's heritage 
assets

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + ++ + ++ ++ + + + 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 + + +

3
Ensure that new development at the seafront is 
of excellent design and enhances the seafront 
overall

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + + +

4
Ensure that new development is functional and 
compatible with the overall functionality of the 
seafront 

+ + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + ? 0 0 0 0 + ? + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

5
Ensure that new development is sustainable, 
mitigates climate change, and is resilient to the 
effects of climate change

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

6
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve people's health, 
wellbeing, and safety

+ + + + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 + + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 + ++ + ++ + + + + 0 + 0 0 0

7
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve people's enjoyment of 
the seafront

? + + + 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 + + 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + + + + ++ ++ ++ + + + 0 0 + + + +

8
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve accessibility to all

? + + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + ++ ? + + + 0 0 0 + + +

9
Ensure that new development promotes active 
and sustainable travel

+ + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 + 0 + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0

10

Ensure that new development, including 
alterations to roads, seeks to minimise space 
allocated to motor vehicles, in order to better 
accommodate other users

+ + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ + + ? ? + + 0 0 ? + + +

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

G J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge

M

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy

m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 sa

fe
ty
, 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L
Seafront Masterplan SPD Review ‐ Vision and Objectives

A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

C

En
er
gy

D

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

F I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

P
age 326



SM SPD Vision and Objectives Scoring Results (Summary View)

Vision

The seafront's natural and historic assets will be 
protected, conserved, and enhanced. The 
seafront will be a beautiful, functional, 
sustainable , and resilient place that is healthy, 
safe, enjoyable,  and accessible to all

Objectives

1
Protect and enhance the seafront's natural assets 
and achieve a net gain in biodiversity

2
Conserve and enhance the seafront's heritage 
assets

3
Ensure that new development at the seafront is 
of excellent design and enhances the seafront 
overall

4
Ensure that new development is functional and 
compatible with the overall functionality of the 
seafront 

5
Ensure that new development is sustainable, 
mitigates climate change, and is resilient to the 
effects of climate change

6
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve people's health, 
wellbeing, and safety

7
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve people's enjoyment of 
the seafront

8
Ensure that new development maximises 
opportunities to improve accessibility to all

9
Ensure that new development promotes active 
and sustainable travel

10

Ensure that new development, including 
alterations to roads, seeks to minimise space 
allocated to motor vehicles, in order to better 
accommodate other users

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 sa

fe
ty
, 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy

m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD Review ‐ Vision and Objectives

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

M N

?

0

? ? ?

G H I J K LA B C D E F

+

0

?

+

+

+

0

0

+

+

+

?

0

0

0

0

+

0

0

0

+

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

+

+

+

0

0

0

0

0

+

+

0

0

+

0

0

0

?

0

0

0

?

+

0

+

0

0

0

+

0

+ ? ? ? +

+

+

?

+

0 ++ 0 0 0 + 0 0

0 +

0 + ? ? ++ 0 + 0

0 0 + + 0 +

+

? + + + + + + +

+ +

0 + + + + + +

+ + + + + +

0

0

0

0

+ 0 + + + ++ + + +

+

+

++

?

?

?

?

?

0

?

?

?

+

+

+?

0

+ 0

0

?

P
age 327



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Guidance text (pgs. 36‐37) + + + + + + ++ + + 0 0 0 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

Guidance text (pg. 38) + ++ + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 + 0 + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ + ? ? + + + +

Guidance text (pg. 39) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 + + +

Guidance text (pg. 40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ++ ++ ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 ++ ++ 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guidance text (pg. 41) + + + + 0 + + ? ? 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ++ + + + + + ++ + + + + +
Public Spaces
A ‐ Gateway spaces
Pier Road/Duisburg Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
Duisburg Way/Western Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
St Helen's Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?
Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? + + ? ? ? + + ?

B ‐ Public realm enhancements

Clarence Pier interchange + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +
Ave de Caen ++ ++ 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade 
Gardens/Clarence Esplanade/Speakers Corner

++ ++ 0 ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake Park ++ ++ + ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 ? + + +

C ‐ Public realm improvement opportunities

The Point, Spice Island + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Area outside Blue Reef aquarium + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Skate park + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Area outside The Pyramids + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Speakers Corner + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Bus stop/RNLI + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
Hayling Ferry pier + + 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? + + +
D ‐ Primary routes requiring public realm 
enhancements
Old Portsmouth to Hayling Ferry ? + + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +
Clarence Pier ‐ Pier Road ? + ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +
Ave de Caen ? + ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ++ ++ ++ + ? ? ? ? + 0 0 0 + + +
Lighting
Guidance text (pg.43) 0 + ? 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + ? + + + + + + + + + ++ ++ ++ + 0 + ? + + + + 0 + + +
A ‐ Gateway lighting
Pier Road/Duisburg Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Duisburg Way/Western Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
St Helen's Parade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

Theme 5 ‐ Public realm

Theme 4 ‐ Natural Environment

Theme 3 ‐ Heritage

Theme 2 ‐ Health and Wellbeing

Theme 1 ‐ Climate Change

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

MF I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

GC

En
er
gy

D

THEMATIC GUIDANCE

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

P
age 328



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

MF I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

GC

En
er
gy

D

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
B ‐ Focal lighting
The Point, Spice Island 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Round Tower 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Square Tower 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Royal Garrison Church 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Spur Redoubt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Clarence Pier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Royal Naval Memorial 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Area outside Blue Reef 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
D‐Day Story 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Southsea Castle 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Pyramids 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Speakers Corner 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
South Parade Pier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Rose Garden entrance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
East Battery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
West Battery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
C ‐ Improved key junction lighting feature
Clarence pier interchange 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
D ‐ Improved highway lighting
Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
E ‐ Improved key route lighting
Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +
F ‐ Improved pedestrian lighting
Various 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ++ ++ ? ? + ? ? ? ? ? 0 + + +

Guidance text (pgs. 44‐46) + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + ? 0 ? + + + 0 0 + + +

Guidance text (pg. 47) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + 0 0 0 ++ ++ ++

Cluster areas where activity will be focused

Old Portsmouth 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
Clarence Pier 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
Southsea Castle 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
South Parade Pier 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
Canoe Lake Park & St Georges Road 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
Eastney swimming pool 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +
Eastney Point 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + 0 0 0 + + +

Guidance text (pg. 49) ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + ? ? ? + + + ? ? ? ++ ++ ++
A ‐ Short‐term
Wightlink site ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Hovertravel terminal and interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Blue Reef aquarium ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
The Pyramids ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Theme 7 ‐ Economy and Attractions

Theme 8 ‐ Development Opportunities

Theme 6 ‐ Transport and Access

P
age 329



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

MF I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

GC

En
er
gy

D

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Speakers' Corner/South Parade Gardens + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Canoe Lake Park ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Eastney Esplanade West ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Royal Marines Museum ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? + + + + + + + ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Southsea Leisure Park ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Fraser Range ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Fort Cumberland ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
B ‐ Medium‐term
Clarence Pier + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Southsea Tennis club etc ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
St Helens Parade 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Eastney Swimming Pool ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Southsea Marina ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
RNLI site ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Eastney Point ferry terminal ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
C ‐ Long‐term
Fish market/public toilets ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text + + + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ ? ? ? + + + ? 0 ? ++ ++ ++
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

Former Wightlink site/PCC car park and buildings ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Fish market and public toilets ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? + ? ? ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
B ‐ Public space enhancements
The Point, Spice Island 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
King's Bastion 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
C ‐ Highway enhancements
Broad Street ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Broad St pedestrian crossing to Feltham Row ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Clarence Pier + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Hovertravel terminal and interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Clarence pier interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
C ‐ Highway enhancements
Clarence pier interchange + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Pier Road ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
D ‐ Cycle routes
Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +
E ‐ Walking routes

Links to Castle Road and Southsea Town Centre + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Car parks
Increase capacity to car parks ‐ ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? + + +

Area 1 ‐ Old Portsmouth

Area 2 ‐ Clarence Pier

AREA GUIDANCE

P
age 330



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

MF I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

GC

En
er
gy

D

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Guidance text 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + + ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guidance text + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + + ++ + ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Blue Reef aquarium and adj. space ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
B ‐ Highway enhancements
Ave de Caen (north) ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + + + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Ave de Caen (south) ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + + + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + + + + + + ++ + 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0 + + +
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Around Skatepark 0 + 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Adj. Skatepark 0 + 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Pyramids and carpark ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Speakers Corner + + + + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
A ‐ Highway enhancements
Clarence Esplanade/Jack Cockerill Way ++ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + 0 0 ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ? + + + + + + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
B‐ Cycle routes
SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +
C‐ Walking routes
Various + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + ++ + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

St Helens Parade gardens (D‐Day stone memorial) + + ? + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 + + ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

SPP to Eastney via Eastney Esplanade and St 
Helens Parade/St Georges Rd

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
Eastney Esplanade + + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Canoe Lake ‐ various ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Guidance text ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Eastney Swimming pool and toilet block and 
beach

? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

Area 4 ‐ St Georges Road to Henderson Road

Area 5 ‐ Henderson Road to Eastney Point

Area 3 ‐ Southsea Common

Sub‐area A ‐ Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road

Sub‐area B ‐ Southsea Skatepark

Sub‐area C ‐ The Pyramids Centre

Sub‐area D ‐ Speakers' Corner, South Parade Gardens & Rock 
Gardens

Sub‐area E ‐ South Parade Pier & St Helens Parade

Sub‐area F ‐ Canoe Lake Park to St Georges Road

P
age 331



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Detailed View)

Project
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

N

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

K

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

L

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

E

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020
A

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

B

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

J

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

SA OBJECTIVES

H

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

MF I

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

GC

En
er
gy

D

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Guidance text ? + ? + 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Southsea Leisure Park ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ‐ ‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Southsea Marina ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Fort Cumberland ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Fraser Range (Qinetiq) ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
RNLI building ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +
Hayling Ferry pier (Eastney side) ? ? + ? ? 0 + ? ? 0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ +/‐ + 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ++ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + + +
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Bus stop nr. RNLI 0 + + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ++ 0 0 ? 0 0 + + ++ ? ? ? 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + +
D ‐ Cycle routes

Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

E ‐ Walking routes
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC; 
FC heath park

+ + ? + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 + + 0 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? ? + + + + + ? 0 + + + ? ? ? + + +

F ‐ Landscape enhancements
Fort Cumberland Heath 0 + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ? 0 ? ? +/‐ +/‐ ? + + + ? + + + + ++ + ? ? ? + + ? ? ? + + +

P
age 332



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project

Guidance text (pgs. 36‐37)

Guidance text (pg. 38)

Guidance text (pg. 39)

Guidance text (pg. 40)

Guidance text (pg. 41)
Public Spaces
A ‐ Gateway spaces
Pier Road/Duisburg Way
Duisburg Way/Western Parade
Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen
St Helen's Parade
St Georges Road
Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block
B ‐ Public realm enhancements
Clarence Pier interchange
Ave de Caen

Pyramids/Rock Gardens/South Parade 
Gardens/Clarence Esplanade/Speakers Corner

St Helens Parade/Canoe Lake Park
C ‐ Public realm improvement opportunities
The Point, Spice Island
Area outside Blue Reef aquarium
Skate park
Area outside The Pyramids
Speakers Corner
Bus stop/RNLI
Hayling Ferry pier
D ‐ Primary routes requiring public realm 
enhancements
Old Portsmouth to Hayling Ferry
Clarence Pier ‐ Pier Road
Ave de Caen
Lighting
Guidance text (pg.43)
A ‐ Gateway lighting
Pier Road/Duisburg Way
Duisburg Way/Western Parade
Clarence Parade/Ave De Caen
St Helen's Parade
St Georges Road
Eastney Esplanade/Eastney toilet block
B ‐ Focal lighting

? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? +/‐ ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

0 0 0

?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ +

+
+
+
+
+0

?0
0
0
0

?

? ? ?
0 ? 0

+

+

?
?
?
?

?

0

0 ? 0 ?

0

?

?

+ ? ++ ? ? 0

? + + ++ + ? +0 +

++
++

+

?

+
+

+ 0

0
0

0

0
0
0
0

0 ++

?
?
?
?

?

? ++

?
?
?
?

?

0
0
+

D E

0

0

0

00

+ +

+

THEMATIC GUIDANCE
Theme 1 ‐ Climate Change

0

?

? ?

?

?

?

?

?

?

+

+

0

0
0

0
0
0

+

0
0

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

?

+ +

+ 0

G H I J K LA B C

? +

F M N

+

0

0 0

+

?

?
?

+?
?

+
++

+ + ?

+/‐
+/‐
+/‐

?
+

0
0

0
0

0

0 +/‐
+/‐

?
?

+
+

+

?
?
?
?

?

?
?
?
?

0

?

0
0

++
++

+

0

+
+

?
0 0 0

+
0 ? ?

+
+

?

0
0

+
+

?

0
0
0
0

0

++

0 0

?

? ++
? ?

+

? ++

0
0

0

0

+

+

0

0

+

+

0

0

0

0

0
0

0
0
0
0

+

+

?

00

+

?

+

+

+

++

+

+

+

++

0+

+

+

0

+

0

0

+

?
?

?
?

?
?

+

?
?

0

++
++

++
++

++

++
++

?
?

?
?

+

?
?

+

0
0

?
?

?
?0

0
0

??++

? ?0

0
0
0

+

?
?
?

?
?0

0

0
0

?0

?
?
?

?
?
?
?
?

0
0

?
?

0
0
0

+

+ 0
? 0 ? ++ ? ?

0 0 + 0 ? 0 ? ? ? +

++

Theme 2 ‐ Health and Wellbeing

Theme 3 ‐ Heritage

Theme 4 ‐ Natural Environment

Theme 5 ‐ Public realm
0 0 0 0 0 0 ? ++ 0 ++ 0 + 0 0

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? 0 +/‐ ++ ? ? ? ?

+

? 0 0 0 ? 0 ? + ? ++ ? ? 0 +
+

+

0 0

P
age 333



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project D E

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

G H I J K LA B C F M N
The Point, Spice Island
Round Tower
Square Tower
Royal Garrison Church
Spur Redoubt
Clarence Pier
Royal Naval Memorial
Area outside Blue Reef
D‐Day Story
Southsea Castle
Pyramids
Speakers Corner
South Parade Pier
Rose Garden entrance
East Battery
West Battery
C ‐ Improved key junction lighting feature
Clarence pier interchange
Ave de Caen/Clarence Esplanade
D ‐ Improved highway lighting
Various
E ‐ Improved key route lighting
Various
F ‐ Improved pedestrian lighting
Various

Guidance text (pgs. 44‐46)

Guidance text (pg. 47)
Cluster areas where activity will be focused
Old Portsmouth
Clarence Pier
Southsea Castle
South Parade Pier
Canoe Lake Park & St Georges Road
Eastney swimming pool
Eastney Point

Guidance text (pg. 49)
A ‐ Short‐term
Wightlink site
Hovertravel terminal and interchange
Blue Reef aquarium
The Pyramids
Speakers' Corner/ South Parade Gardens
Canoe Lake Park
Eastney Esplanade West
Royal Marines Museum
Southsea Leisure Park

? ? ? ? +? ? ? 0 ? ?

+ ? ? +/‐ ? + ?

? ? 0 + ? ? ‐ ?
? ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0

? ? ? 0 +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ?
0 ? ? 0

+ ? ? + ++ 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 0

0 0 + 0 ++0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

++ ? ? ? +

++ ? ? ?

+

? ? ? +
0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?

? ?
++

++ ? ? ? +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ? ?

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ?

++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ?

? ? ? ++

? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
? ? ?

0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?
0 ? 0 0 0

+
+

+
+

+
+

+

+0
0
0
0
0

+
+

0 ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ?

0

Theme 6 ‐ Transport and Access

Theme 7 ‐ Economy and Attractions

Theme 8 ‐ Development Opportunities

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

++ ?
0 0

+

0 0 ? 0 0 0 ? ? ? ++ ? ? ? +

0 0 ?

? ? 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +0

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +
? 0 ? ? ? ? 0 +0 ? ? 0 0 ?

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? 0 +

? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? ? + ? + ? ++

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

? +?

? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ?
+

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
? +/‐ ?

? ? +/‐ + ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ?
? ? ? 0 ? + ? ?

? ? ? +

P
age 334



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project D E

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

G H I J K LA B C F M N
Fraser Range
Fort Cumberland
B ‐ Medium‐term
Clarence Pier
Southsea Tennis club etc
St Helens Parade
Eastney Swimming Pool
Southsea Marina
RNLI site
Eastney Point ferry terminal
C ‐ Long‐term
Fish market/public toilets

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas

Former Wightlink site/PCC car park and buildings

Fish market and public toilets
B ‐ Public space enhancements
The Point, Spice Island
King's Bastion
C ‐ Highway enhancements
Broad Street
Broad St pedestrian crossing to Feltham Row

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Clarence Pier
Hovertravel terminal and interchange
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Clarence pier interchange
C ‐ Highway enhancements
Clarence pier interchange
Pier Road
D ‐ Cycle routes
Various
E ‐ Walking routes

Links to Castle Road and Southsea Town Centre

F ‐ Car parks
Increase capacity to car parks

Guidance text

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Blue Reef aquarium and adj. space
B ‐ Highway enhancements

‐ ? ? 0 ? ? ? ? ? ? 0 0 ? +

? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ? ? + ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ? ? + ? ?

? ? ? ? +
+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ‐

? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ‐ ?

0 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? ? ? +

+ ? ? +

? 0 0 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +
? 0

? 0 + ? ? ? ? ? ? ?

? ? ? ? +

? ? ? ?

0 0 0 0 0 ? ? + ? + ? ? ? +

+ 0 0 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? + ? ++

0 0 0 0 0 ? ? + ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? ?

? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ 0 ? ? ? ? +
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ 0

? 0 ? ? ? ? ?

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? +
? ? ? ? +

0 ? ? 0 0 ? ? ‐ ? + ? ? ? +
? ?

+
? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

?

? ? ? +? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? ?

Area 3 ‐ Southsea Common

Sub‐area A ‐ Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road

AREA GUIDANCE
Area 1 ‐ Old Portsmouth

Area 2 ‐ Clarence Pier

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? ‐ ? ?

????

0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ?? ? +

? ? ? +/‐ ?

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ?
+

? +

0 0 0 0 +

+

0 0 0 0

? 0 0? 0 0 0 + 0 0 0 + 0

? ? ? 0

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ 0 ? ? ? ? +

+/‐???0???

0 0 0 0 +

? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

?

P
age 335



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project D E

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

G H I J K LA B C F M N
Ave de Caen (north)
Ave de Caen (south)

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Around Skatepark
Adj. Skatepark

Guidance text
Pyramids and carpark

Guidance text
Speakers Corner
A ‐ Highway enhancements
Clarence Esplanade/Jack Cockerill Way
B‐ Cycle routes
SPP to Clarence Parade and Ladies Mile
C‐ Walking routes
Various

Guidance text

St Helens Parade gardens (D‐Day stone memorial)

SPP to Eastney via Eastney Esplanade and St 
Helens Parade/St Georges Rd
E ‐ Walking routes
Eastney Esplanade

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Canoe Lake ‐ various

Guidance text
Eastney Swimming pool and toilet block and 
beach

Guidance text
A ‐ Opportunity Areas
Southsea Leisure Park
Southsea Marina
Fort Cumberland
Fraser Range (Qinetiq)
RNLI building
Hayling Ferry pier (Eastney side)
B ‐ Public space enhancements
Bus stop nr. RNLI

D ‐ Cycle routes

+/‐?0?? ? ? 0

+ 0 0 0 0 0 ? ? ?

0

+ ? 0 0 +

+

? +
? ? +
? ? +

+0
? 0 ?

?
?
?

?
?
?
?

?
?
?
0

?

? ?
+/‐

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ 0 ? ? ? ? +
‐

+/‐

? ? ? 0 ? ? ?
? ? ? 0 ? ? ?
? ?

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? ‐ ? ? ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0 ? ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? ? ? 0 + ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? + ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0 + ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

Sub‐area B ‐ Southsea Skatepark

Sub‐area C ‐ The Pyramids Centre

Sub‐area D ‐ Speakers' Corner, South Parade Gardens & Rock 

Sub‐area E ‐ South Parade Pier & St Helens Parade

Sub‐area F ‐ Canoe Lake Park to St Georges Road

Area 4 ‐ St Georges Road to Henderson Road

Area 5 ‐ Henderson Road to Eastney Point

? ? ? +? 0 0 0 + ? ? ? ? +

? + ? ?

? + ? ? ? +

+ ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

+ + + + 0 +0 0 ? 0

? +

? + ? ? ? +

+ ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0 ? + ? ? ? +

? ? ? 0

+ ? ? 0 0 ? ? 0

? 0 0

? ? ? 0 + ? ? +/‐

0 + ? ? ?

+ 0 0 0

P
age 336



SM SPD Document Scoring Results (Summary View)

Project ID Project D E

H
is
to
ric

 e
nv
iro

nm
en

t a
nd

 
cu
ltu

ra
l h
er
ita

ge

La
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
to
w
ns
ca
pe

H
um

an
 p
op

ul
at
io
n,
 s
af
et
y,
 

an
d 
he

al
th
 a
nd

 w
el
lb
ei
ng

Co
m
m
un

iti
es
, a
m
en

iti
es
, a
nd

 
so
ci
al
 v
al
ue

Cl
im

at
e 
ch
an

ge
 re

si
lie
nc
e

Ec
on

om
y,
 e
m
pl
oy
m
en

t, 
an

d 
m
at
er
ia
l a
ss
et
s

Seafront Masterplan SPD ‐ July 2020

SA OBJECTIVES

Tr
av
el
 a
nd

 T
ra
ns
po

rt

W
at
er
 (r
es
ou

rc
es
 a
nd

 
qu

al
ity

)

En
er
gy

N
oi
se
 a
nd

 V
ib
ra
tio

n

Ai
r q

ua
lit
y

W
as
te
 a
nd

 re
so
ur
ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t (
so
il,
 

co
nt
am

in
at
ed

 la
nd

, &
 w
as
te
)

Su
st
ai
na

bl
e 
co
ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
an

d 
bu

ild
in
gs

Bi
od

iv
er
si
ty
 a
nd

 n
at
ur
e 

co
ns
er
va
tio

n

G H I J K LA B C F M N

Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC

E ‐ Walking routes
Eastney swimming pool to Hayling Ferry Pier via 
Ferry Road and potential route along south of FC; 
FC heath park
F ‐ Landscape enhancements
Fort Cumberland Heath

0 0 + 0 ? +/‐ ? + ? + ? +

+ 0 0 0 0 ? ? +/‐ ? + ? ? ? +

? 0 0 0 + 0 ? ? ? + ? + ? +

? 0

P
age 337



 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Planning Policy 

Portsmouth City Council 

Civic Offices, Guildhall Square 

PO1 2AU 

Telephone: 023 9268 8633 

Email: planningpolicy@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 

You can get this 

Portsmouth City 

Council information in 

large print, Braille, 

audio or in another 

language by calling 023 

9268 8633.  

 

 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Page 338



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

HRA of the Revised 
Portsmouth Seafront 
Masterplan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Project number: 60586784 
 
 
July 2019 
 

   

Page 339



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 

 

Quality information 
Prepared by  Checked by  Verified by  Approved by 

 
 

      

Damiano Weitowitz 
Consultant Ecologist 

 James Riley 
Technical Director  

   Max Wade 
Technical Director 

 

 
Revision History 
Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

0 12/07/19 First issue JR James Riley Technical Director 

      

      

      

 
 
Distribution List 
# Hard Copies  PDF Required Association / Company Name 

   

   

   

   

 
  

Page 340



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 

 

 

Prepared for: 
Portsmouth City Council 
 
 

Prepared by: 
Damiano Weitowitz 
Consultant Ecologist 
T: 01256-310-257 
M: 077-959-179-87 
E: Damiano.Weitowitz@aecom.com 
 
AECOM Limited 
Midpoint, Alencon Link 
Basingstoke 
Hampshire RG21 7PP 
United Kingdom 
 
T: +44(0)1256 310200 
aecom.com 
 

  
 
 

 

 

 
© 2019 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our client (the “Client”) in 
accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed 
between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been 
checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon 
this document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM. 

  

Page 341



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................... 6 
Legislative Context .................................................................................................................................................. 6 
Quality Assurance ................................................................................................................................................... 7 
2. Methodology .................................................................................................... 8 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 
Description of HRA Tasks ........................................................................................................................................ 8 
HRA Task 1 – Likely Significant Effects (LSE) ......................................................................................................... 8 
HRA Task 2 – Appropriate Assessment (AA) ........................................................................................................... 8 
HRA Task 3 – Avoidance and Mitigation .................................................................................................................. 9 
Physical Scope of the HRA ..................................................................................................................................... 9 
3. European Sites ............................................................................................... 11 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar ....................................................................................................................... 11 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar ............................................................................................. 13 
Solent Maritime SAC ............................................................................................................................................. 16 
Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar ..................................................................................................... 18 
Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC ................................................................................................................. 20 
4. Relevant Impact Pathways ............................................................................ 22 
Background to Recreational Pressure ................................................................................................................... 22 
Non-breeding birds (September to March) ............................................................................................................ 23 
Visual and noise disturbance ................................................................................................................................ 25 
Background to Loss of Functionally Linked Land .................................................................................................. 26 
Background to Tall Buildings and Light Pollution ................................................................................................... 27 
Background to Atmospheric Pollution .................................................................................................................... 27 
Background to Water Quality ................................................................................................................................ 30 
5. Screening for Likely Significant Effects (LSEs) .............................................. 32 
Table of Development Opportunities ..................................................................................................................... 32 
Screening of Development Opportunities .............................................................................................................. 37 
Old Portsmouth ..................................................................................................................................................... 37 
Clarence Pier ........................................................................................................................................................ 37 
Southsea Common Opportunity Area .................................................................................................................... 37 
St. George’s Road to Henderson Road ................................................................................................................. 38 
Henderson Road to Eastney Point ........................................................................................................................ 39 
6. Appropriate Assessment ................................................................................ 40 
Recreational Pressure ........................................................................................................................................... 40 
Proposals increasing recreational footfall .............................................................................................................. 40 
Proposals increasing the net residential population .............................................................................................. 42 
In-combination assessment of recreational pressure ............................................................................................ 44 
Impacts of Tall Buildings on Flight Lines and Sight Lines ...................................................................................... 44 
Visual and noise disturbance from construction .................................................................................................... 46 
Atmospheric Pollution ........................................................................................................................................... 47 
Water Quality ........................................................................................................................................................ 48 
7. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................. 50 

Page 342



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 

 

Figures 
Figure 1. The legislative basis for Appropriate Assessment .................................................................................... 7 
Figure 2. Four Stage Approach to Habitats Regulations Assessment. Source EC, 20011. ..................................... 8 
Figure 3: Map of the European sites identified relevant in relation to the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan SPD 
boundary. .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 
Figure 4: Traffic contribution to concentrations of pollutants at different distances from a road (Source: DfT) ...... 30 
 

Tables 
Table 1: Tolerance distances in metres of 21 species of waterfowl to various forms of recreational disturbance, as 
described in the literature. Where the mean is not available, distances are provided as a range. ........................ 24 
Table 2: Main sources and effects of air pollutants on habitats and species ......................................................... 28 
Table 3: Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTWs) with catchments serving areas that are to provide new 
development.......................................................................................................................................................... 31 
Table 4: Summary of the main proposed development opportunities detailed in the Portsmouth Seafront 
Masterplan, detailing the general opportunity area, a more specific location within the areas, the relative location 
to European Sites and the screening decisions on the proposals. ........................................................................ 32 
 

Page 343



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
6 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Portsmouth City Council subjected its Seafront Masterplan to HRA in 2012 and formally adopted it in 2013. 

The document highlighted the seafront’s key role as a tourism destination and in creating the unique 
atmosphere of Portsmouth as a city. It also recognised the unique ecological assemblages, consisting 
mainly of migratory and overwintering waterfowl, in nearby designated European sites. Some of the 
development opportunities in the Masterplan were delivered, which has resulted in an increase of visitor 
numbers to the wider area. 

1.2 The Seafront Masterplan is now being revisited to set out the place making and development aspirations 
the Council has for the area, including the identification of deliverable projects. Public consultation was 
carried out in 2018 and early 2019 with further consultation on draft proposals planned. 

1.3 AECOM has been commissioned to assess these development proposals and their potential implications, 
if any, for nearby European protected sites. The purpose of this HRA is to identify the relevant European 
sites, determine whether the proposals are likely to result in LSEs and / or adverse effect on the integrity of 
these sites and, if applicable, to propose mitigation measures.  

Legislative Context  
1.4 The need for an assessment of impacts on European sites is set out within Article 6 of the Habitats Directive, 

and transposed into UK law by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (Figure 1). The 
ultimate aim of the Habitats Directive is to “maintain or restore, at favourable conservation status, natural 
habitats and species of wild fauna and flora of Community interest” (Article 2(2)). This aim relates to habitats 
and species, not the European Sites themselves, although the European Sites have a significant role in 
delivering favourable conservation status.  

1.5 The Habitats Directive applies the precautionary principle1 to European Sites. Consent should only be 
granted for plans and projects once the relevant competent authority has ascertained that there will either 
be no likelihood of significant effects, or no adverse effect on the integrity of the European Site(s) in question. 
Where an Appropriate Assessment has been carried out and results in a negative impact, or if uncertainty 
remains over the significant effect, consent will only be granted if there are no alternative solutions and there 
are Imperative Reasons of Over-riding Public Interest (IROPI) for the development and compensatory 
measures have been secured. 

1.6 To ascertain whether or not site integrity will be affected, an Appropriate Assessment should be undertaken 
of the plan or project in question. The competent authority is entitled to request the applicant (where 
applicable) to produce such information as the competent authority may reasonably require for the purposes 
of the assessment, or to enable it to determine whether an appropriate assessment is required. Figure 1 
provides the legislative basis for an Appropriate Assessment. 

 
1 The Precautionary Principle, which is referenced in Article 191 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, has 
been defined by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO, 2005) as: 
“When human activities may lead to morally unacceptable harm [to the environment] that is scientifically plausible but uncertain, 
actions shall be taken to avoid or diminish that harm. The judgement of plausibility should be grounded in scientific analysis”. 
 

Page 344



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
7 

 

 

Figure 1. The legislative basis for Appropriate Assessment 

1.7 Over the years, ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ (HRA) has come into wide currency to describe the 
overall process set out in the Habitats Regulations, from screening through to identification of IROPI. This 
has arisen in order to distinguish the overall process from the individual stage of "Appropriate Assessment". 
Throughout this Report the term HRA is used for the overall process and restricts the use of Appropriate 
Assessment to the specific stage of that name. 

Quality Assurance 
1.8 This report was undertaken in line with AECOM’s Integrated Management System (IMS). Our IMS places 

great emphasis on professionalism, technical excellence, quality, environmental and Health and Safety 
management. All staff members are committed to establishing and maintaining our certification to the 
international standards BS EN ISO 9001:2008 and 14001:2004 and BS OHSAS 18001:2007. In addition, 
our IMS requires careful selection and monitoring of the performance of all sub-consultants and contractors.  

1.9 All AECOM Ecologists working on this project are members (at the appropriate level) of the Chartered 
Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM) and follow their code of professional conduct 
(CIEEM, 2017). 

  

Habitats Directive 1992 
Article 6 (3) states that: 

“Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the 
site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or in combination 
with other plans or projects, shall be subject to appropriate assessment of its 
implications for the site in view of the site’s conservation objectives.” 
 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
The Regulations state that: 

“A competent authority, before deciding to … give any consent for a plan or project which 
is likely to have a significant effect on a European site … must make an appropriate 
assessment of the implications for the plan or project in view of that site’s conservation 
objectives… The competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having 
ascertained that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site.” 

Page 345



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
8 

 

2. Methodology 
Introduction 
2.1 The HRA has been carried out with reference to the general EC guidance on HRA2; Natural England has 

produced its own internal guidance3. These have been referred to in undertaking this HRA. 

2.2 Figure 2 below outlines the stages of HRA according to current EC guidance. The stages are essentially 
iterative, being revisited as necessary in response to more detailed information, recommendations and any 
relevant changes to the plan until no significant adverse effects remain. 

 

Figure 2. Four Stage Approach to Habitats Regulations Assessment. Source EC, 20011. 

Description of HRA Tasks 
HRA Task 1 – Likely Significant Effects (LSE) 
2.3 Following evidence gathering, the first stage of any Habitats Regulations Assessment is a Likely Significant 

Effect (LSE) test - essentially a risk assessment to decide whether the full subsequent stage known as 
Appropriate Assessment is required. The essential question is: 

”Is the project, either alone or in combination with other relevant projects and plans, likely to result in a 
significant effect upon European sites?” 

2.4 The objective is to ‘screen out’ those plans and projects that can, without any detailed appraisal, be said to 
be unlikely to result in significant adverse effects upon European sites, usually because there is no 
mechanism for an adverse interaction with European sites. This stage is undertaken in section 5 of this 
report. 

HRA Task 2 – Appropriate Assessment (AA) 
2.5 Where it is determined that a conclusion of ‘no likely significant effect’ cannot be drawn, the analysis has 

proceeded to the next stage of HRA known as Appropriate Assessment. Case law has clarified that 
‘appropriate assessment’ is not a technical term. In other words, there are no particular technical analyses, 
or level of technical analysis, that are classified by law as belonging to appropriate assessment rather than 
determination of likely significant effects.  

 
2 European Commission (2001): Assessment of plans and projects significantly affecting Natura 2000 Sites: Methodological 
Guidance on the Provisions of Article 6(3) and 6(4) of the Habitats Directive. 
3 http://www.ukmpas.org/pdf/practical_guidance/HRGN1.pdf 

Page 346



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
9 

 

2.6 By virtue of the fact that it follows Screening, there is a clear implication that the analysis will be more 
detailed than undertaken at the Screening stage and one of the key considerations during appropriate 
assessment is whether there is available mitigation that would entirely address the potential effect. In 
practice, the appropriate assessment would take any policies or allocations that could not be dismissed 
following the high-level Screening analysis and analyse the potential for an effect in more detail, with a view 
to concluding whether there would actually be an adverse effect on integrity (in other words, disruption of 
the coherent structure and function of the European site(s)). 

2.7 A decision by the European Court of Justice4 concluded that measures intended to avoid or reduce the 
harmful effects of a proposed project on a European site may no longer be taken into account by competent 
authorities at the Likely Significant Effects or ‘screening’ stage of HRA. That ruling has been considered in 
producing this HRA. 

2.8 Also in 2018 the Holohan ruling5 was handed down by the European Court of Justice. Among other 
provisions paragraph 39 of the ruling states that ‘As regards other habitat types or species, which are 
present on the site, but for which that site has not been listed, and with respect to habitat types and species 
located outside that site, … typical habitats or species must be included in the appropriate assessment, if 
they are necessary to the conservation of the habitat types and species listed for the protected area’ 
[emphasis added]. This has been taken into account in the HRA process.  

HRA Task 3 – Avoidance and Mitigation 
2.9 Where necessary, measures are recommended for incorporation into the document in order to avoid or 

mitigate adverse effects on European sites. There is considerable precedent concerning the level of detail 
that a proposal needs to contain regarding mitigation for recreational impacts on European sites. The 
implication of this precedent is that it is not necessary for all measures that will be deployed to be fully 
developed prior to adoption of the planning document, but the Plan must provide an adequate policy 
framework within which these measures can be delivered. 

2.10 In evaluating significance, AECOM has relied on professional judgement as well as the results of previous 
stakeholder consultation regarding development impacts on the European sites considered within this 
assessment.  

Physical Scope of the HRA 
2.11 There are no standard criteria for determining the ultimate physical scope of an HRA. Rather, the source-

pathway-receptor model should be used to determine whether there is any potential pathway connecting 
development to any European sites. In the case of the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan it was determined 
that for an initial coarse screen, several European Sites should be considered: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent Maritime SAC 

• Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 

2.12 This was based upon a 15km search zone around the proposed development area. For the initial screening 
exercise these European Sites were considered in relation to the Masterplan. It should be noted that the 
presence of a conceivable pathway linking the development areas to a European site does not mean that 
likely significant effects will occur. 

 
4 People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (C-323/17) 
5 Case C-461/17 

Page 347



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Map of the European sites identified relevant in relation to the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan SPD boundary.  

 

P
age 348



Solent Maritime
SAC

Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours 
SPA and Ramsar Site

Solent Maritime
SAC

Solent &
Southampton Water

SPA, Ramsar Site

Solent & Southampton
Water Ramsar Site

Portsmouth Harbour
SPA and Ramsar Site

Portsmouth
Harbour

SPA, SAC, Ramsar Site

Solent & Isle of
Wight Lagoons SAC

Solent & Isle
of Wight

Lagoons SAC

Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours 
SPA and Ramsar Site

PROJECT
HRA of the emerging Portsmouth 
Seafront Masterplan
CLIENT

Sc
ale

: 1
:50

,00
0 @

 A3
Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
me

nt 
Ini

tia
ls:

 D
W 

  D
es

ign
er:

NS
  C

he
ck

ed
: T

D A
pp

rov
ed

: D
W

Th
is 

dra
win

g h
as

 be
en

 pr
od

uc
ed

 fo
r th

e u
se

 of
 AE

CO
Ms

 cl
ien

t.  
It m

ay
 no

t b
e u

se
d, 

mo
dif

ied
 or

 re
lie

d u
on

 by
 th

ird
 pa

rtie
s, 

ex
ce

pt 
as

 ag
ree

d b
y A

EC
OM

 or
 as

 re
qu

ire
d b

y l
aw

.
AE

CO
M 

ac
ce

pts
 no

 re
sp

on
sib

ility
, a

nd
 de

nie
s a

ny
 lia

bil
ity

 w
ha

tso
ev

er,
 to

 an
y p

art
y t

ha
t u

se
s o

r re
lie

s u
po

n t
his

 dr
aw

ing
 w

ith
ou

t A
EC

OM
s e

xp
res

s w
ritt

en
 co

ns
en

t. D
o n

ot 
sc

ale
 th

is 
do

cu
me

nt.
 F

KEY:
Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan
Boundary
Ramsar
Special Area of Conservation
Special Protection Area

SHEET TITLE

0 2.5 5 km SHEET NUMBER

Portsmouth City Council

PROJECT NUMBER
60586784

Contains Ordnance Survey Data © Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 0100031673
Figure: 1

Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan boundary 
in relation to European sites

P
age 349



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
11 

 

3. European Sites 
3.1 The following European sites are situated within 15km of the development area outlined in the Portsmouth 

Seafront Masterplan: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent Maritime SAC 

• Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 

3.2 Due to development being within the 10km screening distance, there are potential negative impacts on 
these sites of conservation interest. They are thus needed to be considered in more detail. The following 
section provides an introduction, the qualifying features, the conservation objectives and the threats / 
pressures to each of these European sites. 

Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 
Introduction 
3.3 This European site is an industrialised estuary located centrally on the south coast of England. It comprises 

one of the four largest expanses of mud-flats and tidal creeks in southern England. These mud-flats support 
a diverse assemblage of aquatic plants, including narrow-leaved eelgrass Zostera angustifolia, dwarf 
eelgrass Zostera noltii and sea lettuce Ulva lactuca. Portsmouth Harbour is connected to the sea via a 
narrow section of the Solent and only receives small quantities of freshwater (e.g. from the River Wallington), 
therefore possessing a unique hydrology. The site supports significant numbers of wintering dark-bellied 
brent geese Branta b. bernicla, which are known to feed extensively in surrounding agricultural areas outside 
the SPA boundary.  

SPA Qualifying Features6 
3.4 This site qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by supporting populations of European 

importance of the following migratory species: 

Over winter: 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla: 2,847 individuals representing at least 
0.9% of the wintering Western Siberia / Western Europe population (5 year peak mean 
1991/2 – 1995/6) 

• Red-breasted merganser Mergus serrator: 87 individuals (non-breeding) 

• Dunlin Calidris alpina alpina: 5,123 individuals (non-breeding) 

• Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica: 31 individuals (non-breeding) 

Ramsar Qualifying Features7 
3.5 Portsmouth Harbour qualifies as a Ramsar site under the following criteria: 

Criterion 3 

The intertidal mudflat areas possess extensive beds of eelgrass Zostera angustifolia and Zostera noltei 
which support the grazing dark-bellied brent geese populations. The mud-snail Hydrobia ulvae is found at 

 
6 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2036 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
7 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2036 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 350

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2036
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2036


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
12 

 

extremely high densities, which helps to support the wading bird interest of the site. Common cord-grass 
Spartina anglica dominates large areas of the saltmarsh and there are also extensive areas of green algae 
Enteromorpha spp. and sea lettuce Ulva lactuca. More locally the saltmarsh is dominated by sea purslane 
Halimione portulacoides which gradates to more varied communities at the higher shore levels. The site 
also includes a number of saline lagoons hosting nationally important species. 

Criterion 6 Species / populations occurring at levels of international importance 

Qualifying species / populations (as identified at designation): 

Species with peak counts in winter 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla; 2,105 individuals, representing an 
average of 2.1% of the GB population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

SPA Conservation Objectives8 
With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for which the site has been 
classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site contributes to 
achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring; 

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

• The population of each of the qualifying features, and, 

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity9 
3.6 The following threats and pressures to the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA have been identified in 

the Natural England Site Improvement Plan: 

• Public access / disturbance 

• Costal squeeze 

• Fisheries: Commercial marine and estuarine 

• Water pollution 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Climate change 

• Change to site conditions 

• Invasive species 

• Direct land take from development 

• Biological resource use 

• Change in land management 

• Inappropriate pest control 

• Air pollution: Impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

 
8 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4857883850178560 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
9 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 351

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4857883850178560
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
13 

 

• Hydrological changes 

• Extraction: Non-living resources 

Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 
Introduction 
3.7 The Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar is a complex of large, sheltered estuarine basins 

comprising sand- and mud-flats that are exposed at low tide. The two harbours are connected via a stretch 
of water that separates Hayling Island from the mainland. Some tidal channels drain the basin and reach 
far inland. The mud-flats harbour a rich assemblage of invertebrates and algae, such as Enteromorpha spp. 
and eelgrasses Zostera spp. The wide range of habitats present in the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar support key animal communities. These include significant numbers of waterbirds during 
migration and over winter. Furthermore, the site supports important colonies of breeding terns, which are 
rare in southern England.  

SPA Qualifying Features10 
3.8 This site qualifies under Article 4.1 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by supporting populations of European 

importance of the following species listed on Annex I of the Directive: 

During the breeding season: 

• Little tern Sterna albifrons; 100 pairs representing up to 4.2% of the breeding population in 
Great Britain (5 year mean, 1992 – 1996) 

• Sandwich tern Sterna sandvicensis; 158 pairs representing up to 1.1% of the breeding 
population in Great Britain (1998) 

• Common tern Sterna hirundo; 126 pairs (5 year mean, 2011-2015) 

On passage: 

• Little egret Egretta garzetta; 137 individuals representing up to 17.1% of the population in 
Great Britain (Count as at 1998) 

Over winter: 

• Bar-tailed godwit Limosa lapponica; 1,692 individuals representing up to 3.2% of the 
wintering population in Great Britain (5 year peak mean 1991/2 – 1995/6) 

• Little egret Egretta garzetta; 100 individuals representing up to 20% of the wintering 
population in Great Britain (Count as at 1998) 

3.9 This site qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by supporting populations of European 
importance of the following migratory species: 

On passage: 

• Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula; 2,471 individuals representing up to 4.9% of the 
Europe/Northern Africa - wintering population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6 

Over winter: 

• Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa islandica; 1,003 individuals representing up to 1.4% of 
the wintering Iceland - breeding population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 

• Dark-bellied brent Goose Branta bernicla bernicla; 17,119 individuals representing up to 
5.7% of the wintering Western Siberia/Western Europe population (5 year peak mean 
1991/2 - 1995/6) 

• Dunlin Calidris alpina alpina; 44,294 individuals representing up to 3.2% of the wintering 
Northern Siberia/Europe/Western Africa population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 

 
10 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2034 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 352

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2034


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
14 

 

• Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola, 3,825 individuals representing up to 2.5% of the wintering 
Eastern Atlantic - wintering population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 

• Redshank Tringa totanus; 1,788 individuals representing up to 1.2% of the wintering 
Eastern Atlantic - wintering population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 

• Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula, 846 individuals representing up to 1.7% of the wintering 
Europe/Northern Africa - wintering population (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 

• Common shelduck Tadorna tadorna; 1,096 individuals wintering population (5 year peak 
mean 2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Eurasian wigeon Anas Penelope; 3,947 individuals wintering population (5 year peak mean 
2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Eurasian teal Anas crecca; 1,953 individuals wintering population (5 year peak mean 
2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Northern pintail Anas acuta; 338 individuals wintering population (5 year peak mean 
2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Northern shoveler Anas clypeata; 106 individuals wintering populations (5 year peak mean 
2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Red-breasted merganser Mergus serrator; 366 individuals wintering population (5 year 
peak mean 2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Sanderling Calidris alba; 216 individuals wintering population (5 year peak mean 2009/10 
– 2013/14) 

• Eurasian curlew Numenius arquata; 3,181 individuals wintering population (5 year peak 
mean 2009/10 – 2013/14) 

• Ruddy turnstone Arenaria interpres; 501 individuals wintering population (5 year peak mean 
2009/10 – 2013/14) 

3.10 Assemblage qualification: A wetland of international importance. 

The area qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by regularly supporting at least 20,000 
waterfowl 

Over winter, the area regularly supports 93,142 individual waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 
including: Wigeon Anas penelope, Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica, Dark-bellied brent Goose Branta 
bernicla bernicla, Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula, Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola, Dunlin Calidris 
alpina alpina, Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa islandica, Redshank Tringa totanus, Little Grebe 
Tachybaptus ruficollis, Little Egret Egretta garzetta, Shelduck Tadorna tadorna, Curlew Numenius arquata, 
Teal Anas crecca, Pintail Anas acuta, Shoveler Anas clypeata, Red-breasted Merganser Mergus serrator, 
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus, Lapwing Vanellus vanellus, Knot Calidris canutus, Sanderling 
Calidris alba, Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo, Whimbrel Numenius phaeopus. 

Ramsar Qualifying Features11 
3.11 The Chichester and Langstone Harbours qualify as a Ramsar site under the following criteria: 

Criterion 1 

Two large estuarine basins linked by the channel which divides Hayling Island from the main Hampshire 
coastline. The site includes intertidal mudflats, saltmarsh, sand and shingle spits and sand dunes. 

Criterion 5  

Assemblages of international importance 

Species with peak counts in winter 

76,480 waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1998/99 – 2002/03) 

 
11 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11013.pdf [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 353

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11013.pdf


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
15 

 

Criterion 6 Species / populations occurring at levels of international importance 

Qualifying species / populations (as identified at designation): 

Species with peak counts in spring / autumn 

• Ringed plover Charadrius hiaticula, Europe / Northwest Africa: 853 individuals, 
representing an average of 1.1% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica, Iceland / W Europe: 906 individuals, 
representing an average of 2.5% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Common redshank Tringa totanus totanus: 2,577 individuals, representing an average of 
1% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

Species with peak counts in winter 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla: 12,987 individuals, representing an 
average of 6% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Common shelduck Tadorna tadorna, NW Europe: 1,468 individuals, representing an 
average of 1.8% of the GB population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Grey plover Pluvialis squatarola, E Atlantic / W Africa – wintering: 3,043 individuals, 
representing an average of 1.2% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Dunlin Calidris alpine alpine, W Siberia / W Europe: 33,436 individuals, representing an 
average of 2.5% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

Species / populations identified subsequent to designation for possible future consideration under 
criterion 6. 

Species regularly supported during the breeding season 

• Little tern Sterna albifrons albifrons, W Europe: 130 apparently occupied nests, 
representing an average of 1.1% of the breeding population 

SPA Conservation Objectives12 
3.12 With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for which the site has been 

classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

3.13 Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring; 

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

• The population of each of the qualifying features, and, 

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity13 
3.14 The following threats and pressures to the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA have been identified in 

the Natural England Site Improvement Plan: 

• Public access / disturbance 

• Costal squeeze 

• Fisheries: Commercial marine and estuarine 

 
12 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5789102905491456 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
13 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 354

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5789102905491456
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
16 

 

• Water pollution 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Climate change 

• Change to site conditions 

• Invasive species 

• Direct land take from development 

• Biological resource use 

• Change in land management 

• Inappropriate pest control 

• Air pollution: Impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

• Hydrological changes 

• Extraction: Non-living resources 

 

Solent Maritime SAC 
Introduction 
3.15 The Solent comprises a major estuarine system on the south coast of England with four coastal plain 

estuaries and four bar-built estuaries. The maritime SAC is the only site that contains a cluster of 
physiographic sub-types of estuary. Furthermore, in contrast to all other European estuaries, the Solent has 
a unique hydrographic regime consisting of four tides per day. 

3.16 The site also harbours a complex array of marine and estuarine habitats. Sediment habitats in the estuarine 
system include extensive estuarine flats with intertidal areas, supporting eelgrass Zostera spp., green algae, 
sand and shingle spits, and shoreline transitions. Mudflat habitats range from low or variable salinity in the 
upper reaches of the estuaries to fully marine mudflats in Chichester and Langstone Harbours. Unusual 
species in these habitats include rare sponges, communities of a polychaete Sabellaria spinulosa and 
smooth cord-grass Spartina alterniflora.  

3.17 Within the Solent Maritime SAC, the second-largest aggregation of Atlantic salt meadows in south / south-
west England is located. The saltmarsh is present as a large number of disjointed habitat patches. This 
ungrazed aquatic plant community is dominated by sea-purslane Atriplex portulacoides, common sea-
lavender Limonium vulgare and thrift Armeria maritima. Overall, the site is less disturbed by man-made 
structures than other parts of the southern coast.  

Qualifying Features14 
3.18 Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for selection of this site: 

• Estuaries 

• Spartina swards (Spartinion maritimae) 

• Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 

3.19 Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for selection of this site: 

• Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time 

• Mudflats and sandflats not covered by sea water at low tide 

 
14 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0030059 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 355

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0030059


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
17 

 

• Coastal lagoons 

• Annual vegetation of drift lines 

• Perennial vegetation of stony banks 

• Salicornia and other annuals colonizing mud and sand 

• Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria (‘white dunes’) 

3.20 Annex II species present as a qualifying feature, but not a primary reason for site selection 

• Desmoulin’s whorl snail Vertigo moulinsiana 

Conservation Objectives15 
3.21 With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site has been designated (the 

‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

3.22 Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or 
restoring; 

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and habitats of qualifying species 

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats 

• The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species 

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and the habitats of qualifying 
species rely 

• The populations of qualifying species, and, 

• The distribution of qualifying species within the site. 

Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity16 
3.23 The following threats and pressures to the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA have been identified in 

the Natural England Site Improvement Plan: 

• Public access / disturbance 

• Costal squeeze 

• Fisheries: Commercial marine and estuarine 

• Water pollution 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Climate change 

• Change to site conditions 

• Invasive species 

• Direct land take from development 

• Biological resource use 

• Change in land management 

• Inappropriate pest control 

• Air pollution: Impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

 
15 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4857883850178560 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
16 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 356

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4857883850178560
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
18 

 

• Hydrological changes 

• Extraction: Non-living resources 

Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 
Introduction 
3.24 The Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar covers an expansive area on the south England coast 

from Hurst Spit to Hill Head on the coast of Hampshire, and from Yarmouth to Whitecliff Bay along the north 
coast of the Isle of Wight. It is composed of several estuaries and harbours with mudflats, saltmarshes, 
saline lagoons, shingle beaches, reedbeds, damp woodland and grazing marsh.  

3.25 The mudflats support beds of Enteromorpha spp. and Zostera spp., and harbour a rich assemblage of 
invertebrates that forms the main food source for estuarine birds. In the breeding season in summer, the 
site is important for seabirds such as gulls and terns. In winter the SPA holds a significant assemblage of 
waterfowl, including geese, ducks and waders. The brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla is known to feed 
in areas of surrounding agricultural land. 

SPA Qualifying Features17 
3.26 This site qualifies under Article 4.1 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by supporting populations of European 

importance of the following species listed on Annex I of the Directive: 

During the breeding season; 

• Common tern Sterna hirundo, 267 pairs representing at least 2.2% of the breeding 
population in Great Britain (5 year peak mean, 1993-1997) 

• Little tern Sterna albifrons, 49 pairs representing at least 2% of the breeding population in 
Great Britain (5 year peak mean, 1993-1997) 

• Mediterranean gull Larus melanocephalus, 2 pairs representing at least 20% of the 
breeding population in Great Britain (5 year peak mean, 1994-1998) 

• Roseate tern Sterna dougallii, 2 pairs representing at least 3.3% of the breeding population 
in Great Britain (5 year peak mean, 1993-1997) 

• Sandwich tern Sterna sandvicensis, 231 pairs representing at least 1.7% of the breeding 
population in Great Britain (5 year peak mean, 1993-1997) 

3.27 This site also qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by supporting populations of 
European importance of the following migratory species: 

Over winter; 

• Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica, 1,125 individuals representing at least 1.6% 
of the wintering Iceland - breeding population (5 year peak mean, 1992/3-1996/7) 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla, 7,506 individuals representing at least 
2.5% of the wintering Western Siberia/Western Europe population (5 year peak mean, 
1992/3-1996/7) 

• Ringed plover Charadrius hiaticula, 552 individuals representing at least 1.1% of the 
wintering Europe/Northern Africa - wintering population (5 year peak mean, 1992/3-1996/7) 

• Teal Anas crecca, 4,400 individuals representing at least 1.1% of the wintering 
Northwestern Europe population (5 year peak mean, 1992/3-1996/7) 

3.28 Assemblage qualification: A wetland of international importance.  

The area qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by regularly supporting at least 20,000 
waterfowl 

 
17 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2037 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 357

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2037


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
19 

 

Over winter, the area regularly supports 53,948 individual waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6) 
including: Gadwall Anas strepera, Teal Anas crecca, Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula, Black-tailed 
Godwit Limosa limosa islandica, Little Grebe Tachybaptus ruficollis, Great Crested Grebe Podiceps 
cristatus, Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo, Dark-bellied brent Goose Branta bernicla bernicla, Wigeon Anas 
penelope, Redshank Tringa totanus, Pintail Anas acuta, Shoveler Anas clypeata, Red-breasted Merganser 
Mergus serrator, Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola, Lapwing Vanellus vanellus, Dunlin Calidris alpina alpina, 
Curlew Numenius arquata, Shelduck Tadorna tadorna. 

Ramsar Qualifying Features18 
3.29 The Solent and Southampton Water qualify as a Ramsar site under the following criteria: 

Criterion 1 

The site is one of the few major sheltered channels between a substantial island and mainland in  European 
waters, exhibiting an unusual strong double tidal flow and has long periods of slack water at high and low 
tide. It includes many wetland habitats characteristic of the biogeographic region: saline lagoons, 
saltmarshes, estuaries, intertidal flats, shallow coastal waters, grazing marshes, reedbeds, coastal 
woodland and rocky boulder reefs. 

Criterion 2 

The site supports an important assemblage of rare plants and invertebrates. At least 33 British Red Data 
Book invertebrates and at least eight British Red Data Book plants are represented on site. 

Criterion 5  

Assemblages of international importance 

Species with peak counts in winter 

51,343 waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1998/99 – 2002/03) 

Criterion 6 Species / populations occurring at levels of international importance 

Qualifying species / populations (as identified at designation): 

Species with peak counts in spring / autumn 

• Ringed plover Charadrius hiaticula, Europe / Northwest Africa: 853 individuals, 
representing an average of 1.1% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

Species with peak counts in winter 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla: 12,987 individuals, representing an 
average of 6% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

• Eurasian teal Anas crecca, NW Europe: 5,514 individuals, representing an average of 1.3% 
of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3)  

• Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica, Iceland / W Europe: 1,240 individuals, 
representing an average of 3.5% of the population (5 year peak mean 1998/9 – 2002/3) 

Conservation Objectives19 
3.30 With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for which the site has been 

classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

3.31 Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring; 

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

 
18 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11063.pdf [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
19 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6567218288525312 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 358

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11063.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6567218288525312


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
20 

 

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

• The population of each of the qualifying features, and, 

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

Threats / Pressure to Site Integrity20 
3.32 The following threats and pressures to the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA have been identified in 

the Natural England Site Improvement Plan: 

• Public access / disturbance 

• Costal squeeze 

• Fisheries: Commercial marine and estuarine 

• Water pollution 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Climate change 

• Change to site conditions 

• Invasive species 

• Direct land take from development 

• Biological resource use 

• Change in land management 

• Inappropriate pest control 

• Air pollution: Impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

• Hydrological changes 

• Extraction: Non-living resources 

Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 
Introduction 
3.33 The Solent encompasses a series of coastal lagoons, including percolation, isolated and sluiced lagoons. 

This site includes several lagoons in the marshes near Keyhaven – Pennington, at Farlington Marshes in 
Chichester Harbour, at Bembridge Harbour and at Gilkicker near Gosport. These lagoons have a range of 
salinities and substrates, ranging from soft mud to muddy sand with a high proportion of shingle. Farlington 
Marshes is an isolated lagoon in marsh pasture, which is separated from the sea by a sea wall. It receives 
sea water only during spring tides. Its fauna is dominated by low-medium salinity insects. The lagoons at 
Bembridge Harbour lie in a depression behind the sea wall and sea water enters through percolation. 
Species diversity here is very high, including high densities of N. vectensis.  

3.34 The habitats present in the Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC support high diversity faunal communities, 
including the rare foxtail stonewort Lamprothamnium papulosum, the scarce lagoon sand shrimp Gammarus 
insensibilis and the scarce starlet sea anemone Nematostella vectensis. 

 
20 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 359

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4692013588938752


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
21 

 

Qualifying Features21 
3.35 Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for selection of this site: 

• Coastal lagoons 

Conservation Objectives22 
3.36 With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site has been designated (the 

‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

3.37 Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure that the site 
contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or 
restoring; 

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats 

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural habitats, and 

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats rely 

Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity23 
3.38 The following threats and pressures to the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA have been identified in 

the Natural England Site Improvement Plan: 

• Hydrological changes 

• Inappropriate weed control 

• Coastal squeeze 

• Invasive species 

• Air pollution: Risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21 http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0017073 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
22 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5646122018144256 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 
23 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5670639268528128 [Accessed 30/05/2019] 

Page 360

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0017073
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5646122018144256
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5670639268528128


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
22 

 

4. Relevant Impact Pathways 
Background to Recreational Pressure 
4.1 There is growing concern over the cumulative impacts of recreation on key nature conservation sites in the 

UK, as most sites must fulfill conservation objectives while also providing recreational opportunity. Various 
research reports have provided compelling links between changes in housing and access levels, and 
impacts on European protected sites24 25. This applies to any habitat, but the additional recreational 
pressure from housing growth on destinations with water features is likely to be especially strong and some 
of the qualifying waterfowl are known to be susceptible to disturbance. Different European sites are subject 
to different types of recreational pressures and have different vulnerabilities. Studies across a range of 
species have shown that the effects from recreation can be complex. HRAs of Local Plans tend to focus on 
recreational sources of disturbance as a result of new residents26. 

4.2 Human activity can affect birds either directly (e.g. by causing them to flee) or indirectly (e.g. by damaging 
their habitat or reducing their fitness in less obvious ways e.g. stress). The most obvious direct effect is that 
of immediate mortality such as death by shooting, but human activity can also lead to much more subtle 
behavioural (e.g. alterations in feeding behaviour, avoidance of certain areas and use of sub optimal areas 
etc.) and physiological changes (e.g. an increase in heart rate). While these are less noticeable, they might 
result in major population-level changes by altering the balance between immigration/birth and 
emigration/death27. 

4.3 Concern regarding the effects of disturbance on birds stems from the fact that they are expending energy 
unnecessarily and the time they spend responding to disturbance is time that is not spent feeding28. 
Disturbance therefore risks increasing energetic expenditure of birds while reducing their energetic intake, 
which can adversely affect the ‘condition’ and ultimately survival of the birds. Additionally, displacement of 
birds from one feeding site to others can increase the pressure on the resources available within the 
remaining sites, as they then must sustain a greater number of birds29. Moreover, the more time a breeding 
bird spends disturbed from its nest, the more its eggs are likely to cool and the more vulnerable they, or any 
nestlings, are to predators. Recreational effects on ground-nesting birds are particularly severe, with many 
studies concluding that urban sites support lower densities of key species, such as stone curlew and 
nightjar30 31. Recreation disturbance in winter can be more adverse because birds are more vulnerable at 
this time of year due to food shortages. 

4.4 Evidence in the literature suggests that the magnitude of disturbance clearly differs between different types 
of recreational activities. For example, dog walking leads to a significantly higher reduction in bird diversity 
and abundance than hiking32. Scientific evidence also suggests that key disturbance parameters, such as 
areas of influence and flush distance, are significantly greater for dog walkers than hikers33. A UK meta-
analysis suggests that important spatial (e.g. the area of a site potentially influenced) and temporal (e.g. 

 
24 Liley D, Clarke R.T., Mallord J.W., Bullock J.M. 2006a. The effect of urban development and human disturbance on the 
distribution and abundance of nightjars on the Thames Basin and Dorset Heaths. Natural England / Footprint Ecology. 
25 Liley D., Clarke R.T., Underhill-Day J., Tyldesley D.T. 2006b. Evidence to support the appropriate Assessment of 
development plans and projects in south-east Dorset. Footprint Ecology / Dorset County Council. 
26 The RTPI report ‘Planning for an Ageing Population‘(2004) which states that ‘From being a marginalised group in society, the 
elderly are now a force to be reckoned with and increasingly seen as a market to be wooed by the leisure and tourist industries. 
There are more of them and generally they have more time and more money.’ It also states that ‘Participation in most physical 
activities shows a significant decline after the age of 50. The exceptions to this are walking, golf, bowls and sailing, where 
participation rates hold up well into the 70s’. 
27 Riley, J. 2003. Review of Recreational Disturbance Research on Selected Wildlife in Scotland. Scottish Natural Heritage. 
28 Riddington, R.  et al.  1996.  The impact of disturbance on the behaviour and energy budgets of Brent geese.  Bird Study 
43:269-279 
29 Gill, J.A., Sutherland, W.J.  & Norris, K.  1998.  The consequences of human disturbance for estuarine birds.  RSPB 
Conservation Review 12: 67-72 
30 Clarke R.T., Liley D., Sharp J.M., Green R.E. 2013. Building development and roads: Implications for the distribution of stone 
curlews across the Brecks. PLOS ONE. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072984. 
31 Liley D., Clarke R.T. 2003. The impact of urban development and human disturbance on the numbers of nightjar Caprimulgus 
europaeus on heathlands in Dorset, England. Biological Conservation 114: 219-230. 
32 Banks P.B., Bryant J.Y. 2007. Four-legged friend or foe? Dog walking displaces native birds from natural areas. Biology 
Letters 3: 14pp. 
33 Miller S.G., Knight R.L., Miller C.K. 2001. Wildlife responses to pedestrians and dogs. 29: 124-132. 

Page 361



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
23 

 

how often or long an activity is carried out) parameters differ between recreational activities, suggesting that 
activity type is a factor that should be taken into account by HRAs34. 

4.5 Disturbance can also result from a wider urbanisation effect that might pose a much more direct threat to 
survival, such as in the case of predation by dogs and cats. Dogs are often exercised off-lead and roam out 
of sight of their owners, and have been documented to kill ground-nesting birds. Cats tend to roam freely at 
night, potentially seeking out prey many kilometres away from their home. 

Non-breeding birds (September to March) 
4.6 Because the European sites surrounding the Portsmouth seafront are designated for overwintering 

waterfowl, this section discusses academic research available on this functional group of birds. 

4.7 The potential for disturbance may be different in winter than in summer, in that there are often a smaller 
number of recreational users. Furthermore, the impacts of disturbance at a population level may be reduced 
because birds are not breeding.  However, recreational disturbance in winter may still have negative 
impacts, because birds face seasonal food shortages and are likely to be susceptible to any nutritional loss. 
Therefore, the abandonment of suitable feeding areas due to disturbance can have serious consequences 
for their ability to find suitable alternative feeding sites.  

4.8 Tuite et al35 used a large (379 sites), long-term (10-year) dataset (September – March species counts) to 
correlate seasonal changes in wildfowl abundance with the presence of various recreational activities. They 
determined that the shoveler was one of the most sensitive species to recreational activities, such as 
sailing/windsurfing and rowing. Studies on recreation in the Solent have established that human leisure 
activities cause direct disturbance to wintering waterfowl populations36 37. 

4.9 A recent study on recreational disturbance on the Humber38 assesses different types of noise disturbance 
on waterfowl referring to studies relating to aircraft (see Drewitt 199939), traffic (Reijnen, Foppen, & 
Veenbaas 1997)40, dogs (Lord, Waas, & Innes 199741; Banks & Bryant 200742) and machinery (Delaney et 
al. 1999; Tempel & Gutierrez 2003).  These studies identified that there is still relatively little work on the 
effects of different types of water based craft and the impacts from jet skis, kite surfers, windsurfers etc. 
(see Kirby et al. 200443 for a review). Some types of disturbance are clearly likely to invoke different 
responses. In very general terms, both distance from the source of disturbance and the scale of the 
disturbance (noise level, group size) will both influence the response (Delaney et al. 199944; Beale & 
Monaghan 200545). On UK estuaries and coastal sites, a review of WeBS data showed that, among the 
volunteer WeBS surveyors, driving of motor vehicles and shooting were the two activities most perceived 
to cause disturbance (Robinson & Pollitt 2002)46. 

4.10 Disturbing activities present themselves on a continuum. Generally, activities that involve irregular, 
infrequent and loud noise events, movement or vibration are likely to be the most disturbing. For example, 
the presence of dogs around water bodies generate substantial disturbance due the areas accessed and 

 
34 Weitowitz D., Panter C., Hoskin R., Liley D. The spatio-temporal footprint of key recreation activities in European protected 
sites. Manuscript in preparation. 
35 Tuite, C.H., Hanson, P.R.  & Owen, M.  1984.  Some ecological factors affecting winter wildfowl distribution on inland waters 
in England and Wales and the influence of water-based recreation.  Journal of Applied Ecology 21: 41-62 
36 Footprint Ecology. 2010. Recreational Disturbance to Birds on the Humber Estuary 
37 Footprint Ecology, Jonathan Cox Associates & Bournemouth University. 2010. Solent disturbance and mitigation project – 
various reports. 
38 Helen Fearnley Durwyn Liley and Katie Cruickshanks (2012) Results of Recreational Visitor Survey across the Humber 
Estuary produced by Footprint Ecology   
39 Drewitt, A. (1999) Disturbance effects of aircraft on birds. English Nature, Peterborough. 
40 Reijnen, R., Foppen, R. & Veenbaas, G. (1997) Disturbance by traffic of breeding birds: evaluation of the effect and 
considerations in planning and managing road corridors. Biodiversity and Conservation, 6, 567-581. 
41 Lord, A., Waas, J.R. & Innes, J. (1997) Effects of human activity on the behaviour of northern New Zealand dotterel 
Charadrius obscurus aquilonius chicks. Biological Conservation, 82,15-20. 
42 Banks, P.B. & Bryant, J.V. (2007) Four-legged friend of foe? Dog-walking displaces native birds from natural areas. Biology 
Letters, 3, 611-613. 
43 Kirby, J.S., Clee, C. & Seager, V. (1993) Impact and extent of recreational disturbance to wader roosts on the Dee estuary: 
some preliminary results. Wader Study Group Bulletin, 68, 53-58. 
44 Delaney, D.K., Grubb, T.G., Beier, P., Pater, L.L.M. & Reiser, H. (1999) Effects of Helicopter Noise on Mexican Spotted 
Owls. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 63, 60-76. 
45 Beale, C.M. & Monaghan, P. (2005) Modeling the Effects of Limiting the Number of Visitors on Failure Rates of Seabird 
Nests. Conservation Biology, 19, 2015-2019. 
46 Robinson, J.A. & Pollitt, M.S. (2002) Sources and extent of human disturbance to waterbirds in the UK: an analysis of 
Wetland Bird Survey data, 1995/96 to 1998/99: Less than 32% of counters record disturbance at their site, with differences in 
causes between coastal and inland sites. Bird Study, 49, 205. 

Page 362



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
24 

 

their impact on bird behaviour. Birds are least likely to be disturbed by activities that involve regular, frequent, 
predictable and quiet patterns of sound, movement or vibration. The further any activity is from the birds, 
the less likely it is to result in disturbance. Therefore, the factors that determine species responses to 
disturbance include species sensitivity, timing/duration of the recreational activity and the distance between 
source and receptor of disturbance. 

4.11 As part of the Bird Aware Solent Project, a study monitoring bird disturbance across 20 different locations 
was undertaken between December 2009 and February 201047. This involved recording all recreational 
activities and relating these to behavioural responses of birds in pre-defined focal areas of intertidal habitat. 
The study recorded a total of 2,507 potential disturbance events, generating 4,064 species-specific 
behaviours. Roughly 20% of recorded events resulted in disturbance of waterfowl, including behaviours 
such as becoming alert, walking / swimming away, short flights (< 50m) or major flights. Generally, the 
likelihood of disturbance decreased with increasing distance to the disturbance stimulus (i.e. the recreational 
activity being undertaken). Importantly, the study also illustrated that recreational activities in the intertidal 
zone have the highest disturbance potential (41% of recorded events resulted in disturbance), followed by 
water-based activities (25%) and shore-based activities (12%). 

4.12 The specific distance at which a species takes flight when disturbed is known as the ‘tolerance distance’ 
(also called the ‘escape distance’) and greatly differs between species. The tolerance distances of the study 
carried out for the Bird Aware project are summarised in Table 1. It is reasonable to assume from this 
evidence that disturbance is unlikely to be relevant at distances of beyond 200m. The data show that the 
sensitivity to disturbance differ between species, but that the intra-specific variation in response to 
disturbance is equally important. It was also examined how disturbance to different recreational activities 
varies between species, but for most species the number of recorded events was not enough for comparison 
(except for brent goose, oystercatcher and redshank). The results suggest that species might respond to 
recreational activities differently. For example, brent geese responded to dog walkers much further away 
than oystercatcher and redshank.  

Table 1: Tolerance distances in metres of 16 species of waterfowl to various forms of recreational 
disturbance, as found in recent disturbance fieldwork48. The distances are provided both as a median and 
a range. 

Species Disturbance Distance (metres from stimulus) Activity 

Median Range Cycling Dog 
walking 

Jogging Walking 

Brent goose 51.5 5 - 178 100 95 30 50 

Oystercatcher 46 10 - 200 150 45  50 

Redshank 44.5 75 - 150 125 50 40 58 

Curlew 75 25 - 200  

Turnstone 50 5 - 100 

Coot 12 10 - 20 

Mute swan 12 8 - 50 

Grey plover 75 30 - 125 

Little egret 75 30 - 200 

Wigeon 75.5 20 - 125 

Dunlin 75 25 - 300 

Shelduck 77.5 50 - 140 

Great-crested grebe 100 50 - 100 

Lapwing 75 18 - 125 

Teal 60 35 - 200 

Mallard 25 10 - 50 
 

 
47 Liley D., Stillman R. & Fearnley H. 2011. The Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project Phase 2: Results of Bird Disturbance 
Fieldwork 2009/10. Report by Footprint Ecology for the Solent Forum.  
48 Ibid. 

Page 363



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
25 

 

4.13 The most recent visitor surveys conducted in the Solent in winter 2017 / 2018, indicated that visitors 
travelled distances between 76m and 300km to visit their Solent destination, with a mean distance of 
8.4km and a median distance of 1.4km49. While the Solent therefore is clearly visited by people from 
across England, the recreation patterns are clearly driven by local Solent residents. This is reflected in the 
Interim Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy50, which established that a zone of influence of 5.6km 
around the SPAs in the Solent is to be used, comparable to other European sites such as the Thames 
Basin Heaths SPA and the Dorset Heathlands SPA. All housing developments within this catchment are to 
provide financial contributions to mitigation measures employed to buffer these sites against adverse 
effects. This catchment zone is particularly relevant to the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan, as this 
proposes the potential development of hotels and residential dwellings within 5.6km of the Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar. As discussed above, 
any development within this zone is assumed to result in a Likely Significant Effect and will require 
mitigation, unless a project-level HRA demonstrates otherwise.  

Visual and noise disturbance 
4.14 An increasing amount of research on visual and noise disturbance of waterfowl from construction (and 

other activities) is now available. Both processes might elicit disturbance responses, and thereby affect 
the fitness and survival of wildfowl. For example, noise is a complex disturbance parameter requiring the 
consideration of several features, including the fact that it is not described on a linear scale, its non-
additive effect and the source-receptor distance. A high level of noise disturbance constitutes a sudden 
noise event of over 60dB or prolonged noise of over 72dB. Responses to high noise levels include major 
flight or the cessation of feeding, both of which might affect the survival of birds if other stressors are 
present (e.g. cold weather, food scarcity). 

4.15 Generally, previous research has shown that above noise levels of 84dB waterfowl show a flight response, 
while at levels below 55dB there is no effect on their behaviour51. These two thresholds are therefore 
considered useful as defining two extremes. The same authors have shown that noise levels should be 
below 70dB at the bird, as birds will habituate to noise levels below this level52. Generally, noise is 
attenuated by 6dB with every doubling of distance from the source. Impact piling, the noisiest construction 
process of approx. 110 dB at 0.67m from source, will therefore reduce to 67-68dB by 100m away from the 
source. The loudest construction noise should therefore have fallen to below disturbing levels by 100m, 
and certainly by 200m, away from the source even without mitigation. 

4.16 Visual disturbance is generally considered to have a higher impact than noise disturbance as, in most 
instances, visual stimuli will elicit a disturbance response at much higher distances than noise53. For 
example, a flight response is triggered in most species when approached to within 150m across a mudflat. 
Visual disturbance can be exacerbated by workers operating outside with equipment, undertaking sudden 
movements and using large machinery. Several species are particularly sensitive to visual disturbance, 
including curlew (taking flight at 275m), redshank (at 250m), shelduck (at 199m) and bar-tailed godwit (at 
163m). Therefore, specific regard should be given to assemblage composition when identifying threshold 
levels for both visual and noise disturbance. 

4.17 The available baseline information suggests that the following European Sites are vulnerable to disturbance 
from the impact pathways recreational pressure, and visual and noise disturbance due to the presence of 
waterfowl: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 

 
49 Liley D. & Panter C. 2018. Solent Visitor Surveys, winter 2017-18. Unpublished report by Footprint Ecology for the Bird 
Aware Solent Project. 81pp 
50 http://www.birdaware.org/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27309&p=0 [Accessed 15/07/2019] 
51 Cutts N & Allan J. 1999. Avifaunal Disturbance Assessment. Flood Defence Works: Saltend. Report to 
Environment Agency). 
52 Cutts, N., Phelps, A. and Burdon, D. (2009) Construction and waterfowl: Defining Sensitivity, Response, 
Impacts and Guidance. Report to Humber INCA, Institute of Estuarine and Coastal Studies, University of Hull. 
53 Research undertaken by the Institute of Estuarine & Costal Studies, University of Hull. 2013. Available at: 
http://bailey.persona-pi.com/Public-Inquiries/M4%20-%20Revised/11.3.67.pdf [Accessed 17/07/2019] 

Page 364

http://www.birdaware.org/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27309&p=0
http://bailey.persona-pi.com/Public-Inquiries/M4%20-%20Revised/11.3.67.pdf


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
26 

 

4.18 However, the closest publicly accessible portion of the Solent and Southampton Water SPA is 7.6km from 
the closest opportunity area in the Seafront Masterplan. Given this distance and considering that 
recreational pressure arising from the Masterplan is likely to be a more localised issue (i.e. limited to a 5.6km 
catchment zone as identified in previous visitor surveys), this site is not considered further in this HRA. 

Background to Loss of Functionally Linked Land 
4.19 While most European sites have been geographically defined to encompass the key features that are 

necessary for coherence of their structure and function, and the support of their qualifying features, this is 
not necessarily the case. A diverse array of qualifying species including birds, bats and amphibians are not 
always confined to the boundary of designated sites. 

4.20 For example, the highly mobile nature of both wildfowl and heathland birds implies that areas of habitat of 
crucial importance to the maintenance of their populations are outside the physical limits of European sites. 
Despite not being designated, this area is still integral to the maintenance of the structure and function of 
the interest feature on the designated site and, therefore, land use plans that may affect such areas should 
be subject to further assessment. Studies have documented that nightjar forage outside European site 
boundaries and that woodlark may use non-designated sites as their wintering grounds. Horseshoe bats 
also utilise functionally linked land distant from their breeding sites for activities such as foraging.  

4.21 There is now an abundance of authoritative examples of HRA cases on plans affecting bird populations, 
where Natural England recognised the potential importance of functionally linked land54. For example, bird 
surveys in relation to a previous HRA established that approximately 25% of the golden plover population 
in the Somerset Levels and Moors SPA were affected while on functionally linked land, and this required the 
inclusion of mitigation measures in the relevant plan policy wording. Another important case study originates 
from the Mersey Estuary SPA / Ramsar, where adjacently located functionally linked land had a peak survey 
count of 108% of the 5 year mean peak population of golden plover. As in the above example, this led to 
considerable amendments in the planning proposal to ensure that the site integrity was not adversely 
affected.  

4.22 Generally, the identification of an area as functionally linked land is now a relatively straightforward process. 
However, the importance of non-designated land parcels may not be apparent and could require the analysis 
of existing data sources to be firmly established. In some instances, data may not be available at all, 
requiring some further survey work. 

4.23 The Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy55, a conservation partnership project focusing particularly on 
brent geese and wading birds in the Solent, has undertaken surveys over three winters between 2016 and 
2019. The strategy is an attempt to identify the sites these birds rely on in the Solent, outside of the 
boundaries of the formal designations. This network of functionally linked feeding and roosting sites has 
been mapped56, identifying Core Areas, Primary Support Areas, Secondary Support Areas, Low Use areas 
and Candidate areas. For example, one of the key parcels of functionally linked land within Portsmouth is 
Southsea Common (P35), a Core feeding Area for brent Goose. Several other land parcels examined in the 
strategy are also relevant to the implementation of the Seafront Masterplan, because development is 
proposed nearby. This HRA has consulted the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy to identify the main 
parcels of functionally linked land relevant to the Masterplan. 

4.24 The available baseline information suggests that the following European Sites are vulnerable to the impact 
pathway loss of functionally linked land due to the mobility of waterfowl: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 

 
54 Chapman C & Tyldesley D. 2016. Functional linkage: How areas that are functionally linked to European sites have been 
considered when they may be affected by plans and projects – A review of authoritative decisions. Natural England 
Commissioned Reports 207: 73pp.  
55 Available at https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/ [Accessed 15/07/2019] 
56 Freely available to view online at: https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/page-2/ [Accessed 15/07/2019] 

Page 365

https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/
https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/page-2/


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
27 

 

Background to Tall Buildings and Light Pollution 
4.25 Tall, manmade structures might have a variety of ecological impacts, particularly on bird species. It is now 

well known that such structures can interfere with the commuting or migration routes of a variety of species. 
Furthermore, tall buildings are also a physical obstacle, representing a direct risk of collision mortality. 

4.26 Furthermore, the magnitude of effect of such landscape infrastructure is determined by various design 
features (e.g. building height, number of windows, level of illumination) and its location. For example, the 
constant illumination of some buildings such as hotels is thought to lead to an entrapment effect, preventing 
birds from successfully completing their commuting / migratory routes. Tall structures are also likely to have 
much more of an impact if they are positioned in an established corridor of commuting or migratory activity 
of birds. For example, this might prevent the birds’ ability to use established feeding territories beyond newly 
built structures or alter the amount of energy required to get there. 

4.27 The Seafront Masterplan details the provision of several leisure facilities such as hotels / spas, 
entertainment facilities and mixed-use development, which is likely to involve the delivery of at least some 
tall buildings. This HRA will set the development proposals into an ecological context, to identify where tall 
buildings might cause adverse effects on the integrity of European sites.  

4.28 The available baseline information suggests that the following European Sites are vulnerable to the impact 
pathway tall buildings and light pollution due to their qualifying species: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar 

4.29 However, the closest section of the Solent and Southampton Water SPA, i.e. the part to the south across a 
small section of sea, is 4.5km from the closest opportunity area in the Seafront Masterplan. Given this 
distance to the Solent and Southampton SPA, it is likely that brent geese from this area of the SPA will be 
using functionally linked land on the Isle of Wight. Any geese using the Seafront Masterplan area, are 
unlikely to be impacted by tall buildings, as these buildings are unlikely to be in their flight trajectory. 
Therefore, the Solent and Southampton Water SPA is screened out from further assessment in relation to 
the impact pathway of tall buildings and light pollution.  

Background to Atmospheric Pollution 
4.30 The main pollutants of concern for European sites are oxides of nitrogen (NOx), ammonia (NH3) and 

sulphur dioxide (SO2), and are summarised in Table 2. Ammonia can have a directly toxic effect upon 
vegetation, particularly at close distances to the source such as near road verges57. NOx can also be toxic 
at very high concentrations (far above the annual average critical level). However, in particular, high levels 
of NOx and NH3 are likely to increase the total N deposition to soils, potentially leading to deleterious 
knock-on effects in resident ecosystems. Increases in nitrogen deposition from the atmosphere is widely 
known to enhance soil fertility and to lead to eutrophication. This often has adverse effects on the 
community composition and quality of semi-natural, nitrogen-limited terrestrial and aquatic habitats58 59.  

  

 
57 http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm. 
58 Wolseley, P. A.; James, P. W.; Theobald, M. R.; Sutton, M. A. 2006. Detecting changes in epiphytic lichen communities at 
sites affected by atmospheric ammonia from agricultural sources. Lichenologist 38: 161-176 
59 Dijk, N. 2011. Dry deposition of ammonia gas drives species change faster than wet deposition of ammonium ions: evidence 
from a long-term field manipulation Global Change Biology 17: 3589-3607 

Page 366

http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/1708
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/1708
http://www.apis.ac.uk/dry-deposition-ammonia-gas-drives-species-change-faster-wet-deposition-ammonium-ions-evidence-long
http://www.apis.ac.uk/dry-deposition-ammonia-gas-drives-species-change-faster-wet-deposition-ammonium-ions-evidence-long


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
28 

 

Table 2: Main sources and effects of air pollutants on habitats and species60 

Pollutant Source Effects on habitats and species 

Sulphur Dioxide            
(SO2) 

The main sources of SO2 are electricity generation, and 
industrial and domestic fuel combustion. However, total 
SO2 emissions in the UK have decreased substantially 
since the 1980’s. 

Another origin of sulphur dioxide is the shipping industry 
and high atmospheric concentrations of SO2 have been 
documented in busy ports. In future years shipping is 
likely to become one of the most important contributors 
to SO2 emissions in the UK.   

Wet and dry deposition of SO2 acidifies soils and 
freshwater, and may alter the composition of plant 
and animal communities.  

The magnitude of effects depends on levels of 
deposition, the buffering capacity of soils and the 
sensitivity of impacted species.  

However, SO2 background levels have fallen 
considerably since the 1970’s and are now not 
regarded a threat to plant communities. For example, 
decreases in Sulphur dioxide concentrations have 
been linked to returning lichen species and improved 
tree health in London.  

Acid deposition Leads to acidification of soils and freshwater via 
atmospheric deposition of SO2, NOx, ammonia and 
hydrochloric acid. Acid deposition from rain has declined 
by 85% in the last 20 years, which most of this 
contributed by lower sulphate levels.  

Although future trends in S emissions and subsequent 
deposition to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems will 
continue to decline, increased N emissions may cancel 
out any gains produced by reduced S levels. 

Gaseous precursors (e.g. SO2) can cause direct 
damage to sensitive vegetation, such as lichen, upon 
deposition.  

Can affect habitats and species through both wet 
(acid rain) and dry deposition. The effects of 
acidification include lowering of soil pH, leaf chlorosis, 
reduced decomposition rates, and compromised 
reproduction in birds / plants.  

Not all sites are equally susceptible to acidification. 
This varies depending on soil type, bed rock geology, 
weathering rate and buffering capacity. For example, 
sites with an underlying geology of granite, gneiss 
and quartz rich rocks tend to be more susceptible. 

Ammonia       
(NH3)  

Ammonia is a reactive, soluble alkaline gas that is  
released following decomposition and volatilisation of 
animal wastes. It is a naturally occurring trace gas, but 
ammonia concentrations are directly related to the 
distribution of livestock.   

Ammonia reacts with acid pollutants such as the 
products of SO2 and NOX emissions to produce fine 
ammonium (NH4+) - containing aerosol. Due to its 
significantly longer lifetime, NH4+ may be transferred 
much longer distances (and can therefore be a 
significant trans-boundary issue). 

While ammonia deposition may be estimated from its 
atmospheric concentration, the deposition rates are 
strongly influenced by meteorology and ecosystem type. 

The negative effect of NH4+ may occur via direct 
toxicity, when uptake exceeds detoxification capacity 
and via N accumulation. 

Its main adverse effect is eutrophication, leading to 
species assemblages that are dominated by fast-
growing and tall species. For example, a shift in 
dominance from heath species (lichens, mosses) to 
grasses is often seen.  

As emissions mostly occur at ground level in the rural 
environment and NH3 is rapidly deposited, some of 
the most acute problems of NH3 deposition are for 
small relict nature reserves located in intensive 
agricultural landscapes. 

Nitrogen oxides           
(NOx) 

Nitrogen oxides are mostly produced in combustion 
processes. Half of NOX emissions in the UK derive from 
motor vehicles, one quarter from power stations and the 
rest from other industrial and domestic combustion 
processes. 

In contrast to the steep decline in Sulphur dioxide 
emissions, nitrogen oxides are falling slowly due to 

Direct toxicity effects of gaseous nitrates are likely to 
be important in areas close to the source (e.g. 
roadside verges). A critical level of NOx for all 
vegetation types has been set to 30 ug/m3. 

Deposition of nitrogen compounds (nitrates (NO3), 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and nitric acid (HNO3)) 

 
60 Information summarised from the Air Pollution Information System (http://www.apis.ac.uk/) 

Page 367

http://www.apis.ac.uk/


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
29 

 

Pollutant Source Effects on habitats and species 

control strategies being offset by increasing numbers of 
vehicles. 

contributes to the total nitrogen deposition and may 
lead to both soil and freshwater acidification.   

In addition, NOx contributes to the eutrophication of 
soils and water, altering the species composition of 
plant communities at the expense of sensitive 
species.  

Nitrogen 
deposition 

The pollutants that contribute to the total nitrogen 
deposition derive mainly from oxidized (e.g. NOX) or 
reduced (e.g. NH3) nitrogen emissions (described 
separately above). While oxidized nitrogen mainly 
originates from major conurbations or highways, 
reduced nitrogen mostly derives from farming practices.  

The N pollutants together are a large contributor to 
acidification (see above).  

All plants require nitrogen compounds to grow, but 
too much overall N is regarded as the major driver of 
biodiversity change globally. 

Species-rich plant communities with high proportions 
of slow-growing perennial species and bryophytes 
are most at risk from N eutrophication. This is 
because many semi-natural plants cannot assimilate 
the surplus N as well as many graminoid (grass) 
species.   

N deposition can also increase the risk of damage 
from abiotic factors, e.g. drought and frost. 

Ozone               
(O3) 

A secondary pollutant generated by photochemical 
reactions involving NOx, volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and sunlight.  These precursors are mainly 
released by the combustion of fossil fuels (as discussed 
above).   

Increasing anthropogenic emissions of ozone 
precursors in the UK have led to an increased number 
of days when ozone levels rise above 40ppb (‘episodes’ 
or ‘smog’). Reducing ozone pollution is believed to 
require action at international level to reduce levels of 
the precursors that form ozone. 

Concentrations of O3 above 40 ppb can be toxic to 
both humans and wildlife, and can affect buildings. 

High O3 concentrations are widely documented to 
cause damage to vegetation, including visible leaf 
damage, reduction in floral biomass, reduction in crop 
yield (e.g. cereal grains, tomato, potato), reduction in 
the number of flowers, decrease in forest production 
and altered species composition in semi-natural plant 
communities.    

 

4.31 Sulphur dioxide emissions overwhelmingly derive from power stations and industrial processes that require 
the combustion of coal and oil, as well as (particularly on a local scale) shipping61. Ammonia emissions 
originate from agricultural practices62, with some chemical processes also making notable contributions. As 
such, it is unlikely that material increases in SO2 or NH3 emissions will be associated with Local Plans. NOx 
emissions, however, are dominated by the output of vehicle exhausts (more than half of all emissions). A 
‘typical’ housing development will contribute by far the largest portion to its overall NOx footprint (92%) 
through the associated road traffic. Other sources, although relevant, are of minor importance (8%) in 
comparison63. Emissions of NOx could therefore be reasonably expected to increase because of a higher 
number of vehicles due to implementation of the Masterplan in combination with growth across Portsmouth 
and beyond. 

4.32 According to the World Health Organisation, the critical NOx concentration (critical threshold) for the 
protection of vegetation is 30 µgm-3; the threshold for sulphur dioxide is 20 µgm-3. In addition, ecological 
studies have determined ‘critical loads’64 of atmospheric nitrogen deposition (that is, NOx combined with 
ammonia NH3). 

 
61 http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_SO2.htm. 
62 Pain, B.F.; Weerden, T.J.; Chambers, B.J.; Phillips, V.R.; Jarvis, S.C. 1998. A new inventory for ammonia emissions from 
U.K. agriculture. Atmospheric Environment 32: 309-313 
63 Proportions calculated based upon data presented in Dore CJ et al. 2005. UK Emissions of Air Pollutants 1970 
– 2003. UK National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory. http://www.airquality.co.uk/archive/index.php 
64 The critical load is the rate of deposition beyond which research indicates that adverse effects can reasonably 
be expected to occur 

Page 368

http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_SO2.htm
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/19
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/19
http://www.airquality.co.uk/archive/index.php


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
30 

 

4.33 According to the Department of Transport’s Transport Analysis Guidance, beyond 200m, the contribution of 
vehicle emissions from the roadside to local pollution levels is not significant65 (Figure 3). This is therefore 
the distance that has been used throughout this HRA in order to determine whether European sites are 
likely to be significantly affected by development outlined in the Local Plan.  

 

Figure 4: Traffic contribution to concentrations of pollutants at different distances from a road 
(Source: DfT66) 

4.34 Exhaust emissions from vehicles, particularly their nitrogen compounds, are capable of adversely affecting 
aquatic habitats. Considering this, an increase in net recreation and employment within the Portsmouth 
Seafront Masterplan area could result in increased traffic adjacent to nearby European sites, which might 
be sensitive to atmospheric pollution. 

4.35 The available baseline information suggests that the following European Sites are vulnerable to the impact 
pathway atmospheric pollution due to their qualifying species / habitats: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA 

• Solent Maritime SAC 

• Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 

Background to Water Quality 
4.36 The quality of the water that feeds European sites is an important determinant of the nature of their habitats 

and the species they support. Poor water quality can have a range of environmental impacts:  

4.37 At high levels, toxic chemicals and metals can result in immediate death of aquatic life, and can have 
detrimental effects even at lower levels, including increased vulnerability to disease and changes in wildlife 
behaviour.  

• Eutrophication, the enrichment of plant nutrients in water, increases plant growth and 
consequently results in oxygen depletion. Algal blooms, which commonly result from 
eutrophication, increase turbidity and decrease light penetration. The decomposition of 
organic wastes that often accompanies eutrophication deoxygenates water further, 
augmenting the oxygen depleting effects of eutrophication. In the marine environment, 
nitrogen is the limiting plant nutrient and so eutrophication is associated with discharges 
containing available nitrogen.  

• Some pesticides, industrial chemicals, and components of sewage effluent are suspected 
to interfere with the functioning of the endocrine system, possibly having negative effects 
on the reproduction and development of aquatic life. 

 
65 http://www.dft.gov.uk/webtag/documents/expert/unit3.3.3.php#013; accessed 12/05/2016 
66 http://www.dft.gov.uk/ha/standards/dmrb/vol11/section3/ha20707.pdf; accessed 13/07/2018 

Page 369

http://www.dft.gov.uk/webtag/documents/expert/unit3.3.3.php#013
http://www.dft.gov.uk/ha/standards/dmrb/vol11/section3/ha20707.pdf


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
31 

 

4.38 Sewage and some industrial effluent discharges contribute to increased nutrients in the European sites and 
particularly to phosphate levels in watercourses.  

4.39 The Seafront Masterplan provides for development in the Southern Water catchment, responsible for the 
public water supply and waste water treatment within the area. The potential implications of residential and 
industrial development for Natura 2000 sites are outlined in Table 3. 

Table 3: Wastewater Treatment Works with catchments serving areas that are to provide new development.  

WwTW Catchment Plan providing for 
additional 
employment 
development  

HRA implications 

WwTWs operated by 
Southern Water and 
Portsmouth Water 

Seafront Masterplan Discharge of sewage and industrial pollutants into local 
watercourses (ultimately entering Portsmouth Harbour 
SPA / Ramsar, Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar and Solent Maritime SAC) 

 
4.40 The available baseline information suggests that the following European Sites are vulnerable to the impact 

pathway water quality: 

• Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 

• Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar 

• Solent and Southampton Water SPA 

• Solent Maritime SAC 

• Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 

4.41 However, there is no direct hydrological connectivity between the Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC 
and the marine environment, except through percolation. Therefore, this site is screened out from further 
assessment relating to the impact pathway water quality. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 370



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
32 

 

5. Screening for Likely Significant 
Effects (LSEs) 

Table of Development Opportunities 
5.1 The Seafront Masterplan Review document focusses on specific sites that have the potential for 

development. The opportunities include a variety of measures, including the better use of a building or 
space, making a space or area more attractive, and the wholesale demolition and rebuilding of sites. The 
proposed development is intended to be delivered in several phases over a period of 10+ years. 

5.2 Development is proposed in the following areas within the Portsmouth seafront: 

• Old Portsmouth 

• Clarence Pier 

• Southsea Common (referred to in the remainder of this document as Southsea Common 
Opportunity Area to avoid confusion with the much smaller common) 

• St. George’s Road to Henderson Road 

• Henderson Road to Eastney Point 

5.3 Table 4 provides a summary of the different development proposals. It makes specific reference to sites 
where development is intended to take place, provides details of the development options and provides the 
distances to the closest European sites. It also provides the results of the screening for LSEs relating to the 
different development options. This includes all major proposal that are considered relevant to the integrity 
of European Sites. The Seafront Masterplan only provides rough indications of where buildings will 
be delivered and it is therefore to be noted that the distances to European Sites provided in Table 4, 
and used in this screening report, are all approximate.  

5.4 While the impact pathway loss of functionally linked land was considered, none of the Seafront Masterplan 
development opportunities propose development on known functionally linked land parcels (see distances 
to functionally linked land provided in Table 4). This impact pathway is therefore not considered further in 
this HRA. However, several impact pathways (e.g. recreational pressure, tall buildings, visual and noise 
disturbance) are discussed in relation to key parcels of functionally linked land.  

Table 4: Summary of the main proposed development opportunities detailed in the Portsmouth Seafront 
Masterplan, detailing the general opportunity area, a more specific location within the areas, the relative 
location to European Sites and the screening decisions on the proposals. 

Opportunity 
Area 

Specific 
Site Within 
Area 

Details of 
Development Option 

Link to European Sites Likely Significant Effects 
Arising From Plan 

Old Portsmouth Former 
Wightlink Site 

Redevelopment of car parks 
and buildings for a mix of 
employment uses 
 
Furthermore, a scheme 
involved some residential 
development and a cultural 
hub is also proposed. 

The development site is 
relatively close to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar (913m), but far from the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar 
(4.5km). It is relatively close to 
P100, a Low Use area for 
feeding brent geese (functionally 
linked land). 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 
 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Fish Market Site Introduction of other uses on 
the fish market site, such as 

The development site is 
relatively close to Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar (1.1km), 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 

Page 371



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
33 

 

arts, foods / beverages and 
residential 

but far from the Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar (4.3km). It is relatively 
close to P100, a Low Use area 
for feeding brent geese 
(functionally linked land). 

The following impact pathways are 
present: 
 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

The Point, Spice 
Island 

Enhancement of public space 
in terms of appearance, 
materials and lighting to 
increase use especially for art-
related activities 

The development site is 
relatively close to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar (876m), but far from the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar 
(4.6km). It is relatively close to 
P100, a Low Use area for 
feeding brent geese (functionally 
linked land). 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
Through redevelopment this proposal 
might increase the footfall in the wider 
area. However, despite the proximity of this 
development site to the Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar and P100, there 
are no linking impact pathways. Both the 
SPA / Ramsar and supporting habitat are 
difficult to access from here. 
 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

Broad Street 
Highway 
Enhancement 

Top of Broad Street and Bath 
Square proposed to be 
pedestrianised to increase 
pedestrian focus 
 
The existing Round Tower is to 
be enhanced for active use 

The development site is 
relatively close to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar (899m), but far from the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar 
(4.4km). It is relatively close to 
P100, a Low Use area for 
feeding brent geese (functionally 
linked land). 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
This proposal does not outline 
development that may impact European 
Sites. However, the pedestrianisation of 
the area might reduce atmospheric 
pollution locally. 
 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

Clarence Pier Entire Area Redevelopment of the entire 
area to create a 
complementary destination to 
the Historic Dockyard, 
Gunwharf Quays and Old 
Portsmouth 
 
Redevelopment likely to 
include a masterplanning 
approach and development of 
restaurants, bars, a hotel, 
leisure uses and a new 
hovercraft terminal 

While the area is distant to 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar (3.5km) and Chichester 
and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar (4km), it is immediately 
adjacent to Southsea Common 
(P35), a Core Area for feeding 
brent geese (functionally linked 
land) 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 
 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Obstruction of flight lines and 
sightlines 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

 
This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Southsea Castle 
to Palmerston 
Road 

The development option 
suggests the redevelopment of 
the Blue Reef Aquarium with a 
more attractive building, as 
well as introducing a new 
building / attraction in its 
vicinity 
 
Redesigning of the route to 
create a more attractive 

Long distances to Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar and 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar; 
however adjacent to Southsea 
Common (P35), a Core Area 
supporting brent geese 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 
 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Obstruction of flight lines and 
sightlines 

Page 372



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
34 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Southsea 
Common 
Opportunity 
Area 

environment for pedestrians, 
thus building a stronger link 
between Southsea town 
centre and the seafront 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Southsea Skate 
Park 

Creation of landscaped public 
space and new adventure play 
park 

Long distances of 2.6km to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and 3.2km to the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar; 
however only 45m away from a 
Candidate support area (P34), 
271m away from a Secondary 
Support Area (P115) and 299m 
away from Southsea Common, a 
Core Area (P35) supporting 
brent geese. 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
Despite the proximity of this development 
area to several supporting habitats for 
Brent geese, this plan does not allocate 
any development that has a linking impact 
pathway to European Sites. 
 
This is mainly due to the skate park 
representing the focal destination and 
visitors being unlikely to visit the wider 
Solent coastline and / or engaging in water-
based activities. Furthermore, the skate 
park would be within an urban area with 
high levels of existing use. 
 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

The Pyramids 
Centre 

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of the 
Pyramids site for leisure-led 
uses, possibly including a 
hotel / spa, and potentially 
residential use 

Long distances of 2.8km to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and 3.1km to the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar; 
however directly adjacent to a 
Candidate support area (P34), 
182m away from a Secondary 
Support Area (P115) and 462m 
away from Southsea Common, a 
Core Area (P35) supporting 
brent geese. 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Obstruction of flight lines and 
sightlines 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

• Water quality 
 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Speakers’ 
Corner, South 
Parade Gardens 
and Rock 
Gardens 

Pedestrianisation of Clarence 
Esplanade to create more 
space for walking / cycling 
routes 
 
Integration of Rock Gardens 
and enhancement of 
Speaker’s Corner to create 
more footfall, including the 
provision of a leisure cluster 
with focus on food and 
beverage 

Speaker’s Corner is located 
approx. 2.5km from Chichester 
and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar and 3km from Solent 
Maritime SAC; however it lies 
within 100m of a Low Use 
feeding area (P115) for brent 
geese. 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
Despite the proximity of this site to an area 
of Low Use for brent geese, this plan does 
not allocate any development that has a 
linking impact pathway to European Sites. 
Furthermore, the only nearby supporting 
area has a low level of use. 
 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

South Parade 
Pier and St. 
Helen’s Parade 

Improve the pedestrian and 
cycle experience in the area by 
narrowing the carriageway and 
shifting car parking to the north 
side of the road 
 

Long distances of 3.4km to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and 2.4km to the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar; 
however directly adjacent to a 
support area of Low Use (P133) 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
Despite the proximity of this site to several 
areas of brent goose supporting habitat, 
this plan does not allocate any 
development that has a linking impact 
pathway to European Sites.  

Page 373



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
35 

 

Expand on the existing public 
space with provision of food 
and beverage offers 

and 552m away from a support 
Core Area (P32A). 

 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

Canoe Lake 
Park to St. 
George’s Road 

Continued promotion of the 
Canoe Lake Park as a 
recreational destination and 
improvement of play spaces 
and equipment to increase its 
capacity.  
 
The former Barrack building in 
the area is to be redeveloped 
for active use, such as an 
event / exhibition space 

Long distances of 3.5km to the 
Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and 1.4km to the 
Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar; 
however directly adjacent to a 
Core Support Area (P32A) and a 
support area of Low Use (P133). 
Additionally, the development 
area is 133m from a Secondary 
Support Area (P32B). 

There are no impact pathways present. 
 
Despite the proximity of this site to several 
areas of brent goose supporting habitat, 
this plan does not allocate any 
development that has a linking impact 
pathway to European Sites. While the 
proposals might increase recreational 
pressure in the area, this is already a 
frequently visited area. Furthermore, the 
continued promotion of the Canoe Lake as 
a high-value recreational destination might 
keep people from visiting the more 
sensitive SPAs / Ramsars. 
 
This development proposal is thus 
screened out from Appropriate 
Assessment. 

St. George’s 
Road to 
Henderson 
Road 

Entire Area Conversion of the currently 
vacant Royal Marines 
Museum to a hotel (or similar), 
with complimentary uses such 
as offices and residential  
 
Redevelopment of Eastney 
Swimming Pool (and 
potentially the wider Southsea 
Leisure Park) to accommodate 
a variety of leisure-type uses, 
including swimming and the 
continued support of 
watersports (e.g. stand-up 
paddle boarding and kite-
surfng) 

This opportunity area is located 
approx. 1.4lm from Chichester 
and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar and 1.5km from the 
Solent Maritime SAC 
 
It lies approx. 1.2km from Core 
feeding Areas for brent geese 
(P32A and P31) and only 
approx. 182m from Primary 
Support Areas (roost sites P78, 
P142) for waders 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Obstruction of flight lines and 
sightlines 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

• Water quality 
 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Henderson 
Road to Eastney 
Point 

Fort 
Cumberland 

Opening Fort Cumberland for 
public uses, such as an activity 
centre, a start-up hub for new 
businesses and an events 
space 

This opportunity area sits 
adjacent to the Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar 
 
It is located approx. 650m from 
important supporting habitats for 
brent geese and approx. 400m 
from primary support areas for 
wading birds 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Visual and noise pollution (during 

and post-construction) 
 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

RNLI site Redevelopment of the RNLI 
site for commercial and leisure 
uses, such as café and toilets 
or an ecology information 
centre (if the RNLI is relocated 
elsewhere) 

This opportunity area sits 
adjacent to the Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar 
 
It is located approx. 650m from 
important supporting habitats for 
brent geese and approx. 400m 
from primary support areas for 
wading birds 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

Page 374



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
36 

 

 
This development proposal is thus 
screened in for Appropriate Assessment. 

Southsea 
Marina 

Enhancement of the area with 
leisure-use facilities, such as 
café / restaurants, water sports 
equipment hire, cycle hire and 
holiday-let accommodation 

This opportunity area sits 
adjacent to the Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar 
 
It is located approx. 650m from 
important supporting habitats for 
brent geese and approx. 400m 
from primary support areas for 
wading birds 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Southsea 
Leisure Park 

Redevelopment of the site to 
switch use from touring / static 
caravans to residential 
housing (pending further 
assessment) 

This opportunity area is far 
(5.5km) from the Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar, but sits 
only 460m from the Chichester 
and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar. 
 
Furthermore, it is located 
approx. 650m from important 
supporting habitats for brent 
geese and is directly adjacent to 
Primary Support Areas (roost 
sites) for wading birds. 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Recreational pressure (on SPA / 

Ramsar and functionally linked 
land) 

• Visual and noise pollution (during 
and post-construction) 

 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Hayling Ferry 
Pier 

Replacement of the Hayling 
Ferry Pier as an architecturally 
distinctive location 
comparable to the Brisbane 
Ferry Terminals 

This opportunity area sits 
adjacent to the Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar 
 
It is located approx. 650m from 
important supporting habitats for 
brent geese and approx. 400m 
from primary support areas for 
wading birds 

This proposal will result in LSEs on 
European Sites. 
 
The following impact pathways are 
present: 

 
• Visual and noise pollution (during 

and post-construction) 
 

This development proposal is screened in 
for Appropriate Assessment. 

Page 375



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
37 

 

Screening of Development Opportunities 
Old Portsmouth 
5.5 The Old Portsmouth development area is located approx. 826m (Euclidean straight line distance) away from 

the Portsmouth SPA / Ramsar, separated by a stretch of sea. The Seafront Masterplan proposes the 
redevelopment of this area to provide for a mix of uses that could include leisure and residential 
development at the Former Wightlink site and, potentially, at the Fish Market site. There are also plans to 
make the opportunity area more attractive and, ultimately, to attract more people (see Table 4). For example, 
the redevelopment of the former Wightlink site to provide for a restaurant or café would mean more people 
spend their leisure time in Old Portsmouth. 

5.6 Generally, there is no realistic pathway linking recreational use in Old Portsmouth to the Portsmouth SPA / 
Ramsar. The development site is separated from the SPA by a stretch of sea and there are no plans for 
building a ferry terminal and / or introducing a hub for water-based activities, either of which might move 
recreational pressure closer to this European site.  

5.7 The closest area of key supporting habitat for brent Geese to Old Portsmouth that is identified in the Solent 
Waders and Brent Goose Strategy67 is a 2.87ha area of low use (P100) to the north. However, this site lies 
beyond the Wightlink Ferry terminal and its serving train link, and there is thus no pathway that would 
connect the increased recreational pressure to this section of functionally linked land. 

5.8 However, other brent geese supporting habitats include an area of Low Use (P36) and a Core Area 
(Southsea Common, P35) to the south-east of Old Portsmouth. Since these areas are less than 1km from 
the opportunity area, impacts of recreational pressure need to be considered. The Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar is also within 5km and might be subject to increased recreational usage. 

5.9 In conclusion, LSEs in relation to the development opportunities in Old Portsmouth cannot be excluded and 
are screened in for Appropriate Assessment.  

Clarence Pier 
5.10 The main focus of the Seafront Masterplan for the Clarence Pier is to redevelop the area with a variety of 

facilities, most of which already exist at the site, such as restaurant, bars, a hovercraft terminal and other 
leisure uses (Table 4). The proposed development option could therefore lead to increased recreation in the 
general waterfront area surrounding the pier, through intensification of the uses.  

5.11 Clarence Pier area lies at an approximate straight-line distance of 3.5km to the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar and approx. 4km to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar. Any visitors to Clarence 
Pier are likely to specifically visit the redevelopment proposed in the Masterplan, such as the restaurants, 
bars and other leisure uses. It is very unlikely that Clarence Pier visitors will walk the considerable distances 
of 3.5km and 4km to the nearest European Sites, and as such the redevelopment is not considered to 
materially increase recreational pressure in the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and Chichester and 
Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar.  

5.12 However, the Clarence Pier development area is immediately adjacent to Southsea Common (P35), a Core 
feeding Area for brent Geese. Furthermore, the SWBGS highlights that the presence of buildings within 
50m-500m of a goose support area might make a site less suitable for supporting brent geese. Due to the 
likely increase of recreational pressure and the construction of new buildings, this development area 
proposed in the Seafront Masterplan is screened in for Appropriate Assessment.  

Southsea Common Opportunity Area 
Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road 
5.13 Most importantly, the Masterplan proposes the replacement of the Blue Reef Aquarium with a building that 

has a potentially larger footprint (Table 4), which could result in a negative impact on the flightlines or 
sightlines of brent geese if it also results in a significant increase in building height or blocks an otherwise 
open view from the SPA or functionally linked land. Public realm improvements to Avenue de Caen, with the 

 
67 Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy. Available at https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/ [Accessed 03/06/2019] 

Page 376

https://solentwbgs.wordpress.com/


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
38 

 

aim to build a stronger pedestrian link between Southsea town centre and the seafront is also proposed. 
Overall, the proposals for this development area are likely to lead to increased recreation levels.  

5.14 The Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road area of development is relatively distant to the Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar (approx. 3.5km) and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar (approx. 
4km). While development of this area for pedestrians is likely to encourage a higher footfall originating from 
Southsea Common, it is considered unlikely that many visitors will walk the long routes along the shoreline   
to reach these SPAs / Ramsars.  

5.15 However, the Avenue-de-Caen to Southsea Castle development area is directly adjacent to Southsea 
Common, a Core feeding Area for brent geese. Due to the likely increase of recreational pressure, the 
impact of potentially tall buildings on flightlines or sightlines and disturbance from construction this 
development plan is screened in for Appropriate Assessment.  

The Pyramids and Speakers’ Corner 
5.16 The development option in this area outlines a landscaped public space with a new adventure play park, 

hotel / spa provision at the Pyramids and redevelopment of Speaker’s Corner to encourage more footfall 
(Table 4). Implementing this development option might therefore lead to an increase in recreational pressure 
and to disturbance from buildings (during and post-construction). The proposed hotel / spa at the Pyramids 
site requires particular consideration, because it will contribute to an increase in the residential population 
within 5.6km of the coastal SPAs. Furthermore, the increase in the residential population as a result of the 
hotel would also mean that there might be an increase in the discharge of sewage effluent, which might 
have adverse effects on the integrity of marine SPAs / Ramsars / SACs. 

5.17 Speaker’s Corner is located approx. 2.9km from the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar and 
3km from the Solent Maritime SAC. It is unlikely that people visiting the landscaped public space and the 
adventure play park, both specific recreation destinations, would walk to and access these European Sites. 
However, the development area lies immediately adjacent to a candidate feeding area (P34) and <100m 
away from a Low Use feeding area (P115) for brent geese. 

5.18 Considering the likely increase in recreational pressure, the impact of potentially tall buildings on flightlines 
and sightlines, disturbance from construction work and an increased wastewater discharge this 
development proposal is screened in for Appropriate Assessment.  

Canoe Lake Park to St. George’s Road  
5.19 The Canoe Lake was developed in 1896 and provides a popular destination for families. The development 

proposal identifies that the Lake will be consolidated as a destination for individuals, families and sports 
enthusiasts. Further enhancements to the play spaces, equipment and Japanese Garden are envisaged 
(Table 4).  

5.20 The Canoe Lake development area has a relatively long distance of 3.5km to the Portsmouth Harbour SPA 
/ Ramsar and 1.4km to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar.  The continued promotion 
of Canoe Lake as a recreational destination is likely to promote an increased footfall in this development 
area. The lake offers a variety of features, including the main boating lake, a large children’s play area, 
tennis courts, a social pavilion, and food and beverage opportunities. It is therefore considered a focal target 
for recreation, where families spend a large part of the day. It is therefore considered unlikely that many 
Canoe Lake visitors will walk onwards to the European Sites. However, this development area is directly 
adjacent to a Core Support Area (P32A), an area of Low Use (P133) and 133m from a Secondary Support 
Area (P32B). It is therefore possible  

5.21 By improving the appeal of the Canoe Lake, which is already a popular area for recreation, this proposal 
further intensifies the site as a focal point for recreation. This could be beneficial for European Sites as this 
might reduce recreational pressure in more sensitive areas of the beachfront. This proposal is therefore 
screened out from Appropriate Assessment.  

St. George’s Road to Henderson Road 
5.22 Regarding the beachfront between St. George’s Road and Henderson Road, the Seafront Masterplan 

highlights that any development that would have negative impacts on the special characteristics of this area 
(i.e. undeveloped openness, vegetated shingle), should be refused planning permission.  

Page 377



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
39 

 

5.23 This opportunity area is located approx. 390m from Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar and 
the Solent Maritime SAC. Furthermore, it lies approx. 119m from a Core feeding Area (P29) and other Core 
feeding Areas for brent geese (P32A and P31). It is only approx. 72m from Primary Support Areas (roost 
sites P78, P142) for waders. 

5.24 The development proposal for this area highlights a conversion of the vacant Royal Marines Museum to a 
hotel, with possible ancillary uses such as offices and residential homes (Table 4). Furthermore, the 
redevelopment of Eastney Swimming Pool to provide new pool facilities, an increased support of 
watersports (e.g. paddle boarding, kite-surfing) and a new café is highlighted. The proposed conversion of 
the museum to a hotel and ancillary residential use requires particularly consideration, because it will 
contribute to an increase in the residential population within 5.6km of the coastal SPAs. Moreover, the 
residents would only have a short walk and have easy access to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar. The increase in the residential population would also mean that there might be an increase 
in the discharge of sewage effluent, which might have adverse effects on the integrity of the marine SPAs / 
Ramsars / SACs. 

5.25 If development of the hotel resulted in a significant increase in building height and / or it would block an 
otherwise uninterrupted view from the SPA or functionally linked land, this could result in a negative impact 
on the flightlines or sightlines of brent geese. 

5.26 The proposals for the St. George’s Road to Henderson Road area are likely to result in increased 
recreational pressure in the wider area, potential impacts on flightlines and sightlines of brent geese, and 
visual and noise disturbance (during and post-construction). This development option is therefore screened 
in for Appropriate Assessment.  

Henderson Road to Eastney Point 
5.27 This development plan proposes to open Fort Cumberland, a heritage asset, for a wide range of uses, 

including an activity centre, a start-up hub for new businesses and an entertainment / events space. 
Southsea Marina is proposed as a site for new leisure uses, including a café / restaurant, watersports 
equipment hire facilities and holiday-let accommodation. Further locations for redevelopment include the 
RNLI facility (if relocated) as a café or ecology information centre and the Hayling Ferry Pier. 

5.28 The development area is located directly adjacent to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar. 
It is also within 650m of brent geese supporting habitat and within 400m of a Primary Support Area for 
wading birds. 

5.29 This development option is likely to increase recreational pressure in the Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar (and key supporting habitats for qualifying bird species) and to result in disturbance 
/ obstruction from buildings (during and post-construction). It is therefore screened in for Appropriate 
Assessment.  

 

 

Page 378



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
40 

 

6. Appropriate Assessment  
Recreational Pressure 
6.1 Any development in coastal sites that involves the enhancement or provision of additional infrastructure, is 

likely to increase the recreational use of coastal areas. In turn this increase in recreational pressure has the 
potential to affect the sensitive avian communities that nearby European sites are designated for. This is 
interconnected to the loss of functionally linked land (see next section), as the increase in recreational use 
might affect areas outside designated site boundaries, which qualifying bird species might rely upon for 
feeding and / or roosting. 

6.2 While recreational pressure is primarily affected by the number of homes within specific catchment areas of 
European sites, the enhancement of leisure facilities is also likely to attract additional visitors. This can pose 
a particular problem where the type of facility introduced / expanded involves activities that may result in 
LSEs on European sites. 

6.3 This HRA takes a two-fold approach to undertaking the Appropriate Assessment for the impact pathway 
recreational pressure. It first discusses the development proposals that might result in an increased 
recreational footfall or ‘business’ in the Portsmouth Seafront. It then addresses residential development that 
might lead to a net increase in the local residential population.  

Proposals increasing recreational footfall 
Old Portsmouth 
6.4 Aside from the proposal for a mixed-use development that includes residential use (discussed in the next 

section), the Seafront Masterplan provides for the following in the Old Portsmouth opportunity area: 

• New restaurants 

• New cafes 

• Cultural hub 

6.5 While this site lies relatively close to P100, a support area of Low Use, it is unlikely that the additional 
recreational footfall created by this proposal will affect this parcel of functionally linked land. P100 is 
directly adjacent to the Wightlink ferry terminal in an industrial area. Most people visiting the Old 
Portsmouth area will specifically visit these new services / attractions, and are unlikely to venture into the 
industrial area to the north. Any visitors with the intention of accessing the wider Solent region, are more 
likely to walk towards Clarence Pier and therefore P36 (a Low Use support area) and Southsea Common 
P35 (a Core Support Area). 

6.6 However, the additional recreational footfall in these support areas due to development of recreational 
services in Old Portsmouth, is unlikely to materially alter how the brent geese use these sites. Both areas, 
and especially P35, act as important functionally linked land to the SPAs / Ramsars despite the existing 
high levels of recreational use (discussed in more detail in relation to Clarence Pier below). It is therefore 
concluded that the redevelopment of Old Portsmouth will not lead to adverse effects regarding the 
impact pathway recreational pressure. 

Clarence Pier 
6.7 The Seafront Masterplan envisages the redevelopment of Clarence Pier to provide the following: 

• New restaurants 

• New bars 

• Leisure uses 

6.8 Overall, this proposal is likely to significantly increase the recreational footfall in the area. While the 
destinations and activities of most visitors are likely to be specific (e.g. visiting a specific restaurant or bar), 

Page 379



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
41 

 

it equally cannot be excluded that a sizable proportion of visitors will spend time on Southsea Common 
(P35), a Core Area for brent geese, which is located nearby. 

6.9 Bird Aware Solent investigated the effects of recreation on Solent birdlife. Quoting results of this fieldwork, 
the HRA of a previous version of the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan concluded that this section of the 
coast received over 3 million visits per year, yet brent geese were continuing to forage successfully. Of the 
5 species investigated (brent goose, redshank, grey plover, little egret and dunlin), brent geese were least 
susceptible to disturbance when measured as major flight.  

6.10 Additional surveys were undertaken for the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy. As for Bird Aware 
Solent, the results showed that a recreational presence does not influence how supporting habitat is used 
by the geese. For example, on 13 survey occasions where disturbance events were noted, geese were also 
observed feeding.  

6.11 While, the response of brent geese to disturbance is variable, most active disturbance responses are 
triggered at distances of below 100m. Visitors of Southsea Common are free to walk anywhere on the 
common, which might often bring them within flight distances of the geese. Due to the by-laws on commons 
it is not feasible to restrict public access during the wintering months, but a possible mitigation measure 
would be to introduce a dog-on-lead policy, which would reduce the number of disturbance events related 
to free-roaming dogs.  

6.12 However, given that brent geese use Southsea Common despite the current high levels of recreational use, 
and that inter-individual responses to disturbance vary significantly, the redevelopment of Clarence Pier 
will not lead to adverse effects regarding the impact pathway recreational pressure.  

Southsea Common Opportunity Area 
6.13 Aside from the provision of a new hotel / spa (discussed in the following section), the Seafront Masterplan 

outlines the following development for the Pyramids site: 

• Improvement of the pedestrian link between the seafront and Southsea town centre 

• Redevelopment of the Blue Reef Aquarium for enhanced leisure use 

• Enhancement to Rock Gardens and Speakers’ Corner to increase footfall 

6.14 These proposals clearly have the potential to increase the recreational footfall in the area. Due to the 
distances of 2.9km to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar and 3km to the Solent Maritime 
SAC it is considered unlikely that the additional footfall will affect the SPAs / Ramsars. However, these 
locations are close to functionally linked land parcels for brent geese, such as a Classification Candidate 
site (P34) and a Low Use feeding area (P115).  

6.15 However, given that brent geese successfully feed in other areas that are subject to high recreational 
disturbance (e.g. Southsea Common) and the relevant support areas only being of low use / awaiting 
approval for classification, enhancement of the Rock Gardens and Speakers’ Corner for public use will 
not lead to adverse effects regarding the impact pathway recreational pressure.  

Henderson Road to Eastney Point 
6.16 The Seafront Masterplan proposes that if the RNLI facility were relocated elsewhere, the site could be 

redeveloped for other uses, such as a café and toilets with an integrated nature and ecology information 
centre. The proposal also suggests an enhancement of the nearby bus stop. Given that the RNLI site is 
immediately adjacent to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, this proposal is likely to 
result in increased recreational access to the SPA / Ramsar.  

6.17 While the wider area around the RNLI site does not provide continuous direct access to the SPA / Ramsar, 
it is noted that access to the water is unrestricted in many places, typically consisting of pebble beach 
habitat. Furthermore, on a previous visit to the site it was noted that people used a slipway near the RNLI 
site to launch their jet-skis into the SPA / Ramsar site. While it is therefore recognised that the redevelopment 
of the RNLI site might lead to increased recreational footfall near Eastney Point, it is thought that delivering 
a café with an integrated ecology centre might absorb some of the visitors that might otherwise wander 
around the SPA / Ramsar. Furthermore, given that access to the SPA / Ramsar is already possible, it is 
considered that an ecology information centre might be useful in educating visitors on bird interest features 
and delivering Codes of Conduct for recreational activities. 

Page 380



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
42 

 

6.18 It is recommended that the conversion of the RNLI site into a café is coupled to the mandatory 
delivery of an ecological information centre, to help mitigate the impacts of recreational pressure. 
Furthermore, the delivery of the café would need to be accompanied by its own project-level HRA to 
ensure that there are no adverse effects on the integrity of European Sites. A similar project-level 
HRA should be required for any development adjacent to European Sites, which might increase 
recreational footfall in the designated site. 

Proposals increasing the net residential population 
6.19 The following proposal in Old Portsmouth opportunity area has the potential to increase the net residential 

population in the wider 5.6km catchment zone of nearby European Sites: 

• Development of mixed-use scheme with residential development, restaurants and cafes 

6.20 The following proposals in different opportunity areas have the potential to increase the net residential 
population with immediate access to nearby European Sites: 

Henderson Road to Eastney Point (immediately adjacent to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar) 

• Provision of holiday-let accommodation at the Southsea Marina 

• Conversion to residential use of Southsea Leisure Park 

• Enhanced provision of watersports facilities adjacent to Southsea Leisure Park 

St. George’s Road to Henderson Road (within a short walk of the Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar) 

• Conversion of museum to a hotel with ancillary residential use 

Southsea Common Opportunity Area (relatively distant to both Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 
and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar) 

• Provision of hotel / spa at the Pyramids Centre site 

6.21 The provision of holiday -let accommodation and hotels would effectively represent net new residential 
growth in the area, while the conversion from touring / static caravans to residential use in the Southsea 
Leisure Park is likely to mean that there would be more permanent residents. In combination with the 
enhanced provision for watersports facilities at Southsea Leisure Park, this is likely to mean that more 
recreational use will occur in the SPA / Ramsar and / or Eastney Beach, which contains Primary Support 
Areas for waders (P78, P142).  

Furthermore, on a previous visit to this site, it was observed that visitors are already using this section of 
coast for activities on water, including jet-skiing.  

Holiday-let accommodation 
6.22 Generally, the holiday-let accommodation in Southsea Marina is more likely to be used in the summer 

months. For example, a survey of beach hut users on the Portsmouth seafront found that a third of owners 
did not use their beach huts at all during the winter. However, two thirds used their huts daily, weekly or 
monthly all year round. Furthermore, 20% of survey participants indicated that they visit with their dog.  

6.23 It is concluded that the provision of holiday-let accommodation at Southsea Marina and a linked increase in 
recreational pressure might lead to adverse effects on the integrity of the Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar. It is therefore recommended to impose seasonal restrictions on the rental of 
such accommodation. Limiting the letting to the spring / summer would mean that most visitors are 
accommodated, while ensuring that the SPA / Ramsar is extended adequate protection. This is due to the 
site being most sensitive in winter, with most qualifying species being passage or overwintering migrants. 

Provision of residential use and hotels 
6.24 A proposal for mixed-use development with residential dwellings, food, beverage and artist studios in Old 

Portsmouth (Former Wightlink site, Fish Market) is contained in the Seafront Masterplan. The closest brent 
geese supporting habitats are two areas of Low Use (P100 – 587m away, P35 – 473m away) and Southsea 

Page 381



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
43 

 

Common (P35 – 750m away, a Core Area), while both the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar are further away. Given that both the Portsmouth 
Harbour SPA / Ramsar and P100 to the north are in highly urbanised settings and difficult to access, it is 
expected that most of the recreational pressure from these proposals would focus on the section of coast 
to the south-east, i.e. towards Southsea Common, Eastney Beach and the Chichester and Langstone 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar.  

6.25 Regarding Eastney Beach, the Seafront Masterplan identifies that ‘Much of Eastney Beach is vegetated 
shingle, which is considered to be a special habitat, where conditions are stable enough for specially 
adapted plants to grow.’ It also details that ‘any development that would have a negative impact on the 
special characteristics of this area should be refused planning permission.’ It concludes that ‘development 
opportunities in this area are considered to be limited…. This area should remain free of development.’ 
While these paragraphs acknowledge the ecological importance of this area, the Masterplan proposes 
residential development here, which is discussed in the following. 

6.26 The Seafront Masterplan provides for several hotels and permanent residential use near Eastney Beach, 
including several hotels (i.e. the Pyramid site and the vacant Royal Marines Museum) and the conversion 
of the Southsea Leisure Park from static caravans to residential-led redevelopment. Southsea Leisure Park 
is located directly adjacent to two Primary Support Areas for waders (P78, P142) and is only 650m from 
supporting habitat for brent geese. The Primary Support Areas P78 and P142 function as roost sites for a 
several species of wading birds, including redshank, dunlin and oystercatcher. This would result in a 
permanent increase in the local residential population, which needs to be considered in-combination with 
residential growth provided for in Local Plans of the various adjacent authorities. In contrast to the holiday-
let accommodation at Southsea Marina, such development clearly cannot be mitigated through seasonal 
letting restrictions. 

6.27 The provision of hotels and residential use needs to be further set into the context of the plan for a continued 
support of water sports usage at Eastney Swimming Pool, which is likely to increase the amount of water-
based recreation around Eastney Beach. This is particularly significant for some of the species of wading 
birds, as these were found to be particularly sensitive to disturbance. While roughly only 10% of brent geese 
actively responded to disturbance events, this proportion was much higher for redshank (20%), dunlin (19%) 
and oystercatcher (25%). Notably, wading birds are not equally disturbed by different types of recreational 
activities. Fieldwork for the Bird Aware Solent strategy also showed that only 12% of terrestrial activity 
caused disturbance to birds in the intertidal zone, while disturbance resulted from 25% of water-based 
activities68. As such, the residential growth in combination with the provision of facilities for water sports 
have the potential to cause significant disturbance to SPA / Ramsar birds. 

6.28 However, issues relating to the watersports hub at Eastney Swimming Pool were already discussed in the 
HRA screening document of the previous version of the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan. It was determined 
that the presence of a dedicated facility for watersports, with dedicated access in this location will draw 
watersports users out of the harbour to the area close to the hub. The presence of dedicated watersports 
facilities is also one of the mitigation measures which is likely to be taken forward in the Solent Disturbance 
and Mitigation Project. It was also noted that the planned boardwalk will concentrate the additional 
recreational use in a predictable area and help guide recreational traffic away from sensitive features. The 
HRA therefore concluded that the watersports hub would protect the Chichester and Langstone Harbours 
SPA / Ramsar by concentrating water-based recreation around Eastney Beach away from the SPA / Ramsar. 
However, this would also bring watersports users closer to the wader support areas P78 and P142. 

6.29 A previous HRA on an earlier version of the Masterplan document discussed mitigation options in relation 
to recreational pressure because of beach hut provision at Eastney Beach. In relation to the potential loss 
of P78 as a Primary Support Area, it recommended that ‘potential avoidance / mitigation measures could 
include (but may not be limited to): 

• Prohibiting dogs not on a lead on this part of Eastney beach during the winter (this is already 
the case during the summer) 

• Providing information to new beach hut tenants about the biodiversity of Eastney Beach 
and how they can help to preserve this special area, and/or 

 
68 Liley D., Stillman R. & Fearnley H. (2010). The Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project Phase 2: Results of Bird 
Disturbance Fieldwork 2009/10. Footprint Ecology Report for the Solent Forum. 71 pp. 

Page 382



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
44 

 

• Requiring new beach hut tenants to sign up to a ‘code of conduct’ setting out expectations 
of the way in which they should use the area and respect its particular sensitivities’ 

These mitigation recommendations are relevant to all development proposals near Eastney Beach 
and can continue to be relied upon.  

In-combination assessment of recreational pressure 
6.30 The impact pathway recreational pressure was previously assessed in the HRA for the Portsmouth Local 

Plan in-combination with the plans of surrounding authorities. The HRA identified that the Solent is a 
destination receiving approx. 52 million recreational visits from households per year. It also determined that 
there would not be adverse effects on the integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, given that measures were taken to mitigate recreational 
pressure in the Solent.  

6.31 The Bird Aware Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy69 (2017) stipulates that all net new residential 
development within a 5.6km catchment zone will result in Likely Significant Effects on coastal SPAs / 
Ramsars. The catchment boundary was based on the distance where the majority (i.e. 75%) of coastal 
visitors live. It was therefore decided that mitigation measures and monitoring delivered as part of Bird 
Aware Solent are to be funded by developer contributions of between £346 and £90270 (depending on the 
number of bedrooms delivered) per net new residential dwelling delivered within the 5.6km catchment zone. 

6.32 The Bird Aware Solent Strategy proposes the following mitigation and monitoring measures to reduce the 
impact of recreational pressure: 

• A team of 5-7 coastal rangers working to reduce disturbance 

• Initiatives to encourage responsible dog walking in less sensitive parts of the coast 

• Preparation of Codes of Conduct for high-impact recreational activities 

• Tailored habitat management projects for specific sites 

• A monitoring schemes to track the effectiveness of mitigation measures 

• Providing alternative recreational greenspace (e.g. the Alver Valley Pilot Project) 

6.33 To avoid adverse effects on the site integrity of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the Chichester 
and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, it is recommended that all development (including hotels) 
resulting in the growth of the residential population in the Portsmouth Seafront, is to provide a 
financial contribution to the Bird Aware Solent project at the rate of £564 per net additional dwelling. 
Furthermore, it is recommended that seasonal restrictions are to be imposed on the letting of 
accommodation at Southsea Marina, to avoid adverse effects on overwintering SPA / Ramsar birds. 
Given the implementation of the above, it is concluded that there will be no adverse effects on the 
integrity of European Sites due to the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan regarding the impact 
pathway recreational pressure.  

Impacts of Tall Buildings on Flight Lines and Sight 
Lines 
6.34 Recent decades have seen advances in the scientific understanding of the effects of manmade structures 

on birds. Any building has the potential to result in bird mortality due to direct collisions. Furthermore, tall 
buildings are also known to influence the behaviour of birds, potentially resulting in significant energetic 
costs. Therefore, the construction of tall buildings near European sites or functionally linked land might have 
detrimental effects on qualifying bird species. 

6.35 The Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan details the construction of various buildings, such as a hotel / spa, 
hovercraft ferry terminal and a variety of further buildings for leisure use (e.g. restaurants, bars, cafes). 
While currently there is little detail on the construction specifications of these buildings available, some of 

 
69 Available at: http://www.birdaware.org/strategy [Accessed 16/07/2019] 
70 As of 01/04/2019 refined from the original £564 per additional residential dwelling. 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/development-and-planning/planning-policy/solent-special-protection-areas [Accessed 
29/07/2019] 

Page 383

http://www.birdaware.org/strategy
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/development-and-planning/planning-policy/solent-special-protection-areas


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
45 

 

the larger construction proposals are discussed in the following and mitigation measures are proposed 
where relevant.  

Clarence Pier 
6.36 The extensive redevelopment planned for Clarence Pier could include a mix of buildings for various leisure 

uses (e.g. restaurants, bars), a hotel and a new hovercraft terminal. While Clarence Pier clearly already 
supports large structures, the current proposal introduces the possibility of further tall buildings to be added 
to the pier’s landscape. 

6.37 New buildings have the potential to affect how effectively brent geese use Southsea Common as a foraging 
habitat. A comprehensive overview of the structural attributes that determine the impact of tall structures on 
birds is provided in a literature review71. This paper indicates that the impact on birds is primarily determined 
by structural dimensions (e.g. height), lighting and proximity to areas of high use. Tall structures are also 
known to change the behaviour of migrant birds such as Bewick swans. For example, construction of a wind 
farm in the Netherlands resulted in avoidance behaviour in Bewick swans, but also increased the risk of 
mortality72. 

6.38 The Masterplan outlines the provision of a hotel. From the current proposal it is not yet clear whether this 
will be a tall structure. However, many hotels tend to have continuous lighting in place and much of the 
literature highlights the negative impacts of lighting, for example through entrapment effects73. The 
construction of this hotel therefore might have negative effects on how well brent geese can use Southsea 
Common.  

6.39 As noted in the 2012 HRA, the issue is still not well understood in a local context because little research 
has been conducted on the commuting routes of wintering brent geese. The HRA highlights that this ‘is likely 
to be both highly spatially specific and weather dependent, and to be affected by the relative location of bird 
roosts, foraging habitats and proposed new development’. Consequently, there is still a lack of knowledge 
in this research area and the precautionary principle therefore needs to be employed. 

6.40 The location of Clarence Pier including the proposed hotel is south of Southsea Common. The brent geese 
that use the common are likely to originate from the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar 1.5km to the west. 
It is therefore considered unlikely that brent geese flight paths would be obstructed by new 
buildings at Clarence Pier and this proposal will not result in adverse effects. Furthermore, Clarence 
Pier already contains several tall buildings, which have not reduced the geese’s ability to feed on Southsea 
Common. 

6.41 While the delivery of a tall building in Clarence Pier is unlikely to affect the brent geese on Southsea 
Common, it is noted that the Seafront Masterplan contains protective wording regarding the impact of tall 
buildings on Clarence Pier. Page 55 details that: ‘If a tall building is proposed, key design considerations 
would include the settings of heritage assets, but also bird strike, both in general and in the context of the 
Special Protection Area.’ The implementation of this wording means that there would be no adverse 
effects on flightlines of SPA birds flying to or from Southsea Common, which is functionally linked 
land to the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar. 

Southsea Common Opportunity Area 
Redevelopment of the Blue Reef Aquarium  
6.42 The Masterplan includes an option for redeveloping the Blue Reef Aquarium and further to provide a new 

building / attraction to the west of the aquarium in chapter 5.4.1 (Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road). 
While the proposal does not contain detail to what specification (e.g. building height) these buildings would 
be delivered, it is possible that additional tall infrastructure will be added here.  

6.43 The Blue Reef Aquarium site lies south of Southsea Common (P35) an it is therefore unlikely that new 
developments would obstruct the flight paths of brent geese arriving from the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / 
Ramsar. Any of the supporting areas to the east of the aquarium site are more likely to provide refuge for 

 
71 Drewitt A.L. & Langston R.H.W. (2008). Collision effects of wind-power generators and other obstacles on birds. Annals of 
the New York Academy of Sciences 1134: 233-266. 
72 Fijn R.C., Krijgsveld K.L., Tijsen W., Prinsen H.A.M. & Dirksen S. (2012). Habitat use, disturbance and collision risks for 
Bewick’s Swans Cygnus columbianus bewickii wintering near a wind farm in the Netherlands. Wildfowl 62: 97-116. 
73 Gauthreaux S.A. & belser C.G. (2006). Effects of artificial night lighting on migrating birds. In Ecological Consequences of 
Artificial Night Lighting. C. Rich & T. Longcore, Eds.: 67-93. Island Press, Washington DC.  

Page 384



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
46 

 

birds from the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, which would also be unlikely to be 
affected by development at the Blue Reef Aquarium site. Therefore, the Blue Reef redevelopment will 
not result in adverse effects on flightlines of SPA birds, such as brent geese.  

Redevelopment of the Pyramids site 
6.44 A hotel / spa at the Pyramids site is included in the proposal for this development area in chapter 5.4.3 (the 

Pyramids Centre). This development area is adjacent to a classification candidate (P34) and a Secondary 
Support Area (P115) for brent geese. The Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy identified that buildings 
within a 50-500m zone from brent geese habitat is likely to make a site less suitable for them.  

6.45 Another potential issue with the Pyramids site is that it lies between these support areas to the west and 
the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar to the east. Therefore, it is possible that any tall 
building within this corridor might impact on the flightlines of brent geese, and therefore their ability to use 
the P34 and P115 sites.  

6.46 In relation to development work (e.g. buildings) the 2012 Seafront Masterplan HRA recommends that 
buildings should not ‘reduce the effectiveness of the Common as a feeding site as a result of, for example, 
the design of buildings, overshadowing or light pollution. Developers should discuss this matter at an early 
stage with the city council’s ecologist and Natural England’. This mitigation measure is upheld and should 
be considered, especially in relation to the plan for a hotel at the Pyramids site. It is further recommended 
to limit the height of buildings delivered in this opportunity area to minimise any potential impact 
on goose flightlines.  

6.47 On page 64, the Seafront Masterplan contains the following wording regarding building specifications at the 
Pyramids site: ‘Overall building height, mass, volume, scale, and layout should be guided by how these 
design elements would have an impact on the setting of Southsea Castle and the conservation area, as 
well as the wider townscape and landscape.’ It is recommended that this section should make specific 
reference to building designs that aim at reducing bird strikes (similar to Clarence Pier). 

Visual and noise disturbance from construction 
6.48 Most development proposals in the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan detail the provision of buildings that 

are likely to involve a construction process. Construction will inevitably be accompanied by noise and / or 
visual disturbance. Overall, the potential impact of building construction on birds is likely to depend on: (a) 
the scale of the construction works, (b) the distance to areas where the birds reside and (c) the relative 
susceptibility of different bird species. 

6.49 The building proposals contained within the Masterplan that are most likely to result in noise and visual 
disturbance of SPA / Ramsar bird species are: 

• Redevelopment of Clarence Pier to provide for a hotel, restaurants and other uses 

• Redevelopment of the Blue Reef Aquarium to provide a building with a larger 
footprint 

• Provision of a hotel / spa at the Pyramids site 

• Redevelopment of Eastney Swimming Pool and Southsea Leisure Park 

• Provision of holiday-let accommodation at Southsea Marina 

6.50 There is now abundant research in the literature highlighting the impacts of construction processes on 
ecological interest features. A study conducted by the British Trust for Ornithology highlighted that different 
types of construction work, and up to several hundred metres away, reduced the densities of five waterfowl 
species, including Eurasian teal, Eurasian oystercatcher, dunlin, Eurasian curlew and common redshank74. 
A more recent study found that construction works of wind farms had greater impacts on bird populations 
than subsequent operation75. Therefore, any construction work carried out as part of the Seafront 
Masterplan has the potential for resulting in bird disturbance. 

 
74Burton N.H.K., Rehfisch M.M & Clark N.A. (2002). Impacts of disturbance from construction work on the densities and feeding 
behaviour of waterbirds using the intertidal mudflats of Cardiff Bay, UK. Environmental Management 30: 865-871. 
75 Pearce-Higgins J.W., Stephen L., Douse A. & Langston R.H.W. (2012). Greater impacts of wind farms on bird populations 
during construction than subsequent operation: Results of a multi-site and multi-species analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology 
2012: 386-394.  

Page 385



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
47 

 

6.51 Recent research on noise and visual disturbance from construction activities, has indicated that noise 
disturbance from construction should be limited to below 70 dB as waterfowl are able to habituate to such 
noise levels76. Furthermore, the noise from the most disturbing construction works, such as impact piling, 
recedes to below disturbing levels approx. 100m from the source. However, despite this general noise 
threshold, specific regard should be given to the sensitivity of individual species. For example, redshank 
and brent geese, both qualifying species of SPA / Ramsar sites in the area of the Seafront Masterplan, are 
highly sensitive to noise disturbance and caution is advised for noise levels above 55 dB.  

6.52 The effects of visual disturbance differ between species and also vary with the activity undertaken by the 
bird. For example, redshank first react to visual disturbance at 250m distance to the stimuli, while brent 
geese react to such stimuli only at approx. 105m distance when feeding. However, when roosting the 
tolerance of brent geese decreases and they react to stimuli up to 205m in distance. Overall, the evidence 
base highlights that the qualifying species of both the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar, and the 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar are vulnerable to the effects of visual and noise 
disturbance. 

All Development involving Construction 
6.53 A possible measure identified in the previous HRA to mitigate the effects of noise and visual disturbance of 

construction work was to provide screening. This would shield the birds’ sightlines from construction activity 
and would buffer some of the noise emitted from construction. However, it was also noted that some 
potential residual negative impact of noise and / or visual disturbance would remain.  

6.54 The 2012 screening statement of the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan makes the following recommendation 
regarding the provision of beach huts at Eastney Beach: ‘to the important winter roost site for wading birds 
and therefore construction of the huts will need to take place outside of the November – February period’. 
By avoiding this sensitive period for the waders, the HRA provided an adequate mitigation measure 
specifically regarding the provision of beach huts at Eastney Beach. 

6.55 It is recommended that this mitigation measure is extended to all of the proposals detailed in section 
6.44. Due to the seasonal residency patterns of most qualifying species in the relevant European sites, 
avoiding any major construction work in the November – February period implies that there will be no 
adverse effects on qualifying bird species. 

6.56 Furthermore, it is advised that construction work should not be permitted within 100m from known 
roost sites or feeding areas of SPA / Ramsar birds to avoid negative impacts of visual and noise 
disturbance. For designated sites or functionally linked land parcels (e.g. P78) that contain 
particularly sensitive species such as redshank, no construction works should be permitted within 
200m. If construction work within such precautionary zones cannot be avoided, it is recommended 
that screening is provided to reduce visual and noise disturbance. 

Atmospheric Pollution 
6.57 The Seafront Masterplan outlines development that is likely to increase the overall recreational use and the 

level of employment in the seafront area. In turn, this is likely to lead to more car journeys being undertaken 
in the vicinity of European sites. However, the impact pathway atmospheric pollution is not usually 
considered at this level of a plan. Instead, atmospheric pollution is generally considered at a higher tier in-
combination with plans of surrounding authorities. By definition this then includes any development at a 
lower tier of plan, such as this Seafront Masterplan and individual projects. 

6.58 The 2011 Portsmouth Core Strategy HRA undertook air quality modelling that considered housing, 
employment and retail allocations in the authorities of Portsmouth, Fareham, Gosport and Havant. The 
modelling also accounted for development in the North of Fareham Strategic Development Area (SDA), the 
Whitely major development, the West of Waterlooville major development area and the North Hedge End 
SDA. 

6.59 The HRA concluded that the Core Strategy policies would not have adverse effects on the integrity of the 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, the Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar, the 
Solent Maritime SAC, and the Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC. However, it determined that measures 
were necessary to avoid / mitigate adverse effects on the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar. The HRA 

 
76 http://bailey.persona-pi.com/Public-Inquiries/M4%20-%20Revised/11.3.67.pdf [Accessed 10/07/2019] 

Page 386

http://bailey.persona-pi.com/Public-Inquiries/M4%20-%20Revised/11.3.67.pdf


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
48 

 

concluded that, subject to the successful incorporation of these measures into the Core Strategy, there 
would be no adverse effects on the Portsmouth SPA / Ramsar. 

6.60 In the Seafront Masterplan this mitigation is reflected. For example, the measure ‘Improving walking and 
cycling opportunities’ is incorporated into the development proposal in the Avenue de Caen to Southsea 
Castle area. The proposal aims at creating an attractive environment for pedestrians to build a stronger link 
between Southsea town centre and the seafront. Furthermore, there are also plans for promoting a modal 
shift in transport in the Canoe Lake & Eastney Beach area. The proposal here intends to narrow the 
carriageways and to provide for a dual-direction cycling route.  

6.61 The air quality modelling work undertaken for the adopted Core Strategy is being revised for the emerging 
Portsmouth Local Plan and its HRA, as this is an issue associated with growth across Portsmouth and the 
Solent rather than specifically with redevelopment of Southsea seafront. That work is at an early stage of 
development. However, Havant Council have commissioned air quality and ecology analytical work (alone 
and in combination with growth in Portsmouth and further afield). That work confirms that most features for 
which Solent Maritime SAC is designated have low susceptibility to atmospheric nitrogen deposition. The 
most widespread interest feature that has some air quality vulnerability is saltmarsh.  

6.62 For saltmarsh, the UK Air Pollution Information System provides a Critical Load range of 20-30 kg/N/ha/yr 
and nitrogen inputs have been experimentally demonstrated to have an effect on overall species 
composition of saltmarsh. However, the Critical Loads on APIS are relatively generic for each habitat type 
and cover a wide deposition rate range. They do not (and are not intended to) take into consideration other 
influences to which the habitat on a specific given site may be exposed. Moreover, it is important to note 
that the experimental studies which underlie conclusions regarding the sensitivity of saltmarsh to nitrogen 
deposition have ‘… neither used very realistic N doses nor input methods i.e. they have relied on a single 
large application more representative of agricultural discharge’77, which is far in excess of anything that 
would be deposited from atmosphere. This is why APIS indicates that determining which part of the critical 
load range to use for saltmarsh requires expert judgment; there is good reason to believe the upper part of 
the critical load range (30 kgN/ha/yr) may be more appropriate than the lower part (20 kgN/ha/yr). 

6.63 Moreover, AECOM has had cause to consider atmospheric nitrogen inputs to intertidal/estuarine habitats 
on the south coast of England in discussion with Natural England officers in that area and together we have 
concluded that for these particular sites, nitrogen inputs from air are not as important as nitrogen effects 
from other sources because the effect of any deposition of nitrogen from atmosphere is likely to be 
dominated by much greater inputs from marine or agricultural sources. This is reflected on APIS itself, which 
states regarding saltmarsh that ‘Overall, N deposition [from atmosphere] is likely to be of low importance for 
these systems as the inputs are probably significantly below the large nutrient loadings from river and tidal 
inputs’78. Moreover, the nature of intertidal saltmarsh in the Solent estuaries means that there is flushing 
from tidal incursion on a daily basis. This is likely to further reduce the role of nitrogen from atmosphere in 
controlling botanical composition. 

6.64 The work undertaken by Havant Council identifies that the most nitrogen-sensitive habitat for which the 
Solent Maritime SAC is designated are small patches of ‘perennial vegetation of stony banks’ in the northern 
parts of Langstone Harbour. Due to their location, roads within 200m of these areas are unlikely to be key 
journey to work routes for Portsmouth residents and are likely to be little affected by traffic growth in 
Portsmouth City and particularly the Seafront.  

Water Quality 
6.65 The Seafront Masterplan provides for new residential and employment development (including several 

hotels, residential use and leisure facilities). The residential uses are likely to account for the bulk of 
additional wastewater production, but employment allocations are also likely to contribute to the increased 
sewage effluent produced. This has the potential to lead to adverse effects on the integrity of European 
Sites that depend on water quality. 

6.66 Like atmospheric pollution, water quality is an impact pathway that needs to be considered at an overarching 
Plan level. As such the HRA process is often informed by water cycle studies that are undertaken at a broad 
strategic level. A water cycle study typically places the water quality status of aquatic systems into the 
context of broad-scale development and existing waste water processing capacity. The results are then 

 
77 UK Air Pollution Information System website [accessed 21/04/15]: http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/968  
78 APIS website [accessed 21/04/15]: http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/968  

Page 387

http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/968
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/968


HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
49 

 

used to help determine whether the development will result in adverse effects on the integrity of European 
Sites.  

6.67 The 2011 Portsmouth Core Strategy HRA concluded that there would be no adverse effects from waste 
water as a result of the Portsmouth Core Strategy. Relying on research carried out at the sub-regional level 
on behalf of PUSH (Atkins, 2009), it concluded that it was ‘very unlikely that major new wastewater treatment 
infrastructure will be required during the next 20 years other than that already required to achieve the 
consents set by the Environment Agency under the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive’. Therefore, the 
Seafront Masterplan, effectively specifying a small portion of the development set out in the Portsmouth 
Local Plan, will not result in adverse effects on any European Site.  

6.68 Since that time, the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH), Natural England (NE) and 
Environment Agency (EA) have devised an Integrated Water Management Study79 (IWMS) with the aim of 
assessing the region’s potential to accommodate future housing growth without detrimental effects on water 
quality and resources. 

6.69 The IWMS identifies existing mechanisms to reduce nitrogen input into rivers and coastal waterbodies. 
Defra’s Catchment Sensitive Farming programme seeks to reduce diffuse agricultural pollution from fertiliser 
and slurry run-off, and both Portsmouth Water and Southern Water are undertaking upgrades to their 
wastewater treatment works to reduce nitrogen inputs from human sewage. The IWMS highlights the need 
for physical upgrades to seven Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTWs) and six sewer networks to 
accommodate current and future increases in sewage volume. However, it is understood that a net nutrient 
offsetting strategy is being explored and the status of that strategy will need to be taken into account when 
granting consent for any net new development in the Seafront area or Portsmouth more widely. 

 

  

 
79PUSH. (2018) Integrated Water Management Study. Final Amended Report 07/03/2018. Amec Foster Wheeler Environment 
and Infrastructure UK Limited. 

Page 388



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
50 

 

7. Conclusions and Recommendations 
7.1 In summary, the HRA of the updated Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan assesses new and revised 

development proposals that have emerged since the adoption of the previous Masterplan in 2013. The 
following impact pathways were considered to be relevant in this assessment: 

• Recreational pressure (on the SPAs / Ramsars and functionally linked land) 

• Impact of tall buildings on bird flightlines and sightlines 

• Visual and noise disturbance (during and post construction) 

• Atmospheric pollution 

• Water quality 

7.2 Several development proposals were found to potentially result in adverse effects on European Sites, 
particularly the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / 
Ramsar, and therefore require mitigation. 

7.3 The proposed conversion of the RNLI site to a café is likely to lead to increased recreational footfall 
immediately adjacent to the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar. It is advised that delivery 
of the café is coupled to the mandatory delivery of an ecological information centre, to help mitigate 
the impacts of recreational pressure. Furthermore, the proposal for the café would need to be 
accompanied by its own project-level HRA to ensure that there are no adverse effects on the integrity 
of European Sites. A similar project-level HRA should be required for any development adjacent to 
European Sites, which might increase recreational footfall in the designated site. 

7.4 Regarding the impact pathway recreational pressure, the provision of holiday-let accommodation at 
Southsea Marina is likely to significantly increase recreational pressure in the Chichester and Langston 
Harbours SPA / Ramsar. It is therefore recommended to impose seasonal restrictions on the rental of 
such accommodation to avoid adverse effects on waterfowl. Rental should therefore not be 
permitted between October and March to avoid recreational disturbance of overwintering waterfowl. 

7.5 Several development proposals, namely the hotel / spa at the Pyramids site, the hotel at the vacant Royal 
Marines Museum and residential-led redevelopment of Southsea Leisure Park would result in the net growth 
of the residential populations within 5.6km of the coastal SPAs / Ramsars and as such could lead to adverse 
effects on site integrity through the impact pathway recreational pressure. In accordance with the Bird Aware 
Solent strategy, it is therefore recommended that all development (including hotels) resulting in the 
growth of the residential population within 5.6km of the Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar and the 
Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar, is to provide a financial contribution to the Bird 
Aware Solent project at the rate of between £346 and £902 (dependent on the number of bedrooms 
to be delivered) per net additional dwelling, and charges for hotel development calculated on a case-
by-case basis. Furthermore, the recommendations from a previous HRA regarding recreational 
pressure on Eastney Beach, specifically Code of Conduct rules, dog-on-lead policies and ecological 
information boards, should continue to be implemented.  

7.6 While more detail on the construction details of individual buildings are needed, this HRA discussed the 
ecological impacts of potentially tall buildings to be delivered as part of the Seafront Masterplan. It is 
concluded that the provision of such buildings in most opportunity areas would not result in adverse effects 
on site integrity. However, the hotel / spa proposed at the Pyramids site might result in adverse effects on 
the ability of brent geese to use the secondary support areas (P34 and P115). In addition to consulting a 
Natural England ecologist in the early stages of development, it is recommended to limit the height 
of this building to minimise its impact on the behaviour of brent geese. 

7.7 All construction work is inevitably accompanied by the presence of workers, machinery and the noise 
emitted by such works, and for several proposals works would be undertaken close to European Sites and 
/ or functionally linked land. It is generally recommended that any construction work is carried out 
outside the core season for overwintering waterfowl, avoiding the November-February period. 
Where this is not possible, it is recommended that major construction work is not to be carried out 
within 100m of known roost sides or feeding areas of SPA / Ramsar birds. If particularly sensitive 
species are present (e.g. redshank) it is recommended that a precautionary distance of 200m is 

Page 389



HRA of the Seafront Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 
  

  
  

Project number: 60586784 
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
51 

 

used. Construction works that need to be carried out within these distances should ensure that 
appropriate screening is in place to minimise visual and / or noise disturbance. 

7.8 It was further determined that the Portsmouth Seafront Masterplan document would not result in adverse 
effects on European sites regarding the impact pathways atmospheric pollution and water quality. These 
impact pathways were investigated at the level of the Portsmouth Local Plan and it was determined that 
they would not result in adverse effects on any European Site. Mitigation and / or avoidance measures are 
therefore not required in relation to these impact pathways. 

 
 
 
 

Page 390



 

 

Addendum to Seafront Masterplan SPD Habitats Regulation Assessment 

 

1. This factual note is produced as an addendum to the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) produced by 

AECOM on behalf of Portsmouth City Council (PCC) in July 2019 conducted on the revised Seafront 

Masterplan SPD.  The HRA was conducted on a draft of the Seafront Masterplan produced in June 2019. 

 

2. This addendum presents the changes in circumstances since June 2019 in terms of the SPD, environmental 

context, and the context of the Southsea Coastal Scheme sea defences. 

 

Seafront Masterplan SPD context 

 

3. The Seafront Masterplan SPD (SM SPD) has been further refined from the draft produced in June 2019, 

though changes have been limited to text and graphical amendments.  In general, the document has 

retained its overall meaning and structure, especially in relation to identified development opportunity 

sites.  Therefore, since the HRA already considered all the identified development opportunity sites in its 

assessment, the findings of the HRA (in terms of screening and scoping exercise on likely significant effects, 

and carrying those forward into an Appropriate Assessment) remain valid.   

 

4. In addition, the latest version of the SM SPD has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA), which 

includes screening and scoping on the likely significant effects (LSEs) on 'biodiversity and nature 

conservation' as a result of the SM SPD's guidance and proposals.  The SA further conducts an Appropriate 

Assessment on the residual LSEs and puts forward various mitigation options. 

 

5. The latest SM SPD, SA, and HRA are subject to a round of public consultation (in accordance to Regulation 

14 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012) before the SM SPD can be adopted 

by the Council.  All of these documents will be subject to further amendments as necessary before 

adoption. 

 

Environmental context 

 

Solent and Dorset Coast SPA 

 

6. In January 2020, the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA was formally designated, and is an area which stretches 

from Worbarrow Bay, Dorset to Middleton-on-Sea, West Sussex1.  The Solent and Dorset Coast SPA has 

been designated for internationally important populations of common tern, Sandwich tern, and little tern.  

This area is particularly important to these birds as much of the sea around their breeding colonies is the 

ideal habitat for plunge diving for food. 

 

7. These relevant bird species also are qualifying features for the Solent and Southampton Water SPA 

/Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA/Ramsar.  The HRA includes consideration of 

these designated areas and considers the draft SM SPD proposals against these qualifying species, including 

through Appropriate Assessment.  It is therefore logical to presume that the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA 

would result in a similar assessment and recommendations made in the HRA in respect to the Solent and 

Southampton Water SPA /Ramsar and the Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPD/ Ramsar.  The SA also 

considers the designated Solent and Dorset Coast SPA in its assessment on 'biodiversity and nature 

conservation'. 

 

                                                            
1https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560627/
solent-dorset-boundary-map.pdf 

Page 391

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560627/solent-dorset-boundary-map.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560627/solent-dorset-boundary-map.pdf


 

 

8. Given this, it is therefore considered that the assessment of LSEs upon the Solent and Dorset Coast SPA has 

been sufficiently addressed. 

 

Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy 

 

9. High levels of nitrogen draining from the Solent catchment area have caused excessive growth of green 

algae (a process called eutrophication), which is having a recognised, detrimental impact upon the region's 

internationally protected habitats. 

 

10. Following changes in European Case law, Natural England (the government's advisor for the natural 

environment) has advised Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) that all new development involving, or 

generating additional, overnight stays should be 'nutrient neutral', as one means of ensuring that 

development does not add to the existing nutrient burdens. 

 

11. Impacts from additional wastewater generated by new development on water quality must be 

appropriately addressed in order for the Appropriate Assessments of proposals to conclude that there are 

no adverse effects on habitat sites. 

 

12. Mitigation measures to become 'nutrient neutral' are therefore required for additional dwellings (including 

the intensification of dwellings), tourism related development and any other development likely to 

generate an overnight stay, due to the additional wastewater generated. 

 

13. Whilst there is currently uncertainty as to the extent in which new growth can deteriorate designated sites, 

in the interim Solent LPAs are working with Natural England, Environment Agency, and water companies to 

strategically assess and analyse the issue and to work towards a long-term solution.  

 

14. Portsmouth City Council approved an Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy for New Dwellings for 

the 2019-2023/24 period (adopted 29 November 2019), which provides a robust framework through which 

planning applications can achieve 'nutrient neutrality' by addressing what types of development require 

mitigation, mitigation options, and developer contributions. All applications and the associated 'nitrate 

neutrality' mitigation proposals are determined on a case-by-case basis in consultation with Natural 

England and other key consultees. 

 

Southsea Coastal Scheme 

 

15. Planning permission was granted for the Southsea Coastal Scheme flood defences on 05 December 2019 

(planning reference: 19/01097/FUL). 

 

16. An Environment Statement incorporating a project-level HRA was submitted as part of the planning 

application, which included the summary of potential impacts, impact significance, mitigation measures, 

and residual impacts during construction and operational phases of the development.  The Environment 

Statement was approved by the LPA through a Statement of Decision on 20 December 2019. 

Page 392



Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)

The integrated impact assessment is a quick and easy screening process. It should: 

identify those policies, projects, services, functions or strategies that could impact positively or 
negatively on the following areas:

Communities and safety

Integrated impact assessment (IIA) form December 2019 
 

Equality & - Diversity - This can be found in Section A5

Environment and public  space

Regeneration and culture

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Directorate: Regeneration

Service, function: Planning and Economic Growth

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy (new or old) : 

Seafront Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: 

Existing

New / proposed

Changed★
What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy? 

The Seafront Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SM SPD) was adopted in April 2013. It 
supplements local plan policy PCS9 (the seafront). Both local plan policy PCS9 and the Seafront 
Masterplan provide guidance on how development in the seafront area should be undertaken, in order 
to achieve a vision through a range of objectives. 

Page 393



The vision of the Seafront Masterplan SPD is: 'The seafront's natural and historic assets will be 
protected conserved, and enhanced.  The seafront will be a beautiful, functional, sustainable, and 
resilient place that is healthy, safe, enjoyable, and accessible to all'

Has any consultation been undertaken for this proposal? What were the outcomes of the consultations? Has 
anything changed because of the consultation? Did this inform your proposal?

Two public consultations have taken place previously in Jul/Aug 2018 and Feb/Mar2019. The first consultation sought to identify 
issues relating to the seafront, and the second consultation sought feedback on a range of 'challenges and opportunities' for the 
seafront. Analysis of this second round of public consultation was made and has informed the development of a draft SM SPD. A 
third consultation is planned for Summer 2020 on the draft SM SPD, where outcomes of the consultation will be taken into 
consideration before the document is adopted

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A1-Crime - Will it make our city safer? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it reduce crime, disorder, ASB and the fear of crime? 
 • How will it prevent the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances?  
 • How will it protect and support young people at risk of harm?  
 • How will it discourage re-offending? 

If you want more information contact Lisa.Wills@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-spp-plan-2018-20.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?
N/A

How will you measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A2-Housing - Will it provide good quality homes? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it increase good quality affordable housing, including social housing? 
 • How will it reduce the number of poor quality homes and accommodation? 
 • How will it produce well-insulated and sustainable buildings? 
 • How will it provide a mix of housing for different groups and needs? 

Page 394



If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/psh-providing-affordable-housing-in-portsmouth-april-19.
pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The SM SPD identifies and signposts development opportunity areas, some of which may have residential 
development opportunity.  Any development proposal for such sites, or any other site, would be subject to the 
usual Development Management process, where it would be assessed against the development plan (local plan 
and SPDs) unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.  It sets out what progress has been made in putting together a policy framework 
for decisions on planning applications and reviews what effect policies are having on the delivery of priorities for 
the city.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A3-Health - Will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it improve physical and mental health? 
 • How will it improve quality of life? 
 • How will it encourage healthy lifestyle choices? 
 • How will it create healthy places? (Including workplaces) 

If you want more information contact Dominique.Letouze@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cons-114.86-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-proof-2.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 
 

The SM SPD seeks to ensure opportunities are maximised to improve people's health, wellbeing, and safety, and to promote a 
seafront environment which encourage active lifestyles.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.  It sets out what progress has been made in putting together a policy framework 
for decisions on planning applications and reviews what effect policies are having on the delivery of priorities for 
the city.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A4-Income deprivation and poverty-Will it consider income 
deprivation and reduce poverty? ★Page 395



In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it support those vulnerable to falling into poverty; e.g., single working age adults and lone parent 

households?  
 • How will it consider low-income communities, households and individuals?  
 • How will it support those unable to work?  
 • How will it support those with no educational qualifications? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Sage@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/health-and-care/health/joint-strategic-needs-assessment 
 
 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

N/A

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A5-Equality & diversity - Will it have any positive/negative impacts on 
the protected characteristics? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it impact on the protected characteristics-Positive or negative impact (Protected characteristics 

under the Equality Act 2010, Age, disability, race/ethnicity, Sexual orientation, gender reassignment, sex, 
religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership,socio-economic)  

 • What mitigation has been put in place to lessen any impacts or barriers removed? 
 • How will it help promote equality for a specific protected characteristic?  

If you want more information contact gina.perryman@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-equality-strategy-2019-22-final.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 
 
The SM SPD promotes initiatives and guidance to promote equality for mobility-impaired users of the seafront.  It is not envisaged 
that any other protected characteristics will be negatively impacted as a result of the SPD.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.

Page 396



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B1-Carbon emissions - Will it reduce carbon emissions? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it reduce greenhouse gas emissions? 
 • How will it provide renewable sources of energy? 
 • How will it reduce the need for motorised vehicle travel? 
 • How will it encourage and support residents to reduce carbon emissions?  
 
If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-sustainability-strategy.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 
 
The SM SPD signposts towards the mitigation of carbon/greenhouse emissions through encouraging active and sustainable modes 
of travel, reducing road space to cater for walking/cycling, promoting use of renewable energy solutions, and encouraging high-
quality sustainable design of development

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning policies are contributing 
towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while safeguarding the environment.  Other reporting 
from within the council, e.g. Transport and Highways, will also be utilised in monitoring the effects.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B2-Energy use - Will it reduce energy use? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it reduce water consumption? 
 • How will it reduce electricity consumption? 
 • How will it reduce gas consumption? 
 • How will it reduce the production of waste? 

If you want more information contact Triston.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to:  
  
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s24685/Home%20Energy%20Appendix%201%20-%20Energy%
20and%20water%20at%20home%20-%20Strategy%202019-25.pdf 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

N/A

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A

Page 397



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B3 - Climate change mitigation and flooding-Will it proactively 
mitigate against a changing climate and flooding? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it minimise flood risk from both coastal and surface flooding in the future? 
 • How will it protect properties and buildings from flooding? 
 • How will it make local people aware of the risk from flooding?  
 • How will it mitigate for future changes in temperature and extreme weather events?  

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-surface-water-management-plan-2019.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-flood-risk-management-plan.pdf 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The SM SPD signposts towards the mitigation of climate change through promoting the sea defences scheme, encouraging active 
and sustainable modes of travel, reducing road space to cater for walking/cycling, promoting use of renewable energy solutions, and 
encouraging high-quality sustainable design of development

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.  Other reporting from within the council, e.g. Transport and Highways, will also be 
utilised in monitoring the effects.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B4-Natural environment-Will it ensure public spaces are greener, more 
sustainable and well-maintained? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it encourage biodiversity and protect habitats?  
 • How will it preserve natural sites?  
 • How will it conserve and enhance natural species? 

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy-dec-17.pdf 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The SM SPD includes objectives and guidance to protect, conserve, and enhance protected habitats and natural environments

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.

Page 398



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B5-Air quality - Will it improve air quality? 
 ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it reduce motor vehicle traffic congestion? 
 • How will it reduce emissions of key pollutants? 
 • How will it discourage the idling of motor vehicles? 
 • How will it reduce reliance on private car use? 

If you want more information contact Hayley.Trower@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-aq-air-quality-plan-outline-business-case.pdf 
   
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The SM SPD signposts towards the mitigation of air quality through encouraging active and sustainable modes of travel, and 
reducing road space to cater for walking/cycling

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.  Other reporting from within the council, e.g. Transport and Highways, will also be 
utilised in monitoring the effects.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B6-Transport - Will it improve road safety and transport for the 
whole community? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users over users of private vehicles? 
 • How will it allocate street space to ensure children and older people can walk and cycle safely in the area? 
 • How will it increase the proportion of journeys made using sustainable and active transport? 
 • How will it reduce the risk of traffic collisions, and near misses, with pedestrians and cyclists?   
 
If you want more information contact Pam.Turton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/travel/local-transport-plan-3 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

The SM SPD includes objectives and guidance to encourage active and sustainable modes of travel, and design road spaces to 
prioritise and cater for walking/cycling

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning policies are contributing 
towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while safeguarding the environment.  Other reporting 

Page 399



from within the council, e.g. Transport and Highways, will also be utilised in monitoring the effects.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B7-Waste management - Will it increase recycling and reduce 
the production of waste? ★
In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it reduce household waste and consumption? 
 • How will it increase recycling? 
 • How will it reduce industrial and construction waste? 
    
If you want more information contact Steven.Russell@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 
  
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?
N/A

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A

Page 400



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C1-Culture and heritage - Will it promote, protect and 
enhance our culture and heritage? ★

In thinking about this question: 
  
 • How will it protect areas of cultural value? 
 • How will it protect listed buildings? 
 • How will it encourage events and attractions? 
 • How will it make Portsmouth a city people want to live in?  

If you want more information contact Claire.Looney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 
 

The SM SPD includes objectives and guidance to protect, conserve, and enhance protected the seafront's heritage assets, as well as 
to take a 'heritage-centric' approach to the design of development.  The SM SPD also promotes the seafront as a place of cultural and 
leisure value.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning 
policies are contributing towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while 
safeguarding the environment.

C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C2-Employment and opportunities - Will it promote the 
development of a skilled workforce? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it improve qualifications and skills for local people? 
 • How will it reduce unemployment? 
 • How will it create high quality jobs? 
 • How will it improve earnings? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

N/A

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
N/A Page 401



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

 Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C3 - Economy - Will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, 
support sustainable growth and regeneration? ★
In thinking about this question: 
 
 • How will it encourage the development of key industries? 
 • How will it improve the local economy? 
 • How will it create valuable employment opportunities for local people?  
 • How will it promote employment and growth in the city?  

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 
 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 
 
Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 
impacts?

The SM SPD includes guidance to ensure the seafront continues to be a major contributor to the local economy through leisure and 
tourism, which could be further enhanced by the development opportunities identified in the SM SPD.  The SM SPD also promotes 
the seafront as a place of cultural and leisure value.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
This will be measured through the Local Planning Authority Monitoring Report, which shows how planning policies are contributing 
towards regenerating the city and bringing forward sustainable development, while safeguarding the environment.  Other reporting 
from within the council, e.g. Culture and Leisure, Economic Development, will also be utilised in monitoring the effects.

Q8 - Who was involved in the Integrated impact assessment?
This IIA has been produced by the Planning Enabling Team in consultation with colleagues within 
Planning Policy

This IIA has been approved by:

Contact number:

Date:

Page 402



Collaborative Enhancements Plan

Southsea Public Realm

August 2020

 

P
age 403



 

P
age 404



Contents

Version:  2

Version date: August 2020

Comment  Final

This document has been prepared and checked                                                       
in accordance with ISO 9001:2015

1.0 Introduction 4

2.0  Initial Observations 6

3.0 Public Realm Vision 10

3.1 Distinctive Identities 12

4.0 Seafront Projects  14

4.1 Seafront Projects Overview 16

5.0  Featured Projects 20

5.1  Serpentine Square 21

5.2  Speakers’ Corner 26

5.3  South Parade Beach 30

5.4  Canoe Lake Seafront 34

5.5 Southsea Common Destination Play 36

6.0  Small Projects 38

6.1  Seafront Shelters 39

6.2  Seasonal Kiosks 40

6.3  Eastney Beach Cafe 41

6.4	 Southsea	Wildflowers	 42

6.5 Clarence and South Parade Gardens 43

6.6 Southsea Common Splashpark and   

Sports Complex 44

6.7 Avenue De Caen 45

7.0  Quick Win Projects 46

7.1 Play and Exercise Hubs 47

7.2 Running, Cycling and Scooting Routes 47

7.3 Bike and Electric Scooter Rental Hubs 48

7.4 Pedestrian Priority Environment 48

7.5 Seafront Arrival Spaces 49

7.6 Beach Huts 49

7.7 Relocated Lifeguard Hut 50

7.8 Barbecue Areas 50

7.9 Vehicular Security Gate 51

7.10 Informal Paths Across Southsea Common 51

8.0  Next Steps 52

P
age 405



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

4

 

1.0
Introduction

“If you looked out over the parapet, you saw before you the whole of the most magnificent harbour in the world; 
and if you looked through the embrasure of the wall, you had a splendid framed picture—water for foreground, 

old ruined castle in middle distance, blue hill beyond, and above blue sky.”

Walter Besant - Pompey-born writer who rose to national standing as a historian and novelist in the mid-to-late 1800s. Extract from his Portsmouth-based novel, ‘By Celia’s Arbour’

P
age 406



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

5

Southsea Castle

 

Portsmouth is arguably one of England’s greatest waterfront 
cities. The seafront at Southsea is special. It boasts numerous 
monuments and coastal artillery, an elegant esplanade with 
its historic shelters and lamp standards, rare and valuable 
habitat at Eastney Beach and panoramic views, not just out 
to sea and the Isle of Wight, but back across The Common 
and along the seafront to the Spinnaker Tower.

Coastal cities and waterfronts face different challenges 
to their urban counterparts inland. Sea level rise and 
more frequent storm events are the most obvious ones, but 
seafronts like Southsea have also suffered over the years 
from a decline in marine and defence based industries 
and traditional tourism, which often leave an economic 
and social legacy that results in a lack of investment. 
This, coupled with a built environment that has typically 
developed in a piecemeal way, is dominated by private 
cars and degraded due to weathering the storms of 
an extreme coastal climate, make the need for positive 
transformation at Southsea even greater.

It is an exciting time for Southsea. The Eastern Solent 
Coastal Partnership and Portsmouth Council are embarking 
on	an	ambitious	£120m	flood	defence	scheme	for	the	
seafront. The Southsea Coastal Scheme stretches for 4.5km 
from Old Portsmouth to Eastney, it will help to reduce the 
risk to over 10,000 homes and 700 businesses from major 
flood	events.	

This in turn has created a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity 
to identify and realise enhancements to the existing built 
environment and public realm – allowing a complete 
overhaul of an ageing promenade and the use, identity and 
quality of adjacent buildings and public spaces. The design 
approach aims to integrate the technical requirements of 
flood	defence	with	placemaking.	The	seafront	needs	to	
work harder as a destination – to attract large numbers 
of people throughout the year, not just on hot summer 

weekends.	The	aim	must	be	to	ensure	that	Southsea	fulfils	
its potential and its promise and underpins Portsmouth’s 
position as England’s greatest Waterfront city and that it 
can	deliver	the	economic,	environmental	and	social	benefits	
for the City and its population.

It is in this context that this Collaborative Enhancement Plan 
for Southsea has been produced. For clarity ‘public realm’ 
is	defined	as	the	‘space	between	the	buildings’	–	public	
spaces, pedestrian/cycle routes and streets that shape both 
our use and perception of Southsea. Public realm should 
accommodate the full range of human activity, providing 
places for movement, socialising, children’s play, exercise, 
shopping, eating, entertainment; places to work and places 
to relax. Successful public realm comprises streets, spaces 
and connections that have a clear role and identity, so they 
can be used comfortably and safely, with well-considered 
arrangements for paving, lighting, art, signage, planting 
and furniture, celebrating the identity of the place.

This documents demonstrates through a series of projects 
and ideas, how the ambition of the Seafront Masterplan 
SPD could be realised. It is acknowledged that each 
proposal will need to be subject to viability and delivery 
considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability, legal matters, they aim to demonstrate the ‘art 
of the possible’ and one scenario for how the SPD could be 
delivered in the future.

Ultimately, the new waterfront at Southsea will need to be 
truly remarkable and compete on a world stage. It must 
respond	to	the	specific	needs	of	the	city,	such	as	sustainable	
neighbourhoods, healthy living, social equality, green 
infrastructure and economic regeneration. 

Introduction

P
age 407



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

6

 

2.0
Initial Observations

“Sometimes a problem isn’t really a problem, but the solution in disguise.”

Richelle E Goodrich

P
age 408



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

7

 

Initial Observations

Lack of visual links to the seafront.

Poor linkages & legibility to the seafront and key 
destinations.	No	defined	thresholds/gateways.

Stunning panoramic views.

Views across the Solent to Isle of Wight and Gosport. Car parking located in prime waterfront positions.

Parking dominates (often in prime waterfront locations)Elegant listed lighting columns

P
age 409



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

8

 

Play provision is typically aimed at younger children and of a similar 
provision.

Play provision is unimaginative and connectivity with the 
seafront is poor.

Only one type of seating option - doesn’t allow for group socialising.

Lack of opportunities for socialising Popular piers at either end of the seafront, creating 
destinations and opportunities for family fun.

Lots of mown grass - very poor biodiversity
(and can feel exposed) 

Southsea Common - a vital open space but low biodiversity.

P
age 410



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

9

 

A wide range of historic buildings as you move along the 
seafront.  Memorials linking with naval past.

Historic structures and memorials. Over-sized roads and junctions create barriers. 

Roads are duplicated creating unused central islands. Landmarks along the seafront.

Beautiful listed sheltersOnly 1 type of artwork along a 5km stretch of seafront.

P
age 411



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

10

 

3.0
Public Realm Vision

“The seafront’s natural and historic assets will be protected, 
conserved, and enhanced. The seafront will be a beautiful, 

functional, sustainable and resilient place that is healthy, safe, 
enjoyable, and accessible to all.”

Seafront Masterplan SPD (Draft 2020)

P
age 412



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

11

 

Public Realm Vision

01 A World Class Waterfront Park

The Estuary 
Parklands

The 
Historic
Waterfront

A World-Class 
City Waterfront Park

05 A Healthy & Playable Seafront

victoriana 
UNIFIER 

kitsch 

memory 
shoreline 

& sea 

nostalgia 

02 Celebrating Identity & Creating A Unifying 
Public Realm 

03 A Network Of Beautiful Waterfront Spaces

06 An Active & Sociable Seafront04 Breaking Down The Divide

blurring the boundaries - la
nd + sea 

ne
w 

lin
ks

 

removing barriers

P
age 413



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

12

 

 Distinctive Identities

Colour

Southsea, like most UK seafronts has evolved over a number 
of centuries and architectural styles.  The seafront is something 
that is frequently altered and reused, a palimpsest that bears 
the traces of past uses and users. This is what makes Southsea 
what it is today.  An eclectic mix of Victoriana, Maritime, 80’s 
Kitsch, 60’s Nostalgia and the natural shoreline and sea.

A	one-size-fits-all	approach	would	never	work	along	the	
seafront.  New designs need to celebrate the existing 
identities to ensure they sit harmoniously next to old; the new 
21st century layer should add to what has come before but 
not completely replace it.

Memory

Ornamentation Genteel Manicured

Victoriana

3.1

P
age 414



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

13

 

Palimpsest

noun.

Something reused or altered 
but still bearing visible traces 
of its earlier form.

The Shoreline + Sea

Nostalgia

Weathered Colonised Wild

 

Retro Colourful

Kitsch

P
age 415



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

14

 

4.0
Seafront Projects  

“Sat here for an age watching the boats and ferries.  Beautiful scenery and calm clear waters, 
came back later In the evening and had a dip”

Davtinbl, Tripadvisor

P
age 416



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

15

 

Seafront Projects

The seafront projects plan has been developed following 
4-5 years of public consultations, engagement with 
members of Portsmouth City Council and meeting with 
local stakeholders. The plan aims to identify a range of 
opportunities at varying scales and with varied costs and 
time-frames.  

It is acknowledged that each opportunity will need to be 
subject to viability and delivery considerations such as 
funding and revenue generation, buildability, and legal 
matters.  The plans aim to demonstrate the ‘art of the 
possible’ and only one scenario for how the SPD could be 
delivered in the future.

Aside from the individual opportunities that follow there 
are also 3 site wide strategies that are required to ensure a 
cohesive design strategy going forward:

* A collaborative public arts strategy is currently being 
undertaken by United Creatives in partnership with 
PCC, ESCP and Portsmouth Creates.  This is due to 
reach out to the public in the Autumn of 2020 and will 
develop a series of ideas which  can be incorporated 
into this overall strategy. 

* A waterfront lighting strategy will be required to build 
upon the outline work undertaken by ARUP in November 
2018.  This will feed into the Coastal Scheme designs 
and will be vital in ensuring a nighttime economy is 
created within the key areas of the scheme. 

* Integral to the Coastal Scheme are the ecological 
enhancements that will be implemented throughout; 
focussing	on	retaining	and	reinforcing	the	unique	flora	
and fauna that exists on the seafront.   

All of these projects should be read in-conjunction with the 
Seafront Masterplan SPD.

Sketch opportunities plan used for discussions and brain-storming

P
age 417



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

16

 

Seafront Projects Overview

Clarence Pier Cluster

Southsea Castle Cluster South Parade Pier + Canoe Lake Park Clusters

4.1

The plans have been split loosely into the economic clusters 
of Clarence Pier, Southsea Castle, South Parade Pier + 
Canoe Lake Park as outlined within the Seafront Masterplan 
SPD.  Where required they expand into the surrounding 
public realm to ensure the entirety of the seafront is 
captured.  

Opportunities which could be delivered through the Coastal 
Flood Defence Scheme have been grouped for clarity.  
Opportunities which could be delivered by Portsmouth 
Council (PCC), independent investors or private developers 
have been split into short-term, medium-term and long-term 
aspirations to give an indication on expected time-scales.  
These are open to change however depending on the speed 
of surrounding development, planning requirements and 
investment opportunities.

Some	projects	are	identified	as	being	either	Featured,	
Small, or Quick Win and have further information provided 
later on in this document. These designations mean:

* Featured Projects: 5 projects which show the 
opportunities available more fully through either a 
zoom-in plan and/or a illustrative visualisation. 

* Small Projects: Generally low to medium cost projects 
which could be realised through the Coastal Scheme or 
in some cases PCC or private investors. 

* Quick Win Projects: Generally low cost projects 
which could be realised within the next 5 years

Other ideas are expected to come forward after the 
publication of this document and will be welcomed by the 
design team to create a continually evolving seafront plan.Clarence Pier

Southsea Common

Naval Memorial

Serpentine Square

Southsea Town 
Centre

Southsea 
Common 
Sports 
Fields

Southsea 
Castle

Southsea Rock 
Gardens

Castle 
Field

D-Day 
Museum

Speakers 
Corner

South 
Parade Pier

South 
Parade Beach

Canoe 
Lake

Southsea Rose 
Gardens

Eastney 
Beach Cafe

Long 
Curtain 
Moat

P
age 418



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

17

 

02

01

01

05
15

16

25

25

24

33

3536

41

22

17

2018 19

17

17

17

15

15

13

34

26

31

23

23

Coastal Scheme Delivery 0-5yrs
01 - Informal play and exercise hubs along the seafront *Quick Win
02 - New running routes and water fountains along the seafront *Quick Win
05 - Memorial Walk 

Short-term Delivery 0-5yrs
13 - New bicycle rental hubs along the seafront. *Quick Win
15	-	Southsea	wildflowers	-	Increasing	biodiversity	and	ecology.	Reducing future 
maintenance and rejuvenating cherished spaces.*Small Project
16 - Osbourne Road junction - Junction reduced, new pocket park and improved 
pedestrian connections. *Quick Win
17	-	Southsea	Common	gateway	space	-	new	wayfinding	and	interpretation.	*Quick 
Win
22 - Land Train re-introduced running from Clarence Pier to Eastney Beach Cafe - 
encouraging the public to visit the length of the seafront and lessen the reliance on car 
usage. 
23 - New pedestrian priority junctions to improve pedestrian movement and links with 
the town.  *Quick Win
24 - Vehicular security gate to Serpentine Road removed and replaced with removable 
bollards improving pedestrian and cyclist access. *Quick Win
25 - New informal paths across Southsea Common - either bonded gravel or informal 
mown	grass	through	wildflower	planting.	*Quick Win
26 - Fixed Barbecue area with associated park benches and litter bins. *Quick Win

Long-term Delivery 10-20yrs
33 - Clarence Pier Re-Development - complete re-development of Clarence Pier to 
include mixed-uses, hotels, retail, cafes and restaurants and integrated car parking.  
Interim medium-term solution to relocate/ reduce the bus interchange terminal and 
redevelop the Northern plots only.  Option shown is only an example of a plot layout 
that could be achieved - design depending no future funding, aspirations, viability 
assessments and land ownership.
34 - Hovercraft viewing platform built in con-junction with Clarence Pier redevelopment.
35 - Southsea Common Destination Play Space. Delivered in-conjunction with Clarence 
Pier re-development. *Featured Project
36 - Water Taxi - a new link between South Parade Pier and Clarence Pier (in-
conjunction with Clarence Pier re-development). 
41 - Clarence Esplanade road closure east from Clarence Pier.

Clarence Pier Cluster

P
age 419



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

18

 

02

15

15

25

25

17

17

2018 19

06

26

29

29

31

32

27

42

23
23

2323

23

22

13

13

28

30

43

11

07
04

03

03

01

01

21

36

21

22

12

08

05

04

Coastal Scheme Delivery
01 - Informal play and exercise hubs along the seafront *Quick Win
02 - New running routes and water fountains along the seafront *Quick Win
03 - New shelters along the seafront to compliment the existing Victorian shelters and 
make the seafront usable all year round. *Small Project
04 - New seasonal + permanent kiosks along promenade making a vibrant and lively 
public realm which responds to the time of year.  *Small Project
06 - Serpentine Square *Featured Project
07 - Speakers’ Corner *Featured Project
11 - Southsea lifeguard hut moved to front of promenade, freeing up space for The Briny 
to have outdoor seating. *Quick Win

Short-term Delivery 0-5yrs
13 - New bicycle rental hubs along the seafront. *Quick Win
15	-	Southsea	Wildflowers	-	Increasing	biodiversity	and	ecology.	Reducing future 
maintenance and rejuvenating cherished spaces.*Small Project
17	-	Southsea	Common	gateway	space	-	new	wayfinding	and	interpretation.	*Quick Win
18 - New 5-a-side football pitches instated increasing usage of the Southsea Common 
leisure area and improving provision in the south of Portsmouth.  *Quick Win
19	-	Avenue	de	Caen	closed	to	traffic.	Servicing/	events	access	only.	*Small Project
20 - Historic Gardens along Clarence Parade and South Parade renovated with new low 
maintenance planting and an improved path network. *Small Project
22 - Land Train re-introduced running from Clarence Pier to Eastney Beach Cafe - 
encouraging the public to visit the length of the seafront and lessen the reliance on car 
usage. 
23 - New pedestrian priority junctions to improve pedestrian movement and links with the 
town.  *Quick Win
25 - New informal paths across Southsea Common - either bonded gravel or informal 
mown	grass	through	wildflower	planting.	*Quick Win
26 - Fixed barbecue area with associated park benches and litter bins. *Quick Win
27 - Eastern end of Clarence Esplanade pedestrianised or made one-way (from Jack 
Cockerill	Way),	reducing	traffic	impacts	and	allowing	space	for	dedicated	cycling	
links along the seafront.  New SUDs provided and improved entrance experience to 
the Pyramids development and Speakers Corner. Servicing access retained. *Shown in 
Speaker’s Corner featured project
28 - Beach Pier. A new mini beach pier allowing full accessibility above the sand and 
groynes for all users. 

Medium-term Delivery 5-10yrs
29 - Blue Reef Aquarium Re-Development - Site could be re-developed to provide a 
new high-quality architectural building with culture and leisure uses.  Associated cafe 
uses provide opportunities for roof terrace use. Building could be a key focal point along 
the	seafront	and	would	provide	wide	views.		Integrated	flood	defence	levels	to	building	
frontage. 
30 - Potential for the Bandstand to be moved adjacent to the promenade.  Realignment 
of the promenade to provide a new seafront garden setting for the bandstand.
31 - Southsea Common Splashpark - Splashpark retained and improved with additional 
play features to enable a wider variety of play for all ages. *Small Project
32 - New public square to compliment the recently renovated D-Day Storey.  New 
seating, tree planting and seasonal kiosks. 
43 - The Pyramids - opportunity for new development which could include leisure, hotel, 
spa, events, art and retail uses.  Needs to have a positive relationship on all sides and be 
of a high-quality architectural design, in-keeping with its proximity to Southsea Castle.  
For further information on the Pyramids opportunities refer to the Seafront Masterplan 
Draft SPD 2020.

Long-term Delivery 10-20yrs
42 - Speakers Corner could be re-developed to provide a new permanent building with 
cafe, restaurant and low-level retail. The building could take advantage of the views and 
provide additional toilets and changing facilities.

Southsea Castle Cluster

P
age 420



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

19

 

23

36

22

13

14

14

09

0805

37

38

39

12

03

02

02

02

10

01

15

05

12

Coastal Scheme Delivery
01 - Informal play and exercise hubs along the seafront *Quick Win
02 - New running routes and water fountains along the seafront *Quick Win
03 - New shelters along the seafront to compliment the existing Victorian shelters and 
make the seafront usable all year round. *Small Project
04 - New seasonal and permanent kiosks along promenade making a vibrant and lively 
public realm which responds to the time of year.  *Small Project
08 - South Parade Beach *Featured Project
09 - Canoe Lake Seafront *Featured Project
10 - Eastney Beach Cafe *Small Project
12 - New disabled access into the sea. Rubber or timber roll-up ramps (seasonal). 
14 - New beach huts - South Parade Pier, Eastney Beach  *Quick Win

Short-term Delivery 0-5yrs
13 - New bicycle rental hubs along the seafront. *Quick Win
15	-	Southsea	Wildflowers	-	Increasing	biodiversity	and	ecology.	Reducing future 
maintenance and rejuvenating cherished spaces.*Small Project
21	-	New	dedicated	sea-swimming	route	identified	to	encourage	health	and	well-being	
and support local sports groups. Delivered in-conjunction with nearby shower blocks and 
changing rooms.  *Quick Win
22 - Land Train re-introduced running from Clarence Pier to Eastney Beach Cafe - 
encouraging the public to visit the length of the seafront and lessen the reliance on car 
usage. 
23 - New pedestrian priority junctions to improve pedestrian movement and links with 
the town.  *Quick Win
26 - Fixed Barbecue area with associated park benches and litter bins. *Quick Win
40- Existing park is renovated to be usable for all abilities and provide a wider range 
of play.

Long-term Delivery 10-20yrs
36 - Water Taxi - a new link between South Parade Pier and Clarence Pier (in-
conjunction with Clarence Pier re-development). 
37 - Eastney Esplanade road closure - western section to St. George’s Rd.
38 - Eastney Esplanade car park is removed.  New destination play space provided 
adjacent to the seafront. (Proposed in-conjunction with Eastney Esplanade road Closure)
39 - Dis-used Barracks could be re-developed to provide a new events or gallery 
function an with associated cafe. Rose and Japanese Gardens are retained and 
renovated.

South Parade Pier + Canoe Lake Park Clusters

26

40

21

P
age 421



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

20

 

5.0
Featured Projects

“I love Southsea Seafront and beach especially in the early mornings. It’s a lovely pebbled beach with patches of 
sand as the tide goes out. Great for all ages including those who want to build sea forts, dip their toes in the water 

or who want to go in for a swim. Lovely!”

Masefieldcrew, Tripadvisor

P
age 422



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

21

 

1 Park Schinkel Islands

2 St Kilda Beach

Existing Public Realm
The large hard space surrounding Blue Reef Aquarium is 
currently unloved and under-used.  Blue Reef Aquarium is 
situated on the south-eastern corner of the space, the northern 
boundary is wrapped by Clarence Esplanade and Southsea 
Common, and the south-western edge is formed by the (soon-
to-be replaced) sea wall.

The space and adjacent aquarium sit in a pivotal location at 
the head of the esplanade. The Crimean Memorial provides 
the only vertical element within the space, and the Naval War 
Memorial dominates the skyline to the north-west. Currently 
a small number of timber benches provide far-reaching views 
over the Solent from the space.

A small number of temporary vendors occasionally occupy the 
space during the summer, whilst the Blue Reef Cafe and Deep 
Blue	fish	shop	are	the	only	permanent	food	and	beverage	units.

Proposed Scheme
The	new	flood	defences	are	set	to	dramatically	change	this	
area of the seafront; levels are set to rise by 2.5m in places. 
This will bring the promenade above the current level of the 
Blue	Reef	ground	floor.		This	major	change	creates	a	once-in-
a-lifetime opportunity to re-imagine the space and create a 
cherished new public square, to link with a wider network of 
new waterfront spaces.  

The	new	scheme	will	need	to	be	flexible	to	respond	to	the	
potential future re-development of Blue Reef Aquarium.  The 
building	is	identified	as	an	opportunity	site	for	Portsmouth	City	
Council, if this were to go ahead it is suggested that this site 
could support new culture and leisure uses alongside food and 
beverage, and retail. The building also has the opportunity to 
provide a more positive relationship with the esplanade.  

The following design provides an example of one solution for 
the building however this is subject to viability and delivery 
considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability and legal matters.  To provide more permeability 
through the site the building has been split into three footprints.  
A	topographical	roofline	ensure	that	the	building	has	a	positive	
relationship with both the Naval Memorial and Southsea 
Castle.  To make the most of the sunset views, cafe terraces 
have	been	located	on	the	rooftop,	whilst	at	the	ground-floor	
a central space is encompassed providing a courtyard feel 
which could be used for cafe seating, art installations and more 
events which would link to the future culture and leisure uses.

Role and Function
‘Serpentine Square’, named after the historic Serpentine Road 
link from Southsea Common will become a key public space 
and new destination along the waterfront.  The area will serve 
as	a	significant	visual	attractor,	punctuating	the	long	stretch	
of promenade between Clarence Pier and Southsea Castle, 
encouraging people to walk, cycle and spend longer at the 
seafront. It has the potential to also improve connectivity with 
Southsea Common, the splash park and tennis courts and the 
D-Day Visitor experience to the north east.

Suggested new uses include seating and lounging, seafront 
play and spectacle, outdoor dining and one-off events.

New seafront play made from the same rocks keeping the 
sea at bay would celebrate the power of the waves and 
also create new learning opportunities – communicating the 
importance of safeguarding Portsmouth’s marine environment.  
Varied seating and lounging opportunities would be combined 
with sheltered spaces between the buildings, to ensure use of 
the space all year-round.

Space for future events would be incorporated into the designs, 
providing multi-functional uses and opening the space up to be 
used by existing events which occur on the seafront such as the 
Victorious Festival.  This space would seek to relocate existing 
events such as the Park Run and Triathlon to intensify the active 
uses of the Southsea Common area.

Identity
With Southsea’s varied history and architecture, the public 
realm	is	seen	as	a	unifier.		The	palette	of	materials	being	
used are simple and recessive - untreated timber, anodised 
aluminium, decorative in-situ concrete - all coming together to 
create a muted base which allows the existing features to shine.

With the proximity of Monument Walk and Southsea Castle, 
Serpentine Square will need to be respectful of these existing 
features and complement the existing character of the area, 
drawn from the Naval history of memory and the seaside 
Victoriana.  Building on this, components such as the lighting 
scheme and art and interpretation will be key to creating a 
space with an identity that is special and unique to Southsea.

Serpentine Square

Project Size  
 
Approx. 4,700 m2

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Square: Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs 
Buildings: Medium-term Delivery: 5- 10 yrs  

Outline Cost

Square: Medium Cost 
Buildings: High Cost

Low Cost: £0 - £50K
Medium Cost: £50K - £250K
High Cost: £250K >

A celebration of sun, sea, and storms

5.1

Components
Some of the key components of the project would be:

• Seating - accessible and sociable
• Sculpted landform or terraces to celebrate level change
• Low maintenance biodiverse planting
• Seafront shelters 
• Seafront play
• Art and interpretation focussing on Portsmouth’s marine 

and beach life (for instance an interactive water 
spectacle)

• Lighting scheme that is attractive and safe to encourage 
night-time use

3

4

P
age 423



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

22

 

01 - Seating and sunbathing terraces providing waterfront views 
and opportunity for use as an outdoor amphitheatre.

02 - Serpentine courtyard - new cafe seating, water mist play 
features, seating, lighting, and trees .

03	-	Coastal	Flood	Scheme	-	exact	design	TBC.		The	flood	
defence could be integrated into any new development. 

04 - New SUD’s gardens - drawing Southsea Common across 
Clarence Esplanade.

05	-	A	sloped	building	profile	could	help	minimise	the	visual	
impact of the building on the Naval Memorial and Southsea 
Castle settings.

06 - Rooftop boardwalk introduces a sky walk with panoramic 
views.

07 - Arrival square from Southsea Common Sports Complex and 
D-Day Museum - opportunity for public art.

08 - Links with D-Day Museum and parking.

09 - Opportunity for rooftop terraces with panoramic views.

10 - Building could frame the views at ground levels - connecting 
with the promenade.

Axonometric

01 02

10

View

View

09

03

07

08

04 05
06P

age 424



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

23

 

Illustrative Visual
Visual is intended to show potential of place - all proposals are subject to viability and delivery considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability, legal matters, they aim to demonstrate the ‘art of the possible’ and one scenario for how the SPD could be delivered in the future.

P
age 425



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

24

 

Existing Blue Reef Aquarium

P
age 426



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

25

 

Illustrative Visual
Visual is intended to show potential of place - all proposals are subject to viability and delivery considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability, legal matters, they aim to demonstrate the ‘art of the possible’ and one scenario for how the SPD could be delivered in the future.

P
age 427



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

26

 

1 Scarborough Beach
2 Masonic Amphitheatre

A space for community activation
Existing Public Realm

Speakers’ Corner is located to the east of Southsea Rock 
Gardens and is bound on its northern edge by Clarence 
Esplanade and overlooked by the residential and hotel uses 
along South Parade.  Sitting directly adjacent to the seafront 
promenade, The Briny restaurant overlooks the space to the 
west.

The existing public realm in everyday mode is under-utilised. 
It comprises a large area of red tarmac and the un-listed 60m 
long shelter that segregates the space to the south, is due to 
be removed as part of the coastal scheme works, leaving a 
large free space.

Whilst in every-day mode the space in under-utilised, existing 
community events are currently hosted here, such as the local 
triathlon, Park Run and seafront 10K.

Proposed Scheme

The removal of the existing shelter and raising of the 
promenade by 1.5m will see the relationship of this space 
and the seafront change dramatically.  Connections into the 
town centre and with the local neighbourhood, will be even 
more important, opportunities to prevent through movement 
for vehicles along Clarence Esplanade and new pedestrian 
crossings will be vital to stitch this area in to its surroundings 
and ensuring a successful and vibrant seafront. 

Future opportunities for small-scale and sensitive development 
in this area by Portsmouth City Council could be explored as 
part of the design process. 

Role and Function
The existing anonymous and under-utilised space should have 
a clear role and identity. It should function equally well on 
a wet November mid-week afternoon, as well as a sunny 
Saturday when a local market might be held. Speakers’ Corner 
should	retain	the	flexibility	to	be	used	by	a	wide	spectrum	
of people within Portsmouth.  From local artists, artisans, 
musicians, sports groups, markets and community groups.  The 
area is a key ‘stepping-stone’ along the seafront, providing 

a rhythm of different destinations and connecting Southsea 
Castle with South Parade Pier.  

With the new level change, forging a connection between 
promenade and town will be vital, achieved using a sequence 
of terraces with integrated seating, planting and informal 
play.  A new kiosk to the promenade edge would provide the 
opportunity for a quick coffee overlooking the sea, whilst also 
giving much-need shelter in the winter months.

Identity
With Southsea’s varied history and architecture, the public 
realm	is	seen	as	a	unifier.		The	palette	of	materials	being	
used are simple and recessive - untreated timber, anodised 
aluminium, decorative insitu concrete - all coming together to 
create a muted base which allows the existing features shine.

There is a big opportunity here for community involvement in 
the art and interpretation of this area – creating a space that 
Southsea town feels ownership of and one that can be co-
curated to host a variety of activities and events.

Components
Some of the key components of the project would be:

• Terraced seating – accessible, sociable and dual-facing
• Low maintenance biodiverse planting
• Seafront trees to transition from the garden areas and 

improve identity
• Seafront shelters 
• Art and interpretation
• Lighting scheme that is attractive and safe to encourage 

night-time use
• Seafront kiosk
• Space for pop-up markets + events
• Informal play

Speakers’ Corner

Project Size  
 
2420 m2

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Medium Cost

Low Cost: £0 - £50K
Medium Cost: £50K - £250K
High Cost: £250K >

5.2

3

4

P
age 428



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

27

 

01 - Existing Briny restaurant

02 - Space for seasonal kiosks/ pop-up uses.

03	-	Movable	seating	to	provide	a	flexible	central	space.

04 - Steps and Terraced seating to promenade edge overlooking 
the space.

05 - New tree planting appropriate to the seafront character.

06 - Climbable edge to terracing makes the topographical 
landscape playable.

07 - New seafront kiosk with cafe seating.

08 -Slope to edge of level change - new gravel planting to 
encourage biodiversity.

09 - New SUD’s planting to closed section of Clarence Esplanade.

10 - Access slope to promenade.

All historic columns in this area will be retained and integrated 
into the designs.  The listed shelter is to be relocated along the 
promenade.

Plan 

01

02

02

03

06 07

08

10

09

04

05

View

P
age 429



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

28

 

Existing Speakers’ Corner - Visual is taken from within the space where the historic columns aren’t visible.

P
age 430



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

29

 

Illustrative Visual
Visual is intended to show potential of place - all proposals are subject to viability and delivery considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability, legal matters, they aim to demonstrate the ‘art of the possible’ and one scenario for how the SPD could be delivered in the future.

P
age 431



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

30

 

1 Glenelg Play Space
2 Boos Beach Club Restaurant, Metaform

A celebration of beach life.
Existing Public Realm

Sitting directly adjacent to Canoe Lake Seafront, ‘South 
Parade Beach’ is located within the actual beach to the east 
of South Parade Pier and south of the esplanade walkway.  
Currently located here are several food and beverage units 
including Southsea Beach Café. This area also has a large 
outdoor seating area with timber benches open for public use. 

Proposed Scheme

South Parade Beach would be a celebration of beach life, a 
new type of destination with a cluster of interesting seafront 
buildings	stitched	together	by	a	unified	and	playful	public	
realm.  A new high quality Architect designed cluster of 
buildings could re-house existing tenants, if appropriate.

There is the potential to relocate Southsea Rowing Club to this 
location and create an active hub with a wide variety of users.  
Views over the Solent would be maximised from the building 
with	new	terraces	on	the	first	floor	and	a	new	public	realm	on	
the	ground	floor.

Role and Function
The project would comprise a main ‘pavilion building’ with 
new uses set within a new type of beachfront recreation area 
with beach play, loungers, showers and decking. New food 
and beverage uses and the rowing club could enable multiple 
occupiers within the new building.  Surrounding the larger 
pavilion, small-scale bespoke kiosks or re-purposed shipping 
container buildings could comprise coffee and ice-cream 
outlets and toilet and shower rooms . A restaurant or cafe 
could be located overlooking a new area of beach-front play. 
The lighting of the public realm will be key to ensure that the 
area feels welcoming and attractive to support a night-time 
economy.  

Identity
With Southsea’s varied history and architecture, the public 
realm	is	seen	as	a	unifier.		The	palette	of	materials	being	
used are simple and recessive - untreated timber, anodised 
aluminium, decorative insitu concrete - all coming together to 
create a muted base which allows the existing features shine.

The architecture and character of South Parade Beach area 
could capture the essence of a fun, modern seaside resort, 
whilst also complimenting the nearby Georgian and Victorian 
character of the surrounding area.

Components
Some of the key components of the project would be:

• Seating - accessible + sociable
• Seafront shelters 
• Art & interpretation
• Lighting scheme that ensures the areas use after dark
• Seafront kiosks, cafes and restaurants
• Exercise hub
• Showering and changing facilities
• Beach play

South Parade Beach

Project Size  
 
2000 m2

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs   

Outline Cost

High Cost

Low Cost: £0 - £50K
Medium Cost: £50K - £250K
High Cost: £250K >

5.3

3

4

P
age 432



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

31

 

01 - Potential position for a relocated Rowing Club - integrated 
into the development with potential for 2-storeys.

02 - New/ re-provided cafes, restaurants, hire shops, toilets and 
showers.

03 - New seafront play area for all ages

04 - Space for outdoor dining, rowing boats, outdoor showers and 
seating.

05 - New seafront trees to provide some shade during the summer 
months.

06 - The promenade will be designed during the Coastal Scheme 
design process - to include items such as seating and lighting.

07 - Existing beach levels integrated into Coastal Designs.

08 - New pedestrian crossing to Canoe Lake Park.

Plan 

01

02

02

03
05

04

07

08

06

View

P
age 433



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

32

 

Existing South Parade Beach - Visual is taken from the beach where the historic columns aren’t visible.

P
age 434



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

33

 

Illustrative Visual
Visual is intended to show potential of place - all proposals are subject to viability and delivery considerations such as funding and revenue generation, 
buildability, legal matters, they aim to demonstrate the ‘art of the possible’ and one scenario for how the SPD could be delivered in the future.

P
age 435



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

34

 

1 Freundschaftsinsel Potsdam, Berlin
2 Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, LDA Design

Rejuvenating the spirit of Canoe Lake
Existing Public Realm

This project comprises several different areas adjacent to 
Canoe Lake.  Stretching from the end of South Parade to the 
west and along the south-western edge of Canoe Lake to the 
east.  

The area is dominated by highways. The existing pedestrian 
islands are bound on all sides by roads, with the western-
most one providing a large area of red tarmac and the 
eastern-most island providing an isolated setting to the D-Day 
Memorial set within some pleasant Victorian gardens.  A bus 
stand is located along The Ocean at the End of the Lane, and 
this section of road is only open for buses.

The south-western edge of Canoe Lake presents the main 
entrance to the park from the seafront and associated uses, 
including the public toilets. Connectivity with the seafront is 
generally quite poor and a low retaining wall and railings 
further	severs	this	connection.	The	entrance	is	poorly	defined	
and does not mark an important threshold into the park.  The 
Emanuel Drinking Fountain monument sits within a large area 
of grass next to the entrance.

Proposed Scheme

The coastal scheme will require the raising of the promenade 
by 1.2-1.5m in this location, compounding the severance 
of the seafront with Canoe Lake further.  To mitigate this, 
there is an opportunity to raise Eastney Esplanade adjacent 
to	the	existing	traffic	islands,	re-assign	vehicular	space	for	
pedestrians and cyclists and redesign the space to the north.  
The	reconfiguration	of	The	Ocean	at	the	End	of	the	Lane	and	
St Helen’s Parade turning would draw Canoe Lake further to 
the west, creating visual and physical links with the seafront.

The existing retaining wall to the south of Canoe Lake park 
provides an opportunity for a new species rich grass bank 
which reduces future maintenance costs and the physical 
barrier.  The old set of toilet blocks would be removed to make 
way for the bank and relocated to South Parade Beach in an 
attractive	purpose	built	facility,	where	they	would	benefit	from	
increased use and natural surveillance.

Role and Function
This project would dramatically increase the connectivity 
between the seafront and Canoe Lake, maximising the visibility 
and use of this much-loved area of Southsea. By removing 
barriers to movement such as walls and oversized roads, the 
entrance to Canoe Lake would be transformed and sensitively 
modernised.	The	re-configuration	of	the	space	will	ensure	safer	
pedestrian connections between the seafront and promenade.

The D-Day Memorial would be relocated within the space in 
a location that people can easily access, providing it with a 
fitting	setting	that	is	not	severed	by	highway.

Space for a small temporary food kiosk could be provided 
within an attractive pocket square.

Identity
The space will be an extension of Canoe Lake, celebrating 
its identity and creating a seamless link with the seafront to 
improve its amenity value and use.  

Components
Some of the key components of the project would be: 

• Seating - accessible and sociable
• Low maintenance biodiverse planting
• Seafront trees
• Art and interpretation
• Lighting scheme that ensures the areas use after dark
• Space for temporary kiosks
• Integration and interpretation of the D-Day Memorial 

Canoe Lake Seafront

Project Size  
 
6370 m2

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs    
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Medium-High Cost

Low Cost: £0 - £50K
Medium Cost: £50K - £250K
High Cost: £250K >

5.4

3

4

P
age 436



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

35

 

01 - Eastney Esplanade raised to reduce severance between the 
new Coastal Scheme and Canoe Lake Park.

02 - New grass bunds remove the existing retaining wall and 
provide a better setting for Canoe Lake Park.  The existing toilets 
are re-provided within South Parade Beach.

03 - New stepped access to Canoe Lake Park

04 - Sloped accessible access.

05 - D-Day memorial is reinstated within a larger square space.

06 - Existing memorial is retained within a new square.

07 - New playful running tracks around Canoe Lake

08	-	Opportunity	for	a	fixed	barbecue	area	and	picnic	benches

09 - Space for seasonal kiosks to compliment the existing offer.

10 - Existing natural play area is retained.

Plan 

01

03

0405

06

07

10

09

08

02

P
age 437



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

36

 

1 Gathering Place, Tulsa, MONSTRUM
2 Burgess Park, LDA Design

*	 Future	aspiration	to	redevelop	Clarence	Pier	identified	within	the	2013	
adopted Seafront Masterplan + Draft 2020 Seafront Masterplan

A new destination for the seafront
Existing Public Realm

The existing area is currently known as Seafront The Esplanade 
Car Park.  The car park currently holds 343 spaces with 7 
disabled bay spaces.

Located directly opposite Clarence Pier and the Hovercraft 
terminal the space is bound on it’s eastern and northern edges 
by the historic Southsea Common.  The space falls within the 
boundary of Registered Parks and Gardens that protects 
Southsea Common.

Proposed Scheme

The new coastal scheme is currently expected to build new 
grass bunds around the south-western boundaries of the car 
park. However this design has the opportunity to be reviewed 
to ensure the area is future proofed.

There is a long-term opportunity to completely remove the car 
park from this area and relocate it to a multi-storey location 
set within the redevelopment of Clarence Pier*.  This would 
allow the space to be transformed into a new destination 
play space, drawing visitors to Clarence Pier and providing 
Southsea’s only destination play space that is located with 
direct views and interaction with the seafront. 

With the scheme being a long-term aspiration there are 
interim options that could be explored which would reduce 
and consolidate the parking within the northern portion of the 
car park.  This would allow the southern section to begin to 
be transformed, this added activity to the edge of Clarence 
Pier would increase the draw for visitors and increase the 
attractiveness of the area for future potential investors. 

Role and Function
One of the key roles of the project would be to enliven 
Southsea Common, connecting it with the seafront and creating 
a space for families to enjoy Southsea.

The area is a key space along the seafront and would help 
connect Clarence Pier with Serpentine Square to the east.

Identity
The new play scheme would form one of the most unique 
spaces along Southsea Seafront.  Creating an invitational 
and colourful identity set within the historic grassed area of 
Southsea Common.

Components
Some of the key components of the project would be:

• Colourful + unique play scheme tailored to Southsea
• Seating - accessible + sociable
• Low maintenance biodiverse planting
• Seafront trees
• Lighting scheme that ensures the areas safety after dark

Southsea Common 
Destination Play 

Project Size  
 
10,700 m2

Project Delivery Timeframe 
   
Long-term Delivery: 10 - 20 yrs

Outline Cost

Medium Cost

Low Cost: £0 - £50K
Medium Cost: £50K - £250K
High Cost: £250K >

5.5

3

4

P
age 438



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

37

 

01 - New destination play area - wide range of equipment for all 
age play.  

02 - Grass bund to edge of Southsea Common to tie-in the 
Coastal Scheme levels.

03 - New links to the seafront through the play area

04 - Reduced width and realigned road (as part of Clarence Pier 
development)

05	-	New	wildflower	planting	to	edge	of	Southsea	Common

06 - Clarence Pier development - potential option for a long-term 
redevelopment.

07 - Hovercraft terminal

08 - New public square

Plan 

02

03

01

04

05

06

07

08

P
age 439



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

38

 

6.0
Small Projects

“Love to walk along the beach at all different times of the 
day. Always changing landscape and always something new 

to see.”

411nickn, Tripadvisor

P
age 440



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

39

 

Complimenting the existing historic shelter provision, 
new shelters could be provided to ensure the entirety 
of the seafront is usable and comfortable year-round. 
There is potential for the shelters to be designed within 
a competition process, getting local artists, architecture 
students and small practises involved in the design of the 
seafront.

Where the shelters are located in proximity to historic 
structures and buildings, their design will need to respond 
carefully to their surroundings.

3 new shelters are indicated on the plan.  2 are located 
near to Southsea Castle to make the most of the panoramic 
views.  1 is located near to the Rose Garden to provide an 
intermediate rest spot between South Parade Beach and 
Eastney Beach cafe.

Seafront Shelters

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Low-Medium Cost

1 Existing listed shelters
2 Bexhill-on-Sea Shelters
3 Biotope Shelter
4 Acoustic Shells - Flanagan Lawrence

6.1

1

4

32

P
age 441



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

40

 

Portsmouth City Council currently run the Pop-Up Portsmouth 
campaign which offers retailers pop-up locations to 
showcase the distinctive products and creative styles that 
are emerging across the city. The existing seafront spaces 
are currently available throughout July-October, for both 
short and long term contracts from 1-3 months.

The seasonal kiosks project would seek to build on this 
campaign, providing small businesses with larger units for 
cafes, retail opportunities, and galleries.  It is viewed that 
upon testing the waters in the pop-up units, the seasonal 
units would be the next stepping stone - providing low cost, 
low risk space for start up entrepreneurs and co-working. 

The	kiosks	have	been	identified	within	Speakers	Corner	
and adjacent to South Parade Pier, however if they proved 
popular could be expanded with another grouping east of 
South Parade Beach.

Seasonal Kiosks

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Low Cost

1 Shipping container pop-ups - 2.4 x 2.4m
2 Shipping container pop-ups - 2.4 x 2.4m
3 Timber clad dual height container space.
4 Movable cafe/ retail space

6.2

1

4

32

P
age 442



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

41

 

Eastney Beach cafe provides a vital stop on the promenade 
route leading eastwards to Eastney Beach.  With a small 
play area currently in place the scheme would look to 
increase the play offer within this space, making it usable 
for a wider age group.

The existing cafe could be replaced with a slightly larger 
building which provides the area with a high-quality 
architectural draw when walking or cycling along the 
promenade.  Small pop-up uses such as other concessions, 
events infrastructure and seating, could be located adjacent 
to the main building during the summer months to increase 
the offer and surrounding activity.

Eastney Beach Cafe

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Short-term Delivery: 0-5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Medium Cost

1	 Existing	Eastney	Beach	flora
2 West Beach Cafe Littlehampton
3 Garden City Park - Space2Place
4 Exmouth Seafront - Meanwhile use space

6.3

1

4

32

P
age 443



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

42

 

The population of Portsmouth will experience nature 
predominantly through their interaction with green 
infrastructure (GI). The need for urban GI to foster physical 
and psychological well-being is now one important focus of 
urban planning policy in the UK and elsewhere. Such policy 
also recognises the need for resilience of ecosystem services 
in the face of accelerating urbanisation and climate change. 
Throughout the UK the urban GI is managed predominantly 
by local authorities, but many of these are facing major 
budget reductions – for example, one third of urban park 
managers in the UK have had budget cuts of over 20% in 
just two years, with 90% facing some funding cuts. Local 
authorities are thus looking for alternative management 
options and are increasingly drawn towards‘ nature 
based’ solutions that harness ecological processes, are cost 
effective  and  also  deliver  environmental  and  social  
benefits.	

The areas of mown grassland within Southsea currently 
cover an area of approximately 37.5 hectares, this is the 
equivalent to 52.5 football pitches. Even where the species 
composition of mown grassland communities is relatively 
diverse, frequent mowing restricts plant structural diversity, 
and in turn limits invertebrate diversity and abundance. 
Mown grassland also generates high maintenance costs 
associated with frequent mowing.  

One alternative to this intensive management regime is 
the	introduction	of	wildflower	meadows.	These	consist	of	
managed grassland vegetation that contains perennial 
forbs and grasses and is cut once or twice a year. Potential 
benefits	of	introducing	wildflower	meadows	include	a	
reduction in mowing frequency, an increase in habitat 
provision, nectar and pollen for invertebrates and aesthetic 
value for site users.

Despite	their	floral	and	faunal	diversity,	and	the	aesthetic	
benefits	that	wildflower	meadows	offer,	they	are	
occasionally misunderstood by the local communities for 
whom the urban greenspace is intended. This may be 
because of their untidiness in autumn and their physical 
height (in comparison with mown grassland), which 
may be seen to impede access for humans, and can 
lead to perceptions of wilderness or waste-ground and 
abandonment. This is especially the case in more formal 
greenspace settings such as Southsea Common, where 

Southsea Wildflowers

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs    
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs  

Outline Cost

Low-Medium Cost

1 Oueen Elizabeth Olympic Park - LDA Design
2	Wildflower	meadow	planting
3 Illustrative Plan Zoom-In
4 Mown paths

fears or negative perceptions are expressed, they can be 
managed at the local level through community engagement 
and education events, and signage.

It is acknowledged that some areas within Southsea 
Common are required to be kept mown to ensure the open 
‘common’ feeling it has been listed for is not lost.  Any 
planting would also need to take into account the annual 
events	situated	on	the	Common	and	it’s	surrounding	fields.		
There is however opportunity to plant paths edges, hard-
to-manage historic gardens, new grass slopes required to 
grade in the Coastal Scheme level change and areas within 
Canoe Lake park.

Essential	to	a	successful	wildflower	meadow	is	the	
management regime.  Whilst they require less management 
it would be important to develop a regime that works with 
the event requirements. 

6.4

43

21

P
age 444



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

43

 

The Gardens to the rear of Southsea Common and 
Speaker’s Corner are an attractive and historic component 
of Southsea seafront and are popular with locals and 
visitors.  The following proposals are low-impact and are 
aimed to improve biodiverity, increase use, and ensure 
longevity of the spaces.

The Gardens currently require a lot of management from 
the Council. By regenerating them with new pathways, 
central seating areas, low maintenance planting palette and 
increased	use	of	wildflowers,	the	gardens	could	have	a	new	
lease of life.  

We’d propose that the existing walls, mature trees, and 
basic path structure is retained, ensuring that their historic 
character is retained and reducing the initial associated 
costs.  Annual bedding plants could be replaced with self 
seeding annuals which require a less intensive maintenance 
regime but retain that seaside town feel that so often comes 
from this character of planting.

The Clarence Parade Gardens currently feel like a barrier 
to pedestrian movement and have an opportunity to 
be opened up by the removal of the low metal fencing 
adjacent to Southsea Common. 

The gardens adjacent to South Parade could have new 
routes included across the lawns to improve permeability 
and usability.

Clarence and South Parade 
Gardens

Project Delivery Timeframe 
    
Short Term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs   

Outline Cost

Medium Cost

1 Illustrative Plan Zoom-In: Clarence Parade Gardens
2 Illustrative Plan Zoom-In: South Parade Gardens 
3 Burgess Park, LDA Design 
4 Trentham Gardens
5 Trentham Gardens

6.5

1

54

32

P
age 445



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

44

 

The Southsea Common Splashpark is currently well used 
by families who visit and live on the seafront.  There is 
opportunity however to put more investment into the 
facilities and surrounding play offer to create a combined 
play for all ages and splashpark.  

The existing tennis courts could be supplemented by 3 new 
5	a-side	pitches	which	fit	within	the	old	mini-golf	plot.		These	
would set Southsea Common apart from the sports offer at 
Canoe Lake, and provide facilities which are lacking in this 
area of Portsmouth - the nearest public pitches are almost 
5km north.

New basketball and netball pitches could be installed within 
the green plot adjacent to the splashpark which is currently 
lying vacant and used to store event huts.  Having courts 
here would allow the space to still be used during events.

To accompany the existing food and beverage provision 
within the tennis pavilion a new square could be located on 
the corner of Avenue De Caen.  Providing space for cafe 
seating, pop-up markets, or art installations.  This would 
seek to compliment the space in-front of the D-Day museum 
and encourage exploration of Southsea Common north of 
Clarence Esplanade.

Southsea Common 
Splashpark and Sports Complex

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Medium-term Delivery: 5- 10 yrs  

Outline Cost

Medium Cost

1 Illustrative Plan Zoom-In
2 Southport Broadwater Parklands
3 The Commonground - Land Collective
4 King’s Cross Cafe Seating

6.6

1

4

32

P
age 446



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

45

 

Avenue De Caen is a historic link from Southsea Town Centre 
to Southsea Castle.  Running north-south between Clarence 
Esplanade and Clarence Parade the roadway is lined with 
a high amount of parking and mature pine tree cover.   To 
the east of Avenue De Caen the skatepark is located within 
the greenspace, whilst on the western edge there is a local 
garden centre, tennis courts and volleyball court.

With the changing seafront enhancing pedestrian and 
where possible cyclist movement, there is opportunity for the 
Avenue De Caen to provide a much-needed pedestrianised 
link with the town centre.  

New	shared	cycleways,	informal	play	and	wildflower	
planting would transform the route from an oversized 
roadway and parking lot to green link into the heart of 
Southsea.  The northern end of the Avenue would be a new 
gateway to the seafront, whilst the southern end would 
include a new pocket plaza space which compliments the 
D-Day museum space opposite (also mentioned within the 
Southsea Common Splashpark and Sports Complex).  

Sustainable urban drainage would bring more biodiversity 
to the area, whilst the opportunity to relocate the historic 
lighting columns to the centre of the roadway would 
ensure an arrival experience appropriate to the historic 
significance	of	Southsea	Castle.

Emergency vehicular access would be required along with 
servicing and events access for the existing uses that sit on 
the Avenue.

Avenue De Caen

Project Delivery Timeframe 
  
Medium-term Delivery: 5- 10 yrs   

Outline Cost

Medium-High Cost

1 Illustrative Plan Zoom-In
2	Sheffield	Grey	to	Green,	Nigel	Dunnet	
3 Passeig De St Joan Boulevard
4 Olympic Park - LDA Design

1

4

32

6.7

P
age 447



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

46

 

7.0
Quick Win Projects

“Sat on the pebble beach and watched the world go by for 
an hour, which included boats, hovercraft and gulls!”

Kevin L, Tripadvisor

P
age 448



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

47

 

It is through play that children experience and discover the 
world around them. So that their imagination and need for 
exercise can be given free rein, children need space for 
play. Sadly, free areas that can be explored during play 
are often lacking in the modern urban environment. It has 
thus become even more essential to supply the necessary 
recreational and free spaces. When it comes to the design 
of incidental play, it is expedient to employ a concept that 
will appeal to all age groups.

New incidental play areas are to be designed throughout 
the coastal scheme whilst Southsea Common and Canoe 
Lake could also provide areas for jumping, climbing, 
socialising and balancing.

To accompany this new exercise hubs could be located 
along the seafront to compliment the current provision in 
Canoe Lake and Southsea Common.

Simple routes that walkers, runners, cyclists and scooters can 
follow along the seafront.  Routes could be formed using 
plaques, or simply etched or painted onto the surfacing.  
1km markers could be located along the seafront to provide 
a bearing to users whilst in Canoe Lake a running track for 
children and adults alike could be painted around the lake.   

Water fountains are due to be installed along the seafront 
as part of the Coastal Scheme.  

7.1 Play and Exercise Hubs

7.2 Running, Cycling and Scooting Routes

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs     
 
 
Outline Cost

Low Cost

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs 
 
 
Outline Cost

Low Cost

Outer Lock Crossing - LDA Design

Paris	Wayfinding

Circling the Avenue - BO

 Bikeway Belém - Atelier

P
age 449



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

48

The importance of cycling has never been greater.  With 
the average ride being 5km it would seem perfectly suited 
to Southsea’s 5km long seafront.  With wide roads that are 
soon to be made cycle friendly through the Coastal Scheme, 
the only thing missing at present are the bike rental hubs.

Electric Scooters are becoming an ever-more popular way 
to	travel.		With	Portsmouth	identified	as	an	area	to	trial	the	
scooters now that they are legal to use on UK roads space 
for	their	hire	should	be	identified	along	the	seafront.

These hubs could be formed either by Council owned rental 
stations or by providing pop-up space for local bike hire/ 
electric scooter hire shops on the seafront.  Key areas that 
could accommodate the hubs would be Clarence Pier, 
Serpentine Square, Speakers’ Corner, South Parade Beach 
and Eastney Cafe. 

7.3 Bike and Electric Scooter Rental Hubs

Project Delivery Timeframe  
(Dependant on location - to be rolled out as 
development allows) 
 
Delivered as part of Coastal Scheme: 0-5 yrs   
Short to Long-term Delivery: 0- 15 yrs  
  
 
Outline Cost

Low Cost

Bike Rental Container Hire Bikes

The last century saw a widespread adoption of policies and 
working practices that placed the private car at the top of 
the decision making hierarchy. The result was and continues 
to be considerable harm to our health and our environment.
Southsea	reflects	many	of	the	ills	caused	by	this	approach	
through a vehicle dominated seafront.

Pedestrian-priority roads and junctions could play a 
prominent role in shaping a walkable, accessible, and 
enjoyable seafront.  These spaces encourage people to 
move at their own pace, activate underutilized spaces, and 
boost local businesses.

Where roads are proposed to be closed businesses access  
could be allowed for loading and deliveries at limited 
times. Roads that are oversized could reduced in width to 
encourage slower vehicular speeds, whilst crossings could 
be installed that promote pedestrian use - with smaller 
distances, different surfacing and raised tables.

7.4 Pedestrian Priority Environment

Project Delivery Timeframe 
    
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs 
 
 
Outline Cost
Medium Cost

Poynton Shared Space Brunswick Square - LDA Design

 

P
age 450



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

49

The entrance points along Southsea Common’s northern 
edge	are	poorly	identified	and	often	don’t	feel	like	
welcoming gateways at all.  These areas lack a strong sense 
of place and do little to let you know of the joyful views 
and seafront that lie just a few hundred metres south.

Each entrance should be an arrival space for both Southsea 
Common	and	the	seafront.		New	seating,	wayfinding,	
lighting and even art could create a mini-space that 
welcomes locals and visitors alike.  At the larger entrances 
small pop-up uses, such as kiosks, could be located during 
the summer months to promote access into the town centre.

7.5 Seafront Arrival Spaces

Project Delivery Timeframe 
   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs 
 
 
Outline Cost
Low-Medium Cost

Hull Gateway - LDA Design Burgess Park Gateway - LDA Design

 

Southsea currently has two beach hut locations along 
the seafront, located at Lumps Fort and the junction of St 
George’s Road & Eastney Esplanade.  The beach huts are 
available for annual and weekly hire and have an extensive 
waiting list.

The popularity of the beach huts epitomises UK seafront 
culture, and as human beings our desire to be close to 
nature with basic amenities.  To supplement the current 
provision, the seafront could install new beach huts in two 
potential locations - adjacent to South Parade Pier and 
on Eastney Beach (ensuring they don’t have any negative 
effects on the protected Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation). 

7.6 Beach Huts

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs     
Medium-term Delivery: 5- 10 yrs   
 
Outline Cost

Low Cost

Existing George’s Road Beach Huts Existing Lumps Fort Beach Huts

P
age 451



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

50

Southsea Common and Canoe Lake currently have 
dedicated barbecue zones which can be found via the 
Councils website or via signage on site.  To supplement 
these zones, new small scale public barbecue’s and picnic 
tables could be installed.  These areas would promote 
appropriate use of the barbecue zones and would provide 
space for larger families and a wider range of users.  Litter 
bins and water points could be provided alongside each 
barbecue to reduce additional waste and promote cleaning 
after use.

7.8 Barbecue Areas

Project Delivery Timeframe 
   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs   
 
 
Outline Cost
Low Cost

Public coal barbecue Public gas barbecue and picnic table

 

Founded in 1933 the Portsmouth and Southsea Voluntary 
Lifeguards provide weekend lifeguard cover for Southsea 
beach.  Their current hut is located directly behind the new 
defences which will be +1.2m above the current promenade 
level.  

A new hut could be located on the landward side of the 
promenade, allowing them easy access to the beach and 
retaining a prominent position on the seafront.

7.7 Relocated Lifeguard Hut

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs       
 
 
Outline Cost

Low- Medium Cost

Existing PSLV lifeguard hutP
age 452



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

51

To promote cyclist and pedestrian access along Serpentine 
Road the existing oversized vehicle barrier could be 
replaced with removable bollards.  The existing barrier 
provides a small pedestrian and cyclist access to the side 
which	is	difficult	to	navigate	and	which	doesn’t	promote	
people to access the common from this point.

Smaller scale bollards would open up the views, make the 
space more permeable and still allow vehicular access for 
servicing and events.

To improve the permeability of the seafront and the 
usability of Southsea Common, there are a number of 
locations where new informal paths could be installed.  Two 
of the key areas would include, northwards from the Naval 
Memorial, and surrounding the skatepark.

7.9 Vehicular Security Gate Removed

7.10 Informal Paths Across Southsea Common

Project Delivery Timeframe 
 
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs   
 
 
Outline Cost

Low Cost

Project Delivery Timeframe 
   
Short-term Delivery: 0- 5 yrs   
 
 
Outline Cost
Low Cost

Existing security gate

Naval Memorial - new path link

Timber bollards

Hoggin/ self binding pathway

 

P
age 453



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

52

 

8.0
Next Steps

“Felt like a child again...Mr.Whippy, scampi in fish restaurant on pier and spent a few 
pennies in the slot machines!!!”

BenJPuss,m Tripadvisor

P
age 454



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

53

South Parade Pier

 

Context
The role of seafronts is changing. To continue to thrive 
they must offer a year-round unique experience, the right 
mix of uses and good reasons to spend time and money. 
There is now a remarkable degree of consensus that well-
designed and well-managed public realm and a collection 
of different types of public spaces is essential to the health 
of a city and seafront in every sense. High quality public 
realm is widely accepted as being an essential component 
in	achieving	a	range	of	benefits	such	as:	

Economic: 
* Stimulates inward investment (case studies in 

places as diverse as Blackpool, Littlehampton 
and	Bexhill-on-Sea	demonstrate	how	flood	
defence has been used as a catalyst for the 
improvement of public realm and buildings; 

* Increases visitor, worker and resident spending 
(case study evidence suggests that well-
planned improvements to public spaces can 
boost footfall and trading by up to 40%);

* Improves perceptions and by doing so 
increases	both	first	and	repeat	visits;	

* Increases opportunities for and revenue 
from events and promotions; 

* Creates jobs (In Dublin, the redevelopment of the 
Temple Bar District led to a 300% increase in 
employment before the economic boom). 

Environmental: 
* Improves air quality and reduces pollution; 
* Encourages walking and cycling;
* Cools urban heat islands; 
* Increases biodiversity; 
* Relieves pressure on at-capacity drainage 

systems through sustainable urban drainage; 
* Reduces energy consumption.
Social and cultural: 
* Improves community cohesion through a 

stronger sense of pride in place; 
* Improves health and well-being; 
* Reduces crime; 
* Supports active travel and healthy lifestyles, 

in turn helping tackle obesity; 
* Increases safety and reduces accidents.
 

Delivery and Funding
The Southsea Masterplan SPD and Collaborative 
Enhancement	Plan	reflects	an	ambitious	vision	to	deliver	
long term transformational change at Southsea. It aims to 
protect and enhance what makes Southsea special and 
celebrate its rich character and personality, whilst repairing 
and improving areas that aren’t currently working or have 
become degraded over time. 

Delivering the level of transformation proposed requires 
intense collaboration, creativity, technical rigour and multi-
layered public and private funding. Whilst an integrated 
approach	to	public	realm	and	flood	defence	has	been	
adopted for the Southsea Coastal scheme, and where 
possible	enhancements	sought,	the	flood	defence	grant	in	
aid funding will only go so far and additional monies will 
need to be sought.

A project of this nature will likely require partnerships with 
private sector parties and partnering agreements either 
by way of a joint venture or development agreements that 
could be secured with a developer/investor/occupier to 
work alongside the City Council. It is also acknowledged 
that a number of the areas are in private ownership or 
subject to existing lease agreements and collaboration for 
mutual	benefit	will	be	required.

The Covid-19 pandemic has placed greater pressure 
on both public and private funding, and there is much 
uncertainty across the country right now, however, there are 
also potentially new opportunities that we may be able to 
capitalise on. During this period, people have valued public 
space, nature and the quality of the built environment much 
more and active travel has increased. The government has 
already pledged funding for Walking and Cycling and it is 
likely as we move forwards additional grant monies will be 
available for projects of this nature.

Prior to the pandemic, an initial funding appraisal was 
carried out to ascertain opportunities for funding for 
enhancements	alongside	the	flood	defence	scheme.	
The potential funding sources are outlined below (this list is 
not exhaustive).

Next Steps

P
age 455



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

54

 

Section 106
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), commonly 
known as S106 agreements, are a mechanism which make 
a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, 
that would not otherwise be acceptable. They are focused 
on	site	specific	mitigation	of	the	impact	of	development.	
S106 agreements are often referred to as ‘developer 
contributions’ along with highway contributions and the 
Community Infrastructure Levy. It is anticipated that S106 
agreements will provide a contribution to the programme 
from appropriate developments citywide. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that 
the City Council can apply to planning applications to raise 
funds to support growth and development in the City. The 
levy is set locally and most new development which creates 
additional	floor	space	of	100	square	metres	or	more,	or	
creates a new dwelling, is potentially liable for the levy. The 
Council’s intentions for spending CIL receipts are set out in 
what is known as its ‘CIL Regulation 123 List’. 

Heritage Action Zones
Ten Heritage Action Zones (HAZ) were announced in March 
2017. There may be the case through this project, for an 
application given that Heritage Action Zone status funding 
is available for areas that may want to form a HAZ and 
also Registered Parks and Gardens Common falls under this 
category (applicable to Southsea Common).

Heritage Lottery Fund – Parks for the People
The HLF Parks for People fund helps to conserve the heritage 
that makes both historic parks and cemeteries special and 
gives local people a say in how they are managed in the 
future. Grants of between £100,000 and £5,000,000 
are made based upon the capacity of a project to deliver 
outcomes for heritage, people and communities. By public 
park the HLF means an existing designed urban or rural 
park, the main purpose of which is providing free access to 
informal	recreation	and	enjoyment.	Their	definition	includes	
urban parks, country parks, gardens, squares and seaside 
promenade gardens. It is likely that all areas designated 
as Registered Historic Gardens would be considered for 
the grant, particularly where the emphasis is on restoration 

(Southsea Common, The Rock Garden and The Rose Garden 
may be applicable).

Coastal Communities Fund
The Coastal Communities Fund (CCF) encourages the 
economic development of UK coastal communities by giving 
funding to create sustainable economic growth and jobs. 
Since the start of the CCF in 2012, the Big Lottery Fund has 
awarded grants to 277 organisations across the UK to the 
value of £170 million. The Big Lottery Fund has delivered 
the CCF on behalf of UK Government and the Devolved 
Administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. 
The UK Government announced in 2015 that the CCF will 
be extended to 2021 with at least £90m of new funding 
available for the period 2017/18 to 2020/21. The next 
funding round is uncertain and is currently being monitored.

Arts Council
The Arts Council ‘Let’s Create’ strategy outlines the types 
of projects in the future that would be applicable and an 
overarching Arts Strategy is currently being developed for 
the seafront.

Sustrans
Sustrans provides funding for projects to create safe, 
attractive, healthier places by increasing the number of 
trips made by walking, cycling and wheeling for everyday 
journeys.

Sport England
Each year Sport England invest more than £250 million of 
National Lottery and public money to help people play 
sport and take part in physical activity. There are a range of 
funding streams available for capital projects that Southsea 
might be able to access. 

The National Lottery Communities Fund
The National Lottery Community Fund distributes over 
£600m a year to communities across the UK. In order to 
access this money, partnerships need to be set up and 
include:
* a voluntary, community and social 

enterprise sector organisation
* a local authority, and
* an NHS organisation (including Clinical Commissioning 

Groups, NHS Trusts and primary care bodies).

Other Organisations
There are a number of other local and national organisations 
that could potential provide opportunities for funding -

* Wolfson Foundation
* Garfield	Weston
* Arcardia Fund
* Worshipful Companies
* Bernard Sunley
* Southern Co-operative
* Lloyds TSB Foundation
* Lush
* Brittany Ferries
* B&Q / Homebase
* Covers
* Stannah
* Wiggle
* Sailing BAR, INEOS Team UK
* Portsmouth Museums
* Associated dockyard businesses
* Edge Funds website
* Charity Commission
* Victorious

P
age 456



Collaborative Enhancements Plan - Southsea Public Realm

55

Eastney Beach

 

Next Steps
Following a period of further consultation and engagement, 
it is envisaged that the Collaborative  Enhancement Plan, 
in association with the Masterplan SPD, will be used to 
aid initial discussions with both public bodies and private 
developers.

Importantly,	the	projects	identified	and	showcased	aim	
to capture imagination and demonstrate the potential of 
place - ‘the art of the possible’. This is a once in a lifetime 
opportunity to deliver transformational change to secure a 
long term sustainable future for Southsea and the people of 
Portsmouth.

P
age 457



London
New Fetter Place
8-10 New Fetter Lane
London EC4A 1AZ
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 20 7467 1470

Bristol
Studio 4B 
36 King Street
Bristol BS1 4DZ 
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 117 203 3628

Cambridge
17A Sturton Street
Cambridge CB1 2SN
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 1223 949054

Exeter
Kings Wharf, The Quay
Exeter EX2 4AN
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 1392 260 430

Glasgow
Sovereign House
158 West Regent Street
Glasgow G2 4RL
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 1412 229 780

Manchester
Beehive Lofts
Beehive Mill
Jersey Street
Manchester M4 6JG
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 161 359 5684

Oxford
Worton Rectory Park
Oxford OX29 4SX
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 1865 887050

Peterborough
17 Minster Precincts
Peterborough PE1 1XX
United Kingdom
+44 (0) 1733 310 471

www.lda-design.co.uk

LDA Design Consulting Ltd
Registered No: 09312403
17 Minster Precincts, Peterborough PE1 1XX

 

LDA Design is a ISO 9001 / ISO 14001 accredited company

 

P
age 458



 

 
Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet Meeting  
City Council Meeting (13 October 2020) 
 

Date of meeting: 
 

15th September 2020  

Subject: 
 

Leamington House and Horatia House - Update and 
Next Steps  
 

Report by: 
 

Director of Regeneration & Director of Housing, 
Neighbourhood and Building Services 
 

Wards affected: 
 

St Thomas Ward  

Key decision: 
 

Yes 

Full Council decision: Yes 
 

 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 

1.1. To provide Cabinet with a progress update including  

 

1.1.1. Deconstruction Options Appraisal & Soft Market Testing 

1.1.2. Design Team Appointment 

1.1.3. Telecommunication re-siting  

1.1.4. Peregrine Falcons  

 

1.2. Note the continued commitment to engage the wider community to explore 

the 'wider area improvements' and the incorporation into the design brief of 

all the feedback from the community engagement work undertaken in 2019 

including the seven key themes that emerged from all the feedback; 

 

1. Build appropriate homes 

2. Make better use of green space and space for children 

3. No more student accommodation 

4. Consider wider area improvements 

5. Better parking options 

6. No tower blocks 

7. Re-provide the social housing lost when the tower blocks go 

  

1.3. To report back the initial financial viability assessment of a development on 

the 'foot prints' of the two tower blocks based on an overall development of 

440 units and including 272 social housing units to be held within the 

Housing Revenue Account  

 

Page 459

Agenda Item 7



 

1.4. To seek permission from Cabinet to tender and appoint a contractor to 

undertake the deconstruction of the two tower blocks 

 

1.5. To seek permission from Full Council to proceed with the wider 

development (described in paragraph 1.3 above) at an estimated total cost 

of £120m subject to:  

 
1.5..1. the development remaining viable through the design stages and 

remaining within certain other financial parameters 

1.5..2. the development remaining sustainably within the administrations 

agreed principles (section 5) 

 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1. That the Cabinet: 

 
2.1.1 Notes the progress since the October 2019 Cabinet report. 

 

2.1.2 Notes the output of the soft market testing for the deconstruction of the 

tower blocks.  

 

2.1.3 Notes that the outline financial appraisal for an initial phase consisting of 

the two footprints is positive with the caveats noted in the financial 

implications.   

 

2.1.4 Approves a change to the Capital Programme for the use of the Housing 

Revenue Account's (HRA) Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) to fund the 

deconstruction and site preparation of the two towers up to a value of £10m. 

 

2.1.5 Delegates authority to the Director of Regeneration in consultation with the 

Director of Housing, Neighbourhood and Building Services and the Section 

151 Officer to tender and enter into contract with the preferred bidder for 

the deconstruction work following full evaluation of the tender. 

 

2.2 That City Council approves the following: 

 

2.2.1 That the full deconstruction and redevelopment scheme for the two tower 

blocks is added to the capital programme in the sum of £120m. 

 

2.2.2 That the scheme is funded by a suitable mix of HRA and General Fund 

Prudential Borrowing as determined by the S.151 Officer. 

 

2.2.3 That the scheme can only proceed, including through its procurement 

gateways, if a satisfactory financial appraisal which demonstrates viability 

is approved by the Section151 Officer. 

 

Page 460



 

2.2.4 That, given the early stage of design, delegated authority be given to the 

Section151 Officer to vary the overall scheme cost and borrow as required 

but subject to the Section 151 Officer being satisfied that the associated 

financial appraisal demonstrates continued viability and acceptable risk and 

that the gross cost of the scheme does not exceed £145m.  

 
2.2.5 In the event that the scheme varies significantly from the design parameters 

(described in section 5) and/or the gross cost exceeds £145m, even if 

viability can still be demonstrated, the scheme will not proceed without 

further approval from the City Council. 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 Cabinet received a report on 8th October 2019 and following this it had also 

requested a further information report with an update on progress for the 
project. This was due to report to a special Cabinet on the 26th March 2020 
however this meeting was cancelled due to the COVID-19 crisis. 
 

3.2 Work on the project has been impacted by COVID-19 pandemic, as the City 
Council moved into a major incident business continuity setting. As the 
initial response phase settled work has resumed on the project and 
progress made which informs this report and the recommendations.  

 
4. Update on the Progress of the Project since October 2019  
 

Deconstruction Options Appraisal & Soft Market Testing  
 
4.1 Ridge & Partners LLP were appointed on the 17th July 2019 as principal 

consultant to provide a detailed options appraisal for the deconstruction of 
both blocks. 
 

4.2 Reports were received in December 2019 that provide the detail on the 
method of deconstruction, timescales and estimated costs. In summary the 
findings support the proposed deconstruction method whilst giving 
confirmatory and detailed analysis of the two blocks. The reports have been 
used to inform the specification for the deconstruction of the blocks.  

 
4.3 Ridge & Partners LLP provided a market appraisal feedback report in July 

2020 that provides an overview of the Soft Market Testing (SMT) exercise 
and subsequent site visits undertaken with four leading deconstruction 
contractors for the proposed deconstruction works.   

 
4.4 The market appraisal exercise reviewed key considerations with the 

contractors including procurement and tendering options, deconstruction 
methodology, tender and on-site programme, impact of COVID 19 together 
with general project risk factors.   

 
4.5 The contractors were asked to provide high level estimates of the costs 

associated with deconstruction of both blocks. This provided a range of cost 

Page 461



 

estimates that has allowed the team to set a budget for the deconstruction 
of both blocks.  

 
4.6 The Council Gateway Board approved the strategic business case and 

procurement strategy for the selection stage on 16th July 2020 for the 
deconstruction of the blocks including the establishment of a southern 
region specialist demolition (deconstruction) framework. 

 
4.7 The programme for the deconstruction of the blocks will commence when 

the OJEU is published following Cabinet approval with shortlisting 
confirmed by the autumn 2020. Tenders will then be issued and evaluated 
by the end of 2020 with contracts being awarded early 2021. It is anticipated 
that a start on site to commence deconstruction will be spring 2021 and 
deconstruction will take approximately one year.  

 
4.8 Ridge and PCC will conclude the tender package for the contractor 

procurement including all relevant surveys and documents produced to 
date. This will be assembled and the OJEU notice drafted in anticipation of 
the approval of funding and other recommendations in this report, by the 
Council. 

 
4.9 The market appraisal feedback report which will be a key document in the 

procurement process, is included in Appendix 1 as a confidential item due 
to the commercial sensitivity of the information. 

 
 Design Team Appointment update  
 
4.10 Cabinet approved the 8 October 2019 report which included the budget and 

delegations to appoint a design team with the budget to masterplan and 
develop options with local residents.  
 

4.11 Eleven contractors responded to the expression of Interest (EOI) issued on 
the 14th February 2020 for the Horatia House and Leamington House 
Master planning. 
 

4.12 The expression on interests were evaluated and 4 contractors shortlisted. 
The shortlisted contractors were notified on the 16th March 2020 and 
invitations to tender issued on the 9th June 2020. 
 

4.13 Three of the four shortlisted contractors returned tenders on the 7th July 
2020. The tenders were evaluated and interviews took place with the 2 
highest scoring contractors on the 23rd & 24th July 2020. 
 

4.14 The Council Gateway Board approved the final recommendations of the 
procurement on the 30th July 2020 and the contract was awarded on the 6th 
August 2020 to the successful supplier after a mandatory standstill period. 

 
4.15 The cost of the RIBA stage 0 works was budgeted at £200,000 and the 

successful supplier costs came in slightly under budget. The planning work 
they will undertake will provide a basis for moving the project forward 
through the design stages and provide more certainty around the viability 
of the sites under consideration. 

Page 462



 

 
4.16 The Homes England Multi-Disciplinary Technical Services Framework that 

has been utilised allows the Council the option to use this supplier for RIBA 
stages 1 & 2 and beyond if required. Although it should be noted that their 
role will likely change and involvement diminish as we move towards the 
technical design and construction stages of the scheme. 

 
4.17 A synopsis outlining the composition of the design team and approach is 

contained in Appendix 2 
 

4.18 The design team will focus on the master planning of the development in 
line with the consultation results with the 'foot print' of the two tower blocks 
being prioritised whilst also continuing to explore with the local community, 
the 'wider area improvements' as noted in the 8th October 2019 cabinet 
report.  

 
4.19 The design brief (see section 5) will include all the engagement feedback 

from the local community, stakeholders and wider community. Shown in 
Appendix 3 and available via an interactive report 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/hou-hl-community-
engagement-report.pdf' 

 
4.20 The 'foot print' of the two tower blocks is shown in Appendix 4  
 

Telecoms Update  
 

4.21 The Council has commenced discussion with the two commercial interests 
with telecoms equipment situated on the roof of both blocks.  

 
4.22 Under the terms of the existing agreements, the first has been terminated 

and is due to relocate by December 2020. 
 
4.23 The second telecoms operator has a longer term interest and has initially 

objected to the council's request to vacate and has served a counter notice 
to protect their interest. They have also commenced preparations to vacate 
and are actively looking for sites in the area. 

 
4.24 Site inspections and surveys by both parties and the Council surveyors 

have begun, more information has been requested from the companies to 
enable approval for the alternative sites to proceed. Both are working 
towards relocating in time to facilitate deconstruction. 

 

5. Redevelopment 

 

5.1. The Somerstown and North Southsea area is strategically important within 

the wider city context. Its close proximity to: the city centre; main shopping 

areas; public transport network; centres of employment and education, 

leisure attractions and amenities make it a desirable and attractive place to 

live.   

 

Page 463

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/hou-hl-community-engagement-report.pdf
http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/hou-hl-community-engagement-report.pdf


 

5.2. The extensive consultation that took place with residents and stakeholders 

identified a desire to consider wider area improvements beyond the 

development of the two tower blocks sites (see section 5.6). 

 

5.3. The Council will be following the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) 

stages of work for the delivery of the development of this area, with an 

estimated timeline as follows: 

RIBA 0 – Strategic Definition    (Winter 2020) 
RIBA 1 – Preparation and Briefing  (Spring 2021) 
RIBA 2 – Concept Design    (Autumn 2021) 
RIBA 3 – Spatial Coordination   (Autumn 2022) 
RIBA 4 – Technical Design    (TBC) 
RIBA 5 – Manufacturing and Construction  (TBC) 
RIBA 6 – Handover     (TBC) 
RIBA 7 – Use      (TBC) 
 

5.4. RIBA Stages 2, 3 and 4 are the main design stages of the RIBA plan of 

work. Stage 2 is 'Concept Design', and this is likely the stage at which the 

Council will receive the first visualisations or drawings of the design ideas 

developed from the project brief in line with the resident consultation and 

financial gateways. 

 

5.5. In development of the plans the Council will consider 3 priority areas to 

guide decision making and ensure successful development of the site; 

environmental, social and financial factors. 

 

5.6. The Council has undertaken consultation with the public regarding the 

Horatia and Leamington House sites. This consultation will aid the 

designers in creating a 'Community Engagement Strategy' which will build 

upon the consultation undertaken to date. The community engagement 

strategy will provide a voice for the community and stakeholders to feed 

into the design process. The design brief will incorporate the seven themes 

(Section 1.2) and the design team will have access to all the feedback (as 

shown in Appendix 3).  

 
5.7. The Council will be supported by Arcadis, a cost management consultant 

who is part of the multi-disciplinary design team. Building Information 

Modelling (BIM) will be used to efficiently plan and design the buildings and 

at every stage of the programme cost together with financial viability will be 

monitored and reported to ensure best value and inform decisions before 

proceeding to the next stage. Throughout the programme the stage 

approval gates are at key milestones, these are reflected in the contracting 

arrangements and provide the Council with flexibility to terminate the 

contract with the design team if the programme or cost does not progress 

as planned.  

 

Page 464



 

5.8. It is anticipated the design team will develop the scheme up to RIBA stage 

3 providing successful completions at each approval gate. At this point the 

design team will provide support to the Council if and when required as the 

programme moves into the technical design, construction and handover 

stages. There are already a number of potential options identified to deliver 

RIBA stages 3+ which will be explored to ensure the best outcome for the 

Council. 

 
 Peregrine Falcons 

 
5.9. During the summer of 2020 reports were received regarding the nesting of 

Peregrine Falcons on Horatia House. These are a bird of prey and 

protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 

5.10. The situation has been and continues to be monitored. Inspections in late 

August 2020 indicate that the birds are no longer nesting. This concurs with 

the preliminary advice sought that the nesting season is between March - 

July.   

 
5.11. The city council recognises the importance of this situation and will 

commission expert support and advice to ensure compliance with the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.     

 

6. Reasons for recommendations 

 
6.1. The recommendations contained within this report are proposed for the 

following reasons: 

 

  The Council has rehoused 272 social housing households rented 

from the blocks, however there continues to be a demand for more 

affordable housing in the Somerstown area.   

 The strengthening works to retain the blocks is practically difficult 

and financially unviable. Since the residents have been rehoused the 

Council is incurring a substantial annual net loss of revenue whilst 

the blocks are not replaced whilst also incurring costs to ensure that 

the blocks remain safe and secure.  

 The two blocks dominate the local area and the impact on the 

neighbourhood of continuing to retain the empty blocks is that they 

will become unsightly and a potential risk for vandalism.  

 The engagement with the local community, stakeholders and wider 

community provided  depth of feedback in relation to the 

replacement of the two towers blocks and wider area improvement 

with seven key themes emerging  

 A financially viable redevelopment has been identified but will remain 

subject to ongoing financial review  

Page 465



 

 To prepare a Master Plan and Outline Business Case in order to 

attract central government funding to contribute towards the overall 

costs of deconstruction and redevelopment   

 To improve the overall financial position of the Housing Revenue 

Account across the 30 year Business Plan, providing continued 

sustainability to manage and maintain the Council's housing stock 

 

6.2. At this early stage of design, the financial appraisal confirms the viability of 

a development on the foot prints of the two tower blocks. It is important to 

progress with the deconstruction as well as the detailed design works at 

this stage, without Full Council approval for the full redevelopment, in order 

to ensure that the timescales to replace the lost housing stock in the HRA 

and the disruption to local residents are minimised. 

 

6.3. Furthermore, in the event that Full Council does not provide approval for 

the funding of the proposed redevelopment at this time, it is not anticipated 

that the deconstruction for cleared site would result in abortive costs since 

given the risks of retaining the blocks unoccupied and the overwhelming 

need for additional housing, it is inevitable that some form of development 

will take place in the future. 

 
6.4. Should Cabinet proceed with the deconstruction but the Council decide not 

to provide funding for the full scheme re-development, the opportunity of 

the current tranche of external funding could be lost resulting in further 

delay and cost to the HRA. 

 
6.5. In the event that the funding is not approved for either the deconstruction 

or the redevelopment of the two tower blocks the project has reached a 

point of pause until an alternative viable proposal is prepared.  

 

7.  Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

7.1. A integrated impact assessment is attached Appendix 5 

 

8. Legal implications  

 

8.1. The proposed plan presents, at this stage limited legal risk given that the 

appropriate OJEU threshold is recognised and the intention as to process 

is set out in paragraph 4.6 through to 4.8. The proposed decision is 

recognised as being a key decision. It terms of challenge given the 

comments there is little challenge that cannot be justified as set against a 

need to deal with the destruction and contingent re-development of the site, 

indeed the fact that the sites remain unoccupied and as yet dealt with 

presents a wider risk in terms of challenge and ongoing cost. 

 

Page 466



 

8.2. It is noted that contingent risks (telecommunications) have been mitigated 

and even in regard to the one operator that has served a counter notice that 

this is being dealt with as against a back drop that at the very least the 

structures will be removed. Beyond some potential negotiation with this 

particular operator and having regard to the fact that the previous tenants 

are all re-homed there is a limited risk of any immediate functional challenge 

to this initial element of the proposed process.   

 

9. Director of Finance's comments 

 

9.1. The Council has carried out an outline financial appraisal for the 

deconstruction and redevelopment to determine whether there is a 

reasonable expectation, with reasonable assumptions and modelling 

alternative risk based scenarios, that a financially viable scheme can be 

delivered.  

 

9.2. A draft massing study was carried out that looked at the potential 

development that could be delivered on the site and it is estimated that 440 

units could be delivered. Within those units, it is also assumed that 272 

units would be Social Housing held within the City Council's own Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA). 

 
9.3. It is anticipated that an overall development of this site could cost in the 

order of £120m in total including deconstruction of the existing structures.  

Given the current stage of design, the financial appraisal and scenario 

modelling (i.e. sensitivity analysis) continue to evolve in relation to costs, 

rental income streams and potential Government funding. Given the 

variables and uncertainty that exists at this early stage, it would be 

advisable to plan for costs to vary by up to £25m (scheme total of £145m) 

on the assumption, of course, that the overall scheme remains financially 

viable. 

 
9.4. The Council have met with representatives from Homes England who have 

suggested that the Council could be entitled to a capital grant to help enable 

the delivery of the site, and an estimate of £10m has been assumed in the 

appraisal.  The Council are unable to submit a full application for this 

funding until it has an outline business case and master planning document 

to inform the exact extent of the development.  

 
9.5. The financial appraisal assumes that the properties tenure mix will be 272 

Social Housing units let at affordable rent that is defined as the Local 

Housing Allowance rate less service charge. The remaining flats are 

assumed to be rented at Market rent levels and this level of tenure is crucial 

to the financial viability of the scheme. 

 

Page 467



 

9.6. In overall terms covering a 60 year life, the overall deconstruction and 

redevelopment is currently anticipated to have an overall Net Present Value 

(* see note)  of between £7m and £21m across alternative risk based 

scenarios which vary costs, income and levels of external funding.  On that 

basis, it is proposed that the entire scheme is funded from prudential 

borrowing (HRA and General Fund).   

 
9.7. As previously mentioned, it is proposed that the deconstruction works are 

approved in advance of the full re-development scheme since they are 

necessary for health and safety reasons, to avoid vandalism and blight to 

the area. Additionally, given the substantial housing need that exists, any 

expenditure incurred is unlikely to be abortive.  This site is currently owned 

by the Housing Revenue Account and is estimated to have a negative land 

value because of the extensive cost of deconstruction of the existing 

structures, therefore it is appropriate to use the Major Repairs Reserve of 

the HRA as a source of funding to enable the site to be regenerated for 

homes.  

 
9.8. It is proposed therefore to re-direct the use of the Major Repairs Reserves 

in the sum of up to £10m from the Housing Maintenance Programme to 

fund the deconstruction of the two tower blocks.  In the event that Full 

Council approve funding for the full deconstruction and redevelopment 

scheme then the Major Repairs Reserve will be re-instated to its originally 

approved purpose.  

 
9.9. Should Cabinet proceed with demolition but the Council decide not to 

provide funding for the full scheme re-development, the opportunity of 

external funding will be lost and the costs incurred on demolition will fall to 

the HRA to fund in the form of 'cash backed' funding (not borrowing) which 

would otherwise have been used to maintain the Council's housing stock.  

 
* Note: 

 
Net Present Value is a recognised Capital Investment appraisal technique that measures all 
of the cash flows (both capital and revenue) over a relevant period of time and taking 
account of "the time value of money" (i.e. £1 today is worth more than £1 in the future as £1 
today can be invested to make a return). This means that the comparison of different 
options which have differing cash flows across differing periods are made on a on a like for 
like basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 468



 

 

 

……………………………………………… 

Signed by:  

Director of Regeneration 
 

 

 

……………………………………………… 

Signed by:  

Director of Housing, Neighbourhood and Building Services 
 
 
 
Appendices: 

 
Confidential Appendix 1  - not for publication 
 
Ridge & Partners LLP market appraisal feedback report in July 2020  
 
 
Appendix 2 
 
Synopsis outlining the composition of the design team  
 
 
Appendix 3 
 
H&L Community Engagement Report 
 
 
Appendix 4 
 
Development site - Horatia House and Leamington House  

Page 469



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Appendix 5 
 
Integrated Impact Assessment 

 
 
 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 

1972 
 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon 
to a material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Page 470



 

Title of 
docu
ment 

Location 

Leamington 
House and 
Horatia 
House Next 
Steps 
Cabinet 
Report 26th 
February 
2019 

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?C
Id=126&MId=4212 

 

Leamington 
House and 
Horatia 
House - 
Update and 
Engagement 
Next Steps 
8th October 
2019 

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?C
Id=126&MId=4337 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ 
deferred/ rejected by 
 

 
 
 
……………………………… on ……………………………… 

 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Leader of the Council  
 
 
 
 

 

Page 471

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4212
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4212
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4337
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=4337


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Studio 501, 37 Cremer St, Hackney, London, E2 8HD 

mail@karakusevic-carson.com  |  020 7566 6300 |  karakusevic-carson.com 

TEAM COMPOSITION 

Karakusevic Carson have assembled a bespoke team of housing specialists and technical experts to provide Portsmouth City 
Council with the expertise and agility to drive forward the development of Horatia House & Leamington House and engaging 
the community on wider area improvements. 

Karakusevic Carson Architects (KCA) will manage 
the project, lead the team and lead the Design Work 
stream (Master planning, Architecture and 
Engagement). KCA are award-winning specialists at 
the forefront of urban renewal, master planning and 
public housing architecture across the UK. KCA are 
committed to working with local communities, and 
have unparalleled experience engaging successfully 
with residents and stakeholders to deliver award-
winning neighbourhoods which stitch sensitively into 
the city.  

Ridge will lead the Engineering Workstream 
(Mechanical & Structural Engineering/ 
Sustainability/Utilities). They are a multidiscipline 
property and construction consultancy who are 
experts at working with public sector and local 
authority clients to deliver complex residential and 
mixed-use schemes. They are currently working to 
advise Portsmouth City Council of the 
deconstruction of Horatia House and Leamington 
House, so are ideally placed to provide their expert 
knowledge of the site to the development.  

Arcadis will lead the Finance Work stream (Cost Management & Property. They are a management, regeneration and 
business consultancy with international expertise in applying deep market sector insights and industry-leading strategy to 
successfully develop and deliver projects.  

Jennifer Ross Planning (JRP) will lead the Planning Work stream. Jennifer Ross has led and worked on a rich and diverse mix 
of high profile projects for Local Authorities, government agencies and private sector clients. She has worked extensively on 
south coast projects and has widespread experience in strategic masterplan developments of housing estates.  

The team also includes Lewis Hubbard Engineering as Civil Infrastructure and SuD’s expertise and Studio ONB who will lead 
the landscape design.  

CONSULTATION 

Over the last two decades Karakusevic Carson have made a name for ourselves through a dedication to collaborating with 
residents and communities to produce award-winning work.  

Our approach to collaborative design is simple. We work closely with members of the community to create a shared vision that 
is deliverable. Our iterative process and accessible activities feed directly in to design development, making it clear how the 
community has influenced the design proposals.  

We have a dedicated internal Community & Engagement Coordinator who supports the design team in coordinating 
meaningful activities and oversees the quality of the process and accessibility of materials. Working closely with the Client 
Team and PCC Communication Team we would develop a detailed engagement strategy that sets out our approach to 
engagement with various stakeholder groups, roles and responsibilities, and key activities. 

 

 

Page 473



 
 

 

Studio 501, 37 Cremer St, Hackney, London, E2 8HD 

mail@karakusevic-carson.com  |  020 7566 6300 |  karakusevic-carson.com 

DESIGN APPROACH 

Portsmouth City Council’s clear project goal, defining the councils desire to create ‘a high-quality, sustainable urban 
neighbourhood’, resonates with the approach and track record of our bespoke multi-disciplinary team of housing regeneration 
specialists. The teams combined expertise, local knowledge, and years of experience in master planning and estate 
regeneration will provide huge added value and the ability to support the council in achieving its goals, with design led ‘place 
making’ solutions customised to the unique opportunities of the site, its residents and stakeholders and to overcome the 
delivery challenges through intelligent technical, financial and funding moves. 

Our understanding of the brief sets out the council’s long-term ambition for environmental, social and economic sustainability, 
for the project. We will use these 3 project principles as a coherent framework to guide our work and influence the design and 
decision process to align the aims and ambition of the team, council and stakeholders. These principles will be developed and 
agreed upon at the start of the project and could form the basis of a Project Manifesto, focussing on whole life value. 

 

Environmental Value: Use ‘greener’ design-led thinking and intelligent optioneering, to maximise 
environmental benefit and quality of life whilst minimising environmental impact and infrastructure 
costs.  

 

 

Social Value: Place making, amenity and uses that provide assets that benefit both place and people, 
developed through grass-roots engagement and building on this inclusive foundation to enhance the 
existing neighbourhood. 

 

 

Financial Value: Intelligent, innovative and agile project collaboration to capitalise on the team’s 
experience and knowledge to optimise cost/value, viability and deliverability, through a whole life cost 
approach and range of procurement routes. 

 

 

 

To build on the existing feasibility study we would create a strategy emphasising delivery of high quality new homes and 
improved green spaces that positively contribute to neighbourhood improvements. In addition to this, responding to PCC’s 
objectives to create long term physical, economical, and social sustainability, we would also explore the following: 

- Development options to include the potential of the current site to integrate new homes whilst improving existing frontage on 
streets and underused landscape, as well as considering long term upgrades to adapt the existing blocks to improve living 
quality. 

- Value of retaining trees. Existing trees are a valuable asset and can positively contribute to its green infrastructure 
improvements. We would promote a careful assessment of existing trees and work to try to retain the majority of the good 
quality trees. 

- Integration of the public consultation in the design process. It's important that the consultation findings are incorporated into 
designs and presented back soon. 

Page 474



 
 

 

Studio 501, 37 Cremer St, Hackney, London, E2 8HD 

mail@karakusevic-carson.com  |  020 7566 6300 |  karakusevic-carson.com 

- Identity and character should develop around the existing community, its rich history and adjacent amenities and 
conservation areas. 

- Innovation. We would explore modern methods of construction, promote sustainable ways of travel, contribute to the 
changing perceptions and behaviours towards car ownership and parking needs.  

- We will work with our cost and property team to provide maximum Social and Environmental benefits, within viable and 
deliverable proposals. 

 
FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
 
We will use our Agency advisor to provide advice on existing market sales rates, value recovery post COVID-19 and 
experience of value uplift from other schemes by ‘creating place’. Our team hold an extensive database of cost data in terms 
of type and location of housing schemes from tendered prices to final accounts. We will use this database to support 
benchmarking for this project. Ridge’s Director David Johnson will provide peer review and supplement Arcadis in-house cost 
and value projections, with the local Winchester office knowledge, adding value through reducing risk profile. Arcadis also has 
a cost research department which provides quarterly market indicators and inflation trends and we will use this information to 
support inflation impacts.  
 
As landowner, and because a delivery mechanism is yet to be formally selected, the business case model provides the 
Council with the opportunity to view the financial assessment elements of the scheme from various different perspectives. 
These could include viewing the model from the perspective of partial developer, joint venture partner or direct developer. 
 
A range of funding options will be explored including institutional, Private and Government sources. Post- COVID housing 
funding is likely to evolve quickly and we expect a strong social, affordable and sustainable approach will maximise access to 
these. Leveraging grant funding early is a beneficial way of keeping peak debt to manageable levels and our team are 
experienced at winning funding in competitive circumstances, such as the £156 million HIF funding for the Meridian Water 
master plan at Enfield. We will work with PCC’s regeneration officers to explore opportunities for S106 and CIL funding, 
affordable housing grant funding and other regeneration monies and include their drawdown profile in the business case, 
option testing process and phasing plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 475



 
 

 

Studio 501, 37 Cremer St, Hackney, London, E2 8HD 

mail@karakusevic-carson.com  |  020 7566 6300 |  karakusevic-carson.com 

CASE STUDIES: 
 
Kings Crescent Estate, Hackney 
A phased estate renewal project delivering 750 homes, including the 
refurbishment of 200+ existing homes, the creation of 500 new homes 
and a new landscape and public realm strategy that reconnects the 
estate to its surroundings. 
 
The scheme achieves Code for Sustainable Homes (CfSH) 
Certification: Level 4 on all new homes through a combination of 
enhanced building fabric U-value targets, PVs, high ceilings, 
biodiversity roofs and an integrated SUDS strategy. The refurbishment 
strategy for the existing homes upgrades thermal performance with 
new winter gardens, that also provide high quality new living space in 
the homes. 
 
The engagement programme was designed to understand the issues 
that affected the estate and how these could be resolved. The 
engagement programme informed a wide variety of design 
developments across the estate, including playspace, access 
strategies, and community gardens. Since the completion of Phase 
1&2, post occupancy walkarounds and surveys have informed the 
design stages of Kings Crescent Phases 3&4. 
 
As Lead Consultant Karakusevic Carson managed the team’s cost 
control, value and quality targets and KPIs, working iteratively and 
collaboratively to achieve the target design quality on a constrained 
budget. We worked with the Council and their viability consultants to 
demonstrate at each Gateway that the project delivered added value 
and met the project budget.   
 
“The Kings Crescent Estate is a great example of how estate 
regeneration can preserve existing diverse communities and support 
them through periods of change.”  
- Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London, New London Architecture Awards 
2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 476



 
 

 

Studio 501, 37 Cremer St, Hackney, London, E2 8HD 

mail@karakusevic-carson.com  |  020 7566 6300 |  karakusevic-carson.com 

St Raphael’s Estate, Brent 
Brent Council appointed Karakusevic Carson Architects to lead a 
design team to run a community-led co-design process, developing 
a masterplan for the future of St Raphael’s Estate.  
The project will create two masterplan options, for infill or 
redevelopment of the estate, and to create new links to the 
surrounding urban context. The design and engagement process is 
closely linked to afford the 1147 households of mixed tenure on the 
estate a chance to be involved in shaping the proposals. 
 
Designed to reach and include as many residents as possible, the 
engagement strategy has included: ‘meet the team’ days with 
resident-led estate walks, a community fun day with family 
activities, a study trip to two similar schemes with the opportunity 
to speak to residents who have been through a similar process, 
two sets of co-design workshops: 1. to shape the brief and vision 
of the estate and; 2. to explore options, public exhibitions to collate 
information and gain formal feedback.  
 
We have taken the recent lockdown as an opportunity to review 
and innovate our standard practices, and sought to broaden our 
engagement opportunities. We have learned that Resident 
Steering Group meetings can be held successfully on platforms 
such as Microsoft Teams. Whatsapp and email groups, as well as 
traditional post and phones have also been successful, and 
enabled conversations to continue meaningfully for everyone, not 
just the digitally savvy or those able to come to socially distanced 
events. 
 
The engagement process has been supplemented with a 
pioneering Social Value programme, including a paid videography 
and photography commission, and a London Living Wage 
internship, and a Youth Action Group, both helping run 
engagement.  
By inviting local people to be as involved as they wish in the 
project, providing paid opportunities where possible, embedding 
long term social value and making a long term commitment to the 
community, we believe that physical, social and economic benefits 
can come together to create a successful, safe and integrated 
neighbourhood with a thriving community at its heart. 
 
 
 

Page 477



This page is intentionally left blank



HORATIA AND 
LEAMINGTON HOUSES
WHAT PEOPLE TOLD US
Summer 2019

www.portsmouth.gov.uk CLICK HERE

TO START

P
age 479



WE CONTACTED MORE THAN 6,000 PEOPLE
CLICK THE PICTURES BELOW TO FIND OUT WHAT PEOPLE TOLD US

£

NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS PARTNER ORGANISATIONS SELDOM HEARD GROUPS PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS

PCC STAFF FORMER H&L RESIDENTS LOCAL BUSINESSES RESIDENTS GROUPS EVERYBODY

P
age 480



NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS
click the pictures below to find out more

DOOR KNOCKING HAND DELIVERED LETTERS ‘SORRY WE MISSED YOU’

HOW WE LISTENED WORD CLOUD WHAT THEY TOLD US 

3

MAP

TRANSLATIONS

P
age 481



… of those within

150m of the blocks

spoke to us face-to-

face.

We knocked the door

of every resident and

business within 150m

of the blocks. A total

of …

P
age 482



 

Mary Devaney 

Strategic Developments 

Portsmouth City Council 

Civic Offices 

Important information from    Guildhall Square 

Portsmouth City Council             Portsmouth 

                                     PO1 2AL 

 

 

June 2019 

 

Dear resident, 

 

Re: Somerstown - tell us what you think 

 

I am writing to ask for your help in improving the area around Horatia and Leamington 

Houses after the tower blocks are taken down. 

 

As I'm sure you know, these 1960s blocks, in Meriden Road and Earlsdon Street, are 

being removed after we found problems with the original concrete construction while we 

were removing cladding. 

 

We have said that we will replace the 272 homes in Horatia and Leamington with a 

minimum of the same number of units at social rents. This can be done in a number of 

different ways. 

 

We want to make sure that you are involved as we look to make the most of this 

opportunity to make improvements in the area. 

 

We would like you to tell us what you think so we have enclosed with this letter a feedback 

form. We would be very grateful if you would explain on this form what you would like to 

see done in this area after the tower blocks are removed. Please post your completed 

form to us, at the above address, before Friday 5 July, or drop it back with us at the Civic 

Offices reception (see address above) or the Somerstown area housing office at 

Somerstown Central (the Hub), in Rivers Street. 

 

If you would prefer to speak to us about this in person then please call me on 023 9284 

1311 before Friday 5 July to book a home visit or an appointment here at the Civic Offices. 

 

We will be visiting the homes nearest the site in the week beginning Monday 17 June to 

give you the chance to speak to us about this face-to-face at which stage we would be 

very happy to write down your thoughts and add them to the consultation process.  

 

If you would prefer to email your ideas to me then please send them to 

mary.devaney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk before Friday 5 July. 

I would also like to take this opportunity to invite you to a public drop-in information session 

in the Somerstown Central café, at the Hub, on Tuesday 25 June, from 8am to 7pm. We 

will be in the café all day so please come and speak with us about anything that you would 

like us to take into account when we work on the plans. 

 

For more information, and to comment online, go to 

www.portsmouthcc.gov.uk/somerstowntelluswhatyouthink. This web page also includes a 

link to my email address and a downloadable version of the feedback form. 

 

If you would like us to keep you updated as the plans progress please send us your full 

name and contact details. Portsmouth City Council is a registered data controller 

(registration number: Z5578313). We will only use the contact details you give us to update 

you on this project and we will delete them as soon as this project is complete.  For full 

details of the council's data protection privacy notice, please visit www.portsmouth.gov.uk  

 

Thank you very much for taking the time to read this and I look forward to hearing from 

you. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

Mary Devaney 

023 9284 1311 

Development delivery manager 

Portsmouth City Council 

 

 

 

For alternative languages or braille version please call 023 9284 1311 or contact your 

local area housing office or scheme manager team. 

 

Po wersję w alternatywnym języku lub w alfabecie Braille’a prosimy zadzwonić pod nr 

023 9284 1311 lub skontaktować się z państwa lokalnym biurem mieszkaniowym lub 

kierownikiem zespołu projektowego. 

 

                             ,            023 9284 1311                      

                                                                    

 

                                                       023 9284 1311                               

                                                  . 

 

                                                                    023 9284 1311                        

                      . 

 

 

 
SOMERSTOWN - TELL US WHAT YOU THINK 

 

Please tell us how you would like us to improve the area around Horatia and Leamington Houses after 

the tower blocks are taken down. 

 

We will replace the 272 flats contained in the blocks with a minimum of the same number of homes at 

social rents. This can be done in a number of different ways. 

 

We would like to hear your views on the area around the two tower blocks and whether there are 

improvements that can be made. 

 

In the space below and on the other side of this page please tell us everything you would like us to 

take into account when we put together the plans for this area. 

 

If you would prefer to speak to us in person then please call us on 023 9284 1311, or email 

mary.devaney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk to book a home visit or an appointment at the civic offices. 

 

If you would prefer to email your response, then please use the details above. 

 

For more information go to www.portsmouth.gov.uk/somerstowntelluswhatyouthink  

This web page also includes a link to my email address and a downloadable version of the feedback 

form. 

 

Please post your completed form to the following address, or take it to the civic offices reception, or 

the area housing office, at Somerstown Central (the Hub), before Friday 5 July: 

 

Mary Devaney 

Strategic Developments 

Portsmouth City Council 

Civic offices 

Guildhall Square 

Portsmouth 

PO1 2AL 

 

If you would like us to keep you updated as the plans progress please send us your full name and 

contact details. Portsmouth City Council is a registered data controller (registration number: Z5578313). 

We will only use the contact details you give us to update you on this project and we will delete them 

as soon as this project is complete.  For full details of the council's data protection privacy notice, please 

visit www.portsmouth.gov.uk  

 

For alternative languages or braille version, please call 023 9284 1311 or contact your local 

area housing office or scheme manager team. 

 

Po wersję w alternatywnym języku lub w alfabecie Braille’a prosimy zadzwonić pod nr 023 9284 1311 

lub skontaktować się z państwa lokalnym biurem mieszkaniowym lub kierownikiem zespołu 

projektowego. 

                             ,            023 9284 1311                                               

                                           

                                                       023 9284 1311                                               

.                                   

                                                                    023 9284 1311                                

              . 

… AND THIS FEEDBACK FORMEVERBODY WITHIN 150M OF THE BLOCKS WAS HAND-DELIVERED THIS LETTER …

P
age 483



‘SORRY WE MISSED YOU’ NOTE
ANYBODY WHO WASN’T AVAILABLE WAS HAND-DELIVERED THIS NOTE UP TO THREE TIMES 

P
age 484



TRANSLATIONS
EVERYTHING WAS AVAILABLE IN ALL OF THESE LANGUAGES

**asterixed languages in yellow were requested by residents and delivered**

ARABIC **KURDISH** **TURKISH**

**BENGALI** POLISH BRAILLE

P
age 485



MAP – WHO ARE THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS?

H
O

R
A

T
IA

LE
A

M
IN

G
T

O
N

P
age 486



HOW WE LISTENED TO THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS

94% door knock 

94% DOOR KNOCK

1% POST

1% EMAIL

1% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

0% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

4% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

P
age 487



WHAT THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS TOLD US

P
age 488



WHAT THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS TOLD US

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS OTHER NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 489



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

WHAT THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS TOLD US
Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

P
age 490



BY CHANNEL - WHAT THE NEXTDOOR NEIGHBOURS TOLD US

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

OTHER PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

P
age 491



SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS
click the pictures below to find out more

DOOR KNOCKING

HOW WE LISTENED WORD CLOUD

MAP

WHAT THEY TOLD US 

P
age 492



… of those living within

500m of the blocks

spoke to us face-to-

face.

1,086
We knocked the door of every

resident and business within 500m

of the blocks and hand- delivered

them all the same letter, feedback

form and ‘sorry we missed you’

notes. That’s a total of …P
age 493



MAP – WHO ARE THE SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS?

L
H

P
age 494



80% door knock

80% DOOR KNOCK

1% POST

8% EMAIL

1% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

1% MEETING

8% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

2% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

HOW WE LISTENED TO SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS

P
age 495



WHAT SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS TOLD US

P
age 496



WHAT SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS TOLD US

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 497



WHAT SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS TOLD US

0

20

40

60

80

100

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 498



BY CHANNEL - WHAT SOMERSTOWN RESIDENTS TOLD US

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

P
age 499



IN THEIR OWN WORDS HOW WE LISTENED

WORD CLOUD WHAT THEY TOLD US

KEY PARTNER ORGANISATIONS
click the pictures below to find out more

P
age 500



IN THEIR OWN WORDS – PARTNER ORGANISATIONS
click on our partners to find out what they told us

I would like to see as much

demolished as possible and a full

plan in place for regeneration …

Headteacher Polly Honeychurch, 

Cottage Grove Primary School

Green areas for young persons and

others to gather – to include

facilities to engage the youth

communities …

Chief inspector Marcus Cator, 

Hampshire Constabulary

I want them to look out of their

windows and feel joy …

Headteacher Mark Masters,

Ark Charter Academy

This is an exciting opportunity to

respond to the needs of our

community through expanded

regeneration.

Headteacher Anne H-Chapman,

Ark Ayrton Primary Academy

The whole area is tired, it should all

be re-thought.

Holding manager Chris Green, 

St Pauls House Homeless Link,
Portsmouth Churches Housing Association

We would always ask for sprinklers,

access, water supplies and turning

areas for vehicles …

Group commander Sandy Thomson, 

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service

It’s important pedestrian and cycle

routes are given priority and the

development is not car centric.

Director of estates Fiona Bell, 

University of Portsmouth

P
age 501



COTTAGE GROVE PRIMARY SCHOOL
Headteacher Polly Honeychurch

I would like
CLICK HERE TO READ A FULL

ONLINE VERSION OF COTTAGE

GROVE PRIMARY SCHOOL’S H&L

CONSULTATION PROJECT

INCLUDING YEAR 6’s OWN

PHOTOGRAPHS, SURVEYS AND

DATA ANALYSIS (THIS MAY TAKE

A FEW SECONDS TO LOAD)

to see as much demolished

as possible and a full plan

in place for regeneration. I’d

like to see medium rise,

rather than high rise
housing. Underground parking

would really help.

POLLY ALSO GAVE US A CONSULTATION

STALL AT THE SCHOOL’S ENTERPRISE

FAIR AND INVITED US TO BRIEF ALL

TEACHERS AND SUPPORT STAFF AT A

FULL STAFF MEETING.

P
age 502

https://issuu.com/portsmouthcitycouncil/docs/cottage_grove


HAMPSHIRE CONSTABULARY
Inspector Marcus Cator

A few considerations from my perspective of working in high rise buildings over the past 19 years in my roles: parking – the

old premises had little consideration of the growth of population. When considering planning, please can we factor in two cars

per home and suitable parking, around and under the buildings. Access for emergency services, with allocated parking/access

MARCUS ALSO ARRANGED FOR US TO SPEAK FACE-TO-FACE WITH THE OTHER TWO LEVELS OF POLICING IN PORTMOUTH:

CHIEF INSPECTOR MARCUS CATOR (SEE BELOW), SERGEANT DEAN JUSTER AND CONSTABLE KATE HOLLIS

and egress on site plus within the local roads. Crime prevention planning around CCTV, Access to and from the building, the surrounding

roads, the wider community, on each landing of the premises, within stairwells and within lifts. Doors – to be easily secured and robust in the

impact of their use. All communal areas under CCTV within the building. Green areas for young persons and others to gather – to include

facilities to engage the youth communities. Park/climbing/gathering points for socialisation. Communal lounge – similar to student union

facilities – with a budget moving forward for maintenance and repairs, but provided with facilities on site to provide entertainment to the

residents with controlled/permitted access. Outbuildings with good security and access. Theft from sheds and burglaries from sheds is a key

issue. Theft of cycles is massive – small cycle shed / storage outside the entrance of each flat/accommodation on each floor with facilities for

security – electricity and charging of relevant vehicles, but close to the owners flat/accommodation and easy to monitor under communal

CCTV. Lighting – ample of clear space with good lighting in the approach to doors and exits. Consideration of access to all extremities of the

building in the case of emergencies. Consideration for access in emergencies for entrance to the block. Consideration for getting a stretcher

in and too each premises with ease, for injured persons or removal of deceased. Lifts on site to be storage size, ample capacity, to enable a

full bed etc in for patient transport, ambulance and other access. Waste management and refuse bins – fireproof and unavailable without
permitted access. Excessive lighting in stairwells to discourage sleepers and poor behaviour. Site managers with overnight capability.

Housing officer within the block staffed and available at key times. Consideration for cycle routes to and from the

premises into town to encourage transport without cars, and to consider wide enough paths for Motability access

with pedestrian and other.

P
age 503



ARK CHARTER ACADEMY
Principal Mark Masters

The well-being of the community

must be paramount in terms of the

architectural and landscaping

improvements. I want them to look

out of their windows and feel joy.

MARK ARRANGED FOR 30 PUPILS AND STAFF MEMBERS TO SEND US FULL FEEDBACK BY POST

P
age 504



ARK AYRTON PRIMARY ACADEMY
Headteacher Anne H-Chapman

ANNE ARRANGED FOR 18 STAFF MEMBERS AND 35 PUPILS TO EMAIL US FULL FEEDBACK

The demolition of the two tower blocks is an exciting opportunity

to, not only replace housing, but also to consciously respond to the

wider needs of our community through an expanded regeneration

of the local area. We are passionate about, and committed to, this

community and, if we can all work together to proactively improve

the area and alleviate some of the barriers and issues our families

face through this project, then we can only strengthen outcomes

and impact for our young people and families.

P
age 505



HAMPSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE
Group commander Sandy Thomson

SANDY CAME TO OUR PUBLIC OPEN DROP-IN SESSION AT SOMERSTOWN CENTRAL

We would always go for sprinklers. Above 30m you

must have sprinklers and between six floors and 18

floors we would look to consider sprinklers. Access

and water supplies are very important as are turning

areas for vehicles and emergency access routes so

we can have 360 degree access with hardstanding.

P
age 506



ST PAULS HOUSE HOMELESS LINK
Holding manager Chris Green

CHRIS CAME TO OUR PUBLIC OPEN DROP-IN SESSION AT SOMERSTOWN CENTRAL.

WE ALSO DOOR KNOCKED HIS FACILITY AND SPOKE TO STAFF AND SERVICE USERS

The area around Somerstown Central has been improved

enormously by the introduction of additional community

facilities, housing and play parks. Extend the area of

regeneration around Horatia and Leamington to make a

significant improvement to people's lives. We - Portsmouth

Churches Housing Association are the landlords. We provide a

14 bedroom hostel for homeless families in the locality. We

need play space for children and trees. Tower blocks are fine.

The whole area is tired, it should all be re-thought.

P
age 507



UNIVERSITY OF PORTSMOUTH
Director of estates, Fiona Bell

The University of Portsmouth would like to see enhanced

public realm within any development of this area

including high quality materials. It’s important that there

is the provision of good quality green space in this part of

the city for the local community. It’s also important that

pedestrian and cycle routes are given priority and the

development is not car centric as currently exists.

P
age 508



HOW WE LISTENED TO OUR KEY PARTNER ORGANISATIONS

94% door knock 

0% DOOR KNOCK

0% POST

25% EMAIL

62% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

0% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

13% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

62% public 

open drop-in 

session

P
age 509



WHAT OUR PARTNER ORGANISATIONS TOLD US

P
age 510



WHAT OUR KEY PARTNER ORGANISATIONS TOLD US

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 511



WHAT OUR KEY PARTNER ORGANISATIONS TOLD US

0

1

2

3

4

5

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 512



0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

BY CHANNEL - WHAT KEY PARTNER ORGANISATIONS TOLD US

P
age 513



SELDOM HEARD GROUPS
click the pictures below to find out more

THIRD SECTOR

HOW WE LISTENED WHAT THEY TOLD US

WHO ARE THEY?

?P
age 514



PORTSMOUTH FOODBANK 

(users and volunteers)

PUSHING CHANGE 

(addiction self-help group)

SOMERSTOWN FAMILY HUB

OMEGA CENTRE

(facility for adults with 

specific learning needs)

CROSS CULTURAL WOMEN’S GROUP

AFRICAN WOMEN’S FORUM

CARITAS DIOCESE OF PORTSMOUTH

SOKA GAKKAI 

(Buddhist meeting)

SOMERSTOWN COMMUNITY 

DENTIST

CHAT OVER CHAI

(black, Asian and ethnic 

community social group)

SELDOM HEARD GROUPS
LISTED BELOW ARE THOSE SELDOM HEARD GROUPS WHO INVITED US TO ATTEND THEIR
MEETINGS OR GAVE US FULL FEEDBACK BY POST, PUBLIC DROP-IN SESSION OR EMAIL

P
age 515



Number of people sent the same

email on the Coffee, Cake and

Creativity network distribution

list for other voluntary and

community sector

organisations in Portsmouth …

… voluntary and

community sector

contacts were emailed

a feedback form and a

link to the web page.

P
age 516



71% 

we attended 

their meetings

0% DOOR KNOCK

12% POST

7% EMAIL

10% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

71% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

0% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

HOW WE LISTENED TO HARDER TO ENGAGE GROUPS

P
age 517



WHAT HARDER TO ENGAGE GROUPS TOLD US

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 518



0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10WHAT HARDER TO ENGAGE GROUPS TOLD US

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 519



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

BY CHANNEL - WHAT HARDER TO ENGAGE GROUPS TOLD US

P
age 520



PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS
click the pictures below to find out more

DEDICATED WEB PAGE

HOW WE LISTENED WORD CLOUD WHAT THEY TOLD US 

MEDIA COVERAGE YOUR CITY YOUR SAY

P
age 521



… Portsmouth residents left their feedback on a

dedicated H&L engagement web page with

comments enabled. This is the

most online comments PCC

has recorded on a single web

page. This dedicated

feedback web page was linked

to from the existing H&L info

web page with a ‘Tell us what you think’ button.

P
age 522



MEDIA COVERAGE
PROMOTED TO ALL PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS THROUGH ALL OF THE FOLLOWING LOCAL MEDIA AND PCC CORPORATE SOCIAL MEDIA CHANNELS

P
age 523



2,640
… people were sent this email via the

Citizens Panel e-distribution list. The

email was opened by 549 people and

clicks through to the H&L website

totalled …

143

P
age 524



89% online

2% DOOR KNOCK

0% POST

2% EMAIL

2% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

89% ONLINE

1% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

4% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

HOW WE LISTENED TO PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS

P
age 525



WHAT PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS TOLD US

P
age 526



WHAT PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS TOLD US

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 527



0

10

20

30

40

50

60 WHAT PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS TOLD US

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 528



0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

BY CHANNEL - WHAT PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS TOLD US

P
age 529



PCC STAFF
click the pictures below to find out more

MAP

STAFF E-BULLETINS

HOW WE LISTENED WORD CLOUD

WHO ARE THEY?

WHAT THEY TOLD US 

?P
age 530



1,523
members of PCC staff visited

the H&L ‘Tell us what you think’

web page by clicking on links

we published in these three e-

bulletins: In The Know (for all

PCC staff) and the Housing and

Regen regular staff e-bulletins.

P
age 531



PCC TEAMS WHO GAVE US FULL FEEDBACK

ARCHITECTS

BROOK CLUB YOUTH CLUB 

(SOMERSTOWN CENTRAL)

COMMUNITY CENTRES

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

COMMUNITY WARDENS

FINANCE

HEALTH DEVELOPMENT

HOUSING ENABLEMENT 

HOUSING STANDARDS

MAINTENANCE

PUBLIC HEALTH

REPAIRS SUPPORT

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENTS

TACKLING POVERTY

P
age 532



90% email

HOW WE LISTENED TO PCC STAFF

0% DOOR KNOCK

0% POST

90% EMAIL

10% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

0% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

0% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

P
age 533



WHAT PCC STAFF TOLD US

P
age 534



WHAT PCC STAFF TOLD US

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 535



0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

WHAT PCC STAFF TOLD US

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 536



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

BY CHANNEL - WHAT PCC STAFF TOLD US

P
age 537



FORMER H&L RESIDENTS 
click the pictures below to find out more

WHAT THEY TOLD US 

DOOR KNOCKING HOW WE LISTENED

WORD CLOUD WHAT THEY TOLD US

P
age 538



The number of former H&L

residents who gave us full

feedback face-to-face …

… households who used to live

in the H&L blocks, had their

doors knocked, wherever they

had moved to, in Portsmouth or

Havant. We also posted them all

the letter and feedback form.

P
age 539



HOW WE LISTENED TO FORMER H&L RESIDENTS

94% door knock 

82% DOOR KNOCK

0% POST

0% EMAIL

0% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

9% MEETING

2% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

5% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

2% PHONE CALL

82% door knock 

P
age 540



WHAT THE FORMER H&L RESIDENTS TOLD US

P
age 541



WHAT FORMER H&L RESIDENTS TOLD US

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER PARKING OPTIONS

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 542



0

5

10

15

20

25

WHAT FORMER H&L RESIDENTS TOLD US

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 543



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE 
STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION

OTHER PARKING OPTIONS

BY CHANNEL - WHAT FORMER H&L RESIDENTS TOLD US

P
age 544



LOCAL BUSINESSES
click the pictures below to find out more

HOW WE LISTENED

WORD CLOUD

WHO ARE THEY?

?P
age 545



12

1. Webbies newsagent, St Paul's Road

2. **Whites Motors, St Paul's Road**

3. St Paul's Gym, St Paul's Road

4. Leilamezze restaurant, St Paul's Road

5. HB bar, St Paul's Road.

6. One One Three restaurant, Lord Montgomery Way.

7. Innovation Space, Hampshire Terrace.

8. Hardysalon, Lord Montgomery Way.

9. **Andre's Food Bar, Lord Montgomery Way.**

10. Hideout Coffee, Lord Montgomery Way.

11. Subway, Lord Montgomery Way.

12. Mail Boxes Etc., Lord Montgomery Way.

13. **Greggs, Lord Montgomery Way.**

14. Wrap and Roll, Lord Montgomery Way

15. University House, Winston Churchill Ave.

16. **Hotel Ibis, Winston Churchill Ave.**

17. **Co-op, Trafalgar House, Winston Churchill Ave.**

18. Eldon Building, University of Portsmouth

19. **Safety Air Services Ltd., Middle Street**

20. **Data Lab, Middle Street**

21. Outside-In Food Court, Middle Street

22. Sunrise Stained Glass, Middle Street

23. Raven pub, Bedford Street

24. Gibson Centre, Sackville Street

25. Eldon Arms, Eldon Street

26. King Street Tavern, King Street

27. Esso garage, Green Road.

28. Barber Shop, St James‘s Road.

29. Co-op, St James‘s Road.

30. **Premier Convenience Store, St James‘s Road**

31. **Community Cycle Hub, Winston Churchill Ave**

32. Citizens Advice Bureau, Winston Churchill Avenue.

33. KS General Store, Somers Road.

34. El Baraka, Halal meat and veg, Somers Road.

35. Somers Town Cash and Carry, Somers Road.

36. Summers Fish and Chips, Somers Road.

37. Somers Town Grocery, Somers Road.

33

1

2

3

45

6

7

8
10
11

13
14

15 16 17

19

20

21

22
23

24

25

26

30

29

28

27

18 31 32

35
36

37

34

99
12

LOCAL BUSINESSES
WE DOOR KNOCKED, WROTE TO AND
EMAILED ALL OF THESE BUSINESSES
**asterixed businesses told us what they thought**

££

P
age 546



67% email

HOW WE LISTENED TO LOCAL BUSINESSES

33% DOOR KNOCK

0% POST

67% EMAIL

0% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

0% MEETING

0% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

0% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

P
age 547



WHAT LOCAL BUSINESSES TOLD US

P
age 548



RESIDENTS GROUPS
click the pictures below to find out more

WHO ARE THEY? HOW WE LISTENED

WORD CLOUD WHAT THEY TOLD US

?P
age 549



WE WERE INVITED TO THE MEETINGS OF THESE RESIDENTS GROUPS

Catherine 

Booth 

House 

Residents 

Group

Greenwich 

Court 

Residents 

Group

Residents

Consortium

P
age 550



64% 

Residents 

Consortium

HOW WE LISTENED TO RESIDENTS GROUPS

0% DOOR KNOCK

9% POST

4% EMAIL

2% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

0% ONLINE

21% MEETING

64% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

0% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

0% PHONE CALL

P
age 551



WHAT RESIDENTS GROUPS TOLD US

P
age 552



WHAT RESIDENTS GROUPS TOLD US

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

PARKING OPTIONS OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 553



WHAT RESIDENTS GROUPS TOLD US

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 554



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

BUILD 
APPROPRIATE 

HOMES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE 

OPPORTUNITIES

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

BY CHANNEL - WHAT RESIDENTS GROUPS TOLD US

P
age 555



EVERYBODY
click the pictures below to find out more

HOW WE LISTENED WORD CLOUD

WHAT THEY TOLD US KEY STATS

P
age 556



57% 

door knock

HOW WE LISTENED TO EVERYBODY

57% DOOR KNOCK

2% POST

7% EMAIL

2% PUBLIC OPEN 

DROP-IN SESSION

17% ONLINE

6% MEETING

5% RESIDENTS 

CONSORTIUM

4% COTTAGE GROVE 

PRIMARY SCHOOL 

ENTERPRISE FAIR

1% PHONE CALL

P
age 557



WHAT EVERYBODY TOLD US

P
age 558



WHAT EVERYBODY TOLD US

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

BUILD APPROPRIATE 
HOMES

MAXIMISE GREEN 
SPACE OPPORTUNITIES

WIDER AREA 
IMPROVEMENTS

VULNERABLE 
RESIDENTS

PARKING OPTIONS NO MORE STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION

OTHER

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

25%

50%

75%

100%

P
age 559



WHAT EVERYBODY TOLD US

0

50

100

150

200

250

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

Build appropriate homes

2% PUBLIC OPEN

Maximise green space 

opportunities

Parking options

Wider area improvements

Vulnerable residents

No more student 

accommodation

Other

P
age 560



BY CHANNEL - WHAT EVERYBODY TOLD US

0

50

100

150

200

250

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

P
age 561



0

50

100

150

200

250

INTERNAL

LOCAL BUSINESSES

HARDER TO REACH 
GROUPS

RESIDENTS 
ASSOCIATIONS

PORTSMOUTH 
RESIDENTS

FORMER H&L 
RESIDENTS

PARTNER 
ORGANISATIONS

SOMERSTOWN 
RESIDENTS

NEXTDOOR 
NEIGHBOURS

BY TIER - WHAT EVERYBODY TOLD US

SELDOM HEARD 
GROUPS

P
age 562



WHAT THE LOCAL COMMUNITY SAID

H
O

R
A

T
IA

LE
A

M
IN

G
T

O
N

1 07
… people live within 150m of

the blocks (see map left). We
knocked every door.

82%
… of those people gave us their

feedback (88 people in total).

89% of those people spoke to
us face-to-face.

233
… people moved out of H&L. We

contacted them all. 47 of them gave

us their feedback. 89% of those
people spoke to us face-to-face.

88%
… of the nextdoor neighbours

and former block residents

want to see appropriate homes
built.

50%
… specifically said they

wanted to see wider area

improvements beyond the
block sites.

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

P
age 563



1. Maximise green space opportunities

2. Better parking options

3. No more student accommodation

4. No tower blocks

WHAT ELSE IS IMPORTANT TO THE LOCAL COMMUNITY?
ranked in order of the number of people who raised the issue: 

CLICK FOR MORE DETAIL

P
age 564



655
… people, businesses,

partner organisations and
charities engaged with us.

74%
… of those people spoke
to us face-to-face.

&

… specifically said they wanted

to see wider area improvements
beyond the block sites.

79%
… told us they want to see
appropriates homes built.

&

42%

WHAT EVERBODY ELSE SAID …

P
age 565



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)

The integrated impact assessment is a quick and easy screening process. It should: 

identify those policies, projects, services, functions or strategies that could impact positively or 

negatively on the following areas:

Communities and safety

Integrated impact assessment (IIA) form December 2019 

 

Equality & - Diversity - This can be found in Section A5

Environment and public  space

Regeneration and culture

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Directorate:

Regeneration Directorate and Housing, 

Neighbourhood & Building Services Directorate 

Service, function:
Housing Services (Client) & Strategic Developments 

(delivery)

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy (new or old) : 

Deconstruction and redevelopment of Horatia House and Leamington House in Somerstown. 

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: 

Existing

New / proposed★

Changed

What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy? 

Demolish (via deconstruction) both Horatia House and Leamington House and carry out 

masterplanning works to redevelop the site. This will include the re-provision of a minimum of 272 Page 567



social housing units. The design brief will incorporate the agreed principles emerging from the 

community engagement undertaken in 2019.

Has any consultation been undertaken for this proposal? What were the outcomes of the consultations? Has 

anything changed because of the consultation? Did this inform your proposal?

Engagement with Horatia and Leamington former residents, neighbours, Somerstown residents and businesses, partner 

organisations, the voluntary and community sector, City-wide residents, local businesses and resident groups within Somerstown 

took place from 27th September 2until 10th October 2019. The results of which were reported to Cabinet on 8th October 2019. 

Cabinet agreed to use all the engagement feedback results as the basis of the design brief for the master planning work and 

adopted the seven key principles emerging from the feedback. 

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A1-Crime - Will it make our city safer? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it reduce crime, disorder, ASB and the fear of crime? 

 • How will it prevent the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances?  

 • How will it protect and support young people at risk of harm?  

 • How will it discourage re-offending? 

If you want more information contact Lisa.Wills@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-spp-plan-2018-20.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

The blocks are currently empty and unable to be lived in. Whilst currently securely protected and managed by HPS there will be a 

long term risk until the deconstruction is complete.

How will you measure/check the impact of your proposal?

By ensuring the structures are removed and site kept secure until future development.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A2-Housing - Will it provide good quality homes? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it increase good quality affordable housing, including social housing? 

 • How will it reduce the number of poor quality homes and accommodation? 

 • How will it produce well-insulated and sustainable buildings? 

 • How will it provide a mix of housing for different groups and needs? 

Page 568



If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/psh-providing-affordable-housing-in-portsmouth-april-19.

pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

The redevelopment will as a minimum replace the 272 social homes with modern efficient dwelling built to and 

possibly surpassing current building regs

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

The reprovision of housing will include for measurable energy efficiencies and sustainable standards.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A3-Health - Will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it improve physical and mental health? 

 • How will it improve quality of life? 

 • How will it encourage healthy lifestyle choices? 

 • How will it create healthy places? (Including workplaces) 

If you want more information contact Dominique.Letouze@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cons-114.86-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-proof-2.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

There will inevitable be some short term disruption to the area along with noise and dust whilst the deconstruction and any 

associated redevelopment takes place. The long term aspiration is for a better living environment good quality housing and public 

realm.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Short term air quality monitoring will be in place to minimise the impact along with travel plans and all reasonable 

measures to control both the deconstruction and redevelopment.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A4-Income deprivation and poverty-Will it consider income 

deprivation and reduce poverty? ★

Page 569



In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it support those vulnerable to falling into poverty; e.g., single working age adults and lone parent 

households?  

 • How will it consider low-income communities, households and individuals?  

 • How will it support those unable to work?  

 • How will it support those with no educational qualifications? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Sage@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/health-and-care/health/joint-strategic-needs-assessment 

 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

The redevelopment will provide an additional 272 social housing units as a minimum and whilst the wider tenure mix and rental 

levels are to be decided upon it is within the control of the authority to make those decisions as the masterplanning work develops.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Replacing the 272 social housing units in the councils housing stock. Ensuring the affordable housing meets the 

housing need and the council housing units are available for allocation from the housing waiting list.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A5-Equality & diversity - Will it have any positive/negative impacts on 

the protected characteristics? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it impact on the protected characteristics-Positive or negative impact (Protected characteristics 

under the Equality Act 2010, Age, disability, race/ethnicity, Sexual orientation, gender reassignment, sex, 

religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership,socio-economic)  

 • What mitigation has been put in place to lessen any impacts or barriers removed? 

 • How will it help promote equality for a specific protected characteristic?  

If you want more information contact gina.perryman@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-equality-strategy-2019-22-final.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

Deconstruction and redevlopement will create employment and training opportunities.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Those contracted will be required to present an employment and training plan and that can form part of the 

procurement.

Page 570



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B1-Carbon emissions - Will it reduce carbon emissions? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce greenhouse gas emissions? 

 • How will it provide renewable sources of energy? 

 • How will it reduce the need for motorised vehicle travel? 

 • How will it encourage and support residents to reduce carbon emissions?  

 

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-sustainability-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

New properties will be more efficient in terms of heating, lighting ,water consumption and embedded energy.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Energy Performance certificates will be required and  the reduced carbon footprint can be measured.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B2-Energy use - Will it reduce energy use? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it reduce water consumption? 

 • How will it reduce electricity consumption? 

 • How will it reduce gas consumption? 

 • How will it reduce the production of waste? 

If you want more information contact Triston.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to:  

  

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s24685/Home%20Energy%20Appendix%201%20-%20Energy%

20and%20water%20at%20home%20-%20Strategy%202019-25.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Any new properties will be required to be more efficient in terms of heating, lighting ,water consumption and embedded energy 

than existing properties.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Energy Performance certificates will be required and the reduced carbon footprint can be measured.Page 571



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B3 - Climate change mitigation and flooding-Will it proactively 

mitigate against a changing climate and flooding? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it minimise flood risk from both coastal and surface flooding in the future? 

 • How will it protect properties and buildings from flooding? 

 • How will it make local people aware of the risk from flooding?  

 • How will it mitigate for future changes in temperature and extreme weather events?  

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-surface-water-management-plan-2019.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-flood-risk-management-plan.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Any new development could involve sustainable urban drainage (SUDS) designs and will be required to consider the avaialable 

draiange capacity and ite impact upon it.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
The design will quantify any impact.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B4-Natural environment-Will it ensure public spaces are greener, more 

sustainable and well-maintained? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it encourage biodiversity and protect habitats?  

 • How will it preserve natural sites?  

 • How will it conserve and enhance natural species? 

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy-dec-17.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Public consultation has identified improved green spaces and one of the residents primary concerns. Whilst the need for housing 

needs to be considered against this principal the design will need to address this issue.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

 

Measures to accommodate biodiversity can be built into the design (bat boxes for example)
Page 572



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B5-Air quality - Will it improve air quality? 
 ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce motor vehicle traffic congestion? 

 • How will it reduce emissions of key pollutants? 

 • How will it discourage the idling of motor vehicles? 

 • How will it reduce reliance on private car use? 

If you want more information contact Hayley.Trower@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-aq-air-quality-plan-outline-business-case.pdf 

   

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

There will be an increase in heavy vehicle movements during deconstruction and redevelopment. The provision of parking spaces 

can be limited by policy and the introduction of sustainable transport measures, cycle lanes bus stop and the like.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Air quality testing during the construction cycle.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B6-Transport - Will it improve road safety and transport for the 

whole community? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users over users of private vehicles? 

 • How will it allocate street space to ensure children and older people can walk and cycle safely in the area? 

 • How will it increase the proportion of journeys made using sustainable and active transport? 

 • How will it reduce the risk of traffic collisions, and near misses, with pedestrians and cyclists?   

 

If you want more information contact Pam.Turton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/travel/local-transport-plan-3 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

The redevelopment will improve cycle usage and encourage sustainable and active travel.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Measurement (counts) of cycle/walking journeys can be made. By comparison of the exiting and new cycle parking bays, routes, bus 

lanes and the like. Page 573



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B7-Waste management - Will it increase recycling and reduce 

the production of waste? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce household waste and consumption? 

 • How will it increase recycling? 

 • How will it reduce industrial and construction waste? 

    

If you want more information contact Steven.Russell@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Household waste recycling facilities will be provided encouraging sorting and recycling 

Construction waste will be subject to a Site Waste Management Plan which will form part of the procurement criteria.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

 

Site waste will be recorded and reported on, domestic waste collection can also be measured.

Page 574



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C1-Culture and heritage - Will it promote, protect and 

enhance our culture and heritage? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it protect areas of cultural value? 

 • How will it protect listed buildings? 

 • How will it encourage events and attractions? 

 • How will it make Portsmouth a city people want to live in?  

If you want more information contact Claire.Looney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

There is a high demand for all types of housing across the city. Modern efficient homes will make Portsmouth a more attractive place 

to live. There will be opportunities to relate the development, for example, naming to the history of the setting as seen with other 

developments in that area.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
 

Public consultation.

C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C2-Employment and opportunities - Will it promote the 

development of a skilled workforce? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it improve qualifications and skills for local people? 

 • How will it reduce unemployment? 

 • How will it create high quality jobs? 

 • How will it improve earnings? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

The deconstruction and redevelopment will require apprenticeships and training plans from the contractors.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
We will report the number of apprenticeships/locally employed people that the development creates.Page 575



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

 Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C3 - Economy - Will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, 

support sustainable growth and regeneration? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it encourage the development of key industries? 

 • How will it improve the local economy? 

 • How will it create valuable employment opportunities for local people?  

 • How will it promote employment and growth in the city?  

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

A significant measurable proportion of the construction investment will be employment and a proportion of that will be local. 

 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
The procurement process will test the contractors employment record

Q8 - Who was involved in the Integrated impact assessment?

Kevin Hudson 

This IIA has been approved by: Tristan Samuels & James Hill 

Contact number: 023 9283 4450

Date: 28/8/2020

Page 576


	Agenda
	3 Record of Previous Decision Meeting - 14 July 2020
	4 Hampshire Community Bank - Treasury Loan
	03 HCB update report for Cabinet 2020-09-15.pdf
	App 4 Integrated Impact assessment v1 HCB 07.09.20.pdf

	5 Seafront Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Appendix 1 - Seafront Masterplan Feb_Mar 2019 engagement report
	Appendix 2 - Draft Seafront Masterplan SPD Sept20
	Appendix 3 - SM SPD SA Final Draft Report-merged
	Appendix 4 - HRA of the Seafront Masterplan SPD
	1. Introduction
	Legislative Context
	Quality Assurance

	2. Methodology
	Introduction
	Description of HRA Tasks
	HRA Task 1 – Likely Significant Effects (LSE)
	HRA Task 2 – Appropriate Assessment (AA)
	HRA Task 3 – Avoidance and Mitigation
	Physical Scope of the HRA


	3. European Sites
	Portsmouth Harbour SPA / Ramsar
	Introduction
	SPA Qualifying Features5F
	Ramsar Qualifying Features6F
	SPA Conservation Objectives7F
	Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity8F

	Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA / Ramsar
	Introduction
	SPA Qualifying Features9F
	Ramsar Qualifying Features10F
	SPA Conservation Objectives11F
	Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity12F

	Solent Maritime SAC
	Introduction
	Qualifying Features13F
	Conservation Objectives14F
	Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity15F

	Solent and Southampton Water SPA / Ramsar
	Introduction
	SPA Qualifying Features16F
	Ramsar Qualifying Features17F
	Conservation Objectives18F
	Threats / Pressure to Site Integrity19F

	Solent and Isle of Wight Lagoons SAC
	Introduction
	Qualifying Features20F
	Conservation Objectives21F
	Threats / Pressures to Site Integrity22F


	4. Relevant Impact Pathways
	Background to Recreational Pressure
	Non-breeding birds (September to March)
	Visual and noise disturbance

	Background to Loss of Functionally Linked Land
	Background to Tall Buildings and Light Pollution
	Background to Atmospheric Pollution
	Background to Water Quality

	5. Screening for Likely Significant Effects (LSEs)
	Table of Development Opportunities
	Screening of Development Opportunities
	Old Portsmouth
	Clarence Pier
	Southsea Common Opportunity Area
	Southsea Castle to Palmerston Road
	The Pyramids and Speakers’ Corner
	Canoe Lake Park to St. George’s Road

	St. George’s Road to Henderson Road
	Henderson Road to Eastney Point


	6. Appropriate Assessment
	Recreational Pressure
	Proposals increasing recreational footfall
	Old Portsmouth
	Clarence Pier
	Southsea Common Opportunity Area
	Henderson Road to Eastney Point

	Proposals increasing the net residential population
	Holiday-let accommodation
	Provision of residential use and hotels
	In-combination assessment of recreational pressure


	Impacts of Tall Buildings on Flight Lines and Sight Lines
	Clarence Pier
	Southsea Common Opportunity Area
	Redevelopment of the Blue Reef Aquarium
	Redevelopment of the Pyramids site


	Visual and noise disturbance from construction
	All Development involving Construction

	Atmospheric Pollution
	Water Quality

	7. Conclusions and Recommendations

	Appendix 5 - Addendum to HRA Seafront Masterplan SPD
	Appendix 6 - SM SPD Integrated Impact Assessment  (IIA)
	Appendix 7 - Collaborative Enhancements Plan

	7 Leamington House and Horatia House Update and Next Steps
	HL Development Design Team Synopsis (appendix 2)
	HL community engagement report (appendix 3)
	HL Integrated Impact Assessment  (IIA) (appendix 5)


	NEXT 8: 
	Page 1: 

	02nav: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	03nav: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	04nav: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	05nav: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	06nav: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	PREVIOUS: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	NEXT: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	Button 9: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 4: 

	01nav 1: 
	01nav 7: 
	06nav 7: 
	05nav 7: 
	04nav 7: 
	03nav 7: 
	02nav 7: 
	Button 15: 
	NEXT 7: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 76: 

	PREVIOUS 7: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 76: 

	01nav: 
	Page 4: 

	01nav 8: 
	02nav 8: 
	06nav 8: 
	05nav 8: 
	04nav 8: 
	03nav 8: 
	Button 16: 
	01nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	02nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	NEXT 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	PREVIOUS 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	06nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	05nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	04nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	03nav 2: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	Button 10: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 

	01nav 9: 
	06nav 9: 
	05nav 9: 
	04nav 9: 
	03nav 9: 
	02nav 9: 
	Button 17: 
	03nav 3: 
	Page 33: 

	NEXT 3: 
	Page 33: 

	PREVIOUS 3: 
	Page 33: 

	01nav 13: 
	Page 33: 

	06nav 14: 
	Page 33: 

	05nav 14: 
	Page 33: 

	04nav 14: 
	Page 33: 

	02nav 14: 
	Page 33: 

	Button 11: 
	Page 33: 

	01nav 10: 
	06nav 10: 
	05nav 10: 
	04nav 10: 
	03nav 10: 
	02nav 10: 
	Button 18: 
	04nav 4: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	NEXT 4: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	PREVIOUS 4: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	01nav 14: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	06nav 15: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	05nav 15: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	03nav 15: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	02nav 15: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	Button 12: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 49: 
	Page 50: 

	01nav 11: 
	06nav 11: 
	05nav 11: 
	04nav 11: 
	03nav 11: 
	02nav 11: 
	Button 21: 
	06nav 5: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	05nav 5: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	NEXT 5: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	PREVIOUS 5: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	01nav 15: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	04nav 16: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	03nav 16: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	02nav 16: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	Button 13: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 58: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 
	Page 71: 
	Page 72: 
	Page 73: 
	Page 74: 
	Page 75: 

	01nav 12: 
	06nav 12: 
	05nav 12: 
	04nav 12: 
	03nav 12: 
	02nav 12: 
	Button 19: 
	06nav 6: 
	Page 77: 

	NEXT 6: 
	Page 77: 

	PREVIOUS 6: 
	Page 77: 

	01nav 16: 
	Page 77: 

	05nav 17: 
	Page 77: 

	04nav 17: 
	Page 77: 

	03nav 17: 
	Page 77: 

	02nav 17: 
	Page 77: 

	Button 14: 
	Page 77: 



